ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch

Klaus Bengler Julia Drüke Silja Hoffmann Dietrich Manstetten Alexandra Neukum *Eds.* 

# UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic

Approaches for Safe, Efficient and Stress-free Urban Traffic

Supported by:



on the basis of a decision by the German Bundestag



ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch

Klaus Bengler · Julia Drüke · Silja Hoffmann · Dietrich Manstetten · Alexandra Neukum Editors

## UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic

Approaches for Safe, Efficient and Stress-free Urban Traffic



*Editors* Klaus Bengler Chair of Ergonomics Technical University of Munich Garching, Germany

Julia Drüke Konzernforschung Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft Wolfsburg, Germany

Silja Hoffmann Chair of Traffic Engineering and Control Technical University of Munich Munich, Germany Dietrich Manstetten Corporate Sector Research and Advance Engineering - Human-Machine Interaction Robert Bosch GmbH Renningen, Germany

Alexandra Neukum Würzburger Institut für Verkehrswissenschaften Veitshöchheim, Germany

ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch ISBN 978-3-658-15417-2 DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9

ISBN 978-3-658-15418-9 (eBook)

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017942722

Springer Vieweg

© Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer Vieweg imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH The registered company address is: Abraham-Lincoln-Str. 46, 65189 Wiesbaden, Germany

## **Preface UR:BAN MV**

This book contains the results of the research project UR:BAN "Human Factors in Traffic". The complex interaction of various road users in city settings with future driver assistance and driver information systems, makes this research project unique.

Since the beginning of the research project, the actual research activity and the appearance of this book, the development of driver assistance systems for various reasons has drastically accelerated and the first automated driving features have already been developed. Undoubtedly, future technical development of sensors and algorithms will lead to a rise of driver assistance functionality. To benefit traffic safety, transport efficiency and user comfort, special efforts in human factors are required make these systems usable, useful and controllable for the broad variety of traffic participants.

The work presented in this book shows that, first and foremost, the use of driver assistance systems and automated systems in urban areas requires special care and methodology in design and evaluation. For the whole team of UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic, these aspects were the center of their activities. Interaction design, methodological and technical topics were considered in cooperation with the accompanying UR:BAN projects: Cognitive Assistance and Networked Traffic System. The various contributions from five subprojects report a variety of experiments in various experimental vehicles and simulators, and developments in the field of examination and evaluation methods developed for this purpose. Moreover, the shift to urban traffic situations showed that a systemization of traffic scenarios where users use driver assistance and information systems is required for such research. Additionally, guidance regarding assistance systems and beyond are provided. It is increasingly important to understand the behaviour of weaker road users who interact in traffic with these assistance systems and in future automated systems. The investigations presented here, in simulators and field observations, represent an important foundation for future technology.

We greatly thank the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy for their willingness to promote and support these activities over a period of four years, in a broad cooperation of partners from industry, universities and research institutes. This lead to unique project in this area of research, bringing basic research results to application in industrial processes. My thanks go to the team of coeditors, leaders of the sub-project and the group of authors contributing to this book. We thank Springer for their willingness to publish this book. First and foremost, we thank Mrs. Elisabeth Lange and Mr. Axel Garbers for their very good and insightful service and Walter Scholl and Susanne Bohnacker for leading the Project Office that supported us in an outstanding way. My personal thanks go to Christian Lehsing for his excellent support in project management and Armin Eichinger for his support during the project planning phase. Both are reflected in this book by the diversity and quality of the results obtained. Also I want to thank Martin Götze for guiding the publishing process of this work, conducted in parallel to his various research activities. His excellent management skills in addition to his research activities deserve special thanks.

I also thank leaders and employees of the neighboring projects: Cognitive Assistance and Networked Traffic System. Thank you, Ulrich Kressel, Michael Ortgiese and Stefan Feit for a great cooperation that we will remember for a long time. This network and cooperation was engaged and motivated by our excellent project coordinator Eberhard Hipp.

This book shall make the results and methodological findings achieved in this project available to a wide national and international readership. The versatile author teams will inspire more cooperation and remind the contributors of a superb and inspirational project time and research. Thus, this book also serves to motivate and inform interested persons on the potential of human factors.

## Contents

#### Part I Introduction

1	The	Research Initiative UR:BAN	3
	Eber	hard Hipp, Klaus Bengler, Ulrich Kressel, and Stefan Feit	
	1.1	Motivation	3
	1.2	The UR:BAN Research Initiative	5
	1.3	Relation of UR:BAN to National Research Strategies	7
	1.4	Work Program	8
	1.5	Human Factors in Traffic (MV)	8
	1.6	Cognitive Assistance (KA)	13
	1.7	Networked Traffic System (VV)	19

#### Part II Urban Driving

2	A M	leta-perspective on Research Activities in UR:BAN Human Factors	
	in T	raffic	29
	Mat	thias Graichen, Verena Nitsch, and Berthold Färber	
	2.1	Introduction to the Project "Urban Driving"	29
	2.2	Methodological Approach	32
	2.3	Evaluation of Project Results	36
	2.4	Summary and Conclusion	44
		References	45

#### Part III Human-Machine Interaction for Urban Environments

3	Introduction of Human-Machine Interaction for Urban Environments	 49
	Julia Drüke	

4	The	e "HMI tool kit" as a Strategy for the Systematic Derivation of User-	
	Ori	ented HMI Concepts of Driver Assistance Systems in Urban Areas	53
	Julia	a Drüke, Carsten Semmler, and Lennart Bendewald	
	4.1	Introduction	53
	4.2	HMI Tool Kit	54
	4.3	Applications of Urban HMI Concepts	69
	4.4	Conclusion	72
		References	73
5	HM	II Strategy – Warnings and Interventions	75
	Sus	ann Winkler, Matthias Powelleit, Juela Kazazi, Mark Vollrath, Wolfgang	
	Kra	utter, Andreas Korthauer, Julia Drüke, Daniel Töpfer, Carsten Semmler,	
	and	Lennart Bendewald	
	5.1	Background	75
	5.2	Concepts for Warnings and Urgent Warnings	
		(Technische Universität Braunschweig)	77
	5.3	Detecting and Warning of Visually Distracted Drivers	
		(Robert Bosch GmbH)	88
	5.4	Collision Avoidance by Autonomous Evasive Manoeuvre	
		(Volkswagen AG and Technische Universität Braunschweig)	95
	5.5	Conclusion 1	101
		References	102
6	HM	II Strategy – Lateral and Longitudinal Control	105
	Son	ja Hofauer, Britta Michel, Sigrun Weise, Anna Julia Karmann, Frank	
	Die	rmeyer, Amelie Stephan, Julia Drüke, Carsten Semmler, and Lennart	
	Ben	dewald	
	6.1	Introduction	105
	6.2	Theoretical Background 1	106
	6.3	Implementing the HMI Strategy	108
	6.4	Conclusion	117
		References 1	118
7	HM	II Strategy – Recommended Action	119
	Len	a Rittger and Martin Götze	
	7.1	Introduction	119
	7.2	Definition	119
	7.3	HMI Concept for a Traffic Light Assistant (Adam Opel AG) 1	121
	7.4	Generic, Integrative HMI Concept for Multiple ADAS (Technical	
		University of Munich)	138
		References	148

#### Part IV Behaviour Prediction and Intention Detection

Overview and Introduction         Dietrich Manstetten         8.1       Introduction         8.2       Working Steps in UR:BAN VIE         8.3       Summary of Results and Outlook Towards Automated Driving         8.4       Outline of Following Chapters         References       References	153 153 154 158 160 161 163 163 164
Dietrich Manstetten         8.1       Introduction         8.2       Working Steps in UR:BAN VIE         8.3       Summary of Results and Outlook Towards Automated Driving         8.4       Outline of Following Chapters         References       References	153 154 158 160 161 163 163 164
<ul> <li>8.1 Introduction</li></ul>	153 154 158 160 161 163 163 164
<ul> <li>8.2 Working Steps in UR:BAN VIE</li> <li>8.3 Summary of Results and Outlook Towards Automated Driving</li> <li>8.4 Outline of Following Chapters</li> <li>References</li> </ul>	154 158 160 161 163 163 164
<ul> <li>8.3 Summary of Results and Outlook Towards Automated Driving</li> <li>8.4 Outline of Following Chapters</li></ul>	158 160 161 163 163 164
8.4 Outline of Following Chapters	160 161 163 163 164
References	161 163 163 164
	163 163 164
9 Analysing Behavioural Data from On-Road Driving Studies:	163 163 164
Handling the Challenges of Data Processing	163 164
Matthias Graichen, Verena Nitsch, and Berthold Färber	163 164
9.1 Introduction	164
9.2 Driving at Urban Intersections	~ .
9.3 Exploring Behavioural Data from On-Road Driving Studies:	
Challenges and Solutions	167
9.4 Summary and Conclusion	179
References	180
<b>10</b> Predicting Strategies of Driving in Presence of Additional Visually	
Demanding Tasks: Inverse Optimal Control Estimation of Steering	
and Glance Behaviour Models	183
Felix Schmitt, Andreas Korthauer, Dietrich Manstetten, and Hans-Joachim	
Bieg	
10.1 Introduction	183
10.2 Distraction and Additional Tasks in Driving	184
10.3 Approaches to Mitigate Distraction	184
10.4 Modelling Driver Strategies for Allocation of Visual Attention	186
10.5 Experiment in Real Traffic	194
10.6 Numerical Evaluation	197
10.7 Conclusion	202
References	202
11 Lane Change Prediction: From Driver Characteristics, Manoeuvre Type	S
and Glance Behaviour to a Real-Time Prediction Algorithm	205
Matthias Beggiato, Timo Pech, Veit Leonhardt, Philipp Lindner, Gerd	
Wanielik, Angelika Bullinger-Hoffmann, and Josef Krems	
11.1 Introduction	205
11.2 Methods	208

	11.3 Results	211
	11.4 Discussion and Conclusions	218
	References	220
10		
12	Fusion of Driver Behaviour Analysis and Situation Assessment	
	for Probabilistic Driving Manoeuvre Prediction	223
	Veit Leonhardt, Timo Pech, and Gerd Wanielik	
	12.1 Introduction	223
	12.2 Preliminary Considerations	224
	12.3 Recognition of an Intention to Perform a Manoeuvre	226
	12.4 Real-Time Application	236
	12.5 Experimental Results	238
	12.6 Summary and Conclusions	242
	References	243
13	Human Focused Development of a Manoeuvre Prediction	
	in Urban Traffic Situations Based on Behavioural Sequences	245
	Jens Heine, Ingmar Langer, and Thomas Schramm	
	13.1 Motivation and Goal	245
	13.2 Method of Development and State of the Art	247
	13.3 Experimental Study	249
	13.4 Development of an Algorithm for Manoeuvre Prediction	252
	13.5 Integration in Demonstrator Vehicle	259
	13.6 Use of Driving Manoeuvre Prediction	261
	13.7 Conclusion and Outlook	262
	References	263
14	Application of a Driver Intention Becognition Algorithm	
14	an a Badactrian Intention Decognition and Collician Avaidance System	267
	Eraderik Diederiche Nine Prouwer Heret Kläden Deter Zahn and Dernhard	207
	Solumitz	
	Schillinz	
	14.1 Driver Internion Recognition	267
	for Pedestrian Collision Avoidance Systems	267
	14.2 Theoretical Concepts of Intention Recognition and their Measurement	070
		270
	14.3 Measure Driver Intention to Brake	272
	14.4 Application and Demonstration for Pedestrian Collision Avoidance	
	System in the Vehicle	278
	14.5 Outlook: Acceptance and Safety	282
	References	283

Part	t V Simulation and Modelling of Road Users' Behaviour
15	Simulation and Modelling Within the UR:BAN Project
16	Methodology and Results for the Investigation of Interactions Between
	Pedestrians and Vehicles in Real and Controlled Traffic Conditions 291
	Jens Kotte and Andreas Pütz
	16.1 Research Questions and Overall Methodology 291
	16.2 Interaction Study Under Real Traffic Conditions 293
	16.3 Static Traffic Observation Under Real Traffic Conditions
	16.4 Interaction Study Under Controlled Traffic Conditions 304
	16.5 Summary
	References
17	Understanding Interactions Between Bicyclists and Motorists
	in Intersections
	Mandy Dotzauer, Sascha Knake-Langhorst, and Frank Köster
	17.1 Introduction
	17.2 AIM Research Intersection
	17.3 Observation of Bicyclist-Motorist Interactions in Intersections 319
	17.4 Findings and Implications 320
	17.5 Further Research
	References
18	Analysis and Modelling of the Operational and Tactical Behaviour
	of Bicyclists
	Heather Twaddle
	18.1 Motivation
	18.2 Data Collection and Processing
	18.3 Data Analysis
	18.4 Behaviour Modelling 339
	18.5 Discussion and Conclusions
	References
19	Urban Interaction – Getting Vulnerable Road Users
	into Driving Simulation
	Christian Lehsing and Ilja T. Feldstein
	19.1 Motivation and Goals – The Situation in 2012
	19.2 Social Interaction at a Glance
	19.3 Pedestrian Simulators – A Global but Divergent Approach
	19.4 Implementing the VRU – The UR:BAN Approach
	19.5 The Multiple-Simulator Setting – Enabling Social Interaction 353

	19.6 Interaction in Numbers – A Methodological Overview
	19.7 Conclusions and Outlook 360
	References
•••	
20	Encounters Between Drivers with and Without
	Cooperative Intelligent Transport Systems
	Katharina Preuk, Mandy Dotzauer, Frank Koster, and Meike Jipp
	20.1 Cooperative Intelligent Transport Systems
	20.2 Why Research Encounters Between Drivers with and Without C-ITS?
	20.3 How to Research Encounters Between Drivers
	20.4 Encountering Drivers with Traffic Light Assistance Systems:
	Overview of a Study
	20.5 Encounters Between Drivers with and Without C-ITS:
	Open Questions
	References
21	The Multi-Driver Simulation: A Tool to Investigate Social Interactions
<b>41</b>	Retween Several Drivers 370
	Dominik Muehlbacher
	21.1 Need for Multi Driver Simulation? 370
	21.2 The WIVW Multi Driver Simulation 381
	21.2 The wry w Multi-Driver Simulation
	21.5 Study 1. Driver Wodels vs Human Drivers
	21.5 Conclusion 380
	21.5 Coliciusion
	Kenerences
22	A New Approach to Investigate Powered Two Wheelers' Interactions with
	<b>Passenger Car Drivers: the Motorcycle – Car Multi-Driver Simulation</b> 393
	Sebastian Will
	22.1 Abstract
	22.2 Introduction
	22.3 Simulator Setup: The Motorcycle-Car Multi-Driver Simulation 394
	22.4 Study Example: Intersection Support
	22.5 Conclusion
	References
23	Multi-Road User Simulation: Methodological Considerations
	from Study Planning to Data Analysis
	Dominik Muehlbacher, Katharina Preuk, Christian Lehsing, Sebastian Will,
	and Mandy Dotzauer
	23.1 Introduction
	23.2 Planning Studies
	23.3 Conducting Studies

	23.4 Analyzing Data       409         23.5 Conclusion       415         References       417
Part of A	t VI Controllability and Safety in Use Assessment dvanced Driver Assistance Systems
24	<b>Development and Evaluation of Methods to Assess Controllability</b> <b>and Safety in Use Within the UR:BAN Project</b>
25	Validity of Research Environments – Comparing Criticality Perceptions
	Across Research Environments
	Christian Purucker, Norbert Schneider, Fabian Rüger, and Alexander Frey
	25.1 Introduction
	25.2 Theoretical Background: Validity of Research Environments
	25.3 Methodology
	25.4 Results
	25.5 Discussion
	References
26	Emergency Steering Systems – Controllability Investigations
	with the Vehicle in the Loon 447
	Fabian Rüger and Berthold Färber
	26.1 Introduction 447
	26.2 Emergency Steering Interventions at Occupied Opposite Lanes 449
	26.3 Emergency Steering Seen from Oncoming Traffic 452
	26.4 Summary 458
	References 459
27	Consideration of the Available Evading Space for the Evaluation
	of the Driver Reaction to Emergency Steering Interventions 461
	Andreas Pütz
	27.1 Introduction and Motivation
	27.2 Existing Knowledge on the Influence of the Driving Context
	in the Controllability Assessment
	27.3 Deduction of Related Research Questions and Hypothesis
	for the Experiment
	27.4 Experimental Design for the Evaluation of the Influence of the Available
	Evading Space
	27.5 Reaction Patterns to System Initiated Emergency Steering Interventions. 466
	27.6 Influence of the Available Evading Space on the Driver Reaction 470

	27.7 Influence of a Retraction Possibility on the Driver Reaction 473
	27.8 Design of an Exemplary Override Criterion
	27.9 Conclusions
	References
28	Designing Emergency Steering and Evasion Assist to Enhance Safety
	in Use and Controllability
	Norbert Schneider, Guy Berg, Svenja Paradies, Peter Zahn, Alexander
	Huesmann, and Alexandra Neukum
	28.1 Introduction
	28.2 Intervention Concepts
	28.3 Actuators
	28.4 Design Implications Based on Experimental Studies
	References
29	Integrating Different Kinds of Driver Distraction
	in Controllability Validations
	Rico Auerswald, Alexander Frey, and Norbert Schneider
	29.1 Introduction
	29.2 Methodological Implications & Recommendations
	29.3 Case Studies
	29.4 Conclusion
	References

## Part I Introduction

### **The Research Initiative UR:BAN**

#### Eberhard Hipp, Klaus Bengler, Ulrich Kressel, and Stefan Feit

#### 1.1 Motivation

The automobile and road traffic have made in the course of their joint development great progress. Still, to be ready for the future, the entire transport system has continuously to meet new and higher requirements. Each trip shall be traveled safely, efficiently and comfortably. The progressive urbanization leads to more and more people living in urban areas. The additional large number of commuters and supply transport should not be underestimated. This moves mobility spaces increasingly into the urban space and individual traffic using cars represents the majority.

Heterogeneous user requirements lead to conflicts and reduced efficiency in a limited urban space. In industrialized countries such as Germany 85% of the population live in the urban area. While especially outside Europe but partly also in Southern Europe a clear trend toward megacities with several million inhabitants can be observed, urbanization in Germany happens in a variety of medium-sized cities, as well as some major cities. These agglomerations are adjacent to a core city and reach out to a far area. They are characterised by strong commuter flows with mixed traffic (car/motorcycle/bicycle, passengers)

E. Hipp (⊠) Munich, Germany

K. Bengler (⊠) Chair of Ergonomics, Technical University of Munich Garching, Germany

U. Kressel Research and Development, Daimler AG Ulm, Germany

S. Feit Elektronik, BMW Group Munich, Germany

© Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_1 1

of public transport, pedestrians, etc.). This leads to increasing mobility needs in the urban context and suggests to focus research activities towards an efficient urban mobility.

Previous research projects had the goal to increase security and improve traffic management on motorways and rural roads. This resulted in a considerable number of essential driver assistance systems and traffic management systems. Since the year 2000, the number of persons injured in road traffic, is decreasing which is due in large part to the growing market penetration by active and passive safety systems (see Fig. 1.1). But the reduction rate on city streets is significantly weaker than that in rural and motorway traffic.

As active driver assistance systems for the urban area are not yet available, there is a remarkable need for action to reduce the number and severity of accidents in urban areas. Complex traffic present new challenges for existing assistance functions. Methods of longitudinal and lateral control that are successful deployed on highways reach their limits in the city. Therefore extensions must be created so that assistance can be continued successfully in the city.

The importance of urban regions as a habitat will continuously increase parallel to increasing demands of environmental and climate protection. In particular, the usage of the transport network will be characterised by ecological aspects; topics are increasing requirements on climate protection, reduction of  $CO_2$ ,  $NO_x$  and noise. Cooperative systems for infrastructure and vehicles can positively contribute. Especially by making transport and driving more efficient on the strategic and tactical level, if multiple requirements of pedestrians, cyclists, vehicles and public transport will be integrated leading to a more harmonic and smoother traffic flow. Future vehicles with new drivetrain systems have to be considered. This is a new challenge for the cooperation between intelligent infrastructure and intelligent vehicles. Today vehicles with internal combustion engines determine the traffic, but this will change greatly in the future. In particular electric vehicles gain public



**Fig. 1.1** Development of fatalities in German traffic. (Source: Statistisches Bundesamt, Fachserie 8, Reihe 7)

interest and appear more and more in the cities. Shorter distances, especially in the urban areas are the main deployment area of electric vehicles. A future transport system will be based on a mixture of drivetrain concepts and lead to new demands for network planning, supply and presentation of information.

#### 1.2 The UR:BAN Research Initiative

As a consequence of these challenges 32 partners from the automotive and supplier industry, electronics, communications and software companies as well as insurance companies and research institutions together with cities form research initiative UR:BAN (urban space: user oriented assistance systems and network management) to develop driver assistance systems and traffic management systems for the urban area. The focus is on humans in their various roles in the transport system.

UR:BAN organizes the complex research tasks in three thematic areas:

#### **Urban Traffic Safety**

Today new technologies allow to implement a comprehensive perception of the complex traffic situations via machine perception in the city. In UR:BAN especially the perception of pedestrians and cyclists, as well as an assessment of their behaviour is provided. The driver is continuously supported in complex urban traffic situations such as bottle-necks/narrowings, oncoming traffic and lane changes. Collisions are avoided by automatic swerving and braking.

#### **Economic and Energy Efficient Driving**

New information and communication facilities such as Galileo, GPS, UMTS/LTE and C2X enable new ways for the cooperative traffic management in cities. Through the development and expansion of intelligent infrastructure and networking with intelligent vehicles. In the future innovative driver assistance systems can directly react to measures or recommendations of the strategic traffic management. Thus it is possible to take into account the different drivetrain concepts in modern vehicles such as electric and hybrid in traffic management. Goals are the optimization of transport efficiency, avoiding congested streets and reduction of emissions in the urban space.

#### Anticipative and Stress-free Driving

New assistance systems will provide the driver with relevant information in complex traffic situations. But this must not lead to a flooding with information. Therefore, high workload or inattention of drivers are detected by the new systems and adequately adaptively supported. Through appropriate design of operation and displays drivers can be informed significantly earlier and be motivated to an anticipative driving style so that the drive in the city will get safe, efficient and relaxed.

Three topic areas form the main pillars of UR:BAN.



The project of "Cognitive Assistance" driven developments, be rich to have a clear focus on improving road safety in the inner city. In parallel, the project focuses on technologies, which make a contribution to the consumption-optimized traffic flow "Networked Transportsystem". In the third pillar of the project "Human traffic" behaviour examines the reverse – sweeping participant in an increasingly interconnected system, the requirements to meet and not to overload the driver with the perception of complex traffic system functions. It is based on the results of previous projects such as INVENT and AKTIV. With a novel approach integrating the three original project columns UR:BAN offers a view onto the intelligent cooperative interplay of vehicles and infrastructure in the future. The introduction of so-called "cooperative systems" will make a significant contribution to the emission driving in urban areas where vehicles communicate and interact with the infrastructure, as well as with other vehicles in the environment to inform the drivers, to reduce the risk of accidents and to ensure a smooth traffic flow throughout.

A significant contribution to improving safety in inner-city traffic makes UR:BAN through the continuous support of the driver in complex situations such as bottlenecks, oncoming traffic and lane change collisions are avoided by automatic swerving and braking. New technologies allow to create a comprehensive perception of the complex traffic situation with visibility in the city – also taking into account pedestrians and cyclists – and to develop appropriate security features. Instead of flooding the driver by means of innovative assistance systems with information, who the overburdened or inattentive driver of the new systems recognised and adequately supported. By appropriate design of operation and displays the driver can much earlier be informed and motivated to a forward-looking driving-wise so that the drive in the city can be safe and relaxed.

The development of new driver assistance and intelligent transport systems is considered by the Federal Government as a technology of the future and is therefore also key component of the national development plan for the accelerated introduction of intelligent transport systems. Close cooperation in this area between public administrations, academia and industry in the "Economic Forum" "verkehrstelematik", as well as the na-

forming the UR:BAN project initiative

tional working group in its supported these new technologies. That promote his technical new requirements and innovations not only in Germany but throughout Europe plays an important role, prove the directives of the European Parliament on the framework for the introduction of intelligent transport systems in road transport. Furthermore, a policy and an action plan for the fast-track a set of intelligent transport systems (its) was submitted by the EU, which requires subsidiary activities in federal and State.

In July 2010 by the Federal Cabinet decided that "high-tech strategy 2020, ideas. Innovation. Growth." aims, inter alia, to create lead markets and to deepen the cooperation between science and industry. As one of five required fields the topic is mobility and transport technologies in the central point, manifested in the 3rd transport research program of the Federal Government. It focuses on inter alia the protection of man and environment, mobility in the demographic change and the management of traffic. Methodically it goes faster to make about new research and innovations to twists. In UR:BAN co-operating companies and institutions are obliged this goal for a long time and therefore have many years of experience in the cooperation between science and industry. They will bring this expertise in the project.

In a further demand field of the 3rd transport research program – "Intelligent infrastructure" – to by making efficient use of the infrastructure negative impact-gen of the intermodal transport be reduced or completely avoided. Especially the municipalities must be enabled therefore technically and organizationally, to meet these challenges. For this purpose appropriate guidelines and tools are required, so far not or only occasionally and are transferable so not on other application areas. At this point the UR:BAN project column "Interconnected transport system" offers an important contribution to the implementation of the conveying and transport policy objectives.

#### 1.3 Relation of UR:BAN to National Research Strategies

Mobility of society is an important prerequisite for progress, prosperity, growth and employment. The transport policy is still tagged the task – is to make this mobility as safe, as environmentally friendly and as efficiently as possible. Against the background of limited resources but also of the demographic development is need for action, through technical measures to take care, that mobility is affordable and environmentally friendly possible permanently for all. The driver or driver behaviour pose an enormous potential for the reduction of  $CO_2$  and increasing security.

In UR:BAN to developing driver assistance systems support the development goals of the 3. Verkehrsforschungsprogramms of the Federal Government. The "car of the future" is the active helper in dangerous situations. Based on the development of security-related technologies, as in game way bottlenecks, oncoming traffic – and lane change assistance with all-round visibility and their rapid implementation in products to support the political targets given will be on existing foundations. Sensor-based assistance systems for the city significantly increase vehicle safety. Systems that take into account the demand for

accident mitigation and accident prevention are developed. Appropriate information and communication genuine, liability issues, as well as individual conduct behavioural play an important role here.

A well-developed and efficient transport infrastructure is a central prerequisite implementation for a needs-based mobility of persons and goods. It is a location factor, which significantly influences the economic development. It is therefore important to improve the efficiency of the existing transport infrastructure and thus to adapt it to new requirements. It is the existing infrastructure through the use of intelligent technologies and organizational forms to use. Fluid transport and anticipatory driving results in positive impact on energy efficiency and environmental conservation (fuel- and  $CO_2$  reduction).

#### 1.4 Work Program

The close link between the driver and the assistance systems in urban traffic is an important feature of the research initiative UR:BAN. The additional project column "Human Factors in Traffic" plays a prominent role, because the intentions of the driver as well as the intuitive interaction with the vehicle HMI are examined for the first time, cross-functional and holistic. Interaction with the traffic infrastructure provides on the one hand the necessary information from the roadside traffic system. At the same time this opens up new opportunities, to optimize infrastructure control using the specific characteristics of drivetrain. Last but not least, the maturity and the approval of the proposed systems are taken into account for the first time and prepare their implementation.

In the light of the overall range of UR:BAN the various scientific and technical goals of three UR:BAN project columns "Cognitive Assistance", "Networked transportation system", and "Human factors in traffic" are presented in detail:

#### **1.5 Human Factors in Traffic (MV)**

The project column "Human Factors in Traffic" focuses on the users of future ADAS and IVIS. As for driver assistance systems for the urban area not only comfort, but above all the safety is crucial, user orientation is not only restricted on the acceptance of the user. The new features of the UR:BAN assistance systems bring high requirements with them regarding their controllability by the user. This is due to the fact, that the systems cannot cover all potential situative constellations. Definitely system limits will exist and also system failures can occur. Here, the driver is required to detect, to correctly interpret and act appropriately in the given situation with adequate performance. While this question is already intensively investigated and successfully solved for many systems related to driver assistance on motorways and rural situations, a variety of questions rises about the controllability in the urban area because of other time budgets and parameters of situation complexity. Often only a fraction of the time is available in the suburban traffic compared

to highways that remains the driver for the successful acquisition of a situation or a system fault.

Urban driving is also much more influenced by vulnerable road users. In summary urban assistance means to integrate a variety of functions to manage the complexity of the situation in a vehicle. The interaction between longitudinal and lateral control are combined with traffic management, navigation system and active security systems for this purpose. Many previous research demonstrators show interaction concepts that are specialized and limited to the interaction with a single function or a selection of function. Successful urban assistance requires HMI concepts that are able to integrate many functional aspects without overwhelming or distracting the user. That will be no longer possible by pure design of the information presentation. Rather, the understanding of timing and time budgets in urban scenarios plays a decisive role.

The extremely short time budgets also related to warnings in urban scenarios require that the driver is informed as early as possible and in a recognizable way. This shall support anticipatory driving and gain valuable seconds. Recognition of the driver's intention and the prediction of future driver behaviour based on observable data will increase the accuracy of the systems, individual driving performance and in particular the acceptance of the ADAS function.

Especially urban scenarios are characterised by their complexity and are very difficult to reproduce. Often reproducible conditions are needed for efficient system development and evaluation. In addition, a variety of different road users in interaction with assisted drivers should be regarded to assess the effectiveness of a new function. Interactions between traffic participants and especially several assisted road users are not sufficiently represented in present simulations. But also consumption optimized driving will depend on the cooperation and successful interaction of several motorists in encounter and platooning. This is one reason why statements for tests and simulation runs in urban scenarios are of reduced validity. Therefore existing simulation environments have been adapted to these requirements. Through networking of simulators a new type of driving simulation can help to analyse the interaction of multiple users in a risk-free and reproducible way. The integration of a "real" interacting pedestrian in driving simulation was another innovation.

The collection of standardised driving data helps to improve driver and pedestrian behaviour models in macro simulations of the connected project VV.

It is a target to provide technical solutions and appropriate interaction concepts for a synthesis of comfort, efficiency and safety. The development of navigation systems in the 1990s can serve as an historical example. It shows that the usage and presentation of additional map based information in meaningful representation leads to a significant reduction of consumption and a significant increase of traffic safety and comfort, but not to increased driver distraction. Similar effects can be expected for future information and assistance systems, if the user centered design is the approach.

The activities in the project "Human factors in traffic" (MV) are performed in following five subprojects:



Fig. 1.3 UR:BAN project structure – Human Factors in Traffic with subprojects

#### 1.5.1 Urban Driving

Urban traffic and the corresponding scenarios are extremely heterogeneous compared to motorway. It is therefore crucial that investigations as well as data collection used in experiments are based on comparable scenarios and user properties. Therefore the part of the sub-project "Urban driving" (abbreviated UF for "Urbanes Fahren") serves as a platform between the different subprojects. Goal is to unify assistance scenarios and provide project internal data standards. An Assistance scenario is determined by the properties of the present assistance/information systems, such as, for example, reliability, interference characteristics and field of application; continue due to the type of assistance/information case: navigation, manoeuvres or stabilization; through the in use of user: permanent, intermittent, modality-specific requirements on schedule and operating forces. Already, at the beginning of the project, these three dimensions will contribute to the efficient coordination of partners.

In MV and its neighboring projects big data sets are collected at great expense for critical traffic situations. It is therefore useful to coordinate these activities and to use applicable formulation data multiple times, and to increase the interpretability through collecting and evaluation standards. Preparatory work of the EU projects FESTA and Euro-FOT, but also SimTD provide valuable input for this. Here data collection standards have been developed, that can be met with reasonable technical effort of various partners. For example, standards of sampling rates, video formats to perform synchronization and sit-

uation encodings have been defined. This opens the possibility that a small sample by adding additional data can be extended or validated and valuable experimental time can be saved.

#### 1.5.2 Human-Machine Interaction

Previous projects have already investigated aspects of the human-machine-interface (HMI) and often shown specific interface solutions for dedicated functions. This no longer sufficient for two reasons: the increase in functionality could overburden the driver by too many competing, uncoordinated information. In addition, the likelihood of notices, warnings, and interventions is significantly higher in urban areas compared to highways or rural roads. For these reasons, following three objectives are pursued in the HMI (abbreviated MMI for "Mensch-Maschine-Interaktion") project:

Objective 1: Design and development of a generic HMI tool kit including generic, integral HMI components evaluated for the urban space and assistance or security functions. Aspects such as the efficiency of the older drivers and the requirements of future individual mobility are incorporated in the requirements. The central idea of the integrated, cross-functional concept of the warning concept is not to point out dangerous situations only, but to trigger a dedicated action (e. g. "braking"). Because the more different alerts occur, the bigger problems of the driver will be to distinguish them, to develop an action strategy and to act properly. The adaptation of this warning concept to the needs in urban areas finds special consideration. The integration of navigation information and environment knowledge leads to an optimization of warning type and time as well as to support anticipative driving. Risks that are not visible for the driver are displayed using haptic feedback on accelerator pedal and steering. The challenge is to find a meaningful and safe way to convey the knowledge of an intelligent vehicle to the driver.

Objective 2: Integration of applications of KA and VV. Starting from the concept designed in objective 1 the HMI concepts can be derived for partners in UR:BAN.

Objective 3: Review and demonstration of HMI solutions. Over the entire development process the resulting HMI concepts are evaluated using the appropriate methods (e.g. model-based evaluation/simulation, expert test, experiment). Starting with preliminary investigations and iterative test the overall concept is tested in a final evaluation.

#### 1.5.3 Intention Recognition and Behaviour Prediction

Driver assistance and transport systems have enormous potential to increase road safety through targeted support of the driver – Especially in stress situations. To achieve this goal and at the same time to get the driver's acceptance the system has to be in accordance with the plans of the driver. Especially in urban traffic with its high complexity, the diversity of situations and options for action for the driver, it is of particular importance to use the

lower time budget as efficiently as possible for correct decisions. If the intervention strategies of vehicle systems collide with the intentions and actions of the driver and lead to unclear situations, important time would be lost to defuse by reverse sweeping conflicts. It is therefore of great importance for the correct behaviour of driver assistance systems, to detect the driver's intentions as early as possible, as well as to determine future driver behaviour. This requires an individual, situation-dependent behaviour prediction and Intention recognition. The central objectives of the sub-project VIE (abbreviated VIE for "Verhaltensprädiktion und Intentionserkennung") are:

- systemization of driver's intentions in the urban space,
- demonstration of real time capable modules for the prediction of the behaviour and intention recognition in experimental vehicles of the subproject,
- integration of modules in corresponding applications of project KA,
- · demonstration of benefits for user oriented design.

The project develops detailed procedures for the prediction of behaviour and intentions in the urban space based on a requirements analysis and empirical data. The quality of the process is systematically checked and shown in own experimental vehicles.

#### 1.5.4 Simulation

Objectives of subproject SIM are analysis and corresponding descriptive modeling of behaviour and interaction of traffic participants – other vehicles (with/without UR:BAN technology) as well as cyclists and pedestrians.

For the interaction between vehicle and vehicle, it is considered how current models (e. g. vehicle sequence model) represent the reality and what models are necessary to describe the interactions between drivers using new ADAS. The interaction between two or more cars in the application cases of lane-changing behaviour and overtaking while approaching an intersection.

Pedestrian behaviour has a very strong impact on the traffic situation in the urban environment. For the functional analysis of UR:BAN technologies no mathematical models are available so far. The first step is to examine and improve the modeling of pedestrian behaviour itself and to make appropriate statements about the interaction of vehicles with pedestrians.

In urban areas cyclists take in addition to the pedestrians an important role. In the focus are the improvements of the modelling of motion behaviour of cyclists as well as modeling of the interaction with the motorized vehicular traffic for an existing cycle route, or if the cyclist shares the car lanes.

#### 1.5.5 Controllability

The challenge to ensure controllability is getting bigger facing the rapid development of complex assistance systems. The current situation is characterised by the fact that the issue of controllability is increasing to the extent, in which the new systems are "smarter" and "more efficient". The stronger the support by a system the harder it is to master the error case. This simplistic rule is in contradiction to the fact that the driver without the system would have not been to prevent a potential accident in a comparable situation. Thus, it is obvious that controllability of an ADAS must not be considered without its overall efficiency for traffic safety, which in turn strongly depends on the acceptance, which ultimately decides on take rates and usage rates.

Special requirements for the controllability come from driving and traffic situations, in which the parallel processing of multiple sources of information is necessary in a short time and thus producing a high driver workload. Goal of the subproject KON (abbreviated KON for "Kontrollierbarkeit") is therefore to develop a uniform methodology to be able to assess the controllability of urban ADAS systems with a focus on time-critical situations in an efficient and valid way.

The subproject KON provides methods and develops in the project – where necessary – additional methods including system boundaries, system errors, potential abuse.

The project works out procedures for the review and improvement of the system behaviour in borderline and error cases as well as the examination of the control by the driver for the proper use. Application areas come mainly from the applications of the project of "Cognitive Assistance", but are not limited only to these applications. The systematized knowledge, supplemented by the new findings with regard to the control of driving and traffic situations, is summarized in a driver performance database that allows a first assessment of controllability.

#### 1.6 Cognitive Assistance (KA)

The UR:BAN – KA project takes on the challenge of developing assistance systems for urban areas, whereby the following four main focuses have been jointly identified by the participating partners:

Robust perception, modeling, and interpretation of complex traffic conditions as the prerequisite for safety-relevant driver assistance functions in urban areas, interdisciplinary function for processing "environment detection and modeling" common to all urban assistance systems.

Development of cognitive and user-friendly assistance systems for effective and predictive "protection of more vulnerable road users" in urban areas dedicated on the one hand to the reliable detection of pedestrians and bicyclists and their behaviour while at the same time developing a predictive assistance system for their protection.



Fig. 1.4 UR:BAN project structure – Cognitive Assistance with subprojects

Cognitive assistance systems in urban areas for performing last-minute accident-avoiding manoeuvres are addressed in the application package "collision avoidance through evasion and braking".

Relief for drivers in narrow urban spaces through early information on clearance width as well as continuous support of lateral and longitudinal control in the application project "safe lateral and longitudinal guidance in cities" with various assistance systems such as the narrow passage assistant, oncoming traffic assistant, and lane changing assistant.

The development of the new technologies is accompanied by the competent consideration of legal issues as well as the designed systems' effectiveness.

In addition, topics such as accident causes and effects analysis as well as legal issues are being investigated in the UR.BAN – KA project column.

The resulting structure of the Cognitive Assistance project is then as follows:

#### 1.6.1 Environment Detection and Modeling

Due to its complexity, the urban traffic environment completely overwhelms currently available detection and evaluation systems. A prerequisite for capable accident avoidance systems in urban areas is that they have a reliable "image" of their environment on the basis of which they can "understand" even difficult situations with multiple participants and boundary conditions. In addition to a comprehensive all-around view, this also requires efficient modeling of the static and dynamic vehicle environment – independent of the various applications which will be based upon this description.



Fig. 1.5 Different representations of space-time perception

This task demands an interdisciplinary project whose function is to develop the basics of an integral all-around view and precise modeling to form the foundation of the application projects of UR:BAN KA. The goal is the realization of generic representations which decouple the intelligent sensors from the applications, thus permitting a multitude of sensor variations and configurations and simultaneously presents a stable foundation for future driver assistance systems.

Within the interdisciplinary project "Environment detection and modeling", the "allaround" environment shall first be detected rigorously and consistently. The goal is to develop common 360° environment models for applications which will not only be able to integrate the information from the implemented sensors, but also that from future maps as well as other data sources.

Complex situations in urban areas often have the characteristic that relevant objects partially occlude one another. Their detection and the tracking required for the precise determination of their motion state presents a problem which to date remains unsolved. Major progress regarding this issue is expected from this interdisciplinary project. The same expectation applies to the development of a systematic approach for dealing with uncertainties in the signal processing from the raw data to the representation. The currently most common heuristics will not meet the critical safety requirements of future systems. The subsequent steps of fusion, interpretation and prognosis require reliable degrees of confidence which describe both the uncertainty as well as the plausibility of the measurements.

#### 1.6.2 Protection of Vulnerable Road Users

The primary goal of this subproject is the development of cognitive user-friendly systems for passenger and utility vehicles for the effective and predictive protection of vulnerable road users in complex urban scenarios. For passenger vehicles, the focus is on active and predictive systems with the potential to recognise dangerous situations involving vulnerable road users prior to likely accidents in order to initiate protective measures to avoid



**Fig. 1.6** Child at risk in an urban scenario

the accident or reduce its severity. For utility vehicles, a system to significantly improve the all-around view in critical situations shall be developed.

The research activities in the subproject are concentrated on urban scenarios (short and medium range sensor detection, vehicle velocities up to 60 km/h) during the day and at night because that is where the majority of accidents with vulnerable road users occur. The appearances of persons in traffic vary widely, the motion sequences are highly dynamic, visibility is often limited due to occlusion (parked vehicles, baby carriages, etc.) and the relevant scenarios for accidents are extremely complex.

Key technologies for robust operation of such a protective system are the sensor-based detection of relevant traffic participants (video sensors, beam sensors, etc.) as well as deeper situational understanding combined with object-specific behavioural prediction in order to initiate situation-dependent action strategies (warning or autonomous reaction). Compared with systems which were developed in the preceding AKTIV project and current state-of-the-art technology, the main focus of the research is on the significant improvement of the protective function of active predictive systems by:

- Significantly increasing the number of applicable scenarios for the system, i. e., addressing of traffic participants and accident scenarios which previously were not included, as well as improving system availability under various weather conditions.
- Greatly enhancing the effectiveness and robustness of the systems in the included applicable scenarios by developing high-performance algorithms for sensor-based detection, classification, behavioural modeling, and behavioural prediction for vulnerable road users.

#### 1.6.3 Collision Avoidance Through Evasion and Braking

In urban environments, driver assistance systems for collision avoidance have great potential for reducing injuries and material damage. The question regarding in which situation



Fig. 1.7 Automatic emergency braking taking evasive action by the driver into account. (From AK-TIV-AS AGB)

a single or combined autonomous braking or steering intervention might most effectively or most safely prevent a collision is at the focus of this research project. The analysis will be directed toward determining which functional configurations are principally suited, with high probability under urban conditions, to avoiding an imminent collision. Critical parameters in this regard are the degree of support of the assistance function, the scale of the intervention, and the timing of the intervention.

The decision as to whether an accident can be avoided by an evasive action or by braking is made by an alert driver with a good overview of the situation based on diverse influencing factors. These include, for example: relative velocity, overlap with the obstacle, and direction of motion of the traffic participants involved. For optimal support which starts at the right time, all relevant factors must be included in the decision whether to intervene.

When this function is implemented, its degree of support is purposely not specified beforehand. This is based on the background that it must first be determined whether a warning for driver action is already leading to positive results. An evaluation of more intrusive functions ranging up to automatic evasion and braking is only possible after comparing the various function configurations.

The close coordination with UR:BAN *Human Factors in Traffic* project guarantees that the assistance systems developed in this subproject will be optimized precisely for driver requirements in urban scenarios. This applies in particular to the design of the human-machine interface (HMI).

#### 1.6.4 Safe Lateral and Longitudinal Guidance in Cities

The primary goal of this subproject is the prevention of serious accidents in cities as well as the increase of urban traffic efficiency while simultaneously maintaining the mobility of the elderly. This is achieved through a combination of powerful and innovative assistance functions through which drivers in narrow urban spaces are provided relief through early information on clearance width and drivability as well as continuous lateral and longitudinal guidance.



Fig. 1.8 Schematic representation of a bottleneck with oncoming traffic

Collisions at bottlenecks result in blocked traffic and long traffic jams. Avoiding accidents at bottlenecks therefore immediately leads to an enormous increase in efficiency and to a reduction of pollution in dense urban traffic. Equally important is that assistance systems which provide lateral and longitudinal guidance for urban scenarios have a positive effect on the maintenance of mobility and the social integration of the elderly. For example, they can provide significant support in the event of a physical handicap or emotional insecurity. Elderly citizens can thus continue to take part in society as before and need not forego independent transportation with their own vehicle.

Within the scope of the safe lateral and longitudinal guidance subproject, the following assistance systems are being analysed and prototyped:

#### Narrow Passage Assistant

Lateral guidance in flowing traffic to support the driver when driving through a bottleneck or when passing vehicles in neighboring lanes, stationary obstacles, or parked vehicles. A warning sounds if the width is too narrow to drive through safely.

#### **Oncoming Traffic Assistant**

Oncoming vehicles are evaluated as to whether they could become a problem when driving through a bottleneck. A warning sounds if passage through the bottleneck is not possible with oncoming traffic.

#### Lane Changing Assistant with All-around View

The position of the driver's own vehicle in the lane is determined and, in addition, all lanes are monitored, also to the rear, to determine whether a safe lane change is possible. This provides relief to drivers in urban scenarios with multiple lanes in a single direction.

#### Effectiveness, Assessment, and Legal Issues

The complexity of urban accident scenarios leads to a corresponding complexity in the design and development of driver assistance systems for active safety in urban areas. These processes require quantitative estimates of traffic safety impacts right from the start. There

**Fig. 1.9** Accident Analysis in UR:BAN



are numerous tradeoffs and optimization issues in the design of safety functions. It is essential to focus on the goals of maximal accident avoidance and reduction of injury severity while taking into account how real accidents occur "in the field."

This subproject supports the three application projects in system design. An integrated computer simulation toolkit is created based on real world accidents (GIDAS as well as video-documented accidents), with the purpose of predicting the potential effectiveness and the future benefit of safety systems addressing these accident samples. This toolkit is used to help optimize the design of the application functions for maximum safety effectiveness.

In addition, the addressed applications are considered from a legal perspective. As part of the development process, systems with a direct influence on longitudinal or lateral control of the vehicle, ranging up to fully autonomous intervention, require the analysis of relevant legal consequences. The issues pertain both to product liability laws as well as laws regulating driving behaviour. For example, an international treaty known as the Vienna Convention on Road Traffic mandates control of the vehicle by the driver.

The national traffic code of Germany also contains provisions regulating driver behaviour and control. Legal requirements and constraints have been considered in the concept and design of safety applications developed in UR:BAN-KA. The aim was to develop functions which eliminate those situations most likely to cause legal conflicts.

#### 1.7 Networked Traffic System (VV)

The development of applications for energy- and traffic-efficient driving in urban areas lies at the core of the UR:BAN project "Networked Traffic System" (UR:BAN-VV). The primary goal of the project is the development of new approaches to solve the following scientific and technical issues:

- Monitoring of complex urban situations for information and assistance systems to support energy efficient, comfortable, safe, and most of all traffic efficient mobility.
- Consideration of the requirements of alternative propulsion systems in the design of networked traffic applications.
- Optimization of infrastructure management and networking with innovative vehicle concepts and systems.
- Cooperative environment systems in complex urban situations.
- Complex co-modal network management in order to also satisfy more far-reaching mobility requirements of the post-fossil era.

New information and communication possibilities such as GSM/GPRS (2G/2.5G), UMTS (3G) and C2X allow new possibilities for cooperative traffic management in urban areas. Through the construction and expansion of intelligent infrastructure and the networking with intelligent vehicles, future innovative driver assistance systems can profit directly from the information and recommendations supplied by strategic traffic management while at the same time generating valuable information. These means will also allow appropriate consideration of the various propulsion systems of modern vehicles, such as electric and hybrid drives, when controlling traffic flow and optimizing traffic behaviour. The goals are the optimization of traffic efficiency, avoidance of traffic congestion, and thus the reduction of emissions in urban areas.

The "Networked Traffic System" project takes into account that along with the present variation in vehicles, the number of propulsion systems will increase in the future and the vehicles can be managed with greater sophistication dependent on their characteristics. Particularly in urban traffic, the variety of vehicles with different propulsion concepts and ensuing concept adaptations will increase significantly. Only through vehicle-specific adapted solutions can the potential of such specialization be efficiently taken advantage of by the infrastructure.

For the prototypical realization of the set goals, the participating partners defined four fields of activities within the project. The following figure presents an overview of the central focus of each subproject and how they are interrelated.

In the process, the various aspects of urban traffic in the three traffic subprojects are tightly intermeshed: beginning with a large-scale view of the regional network and the strategic routing of traffic, over anticipatory energy- and traffic-efficient driving on urban roads, all the way to adaptive control of smart intersections and the support of the driver (tactical assistance) in the vehicle. The interaction of the traffic applications from the three subprojects will be demonstrated in a common test area in a realistic traffic environment with the participation of the responsible municipal authorities in Düsseldorf. The "Cooperative Infrastructure" subproject represents the brackets around the traffic subprojects. The creation of a guideline for introducing cooperative systems opens up the possibility of implementing the traffic solutions developed within the project into other municipal and regional jurisdictions. The traffic evaluation of the interacting applications as well



Fig. 1.10 UR:BAN project structure – Networked traffic system with subprojects

as the extrapolation of the results ultimately provide a statement on the potential of the applications implemented in UR:BAN-VV.

#### 1.7.1 Regional Network

The "Regional Network" subproject is working on securing and sustainably developing a functional and efficient traffic network to ensure efficient and safe as well as socially and environmentally compatible mobility for people and goods. The decision for the most suitable access to or the best route through the metropolitan area is made on the network level. Up to now this decision has been based on statistical travel-time charts and a rudimentary knowledge of the current traffic conditions. Because of their lack of availability, traffic management recommendations cannot be taken into account by either traffic assistance systems or routing services.

The "Regional Network" subproject encompasses an expansion of traffic management to include environmental aspects as well as the consideration of various vehicle propulsion technologies (e. g. diesel, hybrid, or electric drives) both in the development of urban strategies as well as in the route selection in the vehicle. The resulting route recommendations – "energy-optimized routes" – dependent on the vehicle and drive type are communicated to the vehicles along with high-precision traffic information for autonomous optimization in the vehicle of the route selection. Acquisition technology in vehicles and devices with geographic positioning (GPS) and tracking systems via GSM are providing



Fig. 1.11 "Regional Network" – issues and goal

traffic management with high-precision traffic information on an increasing scale. The result from the perspective of traffic management is an optimized distribution of traffic which takes global aspects such as traffic efficiency and emissions as well as individual vehicle and drive types into consideration.

#### 1.7.2 Urban Roads

The "Urban Roads" subproject aims to develop vehicle functions for enhancing traffic efficiency and emissions reduction in motorized individual transport through traffic-signal controlled urban road networks. The close intermeshing of intelligent infrastructure with intelligent vehicles is an absolute prerequisite for reducing emissions and increasing traffic efficiency along a route.

Individual transport in urban road networks, especially on primary roads (urban streets) is currently characterised by a significant optimization potential with regard to traffic efficiency and avoidable emissions in the vicinity of intersections controlled by traffic lights. On the one hand, the lack of predictive information on traffic-light signal phase and timing prevents drivers from being provided with the best possible horizon for optimizing their driving and thus also reducing their fuel consumption and emissions. On the other hand, the potential for increasing efficiency and reducing emissions through the reduction of



Fig. 1.12 "Urban Roads" - Adaptive vehicle functions based on traffic-signal predictions

the braking and acceleration processes of the overall traffic flow caused by not optimally synchronised traffic signals at successive intersections is currently not being realised.

The "Urban Roads" subproject is developing basic components to provide vehicles with comprehensive infrastructure data and information, with the focus on providing a prediction of the timing of the traffic signals included in the urban road network. This information is directly implemented in passenger as well as commercial vehicles by new vehicle functions for efficient, energy- and emission-optimized driving through the traffic-light controlled road network. For monitoring purposes and to further optimize the infrastructure signaling, the vehicles make their route traces available to the central infrastructure.

#### 1.7.3 Smart Intersection

The "Smart Intersection" subproject addresses the vicinity of urban intersections. These generally have a high degree of utilization and are controlled by traffic lights. Construction in the vicinity of intersections restricts the area available for traffic as well as for traffic infrastructure. The traffic situation is characterised by overall high traffic demand from diverse traffic participants such as motorized vehicles, public transportation, cyclists, and pedestrians as well as emergency response vehicles, all with different utilization requirements.

The focus is therefore on innovative vehicle and traffic technologies which permit efficient as well as climate- and environmentally-friendly traffic through urban intersections.


Fig. 1.13 "Smart Intersection" – "Crossing guard" driver assistance

In addition, urban areas in particular require that a balanced co-existence of completely different utilization requirements be satisfied in this restricted traffic area.

The cooperative exchange of information between local traffic lights, vehicles, public transportation, emergency response vehicles as well as cyclists and pedestrians for trafficand energy-optimized traffic flow lies at the core of the "Smart Intersection" subproject. In this context, the subproject is focused on assistance and information systems which, in cooperation with an intelligent infrastructure, will raise the traffic capacity and lower fuel consumption and emissions as close as possible to intersection-free levels.

#### 1.7.4 Cooperative Infrastructure

The public sector demands information on the introduction of cooperative systems and their control center components as well as their technical requirements in a cooperative system. This discussion is particularly relevant now with regard to the reference architectures, subsystems and interfaces required as well as the operational aspects.

The "Cooperative Infrastructure" subproject ensures the transferability to and development of reference systems for the public sector and thus guarantees the sustainability of the research project and the transferability of the UR:BAN-VV results into the introduction of cooperative systems in cities and towns.

The "Cooperative Infrastructure" subproject also performs the evaluation of the developed systems and applications of the Networked Traffic Systems project. The subproject coordinates the harmonization of goals, the survey methodology, planning and performance of the traffic evaluation. The traffic evaluation lies at the focus of the evaluation. Above all, it should quantitatively show whether the applications meet expectations regarding the optimization of the traffic situation. These include increased efficiency of the traffic system through the reduction of congestion and travel time on the one hand, as well as the evaluation of environmentally-relevant parameters (e. g. emissions reduction, fuel savings) in urban areas on the other. The evaluation activity is holistic and therefore complementary to the observations of detailed interdependencies within the context of the "Regional Network", "Urban Roads", and "Smart Intersection" subprojects.

#### 1.7.5 Test Areas

All components and applications developed in UR:BAN-VV were tested and demonstrated in the Düsseldorf test area. In agreement with the city of Düsseldorf, two trafficrelevant intersections were identified as smart intersections in which especially the interaction with public transportation as well as with pedestrians and cyclists can also be shown.

The Brunswick field test area is the base for the development and test of applications for the "Smart Intersection" subproject. These tests in particular require extensive field testing in an environment which is secured both technologically and with regard to traffic. The AIM large-scale test facility of the German Aerospace Center provides the appropriate prerequisites.

The Kassel test area provides the "Urban Roads" subproject with a development and test environment which is especially necessary on account of the infrastructure which differs to that in Düsseldorf. The Kassel test area makes an important contribution to the complete transferability of the infrastructure developments into new cities and towns and as a building block for the reference architectures to be developed in the "Cooperative Infrastructure" subproject.

Whereas in Düsseldorf traffic- and time-dependent fixed-time control processes are implemented, in Kassel adaptive traffic-dependent control processes are used. This difference impacts solely the development of the switching time predictions for the infrastructure. In sum, the two methods cover approximately 80% of all control processes being implemented in Germany.

#### 1.7.6 Communication & Standards

On the basis of the experience gained over the last few years, it is now becoming quite apparent that the future networking of traffic systems will be implemented with various communication or protocol standards dependent on the particular application. The systems will also be designed to permit flexible role configuration for institutions. The classical boundaries between the "private" service provider and the "public" infrastructure provider are no longer necessary from a technological perspective. The public sector, for example, will be able to pass information to mobile devices and vehicles, or private service providers will provide their services to the public operators.

In order to take this development into account, the applications in UR:BAN-VV supports the current standardization efforts and considerations for a comprehensive ITS system architecture. The applications in the "Smart Intersection" and "Urban Roads" subprojects will support C2I communication via short-range (IEEE 802.11p) as well as cellular network communication (e. g. UMTS). The data can be specially prepared by a service provider ("Urban Roads" subproject) or provided directly by the city ("Regional Network" subproject). The developments of the Car2X integrated network running in parallel to UR:BAN will be considered in the system architectures.

# Part II Urban Driving

### A Meta-perspective on Research Activities in UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic

Matthias Graichen, Verena Nitsch, and Berthold Färber

#### 2.1 Introduction to the Project "Urban Driving"

Urban traffic scenarios are characterised by a high variety of different traffic participants, infrastructural features and diverse environmental conditions. As such, they are considerably more complex than traffic scenarios on rural roads or motorways. So far, the development of advanced driver assistance systems (ADAS) was guided by a rather disintegrated function-oriented approach. When it comes to urban traffic scenarios, however, it becomes necessary to consider the various influencing factors more comprehensibly. The design of urban ADAS should follow an approach of an adaptive and integrated HMI to support drivers according to situation- and driver-related requirements, and avoid confrontations with unnecessary information [1].

With this goal in mind, the research initiative UR:BAN conducted numerous data collections pertaining to different research foci. To support a more holistic process of function and HMI development, it is necessary to integrate the diverse research questions, synchronise individual partner activities and evaluate the obtained project results from a broader perspective. This requires a fundamental, project-spanning, structured procedure and coordination. For this purpose, the project *Urban Driving* (abbrev. UF for "Urbanes Fahren") applied a strategy, starting with the beginning of the research initiative, with the objective of monitoring research activities in the four projects *Human-Machine Interaction for Urban Environments* (abbrev. MMI for "Mensch-Maschine-Interaktion"), *Behaviour Prediction and Intention Detection* (abbrev. VIE for "Verhaltensprädiktion und Intentionserkennung"), *Simulation* (SIM) and *Controllability* (abbrev. KON for "Kontrolllierbarkeit"). Hence, research intentions were identified and correspon-

M. Graichen  $(\boxtimes) \cdot V$ . Nitsch  $\cdot B$ . Färber  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Human Factors Institute, Universität der Bundeswehr München Neubiberg, Germany e-mail: berthold.faerber@unibw.de

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_2

ding data collections standardised by means of several systematic procedures in order to provide a meta-perspective on the project research activities and results.

#### 2.1.1 General Approach

UF approached its objective of providing a meta-perspective with different strategies on both an operational and a conceptual level. On the operational level, procedures were developed to facilitate inter-project communication processes and inter-project relations. This is particularly pertinent for bigger research initiatives that are often conducted of heterogeneous partners from industry and academia who vary with respect to their terminology, specific background knowledge as well as their strategic research intention (short-term or long-term orientation) Instead of conducting disparate and isolated research activities, synchronised efforts should be initiated for documentation, standardisation, coordination and communication of joint or similar project phases, right from the beginning of the project. In UF this was achieved e.g. by synchronising the basic terminology, the form of representation of research objectives and measurements, and also by creating a comparative and clarifying summary of data collections [1].

On the conceptual level it was aimed to obtain a broader perspective on the investigated (assistance)-scenarios, which are composed of various aspects pertaining to the driving situation, the driver and the implemented function (as well as its user interface). With respect to the overall objective of initiating a holistic function development process, the development of a classification scheme for assistance scenarios constituted an essential part of UF. This classification scheme considers and systematically combines a priori driver charac-



**Fig. 2.1** Dimensions of the classification scheme for urban assistance scenarios. (Adopted from [2]; reproduced with permission from C. Purucker and A. Neukum)

teristics, situational demands, system design as well as their interplay. Moreover, a useroriented development and integration process for functional and informational systems can be facilitated with this classification, as well as their adaptive functioning according to current situational demands (Fig. 2.1).

Regarding the UF objective of providing an integrative meta-perspective, the stated classification scheme also allows for inter-project comparisons and discussions as well as evaluations of project results and their assignment to different effectiveness criteria. With this analytical approach, further gaps concerning urban ADAS research and development can be identified and specified [1].

#### 2.1.2 Project Infrastructure

In order to achieve the operational and conceptual objectives, and – as mentioned above – to provide a meta-perspective on the initiative's research activities, a multi-aspect approach was applied (Fig. 2.2), which comprised the following steps:

- Synchronisation of terminology, data acquisition and data formats for the development of internal project standards and conventions.
- Systematic description of assistance scenarios to be investigated based on a classification scheme for urban driving scenarios.
- Systematic evaluation of project results using the classification scheme for urban driving scenarios.

On the operational level the communication and cooperation was guaranteed by a mandatory involvement of the project leaders (PL) in UF. For the exchange and archival of the various partner inputs, a dedicated UR:BAN server was used.

The first two steps focused on defining data standards and the systematic description of investigated assistance scenarios in order to achieve the following objectives:





- Increased transparency and comprehensibility of data acquisition.
- Internal coordination (harmonisation and synchronisation) of data acquisition activities.
- Documentation of the obtained data.
- Facilitation of the comparability and interpretability of results by utilising standardised procedures.

As can be seen in Fig. 2.2, the corresponding efforts culminate in the third step which comprises the evaluation of project results by using the developed classification scheme for urban driving scenarios, which will be the main focus of the present chapter. As such, the following section only briefly describes the methodological issues of the stated procedure, which involved several tools and standardised documents for the collection of necessary meta-information on the project activities (for more details of the conceptual development process of these tools, see [1, 3, 4]).

#### 2.2 Methodological Approach

Several methods were applied to achieve the various objectives concerning inter-project communication and internal coordination as well as transparency and comprehensibility of data collection, which are briefly described in the following sections.

#### 2.2.1 Harmonisation of Terminology

To ensure the utilisation of a consistent terminology throughout the project, a central information platform (Wiki) was implemented in the initial project phase. The platform contained the most important terms and definitions (and corresponding references) concerning the investigation of Human Factors and the development of ADAS, which were used identically within all subprojects. Throughout the entire duration of the project, the platform was open for continuous maintaining by any project partner [5, 6]. Experiences from coordinated activities within each subproject have shown that the platform contents were used to stimulate debates not only on formal definitions of specific terms but also on creating a consistent language throughout the project and reporting system.

#### 2.2.2 Synchronisation of Data Acquisition and Data Formats

In accordance with the research initiative's goals, all research activities focused on data acquisition at least once over the duration of the respective projects (e.g. by means of field observation or studies with experimental manipulation). Depending on the individual research objectives, studies or experiments might have been conducted in different

research environments, but would likely comprise the same types of traffic participants (motorcar, truck, motorbike, bicycle, or pedestrian). As such, it was considered useful to coordinate the planned research activities in advance of the first data acquisition phase. Thereby, planned activities could be diversified and coordinated between partners to reduce required resources, and acquired data could be shared for related research questions. For example, in projects KON and MMI, similar studies were conducted regarding driving performances in evasion manoeuvres, in order to either investigate comparability of different research environments (Chap. 25) or designing appropriate warning strategies (HMI; Chap. 5), respectively.

In order to achieve this effect of synchronised research activities, three procedures were developed, which aimed at determining consistent standards in data acquisition, and at increasing comprehensibility and transparency regarding the phase of study conceptualisation (Sect. 2.2.2.1) and the phase of data acquisition (Sect. 2.2.2.2 and 2.2.2.3). The following sections briefly outline the applied methods.

#### 2.2.2.1 Matrix of Research Contents and Experimental Settings

The matrix of research contents was initially compiled based on the description of the intended research activities, and was continuously updated throughout the project progress. Planned research activities considered different types of traffic participants (motorcar, truck, motorbike, bicycle, and pedestrian) as well as different research environments (onroad, closed test-track or driving simulator). The different constellations can be seen in Fig. 2.3. Each cell shows the involved partners, who conducted data collections focussing

	Motorcar	Truck	Motorbike	Bicycle	Pedestrian
On-road		MALEN	UNVIESUITAT	VOLKSWAGEN Letenset	
Closed test track	Universität München		UNIVERSITÄT		ike ss
Driving simulator	Contracting quark hards     Contracting quark hards		UNVERSITÄT WÜLZBUKS		BOSCH     B

**Fig. 2.3** Matrix of research contents, experimental settings and research partners. (Adopted from [1]

on the corresponding type of traffic participants and research environment. Thus, the matrix depicts the complete data pool generated over the duration of project [1].

#### 2.2.2.2 Metrics

A list of metrics had been developed based on the matrix of performance indicators (PImatrix) in the project FESTA ([7]; as cited in [4]), which aimed at field operational tests for assessing the impact of information and communication technologies systems on driver behaviour and – similar to UF – in an "*integrated and coordinated program of research*" (see http://www.its.leeds.ac.uk/festa/). The matrix was adapted to meet the requirements of the UR:BAN project on relevant contents [4]. Similarly to the Wiki, the list of study metrics stimulated debates within each project on determining comparable measurements (e. g. matching definitions of lane exceedances) as well as defining standards for following data analysis and modelling procedures (e. g. computations of TTC).

#### 2.2.2.3 Documentation of Empirical Research and Data

For each data acquisition activity, partners completed a one-sided data sheet which briefly described the applied experimental or observational procedure. The electronic document required basic information concerning the research environment, traffic participants and sample size, as well as a link to the corresponding description of the investigated assistance scenario (if available). Additional information could be given, e. g. on potential deviations from the variables and measures in the list of study metrics or on special technical features [4].

#### 2.2.3 Classification Scheme for Urban Driving Scenarios

With regard to the description of investigated assistance scenarios, UF established categories which consider various aspects of the driving situation, the driver and the implemented function (cf. Sect. 2.1.1). Table 2.1 lists specific categories within these dimensions. The following sections briefly describe the contents of the three scenario dimensions. For a theoretical derivation of the classification scheme for urban driving scenarios and a comprehensive literature review (see [1, 3]).

#### 2.2.3.1 Situation Description

The operating principles of ADAS can be best illustrated using typical traffic situations. The situation description contains static and dynamic aspects of the environmental situation described by text or using illustrating sketches. Dynamic aspects relate to the ego vehicle (and its driving manoeuvres) as well as various aspects of the traffic situation (such as other traffic participants, traffic flow or weather). Static aspects concern the road infrastructure and environmental conditions in which the driver moves. Additionally, the core aspects of the situation were classified according to the potential conflict (or accident) situation and concerned driving manoeuvres. To allow for comparable replications of the

RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	Collision av Controllabil Manoeuvrir assistance Intention de	oidance - Methods ity - Simulation syster ig - Usability - Validation tection	Efficiency     enhancement     Emission reduction     Infrastructure     development     Effectiveness
Situation description	n	Driving task	Function description
Situation sketch (Im. Description of conflit Manoeuvre type Traffic situation - Description of eq - Description of tra- participants - Situation-depend visibility - Traffic flow - Operational parametrisation Environmental and r conditions - Type of road - Road condition - Weather - Lighting conditio - Time of day	ages) ict situation go vehicle affic dent road	Requirement level of driving task         Secondary tasks         -       Sensor modality         -       Type of interaction         -       Interruptibility         -       Information coding         Driver characteristic         -       Age and sex         -       Personality         -       Driving skills         -       Driving experience         -       Driver state	<ul> <li>Information/intervention depth</li> <li>Information</li> <li>Warning</li> <li>Intervention (assisted, partly/highly/fully automated)</li> <li>Technical system</li> <li>Objective description</li> <li>Technical implementation</li> <li>Sensory input variables</li> <li>Description of operational sequence</li> <li>HMI</li> <li>Objective description</li> <li>Technical implementation</li> <li>Sensory input variables</li> <li>Description of operational sequence</li> <li>HMI</li> <li>MI phases</li> </ul>

Table 2.1 Classification scheme for urban assistance scenarios. (Adopted from [1, 3])

experimental design, all necessary parameters were documented. The results of a detailed situation analysis can be used for:

- Deduction of safety-relevant requirements for the development of assistance functions,
- Effective comparisons of functions and
- Identification of synergy effects.

#### 2.2.3.2 Driver Description

The driver description contains the specification of the driving task and a determination of corresponding levels of task requirements. Secondary tasks while driving can also be described with various details, as these tasks can limit the driver's attentional resources and thus reduce the effectiveness of assistance systems. Moreover, additional information can be provided regarding the general driver characteristics (e. g. age, familiarity with the route or driving experience) and driver state, as these might have a moderating impact

on the driving task performance as well as on the interaction process with the assistance system.

#### 2.2.3.3 Function Description

The function description contains specifications regarding the purpose and functionality of the respective function as well as the intended extent of the intervention (e. g. ranging from just informing to warning the driver). It is further differentiated between functions that involved driver-system interactions and those that do not directly involve interaction. Examples of the former include warning or information systems, which can be described, e. g. with respect to the sensory modality of warning signals. Examples of the latter include the automatic monitoring of vehicle dynamics or environment-related sensory data.

A minimum amount of information must be provided on these three dimensions in order to describe adequately an assistance scenario and to provide a sufficient data basis for successive qualitative analyses. Elaborate details were omitted from the descriptions in order facilitate completion and processing. Some of the comprised categories aimed at providing a quick overview of the investigated assistance scenario and a mutual understanding between projects. Other categories could be filled with precise details concerning the technical implementation of a system or the specific design of a HMI interface. These were optional and aimed at a detailed bilateral exchange. The final document was implemented as a digital checklist, which allowed for easy export of into a database. This facilitated the project-spanning synopsis of the investigated assistance scenarios.

#### 2.3 Evaluation of Project Results

In order to provide an integrative meta-perspective of the diverse research activities and project results, the obtained information from the described assistance scenarios must by condensed to their core aspects and merged with specific situation- or assistance-related key results of the individual project activities. This allows for a qualitative evaluation of the project results and potential analysis regarding the effectiveness criteria. However, not all project activities focused on situation- or assistance-related research questions. Each project also engaged in methodological and/or conceptual work (e.g. development of a HMI tool kit, potential analysis of signals for manoeuvre prediction, development of linked simulators, or the expansion of the methodological inventory for controllability studies), which was also to be considered with an integrative view on project results. In the following section, these results are referred to as "core messages".

The following sections describe the strategies for obtaining the core messages and key results, and culminate in an integrative meta-perspective on the project's research activities by means of text-based summaries and comprehensive visual representations of project results.

#### 2.3.1 Project Core Messages

The project core messages reflect the main results of each project which focus on methodological or conceptual aspects that are independent of the specific dimensions (situation, driver, or function) of an assistance scenario. The underlying main objectives of each project are listed below (Table 2.2) and are elaborated in the corresponding chapters for each project in this book.

Despite the apparent distinctiveness of these objectives, projects exhibit mutual interdependencies. Behaviour prediction and intention detection (VIE) is a precondition for an adequate, transparent and accepted support or intervention. However, intention detection will sometimes change system behaviour. For example, a system which warns the driver of an insufficient distance to a preceding vehicle might omit this warning, if it predicts that the driver will turn right. Thus, system behaviour is not necessarily consistent over time and the driver needs to understand under which circumstances what kind of system action can be expected.

The communication of system stages, planned and actually performed actions to the driver is part of the project HMI. It offers a strategy and a toolkit for comprehensible and user-centred interaction, specifically for the challenges of urban traffic.

Even if drivers' intentions are correctly identified and system actions are displayed in a transparent and non-overloading manner, the question remains whether the system is controllable by the driver (KON); in other words, whether s/he can override the system if necessary or is willing to transfer control to the system for a while.

Human-Machine In- teraction for Urban Environments	Behaviour Prediction and Intention Detec- tion	Simulation	Controllability
<ul> <li>Conception and development of a generic HMI- Toolkit</li> <li>Development of a structure for HMI- strategies</li> <li>Elaboration of the HMI strategies</li> <li>"Warnings and Inter- ventions", "Lateral and longitudinal control", and "Rec- ommended action"</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Determination of systems approaches and applications</li> <li>Determination of boundary conditions</li> <li>Potential analysis of signal usage</li> <li>Determination of prediction quality and restrictions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Determination of metrics for the quan- tification of social interaction</li> <li>Development of linked simulation systems and investi- gation of interaction effects</li> <li>Investigation of ef- fects of assisted drivers on non-as- sisted drivers</li> <li>Microscopic simu- lation of interaction behaviour</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Choice of research environment</li> <li>Determination of validation and evalu- ation criteria</li> <li>Enhancement of the methodical inventory</li> <li>Differentiation from traditional criteria of controllability</li> <li>Investigation of driver performance</li> <li>Implications</li> </ul>
		o on a no an	

Table 2.2	Main	objectives	of the	projects	MMI,	VIE,	SIM	and	KON
				/					

Many aspects of driver behaviour prediction as well as controllability can be tested in specific experiments and testing environments. However, to get a deeper insight in the behaviour and mutual dependence of traffic participants' actions, simulations are necessary. SIM therefore investigates effects of the interaction of traffic participants (drivers and pedestrians/cyclists) and of interactions of drivers with highly automated and "conventional" cars.

#### 2.3.2 Situation- or Assistance-related Project Key Results

The numerous described aspects of the assistance scenario checklist were filtered for relevant and meaningful variables, and then aggregated into core statements using an iterative strategy. Linking core statements obtained from the described assistance scenarios with scenario-specific key results constituted a particular challenge. Additional data sources were queried, such as the internal report system (e. g. [8–16]) public presentations (e. g. posters of the final presentation; see UR:BAN, [2]) as well as several partner publications, which are listed in the project reports or the projects website (see http://www.urban-online.org/de/publikationen/).

Based on the obtained data from the assistance scenario checklists and the extracted project key results, the classification scheme for urban driving scenarios was restructured with an integrative view on the developed functions. In a workshop with the participation of UF partners as well as the project leaders, this revision was discussed and the potential effectiveness criteria were identified, which aimed at the potential evaluation of the obtained project results. The workshop results are listed below (see also Fig. 2.4):

The scenario data have been aggregated into three global driving scenarios in urban environments:

- Roads without constrictions or visibility constraints.
- Roads with constrictions or visibility constraints.
- Intersections and crossroads.



Fig. 2.4 Revised classification scheme for research activities and potential criteria for effectiveness and efficiency

Within these scenarios, research activities focused on various aspects which could be classified into three categories:

- Driver and general behavioural or cognitive aspects (e.g. individual characteristics, perception, distraction, workload, or driver experience).
- Driving manoeuvres, assistance systems and interaction with other traffic participants.
- Methodical and conceptual issues (Comparison of research environments, development of multi-party driving simulations, and development of an integrative HMI concept and toolkit).

Analogously to these categories, the following effectiveness criteria were identified:

- Driver related: Acceptance, comfort, driver experience, usability.
- System related: Safety, efficiency, consumption and emission.
- Research related: Methods.

In order to establish the basis for a qualitative analysis of project results and potential analyses with regard to the identified effectiveness criteria, an integrative and intuitive visual representation type was preferred and implemented for each global driving scenario (see Figs. 2.5, 2.6 and 2.7). Within these scenarios the specific key results can be described and assigned to the identified research foci and effectiveness criteria.



#### 2.3.2.1 Roads without Constrictions or Visibility Constraints

Fig. 2.5 Roads without constrictions or visibility constraints



#### 2.3.2.2 Roads with Constrictions or Visibility Constraints

Fig. 2.6 Roads with constrictions or visibility constraints

#### 2.3.2.3 Intersections and Crossroads



Fig. 2.7 Intersections and crossroads

#### 2.3.3 Road Map to Key Results

	MMI	Chap. 6: HMI Strategy - Lateral and Longitudinal Control
Roads without	VIE	Chap. 10: Predicting Strategies of Driving in Presence of Additional Visually Demanding Tasks: Inverse Optimal Control Estimation of Steering and Glance Behaviour Models
constric- tions or visibility		Types and Glance Behaviour to a Real-Time Prediction Algorithm Chap. 12: Fusion of Driver Behaviour Analysis and Situation Assessment for Probabilistic Driving Manoeuvre Prediction
con- straints		Chap. 13: Human Focused Development of a Manoeuvre Prediction in Urban Traffic Situations Based on Behavioural Sequences Chap. 14: Application of a Driver Intention Recognition Algorithm on a
		Pedestrian Intention Recognition and Collision Avoidance System
	SIM	Chap. 22: A New Approach to Investigate Powered Two Wheelers' Inter- actions with Passenger Car Drivers: the Motorcycle – Car Multi-Driver Simulation Chap. 23: Multi-Road User Simulation: Methodological Considerations from Study Planning to Data Analysis
	KON	Chap. 29: Integrating Different Kinds of Driver Distraction in Controllability Validations
Roads with con-	MMI	Chap. 5: HMI Strategy – Warnings and Interventions Chap. 6: HMI Strategy – Lateral and Longitudinal Control
strictions or visibi- lity con- straints	SIM	Chap. 16: Methodology and Results for the Investigation of Interactions Be- tween Pedestrians and Vehicles in Real and Controlled Traffic Conditions Chap. 23: Multi-Road User Simulation: Methodical Considerations from Study Planning to Data Analysis
	KON	Chap. 25: Validity of Research Environments: Comparing Criticality Percep- tions Across Research Environments Chap. 26: Emergency Steering Systems – Controllability Investigations with the Vehicle in the Loop Chap. 27: Considerations of the Available Evading Space for the Evaluation of
		the Driver Reaction to Emergency Steering Interventions

and cross- roadsVIEChap. 9: Analysing Behavioural Data from On-Road Driving Studies: Han- dling the Challenges of Data ProcessingroadsSIMChap. 17: Understanding Interactions Between Bicyclists and Motorist in In- tersections Chap. 18: Analysis and Modelling of the Operational and Tactical Behaviour of Bicyclists Chap. 20: Encounters Between Drivers with and Without Cooperative Intelli- gent Transport Systems Chap. 21: The Multi-Driver Simulation: A Tool to Investigate Social Interac- tions Between Several Drivers Chap. 22: A New Approach to Investigate Powered Two Wheelers' Inter- actions with Passenger Car Drivers: the Motorcycle – Car Multi-Driver Simulation Chap. 23: Multi-Road User Simulation: Methodical Considerations from Study Planning to Data Analysis	Inter- sections	MMI	Chap. 6: HMI Strategy – Lateral and Longitudinal Control Chap. 7: HMI Strategy – Recommended Action
roadsSIMChap. 17: Understanding Interactions Between Bicyclists and Motorist in Intersections Chap. 18: Analysis and Modelling of the Operational and Tactical Behaviour of Bicyclists Chap. 20: Encounters Between Drivers with and Without Cooperative Intelli- gent Transport Systems Chap. 21: The Multi-Driver Simulation: A Tool to Investigate Social Interac- tions Between Several Drivers 	and cross-	VIE	Chap. 9: Analysing Behavioural Data from On-Road Driving Studies: Han- dling the Challenges of Data Processing
	roads	SIM	<ul> <li>Chap. 17: Understanding Interactions Between Bicyclists and Motorist in Intersections</li> <li>Chap. 18: Analysis and Modelling of the Operational and Tactical Behaviour of Bicyclists</li> <li>Chap. 20: Encounters Between Drivers with and Without Cooperative Intelligent Transport Systems</li> <li>Chap. 21: The Multi-Driver Simulation: A Tool to Investigate Social Interactions Between Several Drivers</li> <li>Chap. 22: A New Approach to Investigate Powered Two Wheelers' Interactions with Passenger Car Drivers: the Motorcycle – Car Multi-Driver Simulation</li> <li>Chap. 23: Multi-Road User Simulation: Methodical Considerations from Study Planning to Data Analysis</li> </ul>

#### 2.4 Summary and Conclusion

UF aimed to support a holistic function development process for urban ADAS that takes situational, environmental and driver-related aspects into consideration, as they are featured in urban traffic scenarios. For this purpose, several strategies were applied that generated synergies between the research projects by integrating the various research questions, harmonising individual partner activities and evaluating the obtained project results from a broader perspective. This comprised the development of internal project standards and conventions, and a classification scheme for the investigated urban driving scenarios. On this basis it was possible to structure communication and interaction with experts working on function development in UR:BAN Cognitive Assistance and traffic information management in UR:BAN Networked Traffic System.

Moreover, particularly the classification scheme raised awareness of the numerous factors that affect driving in urban traffic scenarios and it directed efforts from a predominantly function-oriented development towards an integrative approach. By extracting core messages and aggregating obtained information, a qualitative analysis and potential evaluation could be performed – culminating in a meta-perspective on the overall research activities.

The analysis evaluated the project results in three global driving scenarios that featured in urban environments with respect to various effectiveness criteria. Integrative visualisations of the project results give insights into the main research achievements of the projects and showed in which way the obtained results will positively affect the UR:BAN objectives of safety, comfort and efficiency. Experiences from former comparable research initiatives, such as PROMETHEUS [17], MoTiV [18], INVENT [19] and AKTIV [20], highlighted the importance and challenges of cross-project coordination and its potential contribution towards the overall project success (as well as to the public image; cf. [1]). The presented strategies and results of UF have shown that these challenges can be met by applying appropriate strategies for documenting and harmonising the diverse research activities over the entire duration of the project. Moreover, viewing the project activities and results from an integrative meta-perspective provides valuable insights, which go beyond the presentation of results in isolated project reports or public presentations and emphasise the necessities which justify research initiatives of this type a fortiori. With this holistic view on UR:BAN *Human Factors in Traffic*, it can be seen to which extent we are ready to meet the requirements of assisted urban driving and what still needs to be addressed in future research initiatives.

#### Acknowledgement

Sincere thanks to Andreas Pütz and Christian Purucker who developed the standards for data acquisition, the classification scheme as well as the checklist for describing the assistance scenario respectively. Moreover, Matthias Graichen thanks Julia Drüke for supporting the initial development process of the holistic perspective on the project results. Furthermore, without the support of all project partners and project leaders, and their diligent document completion and valuable feedback in numerous communication and coordination processes, the present work could not have been completed.

#### References

- Bengler, K., Pütz, A., Purucker, C., Götze, M., Färber, B.: Das UR:BAN Assistenzszenario als Konstrukt für die Entwicklung und Bewertung integrierter Fahrerassistenzsysteme. Z Arbeitswiss 69(2), 37–42 (2015)
- UR:BAN: Abschlusspräsentation, 7. und 8. Oktober 2015, Messe Düsseldorf. Poster (2015). http://urban-online.org/de/downloads/-redirect/downloads-redirect.html?idcat36=&fid=1008. Accessed 17. Apr. 2017
- 3. Purucker, C., Neukum, A., Götze, M.: Systematik der Assistenzszenarien. UR:BAN, Teilprojekt Urbanes Fahren (UF) [projektintern]. Würzburg (2013)
- 4. Pütz, A.: Handbuch Datenstandards. UR:BAN, Teilprojekt Urbanes Fahren (UF) [projektintern]. Aachen (2013)
- Götze, M., Bengler, K.: Meilensteinbericht 1 Q4: Anforderungsentwicklung Definition relevanter Szenarien. UR:BAN, Projekt MV, Teilprojekt UF [projektintern]. München (2013)
- Götze, M., Bengler, K.: Meilensteinbericht 2 Q8: Potenzialanalyse und Systematik. UR:BAN, Projekt MV, Teilprojekt UF [projektintern]. München (2014)
- Kircher, K., Gelau, C., Vierkötter, M., Rakic, M., Bärgman, J., Kotiranta, R., Rämä, P.: A comprehensive framework of performance indicators and their interaction. D2.1 (2008). http://www.its.leeds.ac.uk/festa/downloads.php. Accessed 17. Apr. 2017
- Petermann-Stock, I. (2013). 1. Meilensteinbericht (Q4): MMI Baukasten Strategie zur systematischen Ableitung von MMI Konzepten. UR:BAN, Projekt MV, Teilprojekt MMI [projektintern]. Wolfsburg.

- Petermann-Stock, I., & Werneke, J. (2014). 2. Meilensteinbericht (Q8): Funktionsspezifische MMI Konzepte und nutzerbezogene Evaluationsergebnisse. UR:BAN, Projekt MV, Teilprojekt MMI [projektintern]. Wolfsburg.
- Werneke, J. (2015). 3. Meilensteinbericht (Q12): Implementierung funktionsspezifischer MMI Konzepte in Funktionsträger und Demonstatoren. UR:BAN, Projekt MV, Teilprojekt MMI [projektintern]. Wolfsburg.
- Manstetten, D.: Meilensteinbericht 3: Algorithmische Konzepte. UR:BAN, Projekt MV, Teilprojekt VIE [projektintern] (2015)
- 12. Baur, M. (2014). Bericht zu Meilenstein 2: Versuche, Datenanalyse und Ergebnisse. UR:BAN, Projekt MV, Teilprojekt SIM [projektintern]. München.
- Hoffmann, S. (2015). Bericht zu Meilenstein 3: Versuche, Datenanalyse und Ergebnisse. UR:BAN, Projekt MV, Teilprojekt SIM [projektintern]. München.
- Neukum, A.: Bericht zum Arbeitspaket 1000: Systematik und Status quo der Methodik. UR:BAN, Projekt MV, Teilprojekt KON [projektintern]. Würzburg (2013)
- Neukum, A.: Bericht zum Arbeitspaket 2000: Empirische Darstellung. UR:BAN, Projekt MV, Teilprojekt KON [projektintern]. Würzburg (2015)
- Neukum, A.: Bericht zum Arbeitspaket 3000: Determinanten der Kontrollierbarkeit und ihre Gestaltung. UR:BAN, Projekt MV, Teilprojekt KON [projektintern]. Würzburg (2016)
- 17. Daimler Communications: 1986: Start of the PROMETHEUS research program (2007). http://media.daimler.com/marsMediaSite/de/instance/ko.xhtml? oid=9913541&ls=L3NIYXJjaHJlc3VsdC9zZWFyY2hyZXN1bHQueGh0bWw\_ c2VhcmNoU3RyaW5nPVBST01FVEhFVVMmc2VhcmNoSWQ9MCZzZWFyY2hUeXBI PWRldGFpbGVkJmJvcmRlcnM9dHJ1ZSZyZXN1bHRJbmZvVHlwZUlkPTQwNjI2JnZpZX dUeXBIPWxpc3Qmc29ydERIZmluaXRpb249UFVCTEITSEVEX0FULTImdGh1bWJTY2Fs ZUluZGV4PTAmcm93Q291bnRzSW5kZXg9NQ!!&rs=5. Accessed 17. Apr. 2017
- Sterbak, R.: Die bessere Wahl: intermodal (2000). http://www.spektrum.de/magazin/diebessere-wahl-intermodal/826911. Accessed 17. Apr. 2017
- INVENT: German companies launch research initiative INVENT (2001). http://www.inventonline.de/downloads/INVENT\_Pressrelease\_01-09-18.pdf. Accessed 17. Apr. 2017
- AKTIV: AKTIV: An active approach to mobility (2006). http://www.aktiv-online.org/english/ img/061218-AKTIV-Press%20Release-PI1.pdf. Accessed 17. Apr. 2017

## Part III Human-Machine Interaction for Urban Environments

# Introduction of Human-Machine Interaction for Urban Environments

3

#### Julia Drüke

In the German national funded UR:BAN project numerous assistance functions supporting the driver in longitudinal and lateral vehicle guidance control up to preventing accidents by warning the driver or making evasive manoeuvres autonomously are considered in order to contribute to improve safe, comfortable, and energy-efficient driving in urban areas. Especially, the design of the human-machine-interfaces (HMIs) of all the applications together faces many challenges. For example, urban traffic is compared to highways and rural roads more complex and dynamic due to different infrastructure and the interaction with other road users (e.g. crossing vehicles, pedestrians, and bicyclists). Thus, information, warning, and system intervention concepts should be designed to minimize the conflict between the complexity of urban traffic situations and the driver's limited cognitive information processing by keeping understanding and trust in such assistance systems. The subproject "Human-Machine Interaction for Urban Environments" (named "Stadtgerechte Mensch-Maschine-Interaktion") addresses the development and design of HMIs of this range of driver assistance systems. The central goal of the subproject is to design user-oriented, integrative HMI concepts of current and future assistance systems by considering the challenges and needs in urban areas. In total, nine project partners – Adam Opel AG, AUDI AG, Robert Bosch GmbH, Daimler AG, MAN Truck & Bus AG, Technische Universität Braunschweig, Technical University of Munich, Universität der Bundeswehr München, and Volkswagen AG – rise to this challenge.

In the subproject three main objectives are considered to contribute to increase driving safety, comfort, and energy-efficient driving in urban traffic:

(1) Development and design of a cross-functional HMI tool kit including generic, integrative HMI concepts of current and future driver assistance systems by providing an organization for the prioritization of adequate HMI components (e.g. presenting in-

J. Drüke (🖂)

Group Research – Driver Interaction, Volkswagen AG Wolfsburg, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_3

formation and warnings in the display in the instrument cluster and/or in the head-up display) and its design guidelines so that the required driver's action can be achieved in the situation.

- (2) Integration of the developed HMI concepts in the UR:BAN prototypes of the work packages "Cognitive Assistance" (e. g. collision avoidance system by autonomous evasive manoeuvre and braking, protection of vulnerable road users by turning and crossing assistance, constriction assistant) and "Networked Traffic System" (e. g. entrance and start assistant at intersections, intersection area view). This is done to evaluate the HMI tool kit method and the integrative HMI concepts derived from the tool kit logic as third objective in the subproject.
- (3) Evaluation and review of the HMI concepts throughout the entire development process from the user perspective, using a various number of expert reviews and research studies (e.g. focus groups, expert tests, driving simulator studies, and on-road testing) with research questions regarding the effectiveness, usability, optimized design, and driver acceptance of the HMI concepts as well as the effect on driver behaviour. The aim is to obtain refined requirements of the HMI concepts, then carry out an iterative development and evaluation process, and finally continue up to an evaluation of the overall approach.

The idea of the cross-functional HMI tool kit is to define a strategy for the systematic derivation of action-oriented HMI concepts of assistance systems for safe, comfortable, and energy-efficient driving in urban traffic. The tool kit illustrates how generic information, warning, and system intervention concepts can be designed by selecting appropriate HMI output media (e. g. display in the instrument cluster, head-up display, steering wheel etc.) for the different UR:BAN applications. It defines where and how information should be positioned relative to the driver in order to achieve the required action by the driver. The tool kit also describes which driver's action is recommended in the situation. Due to the variety of cases in urban traffic differing in time horizon and priority, the HMI tool kit is structured in three paths of HMI strategies: 1) HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions", 2) HMI strategy "Lateral and longitudinal control", and 3) HMI strategy "Recommended action".

The HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" contains HMI concepts especially for safety-critical situations, e. g. when a pedestrian is suddenly crossing the road without paying attention to the traffic. The aim is to avoid a potential collision by interventions by the driver (braking and steering) or the application (warning, steering, locking the accelerator). The UR:BAN applications from AUDI AG, Robert Bosch GmbH, Technische Universität Braunschweig, Technical University of Munich, and Volkswagen AG were used to test the developed HMI concepts derived from the HMI tool kit. Chap. 5 gives insight into the HMI strategy and describes the different HMI concepts developed from the project partners and tested in research studies.

The HMI strategies "Lateral and longitudinal control" and "Recommended action" contain assistance systems for comfortable and energy-efficient driving. The HMI strategy

"Lateral and longitudinal control" covers situations in which the driver should continuously and safely be supported in lateral and longitudinal vehicle guidance control, e.g. within narrow roads. Project partners like Daimler AG, MAN Truck & Bus AG, and Volkswagen AG worked on system functions, such as a constriction assistant, lane change assistant, and green wave assistant to enable 1) comfortable and energy-efficient driving and 2) a comprehensive awareness and understanding of the continuous operation of the system by the driver. In contrast, the HMI strategy "Recommended action" contains assistance systems which support the driver in his/her optimal route selection without active system interventions. The information is only given to the driver as recommendation. The energy-efficient navigation and the intersection area view are two examples of such assistance functions. The project partners Adam Opel AG, AUDI AG, Technical University of Munich, and Volkswagen AG address to this task in the UR:BAN project. In Chaps. 6 and 7 both HMI strategies and partner-specific HMI concepts are described.

The following section provides insight into the structure and contents of the HMI tool kit method. In addition to the aim and development of the tool kit, in Chap. 4 the HMI path structure, the three HMI strategies, and the design guidelines of the HMI components are explained in detail. The chapter ends with a generic and integrative HMI concept for the display in the instrument cluster developed in the UR:BAN project. The aim of this generic HMI concept is to aggregate relevant information and warnings of the various complex assistance systems in order to increase transparency by the driver. The generic HMI concept is exemplary applied for the constriction assistance and a collision avoidance system by autonomous evasive manoeuvre. In the Chaps. 5–7 the three HMI strategies are described in more detail. Besides the background and motivation of the UR:BAN application based on findings and input from the research studies conducted throughout the entire development process. Finally, it is important to mention that only a selection of results can be presented here. More detailed information and further results can be found in the references mentioned in the studies.

## The "HMI tool kit" as a Strategy for the Systematic Derivation of User-Oriented HMI Concepts of Driver Assistance Systems in Urban Areas

Julia Drüke, Carsten Semmler, and Lennart Bendewald

#### 4.1 Introduction

In the last few decades, the development of driver assistance systems has shown various innovation waves [1, 2]. The rapidly growing field of such systems ranges from supporting the driver in longitudinal (e. g. Adaptive Cruise Control – ACC) and lateral vehicle guidance control (e. g. Lane Assist) to the point of preventing accidents by warning the driver (e. g. collision warnings) or making evasive manoeuvres autonomously (e. g. emergency braking). While such assistance systems can contribute to increasing driving safety and comfort on highways and rural roads, in the future system limits will be enhanced to include also urban traffic. In the UR:BAN project, 31 partners comprising automotive manufacturers and suppliers, electronics, communication technology and software companies, universities, research institutes, and cities did research in this area.

The above mentioned trend also faces challenges, especially in the design of humanmachine-interfaces (HMI). First, HMI concepts of existing driver assistance systems are mostly stand-alone solutions (e. g. HMI for ACC or Lane Assist). Such HMI solutions could overload the driver with additional HMIs of future and novel assistance functionalities, which could be competitive and unsynchronised to each other [3, 4]. Second, the expansion of driver assistance systems to urban roads includes many challenges with regard to the environment and infrastructure (Fig. 4.1a).

Compared to highways and rural roads, urban traffic is more complex and dynamic due to the different infrastructure and the interaction with other road users (e.g. crossing vehicles, pedestrians, and bicyclists). Due to the complexity of urban traffic, this could also result in an increased number of different information, warnings, and system interventions whose understandability and differentiation could be reduced [4]. Thus, a quick and ad-

J. Drüke (🖂) · C. Semmler · L. Bendewald

Group Research – Driver Interaction, Volkswagen AG Wolfsburg, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_4



Fig. 4.1 Demands on human factor in urban areas (a) and the effects for HMI concepts (b)

equate reaction by the driver might be difficult to reach. The aim of the different HMIs should be to keep understandability and trust in such assistance systems by the design of generic information and warning concepts, with early and anticipatory information and clearly defined action-oriented concepts (Fig. 4.1b).

In the UR:BAN project [5], one aim was to design user-oriented, integrative HMI concepts of current and future assistance systems by considering the challenges of urban driving (Fig. 4.1) and to improve safe, comfortable, and energy-efficient driving. Therefore, in the subproject "Human-Machine Interaction for Urban Environments" (translated "Stadtgerechte Mensch-Maschine-Interaktion") the cross-functional "HMI tool kit" was developed, which comprises a strategy for the systematic derivation of action-oriented HMI concepts. The UR:BAN applications (e. g. emergency braking assistance, collision avoidance by autonomous evasive manoeuvre, lane change assistance, constriction assistance) are fundamental for the development of the HMI tool kit. Furthermore, novel applications supporting the driver in his/her optimal traffic flow through the urban traffic are also considered in the project and are part of the HMI tool kit. In the following, the aim and contents of the HMI tool kit are described.

#### 4.2 HMI Tool Kit

#### 4.2.1 Aim and Development of the HMI Tool Kit

The aim of the HMI tool kit was to develop and design user-oriented display and operating concepts in terms of a cross-functional HMI, which structure and standardise HMI concepts of current and future driver assistance systems.

The HMI tool kit comprises a strategy for the systematic derivation of action-oriented HMI concepts of assistance systems for safe, comfortable, and energy-efficient driving in urban traffic. It provides an organization for the prioritization of adequate HMI components (e. g. display in the instrument cluster, head-up display, steering wheel etc.) regarding urban cases. Furthermore, the tool kit also contains design guidelines for the different HMI components as output media so that the preferred driver's action can be achieved in situations e. g. in which the driver should be warned of a potential collision or the driver needs to become aware of the assistance system controlling the longitudinal or lateral system guidance. Overall, the goal of the HMI tool kit is to illustrate how consistent information, warning, and intervention concepts can be achieved by selecting appropriate HMI output media for the different types of applications in the urban area.

The input for the development of the HMI tool kit is shown in five key questions in Fig. 4.2, which also explains the structure of the tool kit (Fig. 4.3).

The output of the HMI tool kit is a proposal for adequate HMI concept solutions, which consider two main challenges:

- (1) Dealing with different and frequent information, warnings, and system interventions,
- (2) Integration of different messages from the system in a generic, integrative HMI concept to achieve an adequate reaction by the driver.

With regard to the goals of the UR:BAN project, the cross-functional HMI is based on the following key requirements:

- Consideration of various driver assistance systems based on on-board sensors and cooperative communication technologies with the aim to improve safe, stress-free, and energy-efficient driving in urban areas,
- (2) Structuring and coordination of continuous information, warnings, and situational recommendations of driver's action,
- (3) Identification of adequate and situation-adapted HMI output media for information, warnings, and situational recommendations to achieve a fast and adequate driver reaction,
- (4) Definition of requirements and design guidelines of prioritized HMI output media.





Fig. 4.3 The three pillars of the HMI tool kit

Aside from these, the subproject "Human-Machine Interaction for Urban Environments" (translated "Stadtgerechte Mensch Maschine Interaktion") includes three topic pillars, which structure the basis and key contents of the HMI tool kit (Fig. 4.3): (1) HMI path structure, (2) HMI strategy, and (3) HMI design. Within the UR:BAN project the three pillars also provide a base for increasing recognition of the various HMI concepts of the different applications of the project partners.

The "HMI path structure" contains the systematic categorization of the UR:BAN applications for safe, comfortable, and energy-efficient driving. It is also used for systematic organization of the action-oriented HMI concepts of these applications. Depending on the case, each HMI path structure defines the adequate "HMI strategy". According to the different UR:BAN applications (e.g. collision avoidance by autonomous evasive manoeuvre and by braking, constriction assistant, lane change assistant, green wave assistant, speed recommendation) it is not possible that all cases can be covered with only one HMI strategy to adequately assist the driver. On the one hand, they differ in time horizon and priority, on the other hand in the preferred driver's action (e.g. either the driver should become aware of the system behaviour or must immediately react to a critical event). Thus, the "HMI strategy" of the HMI tool kit is divided into: (1) "Warnings and interventions", (2) "Lateral and longitudinal control", and (3) "Recommended action". With the HMI strategy, the adequate HMI output media (visual, auditory, tactile), the selection of the suitable HMI components (e.g. display in the instrument cluster, head-up display, LED-bar, warning tone), and the information content to achieve the required driver's action are defined. Here, different stages of the driver's action are defined depending on the "HMI strategy". It describes that specific HMI components should only be used in later stages; other components are not recommended for each HMI strategy. Detailed information about the "HMI path structure" and "HMI strategies" are described in Sect. 4.2.2 and 4.2.3. The third pillar the "HMI design" contains detailed guidelines for the design of the HMI concept in the HMI strategy. Furthermore, it defines where and how information should be positioned and designed relative to the driver. Sect. 4.2.4 provides an insight into the design guidelines.

The examination of the HMI tool kit is based on the applications from the UR:BAN work packages "Cognitive Assistance - Kognitive Assistenz" (e.g. collision avoidance by autonomous evasive manoeuvre and braking, protection of vulnerable road users by turning and crossing assistance, constriction assistant), "Networked Traffic System - Vernetztes Verkehrssystem" (e.g. entrance and start assistant at intersections, intersection area view), and the subproject "Behaviour Prediction and Intention Detection" (translated "Verhaltensprädiktion, Intentionserkennung") of the UR:BAN work package "Human Factors in Traffic – Mensch im Verkehr". During the developing process, the HMI concepts were evaluated by a various number of expert reviews and research studies, e.g. focus groups, expert tests, driving simulator studies, and on-road testing. Research questions regarding the effectiveness, usability, and driver acceptance of the HMI concepts as well as the effect of the concepts on driver behaviour were considered within these studies. Based on the findings, the HMI tool kit was developed, advanced, expanded, and adapted by the HMI project team. It is also important to mention that the HMI tool kit should be seen as a proposal for cross-functional HMI concepts. The brand-specific details of the different concepts is left up to the UR:BAN partners.

#### 4.2.2 HMI Path Structure

The HMI tool kit is structured in three HMI paths, resulting in three HMI strategies (Fig. 4.4): (1) "Warnings and interventions", (2) "Lateral and longitudinal control", and (3) "Recommended action". As mentioned above due to the variety of cases in urban traffic it is not possible to cover all with only one HMI strategy in order to adequately assist the driver. Especially in urban traffic, the cases differ in time horizon, priority, and appropriate driver's action. For example, in unexpected, safety-critical situations when a pedestrian is suddenly crossing the road without paying attention to the traffic, the driver needs to be adequately warned that a fast and situation-related driver reaction (e. g. braking, steering, or braking and steering) can be achieved. In other situations, in which the driver is assisted by a lateral guidance system, e. g. when driving through a narrow point on the road or constriction (e. g. constriction assistant), the driver needs to have an adequate awareness and understanding of the continual lateral control of the assistance system. As a result, the different HMIs need a structure that differentiates according to the various applications and specify the path for an adequate HMI strategy. Thus, in the 1st level of the HMI tool kit the HMI concepts are divided into "safe driving" and "comfortable and efficient driv-



**Fig. 4.4** The HMI path structure of the HMI tool kit – A systematic derivation of different HMI concepts for the applications of safe, comfortable, and energy-efficient driving

ing" (Fig. 4.4). This level highlights the question: What kind of assistance does the driver need?

As Fig. 4.4 shows, in the case of "safe driving" the driver is assisted by warnings and system interventions. For "comfortable and efficient driving", the assistance is divided into continual system interventions and by recommended driver's action. Although comfort and efficiency are indeed strongly related to each other, in detail both have different user requirements and needs. In terms of comfort, the driver should get a comprehensive awareness and understanding of the continual control and operation of the assistance system. In contrast to efficiency where it is important that the driver gets information in order to reduce consumption. As a result, the user-oriented HMI strategies are divided into (Fig. 4.4): (1) HMI strategy of warnings and interventions, (2) HMI strategy of lateral and longitudinal control, and (3) HMI strategy of recommended action.

As shown in Fig. 4.4, to finally define the precise HMI for the current traffic situation, two filter processes are distinguished: (1) driver's action and (2) equipment of the vehicle. The driver's action defines the action of the driver, which is required from the assistance system, e. g. the driver should brake or steer in a safety-critical situation. The equipment

of the vehicle defines the HMI components, which are available in the vehicle. This filter also defines the adequate HMI of an assistance system in order to achieve the best driver's action. After the two filter processes, the HMI strategies are reached. They include the user-oriented implementation of the HMI based on a scheme, which structures the HMI concepts (Fig. 4.5, 4.6 and 4.7). Detailed information about the three HMI strategies are described in Sect. 4.2.3.

It is also important to mention that the three HMI strategies are not isolated from each other. This is highlighted in Fig. 4.4 by arrows between the strategies. It can be assumed that a vehicle has assistance systems, which cover all three HMI strategies. For example, Fig. 4.4 shows a transfer from the HMI strategy "Lateral and longitudinal control" to the "Warnings and interventions" strategy. This is the case when the driver is driving through a narrow road with parked vehicles on both sides and is supported in the lateral guidance by a constriction assistance. Then, a vehicle is suddenly entering the road out from a parking spot. As a result, a "comfortable" situation has become a "safety-critical" situation and the system should hand over the control to the driver, e.g. in order to brake. The design of such safety-critical HMI has completely different requirements compared to HMIs of continual lateral guidance control systems. In such cases, user-oriented and integrative HMI concepts are necessary, which filter and prioritize the different HMIs optimal so the driver can understand and follow the system behaviour and can appropriately react.



Fig. 4.5 Scheme of HMI concepts for the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions"



Fig. 4.6 Scheme of HMI concepts for the HMI strategy "Lateral and longitudinal control"



Fig. 4.7 Scheme of HMI concepts for the HMI strategy "Recommended action"

#### 4.2.3 HMI Strategies

#### 4.2.3.1 HMI Strategy – Warnings and Interventions

In the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" HMI concepts are designed especially for safety-critical situations, e. g. when a pedestrian is suddenly crossing the road without paying attention to the traffic. In such cases, assistance systems by interventions through the driver (braking and steering) or by the application (warning, steering, locking the accelerator) are developed to avoid a potential collision or at least mitigate the consequences of an unavoidable collision. With regard to the action-oriented HMI concepts of such assistance systems, the following driver's actions are differed in the HMI tool kit in the UR:BAN project:

- (1) The driver should make an evasive manoeuvre as directed or rather not steer,
- (2) The driver should make an emergency braking, or rather should not accelerate,
- (3) Combination of (1) and (2).

The following selection of applications were explored in the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" within the UR:BAN project:

- Collision avoidance by autonomous evasive manoeuver and braking,
- Protection of vulnerable road users by turning and crossing assistance,
- Emergency vehicle warnings and traffic jam end warnings.

In Fig. 4.5 the scheme of HMI concepts for the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" is shown. The scheme is divided into three modalities: 1) visual, 2) auditory, and 3) tactile. It also shows a chronology of desired actions from the driver in order to avoid a potential collision in a safety-critical situation. The stages present the criticalness of events as a warning cascade. With each stage a higher driver's action is pursued. On the basis of research studies and intensive discussions of the HMI partners, information and warnings of the different HMI components are related to each stage. The aim is to use the appropriate HMI components to achieve the desired driver's action. For example, in an early stage the main aim is to inform the driver well in advance, e.g. with a screen in the instrument cluster display, that a potential critical situation is approaching. If the driver does not react, in the next stage the aim is to warn the driver so that he/she adapts his/her behaviour to the critical situation, e.g. using a warning screen in the instrument cluster display with an additional warning tone. If a safety-critical situation is so unexpected, e.g. a pedestrian is suddenly entering the road, then an intervention of an assistance system is necessary to avoid the potential collision or at least mitigate the consequences of the collision. However, it should be noted that the next level of escalation can be avoided by the correct driver's action. Fig. 4.5 shows the organization of the relevant HMI components in the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions". The structure of the scheme is also used for the HMI strategy "Lateral and longitudinal control" and "Recommended action" with adaptive driver's actions.

The HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" comprises one system stage and five stages of a warning cascade. In the "system status", the driver can inform himself/herself about the system availability. The 1st stage of the warning cascade contains the "early warning". The aim is that the driver should become aware of the driving task and might perceive the danger well in advance. This can be realised by different HMI components, e. g. with a display in the instrument cluster/free programmable instrument cluster or head-up display (HUD). With regard to the time horizon, early warnings are desired by the driver 2.5 s and longer in advance. Nevertheless, it can be assumed that such early warnings are very limited or not yet possible especially in urban areas.

In the 2nd stage "warning", the driver should react and make a conscious decision for a reaction (e. g. braking, steering, or braking and steering). The warning should be given between a time to collision (TTC) approximately 2.5 s and 4.5 s before a potential collision could occur. In the next stage, the "urgent warning", the driver must immediately react, which happens mainly reflexive as the driver has no time to weigh different alternatives of actions. Here, the warning should be given between a TTC of 4.5 s and 0.9 s in advance to the driver.

The emergency intervention is the 4th stage of the warning cascade and includes the short-term takeover of the driving task by the vehicle, both in lateral and/or longitudinal control. In such cases, the aim is that the driver gets information about the intervention already in the "urgent warning" stage. The last stage then applies the "de-escalation" stage with the aim that the driver must resume the driving task.

For the visual communication of information and warnings, displays near the driver are recommended, such as the display in the instrument cluster, free programmable instrument cluster, HUD, LED-bar, and LED-outside mirror. The free programmable instrument cluster can be seen as an alternative to the traditional display in the instrument cluster. As shown in Fig. 4.5, the instrument cluster display is highly valued on the visual level in order to achieve the different driver's action. In the HUD today redundant information can be displayed. The LED-bar should be used primarily as a display element so the driver reacts immediately. This can be supported by a warning tone in the "warning" and "urgent warning" stage. However, taking the challenges of urban area with acoustic variety into account, warning tones should only be used in these stages and not escalate. A warning displayed in the centre console display is not recommended. The voice command for early warnings, warnings, and urgent warnings is framed with dashed lines as this HMI component can be a helpful output media in safety-critical situations. However, as research in this field is still in the beginning this cannot be clearly recommended. The HMI components such as sudden braking and steering wheel motion as well as emergency brake and turn are rather recommended in the later stages ("urgent warning" and "emergency intervention").

#### 4.2.3.2 HMI Strategy – Lateral and Longitudinal Control

The HMI strategy "Lateral and longitudinal control" contains action-oriented HMI concepts in which the driver is continuously and safely supported in lateral and longitudinal
vehicle control, e.g. within narrow roads and when changing lanes. With regard to the HMI concepts in this strategy, the following driver's actions are differentiated in the UR:BAN project:

- (1) The driver should be supported in lateral control,
- (2) The driver should be supported in longitudinal control,
- (3) Combination of (1) and (2).

The following selection of applications were explored in the HMI strategy "Lateral and longitudinal control" within the UR:BAN project:

- Constriction assistant,
- Lane change assistant,
- Green wave assistant,
- Entrance and start assistant at intersections.

Fig. 4.6 shows the scheme of HMI concepts for the HMI strategy "Lateral and longitudinal control". Similar to the "Warnings and interventions" strategy (Fig. 4.5), the scheme divides the HMI components in three modalities and different stages of appropriate driver's action. In contrast to the "Warnings and interventions" strategy, the main aim here is that the driver has a comprehensive awareness and understanding of the continuous operation of the system. On the one hand, the driver should be informed about the current system activity. On the other hand the driver should anticipate future actions of the system in order to be prepared. In contrast to the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions", the two system activity stages are not based on each other. Here, the time horizon is less important, rather the question: What information does the driver need to trust the system and assess it as comfortable?

After the system activity stages, the "transfer back to the driver" is mentioned. The main aim is that the driver must resume driving in the near future. Here, two takeover situations should be distinguished: the driver must resume 1) within a relaxed timeframe and 2) without a timeframe. In the first situation, the driver should be back in the driving loop within an uncritical timeframe. For example, with a false ACC without a vehicle ahead, the driver can resume driving quickly because of a sudden system launch (e. g. due to occlusion). In the last case, the time of driver's reaction is decreasing as a potential collision might occur. As a result, the HMI strategy "Lateral and longitudinal control" is shifting into the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions", so a potential collision can be avoided (Fig. 4.5). In this case, the HMI should illustrate the changing situation clearly to the driver.

As Fig. 4.6 shows, the communication of information about system activity is mainly recommended via visual HMI components, such as display in the instrument cluster, free programmable instrument cluster, and HUD. Here, the free programmable instrument

cluster can be seen as an alternative to the traditional display in the instrument cluster. Additionally, the communication of system activity is possible with a steering wheel feedback. The presentation of such continuous information in the centre console display is not recommended. An information tone and voice commands can be appropriate in the resume stage, when the driver must resume driving in the near future. Similar to the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions", the "system status" is included in the scheme. Here, the driver can inform himself/herself about the availability of the longitudinal and lateral control systems in the vehicle.

#### 4.2.3.3 HMI Strategy – Recommended Action

The HMI strategy "Recommended action" contains HMI concepts of assistance systems, which support the driver in his/her route selection regarding optimal traffic flow and energy-efficient driving. As such assistance systems support the driver in longitudinal guidance without active system intervention, the information of the assistance system is only given as recommendation, e. g. speed recommendations. With regard to the user-oriented HMI concepts, the following driver's actions are differentiated in the UR:BAN project:

- (1) The driver should select the optimal route.
- (2) The driver should use the optimal flow with the traffic.
- (3) Combination of (1) and (2).

The following selection of applications are explored in the HMI strategy "Recommended action" within the UR:BAN project:

- Energy-efficient navigation,
- Intersection area view,
- Speed recommendation.

In Fig. 4.7, the scheme of HMI concepts for the HMI strategy "Recommended action" is shown. Similar to the other two HMI strategies (Figs. 4.5 and 4.6), the scheme is divided into the different modalities (visual, auditory, tactile) and different stages of driver's action. Here, the aim is to provide the driver detailed and advanced route information in order to optimize the longitudinal guidance without any active system intervention. Therefore, two driver's actions are distinguished: (1) advanced navigation information and (2) concrete recommended action regarding traffic- and energy-efficient driving. In the first case, the driver *can* adapt his/her behaviour based on the information and no negative consequences occur. In the second case, the driver *should* adapt his/her behaviour. Additionally, the driver gets feedback concerning his/her driving behaviour. This navigation feedback is mainly given via visual HMI components, e.g. centre console display and display in the instrument cluster. Here, the driver can evaluate his/her behaviour.

With regard to the prioritized HMI components, the centre console display, the display in the instrument cluster, and HUD are seen as the best solutions to present recommended actions. The mobile device can be seen as an alternative for the display in the centre console. Feedback from the gas pedal complements the visual HMI components and enables the driver to keep an optimal speed corridor. Similar to the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" and "Lateral and longitudinal control" (Figs. 4.5 and 4.6), the "system status" is also included in the scheme so the driver can inform himself/herself about the system availability. Furthermore, in the "Recommended action" HMI strategy a transfer to the strategy "Warnings and interventions" is also provided.

#### 4.2.4 Design Guidelines

The third pillar of the HMI tool kit (Fig. 4.3) includes the design requirements of urban HMI concepts for the three HMI strategies (Sect. 4.2.3). These requirements define generic design recommendations of HMI concepts for safe, comfortable, and energy-efficient driving in urban areas and clarify how information and warnings should be displayed and positioned to the driver.

In the project, three challenges for the design of the different HMI concepts of the UR:BAN applications were defined:

- The design recommendations should be used cross-functional and for all UR:BAN partners. This is done to increase recognition of the different HMI concepts within the UR:BAN project.
- (2) The design recommendations contain HMI guidelines based on valid findings and statements for action-oriented HMI concepts specifically for the urban area.
- (3) The design recommendations contain HMI guidelines according the HMI components available in the vehicle.

The qualification of the HMI components for the three HMI strategies (Fig. 4.5, 4.6 and 4.7) and the design guidelines were defined by different SWOT analyses and intensive discussions of the HMI partners. In Fig. 4.8, the design guidelines and generic challenges of urban HMI concepts are shown. A high learn value of the different HMI concepts is essential (1). Thus, the HMI concepts should indicate a clear driver's action (e. g. the driver should become aware, the driver should react), be simply designed, and follow a logical organization of the information (1a). This also implies that the information should be clearly organized to the HMI components and connected with the same quality at the same display position. For example, warnings should not be presented in the centre console display.

In addition to the organization of information, a high consistency of the information can increase the learn value (1b). Clear warning cascades, unification of system status,



Fig. 4.8 Overview of design guidelines for urban HMI concepts

and avoiding the multiple use of HMI components (e.g. using the LED-bar for presenting both warnings and lateral and longitudinal guidance control) can contribute to a higher learn value.

Especially for the design of urban HMI concepts, it is also important to keep visual and auditory messages as limited as possible (2). This can be achieved through using generic HMI concepts with reduced information content and information mainly presented in the driver's field of view (e.g. in HUD). Furthermore, in safety-critical situations the warning cascade should be designed in discrete levels with reduced colour selection (mainly red and yellow). This also means that warning tones should not escalate. In combination of the limitation of messages, HMI concepts should also be designed simply and less complex (2a). Thus, redundancy of information should be avoided and a generic design of the HMI concepts with additional information as needed should be utilised.

These urban design guidelines are also supplemented by specific features of the HMI concepts. The features of information content and organization inside the vehicle cockpit are derived from different SWOT analyses. They contain detailed aspects regarding the organization of potential hazards, display of information status, control object, continual information of longitudinal and lateral control, and the application-related use of the different HMI components. Fig. 4.9 shows the results of the SWOT analyses regarding the organization of the information and warnings inside the vehicle.

In addition to Fig. 4.9, each HMI component is documented in detail regarding generic design recommendations. Numerous literature reviews, research studies conducted in the



Fig. 4.9 Concept-specific design guidelines in the vehicle cockpit

UR:BAN project, and intensive discussions between the HMI partners are the basis for this input. Figs. 4.10 and 4.11 show an example of the design recommendations for the display in the instrument cluster for the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions". The design recommendations are also described for (1) HUD, (2) LED-bar, (3) LED outside mirror, (4) centre console display, (5) mobile device, (6) warning tone, (7) voice command, (8) gas pedal feedback, (9) steering wheel feedback, and (10) sudden braking. Here, each



**Fig. 4.10** Overview of the aim and contents for the display in the instrument cluster for the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" (in German)

	Display des Kombiinstruments	Warnung & Eingriff
Warnung & Eingriff	Allgemeine Gestaltungsempfehlungen	Referenzen
	<ul> <li>Das Kombidisplay als Anzeigemedium dient zur Darstellung komplexer fahrrelevanter Inhalte (z.B. Frühwarnungen und Warnungen). Die Komplexität im Vergleich zur Mittelkonsole ist iedoch geringer.</li> </ul>	Winner, H., Hakuli, S. & Wolf, G. (2012)
	<ul> <li>Das Kombidisplay ist eine notwendige Anzeige der Warnung, auch mit dem Wissen, dass diese in der urbanen, akuten Warnsituation nicht wahrgenommen wird, daher ist eine Vernetzung mit weiteren MMI-Komponenten (z.B. Warnton) zu empfehlen.</li> </ul>	Adell, E., Varhelyi, A., Fontana, M. D. et al. (2008)
	<ul> <li>Der Fahrer kann sich bei Bedarf im Kombidisplay informieren. Informationen können im Kombidisplay im Vergleich zum HUD leichter ignoriert werden.</li> </ul>	Expertenrunde, AUDI-Studie im Rahmen von UR:BAN
	<ul> <li>Die generische FAS-Anzeige sollte sich in zentraler Position im Kombidisplay befinden.</li> </ul>	Expertenrunde; Muigg, A. (2009)
	<ul> <li>Das Ego-Fahrzeug in der generischen FAS-Anzeige sollte sich mittig in der Anzeige befinden. Bei Bedarf kann in die Anzeige gezoomt werden.</li> </ul>	Burghardt, S. (2009)
	<ul> <li>Die Darstellung der FAS-Anzeige sollte so generisch wie möglich erfolgen, d.h. Reduzierung des Informationsgehaltes von visuellen Warnungen.</li> </ul>	Belotti, F., De Gloria, A., Poggi, A., Adreone, L. Damiani, S. u. Knoll, P. (2004); Maier, K. (2014); Burghardt, S. (2009); UMTR, Driver Interface Group (2012); Werneke, J., Wäller, C., Gonter, M., & Rhede, J. (2011)
	Die Nutzung von Symbolen ist der Verwendung von Wörtern/Texten vorzuziehen	Kebeck, G., Cieler, St. u. Pohlmann, St. (1997)
	Die Positionierung der Regelobjekte sollte vor dem Ego- Fahrzeug erfolgen	Burghardt, S. (2009); Reisemann, M. & Spiegel, G. (2002)
	<ul> <li>Textuelle Informationen sollten sich immer im oberen Bereich der Anzeige befinden. Der Informationsgehalt sollte jedoch in kntischen Situationen eher gering gehalten werden.</li> </ul>	Maier, K. (2014); Reisemann, M. & Spiegel, G. (2002)
	<ul> <li>Die Bereiche links und rechts bzw. ober- und unterhalb vom Ego-Fahrzeug sind f ür Anzeigen von Obiekten nutzbar.</li> </ul>	Expertenrunde; Burghardt, S. (2009)
	<ul> <li>Der untere Bereich der FAS-Anzeige sollte genutzt werden, um den Systemzusatnd der warnenden/eingreifenden Systeme (an-aktiv, an-passiv, aus) darzustellen.</li> </ul>	Maier, K. (2014).
	<ul> <li>Eine Anzeige der Statusinformationen der Systeme sollte innerhalb der Grafik (z.B. Zustände wie aus, an-aktiv, an- passiv) erfolgen.</li> </ul>	Expertenrunde
	<ul> <li>Warnungensollten Kombidisplay dargestellt werden und ggf. im HUD ergänzt werden. Dies sollte jedoch funktionsspezifisch betrachtet werden.</li> </ul>	Expertenrunde
	<ul> <li>Die Position des Warnelements sollte mit dem Warninhalt verknüpft werden.</li> </ul>	Schartner, A.(2013)
	<ul> <li>Informationen bezüglich Ursache und Grund f ür eine Warnung sind f ür eine st ärkere und effektivere Verhaltensanpassung des Fahrers nötig.</li> </ul>	Werneke, J., Wäller, C., Gonter, M., & Rhede, J. (2011)
	Für Warnungen im Kombiinstrument sollten Popups     vonuesdet werden	DIN EN ISO 15005 (2002); National Highway Traffic Safety
	Die Farben rot und gelb sind für Warnungen vorbehalten. Eine Ausnahme bildet hier die HMI-Gestaltung der Ampelassistenz. Die farbliche Gestaltung der Ampelphasen sollte beibehalten werden.	Exptertenrunde; Maier, K. (2014),
	<ul> <li>Das Kombidisplay dient als Erklärung für die akustischen und haptischen Warnungen.</li> <li>Der Warnton sollte mit dem Kombidisplay synchronisiert sein.</li> </ul>	Kebeck, G., Cieler, St. u. Pohlmann, St. (1997); National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA), (2007). Expertenrunde; Maier, K. (2014),
	<ul> <li>Neben Kollisionswarnungen sollten Informationen über Geschwindigkeitsüberschreitung im Kombidisplay angezeigt werden.</li> </ul>	Götze, M. , Ruff, F. & Bengler, K. (2015)
	<ul> <li>In der Deeskalationsphase ist eine Anzeige im Kombidisplay als Erklärung für den Fahrer über den durchgeführten Eingriff notwendig.</li> </ul>	Expertenrunde
	<ul> <li>Die Platzierung des Kombidisplays sollte so nahe wie möglich an der normalen Sichtlinie des Fahrers erfolgen.</li> </ul>	Belotti, F., De Gloria, A., Poggi, A., Adreone, L. Damiani, S. u. Knoll, P. (2004); European_Commission (2006); Wittman, M., Kiss, M., Gugg, P., Steffen, A., Fink., Pöppel, E. et al. (2006)

**Fig. 4.11** Overview of the design recommendations and its references for the display in the instrument cluster for the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" (in German)

HMI component is considered in detail for the specific HMI strategy. In addition to the aim and content of the HMI component in the HMI strategy (Fig. 4.10), the design recommendations and its references are listed (Fig. 4.11). The detailed design guidelines are compiled in the fourth milestone report of the UR:BAN project [6].

## 4.3 Applications of Urban HMI Concepts

For the HMI design of the different assistance systems considered in the UR:BAN project, the HMI partners developed a generic and integrative HMI concept for the display in the instrument cluster (Fig. 4.12). The aim of the generic HMI concept is to aggregate relevant information and warnings of different complex systems in order to increase transparency by the driver. In addition to visual output media, the HMI concept for the display in the instrument cluster. Fig. 4.12 shows the generic HMI concept for the display in the instrument cluster. Here, it is displayed in the design of the Volkswagen AG.

The HMI concept shows the longitudinal and lateral control systems as well as the warning systems of a vehicle (e.g. early warnings, collision warnings, and emergency braking). As illustrated in Fig. 4.12, in the middle of the HMI concept the ego-vehicle, positioned on a road, is shown. A warning circle surrounds the vehicle. The aim of the warning circle is to visualise the direction of a potential hazard (e.g. an approaching ambulance from the back). In front of the ego-vehicle a white obelisk symbolizes the longitudinal guidance control, like ACC. Here, the driver is shown the current and the desired distance (coloured in blue). On top of the obelisk, the control object for the longitudinal guidance control is presented. At the left and right side of the ego-vehicle white arrows



**Fig. 4.12** Generic and integrative HMI concept presented in the display in the instrument cluster in the design of the Volkswagen AG

illustrate the permanent lateral guidance control. It displays the tolerance of the lateral guidance by changing the size and width of the arrows. In the upper area of the display an information field can display additional information, e. g. braking, emergency braking. The status line at the bottom of the display presents current status information, e. g. desired speed of the ACC. In the following, the HMI concepts of the constriction assistance and the collision avoidance system by autonomous evasive manoeuvres are explained.

#### **Constriction Assistance**

The aim of the constriction assistance, developed in the subproject "Safe Lateral and Longitudinal Vehicle Control in Cities" (translated "Sichere Quer- und Längsführung in der Stadt"), is to support the driver by continual system interventions when driving through construction zones, narrow roads, and passing stationary obstacles and parked vehicles in urban areas. In addition, this assistance system warns the driver for a too narrow road, which is not possible to pass (Fig. 4.13). In the UR:BAN project the HMI concepts of the constriction assistance were developed for the following scenarios: (1) constriction by one-sided parked vehicles and pedestrians, (2) constriction by parked vehicles, pedestrians, and road curb, and (3) constriction by stationary obstacles on the right and left edge of the road. Fig. 4.14 shows the chronology of the HMI screens presented in the display in the instrument cluster when it is not possible to pass the constriction because of a pedestrian crossing the road. The HMI screens are displayed in the design of the Volkswagen AG.

Fig. 4.14 shows the HMI concepts presented in the instrument cluster when the driver is supported by longitudinal and lateral guidance control while approaching and passing through a constriction. Ongoing road lanes inside and outside the warning circle symbolize the approaching and passing through a constriction (screen b–d). If it is not possible to pass the constriction, e. g. due to a crossing pedestrian, a pop-up "No pass" is presented to the driver (screen e). To drive on, the driver has to confirm by pressing "RESUME" or accelerate (screen f). As a result of different constriction widths in urban areas, in



**Fig. 4.13** Classification of the constriction assistance into the HMI path structure of the HMI tool kit



**Fig. 4.14** HMI concept of the constriction assistance presented in the display in the instrument cluster in the Volkswagen AG design

addition to lateral control, the driver is also supported in his/her longitudinal guidance. For example, passing through a very narrow road can be very stressful and unpleasant for the driver. In this case, the velocity is adapted by the longitudinal control system (ACC) appropriate to the constriction width. The longitudinal guidance control is then illustrated with the white obelisk in front of the ego-vehicle and the constriction traffic sign as control object. But this is not shown in Fig. 4.14.

#### **Collision Avoidance by Autonomous Evasive Manoeuvre**

In safety-critical situations, e. g. due to a sudden obstacle on the road, the aim of the collision avoidance system is to avoid a potential collision by autonomous evasive manoeuvres (Fig. 4.15). The application can help to detect road users (e. g. pedestrians, crossing vehicles) surrounding the ego-vehicle and the road infrastructure. The assistance system contains situations, which are so unexpected that an emergency braking is not sufficient to avoid the potential collision. In the HMI tool kit (Fig. 4.4), the collision avoidance assis-



Fig. 4.15 Classification of the collision avoidance system into the HMI path structure of the HMI tool kit



**Fig. 4.16** HMI concept of the collision avoidance system by autonomous evasive manoeuvre presented in the display in the instrument cluster in the Volkswagen AG design

tance belongs to the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" and was developed in the subproject "Collision Avoidance by Swerving and Braking" (translated "Kollisionsvermeidung durch Ausweichen und Bremsen"). Fig. 4.16 shows the chronology of the HMI screens presented in the display in the instrument cluster in the design of the Volkswagen AG.

As shown in Fig. 4.16, a warning tone is paired with a pop-up, which signalizes the "emergency intervention" stage when the system intervention begins. In contrast to an emergency braking system, no red bright LED-bar is used. As the system is doing an autonomous evasive manoeuvre, the aim is to involve the driver as little as possible during the intervention. After the intervention, the driver resumes the driving task. In this de-escalation stage another pop-up appears, which signalizes the takeover request to the driver ("Take over – Intervention completed"). Detailed information about a research study with the aim to examine the effectiveness and driver acceptance of different collision avoidance systems in a safety-critical situation are described in Chap. 5.

### 4.4 Conclusion

The objective of the UR:BAN project was to develop and implement intelligent driver assistance and traffic management systems, which contribute to improving safety, comfort, and efficiency driving in urban areas. With the challenges of urban driving and potential driver's overload with the increasing number of assistance systems, one aim of the project

was to design user-oriented, integrative display and operating concepts of current and future assistance systems. Consequently, the novel and cross-functional "HMI tool kit" was developed.

The HMI tool kit enables the systematic derivation of action-oriented HMI concepts for the variety of assistance systems in urban areas. According to the urban traffic situations, the HMI tool kit provides input to how system information should be filtered and prioritized to the driver and how the preferred driver's action can be achieved by the selection of suitable HMI components (e.g. display in the instrument cluster, warnings or sounds). Furthermore, strategies for timing combinatorics and phased escalation of sensory input modes to the driver (e.g. visual, auditory, and tactile) are also included in the tool kit. Thus, by means of the HMI tool kit it is possible that the driver is warned adequate in safety-critical situations and develops also a sufficient understanding for continuous system interventions or advanced navigation recommendations. For example, hazards not visible to the driver can be indicated by the use of tactile feedback on the gas pedal and/or steering wheel. This feedback not only reduces risks, but leads to an anticipatory driving style that potentially reduces stress. In particular for trucks, it also contributes to significant decreases in fuel consumption and emissions. However, it is important to mention that through technical future trends in the next years and decades, the prioritization of suitable HMI components presented here might be shifted. For example, for the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" augmentation of information in the front and side mirrors might get more and more important in the following years. Overall, the assistance systems developed in the UR:BAN project and its HMI concepts deviated from the HMI tool kit contribute to an anticipatory driving style, mitigate safety-critical situations, and shows the potential to improve stress-free and low-emission driving in urban traffic.

#### Acknowledgement

This research was supported by the HMI partners: Adam Opel AG, AUDI AG, Robert Bosch GmbH, Daimler AG, MAN Truck & Bus AG, Technische Universität Braunschweig, Technical University of Munich, Universität der Bundeswehr München, and Volkswagen AG. We also thank our colleagues Dr. Ina Petermann-Stock and Dr. Johannes Rhede from Volkswagen AG who provided insight and expertise that greatly assisted the research in the beginning of the UR:BAN project.

## References

- Wäller, C., Petermann, I., Kleen, A., Peukert, M.: Konzeption und Bewertung von HMI Metaphern f
  ür Fahrerassistenzsysteme. Proceedings in Fahrerassistenz und Integrierte Sicherheit. VDI-Berichte, vol. 2104. VDI, D
  üsseldorf, pp 261–277 (2010)
- Winner, H.: Fahrerassistenzsysteme Stand der Technik und Ausblick. Proceedings in Autoforum Sachsen, Sachsen wieder Autoland. VDI-Berichte, vol. 1702. VDI, Düsseldorf, pp 89–95 (2002)
- Lange, C.: Wirkung von Fahrerassistenz auf der F
  ührungsebene in Abh
  ängigkeit der Modalit
  ät
  und des Automatisierungsgrades [Influence of driver assistance depending on the modality and

the level of automation]. Doctoral dissertation, Technischen Universität München, Fakultät für Maschinenwesen (2008)

- Maier, K., Sacher, H., Hellbrück, J., Meurle, J., Widmann, U.: Multimodaler Warnbaukasten: eine neue Warnphilosophie f
  ür Fahrerassistenzsysteme. Proceedings in Der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert: Fahrer, Fahrerunterst
  ützung und Bedienbarkeit. VDI-Berichte, vol. 2134. VDI, D
  üsseldorf, pp 75–91 (2011)
- 5. Forschungsinitiative UR:BAN: Urban Space: User oriented assistance systems and network management (2013). http://urban-online.org/en/urban.html, Accessed 21. Januar, 2016
- UR:BAN milestone report: 4. Meilensteinbericht (Q16) Evaluation der funktionsspezifischen MMI Konzepte in den Funktionsträgern und Demonstratoren. Teilprojekt Stadtgerechte Mensch-Maschine-Interaktion – MMI (2016)

# **HMI Strategy – Warnings and Interventions**

5

Susann Winkler, Matthias Powelleit, Juela Kazazi, Mark Vollrath, Wolfgang Krautter, Andreas Korthauer, Julia Drüke, Daniel Töpfer, Carsten Semmler, and Lennart Bendewald

# 5.1 Background

Within the HMI tool kit (see Fig. 4.4), the path "Safe driving" addresses assistance in safety-critical situations regarding warnings and interventions. These may have different aims, the most important being to reduce speed, to brake strongly or to perform an evasive manoeuvre. The vehicle's equipment has to be taken into account when designing warnings and interventions for these aims. With this in mind, the resulting HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" (see Fig. 4.5) is meant for situations which will become critical or even lead to an accident if the driver does not react. Whenever possible, "*early warnings*" are given at a time-point which enables the driver to pay more attention to the driving task and to prevent the situation from becoming critical. To this aim, a reduction of speed may suffice. These kinds of "*early warnings*" are well understood and accepted,

S. Winkler (🖾) · M. Powelleit · J. Kazazi · M. Vollrath

W. Krautter User Technologies, Robert Bosch GmbH Stuttgart, Germany

A. Korthauer Corporate Sector Research and Advance Engineering – Human-Machine Interaction, Robert Bosch GmbH Renningen, Germany

J. Drüke · C. Semmler · L. Bendewald Group Research – Driver Interaction, Volkswagen AG Wolfsburg, Germany

D. Töpfer Group Research - Safe & Connected Driving, Volkswagen AG Wolfsburg, Germany

Engineering and Traffic Psychology, Technische Universität Braunschweig Brunswick, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_5

as the studies of [1] and [2] have shown. For such "*early warnings*", these two studies have also provided information about the best timing of these warnings with regard to the distance of the critical object. In urban situations like intersections these "*early warnings*" may be very efficient to prevent collisions, as the study of [3] has shown. In this study, an "*early warning*" when approaching an intersection was even more efficient than "*warnings*" or "*urgent warnings*".

The work within the UR:BAN project focuses on the later warning stages of the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" (see Fig. 4.5). A "warning" is given when a critical situation arises and the drivers should react to mitigate a potential danger. However, there is still sufficient time for them to understand the situation and modify their action plans accordingly. When the situation escalates and the drivers have to react immediately, an "urgent warning" is given (see Fig. 4.5 HMI tool kit "Warnings and interventions" strategy). In the first part of this chapter the studies of the Technische Universität Braunschweig have explored the best way to design and present these kinds of warnings using a combination of the head-up display and acoustical signals. The main question was how to design the "warning" and "urgent warning" in such a way that drivers can easily distinguish the different meanings of the warnings and act accordingly. Additionally, the integration of this warning concept with other information, which may also be presented in the head-up display, was examined. This chapter ends with practical design recommendations for these two warning stages.

Distraction is one of the main reasons why drivers need these warnings and interventions. The second part of this chapter deals with detecting visually distracted drivers and how to adapt the warnings to these situations. The authors of the Robert Bosch GmbH provide two systems using different available components in accordance with the idea of the HMI tool kit. In three studies these concepts have been developed, refined and evaluated. The authors show that both concepts are well able to reduce distraction of the drivers and will thus increase traffic safety.

While the focus of these first two research teams was mainly on situations which the driver can manage safely by braking. However, in some situations only an evasive manoeuvre can prevent a crash. This is addressed by the filter "Driver's action" in the HMI tool kit (see Fig. 4.4). In the studies of Technische Universität Braunschweig, it was not possible to elicit a steering reaction of the drivers by "*warnings*" or "*urgent warnings*". The last part of the chapter describes the approach of the Volkswagen AG to support the driver in the evasive manoeuvre by very short autonomous steering actions of the vehicle (*emergency intervention*). The main question with this strategy is how to give feedback to the drivers in this situation and how to enable them to safely take over and keep on driving after the evasive manoeuvre.

These different approaches for the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" (see Fig. 4.5) are described in detail in the following sections.

## 5.2 Concepts for Warnings and Urgent Warnings (Technische Universität Braunschweig)

The following studies address two warning stages of the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions", which require different actions of the driver:

- 1. The "*warning*" is given when a critical situation arises and the driver should react to mitigate a potential danger. However, there is still sufficient time to understand the situation and modify the action plans accordingly.
- 2. When the situation escalates and the driver has to react immediately, an "*urgent warn-ing*" is given.

This warning concept has two implications:

- There really are critical traffic situations which give the driver more or less time to react. Depending on the kind of situation, the respective warning stage is given.
- The driver has to understand the difference between the two warning stages and react in the manner required by it.

Within the context of UR:BAN, the aim was to identify typical critical situations and map these to the two warning stages. The first identification step focused on accident statistics. The information about relevant situations was then used to build and evaluate critical situations in the driving simulator of the Technische Universität Braunschweig. With regard to the first implication described above, the situations suited for *urgent warnings* should result in accidents if the drivers did not react immediately. In contrast, in situations suited for *warnings*, a slower and more moderate reaction should be sufficient to prevent the situations from becoming critical. This process of selection and evaluation is described in the first part of this chapter. The results of these simulator studies are then used to derive warning concepts.

These were then tested in several further simulator studies with younger and older drivers. The second part gives an overview about the developed concepts, the conducted evaluation studies and concludes with recommendations for the design of *warnings* and *urgent warnings*.

# 5.2.1 Identification and Evaluation of Critical Situations in the Urban Context (Study 1 and 2)

The aim of the first study was to provide a contribution to the understanding of the accident occurrence at intersections in urban areas. Table 5.1 shows the traffic accidents in the year 2011 in German urban areas [4]. These statistics were examined in order to find out which accident types occur the most and are the fatal ones. On the left side of the table,

Accident types	All accidents	S	Fatal accidents	
	Ν	%	Ν	%
Accidents while crossing	56,873	27	174	16
Rear-end accidents	42,854	20	92	8
Accidents while turning or entering	34,486	16	113	10
Other accidents	27,634	13	161	15
Single vehicle accidents	23,305	11	244	22
Accident with pedestrian crossing	16,459	8	292	27
Accidents with parked vehicles	8816	4	11	1
Total	210,427	100	1087	100

 Table 5.1
 Traffic accidents in urban areas for Germany in 2011 [4]

the percentage of different accident types can be found, whereas on the right side, the percentages of fatal accidents are shown.

Overall, accidents while crossing (entering or crossing the intersection and turning left or right) comprise 27% of all accidents. The second most frequent type of accident is the rear-end crash (20% of all accidents). When looking at fatal accidents, 27% are accidents with pedestrians crossing the street (for further information see [5, 6]).

According to this frequency distribution, the relevant traffic situations of these three accident types were examined in more detail. In a first step a driving simulator study with younger and older drivers, was conducted in order to develop and implement situations leading to accidents. For every situation, different aspects were varied (e.g. type of vulnerable road user, oncoming traffic) to find very critical scenarios. Fig. 5.1 gives an overview of the situations which the following studies were based on and also what warning stage they were designed for. An *urgent warning* was to be given when the situation was very critical. In situations being less critical merely a *warning* was to be presented.

The second driving simulator study then used these findings to develop warning concepts for both warning stages and evaluated them with sixty drivers. Firstly, the described situations were examined for the control group without a warning in order to show that the scenarios also differed from each other in various measured parameters. As Fig. 5.2 shows, the criticality of the scenarios was indeed perceived quite differently by the drivers. The first three scenarios (S1, S2, S3) were rated as being the most critical ones, followed by the S4 through S8 scenario. The number of accidents was also the highest in the three scenarios rated as being very critical (S1, S2, S3).

The analysis of the drivers' reactions supported this subjective evaluation. The brake reaction time was very short in these very critical scenarios; especially in S2 and S3 (see Fig. 5.3). While the situation in S1 was also rated rather critical, drivers had just started to turn left, were still driving relatively slowly and thus had more time to react, also resulting in less accidents than expected. The maximum braking value was largest in S2, in which their driving speed was quite high so that the situation required a really strong braking in order to prevent the collision with the pedestrian. The second strongest brake reaction



**Fig. 5.1** Overview of the situations implemented in the driving simulator in order to develop and evaluate warning concepts including which warning stage (*W1*) warning or *W2*) urgent warning (see Fig. 4.5) had to be presented first. Scenario S9 was added later starting with the study number 5 on older drivers

occurred in situation S5, where most of the drivers kept relatively large distances towards the leading vehicle and thus had some time to react. If they had to brake, however, strong brake reactions were needed. The less critical situations like S5 to S8 could be handled well with slower reactions and less strong braking (for further results see [7]).

To summarize, the simulator studies show that critical situations arising in urban traffic differ with regard to their criticality. Drivers adapt their reactions to these situations in order to avoid accidents. However, under certain circumstances, which were identified in the studies (e. g. not enough time to react accordingly), the spontaneous drivers' reactions were not for all drivers sufficient to avoid an accident or prevent the situation from becoming very critical. Thus, the results show a potential for warnings to improve traffic safety by supporting driver reactions. Moreover, the results support the idea of the HMI tool kit



**Fig. 5.2** Mean subjective ratings of the scenario criticality and number of collisions in the eight scenarios for study 2

(see Fig. 4.6) and its two different kinds of warnings since the drivers reacted differently in the various situations. In a less critical situation a *warning* (W1) should raise the attention of the drivers for a more critical situation might occur. In these situations a slight brake reaction would be sufficient to deescalate a less critical situation or even further to prevent a less critical situation from becoming a very critical one. Thus, in order to support the drivers' situation assessment a *warning* (W1) could be designed in a way, which enables the drivers to easily detect the relevant critical object. On the contrary, an *urgent warning* 



Fig. 5.3 Mean brake reaction time and mean maximum braking value in the eight scenarios for study 2

(W2) would be given in quite critical situations focussing on prompting fast and intense driver reactions. Summing up, a *warning* (W1) should elicit an evaluation of the situation and then an adequate reaction of the drivers. An *urgent warning* (W2) should trigger an emergency reaction, mostly braking but possibly also steering and avoiding critical objects. These were the basic ideas which were examined in the second part of the project and are described in the next chapter. The results and the critical scenarios from the first part described above (see Fig. 5.1) were used to test whether different warning concepts improved the reactions of the drivers and, thus, traffic safety.

# 5.2.2 Development and Evaluation of Concepts for Warnings and Urgent Warnings (Study 2–5)

The results described above support the idea of warning drivers in two stages as compared to a single general warning. In the first stage, a *warning* is supposed to allow drivers to evaluate the situation and give them more time to react. The driver reaction may be temperate and comfortable like releasing the gas pedal and braking moderately. The urgent warning should elicit either an emergency braking or an evasive manoeuvre. Drivers were to brake as fast and strong as possible. How to actually design the two warning stages so that drivers react accordingly was examined in two driving simulator studies with 60 younger (study 2) and 36 older drivers (study 3). The underlying question was how specific an attention-oriented *warning* and a reaction-oriented *urgent warning* have to be. Fig. 5.4 gives an overview about the study with the younger drivers describing the warning concepts, which were all projected into the windshield in form of a head-up display (HUD). For the *urgent warning*, a stop sign was used as a generic, well-known symbol of imminent danger (reaction generic, RG). As in some situations a steering reaction resulting in an evasive manoeuvre is more suited, a second warning type used a stop sign for braking and a cone with an arrow to evoke an evasive reaction as specific *urgent* warning (reaction specific, RS).

As can be seen in Fig. 5.4 with regard to the *warning*, a generic concept (attention generic, AG) used a caution sign (a red triangle with an exclamation mark meaning "Attention!"). A second design for the *warning* was meant to support the evaluation of the situation by providing a caution sign displaying specifically the currently relevant critical object (attention specific, AS), a pedestrian, a bicycle, a car or an obstacle (represented by a cone). These warning types were examined with five groups of drivers, comparing the different warning concepts to a control group without any warning assistance in order to evaluate the effectiveness of the different warning types. The number of collisions, the driving and gaze behaviour as well as the subjective ratings of the warning concept and the critical situations of younger and older drivers (no gaze behaviour recorded) was analysed. An extract of the data is presented in the following. For further information see [7–12].

As illustrated in Fig. 5.5, only a small amount of collisions occurred in the less critical scenarios as compared to the more critical scenarios. So again the situations differ in their

Warning type	Present	Stage				
1) Control (C)		No warning				
2) Attention generic (AG)	Δ				W1) warning	
3) Attention specific (AS)						
4) Reaction generic (RG)		W2)				
5) Reaction specific (RS)	STOP 🔮			warning		

Fig. 5.4 Overview about the different warning concepts assigned per group resulting in five groups of younger drivers in study 2

criticality. Yet, the number of collisions is so low in the less critical situations that they do not really allow to differentiate between the specificity of the *warning* (see Fig. 5.5a). On the contrary, a total of 49 collisions occurred in the rather critical situations. In these situations, the generic *urgent warning* was most effective with very few collisions (see Fig. 5.5b).

As Fig. 5.6a shows, the brake reaction time in the less critical scenarios was faster with both specificities of the *warning* than in the control group. However, both the generic and the specific *warning* resulted in the same average brake reaction time of about 1.3 s. In the



**Fig. 5.5** Number of collisions for the younger drivers in the less (a) and rather critical (b) situations of study 2, framing the warning types which were should have matched the situation requirements the best



**Fig. 5.6** Mean brake reaction time for younger drivers in the less (**a**) and rather critical (**b**) situations of study 2, framing the warning types which were should have matched the situation requirements the best

rather critical situation (see Fig. 5.6b) the generic *urgent warning* again was most effective with the fastest reaction times. In contrast, the specific reaction-oriented *urgent warning* did not improve the brake reaction time as compared to the control group.

The maximum braking value was also rather similar between both versions of the attention-oriented *warning* (see Fig. 5.7a). Both induced a stronger brake reaction than in the control group without a *warning*. The reaction-oriented generic *urgent warning* led to the strongest brake reactions in the rather critical situations (see Fig. 5.7b) and overall, but such a strong brake reaction would be rather inappropriate in the less critical situations like those shown in Fig. 5.7a. In these situations, this strong break reaction might lead to rear-end crashes with the following cars who do not expect such a strong, sudden braking.



**Fig. 5.7** Mean maximum braking value for younger drivers in the less and rather critical situations of study 2, framing the warning types which were should have matched the situation requirements the best

Thus, the idea to provide two different warning stages is well supported by the data. In rather critical situations the generic *urgent warning* can be used to elicit fast and strong brake reactions. In contrast, the specific *urgent warnings* did not work very well. This may in part be due to the fact that the symbol for steering is not really well known as a traffic sign. Moreover, it seems to be hard to elicit a steering reaction by drivers anyway. Almost none of the drivers showed an evasive manoeuvre upon any warning type. Thus, the stop sign seems to be an effective way to elicit a fast and strong brake reaction, which may prevent accidents or will at least diminish the consequences of possible collisions due to the reduced impact speed.

In the less critical situations, both the generic and specific *warning* led to appropriate reactions which are not as strong but sufficient to safely handle these kinds of situations. Thus, the idea that specific warning symbols would be more helpful for drivers to better detect the critical objects and evaluate the situation was not supported by the results. There were no clear advantages of the specific symbols over the generic caution sign. For the function development this may be advantageous. Even if the type of the critical object cannot be determined very well, an effective warning is still possible.

However, when interpreting these results one has to take into account that every driver group only received one type of warning concept. The results show that the *urgent warnings* are more effective in the rather critical situations, while the *warnings* may be more adequate in the less critical situations. But what happens, if drivers receive these different kinds of warnings according to the different situations and even in succession? Will drivers be able to distinguish between the *warning* and the *urgent warning*? Will they react adequately as required or do they have to learn it?

These questions and how drivers accept the warning system were examined in a third part of the project within another set of driving simulator studies, again one for younger drivers (study 4: with eight critical situations, S1–S8, N = 24) and one for older drivers (study 5: with a reduced set of six critical situations, S1, S2, S5, S6, S8 & S9, N = 24). Depending on the type of situation, either a *warning* or an *urgent warning* was provided in these two studies. If the drivers did not react adequately to the *warning*, the *urgent warning* followed as a second stage (see Fig. 5.8). The driving performance was examined over four learning phases (L1–4, see Fig. 5.9). The first phase L1 was driven without warning assistance. After that, three more trials commenced with *warnings* and *urgent warnings*. Additionally, the overall acceptance of the warning system was examined. Different aspects of the results are found in [13, 14] and [15].

As Fig. 5.10a shows, drivers started braking a lot earlier when receiving a *warning* (L2, L3 and L4) as compared to the first trial without warning assistance (L1). When comparing L2 to L4 there was no strong learning effect, but still some improvement became visible over time. This implies that learning of the drivers is not necessarily needed to react appropriately to the *warning*, but it can help to have experience with the warning system.

Similar results were found for the *urgent warning*. As can bee seen in Fig. 5.10a, the brake reaction time was overall faster than with the *warnings*. The brake reaction was somewhat faster when drivers were supported by the *urgent warning* (L2 to L4) than when

Warning stage	Visual	Acoustic	Scenarios beginning with this warning stage	
W1) Warning		-	S4, S5, S6, S7, S8	
W2) Urgent warning	STOP	1 kHz ("Beep")	S1, S2, S3, S9	

**Fig. 5.8** Warning concept including the two warning stages *warning* (W1) and the *urgent warning* (W2) used in study 4 with younger and study 5 with older drivers, including the scenarios in which the corresponding warning stage was presented first

not (L1), though the benefit was less than with the *warning*. This might also be due to the more limited time available to react in these more critical situations that needed an *urgent warning*.

The results for the maximum braking value are displayed in Fig. 5.10b. In accordance with the intention of the warning system, the *urgent warning* led to a noticeably higher maximum braking value than the *warning* in all learning phases. It is interesting that the overall highest maximum braking value was found in L1 and was somewhat reduced in L2 to L4. However, this is probably due to the surprise in L1 which was the first critical situation that the subjects encountered in the driving simulator. Thus, one would not interpret this as a negative effect of the *urgent warning* but as a learning effect within the driving simulator study.

As the subjective ratings in Fig. 5.11a show, the situations with the *warning* were rated far less critical than the situations with an *urgent warning*. The *urgent warning* is slightly more understandable and helpful than the *warning*, but both are well understood and help drivers. Furthermore, both warning stages are rated rather low concerning their distraction

а						b				
	Younger drivers (study 4)						Older drivers (study 5)			
	L1	L2	L3	L4	]		L1	L2	L3	L4
Α	S <sub>1</sub> W <sub>0,</sub>	$S_1W_2, S_3W_2,$	$S_1W_2, S_3W_2,$	S <sub>2</sub> W <sub>2,</sub>		Α	S <sub>1</sub> W <sub>0,</sub>	$S_1W_2, S_5W_1,$	$S_1W_2, S_6W_1,$	S <sub>2</sub> W <sub>2,</sub>
	S <sub>6</sub> W <sub>0</sub>	$S_4W_1$ , $S_5W_1$ ,	S <sub>4</sub> W <sub>1</sub> , S <sub>5</sub> W <sub>1</sub>	S <sub>8</sub> W <sub>1</sub>			S <sub>6</sub> W <sub>0</sub>	$S_6W_1$ , $S_9W_2$	$S_5W_1$ , $S_9W_2$	S <sub>8</sub> W <sub>1</sub>
		S <sub>6</sub> W <sub>1</sub> S <sub>7</sub> W <sub>1</sub>	S <sub>6</sub> W <sub>1</sub> S <sub>7</sub> W <sub>1</sub>						-	
В	S <sub>2</sub> W <sub>0,</sub>	$S_2W_2, S_3W_2,$	$S_2W_2, S_3W_2,$	S <sub>1</sub> W <sub>2,</sub>		В	$S_2W_{0,}$	$S_2W_2, S_8W_1,$	$S_2W_2, S_8W_1,$	S <sub>1</sub> W <sub>2,</sub>
	S <sub>8</sub> W <sub>0</sub>	S <sub>4</sub> W <sub>1</sub> , S <sub>5</sub> W <sub>1</sub>	S <sub>4</sub> W <sub>1</sub> , S <sub>5</sub> W <sub>1</sub>	S <sub>6</sub> W <sub>1</sub>			S <sub>8</sub> W <sub>0</sub>	$S_5W_1$ , $S_9W_2$	$S_5W_1$ , $S_9W_2$	S <sub>6</sub> W <sub>1</sub>
		S <sub>7</sub> W <sub>1</sub> , S <sub>8</sub> W <sub>1</sub>	S <sub>7</sub> W <sub>1</sub> , S <sub>8</sub> W <sub>1</sub>							

**Fig. 5.9** Experimental design for study 4 with younger drivers (**a**) and study 5 with older drivers (**b**) displaying how the scenarios were arranged over the four learning phases (L1–L4) including the three specific warning system support forms (without –  $W_0$ ; *warning* –  $W_1$ ; *urgent warning* –  $W_2$ ) and the two groups of drivers A and B differing only in the order they experienced the scenarios



**Fig. 5.10** Mean brake reaction time and mean maximum brake force in the situations beginning with warning (W1) and the urgent warning (W2) over all four learning stages (while L1 was unassisted) for younger drivers of study 4

potential. In general, the warning system is also well accepted by the drivers before and after drivers experienced it, with the usefulness of the system being rated even better than the satisfaction with it (see Fig. 5.11b).

When looking at the results of older drivers (Fig. 5.12) it also becomes clear that they distinguished between the two different warning types in L2. In very critical situations, drivers reacted faster with the *urgent warning* (W2) as compared to less critical situations with the *warning* (W1). Drivers also had a higher maximum braking value following the *urgent warning* (W2) as compared to the *warning* (W1).

The results clearly show that all drivers, independently of their age, are well able to distinguish between the two warning stages. With a *warning*, they take more time to react and brake with medium force. When an *urgent warning* is given, they react very fast and brake very strongly. Driver acceptance of the two stage warning system is also given.



**Fig. 5.11** Mean subjective ratings of the critical situations and the warning stages in the situations beginning with warning (W1) and the urgent warning (W2) for younger drivers of study 4



**Fig. 5.12** Mean brake reaction time and mean maximum braking value in situations with the *urgent warning* (W2) and the *warning* (W1) in learning phase L2 for older drivers of study 5

Thus, these two stages of warnings using the concepts developed are very well suited to be used in different urban critical situations. As the implemented symbols are generic, they might also be useful in various other situations. Accordingly, these can be recommended for future driver warning systems in the urban context, too.

# 5.2.3 Recommendations for the Design of Warnings and Urgent Warnings

In urban traffic, a lot of traffic situations evolve gradually into critical situations. In many cases it is sufficient for drivers to reduce their speed or brake only slightly to avoid the situation from becoming critical. Sometimes drivers do not do that and the situation escalates. In other situations the danger arises very quickly. A pedestrian may suddenly enter a road, a cyclist may cross an intersection surprisingly or a lead vehicle may brake unexpectedly. In most of these instances emergency braking is required to avoid an accident, but drivers are often surprised by these situations and may not always be fully focused on driving. As the conducted simulator studies have shown, warnings are an effective method to prevent situations from escalating and avoid accidents. Based on the results, the following recommendations for the design of warnings in the urban context can be given:

- There should be (at least) two types of warnings *warnings* and *urgent warnings*.
- The *warning* should be designed as a caution sign with an exclamation mark, best placed in the head-up display.
- The *urgent warning* should be designed as a stop sign, best placed in the head-up display, and be accompanied by an urgent warning sound.

The *warning* is not improved by displaying the specific critical objects which represent a current hazard. These presentations are perhaps harder to understand and more difficult

to match to the real dangers. For the drivers, it seems to be sufficient to be warned and then be able to detect the imminent danger themselves. With regard to the *urgent warning*, it was not possible to elicit steering reactions and evasive manoeuvres in drivers. Thus, the effect of *urgent warnings* is at the moment limited to brake reactions. However, in most situations this will have a positive effect, either in avoiding the crash or at least in diminishing the speed of the impact and thus the severity of the crash.

In another study (not given in detail here) it could also be shown that drivers were able to understand the intentions of the two warning stages even if additional driver assistance information (e.g. navigation information, speed limit) was continuously presented in the head-up display and a *warning* was triggered when a situation was about to become critical. Thus, it is possible to show different kinds of information and warnings in the same medium. The drivers are still able to extract the relevant content and react to the two stages of the warning concept. This integration of different assistances and warnings needs further research, especially with the fast advances in research and technology nowadays.

# 5.3 Detecting and Warning of Visually Distracted Drivers (Robert Bosch GmbH)

## 5.3.1 Basic Principles

In today's traffic, the driver is exposed to a variety of distracting elements. These comprise sources of distraction from the surrounding traffic and ambience. In urban traffic, distraction is even more likely than on highways due to its increased complexity and factors like traffic lights, billboards, pedestrians and bicycles. Also, the driver is induced to perform secondary tasks not related to the driving as e. g. operating the car's infotainment system. The detection of driver distraction and the presentation of according driver warnings can be used in various scenarios:

*Manual driving*: Being distracted while driving manually is a major cause for accidents with an even increasing trend. It is estimated [16] that in 10 to 30% of road accidents in the European Union driver distraction is a contributing factor (the exact value being difficult to determine due to different coding schemes in the different countries). The reasons for this are that cars are equipped with complex infotainment systems as well as the increasing use of mobile devices. Reducing driver's distraction can contribute to a reduction of traffic accidents.

Assisted driving: Driver assistance systems as collision warnings or pedestrian protection warn the driver of dangerous situations. Distracted drivers have a longer reaction time compared to attentive drivers, which has to be taken into account when warning them. To warn always at an early point of time would be interpreted as a false alarm by an attentive driver and thus reduce the acceptance of such systems. If the driver's attentive level is known, the warning timing can be adapted to the driver's state. Automated driving: Although the topic of automated driving was not covered in the project UR:BAN, driver distraction is also a relevant topic in automated driving. Current legislation requires that a driver must be able to take control over the vehicle. In partly automated driving this must be possible at any time. With higher levels of automation, it is intended to grant the driver a take-over time of several seconds [17]. Only with fully automated driving, the driver will be disengaged from the control task. Up to this time, with detecting the drivers' attentive state it can be decided if they are able to take over in time or guide their attention back to the driving scene.

In the project UR:BAN, an eye gaze tracking system was used to detect visual distraction of the driver. Video cameras monitored the eyes of the driver and calculated the gaze direction. To cover a broad horizontal field of view, four video cameras were used in the project's test car, being distributed over the width of the dashboard. In urban traffic, the driver's head is often rotated widely to the left or right, when turning or watching the surrounding traffic on crossroads.

The classification algorithm assumes that most of the relevant traffic happens in front of the car, in an imaginary window projected onto the screen called "Region of interest" (ROI). Diverting the gaze outside the ROI may be an indication of visual distraction. If the glances of the driver outside the ROI last too long or occur too frequently, the driver is classified as distracted. In this case, the driver is prompted by the warning system to pay attention to the traffic ahead.

This information is then used for the warning system, which was developed considering the guidelines of the HMI tool kit. The application – warning distracted drivers – addresses the HMI tool kit path "Safe driving – Assistance by warnings and interventions" (Figs. 4.4 and 4.5).

The HMI tool kit "Driver's action" is:

- To direct the driver's attention to the relevant traffic scene.
- To prompt the driver to take appropriate action (brake or steer).

Using the filter process "Vehicle equipment" of the HMI tool kit, the equipment that is available at the target vehicle is taken into account.

Considering these points and the recommendations that are given for each component in the HMI tool kit, three variants of the warning concepts were derived:

- An acoustic warning only.
- ICON: an acoustic warning and in addition iconic symbols that were displayed in the central information display (CID) and the head-up display (HUD).
- LED: an acoustic warning and in addition a visual warning in a LED panel. The LEDs were mounted at the A-pillars and in a bar across the cockpit.

The icons presented in the HUD and CID as well as the LED panel are shown in Fig. 5.13.



Fig. 5.13 Icons in head-up display (a) and central information display (b) as well as the LED panel (c)

# 5.3.2 Studies

Three studies were performed to evaluate the warning concepts:

- A first study was performed in the driving simulator. Its goal was to gather experience on the subjective assessment of the participants (acceptance, comprehensibility) as well as to measure the effectiveness of the warnings.
- The activation of the LEDs was evaluated in a real car study. The component "LED bar" was studied in detail to fix parameters like colour and animation speed and get a feedback to the respective recommendations of the HMI tool kit.
- The second real car study evaluated the two warning systems in their final configuration. The subjective assessment was determined, together with a detailed measurement of the effects on the driver's visual distraction.

# 5.3.2.1 First Study in the Driving Simulator

The components of the warning concepts (LEDs, HUD, and software) were installed in the fixed-base driving simulator at Bosch [18]. 77 subjects drove in a simulated urban scenario, where they were confronted with several distracting situations:

- Source of distraction within the car: the subjects had the task to read aloud a text that was displayed in the CID.
- Source of distraction outside the car: children playing ball at the roadside, fire engine or police car crossing.

During these situations, potential dangerous events took place (pedestrians crossing the road, sudden braking of the leading vehicle, etc., see Fig. 5.14).



**Fig. 5.14** Screenshots taken from the simulated environment. **a** children playing ball at the right (source of distraction) and a pedestrian crossing from the left (hazard). **b** police car crossing (source of distraction) and bicycle appearing behind advertising pillar (hazard). (Robert Bosch GmbH)

The driver acceptance of the systems was captured in questionnaires. The same questionnaires were used for the final real car study, which will be discussed later. The driving simulator study had the following outcomes:

- It was decided to use a LED panel that spanned the whole width of the test car, including the A-pillars. The idea was to issue the warning at the horizontal angle where the driver's gaze is located at the moment.
- It turned out that the acoustic signal alone was not specific enough to guide the driver's attention to the traffic scene. Thus, the acoustic only concept was no longer pursued in the project.

#### 5.3.2.2 Real Car Study: Activation of the LEDs

Each LED in the panel was controlled separately and could be adjusted in colour and brightness. Several ways to activate the single LEDs were investigated. The parameters of different animations (blinking, moving band of lights, combined animation) were varied and a set of possible solutions was selected for evaluation in a real car study.

The outcome of the study was:

- A moving band of LEDs was favoured by the subjects over the blinking and combined warning.
- Setting of the parameters: the moving band starts at the horizontal angle of the driver's current horizontal gaze angle and moves to the position in front of the driver. The band starts with a width of 15 LEDs and narrows proportionally until nine LEDs. The speed is 1.25 m/s. The movement is repeated four times. The colour of the LEDs is yellow.

#### 5.3.2.3 Real Car Study: Final Evaluation of the Two Warning Systems

The two systems – iconic warning in CID and HUD simultaneously (ICON) and LED panel (LED) – were evaluated in a real car study. The evaluation was done in two ways:

- subjective rating by the subjects,
- objective rating by analysis of the gaze adverting durations.

Three cohorts of 20 participants each were formed: one group for each of the two warning systems, respectively, and one group having no warning system, serving as a baseline to compare the gaze durations with and without warning. The test drives lasted about 30 min, and the subjects had to perform a total of seven secondary tasks to provoke visual distraction. As secondary task, digits were displayed in the CID which the subjects had to type in in a keyboard. To read the digits, the subjects had to divert their gaze from the road to the CID.

Questionnaires were used to evaluate the subjective rating (the same as in the first simulator study).

The properties "Design of the warnings", "Attributes of the warnings system" and "Attractiveness" were assessed. For these questions, semantic differentials were used. In a semantic differential, a property is expressed in form of two adjectives having opponent meanings as "strong" vs. "weak". The rating was done in five steps between these poles.

Fig. 5.15 shows as an example the semantic differential "Design of the warnings". The negative pole is on the left side, the positive pole on the right side. It turns out that the warning system ICON is rated more positively in every point than system LED. This trend appears in the assessment of all surveyed properties.

The subjects were also prompted to comment freely on the implementation of the systems. It appeared that the intensity of the LED system – that was rated very positively in short-time presentations – is experienced as being obtrusive if issued frequently. However, the experimental design provoked warnings very often.



Fig. 5.15 Semantic differential "Design of the warnings". (Robert Bosch GmbH)



Fig. 5.16 Total number of VDD2 events (a) and mean number of VDD2 events per subject (b). (Robert Bosch GmbH)

Regarding the quantitative evaluation, a driver is classified by the algorithm as follows (VDD denoting Visual Distraction Detection):

- VDD0 (distraction level 0): not distracted.
- VDD1 (distraction level 1): This is the case if the driver's gaze is outside the ROI for a total of 3 s. If in between the gaze returns to the ROI, it must last for a minimum of 0.5 s to reset that state.
- VDD2 (distraction level 2): if within VDD1 the total duration of gazes outside the ROI exceeds 2 s (without a 0.5 s gaze to the ROI), VDD2 is reached.

In a first step, the frequency of VDD2 events was examined. As VDD1 events trigger the warnings, subsequent occurrences of VDD2 should be reduced.

Note: the per cent change *p* is calculated as follows  $(x_1, x_2)$ : old and new value, respectively)

$$p = \frac{x_2 - x_1}{x_1} \cdot 100$$

Table 5.2 and Fig. 5.16 show the total number of VDD2 events that occurred during the study and the mean number per subject. The reduction of VDD2 events is as follows:

	Total number of V	/DD2 events	Mean number per subject		
	Absolute Per cent change		Absolute	Per cent change	
No warning system	90		4.7		
LED	63	-30%	4.2	-10%	
ICON	43	-52%	2.7	-42%	

Table 5.2 Total number of VDD2 events and the mean number per subject

	Mean duration of VDD1 events		Mean duration of VDD2 events					
	Absolute [s]	lute [s] Per cent change		Per cent change				
No warning system	2.2		4.7					
LED	2.0	-9%	4.4	-6%				
ICON	1.6	-27%	3.7	-21%				

 Table 5.3
 Mean duration of VDD1 events (left) and VDD2 events (right)



Fig. 5.17 Mean duration of VDD1 events (a) and mean duration of VDD2 events (b). (Robert Bosch GmbH)

It turned out that the warning system reduced the occurrence of distraction events (level 2). The mean number per subject was reduced by up to 42%. The warning system ICON had a greater impact than the warning system LED.

In a second step, the mean duration of VDD1 events (see, Table 5.3, left) and VDD2 events (see Table 5.3, right, Fig. 5.17) was examined. The reduction of the durations is as follows:

The duration of single distraction events can be reduced by up to 27%. Again, system ICON has a higher impact than system LED.

## 5.3.3 Conclusion

Using the approach of the HMI tool kit, three warning concepts have been derived. Two of them – the ICON system and the LED bar – have been evaluated in detail in a real car study. Both systems ICON and LED may reduce the impact of visual distraction by guiding the gaze back to the driving scene earlier. The ICON system was more effective than the LED bar. It was also rated more positively than the LEDs, being perceived as less obtrusive.

## 5.4 Collision Avoidance by Autonomous Evasive Manoeuvre (Volkswagen AG and Technische Universität Braunschweig)

The aim of the collision avoidance system presented here is to avoid a potential collision by an autonomous evasive manoeuvre in a safety-critical situation. The evasive manoeuvre is executed by the steering system of the vehicle. It is computer-based on the relative configuration of the host vehicle and the collision object which is estimated using environment sensors. The system can help to detect road users (e.g. pedestrians, crossing vehicles) around the host vehicle and the road infrastructure. The collision avoidance system contains situations which are so unexpected that an emergency braking is not sufficient to avoid the potential collision, e.g. a sudden obstacle in the driver's path.

In the HMI tool kit (Fig. 4.4), the collision avoidance system is allocated to the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions" (Fig. 4.5) and was developed in the subproject "Collision avoidance by swerving and braking". Fig. 5.18 shows the chronology of the HMI screens of the steering system presented in the display in the instrument cluster.

As shown in Fig. 5.18, a warning tone is paired with a pop-up which signalizes the "emergency intervention" stage when the system intervention begins. In contrast to an emergency braking system, no red bright LED-bar is used. As the system is doing an autonomous evasive manoeuvre, the aim is to involve the driver as little as possible during the intervention. After the intervention, the driver resumes the driving task. In this de-



Fig. 5.18 HMI concept of the collision avoidance system by autonomous evasive manoeuvre presented in the display in the instrument cluster

escalation stage another pop-up appears which signalizes the takeover request to the driver ("Take over – Intervention completed"). In the following a test track study is described investigating the effectiveness and driver acceptance of the collision avoidance system in an unexpected situation.

## 5.4.1 Aim and Research Questions

In November 2015, a test track study with the collision avoidance system by autonomous evasive manoeuvre was conducted on a test track field in Ehra-Lessien, Germany. The aim of the study was to examine the effectiveness and driver acceptance of different collision avoidance systems in a safety-critical situation. The following research questions were:

- 1) How well can the driver manage the system intervention in an unexpected, safetycritical situation, representative for the urban area?
- 2) How well does the driver evaluate the collision avoidance system regarding effectiveness and acceptance in the situation?

## 5.4.2 Method

In the study two steering systems were compared: (1) Electric Power assisted Steering (EPS) and (2) Audi Dynamic Steering (ADS). Both systems were used to realise different kinds of steering interventions. One steering intervention uses only the EPS. Hence, the requested steering angles, steering angle velocity, and the resulting steering torque are directly sensible at the steering wheel. The other steering intervention is mainly executed by the ADS while the EPS applies the assistive torque to realise the manoeuvre. Here,  $\omega_D$  corresponds to the evasive steering. Hence, the driver is not able to sense the steering angle or the steering angle velocity. The driver is, however, able to sense the torque around the superimposition gearbox which is in contrary to the actual steering intervention.

In addition, the EPS varied in the duration of the assistance: a) doing the evasive manoeuvre and driving straight to the collision object (2/3) and b) doing the evasive manoeuvre, driving straight, and turning back (3/3). Fig. 5.19 shows the three collision avoidance systems differing in duration of the assistance and steering wheel feedback.

The three collision avoidance systems were installed in an Audi A6 prototype (Fig. 5.20). The prototype was equipped with the EPS and ADS which is a superimposed steering system. Generally, the EPS assists the driver using an electric engine which applies an assistive torque to the steering gear. Thereby, the required assistive torque is estimated based on the driver's steering angle  $\omega_D$  as well as the torque of the steering column. Moreover, the EPS has got an internal steering angle controller that allows for the execution of a steering manoeuvre.

The ADS system is capable to actively providing an additional steering angle  $\omega_S$  to the original driver steering angle  $\omega_D$ . Thereby, an additional superimposition gearbox is



**Fig. 5.19** The three collision avoidance systems of the test track study differing in duration of the assistance and steering wheel feedback (EPS = Electric Power assisted Steering, ADS = Audi Dynamic Steering)

integrated into the steering column that can actively influence the steering angle. The resulting steering angle can be written as  $\omega_{D'} = \omega_D + \omega_S$ .

An important property of the ADS, compared to Steer-by-Wire systems, is that even so it can influence the steering angle, the steering wheel and the front axis are mechanically coupled. Due to that, for any steering angle superimposition an equilibrium of torques is required around the superimposition gearbox. Hence, the superimposition gearbox is linked to the front axis on one side and the steering wheel on the other side, the driver has to provide the required steering torque.

Fig. 5.21a shows the driving scenario on the test track field. The scenario consisted of three sections (section A, B, C). After a big curve, the participants drove two sections of slalom driving, starting with 40 km/h (section A) and then 30 km/h (section B). At the end, the unexpected critical event occurred (section C). The critical event was a dummy, occluded by a parked vehicle which suddenly entered the road from the right (Fig. 5.21b). The test vehicle with the collision avoidance system made the evasive manoeuvre to the left. Here, the participants drove 50 km/h.

**Fig. 5.20** Audi A6 prototype with the Electric Power assisted Steering (EPS) and the Audi Dynamic Steering (ADS). The vehicle is an UR:BAN prototype of the subproject "Collision avoidance by swerving and braking"





**Fig. 5.21** Driving scenario on the test track field in Ehra-Lessien, Germany (**a**) and the critical event at the end of the driving scenario (**b**)

For the study, the participants were instructed that an assistance system will be active to support the driver while driving in curves, similar to an Electronic Stability Program (ESP). The participants' task was to evaluate the system based on the subjective driving feeling. In order to deflect from a potential collision avoidance system and to avoid drivers' expectation of a critical event in the driving scenario they were told to attend to the steering behaviour of the vehicle.

After the participants drove the driving scenario with one of the three collision avoidance systems (Fig. 5.19), they were informed about the real purpose of the study. Then, they drove all three systems only in section C and filled in several evaluation questionnaires including acceptance questions about, e. g. comfort, directness, usefulness, trust, understandability, and sense of security of the system intervention. In addition to the evaluation of the system intervention, questions concerning the evasive manoeuvre, the interaction between system and driver, the steering wheel behaviour, and the HMI presented in the instrument cluster display were included.

The test track study was a mixed design. The subjective evaluation of the systems was conducted in two time points. After the participants drove one collision avoidance system the first time, they filled in the evaluation questionnaires (between-subjects design). Here, one third of the participants started with EPS 2/3, another one third with ADS 2/3, and the rest with EPS 3/3. The participants were randomized to the experimental groups. After the aim of the study has been elucidated, all participants drove the three collision avoidance systems and filled in the evaluation questionnaires (within-subjects design). As a result, two data measurements for the collision avoidance system which was driven the first time were recorded. In addition to the evaluation questionnaires, driving data and driver's reaction to the critical event were recorded and analysed but will not be presented here.

A total of 23 subjects (3 female, 20 male) participated in the study. The participants ranged from 30 to 60 years of age (M=44.6 years, SD=8.6 years) and had a driver's license for 25.6 years (SD=8.2 years). They were recruited via participant pool of the
Volkswagen AG. The inclusion criteria were that the participants are (1) between 25 and 60 years old, (2) have experience in driving with Adaptive Cruise Control (ACC) or lane assist, and (3) successfully completed a driving safety training.

## 5.4.3 Results

When driving the collision avoidance systems the first time, the results showed that all three system interventions were evaluated as "good" by the drivers and "adequate" to the unexpected situation (Fig. 5.22a). After driving the system the second time the overall evaluation increased especially for the 2/3 systems but not for the EPS 3/3.

However, when driving the system the first time the drivers rated the intervention of the ADS 2/3 as "middle understandable" compared to the EPS 2/3 and EPS 3/3 ("understandable"). This effect faded off after the second time. Here, all three system interventions were evaluated as "very understandable" by the drivers. The same evaluation trend over the time was shown regarding the "usefulness" of the system intervention. Drivers evaluated the interventions as "very useful" in the unexpected situation as a collision could be avoided.

With regard to the comfort of the system interventions (Fig. 5.22b), the drivers perceived the ADS 2/3 and EPS 3/3 as "middle comfortable", the EPS 2/3 as even "uncomfortable" when driving the system the first time. With the second driving, the rating increased to "middle comfortable" (EPS 2/3 and EPS 3/3) and "comfortable" (ADS 2/3).

When comparing the three collision avoidance systems, the best evaluations were given for the EPS 2/3 and ADS 2/3 (Fig. 5.23a). They were evaluated as "good" by the drivers



**Fig. 5.22** Mean and 95%-CI of the overall evaluation of the system interventions in t1 and t2 ( $\mathbf{a} = \text{very bad to } 15 = \text{very good}$ ) and the comfort of the system interventions in t1 and t2 ( $\mathbf{b} = \text{very uncomfortable to } 15 = \text{very comfortable}$ )



**Fig. 5.23** Mean and 95%-CI of the overall evaluation of the system interventions ( $\mathbf{a} = \text{very bad to } 15 = \text{very good}$ ) and the comfort of the system interventions ( $\mathbf{b} = \text{very uncomfortable to } 15 = \text{very comfortable}$ )

compared to the EPS 3/3 with "middle good". One reason for this can be seen in the evaluated comfort of the system interventions (Fig. 5.23b). Overall, the drivers perceived the EPS 2/3 and ADS 2/3 as "comfortable", the EPS 3/3 only as "middle comfortable". All three systems were perceived as "very useful" (EPS 2/3 and ADS 2/3) and "useful" (EPS 3/3) respectively (Fig. 5.24a). Finally, the understandability of the system intervention was rated highest for the EPS 2/3. The intervention for the EPS 2/3 and ADS 2/3 was evaluated as "very adequate" to the unexpected situation (Fig. 5.24b).



**Fig. 5.24** Mean 95%-CI of the usefulness of the system interventions (**a** 1 = very little useful to 15 = very useful) and how adequate to the critical event (**b** 1 = very little adequate to 15 = very adequate)

#### 5.4.4 Conclusion

Considering all results found in the study, it can be concluded that the accident prevention with all three collision avoidance systems was good to very good in this unexpected safety-critical situation. All systems were useful to avoid a potential collision. However, differences between the drivers' acceptance of the systems were found.

First, the EPS 2/3 and ADS 2/3 were evaluated as best by the drivers. Especially, the EPS 2/3 was rated as very understandable, even if the system intervention was experienced as rough. In contrast, the ADS 2/3 was perceived as comfortable, but less comprehensible. It is important to mention that in general all system interventions have the character of an "emergency intervention" in such unexpected situation, which makes it difficult to evaluate the comfort of such intervention. Clearly lower accepted by the drivers was the EPS 3/3. This system intervention seems to be less comfortable, rather rough, less useful, and inadequate for the unexpected situation.

Second, the results indicate that the 2/3 systems are more accepted by the drivers. They perceived the EPS 3/3 system as rather inadequate. This is mainly due to the reason of a missing threat in the driving scenario like e.g. oncoming traffic or a static obstacle that would justify an immediate return to the original lane. Nonetheless, the drivers recommend a "turning back" of the collision avoidance system, but in a more comfortable or assisting setting.

Finally, a time effect between the first and second evaluation of the collision avoidance systems was found. While the acceptance of the EPS 2/3 and ADS 2/3 clearly increased after the second drive, the acceptance of the EPS 3/3 was nearly the same. One reason for this was that nearly all drivers overrode the EPS 3/3 when driving the system the first time, which essentially rendered the 3/3 manoeuvre into a 2/3 manoeuvre. Further research studies are necessary to validate the data and to investigate if combinations of system features are necessary to increase the driving feeling of the steering behaviour and thus the driver's acceptance for a collision avoidance system.

#### 5.5 Conclusion

Overall, the three approaches presented in this chapter have addressed the different stages of the HMI strategy "Warnings and interventions", taking driver distraction into account. The approach of the Technische Universität Braunschweig has provided recommendations for the design of *warnings* and *urgent warnings* with a special focus on the head-up display. The approach of the Robert Bosch GmbH has addressed the issue of driver distraction by providing a video-based algorithm to classify the distraction of the driver and to give according feedback. They were thus able to reduce distraction in order to support the effect of warnings and interventions. Finally, the approach of the Volkswagen AG has shown that very short autonomous interventions by the vehicle are very well suited to support evasive manoeuvres in time-critical situations in which braking only is not sufficient anymore. Integrating these results provides recommendations for the design of the different warnings and interventions based on empirical studies and reactions of the drivers. Thus, the introduction of these systems in the real traffic will hopefully be promoted as a contribution to make driving in urban areas safer and more comfortable.

## References

- 1. Werneke, J., Kleen, A., Vollrath, M.: Perfect timing: Urgency, not driving situations, influence the best timing to activate warnings. Hum Factors **56**(2), 249–259 (2014)
- Winkler, S., Werneke, J., Vollrath, M.: Timing of early warning stages in a multi stage collision warning system: Drivers' evaluation depending on situational influences. Transportation Res Part F 36, 57–68 (2016)
- Werneke, J., Vollrath, M.: How to present collision warnings at intersections? A comparison of different approaches. Accid Analysis Prev 52, 91–99 (2013)
- 4. Statistisches Bundesamt: Traffic. Traffic accidents 2011 [Verkehr. Verkehrsunfälle 2011]. Annual Report. Fachserie 8, Reihe 7. (Report No. 2080700117004). Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden, Germany (2012). https://www.destatis.de/DE/Publikationen/ Thematisch/TransportVerkehr/Verkehrsunfaelle/VerkehrsunfaelleJ2080700117004.pdf?\_\_\_\_ blob=publicationFile
- Kazazi, J., Winkler, S., Vollrath, M.: Accidents in urban areas The effects of attention allocation and age. Paper presented at the 5th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics and the Affiliated Conferences (AHFE 2014), Krakow, 19.07.–23.07.2014. (2014)
- 6. Kazazi, J., Winkler, S., Vollrath, M.: The influence of attention allocation and age on intersection accidents. *Transportation Research Part F* (in press)
- Winkler, S., Kazazi, J., Vollrath, M.: Distractive or supportive how warnings in the head-up display affect drivers' gaze and driving behavior. In Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (pp. 1035–1040) (2015). doi:10.1109/ITSC.2015.172
- Kazazi, J., Winkler, S., Vollrath, M.: Accident prevention through visual warnings. How to design warnings in head-up display for older and younger drivers. In Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (pp. 1028–1034) (2015). doi:10.1109/ITSC.2015.171
- Kazazi, J., Winkler, S., Vollrath, M.: Towards developing a head-up display warning system How to support older drivers in urban areas? In: de Waard, D., Brookhuis, K.A., Toffetti, A., Stuiver, A., Weikert, C., Coelho, D., Manzey, D., Ünal, A.B., Röttger, S., Merat, N. (eds.) Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Europe Chapter 2015 Annual Conference, pp. 279–290. (2016a). http://www.hfes-europe.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/ Kazazi2015.pdf
- Vollrath, M., Kazazi, J., Winkler, S.: "Achtung, Fußgänger! Piep! Blink! Brems! Vorne rechts abbiegen." – Integration von Informationen und Warnungen im Fahrzeug. Paper presented at the Braunschweiger Symposium AAET 2013 Automatisierungs-, Assistenzsysteme und eingebettete Systeme für Transportmittel, Braunschweig, 06.–07.02.2013. (2013)
- Winkler, S., Kazazi, J., Vollrath, M.: User-oriented, situational warnings How to warn the driver in urban areas? Paper presented at the 5th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics and the Affiliated Conferences (AHFE 2014), Krakow, 19.07.– 23.07.2014. (2014a)

- Winkler, S., Kazazi, J., Vollrath, M.: Visual driver warnings in urban areas. Paper presented at the Europe Chapter Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Conference (HFES Europe 2014), Lisbon, 08.10.–10.10.2014. (2014b)
- Kazazi, J., Winkler, S., Vollrath, M.: Do you understand me? Developing a two stage driver warning system for older drivers. Paper presented at the International Conference on Traffic and Transport Psychology (ICTTP 2016), Brisbane, 02.08.–05.08.2016. Australia (2016b)
- 14. Winkler, S., Kazazi, J., Vollrath, M.: Driving with a multi stage warning system in the head-up display How do drivers react upon it? In: de Waard, D., Brookhuis, K.A., Toffetti, A., Stuiver, A., Weikert, C., Coelho, D., Manzey, D., Ünal, A.B., Röttger, S., Merat, N. (eds.) Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Europe Chapter 2015 Annual Conference, pp. 141–153. (2016a). http://www.hfes-europe.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Winkler2016.pdf
- Winkler, S., Kazazi, J., Vollrath, M.: Towards a multi stage driver warning system for different critical urban situations. Paper presented at the International Conference on Traffic and Transport Psychology (ICTTP 2016), Brisbane, 02.08.–05.08.2016. (2016b)
- Directorate-General for Mobility and Transport, European Commission: Road safety newsletter No. 22 (2016). http://ec.europa.eu/transport/road\_safety/pdf/news/nl22\_en.pdf
- Damböck, D., Farid, M., Tönert, L., Bengler, K.: Übernahmezeiten beim hochautomatisierten Fahren. 5.Tagung Fahrerassistenz, München, 15.–16.Mai 2012. (2012)
- Wulf, F.: Analyse des Sicherheitsgewinns durch Teilautomation am Beispiel eines Stauassistenten. KIT Scientific Publishing, Karlsruhe (2015)

## HMI Strategy – Lateral and Longitudinal Control

Sonja Hofauer, Britta Michel, Sigrun Weise, Anna Julia Karmann, Frank Diermeyer, Amelie Stephan, Julia Drüke, Carsten Semmler, and Lennart Bendewald

## 6.1 Introduction

Advanced driver assistance systems (ADAS) which continuously intervene in the lateral or longitudinal control of the vehicle can increase the efficiency and comfort while driving. The HMI strategy presented in this section can be considered part of the developed HMI tool kit (Fig. 6.1, see also Chap. 10).

According to the Federal German Highway Research Institute's (BASt) nomenclature [1] for the degree of automation, the ADAS considered here can be classified as "assisted" as well as "partially automated" driving. This classification states that tasks are allocated to both the driver and the assistance system. During assisted driving, the driver takes over either the lateral or the longitudinal control manually, while the other part is controlled by the ADAS. During partially automated driving, both the lateral and the longitudinal vehicle control are temporarily regulated by the ADAS. In both cases, the driver must continually monitor the ADAS. As a result, the role of the driver changes. Activities that were once of a controlling nature shift in the direction of monitoring tasks [2].

S. Hofauer (⊠) · F. Diermeyer Institute of Automotive Technology, Technical University of Munich Munich, Germany e-mail: hofauer@tum.de

B. Michel · S. Weise · A. J. Karmann Engineering Central Research Electronic Systems (EZRES), MAN Truck & Bus AG Munich, Germany e-mail: britta.michel@man.eu

A. Stephan · J. Drüke · C. Semmler · L. Bendewald Group Research – Driver Interaction, Volkswagen AG Wolfsburg, Germany 6

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_6



Fig. 6.1 HMI strategy for lateral and longitudinal control within the HMI tool kit

## 6.2 Theoretical Background

In order to ensure the effectivity and safety of the entire system of "driver-vehicle-environment", it is important that the ADAS is designed in accordance with drivers' requirements. Here, the design of the HMI concept plays a decisive role, which helps drivers structure their mental models. Mental models describe the mental picture that the driver has of the ADAS. [3] define mental models as: "(...) a rich and elaborate structure, reflecting the user's understanding of what the system contains, how it works, and why it works that way". Using the underlying mental model, the driver is able to understand and anticipate the system's behaviour. Mental models are subjective, individual, vary in their complexity and precision, and have a dynamic character [4]. They promote system transparency and the driver's understanding of the system. The construct of transparency, which originates from traditional software ergonomics, can be considered a system characteristic. The objective is to achieve an optimal match between the mental model and actual system behaviour [5]. A transparent system design can increase effectivity by preventing undesired system interventions by the driver during normal operation. At the same time, the



safety of the entire system at its limits can be increased by a higher transparency and predictability of the system's behaviour. Here, the driver and the ADAS with HMI are related to each other in every specific traffic situation: The driver is required to have an appropriate situation awareness in every traffic situation so that he/she can stay in control of the ADAS using his/her mental model. The ADAS, in turn, should be adapted to the driver's capabilities. It should be designed to promote system transparency and should react appropriately to the specific traffic situation. This correlation is depicted in Fig. 6.2.

HMI concepts for continuously intervening ADAS should be designed so that they counteract potential negative automation effects. As the ADAS takes over more of the driver's tasks, it can lead to an insufficient awareness of the situation by the driver. Another problem is the driver's trust in the ADAS. Mistrust decreases the driver's acceptance leading to disuse of the ADAS [6, 7]. In contrast, over-reliance or complacency with regard to the system functionality can lead to insufficient monitoring, an increased willingness to take risks and to a decreased feeling of responsibility [6].



Fig. 6.3 Scheme of HMI concepts for the HMI strategy "Lateral and longitudinal control"

To counteract negative automation effects as much as possible, the following question should be considered: What could a system-transparent design of HMI concepts for a continuously intervening ADAS look like? A basic model for the HMI design focusing on heavy trucks and cars shown in (Fig. 6.3) was developed with project partners from the subproject "Human-Machine Interaction for urban environments". In principle, a basic distinction is made between the levels "system status", "system activity", and "transfer back to the driver". At the system status level, the driver is able to obtain information. At the system activity level, the driver comes to understand the current system actions and to anticipate future system actions. At the "transfer back to the driver" level, the driver must completely take over the driving task before long. Depending on the level, different modalities and components are recommended for designing the HMI (see Sect. 6.3.2).

## 6.3 Implementing the HMI Strategy

Sect. 6.3.1 describes the development of the HMI strategy for an automated longitudinal control in trucks. Furthermore, truck-specific aspects while driving are illustrated. Sect. 6.3.2 expands on the HMI strategy in cars for a lateral control system on narrow roads – the constriction assistant.

## 6.3.1 HMI Concept Development for an Automated, Fuel-efficient Longitudinal Vehicle Control for Heavy Trucks (MAN Truck & Bus AG)

At 26% of the total operating costs, fuel expenses represent a major cost factor for heavy trucks [8]. Since the driver's driving style has a significant influence on fuel consumption [9, 10], an automated longitudinal vehicle control may implement a continuous fuel-efficient driving and operating strategy. Such a strategy might regulate vehicle speed based on the vehicle's distance to another vehicle ahead, the topography as well as static and dynamic infrastructure elements. Examples for static infrastructure elements are speed limits and bends, while traffic light systems are categorised as dynamic infrastructure elements.

While vehicle speed is regulated by the system, the driver's task consists of manually executing lateral control and continuously monitoring the longitudinal control. Consequently, according to the BASt nomenclature [1] the ADAS described here is to be classified as assisted driving.

Compared to driving a car, specific, truck-related characteristics must be taken into account for the HMI concept development for truck drivers. A significantly higher mass compared to cars leads to longer coasting distances due to a higher kinetic energy. For an upcoming event with a lower target speed, the coasting point for a fuel-efficient velocity trajectory is significantly earlier. Therefore, the system might change vehicle speed and the driver will not know why, as the reason for this change in speed (e.g. a speed limit



Fig. 6.4 Overview of potential problems from the truck driver's perspective

sign) is not yet visible to the driver. Due to this information disparity between ADAS and the driver, it is necessary to communicate a reason for the perceivable change in speed to the driver.

To integrate user's requirements in the early concept development phase, qualitative and quantitative methods for a user-centred HMI development were applied. While accompanying truck drivers in distribution transport, contextual interviews were conducted immediately after the experienced situations to determine the driver's assessment on the need for ADAS support. In a second focus group study with truck drivers, attitudes, opin-



Fig. 6.5 Dynamic truck driving simulator at the Institute of Automotive Technology, TU Munich, Germany

ions, and potential problems from the user's perspective were collected [11]. Fig. 6.4 gives an overview of the potential problems from the truck driver's point of view.

A driving simulator study with truck drivers determined the necessary information units. The implemented ADAS prototype was integrated in a dynamic truck driving simulator (Fig. 6.5). Thus, the participants could experience the automated longitudinal control in different driving situations. In addition to defining the information units, the objective of the study was to determine the suitable output location in the truck cockpit as well as the time at which the information should be provided. Thirty-two professional drivers (31 males, 1 female) between the ages of 21 and 66 years (M = 40.4 years) participated in the study. Ninety-four percent of the drivers had prior experience in operating a cruise control in a truck. In contrast, only 28% of the participants had an adaptive cruise control (ACC) in their most-used vehicles.

The aggregated results with regard to the necessary information units are depicted in Fig. 6.6. For promoting traceability and trust, the majority of the truck drivers surveyed requested information about the reason for the speed change and its distance to the vehicle. In order to know whether the system works correctly, information about the system status and reason for changing speed were essential for the truck drivers.



Fig. 6.6 Essentially necessary information units form the truck driver's perspective for traceability, trust, and correctness of the system



As an output location in the truck cockpit, 55% of the drivers preferred the display in the instrument cluster, while 39% preferred the head-up display (Fig. 6.7). It was found sufficient to provide the information at the beginning of the speed adjustment. Due to the predictable change in the velocity trajectory, providing the information at an earlier point in time was deemed unnecessary.

A scenario-based design was applied for the HMI concept development. Initial HMI concept designs were analysed using heuristical, expert evaluations. In a next step, the optimized HMI concepts were formatively evaluated in an additional driving simulator study with 36 professional truck drivers. The optimized HMI concept that was created based on these study results is shown in Fig. 6.8.

As with a conventional speed regulation system, the system status is shown in the form of a pictogram. Additional information is visualised in the ADAS area (centre) which



Fig. 6.8 HMI concept showing the following information units: system status, reason for speed change, distance, new target speed, and vehicle ahead

allows the driver to comprehend the speed selection of the ADAS and to anticipate the situation ahead. The reason for a long-range speed change and its distance are illustrated. Moreover, a brief adaption of speed is sometimes necessary due to a vehicle ahead. Vehicles that quickly merge and accelerate in front of a truck are a common occurrence in urban traffic. Therefore, the vehicle ahead is shown as a short-term reason in addition to the long-term reason in the ADAS graphic. Furthermore, the new target speed to which the ADAS regulates is communicated to the driver in the form of a green arrow in the speedometer. It is integrated in the display for the current speed. This allows the driver to make a quick comparison between the actual and the new target speed.

A future driving simulation study will explore to what extent drivers are capable of detecting system errors without a prior takeover request on the basis of the information units regularly displayed. Additional research could be necessary concerning whether the information units determined here can also be utilised at higher automation levels in order to inform the driver about the current system state [11].

# 6.3.2 Exploration of Different HMI Concepts for a Constriction Assistant (Volkswagen AG)

The development towards more and more automobiles leads to numerous conflicts in the traffic system. To counter this process, new driver assistance systems are developed to support the driver especially in urban areas and to ensure comfortable and efficient driving.

One of these assisting systems is the road constriction assistant which provides the driver with steering control while driving through a narrow street (Fig. 6.9). Bottlenecks or road constrictions are challenging driving situations, especially for novice drivers, and can impair a broad traffic area in case of an accident. To provide a comfortable driving experience, the driver needs to attain an adequate awareness and understanding of the assistance system and its continuous lateral guidance control. This understanding shall be achieved with an adequate HMI of the road constriction assistant.

The constriction assistant constantly evaluates the current traffic situation to recognise an upcoming narrow passage. Whenever an intervention is necessary, the system informs the driver in the first place and escalates to a warning and an active lateral intervention as a second step. An aimed steering torque supports the driver's steering movements to ensure a comfortable driving experience, but it does not replace the steering of the driver. The system returns to its passive monitoring state when the constriction is safely passed. While driving in the constriction lateral guidance control is performed by the system and only needs to be supervised by the driver (BaSt classification, see [1]). The question arises how an HMI concept for the constriction assistant could support understanding of the system and what kind of information should be provided to the driver. To this end, three studies were conducted: (1) a focus group, (2) a driving simulator study at Volkswagen AG, and (3) a study on a test track in Ehra-Lessien, Germany.



Fig. 6.9 Schematic representation of a road constriction

## 6.3.2.1 Focus Group and Driving Simulator Study

With the help of a qualitative analysis of the information demand on the part of the driver when passing a constriction, first HMI concepts were developed. In a focus group with nine participants, the subjective perception of 30 specifically selected narrow points on the road or constriction scenarios was analysed and the need for information was assessed. In a user-centred approach, first ideas for an HMI concept could be derived from these results.

On the basis of this input, the next step concentrated on the development of different HMI design concepts. The level of detail was varied between the concepts to achieve a presentation of different levels of information, as can be seen in Fig. 6.10. The generic HMI concept represented the basic information about an upcoming narrow passage, while the specific HMI concept included more information about objects causing the constriction



**Fig. 6.10** HMI concept with varying level of information detail presented in the display of the instrument cluster: **a** generic, **b** specific, and **c** very specific HMI concept (from left)

and whether the vehicle would fit through the narrow passage. The very specific HMI concept included detailed information about how much space will be left between the obstacle and the vehicle, and if the object is a dynamic one.

The gradation of information detail was created to investigate the need for information when driving through constriction scenarios of different complexity. To this end, user studies in a simulated environment as well as on a test track were conducted with participants of the participant pool of the Volkswagen AG.

In total, 36 drivers volunteered to participate in the driving simulator study that was conducted at Volkswagen AG. Here, a static driving simulator was used (Fig. 6.11) with the simulation software VTD (Virtual Test Drive).

The three HMI concepts were compared in three urban scenarios with narrow passages that increased in complexity of the situation (Fig. 6.12). A  $3 \times 3$  repeated measures study design included the factors HMI concept (generic, specific, very specific) and complexity of the situation (low, medium, high) with permuted orders, respectively (for further information, see [12]). The participants drove with a constant speed of 50 km/h, realised with cruise control functionality. The priority was given to the essential information the drivers needed to obtain situation awareness. The inherent potential of distracting the driver was considered as well. Altogether, the study aimed at identifying the assets and drawbacks of the created HMI concepts.

Major findings of the driving simulator study showed that drivers using the road constriction assistant need detailed information about both the existence of a constriction ahead and the precise distances to the vehicle while passing through the constriction. Especially information concerning an approaching constriction is of great importance. The



Fig. 6.11 Driving simulator of the Volkswagen AG



Fig. 6.12 Constriction scenarios of different complexity used in the driving simulator study

most detailed HMI concept fulfilled most of the drivers' requirements and was rated as particularly valuable. The usefulness of the very specific HMI (assessed with the System Usability Scale [SUS] and the Software Usability Measurement Inventory [SUMI] on a 15-point Likert scale) was rated significantly higher compared to the generic HMI concept, as can be seen in Fig. 6.13. Nevertheless, subjective interviews as well as objective gaze behaviour indicated that this concept might go along with a greater distraction compared to the generic HMI. Continuative research and the verification of the presented findings in an actual vehicle are advisable to examine whether these results also prove true for a real environment.



Fig. 6.13 Mean of the variables usefulness and distraction depending on the scenarios and HMI concepts  $(1 = \text{very low } \dots 15 = \text{very high})$ 

#### 6.3.2.2 Test Track Study

The results of the driving simulator study mentioned above were validated by a test track study of the Volkswagen AG. In total, 19 participants took part in the study that included the experience of two static constrictions of 2.50 m und 3.00 m width that should be passed with approximately 30 km/h. The participants drove through the two narrow passages (1) manually, (2) with lateral guidance control, and (3) with lateral and longitudinal guidance control. The assistance systems were supplemented either with a generic (Fig. 6.14) or a specific HMI concept (Fig. 6.15). The  $3 \times 3$  repeated measures design enabled the participants to compare all systems and HMI specifications.

The test track study was able to reproduce and confirm the results of the driving simulator study mentioned above to a large extend. For both approaching and passing a narrow passage, the specific HMI was evaluated as more useful (Fig. 6.16) and more understandable, compared to the generic HMI. Furthermore, drivers paid more attention to the specific HMI. The indicated distance was perceived as useful by more than half of the participants. Both HMI concepts were considered as more useful with lateral and longi-

а

**Fig. 6.14** Generic HMI concept for approaching a constriction with the lateral assistance (**a**) and lateral and longitudinal assistance (**b**)





b



**Fig. 6.16** Box plots for the variable usefulness depending on the assistance system and the HMI concept  $(0 = \text{not at all } \dots 15 = \text{very useful})$ 



**Fig. 6.17** Box plots for the variable distraction depending on the assistance system and the HMI concept  $(0 = \text{not at all } \dots 15 = \text{very strongly distracted})$ 

tudinal assistance. The level of distraction when approaching and passing the constriction was rated low for both concepts (Fig. 6.17). However, 74% of all participants did not pay attention to the HMI indications in the first run, and wanted the indications to be given in the head-up display.

With regard to the level of assistance while approaching and passing a constriction, the results showed that more than three quarters of all participants would like to use the lateral assistance system, and approximately 70% preferred the lateral and longitudinal control system, which was valued less because of uncomfortable driving behaviour like abrupt braking manoeuvres.

## 6.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, the following two HMI concepts for urban traffic were developed and refined based on the driver's demands: (1) a truck-specific HMI strategy for an automated longitudinal control and (2) an HMI strategy for a lateral control system on narrow roads – the constriction assistant. For (1), the reason for a speed change (long-range as well as short-term), the distance to the vehicle and the target speed were identified as the essential components of the HMI. By integrating these components, an HMI was created which allows the driver to comprehend the speed selection of the ADAS and to anticipate the situation ahead.

The content of (2) depended on the context. Especially in very complex narrow passages, a need for detailed information could be evidenced. Both in the driving simulator study and on the test track, more specific information improved understanding of the situation and successfully managing the narrow passage. However, a greater potential for distraction due to the higher amount of information that has to be processed became evident as well.

## References

- 1. Gasser, T.M.: Rechtsfolgen zunehmender Fahrzeugautomatisierung: Gemeinsamer Schlussbericht der Projektgruppe. Berichte der Bundesanstalt für Straßenwesen. Bundesanstalt für Straßenwesen, Bremerhaven (2012)
- König, W.: Nutzergerechte Entwicklung der Mensch-Maschine-Interaktion von Fahrerassistenzsystemen. In: Hakuli, S., Lotz, F., Singer, C. (eds.) Handbuch Fahrerassistenzsysteme: Grundlagen, Komponenten und Systeme f
  ür aktive Sicherheit und Komfort, vol. 3, pp. 621– 632. Springer Vieweg, Wiesbaden (2015)
- 3. Carroll, J.M., Olson, J.R.: Mental models in human-computer interaction: Research issues about what the user of software knows. National Academy Press, Washington (1987)
- 4. Norman, D.A.: Some Observations on Mental Models. In: Gentner, D., Stevens, A. (eds.) Mental Models, pp. 7–14. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale (1983)
- 5. Maaß, S.: Transparenz-eine zentrale Software-ergonomische Forderung. Bericht FBI-HH-B-170/95, Universität Hamburg, Fachbereich Informatik (1995)
- 6. Barfield, W., Dingus, T.: Human factors in intelligent transportation systems. Lawrence Erlbaum, Mahwah (1998)
- Parasuraman, R., Riley, V.: Humans and Automation: Use, Misuse, Disuse, Abuse. Hum Factors 39(2), 230–253 (1997)
- 8. Bundesverband Güterkraftverkehr: Kostenentwicklung im Güterkraftverkehr Kostenstruktur nationaler Fernverkehr 2013 (2016). http://www.bgl-ev.de, Accessed 2016-05-20
- Hillesheim, D., Schygulla, M., Berg, U.: Fahrerinformations- und assistenzsystem zur energieeffizienten Planung und Durchführung von Gütertransporten mit Nutzfahrzeugen. VDI-Berichte, vol. 2068., pp 97–107 (2009)
- 10. Wâhlberg, A.E.: Fuel wasting behaviors of truck drivers. In: I.M. Pearle (eds.), *Industrial psychology research trends*, pp. 73–87. New York: Nova Science Publishers (2007)
- Stockert, S., Weise, S., Michel, B., et al.: Automated fuel efficient longitudinal control for commercial vehicles Requirements for the Human-Machine-Interface. In: ATZlive Springer (ed.) 1st International ATZ-Conference on Driver Assistance Systems Frankfurt. (2015)
- Stephan, A., Petermann-Stock, I.: Entwicklung eines HMI-Konzepts zum assistierten Durchfahren von Engstellen im urbanen Raum. Paper presented at the 16th Braunschweiger Symposium Automatisierungs-, Assistenzsysteme und eingebettete Systeme für Transportmittel (AAET 2015), Braunschweig, 12.02.–13.02.2015. Germany (2015)

# **HMI Strategy – Recommended Action**

7

Lena Rittger and Martin Götze

## 7.1 Introduction

Path three of the UR:BAN HMI tool kit (Fig. 4.4) represents HMI strategies for driver assistance systems that offer comfortable and/or efficient driving by providing recommendations and information to the drivers. The following chapters contain a definition of recommending driver assistance systems as worked out in the UR:BAN project, followed by two approaches to the development of the HMI strategy for recommending driver assistance systems.

First, relevant research questions and their experimental investigation for the development of a traffic light assistant as an example for a recommending driver assistance system are presented (Adam Opel AG). Second, the evaluation of different HMI components as generic, integrative HMI concept for the representation of multiple recommending driver assistance systems is introduced (Technical University of Munich).

## 7.2 Definition

Recommending driver assistance systems are based on the same sensory equipment as regulating or warning assistance systems. The sensor set (e.g. camera, radar) perceives and analyses the surrounding traffic environment. Vehicle-to-Vehicle and Vehicle-to-Infra-

EE Advanced Technology, Adam Opel AG Rüsselsheim am Main, Germany e-mail: lena.rittger@opel.com

M. Götze Chair of Ergonomics, Technical University of Munich Munich, Germany e-mail: martin.goetze@tum.de

L. Rittger  $(\boxtimes)$ 

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_7

structure communication allow that information is available for the vehicle algorithms over large distances (e. g. up to 1000 m) and for future states (e. g. traffic light phasing). The in-vehicle control units and algorithms integrate the provided information from multiple sensors in order to create an interpretation of the driving situation. This process is similar for warning, regulating, and recommending driver assistance systems.

The control unit that performs the required driving behaviour differentiates regulating from recommending assistance systems. Regulating driver assistance systems interfere in vehicle dynamics by actively controlling parts of the driving task, realised as continuous system interference (Chap. 6). Recommending driver assistance systems provide the relevant information to the driver. The driver perceives and processes the information potentially through all modalities (visual, auditory and tactile) and performs the required actions. As opposed to warning assistance systems, the recommending assistance systems have no direct negative or safety critical consequences in case the driver does not follow the recommendations. Hence, escalation strategies or changes in urgency of the provided information do not apply. The beneficial effects of recommending systems depend on the driver's ability to correctly understand and interpret the provided information, the possibility to perform the required actions and, importantly, the willingness to comply with the system recommendations. Therefore, recommending driver assistance systems require HMI concepts that create good comprehension, high usability and low annoyance. In particular, when driving in urban areas, the HMI concepts need to assure low distraction.

The benefits of recommending driver assistance systems manifest themselves in cases where the sensory input gained by the systems allows the human perceptual abilities and knowledge to improve by time, space, and quality [1]. The information is available when drivers are not able to perceive it because it will change in the future (e.g. the next traffic light phasing), it is covered by the environment (e.g. speed limit behind a curve or an obstacle), or because the environment does not contain the same level of quality of the information as the sensor system (e.g. stop-and-go events of vehicles far ahead in the platoon). Additionally, the system provides information that drivers might not know based on their knowledge of the vehicle configuration and traffic situation (e.g. an efficient driving strategy). The benefits of the provided information on the human information processing, the adapted response selection, and execution lead to modifications in driving behaviour compared to unassisted driving. In summary, the main goals of recommending driver assistance systems are to enable comfortable and/or efficient driving, by presenting anticipatory information and supporting an anticipatory driving behaviour.

In terms of the primary driving task as frequently described by [2], recommending driver assistance systems influence the driver's plans, decision making and behaviour on all three levels of the driving task (Fig. 7.1). At the strategic level, the driver consciously makes a decision to increase driving comfort or efficiency and thereby makes the decision to use the system. At the manoeuvring level, the information provided by the system triggers the decision to initiate a driving manoeuver (e.g. a lane change). The control level is changed in cases where the recommending driver assistance system influences specific



action patterns (e. g. using the gas pedal to control speed). Hence, action patterns that are usually deeply engrained and performed without consciousness come to driver's attention by recommending driver assistance systems.

## 7.3 HMI Concept for a Traffic Light Assistant (Adam Opel AG)

The UR:BAN project supported the development of a traffic light assistance system. From a technical perspective, the traffic light assistant is based on Vehicle-to-Infrastructure communication. Wireless communication units (with IEEE standard 802.11p) allow that vehicles approaching the intersection receive information sent out by the traffic light. Available information is for example the current traffic light phase, the phase duration, the next traffic light phase and GPS traces for the driving lanes (which allow for lane matching). In cases with additional sensor technology, the traffic light can provide information on the length of the queue of vehicles waiting at the intersection. This is important to track because vehicles standing at the intersection will shift the virtual stop line.

The in-vehicle algorithm integrates the information from the traffic light with in-vehicle dynamics, in order to predict the traffic light phase at arrival at the intersection. Then the algorithm deduces a target driving speed and the current deviations from it and sends the recommended driving behaviour to the HMI units for presentation to the driver. The dynamic feedback system results into an information cycle, whereby the system influences driving behaviour and the driving behaviour influences the output of the system [3]. The two main goals of the traffic light assistant are:

- Avoiding stops by crossing the intersection at a green light phase.
- Initiating efficient stops (e.g. by early coasting), in cases of an unavoidable red light phase.

## 7.3.1 HMI Development

The first research question covered the development of the HMI concept for the traffic light assistant system, including the definition of the modality and HMI component, the selection of appropriate information units and the evaluation of the developed concepts in a driving simulator study.

## 7.3.1.1 Selection of Visual Modality

There are several arguments pointing towards the usage of visual displays for the traffic light assistant. First, the traffic light assistant provides continuous support during the traffic light approaches. Presenting the information and recommendation in a continuous form on a visual display allows drivers to re-evaluate the detailed content multiple times within an approach. As mentioned above, the recommendations are dynamic and might change due to the current driving situation. In line with this, the visual display allows drivers to re-evaluate their behaviour. Second, visual information provides detailed content by using multiple codes (e. g. colour, symbols, and texts), which enables representation of information with high levels of complexity. Third, the traffic light assistant provides information that relates to modifications in driving speed. Therefore, presenting information in close proximity to the speedometer is preferred. Finally, previous studies showed that a combination of visual and auditory information for a traffic light assistant did not change driver behaviour compared to a presentation of visual information only [4].

#### 7.3.1.2 Definition of Presented Information Units

Traffic light assistance systems provide a large variety of information that could possibly be presented to the driver. Driver performance studies support the decision on which information content is relevant, necessary, valuable, accepted, and low distracting for the driver.

A literature analysis showed that previous recommending driver assistance systems contained at least one of the following information units:

- Current traffic light phase (e.g. [5]), which is beneficial as long as the drivers themselves are not able to see the traffic light in the road.
- Traffic light phase durations (e. g. [6]), which assume that drivers translate the phase durations into appropriate driving behaviour (e. g. adaptions of driving speed).
- Action recommendations (e. g. [7]), which allow to instruct specific driving behaviour directly (e. g. instructing to accelerate or decelerate).
- Speed recommendations (e.g. [8]), which provide target speeds that will guide the driver through a certain driving situation.

For action or speed recommendations, the systems require a higher level of automation and intelligence because more information needs to be integrated compared to the status information on the traffic light phase. With status information, the system requires that the driver interprets and performs the correct driving behaviour.

When presenting multiple information units in a visual display, two opposing theories were considered. A classic effect in divided attention research is that participants respond faster to redundant stimuli as compared to single stimuli [9–11]. The possible contents presented above contain a certain level of redundancy (e. g. the action recommendation to accelerate implies that the current driving speed is lower than expected). In case the basic research transfers to HMI design, driver performance should improve with a presentation of combined information units in the visual display compared to non-redundant information in the display. On the contrary, classic resource models (e. g. [12]). state that the extent in which two tasks use the same resource defines how well both tasks can be performed simultaneously. The driving task is mainly visual, and a visual display should be designed so that it draws on "residual capacities" that are available next to the primary driving task [12]. For the design of the visual display of the traffic light assistant, one can hypothesise that an increased number of information units in the display leads to decreases in driver performance due to increasing visual load and increased processing times.

#### 7.3.1.3 Evaluation of Visual HMI Concepts

The study presented in the following section addresses two questions: Which information units should be presented in the visual display when approaching an intersection? Does a combination of information units lead to improved performance due to redundancy or to driver overload? The study included a systematic comparison of driver performance in relation to different display concepts.

In the experiment, drivers approached urban traffic light intersections with different traffic light phasing in a driving simulator environment. During the traffic light approaches, the traffic light assistant was active starting around 300 m in front of the intersection. The HMI concepts were presented in the instrument cluster next to the speedometer and contained the three different information units: traffic light phase information including phase duration, action recommendations and speed recommendations. The current traffic light phase was either red or green; the duration of the yellow phase was added to the red phase. Before termination of the traffic light phase, the filling of the traffic light phase started reducing like a countdown timer. A quarter of the coloured filling related to two seconds. An arrow next to the traffic light phase indicated at which traffic light phase drivers would arrive at the intersection based on their current driving behaviour. The action recommendations were either "coast", "brake", "drive" (i. e. keep speed) or "accelerate". Each recommendation was presented as a symbolic depiction of an arrow (e.g. arrow pointing downwards for deceleration). The speed recommendations were presented as numbers (e.g. 30 for 30 km/h). The combination of the presence and absence of each information unit resulted in overall eight HMI versions (Fig. 7.2). The HMI version without any information unit included the current traffic light phase without countdown timer and without information on the phase at arrival.

**Fig. 7.2** HMI versions evaluated in the driving simulator study. The HMI versions either contained (+) or did not contain (–) each of the information units traffic light information (TL), action recommendations (action) or speed recommendations (speed)



TL (-), Action (+), Speed (+)

TL (+), Action (+), Speed (+)

Each participant experienced all of the eight HMI versions in eight drives through the simulated test track (containing different orders of the intersections and traffic light phases). The order of the eight drives was permuted between participants according to a Latin square. 32 participants took part in the study.

The subjective evaluation included a forced-choice question, i.e. drivers indicated which HMI they liked best, second best and third best. They also decided which HMI was worst and second worst after experiencing all HMI versions. The ratings were weighted giving three points to the best HMI version, two points to the second best HMI version, and one point to the third best HMI version. Similarly, the bad HMI versions were rated by giving two points to the worst option and one point to the second worst option. Fig. 7.3 shows the weighted number of observations. The HMI version containing information on the traffic light phasing received the highest ratings. The HMI version containing all three information units was rated most often as the best HMI. The worst rating was given to the HMI version not containing any additional information on driving behaviour or traffic light phasing. The second worst rating was given for the option containing only action recommendations.



**Fig. 7.3** Results from the forced choice decision to evaluate the best, second best and third best HMI version and to evaluate the worst and second worst HMI version. The HMI versions either contained (+) or did not contain (-) each of the information units traffic light information (TL), action recommendations (action) or speed recommendations (speed; [1])

Driving behaviour was evaluated in terms of speed profiles. Fig. 7.4 shows the mean driving speed averaged over all participants and repetitions, differentiated for the four different traffic light phases. The plots contain the target speed profile as calculated by the algorithm when entering the situation (dotted line) and the profiles when driving with each of the eight HMI versions. The deviations from the target speed were largest, when participants drove with the HMI version containing no information unit. The second largest deviations were observed when participants only received traffic light phase information without any speed or action recommendations. The lowest deviations from target speed were measured when the HMI contained action and speed recommendations.

There was an influence of the traffic light phase at arrival at the intersection. When approaching green traffic lights, the deviations in driving speed were generally low and additional information in the HMI display did not influence driving behaviour. In particular, drivers benefited from the recommendations, when the traffic light phase changed during the traffic light approach (e. g. changed from red to green or from green to red).

In order to evaluate the visual load that drivers experienced when driving with the different HMI versions, gaze durations were analysed. The 85% percentile was below 1.4 s gaze duration and the 95% percentile was below 1.7 s gaze duration for all HMI versions. The longest average fixation durations were measured for the HMI version showing traffic light information and action recommendations. The shortest average fixation durations occurred with the HMI version showing no information, followed by the version containing action and speed recommendations. As a conclusion, all HMI versions met the standard



**Fig. 7.4** Mean driving speed for the 30 distance sections in the 300 m traffic light approach to solid green, red to green, solid red and green to red traffic lights. The dotted line shows the target speed as calculated by the traffic light assistant. The HMI versions either contained (+) or did not contain (-) each of the information units traffic light information (TL), action recommendations (action) or speed recommendations (speed; [1])

criteria of the Alliance of Automobile Manufacturers (AAM), recommending an 85% percentile of 2 s for single gaze durations [13] and the ISO 15005:2002, which mentions maximum gaze durations of on average 1.5 s [14].

#### 7.3.1.4 Conclusions

The study showed that drivers preferred HMI versions containing traffic light phase information. This supports previous research indicating a preference for status information in non-time critical situations [15]. From a driver perspective, the traffic light phase information best visualised the increased knowledge provided by the assistance system and might have served as an explanation for the action and speed recommendations. Driving performance was best with a combination of action and speed recommendations; by presenting these information units, drivers do not rely on their own interpretation of the traffic light status. Instead, the system provides the most efficient behaviour. Additionally, it is likely that providing speed and action recommendations allows drivers to rely on the information unit that is most relevant in each driving situation (e. g. speed recommendations when approaching a green light, action recommendations when stopping at red). In particular, the assistant was helpful in situations with a traffic light phase change. This is in line with research that demonstrated that recommending driver assistance systems support drivers in situations in which a necessary driving manoeuver (e. g. deceleration) cannot be perceived in advance [16]. There was no negative influence on gaze behaviour and drivers showed no indication for overload or stress in reaction to any HMI version. Hence, for the visual display of the traffic light assistant the combination of all three information units is recommended. The results confirm the redundancy rather than the overload hypothesis.

#### 7.3.2 Traffic Light Assistance in Platoon Driving

Traffic is a social system and interactions between road users frequently occur in an urban road environment. For the evaluation of a recommending driver assistance system, it is valuable to evaluate the acceptance for and the effectiveness of the system in the context of driving in a platoon with other road users.

#### 7.3.2.1 Interactions Between Road Users

When driving in a platoon of drivers, a lead vehicle driving with traffic light assistant naturally influences the driving behaviour of following vehicles. For example, [17] showed that when only the lead vehicle of a platoon of ten vehicles was equipped with a traffic light assistant, the overall fuel consumption was reduced by 30% compared to the condition without any equipped vehicle in the platoon. Others pointed out that especially in busy conditions like congested traffic, drivers attention is on safe driving rather than following the recommendations of driver assistance systems. Hence, the potential for efficient driving is reduced when drivers are not in free-flowing driving situations [18].

As mentioned above, the adaptions in driving behaviour cover basic driving behaviours like speed choice, acceleration, or deceleration. The drivers following the recommendations of the traffic light assistant have an increased awareness for their basic driving behaviour. Therefore, it was hypothesised that drivers following the recommendations of the traffic light assistant might also have an increased awareness of the influence of their own driving behaviour on other road user's perception. It is likely possible that the changes in basic driving behaviour are perceived by surrounding road users.

At the same time, the communication channels for the interactions between drivers are limited [19]. Research has shown that conflicts occur in situations when drivers in the

same platoon come to different conclusions on the choice of speed, acceleration, and deceleration [20]. This is particularly of relevance when considering mixed penetration rates for recommending driver assistance systems. In traffic, there might be informed drivers with traffic light assistant as well as drivers without knowledge from such systems. The latter are not aware of the reasons for unexpected driving behaviours by the informed drivers.

#### 7.3.2.2 Experiment in Multi-driver Simulator

In the experiment [21–23], drivers approached traffic light intersections in a platoon of four drivers. The multi-driver simulator as presented in Chap. 21 is a tool to carry out standardised experimental conditions for multiple drivers within the same virtual driving reality. The drivers were individually instructed. Half of the drivers were equipped with a traffic light assistant, while half of the drivers did not know of the presence of any assistance system. Each participant approached the intersection with varying positions in the platoon (positions 1, 2, 3 and 4; Fig. 7.5). The traffic light assistant was activated either 200 m or 400 m in front of the intersection. During the drives, the HMI screen presented the visual recommendations of the traffic light assistant.

In the analyses, the percentage of traffic light approaches with stops at the traffic light was determined for each condition. The scenarios were planned so that drivers sticking to the recommendations could either cross the intersection by adapting their driving speed or initiate a stop at a red light. Based on that, the deviation from predicted percentage of stops as planned from the structure of the scenarios and the actual percentage of stops for each condition was identified. Values lower than 0% indicate that drivers stopped more often than would have been necessary when sticking to the recommendations of the traffic light assistant. The higher the calculated values, the higher the beneficial effects of the system on driving behaviour.

On average, drivers with traffic light assistant crossed the intersection more often without a stop compared to drivers who did not receive the recommendations from the system (with assistant: m = -20.31%, without assistant: m = -30.00%). Hence, driving with the traffic light assistant has the potential to improve efficiency when approaching the traffic



**Fig. 7.5** Vehicles A–D represent the four drivers in one platoon. Drivers A and C drove with traffic light assistant. Drivers B and D did not receive recommendations. In the experiment, four orders were realised [23]

light intersections, whereby drivers without traffic light assistant benefit from drivers with system driving in front of them.

Certain conditions reduced the efficiency of the traffic light assistant (Fig. 7.6a). Drivers were less compliant to the recommendations of the system when driving in the front positions of the platoon, resulting into a higher likelihood for a stop at a red light. The influence of the position in the platoon was stronger, when the recommendations started further away from the traffic light. Beneficial effects of an early start of the recommendations at 400 m in front of the intersection were only realised when drivers were in the back positions of the platoon.

An explanation for the lower compliance in certain conditions could be seen in the drivers' emotional evaluation of the situations. Participants driving with traffic light assistant were instructed to pull a lever at the steering wheel when they felt they were bothering other road users. Fig. 7.6b shows the percentage of traffic light approaches with lever pulls of drivers with traffic light assistant in relation to the total number of traffic light approaches in each condition. The numbers were differentiated for the position in the platoon, the distance at which the HMI notification turned on, and the actual distance area in front of the intersection (i. e. if the lever pull occurred between 0–200 m in front of



**Fig. 7.6** a Deviation of real percentage of stops from predicted percentage of stops when considering full compliance to the traffic light assistant, differentiated for the notification distance and the positions in the platoon. **b** Percentage of traffic light approaches in which drivers pulled the lever to express that they felt they were bothering other road users, differentiated for the notification distance, the positions in the platoon and the actual distance section in front of the traffic light. The graphs show means with 95% confidence intervals

**Table 7.1** Proportion of approaches in which a driver pulled the lever when the directly leading vehicle also pulled the lever [%]. The pairs are described by the position of the lead vehicle with traffic light assistant (position 1, 2 or 3) and the position of the directly following driver without traffic light assistant (position 2, 3 or 4)

Notification distance	Pair 1/2	Pair 2/3	Pair 3/4
200	31.25	53.33	0.00
400	42.11	55.88	50.00

the intersection, or between 200–400 m in front of the intersection). The graph shows that drivers more often felt they were bothering other road users when driving in the front positions of the platoon compared to the fourth position. Lever pulls were related to system activation: When the system was activated 200 m in front of the intersection, hardly any drivers felt they were bothering others between 200 and 400 m in front of the intersection. Hence, with no following vehicle, or when there was no system activated, no drivers felt that they were bothering other road users.

The results raise the question if the drivers' feeling of bothering others was justified, i. e. if the other road users were actually annoyed. During the experiment, participants driving without traffic light assistant were instructed to pull the lever at the steering wheel whenever they felt annoyed by other road users. Table 7.1 shows the relation between traffic light approaches in which a driver with traffic light assistant pulled the lever and the approaches in which the directly following driver also pulled the lever. On average, in 38.76% of the traffic light approaches in which a driver with the directly following driver also pulled the lever. Hence, in many situations in which drivers believed they bothered others, the following driver actually was not annoyed by the lead vehicles behaviour.

#### 7.3.2.3 Conclusions

The compliance to the information presented by a recommending driver assistance system does not only depend on the HMI strategy in terms of display design, but also on the drivers' own perception of his current role in a platoon of vehicles. The driving simulator setting was realistic concerning the fact that no driver was aware of the presence or absence of systems in other vehicles. The results showed that in many situations in which drivers believe they bother others, they actually do not trigger anger in the following vehicle. Nevertheless, the feeling of bothering others might explain the lower compliance in certain driving situations. In future, informing other road users of the presence of a recommending system in other vehicles (e. g. by providing stickers at the trunk) could offer the possibility to communicate and explain deviations from expected or "normal" driving behaviour to other road users. In the end, this will increase the acceptance for other road users' behaviour in drivers without system and might increase comfort with sticking to the recommendations of the system in others equipped with the traffic light assistant. The information on the presence of the system in others could also increase the awareness of drivers who do not own the assistance system that they can benefit from following a lead vehicle with system.

Finally, the results will influence the design and parameterization of recommending assistance system. The system could avoid recommending certain driving behaviours in scenarios in which drivers feel uncomfortable by sticking to the recommendations. For example, the system should not recommend very low driving speeds at far distances to the intersection and a lower limit for given speed recommendations (e. g. 30 km/h for urban environments) should be considered. Like this, anger or frustration with the system can be avoided and drivers might be more willing to use the system in a larger number of situations, instead of turning it off for good due to low acceptance in specific situations.

#### 7.3.3 The Influence of Complex Traffic Conditions

The two studies reported in the previous chapters were conducted in controlled driving simulator environments. The evaluation of the HMI concept in real traffic conditions represents a crucial part of the development of the system. In real traffic conditions, the number of possible influences on driving behaviour is large and both, system and driver, might show different behaviour compared to controlled environmental conditions.

#### 7.3.3.1 Driving in Real Traffic

In the UR:BAN project, an intersection in Braunschweig, Germany was build up with research equipment and vehicle-to-infrastructure communication units. The four-way intersection shows a high level of complexity. There are multiple lanes in each of the four directions, allowing different numbers of lanes for turning left or right (Fig. 7.7). Additionally, the intersection is busy in terms of traffic density. During the testing reported in the following paragraphs, the traffic light sent information on the current traffic light phase, but did not include information on standing vehicles at the intersection.

An investigation in real traffic took place with four participants approaching the traffic light overall 28 times between 11 am and 3 pm of a weekday in May 2015. The instruction to the drivers was to approach the intersection while sticking to the recommendations of the traffic light assistant presented in the cluster display.

During the traffic light approaches, there was a major influence of the complex traffic conditions on the scenarios experienced by the participants. The likelihood for a stop at the intersection was very high, because of the missing information on the queue length of vehicles at the intersection and the high traffic density. In only 3% of the traffic light approaches, the participants were able to follow successfully the recommendations for a green light. Additionally, the chances for standardisation and reproduction of conditions within and between participants were low. Each traffic light approach took place under a different combination of traffic (e.g. length of the queue of vehicles ahead, vehicles turning, vehicles changing lanes) and traffic light phases, which resulted in subjective



**Fig.7.7** The Braunschweig research intersection rebuild in the data base editor of the driving simulator software SILAB of WIVW GmbH with objects representing the infrastructure elements of the real intersection

evaluations of the system and driving behaviour that could not be interpreted in a meaningful way.

Following the observations in real traffic, a study design was developed that allowed to test the influence of complex traffic conditions in a standardised way [24].

#### 7.3.3.2 Complex Traffic Conditions in the Driving Simulator

The Braunschweig intersection was re-build in the data base editor of the driving simulator software SILAB of the WIVW GmbH. The simulation contained a rebuild of the exact number of lanes, the position of buildings and trees and the position of the traffic lights. Additionally, the original vehicle application for the traffic light assistant was implemented. The system was able to process information on the queue of standing vehicles at the intersection. Hence, in cases with standing vehicles at the intersection, the increasing distance of the virtual stop line to the intersection was considered in the recommendations of the system. The system did not include information on driving vehicles around the intersection area (Fig. 7.8).

The experimental design of the driving simulator study was driven by the complexity of the road environment and the natural limitations of the function (information on standing but not on driving vehicles). There were different lead vehicle conditions, with either no lead vehicle, driving lead vehicles, or standing lead vehicles at the intersection (Fig. 7.9). The traffic light was either red or green. Additionally, the likelihood for driving through the green light was varied. From the test drives in real traffic, the expectation was that the



**Fig. 7.8** Schematic depiction of a traffic light approach with a queue of three vehicles. A line up of vehicles leads to a virtual shift of the stop line. The algorithm considers assumptions on the duration for the reduction of the queue

likelihood for an arrival at red would influence the driver's perception of the traffic light assistant. Hence, a third of the participants experienced a 25% likelihood for reaching the light at red (i. e. more often caught a green light), another third of the participants experienced a 50% likelihood for stopping at a red light and a last third experienced a stop at the intersection in 75% of the traffic light approaches. Resulting from the combination of the lead vehicle and traffic light conditions and one repetition of each condition, drivers approached the intersection in the simulated environment 12 times with traffic light assistant, in addition to a baseline drive without traffic light assistant. Overall, 36 participants took part in the study that was conducted in a static driving simulator. Subjective evaluations and fuel consumption were investigated considering 12 traffic light approaches in total, which allows conclusions on the variation of the likelihood for arrival at a red light.



Fig. 7.9 Picture of the Braunschweig intersection with a standing lead vehicle in the SILAB driving simulator at WIVW GmbH

The analysis of individual traffic light approaches allowed investigating the influence of the traffic light phase at arrival and the lead vehicle conditions.

After driving through the whole test track with the traffic light assistant, drivers were asked about the helpfulness of the system overall. They answered on a verbal-numeric scale from 0 (not helpful at all) to 15 (very helpful). Fig. 7.10a shows that the agreement to the question was medium to low. There was an influence of the likelihood for arrival at a red light: When drivers frequently stopped at a red light, they rated the helpfulness of the system as low. In addition to the overall evaluation after the whole test drive, the experimenter asked for an evaluation of the system after each traffic light approach ("How helpful was the system in the current situation?"; Fig. 7.10b). The presence of lead vehicles had a significant influence on drivers' evaluations of the system. Without lead vehicle, the system was most helpful. Helpfulness was lower with standing vehicles and decreased further with driving vehicles at the intersection. With no lead vehicles and standing vehicles, the system was rated as more helpful when drivers reached the intersection at a green light compared to the conditions in which they had to stop at a red light. In the condition with driving lead vehicles, there was no influence of the traffic light phase at arrival.

During the tests, the experimenter collected open comments about the reasons for the numeric helpfulness evaluation. The categorization and frequencies for comments are depicted in Fig. 7.11. In conditions with driving lead vehicles, there was a large number of comments relating to other road users (e.g. "Even though there is a lead vehicle, the system recommends a high speed"). Hence, the low evaluations of helpfulness in lead vehicle conditions was actually related to the presence of the driving lead vehicle. With red traffic lights, there was a large number of comments relating to the benefit of driving with the system. Two examples for comments from that category are "Without assistance, I would



**Fig. 7.10** Helpfulness evaluation differentiated for the likelihood for an arrival at red during the whole experiment (**a**) and for the lead vehicle and traffic light phase conditions averaged over individual traffic light approaches (**b**). The graphs show means with 95% confidence intervals



**Fig. 7.11** Categorized number of comments stated by participants after each traffic light approach. Note that the same statements were categorised according to the lead vehicle conditions ( $\mathbf{a}$ ) and the traffic light conditions ( $\mathbf{b}$ )

have driven exactly the same" and "The display did not show anything wrong, but I still had to stop at the intersection". Interestingly, only one single driver in a single situation commented that "it is not the systems fault if lead vehicles brake" (orange category). As a conclusion, even though drivers experienced that their driving behaviour was disturbed


**Fig. 7.12** Percentage of improvements in fuel consumption when driving with traffic light assistant compared to driving without traffic light assistant differentiated for the likelihood for an arrival at red during the whole experiment (**a**) and for the lead vehicle and traffic light conditions averaged over individual traffic light approaches (**b**). The graphs show means with 95% confidence intervals

in some situations by lead vehicles, their expectation was that the system considers the presence of lead vehicles in its recommendations.

Finally, the objective benefits of driving with the system were evaluated in terms of fuel consumption. Therefore, the SILAB driving simulator consumption model recorded fuel consumption. Fig. 7.12 shows the improvements of fuel consumption in the test runs compared to the baseline condition in percentages. Positive values indicate the percentage of improvements in fuel consumption (i. e. less fuel consumption when driving with compared to without system), negative values indicate deterioration of fuel consumption (i. e. more fuel consumption when driving with compared to without system). Again, the data were analysed based on all traffic light approaches during the whole experiment, and based on a comparison of individual traffic light approaches with different traffic conditions. In general, driving with the traffic light approaches. There were no significant differences between any of the conditions. Fuel savings were achieved even in conditions in which drivers evaluated the system as not very helpful.

#### 7.3.3.3 Conclusions

First, from the investigation of the influence of complex traffic on acceptance and efficiency of a traffic light assistant, a methodological conclusion can be drawn. The complex conditions that were observed in the real traffic were successfully varied in the driving simulator setting. The original traffic light assistance system recommended instructions based on the participants driving behaviour. Therefore, the dynamics of the system were mirrored in the virtual reality, but controlled variations for lead vehicle and traffic light phasing allowed for clear interpretation of results. Second, the system led to improvements of efficiency in terms of fuel consumption. With traffic light assistant, drivers consumed less fuel compared to driving without the assistant. Third, the traffic conditions influenced how drivers experienced and evaluated the traffic light assistant. Limitations in the ability to stick to the recommendations were not attributed to the traffic conditions (e. g. a standing lead vehicle), but to the system itself. Drivers expected that in situations in which they could see the lead vehicles, the system should consider these traffic conditions. Additionally, an increasing likelihood for the arrival at red decreased the acceptance for the system. Even though the case of arrival at red is considered as a use case (and in fact leads to improvements in efficiency when following the system instructions), drivers see the traffic light assistant as a support for crossing the green light rather than as a support for an efficient approach to a red light.

Finally, the exact information on the traffic conditions in terms of surrounding vehicles and tailgating at the intersection are essential to be considered by the traffic light assistant. This could be realised by the integration of information from different sensor systems (on board sensors, sensors at the traffic light itself, Vehicle-to-X communication). Consequently, the efficiency and the acceptance for the system will improve. Emphasizing the benefits of the system to drivers (in particular for red light approaches) might improve the willingness to use the system.

#### 7.3.4 Summary

The research presented in this section demonstrated an example for the development of an HMI concept for a recommending driver assistance system. The choice of the HMI component and the design for the presented contents was presented, along with evaluation criteria for the selection of the most appropriate concept. For the traffic light assistant, drivers subjectively desired information on the traffic light phasing, while specific recommendations of actions and driving speed improved their driving performance. The traffic light phase information was desired because it offers dynamic status information about the infrastructure that the drivers cannot perceive or deduct themselves.

The complex urban traffic conditions while using the traffic light assistant are crucial for driver's attention for the recommendations, the ability, and the willingness to follow the recommendations. Depending on the technical capabilities of the system, the system might consider other vehicles (e. g. by detection through on-board sensors), the road geometry (e. g. provided by map data), or the infrastructure elements (e. g. provided by Vehicle-to-X communication). Still, due to the complexity and dynamics of urban traffic, there are limitations to the correct representation of the real traffic conditions in the system. Even though these limitations seem obvious from a technical perspective, the studies showed that drivers experienced the provided information as incorrect because they were not able

to follow or did not feel comfortable with the recommendations. The information did not match their own perception of the traffic conditions.

The advantage of recommending assistance systems in comparison to regulating systems is that the driver is the control unit who integrates all relevant information available from the system and the environment at any time. While in regulating systems, the system support ends with driver interference, recommending systems offer the opportunity for the continuous recommendation of beneficial behaviours. The system provides the dynamically changing information and the driver decides if in the current situation the recommended behaviour makes sense (e.g. in terms of limitations in traffic) and feels comfortable (e.g. in terms of bothering other road users). This might also be the reason for the subjective preference of traffic light phase information in the display, which allows the drivers an improved interpretation of the traffic situation while concluding self-paced the modification of their own driving behaviour. As a consequence, future research needs to investigate how more information on the actual benefits of using the system in various situations and on how the system actually integrates the available information, along with explanations about the influence of sticking to the recommendations on other road users could increase the acceptance and the willingness to use the system.

## 7.4 Generic, Integrative HMI Concept for Multiple ADAS (Technical University of Munich)

In the future, full use of advanced driving assistance systems will shift from highways and freeways to urban areas. This additional ADAS use case may require communication of additional information and warnings to the driver. Urban areas themselves are characterised by much greater complexity for different reasons such as a variety of different road users or greater information density (Chap. 1).

The solution for this might be a more generic, integrative HMI concept using a multimodal approach for recommending driver assistance systems. New technologies for in-vehicle components such as the head-up display (HUD), a programmable instrument cluster (head-down display, HDD), or a force feedback pedal will also change the way information is presented to the driver. Consequently, a new HMI concept needs to be iteratively developed and evaluated.

Defining the terms "integrative" and "generic" may help to understand the aim of this new concept. While older HMI design concepts are characterised by single solutions for every component and every single driver assistance system, an integrative approach was taken here to ensure the fewest possible information redundancies as well as action-oriented strategies featuring very little effort decoding the given information. The generic idea also combines similar ADAS with related actions in a way that the driver does not necessarily know where the information comes from but does know what to do in a specific scenario. This solution provides the expandability and flexibility to add new driver assistance systems later in the final concept. The overall concept, developed and evaluated by the Institute of Ergonomics in the "Human-Machine-Interaction" subproject, can be found in the HMI tool kit's path "Recommended action" (see Fig. 7.13) (cf. Chap. 4). It consists of two visual and one haptic component augmented by the auditory channel for very critical warnings and navigation commands. The benefit of using different modalities derives from the multiple-resource theory [25], which states that stimuli of various modalities are processed faster than just single stimuli of the same modality. The head-up display and the instrument cluster were therefore chosen as visual components. Additionally, the force feedback pedal (FFP) represents the haptic component. These components all have several advantages (as stated earlier in the design guidelines) and disadvantages and impose qualitative and quantitative requirements [26]. For example, while information presented in the HUD allows much shorter reaction times [27], information can be much more detailed in the instrument cluster [26]. Furthermore, the FFP allows information to be presented where the driver needs to react [28] while keeping his eyes on the road.

In total, five different studies were conducted. Experiment 1 (Sect. 7.4.1) started with a literature search for the aforementioned components as well as with a specification of different information and warning strategies. In the experiment itself, the head-up and head-down display were compared in the respective categories. An initial concept was subsequently created and implemented with the information gathered for Experiment 2 (Sect. 7.4.2) in a static driving simulator. The aim of this initial study of the overall concept was to evaluate different ADAS and the way to present them to the driver in an urban setting.

The increasing number of different ADAS occasioned an additional study comparing two different ways of presenting information in a head-up display, which was conducted in Experiment 3 (Sect. 7.4.3). The results should help promote a more user-centred, action-oriented presentation of information.



Fig. 7.13 Scheme of this specific HMI concept for the "Recommended action" HMI strategy

On the basis of those first three studies, an upgraded version of the HMI concept was implemented and evaluated in two different parts of Experiment 4 (Sect. 7.4.4) testing either longitudinal or lateral driver assistance systems alone. As a final experiment (Sect. 7.4.5), with input from all of prior studies, the final concept was tested and compared to a purely iconic approach – again in a static driving simulator. This final study included both longitudinal and lateral driving assistance systems.

#### 7.4.1 Experiment 1: Head-up vs. Head-down Display

The information from the ADAS for the driver can be categorised into five different types. The information in each category aims to trigger different driver reactions. Fig. 7.14 presents the five categories.

The study aimed to investigate which of these five types of information is most suited for head-up or head-down displays in terms of reaction time, level of disturbance, and workload. As the first step, this should define some general guidelines for the visual components [29].

The study was conducted in a static driving simulator with 180° front view. All participants had to perform a navigated driving task in an urban environment. Each operated either the head-up display or the head-down display. Different scenarios with the aforementioned information categories were used. The driver's workload was also measured using the standardised NASA-TLX questionnaire [30]. Furthermore, objective data was recorded to compare driving performance with both conditions in terms of reaction time, lane keeping, and speed violations.

The results show no significant difference except for a tendency to favour the headup display in terms of reaction times. Moreover, the distance to lane centre shows no significant difference either. However, the NASA-TLX reveals significantly less workload for the head-up display in the overall score (see Fig. 7.15). In detail, the physical effort,

Category	Description
Action directives/request	Concrete presentation of the required reaction e.g. demand to brake, navigation instructions
Situational information	Specific warning with indication of the type or location e.g. lane change warning
Attention control	General increase of attention or non-specific reference to risky situations e.g. warning tone
Conditional information	Representation of the vehicle state e.g. display of availability or indication
Detailed information	Numerical values or text content e.g. speedometer

Fig. 7.14 Categorisation of the content of information given with a warning/information [26]



**Fig. 7.15** The overall NASA-TLX score for the global task load index with the average of all six categories (**a**) and the score for each category in particular (**b**) [29]

frustration, and subjective performance are significant less. In the subjective questionnaire, participants significantly preferred the HUD to the HDD regarding the level of disturbance caused by status and indication symbols.

In conclusion, the head-up display is preferred for time critical, dynamic, and direct driving-related information while the head-down display can display non-critical, proactive, and other information in much greater detail. Götze and Bengler [29] provide all the results in detail.

### 7.4.2 Experiment 2: First Draft of the Overall HMI Concept

An initial draft of an overall generic, integrative HMI concept was developed after evaluating the different information and warning strategies. The force feedback pedal is henceforth included as a haptic component. A clustered HMI design concept for the head-up display was chosen (Fig. 7.16) in consequence of the literature research [26] and the first study's results [29].



**Fig. 7.16** Cluster of the head-up display in the coloured version (**a**) and monochrome version (**b**) [31]

The information presented in the three clusters is divided into different categories. All of the speed-relevant information such as current speed and speed limit is presented on the left. The centre cluster is used for navigation instructions. The last category includes all of the ADAS information for the driver.

This method helps the driver to locate relevant information much more quickly. The head-down dis-play (or instrument cluster) presents non-time-critical and driving-relevant information. All of that information is displayed between the two gauges, which are left untouched. Finally, the force feedback pedal transmits an adjustable pressure threshold (speed maintenance) or a noticeable counter-pressure (speed reduction) [32]. Neither visual nor haptic information was displayed to the driver without an active ADAS.

As a first approach with the overall HMI concept, assistance systems were implemented only in the longitudinal direction. These comprised a speed assistant using the FFP's haptic feedback to help the driver maintain the legal speed limit, speed-sign icons in the HUD and HDD, and a traffic-light assistant to reduce possible downtimes when approaching a traffic light. A vehicle-distance assistant was implemented to help when following a leading vehicle.

The study's procedure was similar to that for the initial study. Participants completed two urban driving tasks: one with the HMI concept and one without any ADAS information. Objective and subjective data was recorded once again. The results showed no significant workload difference between the two concepts using the NASA-TLX score. That means displaying all that additional visual and haptic information does not create further distraction. Furthermore, significantly more speed violations exceeding 5 km/h happen without the system (cf. Fig. 7.17b).

The traffic-light assistant resulted in significantly less loss of speed when approaching a traffic light using the HMI concept (see Fig. 7.17a). Unfortunately, participants did not



**Fig. 7.17** Average speed while approaching the traffic light (with speed range of all participants) (**a**) and Velocity curve of all participants using either the speed assistant or no ADAS in an area with speed limit. The graph shows the average speed of all participants with active speed assistant (*blue*) and without (*baseline; red*) (**b**) [31]

like the vehicle-distance assistant, because some preferred larger and others smaller gaps. An adjustable version might solve this problem.

In sum, the force feedback pedal has great potential for providing speed-related information without demanding the driver's visual attention. Participants reported that the instrument cluster became unnecessary since they preferred the HUD and FFP for obtaining all of the important information and warnings. As a next step before adding more ADAS to the overall HMI design concept, a new generic way of presenting information in the HUD should be considered because of the limited space for displaying information.

### 7.4.3 Experiment 3: Generic Head-up Display vs. Cluster Design

The way information is presented in head-up displays needs to change due to the increasing number of ADAS available in the vehicle. While some years back most cars displayed only the current speed, traffic signs, and cruise-control information in the headup display, there is now a lot more available such as traffic-light assistance, assistance for intersections, or narrow-space assistance. The new design concept needs to be more action-oriented, generic, and driver-focused. The idea is to present the necessary information in the centre of the head-up display with less important information at the periphery.

The new concept was compared to a well-known cluster-design concept [33] used in current vehicles. The study was conducted in a BMW X5 test vehicle with a series-type head-up display  $(480 \times 240 \text{ px})$  with the colours red, yellow, and green. The vehicle was positioned in front of a protection screen (see Fig. 7.18). Participants completed a choice reaction time task (CRT) [34] and an occlusion task [35–37] using a joystick and a key pad.

During the CRT task, participants had to react to different stimuli. Reaction time and accuracy were recorded. For the occlusion task, different kinds of questions needed to be answered; only accuracy was recorded. Additionally, the Post Study System Usability



**Fig. 7.18** Framework of the study showing the different (virtual) distances between the driver, the vehicle, head-up display and projection screen [38]

Questionnaire (PSSUQ) [39, 40] was used to measure the usability of the different HMI concepts and as an open questionnaire.

Thirty participants took part in the study [38]. Results showed significantly better reaction times for the new generic HMI concept (using the CRT task). No significant accuracy difference was found in either experimental part. The PSSUQ showed a tendency to significance for the clustered HMI design. Participants also commented that the cluster design felt tidier and cleaner, but the objective data contradicted them.

In summary, both concepts have advantages and disadvantages. A combined solution could offer the benefits of both design concepts for a new and better HMI for urban driving. The answer might be a clustered design with efficient classification into speed-related, navigation, and ADAS information presented in a generic, integrated way in the middle of the HUD.

## 7.4.4 Experiment 4: Overall HMI Concept in Longitudinal or Lateral Recommendations

With the lessons learned from studies 2 and 3, a revised version of the overall HMI concept was developed and implemented in a simulation environment. While the initial study took only ADAS in longitudinal direction into account, this experiment added an experimental part with assistance systems in the lateral direction. Participants drove either way in an independent sample.

Fig. 7.19 shows the final concept. The upper part represents the head-up display; the lower part shows the instrument cluster. The force feedback pedal was included as in the initial study. Traffic sign, traffic light, and speed assistants were implemented for the



Fig. 7.19 The final concept with the head-up design (top) and the instrument cluster design (bottom)



**Fig. 7.20** The SUS score of 78 for both parts of the experiment with a rating between "good" and "excellent" for the overall HMI design concept

longitudinal part. The lateral experimental part included a traffic-sign assistant and a speed assistant as in the longitudinal part in addition to lane-keeping, lane-change, overtake, intersection, and narrow-space assistants.

Each of the parts was compared to a simple setup lacking HUD, force feedback pedal, and active ADAS. Objective data was again recorded to measure speed trends, time-to-collision in front of traffic lights, and reaction times. Further, the system usability scale (SUS) [41] rated the HMI concept's subjective benefits.

The results showed significantly fewer speed violations in both parts compared to no HMI concept as in the initial studies. Similar results were found for downtimes in front of traffic lights: significantly less waiting time and fewer speed fluctuations while approaching traffic lights. The lane-keeping assistant had no effect since it just informed the driver when leaving the lane and most drivers preferred driving nearer the centre of the street (not lane) when oncoming traffic was absent.

The information that the intersection assistant gave helped to avert significantly more collisions without actively assisting the driver. Furthermore, the narrow-space assistant significantly reduced entry speed. Both experimental parts show no significant workload difference compared to the part without the HMI. This indicates that the generic HMI concept's assistance for the driving task compensated for the additional visual load. Finally, the overall SUS score was 78 (Fig. 7.20) – the same for both parts, which is between excellent and good according to [42].

#### 7.4.5 Experiment 5: The Generic, Integrated HMI Design Concept

The aim of the last study [43] was to evaluate the final HMI concept in an experiment with both lateral and longitudinal ADAS. The generic way of presenting the recommending information to the driver was not expected to cause a significantly greater workload compared to a very simple, purely visual HMI design consisting of icons (with no haptic feedback). Additionally, a prioritization strategy was developed to decide which informa-

tion is more important in certain urban scenarios if several ADASs are simultaneously active.

The study was repeated in a 180° static driving simulator featuring an urban environment in which the final HMI design and the iconic HMI design were implemented. The experimental setup consisted of two very similar 15 min urban tracks with each of the aforementioned HMI designs. The head-up display, the instrument cluster, and force feedback pedal were used as in the prior studies. The speed and velocity profile, position data and distances, and TTC data were recorded for the test evaluation. Further, the NASA-TLX measured subjective workload, the SUS score rated usability, and an unrestricted questionnaire compared different subjective evaluations.

Thirty healthy volunteers with an average age of 25 years (SD = 4 years) participated in this study. Significant speed-violation differences favouring the generic design were found on both tracks (see Table 7.2). Track 1 showed about 4.1% speed violations for the iconic design compared to only 1.1% for the generic design. The difference on the second track was even higher with 9.2% excessive speed for the iconic concept and 2.3% for the generic HMI design. In addition to the significantly fewer speed violations, the variation in speed was much steadier and predictable, which yields even further advantages for efficient, proactive driving (Fig. 7.21).

This time, no significant differences were found for downtimes, TTC, or velocity variations when approaching a traffic light. There was a trend but no statistically relevant results. One of the reasons could be the identical timing of the given visual information in the head-up display and instrument cluster for both HMI concepts just with different graphics and icons. The subjective results for this ADAS implementation showed participants reporting significantly less information from the iconic design than from the generic one while yielding almost similar objective results. The narrow-space assistant produced the same results with no objective differences but subjective preference for the generic version.

The biggest difference between the two HMI designs for the intersection assistant is the localization of possible risk in the generic version while the iconic system just warns in general. The subjective results showed that this localization helped the driver to see the danger significantly earlier, with significantly less workload and significantly more awareness of other events occurring at the intersection.

	Track 1		Track 2	
	Iconic	Generic	Iconic	Generic
Mean	4.13%	1.13%	9.20%	2.27%
SD	4.34%	1.55%	6.14%	2.43%
Significance	U = -2.61;	p=0.009	U = -3.52;	p<0.001

**Table 7.2** Speed violations for both tracks with the iconic design concept and the generic design concept. Both with significant less violations using the generic version



**Fig. 7.21** Variation in speed passing a speed limit sign and an intersection with the iconic HMI design (*red*) and the generic design concept (*blue*)

Both concepts showed similar workload results for the NASA-TLX score. This is interesting because the generic HMI design gives a lot more specific information, which participants evaluated as significantly better. Furthermore, the overall SUS score was 72 for the iconic concept and 76 for the generic HMI design. Again, while the generic HMI falls between good and excellent and the iconic one is at the top end between OK and good, the difference is too small to show a significant advantage.

In sum, the new generic HMI concept exhibits the advantages of giving the driver detailed information without increasing workload or distraction. On the other hand, participants rated the iconic design significantly worse regarding information detail and ease of decoding. Moreover, the objective data showed significant advantages for the generic version particularly regarding speed- and velocity-related data. This can be transferred to more efficient and proactive driving. Altogether, the new concept fulfils the three main objectives of the UR:BAN project: safer, more efficient, lower stress driving in urban areas.

#### 7.4.6 Key Messages for the Head-up Display and Force Feedback Pedal

The aforementioned studies in the project yielded a lot of interesting information and revealed the ad-vantages of different HMI in-vehicle components. This summary will help to provide an overview of the most important characteristics of the head-up display and force feedback pedal in urban scenarios. The key messages for both components regard general recommendations about "what" information should be displayed and, equally importantly, about "how" this information should be displayed to the driver. Fig. 7.22 gives a short but comprehensive overview of those findings.

#### Head-Up Display

#### General

- Information about current system state
- Optimal routing information
- Immediate driving-relevant information
- Time-critical information

#### Design

- Cluster design to organize information
- Pops with icons and less text
- Can be redundant to IC information, but with lower level of detail

#### **Force Feedback Pedal**

#### General

- Continuous information about route optimization
- Speed related information
- Especially for efficient driving with less stress/workload

<u>Design</u>

- Use for recommending information only
- Counter-pressure (lower current speed)
- Actuation point (keep current speed)

Fig. 7.22 General and design recommendations for the HMI components head-up display and the force feedback pedal

## References

- 1. Rittger, L.: Driving Behaviour and Driver Assistance at Traffic Light Intersections. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Wuerzburg, Germany (2015)
- Michon, J.A.: A critical view of driver behavior models: What do we know, what should we do. In: Evans, L., Schwing, R.C. (eds.) Human behavior and traffic safety, pp. 485–520. Plenum Press, New York (1985)
- Tulusan, J., Soi, L., Paefgen, J., Brogle, M., Staake, T.: Eco-efficient feedback technologies: Which eco-feedback types prefer drivers most? Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on a World of Wirless, Mobile and Multimedia Networks (WOWMOM), Lucca., pp 1–8 (2011)
- Krause, M., Knott, V., Bengler, K.: Traffic Light Assistant Can take my eyes off of you. In: de Waard, D., Sauer, J., Röttger, S., Kluge, A., Manzey, D., Weikert, C., Toffetti, A., Wiczorek, R., Brookhuis, K., Hoonhout, J. (eds.) Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Europe Chapter 2013 Annual Conference, pp. 131–148. (2014). ISSN 233-4959 (online). Available from http://hfes-europe.org
- Kosch, T., Ehmanns, D.: Entwicklung von Kreuzungsassistenzsystemen und Funktionalitätserweiterungen durch den Einsatz von Kommunikationstechnologien. Proceedings of the 2. Tagung Aktive Sicherheit durch Fahrerassistenz, Munich. (2006)
- Thoma, S., Lindberg, T., Klinker, G.: Speed recommendations during traffic light approach: a comparison of different display concepts. In: de Waard, D., Flemisch, F., Lorenz, B., Oberheid, H., Brookhuis, K. (eds.) Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Europe Chapter Annual Meeting. Braunschweig (2007)
- Bär, T., Kohlhaas, R., Zollner, J.M., Scholl, K.U.: Anticipatory driving assistance for energy efficient driving. Proceedings of the 2011 IEEE Forum on Integrated and Sustainable Transportation Systems, Vienna (2011)
- Krause, M., Bengler, K.: Traffic Light Assistant Evaluation of Information Presentation. In: Salvendy, G., Karawowski, W. (eds.) Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics 2012 Proceedings of the 4th Ahfe Conference. pp. 6786–6795. San Francisco (2012)

- 9. Egeth, H.E., Mordkoff, J.T.: Redundancy gain revisited: Evidence for parallel processing of separable dimensions. In: Lochead, G.R., Pomerantz, J.R. (eds.) The perception of structure. American Psychological Association, Washington. D.C. (1991)
- 10. Kiesel, A., Miller, J., Ulrich, R.: Systematic biases and Type I error accumulation in tests of the race model inequality. Behav Res Methods **39**(3), 539–551 (2007)
- Raab, D.H.: Statistical facilitation of simple reaction times. Trans N Y Acad Sci 24(5 Series II), 574–590 (1962)
- 12. Wickens, C.D.: Multiple resources and mental workload. Hum Factors 50(3), 449–455 (2008)
- AAM: Statement of Principles, Criteria and Verification Procedures on Driver Interactions with Advanced In-Vehicle Information and Communication Systems. Driver Focus-Telematics Working Group (2006)
- ISO: Road vehicles Ergonomic aspects of transport information and control systems Dialogue management principles and compliance procedures (ISO 15005:2002) (2002)
- Cao, Y., Mahr, A., Castronovo, S., Theune, M., Stahl, C., Müller, C.A.: Local danger warnings for drivers: The effect of modality and level of assistance on driver reaction. Proceedings of the 15th international conference on Intelligent user interfaces, Hong Kong. (2010)
- Popiv, D., Rommerskirchen, C., Rakic, M., Duschl, M., Bengler, K.: Effects of assistance of anticipatory driving on driver's behaviour during deceleration phases. Proceedings of the 2nd European Conference on Human Centred Design of Intelligent Transport systems (HUMANIST '10), Berlin., pp 133–143 (2010)
- Sanchez, M., Cano, J.-C., Kim, D.: Predicting traffic lights to improve urban traffic fuel consumption. proceedings of the 6th International Conference on ITS Telecommunications, Chengdu. (2006) doi:10.1109/ITST.2006.288731
- Wu, C., Zhao, G., Ou, B.: A fuel economy optimization system with applications in vehicles with human drivers and autonomous vehicles. Transportation Res Part D: Transport Environ 16(7), 515–524 (2011)
- Maag, C.: Emerging Phenomena During Driving Interactions. In: Mitleton-Kelly, E. (ed.) Coevolution of Intelligent Socio-technical Systems. Springer, Heidelberg Berlin (2013)
- Liu, B.S.: Association of intersection approach speed with driver characteristics, vehicle type and traffic conditions comparing urban and suburban. Accid Analysis Prev (2006). doi:10.1016/j.aap.2006.07.005
- Muehlbacher, D., Rittger, L., Maag, C.: Real vs. Simulated Does it matter? In: Kenneny, A., Mérienne, F. (eds.) Proceedings of the Driving Simulation Conference Europe 2014, pp. 22.21– 22.25, Actes, Paris, France (2014)
- Rittger, L., Muehlbacher, D., Kiesel, A.: Compliance to a traffic light assistant: The influence of surrounding traffic and system parameters. Paper presented at the 30. VDI/VW Gemeinschaftstagung Fahrerassistenzsysteme und integrierte Sicherheit, Wolfsburg. pp 91–99 (2014)
- Rittger, L., Muehlbacher, D., Maag, C., Kiesel, A.: Anger and bother experience when driving with a traffic light assistant: A multi-driver simulator study. In: de Waard, D., Sauer, J., Röttger, S., Kluge, A., Manzey, D., Weikert, C., Toffetti, A., Wiczorek, R., Brookhuis, K., Hoonhout, J. (eds.) Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Europe Chapter 2013 Annual Conference, pp. 41–51. (2015). ISSN 233-4959 (online). Available from http://hfes-europe.org
- Rittger, L., Eberle, U.: Herausforderungen verkehrlicher Bedingungen f
  ür die Umsetzung eines Ampelassistenten und die experimentelle Untersuchung der Auswirkungen auf die Fahrerakzeptanz. UR:BAN Konferenz, Garching. (2016)
- 25. Wickens, C.D.: Engineering psychology and human performance, 2nd edn. HarperCollins Publishers, New York (1992)
- Götze, M., Bißbort, F., Petermann-Stock, I., Bengler, K.: "A Careful Driver is One Who Looks in Both Directions When He Passes a Red Light" – Increased Demands in Urban Traffic. In:

Hutchison, D. (ed.) Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Human Interface and the Management of Information. Information and Knowledge in Applications and Services, pp. 229–240. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2014)

- Wittmann, M., Kiss, M., Gugg, P., Steffen, A., Fink, M., Pöppel, E., Kamiya, H.: Effects of display position of a visual in-vehicle task on simulated driving. Appl Ergon 37, 187–199 (2006)
- Zell, A., Leone, C., Arcati, A., Schmitt, G.: Aktives Gaspedal als Schnittstelle zum Fahrer. In: Automobiltechnische Zeitschrift (pp. 276–279) (2010)
- Götze, M., Bengler, K.: Urban Driving: Where to Present What Types of Information Comparison of Head-Down and Head-Up Displays. In: Yamamoto, S. (ed.) Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Human Interface and the Management of Information. Information and Knowledge in Context, pp. 190–200. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2015)
- Hart, S.G., Staveland, L.: Development of NASA-TLX (Task Load Index): Results of empirical and theoretical research. In: Hancock, P.A., Meshkati, N. (eds.) Human mental workload, pp. 139–183. Elsevier, Amsterdam (1988)
- Götze, M., Ruff, F., Bengler, K.: Optimal Information Output in Urban Traffic Scenarios: An Evaluation of Different HMI Concepts. Procedia Manuf 3, 739–746 (2015)
- 32. Lange, C., Arcati, A., Bubb, H., Bengler, K.: Haptic Gear Shifting Indication: Naturalistic Driving Study for Parametrization, Selection of Variants and to Determine the Potential for Fuel Consumption Reduction. Proceedings 3rd Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics (AHFE) International Conference, Miami, July 2010 (2010)
- Breisinger, M.: Anzeigekonzept f
  ür Head-Up Displays im Automotive Bereich [HMI Concepts for Head-Up Displays in the Automotive Sector]. Diploma thesis, Ludwig-Maximilians Universit
  ät. Munich, Germany: Department Institute for Informatics (2007)
- Der, G., Deary, I.J.: Age and sex differences in reaction time in adulthood: Results from the United Kingdom Health and Lifestyle Survey. Psychol Aging 21, 62–73 (2006)
- Baumann, M., Keinath, A., Krems, J.F., Bengler, K.: Evaluation of invehicle HMI using occlusion techniques: experimental results and practical implications. Appl Ergon 35, 197–205 (2004)
- Gelau, C., Krems, J.F., Henning, M.J.: On the realiability of the occlusion technique as a tool for the assessment of the HMI of in-vehicle information and communication systems. Appl Ergon 40, 181–184 (2009)
- 37. van der Horst, R.: Occlusion as a measure for visual workload: an overview of TNO occlusion research in car driving. Appl Ergon **35**, 189–196 (2004)
- 38. Götze, M., Schweiger, C., Eisner, J., Bengler, K.: Comparison of an old and a new Head-Up Display design concept for urban driving. In: de Waard, D., Brookhuis, K.A., Toffetti, A., Stuiver, A., Weikert, C., Coelho, D., Manzey, D., Ünal, A.B., Röttger, S., Merat, N. (eds.) Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Europe Chapter 2015 Annual Conference (2016). ISSN 2333–4959 (online). Available from http://hfeseurope.org
- Lewis, J.R.: Psychometric Evaluation of the Post-Study System Usability Questionnaire: The PSSUQ. Proc Hum Factors Ergonomics Soc Annu Meet 36, 1259–1263 (1992)
- Lewis, J.R.: Psychometric Evaluation of the PSSUQ Using Data from Five Years of Usability Studies. Int J Hum Comput Interact 14, 463–488 (2002)
- Brooke, J.: SUS-A quick and dirty usability scale. In: Jordam, P.W., Thomas, B., McClel-land, L.M., Weerdemeester, B. (eds.) Usability evaluation in industry, pp. 189–195. Tayler & Francis, London. (1996)
- 42. Bangor, A., Kortum, P., Miller, J.: Determining What Individual SUS Scores Mean: Adding an Adjective Rating Scale. J Usability Stud **4**(3), 114–123 (2009)
- Götze, M.: Development and Evaluation of an Integrated HMI Concept for Recommending ADAS for Urban Area Scenarios. Doctoral Dissertation, Technical University of Munich, Germany (in press)

## Part IV

# **Behaviour Prediction and Intention Detection**

## Behaviour Prediction and Intention Detection in UR:BAN VIE – Overview and Introduction

8

**Dietrich Manstetten** 

## 8.1 Introduction

Driver assistance and traffic systems have an enormous potential to improve road safety by targeted support of the human user (in this case the driver) in overly demanding or hazardous situations. To realise this potential and to achieve driver compliance, the systems need to act in accordance with the driver's own driving intentions and not at crosspurposes. This requirement is particularly important in urban traffic, due to its great complexity, diversity of situations and options for driver response; the limiting factor is usually the time budget for decisions, which is generally smaller than in freeway traffic and must be used as effectively as possible. If the intervention strategy of a vehicle system clashes with the intentions and actions of the driver, the resulting ambiguous situation could lead to delays, missing the window of opportunity for mitigating a traffic conflict. Hence, inferring the driver's intentions and predicting his response to a hazardous situation as early as possible are of central importance for coordinated driver assistance; intention inference and behaviour prediction should be adapted to the individual driver and the situation.

The central aims of the UR:BAN sub-project VIE (VIE is a German acronym for "Verhaltensprädiktion und IntentionsErkennung", i. e. "Behaviour Prediction and Intention Detection") were:

- Systematic detection of driver intentions in urban areas on a manoeuvre and navigation level,
- prediction of his behaviour for a following manoeuvre (e.g. lane changing, turning),
- demonstration of real-time modules for driver intention inference and behaviour prediction in project test vehicles,

Renningen, Germany

© Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

D. Manstetten (🖂)

Corporate Sector Research and Advance Engineering - Human-Machine Interaction, Robert Bosch GmbH

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_8

- integration of the modules into the corresponding applications of the UR:BAN project "Cognitive Assistance",
- assessment of effectiveness for the overall goal of "user-friendly, safe, and anticipatory driving in urban areas".

An overview of these objectives and their consideration in the framework of the UR:BAN MV project was given in [1].

This introductory chapter on the "Behaviour Prediction and Intention Detection" part is organized as follows. It starts with a brief description of the main working steps, which were carried out in UR:BAN VIE in order to achieve the objectives. It will then summarize the main results of the project and interpret them in the context of future needs in direction of automated driving. In a final section the structure and topics of the following chapters presenting more detailed results will be addressed.

### 8.2 Working Steps in UR:BAN VIE

#### 8.2.1 Literature Overview on Driver Intention

As a first working step a detailed literature review was carried out in order to capture and organize the existing research dealing with the topic of driver intention (UR:BAN VIE Report, [2]). The review was oriented according to several guiding questions, e.g.

- How to define driver intention?
- Which driving manoeuvres have been considered?
- Which measurement parameters have been used to detect driver intentions?
- How have the data been analysed, e.g. machine learning methods?
- What is the benefit of driver intention detection?
- Which models are well-suited to describe driver actions and intentions?
- Which future research need can be identified?

Some of the most relevant literature sources identified were [3–8]. It should be added that recently a good comprehensive overview to the topic appeared in [9].

#### 8.2.2 Specification on Relevant Driving Scenarios

The requirements for the algorithms on behaviour prediction and intention detection to be developed in VIE were described in form of scenarios (UR:BAN VIE Report, [10]). As an elementary part of the scenarios the concept of driving manoeuvres was used. VIE concentrated on eight of the ten manoeuvres as defined in [11], ignoring only the 'Overtake'



Fig. 8.1 Manoeuvres used in UR:BAN VIE. (Photographs UR:BAN VIE, Fraunhofer IAO)

manoeuvre and the 'Slow Navigation & Parking' manoeuvre, as those were outside the scope of UR:BAN. Fig. 8.1 shows the eight base manoeuvres used in VIE.

The description of the scenarios for VIE used the methodology of the sub-project UF, with some enhancements for the driver intentions and the phases of the driving manoeuvre. Overall, the scenarios in VIE concentrated on lane changes, intersections, approach & follow scenarios, and emergency braking & evading situations.

## 8.2.3 Data Collection

Data representing the specified scenarios were essential in order to develop the algorithms for diver intention detection. Most of the empirical studies performed in VIE were conducted in real traffic (see Fig. 8.2), some as well on a test track or in a driving simulator. Overall, more than 400 subjects participated in the studies, driving more than 15.000 kilometers. All studies have been documented in a joint report of the project partners (UR:BAN VIE Report, [12]), concentrating on the following aspects



Fig. 8.2 Data collection in specific scenarios with equipped vehicles. (Photographs UR:BAN VIE, TU Chemnitz/Bosch)

- Overview, including the main objective of the study,
- boundary conditions, mainly description of the environment and course, as well as temporary conditions,
- subjects, including criteria for selection and demographic overview of the participants,
- measurement equipment, e.g. vehicle parameters, eye tracking system, questionnaires,
- course of experiment, including manoeuvres to be performed, eventual secondary tasks and cover story.

## 8.2.4 Algorithmic Concepts

The development of algorithmic concepts was the heart of the work within the project, see Fig. 8.3 for an example. Based on the specification of scenarios, Sect. 8.2.2, and using the empirical data of the performed studies, Sect. 8.2.3, multiple methods were used to derive these concepts. Bayes' nets, Fuzzy Logic, Hidden Markov Models, and Reinforcement Learning were among these methods to learn the characteristics for the detection of



Fig. 8.3 Course prediction for intersections based on observed trajectories. (Graphics: UR:BAN VIE, Daimler)

driver's intention, as well as for his preparation and initiation of the following manoeuvre. An overview of the developed concepts was given in (UR:BAN VIE Report, [13]).

## 8.2.5 Test for Performance, Acceptance and Behavioural Changes

In a final step of activities, additional studies were conducted in order to test the performance of the implemented algorithms. To what extent can they realise the specification as given earlier and fulfill the expectations of detecting the intention and predicting the driver's behaviour? In some cases, additional tests were carried out testing the user acceptance and possible behavioural changes. Precondition for these additional tests is the integration of the algorithm in a functional concept reacting on the intention detection. An example for a test on user acceptance was the automatic setting of the turn indicator in case of a detected intention to change lane. The description and results of the studies were described in (UR:BAN VIE Report, [14]).

## 8.2.6 Demonstrators

At the final demonstration event of the UR:BAN project, held in October 2015 in Düsseldorf, six vehicles showed results of the VIE sub-project, see Fig. 8.4. These vehicles demonstrated for example

- the quality of a camera-based estimation of the viewing direction,
- a visualization of the probabilities according to the current status of manoeuvre prediction,
- a coordinated lateral assistance based on early detection of lane change behaviour,
- an automatic setting of the turn indicator according to camera-detected viewing behaviour,



**Fig. 8.4** Demonstration scenarios lane change / evading / turning / collision warning (non-attentive) / collision warning (attentive). (Graphics: UR:BAN VIE)

- an adaptation of a driver warning in following situations according to the predicted driver behaviour (warning concept in cooperation with sub-project MMI),
- the integration of detected brake intentions in a pedestrian protection system (pedestrian protection system of sub-project SVT).

## 8.3 Summary of Results and Outlook Towards Automated Driving

The sub-project VIE demonstrated the usage of driver intention detection for urban assistance functions as developed within the UR:BAN initiative. This section is structured in four segments: the assessment of relevance for the input signals, the restriction of the approaches, the functional benefit and an outlook to automated driving.

## 8.3.1 Assessment of Available Input Signals

An important contribution of VIE was the assessment of available input signals on driver, vehicle, and environment. Which signals are best suited to serve as an input parameter for driver intention detection? Different data sources show a very different potential as a predictor for driver behaviour. Interior cameras deliver data of driver's head orientation and gaze direction. A temporal and spatial analysis of these data seems to be sufficient for a basic prediction on driver behaviour. Head orientation and gaze direction allow for an earlier prediction of driving manoeuvres in comparison to vehicle data (e. g. for lane change prediction), at the price of larger inter- and intraindividual differences. Vehicle data are leading to a higher robustness, but showing a smaller predictive horizon. The potential of camera-based driver monitoring for behavioural prediction cannot be attributed equally to all types of manoeuvres, but depends on

- the relevance of environmental parameters for preparation and execution of the manoeuvre,
- the spatial assignment of the viewing areas and the resulting availability of the viewing signal (e.g. large viewing area needed for intersections compared to smaller areas during car-following scenarios),
- the dynamics of location and moment of the manoeuvre execution.

The quality of a driver intention detection can be widely increased by use of situational information. Hence, information on driver and driver behaviour should be always evaluated together with environmental information. This leads to an integration of the behavioural prediction to a situational analysis. The relevance of the signals can change during the sequence of the detection. The development of an intention manifests itself in a different way than the direct preparation or the execution. Typically, a specific point in time exists, when the decision for execution of the manoeuvre is taken and will not be canceled anymore (see the description of the rubicon model in Chap. 14). An optimal behavioural prediction needs, beside the processing of objective and robust data on driver, vehicle and environment additional information on the driver's attentional level. Finally, the potential of an individual parametrization of the driver model should be considered.

#### 8.3.2 Restrictions

The usage of methods for behavioural prediction is determined by its quality and the temporary horizon. The temporary horizon is typically limited to about 10 s, as this correlates to the overall cycle of a manoeuvre execution. The quality of prediction is decreasing with an expansion of prediction time; an unsure information gains certainty with increasing time of observation. The temporal benefit of an intention detection depends on the driver and is larger for comfort manoeuvres as for emergency manoeuvres. The latter is a direct result of the fact that an emergency manoeuvre asks for direct action without larger planning phases.

A driver intention detection can never be perfect and error-free. In the isolated case a spontaneous, non-predicted action cannot be excluded. As a consequence, any measure based on the intentional information has to be designed in a way, that a wrong classification will not lead to catastrophic consequences. As an example, a faulty driver warning might be annoying but is forgivable. In this context, a balance between transparent system behaviour on one side and the safety potential of an adaptive warning on the other side has to be performed.

#### 8.3.3 Usage Scenarios and Benefit

The detection of driver intentions and planned actions allows for an adaptive design of warning functions. This can provide a significant contribution to solve the warning dilemma. A warning can be delayed, if due to the prediction there is a high probability that the warning will not be needed by the driver. Examples are

- rear-end collision warnings in case of an upcoming lane change manoeuvre,
- cross-traffic warnings in case of a detected plan for a turning manoeuvre in front of the cross traffic,
- a warning for a pedestrian possibly crossing the street in case of a detected glance towards the pedestrian and a driver readiness to brake.

The optimizing of an assistance function by adapting the warning time can not only increase the safety, but also helps to gain better user acceptance, as unnecessary warnings can possibly be avoided at all. In single cases, the driver intention detection can lead to additional independent functions as well. The automatic activation of the turn indicator in case of a detected lane change intention is an example for such an added benefit.

#### 8.3.4 Intention Detection in the Context of Automated Driving

The work within the UR:BAN sub-project VIE was performed with the background of manual and assisted driving. Future development in direction of automated driving is changing the driver's role in the vehicle. This will make some of his activities preparing a manoeuvre needless if he does not have to act. On the other hand, without acting on the stabilization level the driver may still have some tasks on tactical and navigation level. Hence, there can be a changed need for the vehicle to detect these intentions. Additionally, there is a strong need for a detection on the driver's state and his readiness to resume control in the context of automated driving. A detailed description of the research needs with a specific focus on human factors work is given in [15].

An additional focus has to be set on the intentions of other traffic participants. Whereas the VIE project studied the driver of the ego-vehicle only, the intentions of other vehicles, respectively their drivers, will remain important with automated driving. Predicting the behaviour of bicycles and pedestrians will be a further topic of relevance; [16] have already pioneered some work concerning the recognition of pedestrian intentions.

## 8.4 Outline of Following Chapters

This introductory chapter on the sub-project VIE gives only a very high-level overview but cannot go in the details of the work performed in the project. Therefore, the following six chapters of this part will address specific aspects and results of the project. The focus of the selection is not on completeness, but on a scientific presentation of particular topics representing the project's activities. The sequence of the chapters follows largely the working steps of VIE.

Chap. 9 addresses the challenges of collecting and handling real world driving data. This comprises strategies for data storage, data extraction, data correction and data enrichment. All these strategies are illustrated with examples from a study on driving behaviour when approaching an intersection under real environmental conditions.

An example of developing an algorithmic concept is described in Chap. 10 in the context of visual driver distraction. The driver's strategies to switch between on-road and offroad glances are modeled based on sub-optimal control. This leads to an approach for prediction of situation specific human behaviour in distracted driving.

The lane change behaviour out of an on-road study is analysed in Chap. 11 in order to derive predictors on the behavioural, strategic, manoeuvreing and control level. It is demonstrated that the familiarity with the route is the most important predictor for the number of lane changes. Mirror glance patterns for specific lane change types resulted as promising and quite stable intention predictors.

Chap. 12 is directly tied to the preceding chapter as it adds the assessment of the environmental situation to the driver's behaviour in order to predict upcoming lane changes. The two information means are fused by means of a Bayesian network. The implemented algorithms work in real-time and provide a probabilistic estimation of the intention of the driver to perform a specific manoeuvre.

Beside lane change manoeuvres the algorithms described in Chap. 13 focus on emergency braking and evading situations. The algorithm is derived by means of Fuzzy Logic and Edit Distance; the data concentrates on the driver's vehicle control and his head- and gaze behaviour. The real-time implementation calculates the manoeuvre probability and the time horizon until it will be conducted.

The final Chap. 14 of this part focusses on an algorithm to detect the driver's intention to brake when passing a pedestrian. Eye gaze data is analysed together with pedal activity to assess the driver's attention towards the pedestrian and his readiness to brake. The implementation in a research vehicle allows for early warnings, while simultaneously limiting their frequency to really relevant situations.

The work of the sub-project VIE is documented in several additional publications. Some of the English written papers to be suggested for further reading include [17–27].

#### References

- Manstetten, D., Bengler, K., Busch, F., Färber, B., Lehsing, C., Neukum, A., Petermann-Stock, I., Schendzielorz, T.: "UR:BAN MV" – a German project focusing on human factors to increase traffic safety in urban areas. Proceedings of the 20th ITS World Congress, Tokyo (2013)
- Diederichs, F., Ganzhorn, M., Brich, I., Widlroither, H.: UR:BAN VIE Report. Literaturreview zum State-of-the-Art der Intentionserkennung. UR:BAN Internal Report, December 2012, (in German) (2012)
- Blaschke, C., Schmitt, J., Färber, B.: Fahrmanöver-Prädiktion über CAN-BUS Daten. VDI-Berich, vol. 2015., pp 165–172 (2007)
- Henning, M.: Preparation for lane change manoeuvres: Behavioural indicators and underlying cognitive processes. Dissertation. Technische Universität Chemnitz, Chemnitz. Fakultät für Human- und Sozialwissenschaften (2010)
- 5. Kobiela, F.: Fahrerintentionserkennung für autonome Notbremssysteme. Dissertation. Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden (2012)
- Kopf, M.: Was nützt es dem Fahrer, wenn Fahrerinformations- und -assistenzsysteme etwas über ihn wissen? In: Maurer, M., Stiller, C. (eds.) Fahrerassistenzsysteme mit maschineller Wahrnehmung, pp. 117–139. Springer, Berlin (2005)
- Lee, S.E., Wierwille, W.W., Olden, E.C.B.: A comprehensive examination of naturalistic lane changes. NHTSA Report DOT HS 809 702, Washington, DC. Internet Link (2004). http://www.nhtsa.gov/DOT/NHTSA/NRD/Multimedia/PDFs/Crash%20Avoidance/2004/Lane %20Change%20Final.pdf, Accessed November, 28, 2016
- Schroven, F., Giebel, T.: Fahrerintentionserkennung für Fahrerassistenzsysteme. Driver Intent Recognition for Advanced Driver Assistance Systems. VDI-Bericht, vol. 2048. VDI, Düsseldorf (2008). Wolfsburg
- Liebner, M., Klanner, F.: Driver intent inference and risk assessment. In: Winner, H., Hakuli, S., Lotz, F., Singer, C. (eds.) Handbook of driver assistance systems. Basic Information, Components and Systems for Active Safety and Comfort. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2016)

- 11. Dambier, M.: Adaptive Information Flow Control Recognition and Prediction of Factors Contributing to Driver's Stress. Dissertation. Universität der Bundeswehr, München (2010)
- Czech, P., Rimini-Döring, M., Schrauf, M., Diederichs, F., Heine, J., Beggiato, M., Manstetten, D.: UR:BAN VIE Report. VIE Versuchsdokumentation. UR:BAN Internal Report, April 2014, (in German) (2014)
- Manstetten, D., Schrauf, M., Bieg, H.J., Pech, T., Jentsch, M., Diederichs, F., Heine, J., Graichen, M.: UR:BAN VIE Report. Algorithmische Konzepte. UR:BAN Internal Report, May 2015, (in German) (2015)
- Manstetten, D., Schrauf, M., Zeeb, K., Bieg, H.J., Schmitt, F., Langer, I., Graichen, M.: UR:BAN VIE Report. Testdokumentation. UR:BAN Internal Report, May 2016, (in German) (2016)
- Gasser, T.M., Schmidt, E.A.: *Report on the Need for Research*. Report of the Research Working Group "Round Table on Automated Driving". German Federal Ministry of Transport and Digital Infrastructure, Berlin (2015)
- Schmidt, S., Färber, B.: Pedestrians at the kerb Recognizing the action intentions of humans. Transp Res F Traffic Psychol Behav 12(4), 300–310 (2009)
- Beggiato, M., Pech, T., Krems, J.F.: The predictive potential of driver characteristics for lane changes on urban roads. 5th International Conf. on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics, Krakow, July 2014. (2014)
- Diederichs, F., Pöhler, G.: Driving Maneuver Prediction Based on Driver Behavior Observation. 5th International Conf. on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics, Krakow, July 2014. (2014)
- Diederichs, F., Schüttke, T., Spath, D.: Driver intention algorithm for pedestrian protection and automated emergency braking systems. 18th IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, September 2015. (2015)
- Graichen, M., Nitsch, V.: Effects of driver characteristics and driver state on predicting turning maneuvers in urban areas: Is there a need for individualized parametrization? 7th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics (AHFE), Orlando, July (2016)
- Heine, J., Sylla, M., Schramm, T., Langer, I., Abendroth, B., Bruder, R.: Algorithm for driver intention detection with Fuzzy Logic and Edit Distance. 18th IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, September 2015. (2015)
- Leonhardt, V., Pech, T., Wanielik, G.: Data Fusion and Assessment for Maneuver Prediction including Driving Situation and Driver Behavior. 19th International Conference on Information Fusion (FUSION), Heidelberg, July 2016. (2016)
- Manstetten, D.: Human Factors in Traffic from Assisted to Automated Driving. 3rd IQPC Conference Automotive HMI USA, Ann Arbor, April 2016 (2016)
- Pech, T.: Head-tracking based glance area estimation for driver behavior modeling during lane change execution. Proceedings IEEE ITSC Intelligent Transport Systems Conference, Qingdao, October 2014. (2014)
- Schmitt, F., Bieg, H.J., Manstetten, D., Herman, M., Stiefelhagen, R.: Predicting Lane Keeping Behaviour of Visually Distracted Drivers Using Inverse Suboptimal Control. Proc. IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV), Gothenburg, pp 412–418 (2016)
- Wiest, J., Kunz, F., Kreßel, U., Dietmayer, K.: Incorporating Categorical Information for Enhanced Probabilistic Trajectory Prediction. International Conf. on Machine Learning and Applications, Miami, December 2013 (2013)
- Wiest, J., Karg, M., Kunz, F., Reuter, S., Kre
  ßel, U., Dietmayer, K.: A Probabilistic Maneuver Prediction Framework for Self-Learning Vehicles with Application to Intersections. IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV), Seoul, June 2015. (2015)

## Analysing Behavioural Data from On-Road Driving 9 Studies: Handling the Challenges of Data Processing

Matthias Graichen, Verena Nitsch, and Berthold Färber

## 9.1 Introduction

While driving studies on closed test-tracks or in driving simulators are characterised by a high degree of experimental control (e. g. [1]), the diverse requirements of urban driving cannot be easily simulated within these settings (e. g. concerning scenario programming). Moreover, experimental studies with a high degree of control over potentially confounding variables necessarily fail to reflect the complexity of real world scenarios. Observing driving behaviour in real-traffic environments, however, entails numerous challenges of data handling (similar to naturalistic driving studies), before data analysis, interpretation or modelling can be performed. In behavioural research, this will mostly entail calculations of statistical parameters for specific performance measures [1], e. g. mean speed when entering an intersection. When aiming to predict driving manoeuvres, this also involves the preparation of "clean" datasets, which allow for appropriate data modelling techniques and robust classification results free of interferences. The present chapter aims to outline methodological issues and provides guidelines for analysts to tackle the numerous data (and video) handling challenges that surface when confronted with similar on-road driving studies. Specifically, these data handling challenges refer to:

- data storage,
- extraction of pertinent data,
- data correction procedures,
- enrichment of data.

The challenges and possible solutions are illustrated with examples from a study that was conducted as part of the UR:BAN research initiative "Behaviour Prediction and Inten-

Human Factors Institute, Universität der Bundeswehr München Neubiberg, Germany

M. Graichen  $(\boxtimes) \cdot V.$  Nitsch  $\cdot B.$  Färber  $(\boxtimes)$ 

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_9

tion Detection", which aimed at investigating driving behaviour when approaching intersections under real environmental conditions. Specifically, research objectives (amongst others) entailed:

- exploration of on-road driving behaviour when approaching different kinds of intersections,
- b. identification of indicators for predicting turning manoeuvres,
- c. establishing a data base as basis for the algorithm implementation.

After briefly outlining the research rationale and the data collection process, the data handling challenges and possible solutions are described.

## 9.2 Driving at Urban Intersections

Driving in urban areas, one encounters a great variety and dynamic of traffic participants in diverse scenarios. Additionally, urban traffic scenarios vary with regard to many different environmental features which are likely to affect driving behaviour. Environmental conditions can rapidly change as the driver moves along the blocks and stretches of roads with variations in geometry or other architectural features and constraints which influence the general visibility of traffic participants and other potentially safety-relevant objects. The inner-city traffic scenario with the highest accident risk are intersections, where 24% of accidents with personal injuries occur, and 16% of accidents occur while turning [2]. While approaching intersections, the driver is confronted with a great number of tasks, which may vary throughout each intersection segment [3–5] and take predominantly part on the strategic level of the driving task [6], for example:

- planning imminent trajectories (and indicating driving direction to other participants) and safely merging into the ongoing traffic,
- while considering regulatory traffic measures (e.g. speed limits, stop signs, or traffic lights),
- and also observing and anticipating the behaviour of other traffic participants, such as pedestrians or cyclists (which may appear at crossing points or elsewhere, and may move in contradiction to actual traffic regulations).

The extent to which these tasks can be executed successfully and safely depends in part on the general visibility of these traffic features. The driver has to detect, identify and assess an increasing amount of visual stimuli correctly [7] within a brief time span, while approaching and crossing the intersection. Expectedly, drivers tend to perceive these spots as highly demanding, particularly when confronted with low visibility at intersections and when turning left [8]. Providing the driver with more support or (visual) information in these complex scenarios gives rise to the challenge of avoiding a cognitive overload ([9];

as cited in [10]). If the driver is confronted with unnecessary warnings, it may reduce driving comfort or even impact safety negatively.

Hence, not every urban scenario requires the same amount of assistance. Preferably, an ADAS should determine the general necessity for supporting the driver by considering both situational and individual aspects and adapt accordingly. This was shown (i.a.) in the UR:BAN research project "Human-Machine Interaction for Urban Environments". For example, a comprehensive situational analysis of intersections may contribute towards developing an appropriate workload management, e. g. by suppressing incoming phone calls [8, 11]. Analyzing situation-specific driver behaviour and individual driving data may also be used to detect the driver's awareness of crossing traffic and give out warnings when an appropriate driver reaction is missing [12, 13].

The UR:BAN project "Behaviour Prediction and Intention Detection" also aims to adapt ADAS strategies by predicting the intended driving manoeuvres of the driver in the near future. Focusing on intersections again – and corresponding manoeuvres of turning or just going straight – information about imminent driver intentions might be used to adjust intersection assistance systems, e. g. by re-evaluating the necessity of blind spot warning which appears when a cyclist is approaching from behind and the driver wants to turn, even if he has forgotten to activate the indicator. Regardless of crossing cyclists or pedestrians the recognition of driver's intent to turn at the next intersection, the system might just kindly remind the driver to use the indicator (up to 25% of drivers fail to comply with appropriate turn signal usage [14, 15]).

## 9.2.1 Effects of Driver Characteristics and Driver State on Driving Behaviour

As long as the driver remains a part of the control loop, driving and safety behaviour is more than just "the mechanical operation of a vehicle" [16], but also depends on individual's characteristics (and temporary states, e. g. stress or fatigue). In Skippon et al. [17], the correlation of observed driving data (in a driving simulator), personality traits and various subjective measures of driving style were found, such as speed choice and accelerating or braking behaviour. Similarly, the relationship of a more generic driving style measure and longitudinal and lateral accelerating behaviour in real traffic environments was shown by Deml et al. [18]. Sagberg et al. [19] outlined a conceptual framework for understanding the relationship of global driving styles and actual measures of driving data and self-report questionnaires. This relationship may be attributed to the effect of individual characteristics and personality traits e. g. locus of control, sensation seeking or risk taking [16, 20] on forming driving habits [19] and attitudes towards speed limits [21].

Combined, the previously mentioned findings suggest that drivers will behave according to their individual characteristics (e. g. driving style) as well as according to situational demands (e. g. stressful situations). For example, a driver assessed with a sporty driving style will likely accelerate more strongly from a standing position and decelerate later before turning than drivers assessed with a more relaxed driving style. In the former case, higher situational demands (e.g. time pressure) may not necessarily provoke a sportier driving style (e.g. because they already drive slightly above the speed limit). But this might not hold true for drivers with a more comfortable driving style. Here, stressful conditions may evoke a sportier driving style in order to meet the situational demands (e.g. to arrive on time at the destination). Hence, prediction algorithms, which are designed to detect the average behavioural data pattern before performing a driving manoeuvre (e.g. turning manoeuvres), might not recognise the corresponding manoeuvre intention of either sporty drivers or non-sporty drivers under high situational demands, as their driving behaviour will not match the learnt data pattern. Thus, it is assumed, that the correlation of driver characteristics and driving behaviour will also affect the classification performance of prediction algorithms which rely on driving data. The intention of the project activities was to investigate the potential and necessity of adjusting prediction algorithms to meet the requirements of individual driver characteristics (e.g. driving style or driver state) in order to provide either more precise or more timely and distinct manoeuvre predictions at urban intersections (e.g. turning or going straight).

After a brief description of the considered driving scenario, the applied strategies to gather insight into behavioural aspects when approaching intersections are presented using actual data recorded in the study.

## 9.2.2 Data Collection of Driving Behaviour when Approaching Urban Intersections

The on-road study entailed three identical rounds through an urban area of Munich, each with a length of about 10 km. Each round lasted about 25 min and included 17 turning manoeuvres, which varied in approaching speed (limited to 30 or 50 km/h), turning directions and structural characteristics (number of turning lanes, visibility at intersections, etc.). The sample consisted of 30 participants (15 female) with a mean age of 30.43 years (SD = 11.95 years) with an average total driving experience of more than 200,000 km. Half of the participants drove at least five times a week on a regular basis. The experimental vehicle was an instrumented Audi A6 Limousine, equipped with five cameras (front scenery, right-hand scenery, pedal view and two cameras for driver observation), CANbus interface and DGPS signals.

After filling in questionnaires that assessed demographic data and behavioural aspects of driving, participants familiarized themselves with the experimental vehicle. In a first round, participants experienced the route and a baseline of driving behaviour was established. The following rounds were used for manipulation of driver state (induction of stress). Participants were informed about the route prior to driving and were navigated by an instructed examiner throughout the experiment. Upon return, the driver as well as the examiner filled out a protocol to subjectively assess potential changes in driving behaviour (e. g. regarding acceleration, gap behaviour or decreasing glance behaviour into mirrors)

in the stress-induced round. At the end of the session, participants were fully debriefed. Overall, the experiment took about 1.5 to 2 h.

## 9.3 Exploring Behavioural Data from On-Road Driving Studies: Challenges and Solutions

When observing driving behaviour in real traffic environments, the obtained data must be extensively explored and cleaned up in order to create comparable data sets which then can be used in further (statistical) analyses. Regarding behavioural aspects while approaching intersections or performing turning manoeuvres, several confounding variables must be identified and filtered, such as static intersection attributes (e.g. visibility, intersection size, or traffic regulation) as well as dynamic influences, e.g. stopping manoeuvres due to red traffic lights or interactions with other traffic participants. Moreover, to handle the great amount and variety of data from on-road studies, several data handling strategies must be conceived, which pertain to the following aspects: Data storage, data extraction, data processing, data quality, and data enrichment. In order to achieve this, a comprehensive infrastructure was developed, as shown in Fig. 9.1 [22]. The following sections describe the applied strategies to create comparable datasets, which can then be further processed in common analysis tools, e.g. SPSS, R or MATLAB, for inferential analyses or data modelling. In addition, various methods are proposed, to enrich the analyses with metainformation on intersections or by extracting additional information already inherent in the obtained data. Each step will be explained using the actual data from the study described in the previous section.



Fig. 9.1 Data handling infrastructure

#### 9.3.1 Data Storage

For the present work, all data from the CAN-interface, GPS-signals, questionnaires and various meta-information about intersections were stored in an open-source PostgreSQL database ([1, 23]; http://www.postgresql.org). For managing DB systems the freeware version of EMS SQL Manager for PostgreSQL (http://www.sqlmanager.net) can be recommended.

The main reason for using DB were the limitations of common analysis tools with regard to handling large amounts of data, as most store the data in the computer's working memory (WM). For example, the exported data of selected CAN-signals from the present study take up about 38 Megabyte on average when saved in a text-based csv-format. Importing the data of all 30 participants into R would already take up more than one Gigabyte of the available WM. Moreover, as several steps of further data processing are necessary, there will also be additional instantiations of data objects within the used framework. Even if not all sections within these datasets are relevant at first, filtering for these sections would take up addition, this filtering of data may be preceded by computationally extensive calculations of new variables on the complete dataset for each participant that are necessary for the extraction of comparable data sections (e. g. distance to intersection; Sect. 9.3.2), and which would ultimately exceed the WM limits of common computers.

An alternative approach would be a sequential application of data filtering and processing techniques. But this procedure does not easily allow for effective data enrichments (e. g. adding data of annotated glance behaviour; Sect. 9.3.5.3) or flexible extraction of data sections with changed criteria (e. g. starting at 100 m before entering the intersection, instead of 50 m).

By design, common DB types [1] use the hard drive instead of the WM for storing and instantiation of data objects. Technically, computational seek time will be faster on WM, so final analysis would be done using common tools such as those stated above. But as the computation of the intended extraction criteria on the complete data will only be executed once, it is considerably more effective when executing the computation procedures and storing both the data and the newly computed values within a unique DB. Additionally, when using solid-state drives (SSD), computational time will significantly decrease compared to typical hard disk drives (HDD).

Aside from the advantages for data management and flexibility, an initial constraint related to DB utilization concerns the complexity of DB systems, which can lead to difficulties in user interaction without training and knowledge of a particular DB language (e. g. SQL; e. g. [24]). For more details on developing a DB for storage and analysis of behavioural data, see Pereira et al. [23].

#### 9.3.2 Data Extraction: Identification and Computation of Filter Criteria

For the extraction of relevant data sections, it is necessary to define points-of-interest (POI) on the driven route, which can then be filtered when querying data from the DB. With regard to the research objective of developing prediction algorithms for intersection manoeuvres, the POIs were defined as the last position before entering an intersection at which any supporting ADAS may benefit from prediction results to support the driver and to avoid safety critical events (e. g. when observing rare glances into the side mirrors or glances over the shoulder to check the blind spot before performing a turning manoeuvre). This might be the middle position on the stopping line, or otherwise an imaginary line when no road markings are available, e. g. the adjacent border of the cross road, dedicated walkways or cycle lanes.

In order to operationalise a POI as a potential filtering criteria when querying data from the DB, an approximate arrival measure was computed using values of GPS, driven distance and timestamps in five steps (cf. Fig. 9.2):

- 1. Detecting GPS-coordinates for each POI j as reference point Ref<sub>j</sub> using digital map data.
- 2. Computing the linear distances  $d_{ij}(t) = d(\text{Ref}_j, \text{GPS}_i(t))$  between each reference point  $\text{Ref}_j$  and the actual GPS-positions  $\text{GPS}_i(t)$  of the driver *i* at each timestamp *t*.
- 3. Filtering  $d_{ij}$  for minimum values  $d_{ij,\min} = \min(d_{ij})$ .
- 4. Extracting corresponding values for driven distance  $DD_i(t)$  and driven time  $DT_i(t)$  at  $d_{ij,\min}$ .



Fig. 9.2 Left: GPS-trajectory, GPS reference point and DTI of maximum steering angle (a) and GPS-anomalies (b)

5. Computing either the distance-to-intersection  $DTI_{ij}(t)$  and time-to-intersection  $TTI_{ij}(t)$  for each intersection by subtracting actual values  $DD_i(t)$  or  $DT_i(t)$  from the extracted values  $DD_{ij}(t)_{d_{ij,min}}$  or  $DT_{ij}(t)_{d_{ij,min}}$  found in the previous step.

Ref<sub>j</sub> was determined by a meaningful position (here, using Google Maps) lying close to the anticipated driver's trajectory. The linear distances in step 2) were computed within the DB using PostGIS (http://postgis.net; [25]). The last step will result in an approximate measure of arriving at the POI, as Ref<sub>j</sub> may not lie exactly on the drivers trajectory. For example, assuming a DTI<sub>ij</sub> = 0, the arrival measures will still exhibit spatial deviations from the real Ref<sub>j</sub> ( $\overline{d}$  = 1.07 m and  $\sigma_d$  = 0.65 m), as  $d_{ij}$  only represents the smallest radius around Ref<sub>j</sub> found in the data of each driver *i*. To obtain more accurate values, arrival measures can be re-computed within the analysis framework after applying extracting a small relevant data section, applying the interpolating procedures and by-re-determining Ref<sub>j</sub> on (e. g.) the median GPS trajectories of all drivers within the extracted data section. The arrival measures can also be used for synchronizing data when comparing driving performance at different intersections.

For efficient computation of the arrival measures within the DB (as well as for reasons of clarity and comprehensibility), it is recommended to split the imported (and synchronised) vehicle data (e. g. GPS data and CAN signals) into separate datasets according to their absolute necessity for computing values of DTI or TTI. Here, this only concerns the variables of driver ID, elapsed time, driven distance, round, and GPS coordinates. Thus, no unnecessary data (e. g. values for speed) get included in each computation step, which has beneficial effects on computation time and occupied hard drive space.

#### 9.3.3 Data Processing: Building a Framework

For querying the data from the DB and further data processing a comprehensive framework in R (http://www.r-project.org) was (iteratively) developed using RStudio (http:// www.rstudio.com). The complete framework consists of numerous functions, which were continuously developed throughout the project. These functions can be assigned to five modules: Initializing, data querying, data pre-processing, data analyzing and modelling, and data visualization. The main reason for setting up this modular structure was to establish a versatile platform which facilitates a) exploring and analyzing data for all intersections from the present study and following studies, b) filtering of potentially confounding variables, adding supplemental variables or easily selecting different processing parameters (e. g. extraction criteria, or clustered groups and similarity measures), and c) high reproducibility and transparency of the applied procedures.

#### 9.3.3.1 Initializing

The module "Initializing" was essential for all other modules, as it prepared all necessary components for further data processing when starting the framework. This was realised

Function	Package	Main objective	
Database	DBI	Communication between R and relational DB	
	RPostgreSQL	R interface to the PostgreSQL database	
Data manipulation	dplyr	Tool for working with data frame like objects	
	tidyr	Tool for data tidying	
Pre-processing	Z00	Infrastructure for time series	
	geosphere	Functions for geographic applications	
Analysis	TraMineR	Analyzing and visualizing state sequences	
	kml	Clustering longitudinal data	
	dtw	Computing dynamic time warping alignments for clustering	
	LICORS	Cluster analysis using kmeans++	
	TSclust	Time series dissimilarity measures for clustering	
Visualization	ggplot2	Implementation of Grammar of Graphics	
	ggmap	Spatial visualizing	
	googleVis	Interface between R and the Google visualization API	
	plotly	Interactive web graphics	

#### Table 9.1 R packages

using adjusted starting parameters of R and a single script setting up necessary data paths (e. g. for loading already processed data from the last analysis session), libraries, functions (e. g. for interpolation or correction procedures), and preliminary settings (e. g. for data analyzing, modelling and visualization). Following additional packages (which can be easily found online by searching for "R + [package name]") were used for effective data exploration and analysis (see Table 9.1).

# 9.3.3.2 Data Querying: Setting Data Selection and Loading Data from the Database

For efficient data retrieval from the DB a function within the R framework was built, which constructs a complete SQL query command using specified settings in a R script concerning a) data source (table name within the DB), b) selection of session-related variables (e. g. driver ID, round and intersection) and extraction criteria (e. g. DTI or TTI), and c) a selection of relevant variables of driving behaviour. The complete SQL string could then be sent to the DB using the package DBI for querying and receiving data from the DB. Additionally, DBI-functions were also used to write new data into the DB (e. g. when using R as efficient processing tool for processing questionnaire data in Excel or annotated video data from ELAN, or for saving results from diverse analyses).

#### 9.3.3.3 Data Pre-processing

Data pre-processing involved procedures for data exclusion, data correction and data interpolation. For example, data exclusion concerned cases, in which drivers had to stop, e. g. due to red traffic lights or high traffic density. Data correction procedures concerned the adjustment of arrival measures due to some GPS-anomalies (Sect. 9.3.4.2) and the value range of some variables. Interpolation procedures were applied to harmonise datasets of different drivers in terms of DTI or TTI (e. g. equidistant steps, e. g. of 1/10 meters or seconds). This was necessary in order to correctly extract statistical key values (e. g. mean speed at a DTI of 5 m) or prepare data for cluster analyses. As the application of these procedures depends on the aim of following data analyses, they were not already included into the data querying procedure described above.

#### 9.3.3.4 Data Analyzing, Modelling and Visualizing

The module of data analyzing and modelling consists of several standard procedures for inferring (statistical) key values (e. g. speed differences between the conditions of normal and stressed driver condition) and methods for data exploring (e. g. cluster analyses of speed profiles when approaching the intersections), which were transformed into re-usable functions for divergent research questions.

When confronted with data from real-traffic scenarios, data visualization is crucial part for gaining insights into data. Particularly interactive graphic packages (e.g. plotly and googleVis) allow for fast and valuable insights into data and case-wise identification of outliers. To create sophisticated plots, and allow for standardised designs in project reports several scripts and functions were developed for efficient re-utilization.

### 9.3.4 Data Quality: Exploration and Correction Procedures

Before any data exploration or analyses can be performed, many preliminary strategies for storing, cleaning, enriching and pre-processing data must be applied. Each of these strategies may be a potential source of error, particularly when applying complex processing procedures as the computation of arrival measures (Sect. 9.3.2). As a preventive measure against flawed analyses and interpretations, it is crucial to check the results of each processing step and the recorded data itself for plausibility.

#### 9.3.4.1 Data Exploration and Plausibility Check

In order to check the data plausibility efficiently at each data processing step, it is recommended to establish a routine for creating statistical summaries or visualizations, which can be easily queried on demand. The type of these routines depends on the current computation procedure or tool (DB or data processing framework). A possible source of errors within the data can be failures in the recording procedure (which potentially cannot be changed in closed systems). For example, in the present study, this concerned the value range of GPS signals and position data of the accelerator pedal, which could easily be
adjusted by linear transformation within the DB. Visual procedures were applied within the R framework, e. g. for checking variables involved for computing the arrival measures. Moreover, exploratory visualization of GPS data within extracted data sections revealed GPS signal anomalies at some intersection crossings (Fig. 9.2). Based on these data explorations appropriate correction procedures or filter methods can be developed, which can then be applied before performing final data analyses.

# 9.3.4.2 Correcting GPS Signal Anomalies

When applying the described procedure for computing an arrival measure to the identified intersection crossings containing GPS signal anomalies, minimum GPS distances to  $\text{Ref}_{j}$  and corresponding values of  $\text{DTI}_{ij}$  or  $\text{TTI}_{ij}$  would be displaced. This displacement had also been indicated by visualization of values for individual steering angle profiles while turning (Fig. 9.3), which should approximately lie on top of each other. As sample size is crucial for statistical analyses and model validation, a correction procedure was implemented using data from intersection crossings without GPS anomalies. This procedure comprises the relocation of displaced arrival measures by the difference that results from the individual drivers' position when reaching the maximum steering angle (Fig. 9.2) towards the overall median position when reaching the maximum steering angle. This can be implemented as follows:

- 1. Visually exploring GPS signals of each individual intersection crossing CROSS<sub>*ij*</sub> and determining relevant cases CROSS\_anom<sub>*ij*</sub> required to be corrected.
- 2. Determining if signal anomalies in CROSS\_anom<sub>ij</sub> led to positive or negative displacement of arrival measures.
- 3. Filtering values of steering angles  $\delta_{ij}$  for maximum values max $(\delta_{ij})$  for each CROSS<sub>ij</sub>.
- 4. Extracting corresponding values for  $DTI_{ij}(t)$  or  $TTI_{ij}(t)$  within the filtered data from the previous step, where  $\delta_{ij} = \max(\delta_{ij})$ .



Fig. 9.3 Steering angle values before (a) and after correction (b)

- 5. Filtering data for  $\neg$ CROSS\_anom<sub>*ij*</sub> (cases without signal anomalies) and computing the median of DTI<sub>*ij*</sub>(*t*)<sub> $\delta_{ij} = \max(\delta_{ij})$ .</sub>
- 6. Filtering data for CROSS\_anom<sub>ij</sub> and compute the difference between the actual  $DTI_{ij}(t)_{\delta_{ij} = \max(\delta_{ij})}$  and the median  $\widetilde{DTI}_{ij}(t)_{\delta_{ij} = \max(\delta_{ij})}$  computed in the previous step.
- 7. Moving the actual values  $DTI_{ij}(t)_{\delta_{ij} = \max(\delta_{ij})}$  of cases CROSS\_anom<sub>ij</sub> by adding or subtracting the computed difference from the previous step.

# 9.3.5 Data Enrichment

Data collections from real-traffic environments are affected by many variables. In order to analyse and interpret the data, it is therefore necessary to identify, and extract or quantify these potentially confounding variables. With regard to intersections, this particularly concerns both data related to static (e. g. obstructed visibility) and dynamic environmental aspects (e. g. preceding vehicles). Previous research also found a correlation between intersection features (e. g. geometry, turning angles and visibility at intersections) and driver perception and safety behaviour [26–28]. Moreover, the recorded data can be used to extract even more information than the actual driving performance measured by CAN signals, e. g. glance behaviour or pedal activity. Further differentiations of behavioural aspects in intersection approaches have also been made using scenario segmentations and comprehensive task analyses regarding driver's operational activities and estimated mental workload (see e. g [3, 4].).

Regarding the approaching behaviour at urban intersections, the present analysis concerned the classification of confounding or supplementing data, shown in Table 9.2.

Data related to:	Variables	Data source		
Static environmental aspects	Intersection type	OSM		
	Speed limitations	OSM, CAN, Video		
	Priority regulations	GoogleMaps (Satellite), Video		
	Number of turning lanes	GoogleMaps (Satellite), Video		
	Intersection angle	OSM, GoogleMaps		
	Intersection size	CAN		
	Path curvature	GPS		
	Intersection visibility	Video		
Dynamic environmental aspects	Other traffic participants	Video		
	Traffic flow	Video & CAN		
Driving performance	Arrival measures	GPS & CAN		
	Glance activity	Video		
	Pedal activity	CAN, Video		
	Driving style	CAN		

Table 9.2 Classification of variables obtained from data enrichment

The first additional data related to driving performance have already been obtained by computing arrival measures using GPS signals and CAN data (Sect. 9.3.2). The followings sections describe the extraction of this additional information from the recorded vehicle or video data, and other external data sources to enrich the analyses and interpretation processes.

# 9.3.5.1 Intersection Characteristics Obtained from External Sources

The intersection type (three-leg T-intersection, coded as "T", or full four-leg intersection, coded as "X") and speed limitations can be easily determined by searching for relevant street names on OpenStreetMap (OSM; http://www.openstreetmap.org) and exploring the map data and the "maxspeed" parameter given in the street information panel. However, this data should also be verified by checking the actual speed profiles in corresponding data sections, and by exploring the recorded video data for street signs.

To determine priority regulations and the number of dedicated turning lanes at relevant intersections satellite images of GoogleMaps can be used. However, these data should also be verified by checking the recorded video data, which also provide information about potential temporary obstructions or construction works.

Map data (OSM or GoogleMaps) can also be used to determine the general (categorical) intersection angle (e.g. closed, perpendicular or opened angle; see [28]). Numeric values for angles can be calculated approximately by means of imaginary lines between GPS reference points on relevant crossroads, the apparent intersection center and the origin of the driver.

#### 9.3.5.2 Supplementary Information Obtained from Recorded Data

In addition to the information on static environmental aspects obtained from external sources, more data of interest are contained within the actual recorded data, which are not readily obtainable. The following sections describe methods for extracting additional information from the data regarding further environmental aspects or driving performance.

#### 9.3.5.2.1 Intersection Size

A measure for intersection size was derived using the distance between the Ref<sub>j</sub> and the averaged position where drivers reach  $DTI_{max(\delta)ij}$  while turning. Values range from 2.4 m (e. g. small intersections without traffic light) up to 32.9 m (e. g. multi-lane intersections with traffic lights). Table 9.3 shows a summary of categorical intersection characteristics.

#### 9.3.5.2.2 Path Curvature

The anticipated path curvature of the driver was computed in order to implement parts of the prediction algorithm by [35], which is based on desired speed profiles when approaching intersections. To generate these profiles, they propose (i.a.) a method by extracting and converting the path curvature from digital map data into speed profiles. As no digital map information was available in the present data, path curvature was extracted using the median GPS trajectory at each intersection and an approximate computation procedure. This can be implemented as follows (cf. Fig. 9.4):

Nr.	Typeª	Regulation	Intersection size in m (SD)		Lanes (turning) <sup>c</sup>	N after exclusion	
1	TL	give way	2.38	(1.58)	1 (-)	54	
2	XL	light	12.16	(4.41)	2 (-)	42	
3	SL	give way	7.99	(2.26)	2 (1)	53	
4	TL	(light)⁵	2.41	(2.68)	2 (-)	44	
5	XR	light	15.02	(1.64)	1 (-)	28	
6	XL	light	13.72	(2.24)	3 (1)	28	
7	XR	light	12.32	(2.58)	3 (1)	36	
8	TL	light	17.18	(4.79)	2 (1)	42	
9	XL	light	32.94	(4.23)	3 (1)	44	
10	XL	light	23.67	(4.53)	3 (1)	40	
11	XR	light	9.41	(3.3)	1 (-)	25	
12	XL	light	14.82	(2.58)	3 (2)	37	
13	SR	light	10.52	(3.6)	2 (1)	28	
14	TR	give way	8.79	(2.4)	1 (-)	55	
15	XL	light	30.8	(6.31)	2 (1)	27	
16	SR	light	17.1	(2.52)	1 (-)	40	
17	SL	give way	7.83	(4.74)	1 (-)	58	

#### Table 9.3 Intersection characteristics

<sup>a</sup> First letter represents T-intersection (T), full intersection (X) or T-intersection for either turn or going straight (S). Second letter represents direction of turning left (L) or right (R).

<sup>b</sup> Intersection 5 regulated by traffic lights 15 m before drivers still had to halt for giving way.

<sup>c</sup> Lanes represent general number of lanes before entering the intersection, independent of potential designated direction. Turning lanes correspond only to turning direction.

- 1. Computing the median GPS trajectory values  $\widetilde{\text{GPS}}_{i}(s)$  for each intersection j
- 2. Smoothing values for  $\widetilde{\text{GPS}}_{j}(s)$ , e.g. using a moving average filter to obtain a more realistic curvature profile.
- 3. Calculating the radius for each data section of three points, e. g.  $\widetilde{\text{GPS}}_{j_{\text{smoothed}}}(s_1; s_2; s_3)$ .
- 4. Limiting the obtained curvature values  $r_j(s)$  to a plausible value range (depending on smoothing parameters).
- 5. Calculating the reciprocal of the obtained values  $r_j(s)$  to calculate curvature values  $\kappa_j(s)$ .
- 6. Smoothing values of  $\kappa_i(s)$  to obtain the approximate path curvature model.



**Fig. 9.4** Conversion of curvature radius into path curvature (**a**) and path curvature models of each intersection, aligned at maximum values of path curvature (**b**)

## 9.3.5.2.3 Visibility at Intersections

Models of visibility at intersections were estimated using scene stills from the front camera of one driver. For this purpose, images of the video were extracted at each timestamp corresponding to DTIs beginning at -50 m and ending at 0 m (Ref<sub>j</sub>), in steps of five meters. Relevant video time stamps could easily be exported using the DB. In these images, xy-coordinates of pixels were measured (using IrfanView; http://www.irfanview.com) as markings (Fig. 9.5a) for the maximum range for potential glances to the left (red line) and right side (green line). Visibility values can be computed either as percentage of range to any side relating to the center of the camera (black line) or the middle of the intersection (blue line). For smoother projection of the data against DTI, computed visibility values were smoothed by curve fitting (see Fig. 9.5b).



Fig. 9.5 Extraction of visibility parameters (a) and clustered visibility models into each cross-road (b)

To obtain more precise visibility models, sophisticated methods using LiDAR techniques are proposed in literature, which can also consider parameters of the vehicle model and the driver's eye-height [29, 30]. Moreover, further differentiations could be made by determining actual (e. g. poles) and potential obstructions (e. g. tree branches; see [30]), or – with regard to urban areas – temporal obstructions, as parking delivery trucks.

## 9.3.5.2.4 Other Traffic Participants and Traffic Flow

To avoid biased interpretations of individual driving behaviours, the presence of preceding vehicles had to be analysed using video analysis for each subject at each intersection. In combination with speed data it could be determined if the crossing involved 1) free-flowing traffic without stopping (unimpeded driving), 2) free-flowing traffic, but stopping (e. g. at stopping line, due to red traffic light), 3) following a preceding vehicle without decelerating, 4) following preceding vehicle decelerating to stop, and 5) approaching the end of a tailback (2–5 impeded driving). Here, a lower deviation of 5 km/h before entering the intersection was used as stopping criteria (Fig. 9.6). Further, video data of interactions with pedestrians or cyclists were explored, which did not occur at the relevant intersections.

With regard to the research question, these filters for stopping drivers or preceding vehicles (impeded driving vs. unimpeded driving) were used to establish a "clean" data basis for modelling driver behaviour when approaching intersections and implementing the prediction algorithm for turning manoeuvres.

#### 9.3.5.3 Video Annotation of Glance Behaviour

The study was intentionally designed with the constraint of using only technologies, which can already be used in commercially available cars (e. g. CAN signals, GPS data or cameras for driver observation) and would not require any additional actions by the driver. Hence, no system for detecting eye- or head movements was used to avoid distraction of the driver, potential discomfort due to eye tracking glasses or time-consuming calibration



Fig. 9.6 Speed profiles for impeded and unimpeded driving before entering the intersection



Fig. 9.7 Areas of interest. (© UR:BAN)

procedures. Past research efforts has demonstrated the possibility of extracting glance directions by means of video cameras (e. g. [31]). Although similar computational detection algorithms for deriving glance activity could have been used in offline data, a manual annotation procedure was preferred to ensure that the analysis and interpretation processes are based on a complete dataset.

Glance directions were annotated from video data of two driver observation cameras, frame-by-frame. For the annotation process the software ELAN (http://tla.mpi.nl/tools/tla-tools/elan/; [32]) was used. The analysed categories for glance directions (Fig. 9.7) were chosen based on preliminary considerations of potential areas-of-interest and literature (e. g. [33]). Glances to side mirrors could not be differentiated consistently from general glances to corresponding sides and were therefore merged into global categories of "left" and "right".

Only video data for the second and third round were annotated, and only for sections immediately preceding the intersection. Annotations started at DTIs within a range of -100 to maximum -35 m, depending on the intersection lying within the driver's field of view, and ending at corresponding video timestamps when reaching Ref<sub>j</sub>. Relevant ranges of video time stamps could easily be exported using the DB. All data were double checked by a second annotator. Annotation data were stored and synchronised with CAN-signals in the DB (Sect. 9.3.1).

## 9.4 Summary and Conclusion

Compared to studies on closed test-tracks or in driving simulators, observing driving behaviour in real-traffic environments not only involves a great amount of data but also numerous potentially confounding variables. The purpose of this chapter was to outline methodological challenges that ensue when confronted with on-road driving studies or analyzing driving behaviour in complex (urban) traffic scenarios. Several strategies were proposed to meet the related challenges of data handling. The strategies were illustrated based on a study that had been conducted to analyse and predict turning manoeuvres at urban intersections based on real driving behaviour.

With the proposed infrastructure, data correction procedures and extracted filters for potentially confounding variables, it is possible to establish a "clean" data basis to implement and adjust a prediction algorithm for turning manoeuvres according to individual driver characteristics.

Urban intersections are characterised by numerous individual features. The proposed classification of environmental features can be used to build a comprehensive model of an individual urban intersections in order to better understand related driving behaviour (but is not intended to be exhaustive). This classification could also be used to supplement analyses of driver operations (or driver workload) in task analyses. Within each section, all necessary tools or packages were cited (and are freely available) to re-build the proposed infrastructure.

Applying the described strategies for data handling using DB systems and data processing framework as well as applying the procedures of data correction and data enrichment is effortful, time consuming, and requires some additional programming skills and software knowledge (which can be easily learned considering the many free online tutorials on SQL, R, MATLAB etc.). Nevertheless, experience has shown that it is worth the effort in many ways. Storing data in a unique place makes data easy accessible and allows for highly flexible analyses. Further research activities also built upon the proposed infrastructure (e. g. [34]). Moreover, the procedure of computing extraction criteria has been successfully applied to other on-road studies. With respect to large-scale research initiatives (such as UR:BAN) or similar complex research questions involving driving studies in real-traffic environments, it is highly recommended to anticipate a similar comprehensive structure for data processing and analyzing from the beginning, as it will yield many benefits throughout further research activities.

#### Acknowledgement

Matthias Graichen thanks Paul Czech for conceptualizing and conducting the first study in 2013. Special thanks to the student assistants, who were annotating glance directions in numerous videos for days as well as tirelessly supporting our research efforts.

# References

- Lietz, H., Petzoldt, T., Henning, M., Haupt, J., Wanielik, G., Krems, J., Noyer, U.: *Methodische und technische Aspekte einer Naturalistic Driving Study.* BASt FE 82.0351/2008. FAT Schriftenreihe, vol. 229. VDA, Berlin (2011)
- Statistisches Bundesamt (Destatis): Verkehrsunfälle Fachserie 8 Reihe 7 2014. Wiesbaden (2015)
- Fastenmeier, W., Gstalter, H.: Driving task analysis as a tool in traffic safety research and practice. Saf Sci 45(9), 952–979 (2007). doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2006.08.023

- Federal Highway Administration (FHWA): Task analysis of intersection driving scenarios: Information processing bottlenecks (No. FHWA-HRT-06-033) (2006)
- Gstalter, H., Fastenmeier, W.: Reliability of drivers in urban intersections. Accid Analysis Prev 42(1), 225–234 (2010). doi:10.1016/j.aap.2009.07.021
- Werneke, J., Vollrath, M.: What does the driver look at? The influence of intersection characteristics on attention allocation and driving behavior. Accid Analysis Prev 45, 610–619 (2012). doi:10.1016/j.aap.2011.09.048
- Köhler, L., Mergl, C., Blaese, D., Bengler, K.: Fahrerbeanspruchung im urbanen Raum: Erhebung der subjektiven Beanspruchung des Fahrers bei einer Kreuzungsüberquerung. Der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert. Fahrer, Fahrerunterstützung und Bedienbarkeit, 7. VDI-Tagung, Braunschweig, 5. und 6. November 2013. VDI-Berichte, vol. 2205. VDI, Düsseldorf, pp 237–250 (2013)
- Endsley, M.R.: Toward a Theory of Situation Awareness in Dynamic Systems. Hum Factors 37(1), 32–64 (1995). doi:10.1518/001872095779049543
- Liebner, M., Klanner, F.: Driver intent inference and risk assessment. In: Winner, H., Hakuli, S., Lotz, F., Singer, C. (eds.) Handbook of driver assistance systems. Basic Information, Components and Systems for Active Safety and Comfort. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2016)
- Köhler, L., Bengler, K., Mergl, C., Maier, K., Wimmer, M.: Validation of a telephone manager for stressful driving situations. In: de Waard, D., Sauer, J., Röttger, S., Kluge, A., Manzey, D., Weikert, C., Hoonhout, J. (eds.) Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Europe Chapter 2014 Annual Conference. Human Factors in high reliability industries (2015)
- Zademach, M.: Analyse des Fahrerverhaltens an innerstädtischen Kreuzungen: Ermittlung von Anforderungen an ein System zur Vermeidung von Kollisionen. Verlag Dr. Hut, München (2016)
- Zademach, M., Mergl, C., Färber, B.: Analyse des Fahrerverhaltens im Kreuzungsbereich: Ableitung einer Verhaltensprognose anhand von Fahrzeugdaten. Der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert. Fahrer, Fahrerunterstützung und Bedienbarkeit, 7. VDI-Tagung, Braunschweig, 5. und 6. November 2013. VDI-Berichte, vol. 2205. VDI, Düsseldorf (2013)
- ACE Auto Club Europa: Dem Blinkmuffel keine Chance. Argumentationspapier (2008). https://www.ace-online.de/fileadmin/user\_uploads/Der\_Club/Dokumente/ACE\_Aktionen/ Argumentationspapier\_4c.pdf. Accessed 17. Apr. 2017
- Ponziani, R.: Turn signal usage rate results: A comprehensive field study of 12,000 observed turning vehicles. Sae Tech Pap (2012). 2012-01-0261 doi:10.4271/2012-01-0261
- Hennessy, D.: Social, personality, and affective constructs in driving. In: Porter, B.E. (ed.) Handbook of Traffic Psychology, 1st edn., pp. 149–163. Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam (2011)
- Skippon, S.M., Reed, N., Luke, T., Robbins, R., Chattington, M., Harrison, A.H.: Relationships between driving style, self-reported driving behaviour and personality. In: Dorn, L. (ed.) Human Factors in Road and Rail Transport. Driver behaviour and training, vol. IV, Ashgate, Farnham, Surrey, England, Burlington, VT (2010)
- Deml, B., Freyer, J., Färber, B.: Ein Beitrag zur Prädiktion des Fahrstils. VDI-Berichte, vol. 2015. VDI, Düsseldorf (2007). Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert. Human Machine Interface, 4. VDI-Fachtagung, 14. und 15. November 2007, Braunschweig
- Sagberg, F., Selpi, Piccinini, G.F.B., Engstrom, J.: A review on driving styles and road safety. Hum Factors 57(7), 1248–1275 (2015). doi:10.1177/0018720815591313
- 20. Quimby, A., Maycock, G., Palmer, C., Buttress, S.: The factors that influence a driver's choice of speed a questionnaire study. TRL REPORT, vol. 325. (1999)

- Ahie, L.M., Charlton, S.G., Starkey, N.J.: The role of preference in speed choice. Transportation Res Part F: Traffic Psychol Behav 30, 66–73 (2015). doi:10.1016/j.trf.2015.02.007
- Beggiato, M.: Changes in motivational and higher level cognitive processes when interacting with in-vehicle automation (Doctoral dissertation). Technische Universität Chemnitz, Chemnitz (2015). http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:bsz:ch1-qucosa-167333. Accessed 17. Apr. 2017
- Pereira, M., Lietz, H., Beggiato, M.: Development of a database for storage and analysis of behavioural data. In: Stevens, A., Krems, J., Brusque, C. (eds.) Driver adaptation to information and assistance systems, pp. 301–317. The Institution of Engineering and Technology, London (2014)
- 24. Blum, R.: *PostgreSQL 8 for Windows. Database professional's library.* McGraw-Hill, New York (2007)
- Obe, R.O., Hsu, L.S.: PostGIS in action. Safari Tech Books Online. Manning, Greenwich, Connecticut (2011)
- Charlton, S.G.: Restricting intersection visibility to reduce approach speeds. Accid Analysis Prev 35(5), 817–823 (2003). doi:10.1016/S0001-4575(02)00052-0
- Harwood, D.W., Bauer, K.M., Potts, I.B., Torbic, D.J., Richard, K.R., Rabbani, E.R.K., Elefteriadou, L.: Safety effectiveness of intersection left- and right-turn lanes (No. FHWA-RD-02-089) (2002)
- Louveton, N., Bootsma, R.J., Guerin, P., Berthelon, C., Montagne, G.: Intersection crossing considered as intercepting a moving traffic gap: Effects of task and environmental constraints. Acta Psychol (Amst) 141(3), 287–294 (2012). doi:10.1016/j.actpsy.2012.08.003
- Harwood, L.C., Doerzaph, Z.: LiDAR: Another potential data source. Fourth international symposium on naturalistic driving research, Blacksburg, August 25–28, 2014. (2014). http:// vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/handle/10919/53969. Accessed 17. Apr. 2017
- Khattak, Aemal, J., Hallmark, Shauna, L., Souleyrette, Reginald, R.: An application of lidar technology to highway safety. In: Transportation Research Board (TRB) (ed.) 82nd Annual Meeting compendium of papers. CD-ROM Washington, January 12–16, 2003. (2003)
- Pech, T., Lindner, P., Wanielik, G.: Head tracking based glance area estimation for driver behaviour modelling during lane change execution. 2014 IEEE 17th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC 2014), Qingdao, 8–11 Oct. 2014. IEEE, Piscataway (2014)
- Wittenburg, P., Brugman, H., Russel, A., Klassmann, A., Sloetjes, H.: ELAN: A professional framework for multimodality research. Proceedings of the 5th international conference on language resources and evaluation (LREC 2006), pp 1556–1559 (2006)
- Beggiato, M., Krems, J.F.: Sequence analysis of glance patterns to predict lane changes on urban arterial roads. 6. Tagung Fahrerassistenz, 28.–29. November 2013. München (2013). *Der Weg zum automatischen Fahren*. Konferenz an der TUM. http://mediatum.ub.tum.de/doc/1187197/ 1187197.pdf
- 34. Graichen, M., Nitsch, V.: Effects of driver characteristics and driver state on predicting turning maneuvers in urban areas: Is there a need for individualized parametrization? 2016 AHFE International, 7th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics, Walt Disyney World Swan and Dolphin Hotel, Florida, 27–31 July 2016. (2016)
- Liebner, M., Klanner, F., Baumann, M., Ruhhammer, C., Stiller, C.: Velocity-Based Driver Intent Inference at Urban Intersections in the Presence of Preceding Vehicles. IEEE Intell Transportation Syst Mag 5(2), 10–21 (2013). doi:10.1109/MITS.2013.2246291

# Predicting Strategies of Driving in Presence of Additional Visually Demanding Tasks: Inverse Optimal Control Estimation of Steering and Glance Behaviour Models

Felix Schmitt, Andreas Korthauer, Dietrich Manstetten, and Hans-Joachim Bieg

# 10.1 Introduction

Driver distraction is a psychological concept that can be defined as "diversification of attention away from activities critical for safe driving towards a competing activity" [1]. Commonly, driver distraction is categorized into three types: Visual distraction, is the diversification of visual attention from the scenery in front of the vehicle to other regions. For example, drivers are frequently looking at an in-vehicle display instead of the road ahead of the vehicle. Often, interaction with in-vehicle infotainment does not only require looking at a display but also removing one hand from the steering wheel to press certain buttons. Hence, this activity does impose manual distraction in addition to visual distraction. Finally, distraction can also result from bound cognitive resources, e.g. during intense conversations, which is *cognitive* distraction (ibid.). Safe driving requires predominately the acquisition and processing of visual information for lateral and longitudinal vehicle control [2]. Accordingly, several studies found distinct negative effects of visual distraction, i. e. too less glancing on the road, on driving performance. Some authors e.g. showed slower and impaired response to lead vehicle braking [3] or impaired lane-keeping [4] of visually distracted drivers. In contrast to that, the influence of cognitive distraction on driving performance is rather ambiguous: [5] found a decrease of the deviation from the lane-center, while in [6] a delayed hazard response was observed. Therefore, this chapter will focus on modelling driver behaviour under visual distraction only. All forms of distraction considerably contribute to accidents on streets, roads and highways. An analysis

F. Schmitt ( $\boxtimes$ ) · A. Korthauer · D. Manstetten · H.-J. Bieg

Corporate Sector Research and Advance Engineering – Human-Machine Interaction, Robert Bosch GmbH

Renningen, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_10

of the 100-Car Naturalistic Driving Study even concludes that approximately 80% of all crashes and 65% of all near crashes involve inattentive drivers as a contributing factor [7]. Hence, mitigation of the driving deficiencies caused by driver distraction promises a great impact on road safety.

# 10.2 Distraction and Additional Tasks in Driving

As already included in Lee's definition, distraction is normally induced by an additional activity the driver is engaging while driving. The activity, that can range from reading invehicle instruments, to checking the mirrors, using the vehicles infotainment, or texting on the smartphone, is considered as a *secondary* task opposing the *primary* task of safe driving. Some authors differentiate secondary tasks e.g. (ibid.) between *distraction by non-driving related secondary tasks* (e.g. texting on the smartphone) or *driving-related inattention to the forward roadway* (e.g. checking the mirrors). Instead, we follow [8] and treat glances away from the forward-road the same independently of the cause. Regarding driving safety, the most important driving tasks are keeping the vehicle in lane and keeping a safe distance to all obstacles in driving direction. As both of these tasks require the perception of visual cues in the forward scenery, all long glances off the road endanger driving safety.

# 10.3 Approaches to Mitigate Distraction

# 10.3.1 Conventional Driver Assistance Systems

Critical situations resulting from visually distracted drivers can already be partially mitigated by conventional driver assistance systems, e. g. forward collision and lane departure warning. However, these systems can be greatly improved in their risk assessment, if they take into account the driver's ability to deal with the current driving situation by his own. For example, an impending lane crossing can be the result of an intended lane change or be rooted in a driver who is distracted and does not perceive the vehicle's position in lane. Considering the vehicle's trajectory alone both cases are hardly distinguishable. However, in the first case a warning is not necessary and can even be a nuisance, whereas in the latter case even an earlier warning might be appropriate. Hence, knowledge of the driver's distraction state and a holistic risk assessment could prevent unnecessary interventions and greatly improve system effectiveness, as demonstrated in [9, 34].

#### 10.3.2 Driver Assistance Systems for Assessment of Distraction

Because of its strong influence on crash risk, several approaches for detection and assessment of inattention have been proposed, which are reviewed in [10]. Recent progress in computer vision enabled real-time eye tracking. Therefore, many approaches that address visual distraction rely on the driver's gaze-direction (or the head-orientation as an approximation). Many authors [7, 11], first processed the raw gaze direction by detecting if it intersects a certain Region Of Interest (ROI). This region is defined as a plane, through which the driver has to look to gather necessary visual information for lane keeping and headway control in the forward road scenery. A possible ROI is depicted in Fig. 10.1.

An open question in driver distraction research is how to algorithmically decide, that drivers are too distracted in a specific situation. Yet, an assistance system would warn or even intervene on the algorithms decision. Consequently, the system would become a nuisance if the driver was falsely detected distracted too often and cause the driver to turn it off. Nevertheless, any dangerous situation has to be classified correctly.

Several authors, e. g. [11, 12], proposed algorithms for decisions on critical distraction that in fact detect the periods of engagement in a secondary task during driving. Often such additional tasks are the reason for long off-road glances, as already mentioned before. Still, this approach has an issue: Some potentially visually distracting activities, e. g. checking the speedometer or mirrors, are required for safe driving. If those instruments are placed carefully, those activities pose little risk in many situations, as they require only short glances. Additionally, drivers often apply compensatory mechanisms [13] in secondary task engagement. Therefore, drivers should not receive interventions from the system for those task *per-se* in low criticality situations. For example, a short glance on the rear mirror or *also* to the infotainment (as we don't distinguish between types of tasks) should be allowed at low speed in light traffic on a highway.

As an alternative to detecting secondary task engagement the perceived distraction can be predicted, as proposed by [14, 35]. To achieve this, subjective distraction ratings based on 10s of video of the driver and the outside scenery were used. While ratings are very useful to judge the quality of a final mitigation system including warnings, this approach is problematic for the sole assessment of distraction. First, it does not reliably relate to objective risk. Objective risk, e. g. the probability of a lane departure, depends on several variables of the situation, like the position of the vehicle in lane or the vehicle's velocity, which can rapidly change over seconds. Although humans are able to process these variables and act accordingly, it is usually munch harder to jointly quantify these in a single

**Fig. 10.1** Illustration of a typical ROI



rating. This is the case especially if a rather vague definition as the one of [1], which we cited in the introduction, is used for instruction.

Prediction of the *relative* crash risk by ROI-based algorithms was investigated by [15]. Here, the authors used data of a large naturalistic driving study [7]. Similar to the other approaches, the dependence of appropriate gaze behaviour on the specific situation was neglected. For development of a mitigation system, this methodology bears an additional problem: It would require a similar amount of crash data with the specific sensor concept of the system for algorithm evaluation. Clearly, this is not economically feasible.

# 10.4 Modelling Driver Strategies for Allocation of Visual Attention

A major problem of the reviewed approaches for assessment of driver distraction was a missing relation of the attentional demands of the current driving situation for safe driving. However, it is long known in the human factors and cognitive science communities that drivers are able to adequately adapt their gaze behaviour to situational demands: [16] showed already that the time drivers are willing to drive with occluded vision monotonically decreases with the vehicle's velocity. Other authors, e. g. [17], repeated the experiments and found similar results. In this chapter we present how these findings can be modelled in the context of a present secondary task. Here, we consider attentional demands of driving situations and the additional task and derive the potentially sub-optimal strategies applied by drivers.

## 10.4.1 Related Approaches based on Optimal Control

In driving and many other cases attention is closely linked to performance in a control task, e. g. keeping the vehicle in lane. For these scenarios [18] suggested that the behaviour of an experienced operator can be characterised by an optimal joint attention allocation and control strategy. Blaauw et al. [19] applied this model to lane keeping under temporary occlusion, where the experimental data of experiment [17] could be predicted.

As the opinion paper [20] suggested, we build on the optimal attention allocation control concept for modelling visually distracted driving. In this work, similar as [19] the scenario of lane keeping is considered. Here, we extend previous approaches by employing the principle of Maximum Causal Entropy (MCE) [21] to explicitly model to what extent drivers deviate from the optimal strategy. This is highly important for risk assessment. In contrast to previous work, where the attention allocation strategy was computed by "brute-force" search, we recently presented an efficient solution for optimal gazeswitching distracted driving by means of dynamic programming [22]. Finally, we adapt the inverse optimal control method of MCE to infer the optimization objectives and the human execution precision from real-traffic behavioural data. In previous work those values were hand-tuned.

#### 10.4.2 Optimal Strategies in Markov Decision Processes

Markov Decision Processes (MDP)s provide a mathematical framework for characterizing sequential decision-making. An MDP consists of a state space X, a control space U, a stochastic process model  $P(x_{t+1}|x_t, u_t), x_t \in X, u_t \in U$  and a reward function  $r(x_t, u_t)$ . The goal in a *finite-horizon* MDP is to find a policy  $\pi(u_t|x_t)$  maximizing the expected reward

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{t=0}^{T} r(x_t, u_t) \middle| P(x_{t+1}|x_t, u_t), \pi(u_t|x_t), p_0(x_0)\right]$$

over a time horizon T, conditioned on the policy  $\pi$ , the dynamics P and an initial state distribution  $p_0$ . The optimality criterion is given by the famous Bellman equations:

$$Q_T(x_T, u_T) = r_T(x_T, u_T)$$
(10.1)

$$Q_t(x_t, u_t) = r_t(x_t, u_t) + \mathbf{E}[V_{t+1}(x_{t+1})|P(x_{t+1}|x_t, u_t)]$$
(10.2)

$$\pi'_t(u_t|x_t) = \operatorname{argmax}_{u_t}[Q_t(x_t, u_t)]$$
(10.3)

$$V_t(x_t) = E[Q(x_t, u_t) | \pi'_t(u_t | x_t)]$$
(10.4)

Here, the function  $V_t: X \mapsto R$  is called Value-function and  $Q_t: X \times U \mapsto R$  is called Q-function. Note that  $\mathbf{E}[V_0(x_0)|p(x_0)]$  equals expected reward

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{t=0}^{T} r(x_t, u_t) \middle| P(x_{t+1}|x_t, u_t), \pi'(u_t|x_t), p_0(x_0)\right]$$

under the optimal policy. Starting with  $Q_T$  the Bellman equations can in principle be used to optimally solve MDPs recursively, what is referred to as dynamic programming. However, in practical problems X, U are usually of large size or even continuous. This often prevents analytic computation.

The optimal policy  $\pi$  in Markov Decision Processes requires perfect knowledge of the state  $x_t$ . However, in visually distracted driving this is not the case: If the driver is not looking at the road he/she cannot perceive the vehicles position. Instead, he/she relies on an uncertain estimate of the states. Partial Observable Markov Decision Processes (POMDPs) offer an extension of ordinary MDPs to account for this issue. Instead of perfect state knowledge the policy relies on observations  $o_t$  that result from the "true" state by an Observation Model (OM)  $p_t^o(o_t|x_t)$ . These observations can be used to maintain an estimate of the state  $x_t$  in form of a belief distribution  $b_t(x_t)$  that encodes the uncertainty about the true states. Given a new observation  $o_t$  the belief is updated by means of Bayes' rule

$$b_t(x_t) \propto p^o(o_t|x_t) \mathbf{E} \left[ P(x_t|x_{t-1}, u_{t-1}) | b_{t-1}(x_{t-1}), u_{t-1} \right],$$
(10.5)

using the past belief  $b_{t-1}(x_{t-1})$  and the past applied control  $u_{t-1}$ . Defining new states  $x'_t := b_t(x_t)$  and a new reward  $r'(x'_t, u_t) := \mathbf{E} [r(x_t, u_t)|b_t(x_t)]$ , every POMDP can formally be transformed into an equivalent MDP in the belief states. However, as  $x'_t$  is in any case continuous valued, solution via the Bellman equations is often intractable.

# 10.4.3 A Markov Decision Process Model for Lane Keeping Under Distraction

# 10.4.3.1 Vehicle Model

We start with modelling the vehicle's lateral dynamics by a *kinematic* single-track model that is also frequently used in lane keeping systems e.g. [23]. It is formulated by the system of ordinary differential equations

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{y}_t \\ \dot{\phi}_t \\ \dot{\alpha}_t \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & v_t & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & cv_t \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} y_t \\ \phi_t \\ \alpha_t \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \dot{\alpha}_t + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ -v_t \kappa_t \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(10.6)

The model can be derived from geometric relations illustrated in Fig. 10.2, using linear approximations for trigonometric relations involving the small angle  $\Phi$ . We also employed a linear approximation of the steering wheel angle to  $\dot{\Phi}$  relation. The variables and parameters of the vehicle are explained in Table 10.1

In this work we investigate driver behaviour based on data obtained in a rate of 25 Hz. Hence, we time-discretize the differential equation system and obtain the following dis-

**Fig. 10.2** Illustration of the geometrical relations of the variables in the kinematic vehicle model



Symbol	Definition	Unit
$y_t$	Lateral position wrt. lane center $l_c$	m
$\Phi_t$	Angle between tangent of lane and vehicle's longitudinal axis	rad
$\alpha_t$	Steering angle	rad
$v_t$	Vehicle's absolute velocity	m/s
K <sub>t</sub>	Curvature of lane	1/m
С	Steering-wheel transmission ratio	

Table 10.1 Variables and Parameters of Kinematic Vehicle Mod	el
--	----

crete-time linear-affine system

$$x_{t+1}^{p} = A(v_t)x_t^{p} + B(v_t)u_t^{p} + a(v_t) + \epsilon_t.$$
(10.7)

189

Here, we summarize the vehicle states in a primary-task state  $x_t^p = [y_t; \dot{y}_t; \Phi_t; \alpha_t]$ , and define  $u_t^p = \dot{\alpha}_t$ . To account for unmodeled effects, our model also includes a normally distributed noise  $\epsilon_t$  according to a distribution  $N(0, \Sigma_s)$ .

## 10.4.3.2 Model of the Driver's Perception

In this work, we make two simplifying assumptions about the driver's perception of the vehicle states:

- 1. All vehicle states are perfectly perceived when the driver's glance is on the road. Although this is not entirely physiologically plausible, as e.g. the human vestibular system cannot detect yaw rates below  $\sim 0.025$  rad/s [24], we chose this model as it allows more efficient optimal control. We compensate model errors by allowing stochastic deviations from the optimal policy.
- 2. The driver can perfectly perceive the steering angle and cannot perceive all other vehicle states during distracted driving. For the secondary task we used in the experiment, this assumption is reasonable, as it requires glances with high eccentricity from the road viewing direction. Hence, effects of peripheral vision can be considered negligible.

These aspects can be formalized in the OM

$$p(o_t|x_t^p) = H(x_t^o)x_t^p := \begin{cases} o_t \equiv [y_t; \dot{y}_t; \Phi_t; \alpha_t] & \text{if } x_t^o = 1\\ o_t \equiv [0; 0; 0; \alpha_t] & \text{if } x_t^o = 0 \end{cases},$$
(10.8)

where the binary variable  $x_t^o$  indicates whether the driver looks through a ROI what allows to obtain information about the vehicle state (= 1) or not (= 0). The driver can change  $x_t^o$  by means of gaze switches  $u_t^o$ :

$$x_{t+1}^{o} = \begin{cases} x_{t}^{o} & \text{if } u_{t}^{o} = 0\\ \neg x_{t}^{o} & \text{if } u_{t}^{o} = 1 \end{cases}$$
(10.9)

#### 10.4.3.3 Rewards for the Primary Task of Vehicle Control

To finalize the MDP a reward-function is required to assess policies. Regarding the vehicle states we apply the reward model

$$\theta^T \varphi(y_t, \dot{y}_t, \Phi_t, \alpha_t, \dot{\alpha}_t) = -\theta_1 y_t^2 - \theta_2 \dot{y}_t^2 - \theta_3 \alpha_t^2 - \theta_4 \dot{\alpha}_t^2, \forall_i : \theta_i \ge 0.$$
(10.10)

We assume that the driver seeks to keep the vehicle in the lane center, hence the squared deviation from the road center and the squared lateral velocity are minimized. Further,

penalties for the square of the steering angle and its velocity are employed to account for steering of minimal effort. Note, that previous work used similar objectives in POMDP modelling of automobile driving [19, 33].

#### 10.4.3.4 Transformation from POMDP to Belief MDP

Before we proceed with describing the reward model on the secondary task and the gaze behaviour, we first transform the discussed POMDP element into a belief MDP.

The partial observable vehicle states are subject to linear-affine dynamics and a linear observation model with Gaussian noise. Hence, as a basic result from filter theory, the belief is a Gaussian  $b_t(x_t^p) = N(\mu_t^p, \Sigma_t^p)$  that is given by the a-posterior distribution resulting from the Kalman filter. Accordingly, the belief update manifests in

$$\Sigma_{t+1}^p = \Sigma_{t+1}^1 - \Sigma_{t+1}^2 \tag{10.11}$$

$$p(\mu_{t+1}^p | \mu_t^p, \Sigma_t^p) = N(\mu_{t+1}^p | \mu_{t+1}^1, \Sigma_{t+1}^2)$$
(10.12)

$$\Sigma_{t+1}^{1} = A(v_t)\Sigma_t^{p}A(v_t)^{T} + \Sigma_s, \mu_{t+1}^{1} = A_t(v_t)\mu_t^{p} + B(v_t)u_t^{p} + a(v_t)$$
(10.13)

$$K_{t+1} = \Sigma_{t+1}^{1} H(x_{t+1}^{o})^{T} (H(x_{t}^{o}) \Sigma_{t+1}^{1} H(x_{t+1}^{o})^{T})^{-1}$$
(10.14)

$$\Sigma_{t+1}^2 = K_{t+1} H(x_t^o) \Sigma_{t+1}^1.$$
(10.15)

The reward model of the belief,  $\mathbf{E}\left[\theta^T \varphi\left(x_t^p, u_t^p\right) | b_t\left(x_t^p\right)\right]$  can be expressed by

$$-\theta_1 \left(\mathbf{E}[y]\right)^2 - \theta_2 \left(\mathbf{E}[\dot{y}]\right)^2 - \theta_3 \left(\mathbf{E}[\alpha]\right)^2 - \theta_4 \dot{\alpha}^2 - \operatorname{tr}\left(\operatorname{diag}(\theta_1, \theta_2, 0, \theta_3) \Sigma_t^p\right). \quad (10.16)$$

Here, tr(X) denotes the sum of the diagonal elements of a matrix X and diag(x, y) denotes the diagonal matrix built from the scalars x, y. Note that as  $\Sigma_t^p = 0$  if the driver is looking at the road, i. e. if  $x_t^o = 1$ , the number of the timesteps  $d_t$  the driver's glance is off the road can be used to substitute  $\Sigma_t^p$ .

#### 10.4.3.5 Rewards for Secondary Task and Gaze Behaviour

The optimal policy with respect to the objective on the vehicle states alone, results in fully attentive driving. This is because the observation model when glancing away from the road decreases control performance and leads to lower reward. Therefore, we assume that the secondary task engagement is of some utility to the driver, i. e. also produces a certain amount of reward. Mathematically, we formulate this as a generic constant positive reward for every time step of engagement,

$$\theta_5 \varphi \left( x_t^o \right) = \theta_5 x_t^o, \theta_5 \ge 0, \tag{10.17}$$

to account for a variety of tasks. As long as the reward from the secondary task outweighs the loss of reward resulting from deteriorated vehicle control a certain amount of glances will be paid to the secondary task. However, in the current reward model the optimal policy will switch between both tasks in a high frequency: Because of the gradual increase of the covariance in the belief  $x_t^o = 0$  will be held for only very few time steps. However, in driving less gaze switches occur in the time scale of 25 Hz. This is because switches require interrupting the task, moving the eyes from the secondary to the outside scenery, and likely also a refocus. Hence, we add a penalty

$$\theta_6 \varphi(u_t^o) = \theta_6 u_t^o, \theta_6 \le 0 \tag{10.18}$$

to the reward model to account for the effort of gaze switching, similar as proposed in [18].

#### 10.4.3.6 Taking into Account Human Execution Quality

Although, optimal control provides a sound basis to characterise the driver's strategic behaviour, the optimal policy is not perfectly executed in real driving. One reason for this is, that we neglected certain human limitations in the MDP. Additionally, individual drivers differ in the specific choice of the control objective: For example, some drivers might value the secondary task higher than others. For these reasons a stochastic policy is more appropriate for predicting the range of real-world behaviour of drivers. This is important especially in lane keeping, as the steering performance additionally influences the necessary gaze policy: A driver who uses a more foresighted and low-noise steering policy can glance away from the road much longer. Already [19] mentioned, that the driver's steering noise had a strong influence in their model. We adapt the principle of Maximal Causal Entropy MCE [21] to systematically address this aspect in the optimal control model. Here, we assume that drivers act according to a distribution of policies:

$$p(\widetilde{\pi}(u|x)) \propto \exp\left(\mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{t=0}^{T} r(u_t, u_t) | P(x_{t+1}|x_t, u_t), \widetilde{\pi}(u_t|x_t), p_0(x_0)\right]\right).$$
(10.19)

Under this distribution, the likelihood of a specific policy is a monotonic function of its expected reward, i. e. the higher the reward, the more likely is the policy. This leverages the interpretation of MCE as a model of sub-optimal yet proficient behaviour. Note that scaling the reward controls the spread around the optimal policy – multiplying r with a factor 0 < c < 1 results in an increase in variation.

The stochastic policy (this is equivalent to a distribution over policies) can be computed by "softened" Bellman equations:

$$\tilde{Q}_T(x_T, u_T) = r_T(x_T, u_T)$$
 (10.20)

$$\widetilde{Q}_{t}(x_{t}, u_{t}) = r_{t}(x_{t}, u_{t}) + \mathbb{E}\left[\widetilde{V}_{t+1}(x_{t+1})|P(x_{t+1}|x_{t}, u_{t})\right]$$
(10.21)

# **Driver Model**



**Fig. 10.3** Illustration of the final model comprising of a driver and a vehicle model that are connected by the driver's policy

$$\widetilde{V}_t(x_t) = \log\left(\int \exp\left(\widetilde{Q}_t(x_t, u_t)\right) du_t\right)$$
(10.22)

$$\widetilde{\pi}_t(u_t|x_t) = \exp\left(\widetilde{Q}_t(x_t, u_t) - \widetilde{V}_t(x_t)\right)$$
(10.23)

Similar as [25], we apply the MCE to the previously derived belief-MDP. This enables to compute the stochastic policy by a Riccati-type iteration combined with the "softened" Bellman equations [22]. The final model including the vehicle kinematics, driver perception and the policy is illustrated in Fig. 10.3.

## 10.4.4 Learning Driver Strategies

For numerical computation of the drivers policy and behaviour prediction, it is necessary to specify the reward parameters  $\theta_i$ , i = 1, 2, ..., 6. The correct numerical values are of high importance as they *implicitly* define both the optimal and the MCE policy.

## 10.4.4.1 Inverse Optimal Control

In this work we infer  $\theta$  from collected driving data. We assume that the driver follows an optimal or proficient policy that generated sequences of states and controls  $D = \{(x_t^i, u_t^i), t = 0, 1, ..., T\}, i = 1, 2, ..., n$  in the derived stochastic process model under a reward model  $\theta^T \varphi(y_t, \dot{y}_t, \Phi_t, \alpha_t, \dot{\alpha}_t, x_t^o, u_t^o)$  with unknown parameters  $\theta$ . In this setting the parameters of the underlying reward can be estimated by means of Inverse Optimal Control (IOC).

In our case of a linear parametrization of the reward, the feature matching condition for reward reconstruction [26] can be applied. This criterion is stated as follows: If reward parameters  $\hat{\theta}$  are found that the optimal policy  $\hat{\pi}$  for reward  $\hat{\theta}^T \varphi(x, u)$  fulfils the feature matching condition

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{t=0}^{T}\varphi(u_{t},u_{t})\middle| P\left(x_{t+1}|x_{t},u_{t}\right),\hat{\pi}\left(u_{t}|x_{t}\right),p_{0}(x_{0})\right] = 1/n\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{t=0}^{T}\varphi(x_{t}^{i},u_{t}^{i}),$$
(10.24)

then  $\hat{\theta}^T \varphi(x, u)$  is a reward the observed policy is optimal for.

## 10.4.4.2 Inverse Optimal Control in MCE

While the scale of  $\theta$  does not matter in optimal control (without restriction  $\theta$  can be assumed to have unit norm), in MCE this quantity is controlling the execution quality and must also be inferred. For this purpose, in IOC in the MCE framework the feature matching condition is combined with maximization of the conditional entropy of the policy  $-\mathbf{E} \left[ \pi \left( u | x \right) \log \pi \left( u | x \right) | p \left( x \right) \right]$ . Here, p(x) is the state distribution resulting from rollout of  $\pi(u|x)$  wrt. to the MDP process model. Effectively, this estimates the policy distribution with the highest variation that still archives the same expectation in all parts of the reward model as the data. As shown in [21], this results in a very statistically robust estimation procedure. Mathematically, this approach is formulated as the following constrained optimization problem

$$\max_{\pi} - \mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{t=0}^{T} \pi_t \left(u_t | x_t\right) \log \pi_t \left(u_t | x_t\right) \middle| p(x_t)\right]$$
(10.25)

st. 
$$\mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{t=0}^{T}\varphi(u_t, u_t)\middle| P\left(x_{t+1}|x_t, u_t\right), \pi_t\left(u_t|x_t\right), p_0(x_0)\right] = 1/n \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{t=0}^{T}\varphi(x_t^i, u_t^i)$$
(10.26)

The optimization problem can efficiently and globally be solved by solution of the equivalent [22] unconstrained convex minimization problem

$$\min_{\theta} \mathbf{E} \left[ \tilde{V}_{0}^{\theta} \left( x_{0} \right) | p \left( x_{0} \right) \right] - 1/n \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{t=0}^{T} \theta^{T} \varphi \left( x_{t}^{i}, u_{t}^{i} \right).$$
(10.27)

Here  $\widetilde{V}_0^{\theta}(x_0)$  is the result of Eq. 10.22 given a specific  $\theta$ . The gradient of the optimization objective required for numerical solution is given by

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{t=0}^{T}\varphi(u_t, u_t)\middle| P\left(x_{t+1}|x_t, u_t\right), \pi_t^{\theta}\left(u_t|x_t\right), p_0(x_0)\right] - 1/n \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{t=0}^{T}\varphi(x_t^i, u_t^i)$$
(10.28)

# 10.5 Experiment in Real Traffic

## 10.5.1 Experiment

To evaluate our modelling approach, we conducted a experiment on a public highway. We decided against a experiment in a driving simulator because of possible influences on the participants' behaviour by absence of real risk. In addition to that, evaluation of prediction robustness on realistic sensor input, i. e. noisy signals, is important.

We recruited seven drivers (6 male, 1 female) that had taken part in an internal driving safety training. The experiment consisted of four fixed driving speed conditions {80, 90, 100, 110} km/h. Vehicle speed was controlled by the vehicle's Adaptive Cruise Control (ACC) to prevent drivers from adjusting their speed as a compensatory action while being engaged in a secondary task. A conservative time gap was employed to ensure that the distance to preceding vehicles did have the least possible influence on the drivers' behaviour. When the vehicle travelled at the required speed, the measurement periods were started. Such a period was either a reference, where the participants drove fully attentive or involved a visually distracting secondary task. At each speed level three secondary tasks and three reference periods per participant were triggered by the investigator.

The task we used in this experiment consisted of reading and typing a series of  $3 \times 10$  random numbers. The individual numbers that could either be a "1" or a "2" were displayed at the position of the vehicle's central information display. Fig. 10.4 shows both the position of the display and the task presentation. Once the participant had pressed the correct number on a number pad, the next number was generated and displayed. To induce realistic behaviour, the participants were instructed to "perform the secondary task as quickly and correctly as possible while not endangering driving safety". This artificial task was chosen, as it resembles the principle of a variety of real visual-manual tasks performed while driving, and possesses several advantages. First, the task state is fully



**Fig. 10.4** Illustration of the used secondary task. Left picture shows the task representation on the display where the participant is requested to type the first digit "1" and second digit "2". The remaining digits are not shown yet, instead their fields are initialized with "0". Right picture shows a participant conducting the secondary task while driving

measurable and can be modelled easily, in contrast to the tasks on the vehicle's interaction system. Second, the participants needed only little practice to reach maximum execution performance, resulting in no significant learning effects during the experiment.

## 10.5.2 Sensors and Measured Signals

#### 10.5.2.1 Measurement Equipment

The demonstrated behaviour in the experiment was recorded with a variety of sensors: The position of the vehicle in lane  $y_t$ , the angle between the tangent of the lane boundary and the vehicle's longitudinal axis  $\Phi_t$  and the curvature  $\kappa_t$  were measured by tracking the lane boundaries using the Multi-Purpose Camera (MPC2) system (Robert Bosch GmbH, Stuttgart, Germany). The remaining vehicle signals were recorded from the vehicle's Controller Area Network (CAN). The driver's gaze direction and head orientation were estimated using the infra-red eye tracking system with active illumination SmartEye Pro (SmartEye AB, Gothenburg, Sweden). The test-vehicle was equipped with three-cameras in the left A-pillar, in front of the instrument cluster and on the dashboard above display. The output of the eye-tracking system was fused by an in-house algorithm and reduced to the binary eye-on-road or eyes-off-road signal  $x_t^o$  based on a ROI-algorithm similar to other authors [1].

#### 10.5.2.2 Pre-processing

In order to ensure sufficient quality for numerical evaluation and computation of statistics, the following pre-processing and filtering steps were performed on the collected raw data:

- 1. We first selected the valid trials according to a fixed protocol. Here, we automatically excluded lane changes and their preparation phases: As a different driving manoeuvre than lane keeping it requires a different driving and gaze policy. Also situations where the ACC controller reduced the vehicle speed by more than 5% were left out: We found that approaching a preceding vehicle increases the amount of glance time in the ROI. Additionally, distinct speeds are required to separate the driving conditions. The final dataset consisted of 136 valid segments comprising of 53 reference and 83 secondary task periods with an average duration of 20 and 45 s.
- 2. As the used sensors operate at different frequencies, e. g. the eye-tracking at 60 Hz but the lane-tracking at 25 Hz, we subsampled all signals to 25 Hz. Thereafter, the Kalmansmoother was employed for filtering of the partially low resolution signals  $y, \Phi, \alpha, \dot{\alpha}, \kappa$ using the previously presented kinematic vehicle model. The system parameters  $c, \Sigma_s$ as well as the sensor noise-covariance  $\Sigma_{\mu}$  were estimated by expectation-maximization as proposed for vehicle models by [27]. Here, we used the data of both reference and secondary task periods.



**Fig. 10.5** Illustration of the distribution of off-road glance duration. Dashed lines in red indicate the 5 and 95% percentiles, the median is indicated with a black continuous line

# 10.5.3 Behavioural Statistics

In the experiment similar glance behaviour as described in previous work in real traffic [5] was observed. As can be seen in Fig. 10.5, the artificial secondary task resulted in a pronounced mode at the median of the distribution of the off-road-gaze duration at approximately 1.2 s. This mode appeared to be consistent across the four speed conditions. In contrast, the higher percentiles decreased with increasing speed. This could statistically be verified for the groups 80, (90, 100), 110 km/h and the 75 precentile.

Another important metric used for quantification of the effects of distraction is the standard deviation of the lane position. We computed this statistic for each period of reference driving and driving with a secondary task.

As can be seen from Fig. 10.6, this metric was significantly lower in driving without a secondary task  $p = 3 \times 10^{-4}$ . This shows that the used secondary task induced significant distraction resulting in decreased driving performance.





# 10.6 Numerical Evaluation

To demonstrate the effectiveness of our IOC-based approach we conducted two numerical evaluations which will be presented in the following section. Here, we compared against a baseline comprising of established behaviour models for human attention allocation and foresighted steering.

# 10.6.1 Baseline Model

Johnson et al. [28] presented a model for gaze-switching in visual dual tasking, where the probability of a glance to a task is a logistic function of the uncertainty in its states. In our case, uncertainty is only present in the vehicle states – the random number on the display is either known if the driver has seen it already or unknown otherwise. Hence, we adapted the original approach to our scenario and applied a model given by the switching policy  $\pi^{\lambda}(u_t^o|x_t^o, \Sigma_t^p)$ 

$$p(u_t^o | x_t^o = 1) = \frac{\exp(\lambda_1) + u_t^o}{\exp(\lambda_1) + 1}$$
(10.29)

$$p\left(u_{t}^{o} \mid x_{t}^{o} = 0, \Sigma_{t}^{p}\right) = \frac{\exp\left(\lambda_{2} + \operatorname{tr}(\Lambda \Sigma_{t}^{p})\right) + u_{t}^{o}}{\exp\left(\lambda_{2} + \operatorname{tr}(\Lambda \Sigma_{t}^{p})\right) + 1}$$
(10.30)

with parameters  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \Lambda$ .

Furthermore we used the two-point-steering model of [29] to model human foresighted steering, including curve negotiation. In that model it is assumed that the driver's steering policy builds on a visual near-angle  $\beta_1$  and a visual far-angle  $\beta_2$ . Given a line with width w, the visual near-angle is defined as the angle between a line from the vehicle center to a point on the road center typically 2 m ahead and the vehicle's longitudinal axis. The far-angle  $\beta_2$  is defined as the angle of minimal magnitude of the angles between the tangents from the vehicle's center to both boundaries and the vehicle's longitudinal axis. Both angles are illustrated in Fig. 10.7 using an arc approximation of the track.

**Fig. 10.7** Illustrations of the geometric relations in the two-point steering model, give an arc track-model



Correspondingly, we computed both angles using the equations:

$$\beta_1 = -\arctan\frac{y}{2m} - \Phi \tag{10.31}$$

$$\beta_2 = \begin{cases} -\arccos\left(\frac{1}{1-\kappa\left(\frac{w}{2}+y\right)}\right) - \Phi & \text{if } \kappa < 0\\ +\arccos\left(\frac{1}{1+\kappa\left(\frac{w}{2}+y\right)}\right) - \Phi & \text{if } \kappa \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(10.32)

The resulting angles were fed into a stochastic policy

$$\dot{\alpha} = \lambda_3 \beta_1 + \lambda_4 \beta_2 + \lambda_5 \alpha + \epsilon_6. \tag{10.33}$$

This differs from the approach of (ibid.), were a proportional-differential (PD) controller was applied. However, using the arc-approximation of curves the PD turned out to be unstable on real data. The reason is, that the curvature measured by lane tracking oscillated around 0 leading to frequent jumps in angle  $\beta_2$ .

Both approaches for attention allocation and foresighted steering were combined by replacing  $y, \Phi$  in Eq. 10.32, by their expectation under the Kalman filter, if  $x_t^o = 0$ , i. e. if the gaze of the driver is off the road. Note, that this principle was also adopted in [28], however the authors used a proportional-integral-differential controller acting directly on the vehicle states.

#### 10.6.2 Evaluation Protocol

In the numerical evaluation of our MCE-IOC based approach against the baseline, we subdivided the reference and secondary task periods Sect. 10.5.1 into smaller snippets of 5s. Which is the maximum realistic prediction horizon of an assistance system relying on behaviour prediction.

A common issue in statistical parameter estimation is the problem of overfitting. This occurs when parameters are inferred that are too specific for a subset of the data not generalizing on the rest of the data. For this reason often the parameters of models are regularized in the estimation procedure. In MCE-IOC we relax perfect feature matching Eq. 10.26 to a tolerance of one percent of the norm of the empirical feature expectation

$$\frac{\left|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{t=0}^{T}\varphi\left(x_{t}^{i},u_{t}^{i}\right)-\mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{t=0}^{T}\varphi\left(u_{t},u_{t}\right)|P\left(x_{t+1}|x_{t},u_{t}\right),\pi_{t}^{\theta}\left(u_{t}|x_{t}\right),p_{0}\left(x_{0}\right)\right]\right|}{\left|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{t=0}^{T}\varphi\left(x_{t}^{i},u_{t}^{i}\right)\right|} < 0.01$$

(10.34)

what effectively adds a regularization of  $\rho|\theta|$  to the MCE-IOC objective. The baseline parameters  $\lambda_i$  were inferred by rewriting both models as generalized linear models. MAT-LAB's implementation of parameter estimation including auto-optimization of a regularization of  $\rho|\lambda|$  was used in the numerical experiment [30].

To assess the prediction quality of both approaches in the evaluation snippets, the first states  $x_0^s$ ,  $x_0^o$  were used as the initial state distributions  $p_0$ . Following, we sampled 100 state sequences of each model by policy roll-out, i.e. given a state new controls were sampled from the policy and together a new state was sampled by means of the process model. Here, the pre-estimated steering angle transmission ratio *c* and system model noise covariance  $\Sigma_s$  Sect. 10.5.2.2 were used. Two numerical experiments were conducted:

- We evaluated the overall prediction performance. Therefore, we randomly divided the entire data into two subsets of equal size *independently of participant, condition and track topology*. One set was used for parameter estimation (train) while the other set was used for evaluation on unseen data (test). Afterwards the roles of both sets were changed. To increase robustness in the performance statistics, we repeated the procedure 10 times.
- 2. We evaluated the transfer performance, i. e. the generalization of the approaches on unseen driving speeds. If employed in any assistance system, a prediction model has to be of low error in *all* relevant scenarios. However, it is impossible that all these scenarios are contained in a training dataset. For this reason, it is important to also asses if and to what extent the prediction quality is affected when testing on unseen speeds. For this purpose, we first trained on half of the data of a single speed. Thereafter, we evaluated on the other half of the same speed (same) and the all the data of other speeds (trans). Similar as in evaluation (1.) the procedure was repeated 5 times.

On the obtained data in both evaluations the prediction quality was assessed by two metrics:

We computed the expected squared error in prediction of the trajectory, i.e. the sequence of lane positions:

$$SE^{i}(y) = E\left[\frac{1}{T}\sum_{i=0}^{T} (y_{t} - y_{t}^{i})^{2} \middle| \pi, P, p_{0}^{i}\right].$$
 (10.35)

This metric assess if the effects of distraction on driving behaviour can be predicted. Note that both the steering policy and the gaze-switching policy contribute to this metric.

In addition to that, we also separately assessed the prediction of the gaze behaviour. Here, we investigated the difference in distribution of the time passed since the last glance on the road, i. e. the eyes-off-road duration  $d_t$ , in the collected data  $p^i(d)$  and the prediction p(d). This difference can be quantified in the Kullback-Leibler divergence, defined by

$$\mathrm{KL}\left(p^{i}\left(d\right)|\left|p\left(d\right)\right) = \sum_{d} p^{i}\left(d\right)\left(\log p^{i}\left(d\right) - \log p\left(d\right)\right).$$
(10.36)

Note, that both metrics are strictly positive resulting in skewed distributions. For this reason, we will report nonparametric statistics in the following results section.

# 10.6.3 Results

The results of the first evaluation comparing the baseline model (base) and our approach (ours) are presented in Table 10.2, while Table 10.3 summarizes the results of the second evaluation.

The results are further illustrated by box-plots in Fig. 10.8. Here, the strongly skewed shape of the error distributions, mentioned earlier, are apparent.

Metric	Base train	Test	Ours train	Test
Median SE	0.0482	0.0484	0.0154	0.0157
Median KL	0.0998	0.1006	0.0731	0.0727

 Table 10.2
 Results of Evaluation 1 – Overall Prediction Performance

Train	Metric	Test				
		80 km/h	90 km/h	100 km/h	110 km/h	
80 km/h	SE ours	0.0154	0.0143	0.0164	0.0154	
	Base	0.0293	0.0572	0.0725	0.0836	
	KL ours	0.0851	0.0744	0.0738	0.0701	
	Base	0.1280	0.1180	0.1025	0.1216	
90 km/h	SE ours	0.0152	0.0148	0.0159	0.0163	
	Base	0.0310	0.0365	0.0477	0.0627	
	KL ours	0.0833	0.0748	0.0730	0.0721	
	Base	0.1307	0.1146	0.1018	0.1200	
100 km/h	SE ours	0.0147	0.0160	0.0155	0.0161	
	Base	0.0311	0.0390	0.0450	0.0584	
	KL ours	0.0838	0.0763	0.0731	0.0693	
	Base	0.1374	0.1124	0.1100	0.1173	
110 km/h	SE ours	0.0157	0.0152	0.0179	0.0177	
	Base	0.0401	0.0408	0.0479	0.0603	
	KL ours	0.0825	0.0724	0.0755	0.0721	
	Base	0.1249	0.1076	0.0901	0.1102	

 Table 10.3
 Results of Evaluation 2 – Transfer Prediction Performance



## 10.6.4 Discussion

In the current section we will consider a significance level of  $\alpha < 0.01$  for the corresponding non-parametric tests (signed rank, rank-sum) on the medians.

Our model based on inverse optimal control shows consistently better performance, i. e. it has a lower prediction error, in both evaluations and in both metrics. In the first evaluation, performance of our approach was highly significantly better, what can also be seen in the notches of the boxplot. For both parameter-estimation (ours, base) the regularization was chosen appropriately as no significant performance differences between training and test could be established. The difference between our approach and the baseline likely results from two aspects: First, our steering model takes into account the track curvature of the entire prediction horizon what appears to be a more appropriated model for human foresighted steering. Second, by modelling both steering and gaze behaviour in a joint POMDP, the resulting gaze-switching policy takes into account the *future* consequences of the uncertainty during off-road glancing. In contrast, Johnson et al.'s barrier model is reactive and operates solely on the recent uncertainty and also lacks a link to the steering policy. The second evaluation gives further insight into the differences in prediction quality: First, our approach performs significantly better in almost all (train speed, test speed) conditions. For both approaches significant between-condition-variations could be established by a Kruskal-Wallis test. However, the variance of our model was significantly lower according to an Ansari-Bradley test. Finally, the difference between the median error on unseen speeds and seen speeds was significantly higher for the baseline approach in both metrics. The low variance in prediction error of the IOC based approach can be explained by its higher level of behaviour abstraction: Instead directly estimating a behaviour model in form of a policy, IOC rather estimates the preferences or motivations in form of the reward model that cause the policies. If those preferences and the situational dynamics can be described, IOC can accurately predict the specific policies in a broad range of different scenarios. This could been shown in a variety of modelling problems, e. g. [31], and is confirmed by the good transfer performance in the considered case.

# 10.7 Conclusion

In this chapter, we presented an approach to model situation specific driver behaviour in visually distracted lane keeping. Based on the paradigm of "the human as an optimal controller and information processor", we first derived a model of the control task in lane keeping and introduced a model for the impaired perception of the driver looking off the road for some secondary task. We used maximum causal entropy inverse optimal control to identify both the driver's reward model and his execution precision from data obtained in a real-traffic experiment. In two numerical evaluations our model consistently show significantly lower prediction error than established behaviour models. This holds true, especially, in the prediction in situations unseen in parameter estimation.

Although the results of the conducted numerical evaluation are very promising, further investigation have to be done. First, we used a simplistic model of the driver's perception that was grounded on reasonable assumptions for the secondary task used in the experiment. However, these assumptions will no longer be valid for other display locations. Therefore, further research has to address the perception model and to develop methods for its inference from data. Second, the scenario addressed in the experiment quite restricted: Constant high speeds 80, 90, 100, 110 km/h. To finalize the validation of the proposed approach, significantly lower speeds as well as accelerations and decelerations have to be addressed. Finally, lane keeping is only one aspect of safe driving, besides headway control or special manoeuvres as lane change. Hence, also models for these actions have to be developed.

# References

- Lee, J.D., Young, K.L., Regan, M.A.: Defining driver distraction. Driver distraction. Theory Eff Mitig 31, 31–40 (2008)
- Sivak, M.: The information that drivers use: is it indeed 90\% visual? Perception 25, 1081–1089 (1996)
- Dingus, T.A., Hulse, M.C., Antin, J.F., Wierwille, W.W.: Attentional demand requirements of an automobile moving-map navigation system. Transportation Res Part A: Gen 23(4), 301–315 (1989)
- 4. Peng, Y., Boyle, L.N., Hallmark, S.L.: Driver's lane keeping ability with eyes off road: Insights from a naturalistic study. Accid Analysis & Prev **50**, 628–634 (2013)
- 5. Engström, J., Johansson, E., Östlund, J.: Effects of visual and cognitive load in real and simulated motorway driving. Transportation Res Part F: Traffic Psychol Behav **8**(2), 97–120 (2005)
- Liang, Y., Lee, J.D.: Combining cognitive and visual distraction: Less than the sum of its parts. Accid Analysis Prev 42(3), 881–890 (2010)

- Klauer, S.G., Dingus, T.A., Neale, V.L., Sudweeks, J.D., Ramsey, D.J.: The impact of driver inattention on near-crash/crash risk: An analysis using the 100-car naturalistic driving study data. Tech. rep., National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Washington D.C. (2006)
- 8. Victor, T., et al.: Analysis of naturalistic driving study data: Safer glances, driver inattention, and crash risk. Tech. rep., SHRP 2 Safety. National Transportation Research Center (2015)
- 9. Blaschke, C., Breyer, F., Färber, B., Freyer, J., Limbacher, R.: Driver distraction based lanekeeping assistance. Transportation Res Part F: Traffic Psychol Behav **12**(4), 288–299 (2009)
- Dong, Y., Hu, Z., Uchimura, K., Murayama, N.: Driver inattention monitoring system for intelligent vehicles: A review. IEEE Trans Intell Transportation Syst 12(2), 596–614 (2011)
- Lee, J.D., Moeckli, J., Brown, T.L., Roberts, S.C., Schwarz, C., Yekhshatyan, L.: Distraction detection and mitigation through driver feedback. Tech. rep., National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Washington D.C. (2013)
- Wollmer, M., Blaschke, C., Schindl, T., Schuller, B., Farber, B., Mayer, S., Trefflich, B.: Online driver distraction detection using long short-term memory. IEEE Trans Intell Transportation Syst 12(2), 574–582 (2011)
- Schömig, N., Metz, B., Krüger, H.-P.: Anticipatory and control processes in the interaction with secondary tasks while driving. Transportation Res Part F: Traffic Psychol Behav 14(6), 525–538 (2011)
- Li, N., Busso, C.: Predicting perceived visual and cognitive distractions of drivers with multimodal features. IEEE Transactions of Intelligent Transportation Systems 16.1, 51–65 (2015)
- Liang, Y., Lee, J.D., Yekhshatyan, L.: How dangerous is looking away from the road? Algorithms predict crash risk from glance patterns in naturalistic driving. Hum Factors 54(6), 1104–1116 (2012)
- Senders, J.W., Kristofferson, A., Levison, W., Dietrich, C., Ward, J.: The attentional demand of automobile driving. Highway research record, vol. 195. (1967)
- 17. Godthelp, H., Milgram, P., Blaauw, G.J.: The development of a time-related measure to describe driving strategy. Hum Factors **26**(3), 257–268 (1984)
- Baron, S., Kleinman, D.L.: The human as an optimal controller and information processor. Man-machine Syst IEEE Trans 10(1), 9–17 (1969)
- Blaauw, G.J., Godthelp, H., Milgram, P.: Optimal control model applications and field measurements with respect to car driving. Veh Syst Dyn 13(2), 93–111 (1984)
- Sheridan, T.B.: Driver distraction from a control theory perspective. Hum Factors 46(4), 587– 599 (2004)
- Ziebart, B.D., Bagnell, J., Dey, A.K.: Modeling Interaction via the Principle of Maximum Causal Entropy. Proc. of the 27th International Conference on Machine Learning (ICML)., pp 1255–1262 (2010)
- Schmitt, F., Bieg, H.-J., Manstetten, D., Herman, M., Stiefelhagen, R.: Exact Maximum Entropy Inverse Optimal Control for Modeling Human Attention Scheduling and Control. Proc. of the IEEE Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics. (2016)
- 23. Risack, R., Klausmann, P., Krüger, W., Enkelmann, W.: Robust lane recognition embedded in a real-time driver assistance system. Proc. IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium. (1998)
- 24. Nash, C.J., Cole, D.J., Bigler, R.S.: A review of human sensory dynamics for application to models of driver steering and speed control. Biol Cybern **110**(2–3), 91–116 (2016)
- Chen, X., Ziebart, B.D.: Predictive Inverse Optimal Control for Linear-Quadratic-Gaussian Systems. Proc. of the 18th International Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Statistics (AISTATS)., pp 165–173 (2015)
- Abbeel, P., Ng, A.Y.: Apprenticeship learning via inverse reinforcement learning. Proc. of the 21th International conference on Machine learning (ICML)., p 1 (2004)

- Stellet, J.E., Straub, F., Schumacher, J., Branz, W., Zöllner, J.M.: Estimating the process noise variance for vehicle motion models. Proc. of the IEEE 18th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC)., pp 1512–1519 (2015)
- Johnson, L., Sullivan, B., Hayhoe, M., Ballard, D.: A soft barrier model for predicting human visuomotor behavior in a driving task. Proc. of the 35th Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society., pp 689–691 (2013)
- Salvucci, D.D., Gray, R.: A two-point visual control model of steering. Perception-London 33(10), 1233–1248 (2004)
- 30. MathWorks: MATLAB Statistics Toolbox (Version 14b) (2014)
- Shimosaka, M., Kaneko, T., Nishi, K.: Modeling risk anticipation and defensive driving on residential roads with inverse reinforcement learning. Proc. of the IEEE 17th International Conference on Intelligent Transport Systems (ITSC). (2014)
- 32. Jain, J.J., Busso, C.: Assessment of driver's distraction using perceptual evaluations, selfassessments and multimodal feature analysis. Proc. of the 5th Biennial workshop on DSP for in-vehicle systems. (2011)
- Keen, S.D., Cole, D.J.: Application of time-variant predictive control to modelling driver steering skill. Veh Syst Dyn 49(4), 527–559 (2011)
- Pohl, J., Birk, W., Westervall, L.: A driver-distraction-based lane-keeping assistance system. Proc Inst Mech Eng Part I: J Syst Control Eng 221(4), 541–552 (2007)

# Lane Change Prediction: From Driver Characteristics, Manoeuvre Types and Glance Behaviour to a Real-Time Prediction Algorithm

Matthias Beggiato, Timo Pech, Veit Leonhardt, Philipp Lindner, Gerd Wanielik, Angelika Bullinger-Hoffmann, and Josef Krems

# 11.1 Introduction

Lane change manoeuvres pose high demands on the driver [1, 2] and are connected with a substantial accident risk. In Germany in the year 2014, 13% of accidents with personal injury on motorway were associated with lane change manoeuvres, 5% on roads within built-up areas [3]. Lane Change Decision Aid Systems (ISO 17387:[4]) aim at providing assistance for this type of manoeuvres. Estimations of the safety potential for lane change assistance/blind spot warning range up to 24% of addressable lane change-crashes [5] and 25% of crash severity reduction [6]. However, to fully exploit this potential it is essential that drivers accept these systems and use them in daily live. One important precondition for acceptance is the ability of Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS) to provide reliable assistance specifically when required [7]. False alarms in situations where the driver has no intention to change the lane could annoy, distract and irritate drivers. As a consequence, ADAS could be disregarded or disabled and the potential safety benefit gets lost. Driver intent information is supposed to reduce the mismatch between driver expectations and system reactions. If an intended lane change can be predicted before it is initiated, 1) lane change assistance can be activated specifically at this moment, 2) parameters of other ADAS such as lane departure warning, adaptive cruise control or collision

M. Beggiato (🖂) · J. Krems

Cognitive and Engineering Psychology, Chemnitz University of Technology Chemnitz, Germany

T. Pech  $\cdot$  V. Leonhardt  $\cdot$  P. Lindner  $\cdot$  G. Wanielik Communications Engineering, Chemnitz University of Technology Chemnitz, Germany

A. Bullinger-Hoffmann Ergonomics and Innovation Management, Chemnitz University of Technology Chemnitz, Germany 11

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_11

warning can be adapted to avoid nuisance alerts and 3) workload-manager can use the information to suppress unnecessary non-driving activity, e. g. messages from the navigation system or incoming calls. Within the German research initiative UR:BAN, the I-FAS investigated lane change intentions at different levels of analysis in order to finally develop a real-time prediction algorithm. The present chapter shows the analysis of lane change predictors on the behavioural, strategic, manoeuvring and control level. Technical details on the real-time algorithm as well as the head-tracking-based glance area estimation can be found in the book-chapter of Leonhardt, Pech, Lindner and Wanielik.

# 11.1.1 Previous Research

Several studies already focus on the assessment of lane change intentions. Best prediction rates can usually be achieved by data fusion from three sources [8]: 1) driver behaviour observation e.g. eye-tracking or head-tracking, 2) sensor information about the environment, e.g. front/side radar and lane detection and 3) vehicle parameters, e.g. turn signal, speed, acceleration, steering wheel angle ... etc. Different algorithms are used to integrate these data sources and predict the intention, e.g. Hidden Markov Models, fuzzy logic, cognitive models, neural networks or regression models [9]. The turn signal appears as rather unreliable indicator for lane changes: In a blind observational study, Ponziani [10] observed 2000 lane changing vehicles at different places and recorded 52% of lawful turn signal usage. Similar values are reported by Lee et al. [11] with 44%, ranging from 11 to 94% for different lane change types. A German study reported a turn signal usage of 55% for lane changes on urban roads and 75% on highways [12]. Similar results were obtained in a second observational study including almost 400,000 vehicles with a turn signal usage of 71% on German highways [13]. Due to this uncertainty, gaze behaviour is considered as a promising predictor at an early stage of manoeuvre planning. The time period of three to four seconds prior a lane change is considered as critical phase of visual search to determine the feasibility of the manoeuvre [8, 14, 15]. As gaze behaviour is linked to the early cognitive phase of information gathering, warnings e.g. from collision avoidance systems are supposed to show a higher impact during this phase compared to action execution at a later stage [16]. Even prior to information gathering, motives for lane changes can be determined. Lee et al. [11] identified a set of 11 reasons for lane changes on interstates and U.S. highways: exit- respectively entry to a highway, slow lead vehicle, return to the original lane, tailgating vehicle, obstacle, merging vehicle, lane drop, added lane, unintended and other. This classification provides a useful basis to distinguish lane change manoeuvres, identify potential predictor variables and perform distinct analysis for each manoeuvre type.

# 11.1.2 Research Questions at Control, Manoeuvring, Strategic and Behavioural Level

Present study aimed at identifying early predictors of lane change manoeuvres on arterial roads in city areas. By using a systematic and comprehensive approach, possible predictors were investigated at different levels of analysis according to the extended hierarchical driver behaviour model of Michon [17]. Michon [18] distinguished three hierarchical levels of the driving task: The control level operates at time constraints of milliseconds and refers to basal car control processes involving automatic action patterns such as lane keeping. On the manoeuvring level, controlled action patterns in time units of seconds are executed, such as lane change manoeuvres. The strategic level comprises general plans with a longer time horizon, such as route and speed choice as well as pre-trip decisions. As an extension of this model, a fourth "behavioural level" was proposed [17], including rather stable individual dispositions such as sociodemographic factors, personality and attitudes that might influence driving behaviour. All levels are linked and interact with each other, e.g. higher general risk taking tendencies on the behavioural level might lead to higher speed choices on the strategic level, resulting in more frequent overtaking on the manoeuvring level which in turn requires more mirror glances and steering activity on the control level. Due to these interdependencies, analyses of potential lane change predictors on all four levels are required to optimize a real-time prediction algorithm. Thus, the following research questions were addressed in the present study:

- Behavioural level (dispositions): How do driver characteristics such as age, gender, cognitive abilities and personality affect the number of lane change manoeuvres performed?
- Strategic level (trip planning): Does the familiarity with the route play a role for the number of lane changes performed?
- Manoeuvring level (controlled action patterns): Are all lane change manoeuvres similar with regard to intent recognition or do we have to distinguish specific patterns for lane change subtypes? Which rates and timings for turn signal usage can be observed?
- Control level (automated action patterns): Which mirror-glance patterns can be identified prior to lane change manoeuvres? How are the patterns related to lane change types, traffic situation and turn signal usage? How stable are these patterns?

To answer the research questions, an explorative on-road study with 60 participants was carried out with a minimum of restrictions in order to assess real driving behaviour as naturalistic as possible.

# 11.2 Methods

# 11.2.1 Participants

Participants were selected in a two-step procedure. In a first short online questionnaire, interested candidates could apply for the study. The questionnaire covered gender, age, driving experience and contact information. Out of the 116 applicants, 60 participants were selected to take part in the study. The aim of the selection was to create two gender-balanced age groups in order to allow for stable statistical analysis of age and gender related issues. The younger age group ranged from 20 to 35 years (M = 28, SD = 4.13) and the older group from 40 to 65 years (M = 51, SD = 6.33). Details on all sample characteristics are presented in Table 11.1. The mean age of the 30 men and 30 women was 39 years (SD = 12.86) with a mean driving experience of 13,500 km per year (SD = 7800).

#### 11.2.2 Study Design and Procedure

The on-road study design was explorative with a minimum of restrictions for the drivers in order to assess natural driving behaviour. Participants were invited for a two hour appointment at the University of Chemnitz. After arriving, information about the aims and procedure was given and all subjects signed the informed consent. Participants were informed that the study aims at acquiring naturalistic driving data (without any reference to lane change manoeuvres). All drivers were instructed to drive as they would usually do and the route was explained. Subsequently, all participants were introduced to the car handling and drove a short test drive of approx. 850 m around the University, accompanied by an experimenter. After clarification of all questions, participants drove the experiment route unaccompanied. Navigation instructions were given by a pre-programmed navigation system in the car. After return, participants filled in the questionnaires and received a remuneration of  $20 \in$ .

Age group	Men			Women			Total		
	Ν	Age M (SD)	km/year M (SD)	Ν	Age M (SD)	km/year M (SD)	N	Age M (SD)	km/year M (SD)
20–35	15	28 (4.56)	10,600 (7300)	15	28 (3.60)	10,100 (4800)	30	28 (4.13)	10,400 (6100)
40–65	15	52 (6.15)	17,000 (6800)	15	50 (6.66)	16,300 (9700)	30	51 (6.33)	16,700 (8200)
Total	30	40 (13.34)	13,800 (7700)	30	39 (12.58)	13,200 (8100)	60	39 (12.86)	13,500 (7800)

 Table 11.1
 Sample characteristics regarding age, gender and mileage per year
#### 11.2.3 Route and Test Vehicle

The experiment route had a total length of 40 km and was composed of two identical 20 km parts within the urban area of Chemnitz (Fig. 11.1b). Each 20 km trip consisted of a 2.5 km two-lane stretch with a speed limit of 50 km/h (A to B), a 13.6 km two-lane part with a speed limit of 70 km/h (B to C to D) and a final 3.9 km one-lane stretch with a speed limit of 50 km/h (D to A). Mean driving time was 1:02:12, ranging from 0:51:42 to 1:28:03.

The test vehicle was a standard VW Touran 2.0 TDI with automatic transmission (Fig. 11.1a). The car was instrumented with a data acquisition system including seven video cameras, differential GPS with a precision up to 40 cm, six radar systems and CAN-logger for vehicle data. The images of the driver camera were captured with 40 Hz and a resolution of  $640 \times 480$  pixels. The front- and the interior camera captured images at a maximum rate of 30 Hz with a resolution of  $640 \times 480$  pixels (Fig. 11.2). Further details on the technical specifications of the test vehicle can be found in the following book-chapter of Leonhardt et al.

# 11.2.4 Questionnaires and Data Preparation

Driver characteristics were assessed using questionnaires and included:

- age, gender and average mileage per year,
- experience with automatic transmission (1 = none to 5 = very experienced),
- familiarity with the route (1 = unknown to 5 = very well known),
- normed Big Five personality trait scores (t-values): agreeableness, openness, conscientiousness, extraversion, neuroticism (NEO-FFI, [19]),
- sensation seeking (Brief sensation seeking scale BSSS; [20]),



**Fig. 11.1** Instrumented test vehicle VW Touran 2.0 TDI (**a**) and experiment route,  $2 \times 20$  km in the urban area of Chemnitz, Germany (**b**). (OpenStreetMap contributors, 2016)



**Fig. 11.2** Video examples front camera (**c**), interior camera (**a**), driver camera (**b**) and synchronised GPS-track (**d**). (OpenStreetMap contributors, 2016)

• perceptual speed assessed by a normed trail-making-test (Zahlenverbindungstest ZVT; [21]).

Lane change manoeuvres as well as mirror glances 10 s prior to lane changes were manually annotated out of the front/driver/interior video using the Annotation Software ELAN (http://tla.mpi.nl/tools/tla-tools/elan/). Lane changes were defined as the moment when the centre of the vehicle crossed the line between two lanes. Every lane change was categorized according to the classification of Lee et al. [11] additional to the lane change direction (left/right). Mirror glances were manually annotated in a time interval 10 s prior to every lane change using both the face and interior video. Discrete glance areas included ahead, rear mirror, left mirror, left window, right mirror, right window and other. To obtain all mirror glances for the whole trips, an algorithm was developed to estimate driver's mirror glances out of video-based head tracking data. A head tracking application programming interface (API) was used, which provided access to algorithms and methods for head tracking in images. Manual video annotations served as training data for the



**Fig. 11.3** Glance areas (**a**) and demonstration of the real-time head-tracking algorithm for the detection of mirror glances (**b**)

algorithm to map glance areas and head tracking angle data. Details on the algorithm development and evaluation can be found in Pech, Lindner and Wanielik [22]. The real-time mirror glance detection using a mono camera has been demonstrated in the test vehicle during the mid-term and final presentation of UR:BAN (Fig. 11.3b). The complete dataset including video annotations, head tracking angles, GPS-, radar- and CAN-information was stored in a relational PostgreSQL-database. For all glance analyses presented in this chapter, the glance areas "ahead" and "other" were merged to "ahead", "left window" and "left mirror" to "left" and "right window" and "right mirror" to "right" (Fig. 11.3a). As a pre-analysis revealed that only 0.24% of single glances lasted shorter than 100 ms, all data was aggregated to 10 Hz.

# 11.3 Results

### 11.3.1 Behavioural and Strategic Level

Analyses on the behavioural level focussed on the influence of driver characteristics on lane change behaviour. On the strategic level, the impact of the familiarity with the route was evaluated. To compare the relative predictive potential, all variables on both levels were included in the same analysis and are therefore presented together in this section. In total, the 60 participants performed 1869 lane change manoeuvres during the 60 trips. The number of lane changes per person ranged from 14 to 47 with a mean of 31 (Fig. 11.4a). Video analysis revealed that some drivers performed fewer lane changes, but drove longer on the left lane of the street (fast lane/overtaking). Therefore, an additional statistic was calculated indicating the percentage of road-kilometres driven on the left lane per trip. The value ranged from 7% to 57% with a mean of 31% (Fig. 11.4b).

To determine the predictive potential of driver characteristics and pre-trip factors on the behavioural and strategic level, a linear regression analysis was computed (Table 11.2). Two separate models were calculated for predicting 1) the number of lane change manoeuvres and 2) the percentage of km driven on the left road side. For the number of



**Fig. 11.4** Number of lane change manoeuvres per trip (**a**) and percent of km driven on the left lane per trip (**b**)

**Table 11.2** Results of regression analysis predicting the number of lane changes performed and the percentage of km driven on the left road side (N = 60)

Des distan	Numb	er of la	ne cha	nges (	LC)		Perce	nt left	s	side	side
Predictor	в	SE(B)	β	<b>r</b> part	p	•	в	SE(B)		β	β <i>r</i> <sub>part</sub>
gender	-2.50	1.88	18	19	.190		-2.11	2.98		08	0810
age	0.08	0.09	.14	.12	.402		0.28	0.14		.27	.27 .27
sec. ZVT (perceptual speed)	-0.11	0.08	24	20	.163		-0.30	0.12		36	3634
experience with automatic transm.	1.02	0.76	.18	.19	.184		3.00	1.20		.28	.28 .34
familiarity with the route	3.87	1.24	.45	.41	.003		8.38	1.97		.53	.53 .52
sensation seeking	-0.33	1.71	03	03	.850		-3.11	2.71		14	1416
NEO-FFI: extraversion	0.17	0.12	.23	.20	.171		0.48	0.19		.35	.35 .34
NEO-FFI: neuroticism	0.00	0.12	0.00	.00	.998		0.07	0.19		05	05 .05
NEO-FFI: agreeableness	-0.09	0.10	-0.14	13	.364		-0.15	0.15		12	1214
NEO-FFI: conscientiousness	-0.09	0.11	-0.12	11	.427		-0.12	0.17	0	9	910
NEO-FFI: openness	-0.01	0.11	-0.01	01	.927		-0.04	0.18	0	3	303
$R^{2}_{adjusted}$	.177						.402				

Note. F(11, 48) = 2.16, p = 0.034 for number LC, F(11, 48) = 4.60, p < 0.001 for percent left side. Statistically significant predictors are highlighted.

lane changes, results showed familiarity with the route (strategic level) as the only statistically significant predictor. The better the knowledge about the route, the more lane changes were performed, regardless of other driver characteristics. The regression model explains 18% of the variance in the data. Concerning the percentage of km driven on the left side, familiarity with the route was still the most important predictor. Additionally, better perceptual speed, higher extraversion and more experience with automatic transmission showed a statistically significant influence in terms of more km driven on the left side. The regression model explains 40% of the variance in the data.

#### 11.3.2 Manoeuvring and Control Level

Analyses on the manoeuvring level (controlled action patterns) focused on subtypes of lane change manoeuvres as well as rates and timings of turn signal usage. Because of the smooth transition from controlled to automated action patterns (control level), mirrorglance patterns prior to lane changes are as well reported in this section.

Fig. 11.5 shows type and number of all lane changes observed in the study, based on the classification of Lee et al. [11]. In total, 1869 lane change events were identified, classified into seven distinct types. Slow lead vehicle includes lane changes only to the left side to overtake a vehicle driving at slower speed, e. g. trucks. Overtaking of parking and standstill vehicles at traffic lights is included as well into this category. Added lane means lane changes to the right or left on additional lanes, e. g. if the road extends from two to three lanes. In our sample, all added lanes were turn lanes (see picture in Fig. 11.5). Lane changes in order to enter a road (e. g. from a feeder road) were coded as type enter.

Lane change type	Picture	Direction and number
Slow lead vehicle		L: n = 507
Added lane		L: n = 242 R: n = 242
Enter		L: n = 239
Obstacle		L: n = 19
Merging vehicle		L: n = 33
Return		R: n = 520
Unknown		L: n = 61 R: n = 6
Total		1,869 lane changes

Fig. 11.5 Lane change types, direction and number

On our experiment route, only left lane changes for entering were observed. Construction zones on the right lane forced lane changes to the left due to obstacles. Lane changes because of other vehicles entering the roadway were classified as merging vehicles. Return includes right lane changes to return to the preferred driving lane, e. g. after an overtaking manoeuvre. Unknown refers to all lane changes without identifiable reason.

To investigate mirror-glance patterns and turn signal usage, sequences of max. 10 s prior to a lane change manoeuvre were identified and marked in the database. If another lane change took place within the 10 s interval (multiple lane changes), the second sequence has been truncated. Therefore, sequence length can be shorter than 10 s. Examples of typical sequences for different lane change types are shown in Fig. 11.6. Red, green and blue blocks (respectively patterns) represent glances to the corresponding mirrors whereas the thin yellow line indicates the usage of the turn signal.

*Turn signal use*: Table 11.3 shows the detailed statistics on turn signal use and glance patterns for all lane change types. The turn signal (column 4) was used in 95% of the lane change manoeuvres, ranging from 78% for the obstacle type up to 100% for merging vehicles. These values are considerably higher than results from other studies [10, 11]. However, turn signal usage rate is comparable to prior studies in Chemnitz with 89% [23]. For further details please refer to the discussion section.

*Glances before turn signal*: Column 5 reports the percentage of lane changes with at least one corresponding mirror-glance before the activation of the turn signal. For left lane changes, glances to the left mirror were considered, whereas for lane changes to the right side, glances to the right or the rear mirror were taken into account. Aim of the analysis was to reveal the potential of glances as even earlier predictor than the turn signal. Results showed relatively high percentages of glances before blinking for lane changes due to merging vehicles (90%), unknown reasons (left 90%), slower leading vehicles (86%), return (85%) and entering (77%). Less glances prior to the turn signal were observed for added lanes (13% left, 28% right), unknown reasons (right 50%) and obstacles (58%).

*Glance patterns before left lane changes*: Columns 7 to 10 of Table 11.3 show the mean number of glances to the left, right and rear mirror, whereas columns 11 to 13 list the respective mean total glance duration for each lane change type. Glances ahead are not listed separately; they cover the remaining sequence duration. The first six rows of Table 11.3 show lane changes to the left. Consequently, the number as well as the duration of glances to the left were considerably higher than for lane changes to the right. Especially for entering, unknown reasons and slower lead vehicles more than two left glances per sequence were observed (2.50 to 2.82) with a mean total duration ranging from 1.76 s to 2.27 s. A lower mean number and duration of left glances resulted for the lane changes due to merging vehicles (1.94 times, 1.27 s) and obstacles (1.84 times, 1.14 s). Considerably lower glance activity was observed for lane changes on added lanes with 0.30 left glances per sequence and a total duration of 0.20 s. There were almost no glances to the right during left lane changes. Glances to the rear mirror ranged from 0.13 to 0.40 times with a total duration from 0.06 s to 0.23 s.

*Glance patterns before right lane changes*: Lane changes to right appeared as combination of glances to the right and the rear mirror (Table 11.3, rows 7 to 9). For the return



Lane	Direction	Num. of	Turn	Glances	Glance sequen	ces 10 s pr	ior to lane	changes			
change type		events	signal use (%)	before turn	Sequence length (s)	Number of M(SD)	glances		Total glan M(SD)	ce duration	( <i>S</i> )
				signal (%)	M(SD)	Left	Right	Rear	Left	Right	Rear
Slow lead	Left	484	95	86	9.70 (1.08)	2.50	0.02	0.40	1.76	0.02	0.23
Added lane	Left	230	85	13	5.87 (2.74)	0.30	0.04	0.14 0.14	0.20	0.03	0.07
Enter	Left	227	66	LL	10.00 (0)	2.82 (1.14)	0.01 (0.09)	0.13 (0.37)	2.27 (0.90)	0 (0.05)	0.06 (0.18)
Unknown	Left	59	94	90	9.92 (0.65)	2.75 (1.26)	(0) 0	0.38 (0.73)	1.90 (0.99)	(0) 0	0.21 (0.47)
Obstacle	Left	19	78	58	9.95 (0.23)	1.84 (1.46)	0.16 (0.50)	0.16 (0.37)	1.14 (0.96)	0.07 (0.26)	0.07 (0.18)
Merging vehicle	Left	29	100	90	9.86 (0.74)	1.94 (0.75)	0.03 (0.17)	0.27 (0.45)	1.27 (0.63)	0.02 (0.14)	0.17 (0.30)
Added lane	Right	230	98	28	9.77 (1.15)	0.17 (0.42)	0.38 (0.65)	0.75 (0.86)	0.08 (0.23)	0.26 (0.59)	0.39 (0.49)
Return	Right	496	96	85	10.00(0)	0.08 (0.31)	1.47 (0.93)	1.13 (1.09)	0.05 (0.23)	1.15 (0.81)	0.63 (0.68)
Unknown	Right	6	83	50	10.00(0)	0 (0)	1.17 (1.47)	0.50 (0.55)	0 (0)	0.93 (1.31)	0.35 (0.46)
		1780	95		9.21 (1.98)						

 Table 11.3
 Lane change types, turn signal use and glance statistics

Note. Three trips (89 lane change manoeuvres) had to be excluded from this analysis due to technical problems with the turn signal recording

to the preferred lane, 1.47 glances to the right and 1.13 glances to the rear mirror could be observed with a total duration of 1.15 s (right) and 0.63 s (rear). Similar values resulted for right lane changes due to unknown reasons with 1.17 right glances and 0.50 glances to the rear mirror, lasting 0.93 s (right) and 0.35 s (rear). The lowest glance activity was observed for right lane changes on added lanes: The number of glances ranged from 0.38 (right) to 0.75 (rear) with durations of 0.26 s (right) and 0.39 s for glances to rear mirror.

*Overall*, lowest glance activity could be observed for lane changes on added lanes, either to the right and the left side. Glance patterns for left lane changes show a high proportion of left glances with some few glances to the rear mirror, whereas right lane changes appear as a combination of right and rear glances.

In addition to these descriptive statistics, the evolution of glances and turn signal use provides hints on the timing of the parameters. Fig. 11.7 shows exemplarily the cumulative percentage of mirror glance time (right y-axis) and turn signal use (left y-axis) for the lane change type slow vehicle ahead and added lane left. The cumulative percentage of glance time refers to the whole 10s interval, i. e. a value of 18% at time 0 (moment of lane change) for left glances means that 1.8 s of 10s were spent with glances to the left mirror. The rise of the curves give insights on the overall amount and timings of the parameters.

For the lane change due to a slower vehicle ahead (left chart), the black turn signal curve shows a sharp increase at about three to two second before changing the lane, ending up at 95% at the moment of crossing the lane. The red (dashed) line for left glances shows a substantial increase already before the activation of the turn signal with an additional growth at the same time period of turn signal activation. Rear view mirror glances (2% at time 0) and right mirror glances (0% at time 0) don't play a substantial role for left lane changes due to a slower vehicle ahead.

In comparison to left lane changes on an added lane (right chart), turn signal activation starts at comparable times two to three seconds before crossing the lane, however, ending at a lower rate of 85% at time 0. All mirror-glance curves remain below 4% of total time, indicating generally low glance activity for this lane change type.



**Fig. 11.7** Evolvement of turn signal use and cumulative percentage of mirror glance time for lane change type slow vehicle ahead ( $\mathbf{a}$ ) and added lane left ( $\mathbf{b}$ )

## 11.4 Discussion and Conclusions

The present study aimed at identifying early predictors of lane change manoeuvres on arterial roads in city areas. By using a systematic and comprehensive approach, possible predictors were investigated at the behavioural, strategic, manoeuvring and control level according to the extended hierarchical driver behaviour model of Michon [17].

Results on the behavioural and strategic level revealed familiarity with the route as the most important predictor for the number of lane changes performed. The better the knowledge about the route, the more lane changes were performed, regardless of other driver characteristics. Moreover, not only the number of lane changes was affected by the familiarity with the route, but also the driving style connected to the selection of the driving lane: Driver with better route knowledge spent significantly more time on the left road side (overtaking), especially when they were familiar with the car handling (automated transmission), had better cognitive abilities (perceptual speed) and showed more energetic and assertive behaviour in general (extraverted personality). However, familiarity with the route still remains the most important predictor for these driving style related changes. Therefore, a lane change prediction algorithm could potentially be improved by including (historical) data about the frequency of driving on a certain route for a particular driver.

Analyses on the manoeuvring and control level focused on subtypes of lane change manoeuvres, rates and timings of turn signal usage as well as predictive glance patterns. Lane changes occur due to different reasons and this motivational factor plays a central role in predicting the manoeuvres. Thus, a classification was used to categorize lane change manoeuvres on urban arterial roads, based on the approach of Lee at al. [11]. Despite the classification was established for lane changes on highways and freeways, most of the categories can be applied as well in the urban context. Differences arise especially with parking and standstill vehicles on traffic lights, which were both integrated into the category of a slower lead vehicle. The classification itself gives already hints on potential early intent indicators for the different lane change types. Inevitable lane changes due to infrastructure changes, such as entering a road when driving on a feeder road or to some extent obstacles (e. g. known construction zones) could best and earliest be predicted by GPS and map information. For all the remaining lane change types, map information does not provide intent information unless a specific route is known (e. g. set by the driver or inferred from historical data such as daily work trips).

In order to reveal potential predictors for the remaining lane change types, rates and timings for turn signal usage as well as mirror-glance patterns were analysed using a sequence approach. The turn signal was used in 95% of the lane changes, ranging from 78% for the obstacle type up to 100% for merging vehicles. These values are considerably higher than results from other studies: US studies report the turn signal as rather unreliable indicator of lane changes with usage rates of 44% [11] and 52% [10]. German studies found higher rates of 55% for lane changes on urban roads and 75% on highways [12]. However, turn signal usage rate in the present study was comparable to prior studies in Chemnitz with 89% [23]. A possible reason for the higher turn signal rate could be the

experimental setting. Therefore, we analysed the turn signal usage of other drivers during lane change manoeuvres using the video of the four external cameras [24]. The analysis of 2787 "external" lane change manoeuvres showed a comparable turn signal usage rate of 87%. An explanation for the generally high turn signal usage could be related to the traffic situation in Chemnitz: Since the urban traffic in a mid-size German city is relatively calm and less demanding compared to traffic in metropolitan areas, driver may show more often learned and automated turn signal behaviour. However, the high turn signal usage allowed for additional analyses on mirror-glances as even earlier manoeuvre predictors than the turn signal. Results showed that for specific lane change types (slow leading vehicle, merging vehicle, return, unknown reason left) in more than 85% of the manoeuvres at least one corresponding mirror glance could be observed in the 10s interval before crossing the lane. This gives an indication that glance patterns could provide even earlier intent information than the turn signal for certain lane change manoeuvres. Cumulated plots for turn signal activation and glance activity in the 10s interval support these findings, showing an increase of mirror glances already before activating the turn indicator for lane changes due to a slower lead vehicle. However, it must be considered that not every solitary mirror glance is associated to a subsequent lane change.

Detailed analysis of mirror-glance patterns showed the lowest glance activity for lane changes on added lanes, either to the right and the left side. A plausible explanation for this fact could be the absence of traffic from behind. Glance patterns for left lane changes showed a high proportion of glances to the left with some few glances to the rear mirror, whereas right lane changes appeared as a combination of right and rear mirror glances. A more detailed analysis of glance timing for the "classical" lane change type slow vehicle ahead showed results that are mainly in line with previous studies [8, 14, 15]: A considerable increase in glance activity could be observed three to four seconds prior to the lane change, but glance activity was also noticeable beforehand. Compared with the previous study [23], these glances patterns resulted as quite stable. However, the variance of glance patterns within the distinct lane change types was still relatively high. Exploratory visual inspection of the video files revealed that, in addition to the mentioned patterns, the number of glances in a sequence was primarily associated with the traffic density on the target lane. The more vehicles on the target lane, the more and longer mirror glances.

The main conclusions out of these findings are that glance patterns are promising lane change predictors for certain types of lane changes. However, the interpretation of single glances as indicator for lane change intention is vague and difficult without the integration of information about the driving situation. Additional information from sensors monitoring the vehicle environment allow for better interpretation of mirror glances, e. g. by providing the number of driving lanes available, the possibility of changing the lane (i. e. traffic density on the target lane) and the presence of a slower leading vehicle. Therefore, the I-FAS concept of a real-time lane change prediction algorithm integrates driver behaviour, vehicle parameters as well as data from the vehicles' surroundings in a Bayesian Network (Fig. 11.8). Technical details on the implementation of the algorithm can be found in the subsequent book-chapter of Leonhardt et al. The inclusion of predictors on



**Fig. 11.8** I-FAS concept of a real-time lane change prediction algorithm integrating driver behaviour, vehicle parameters and data from the surroundings in a Bayesian Network

the strategic level (driver profile/familiarity with the route) could improve the performance of a lane change prediction algorithm. However, recording a comprehensive driver profile including the history of performed trips was not a research focus within UR:BAN and should be subject of further studies.

# References

- Beggiato, M., Krems, J.F.: Real-time assessment of demanding driving scenarios. In: Bermeitinger, C., Mojzisch, A., Greve, W. (eds.) TeaP 2015 – Abstracts of the 55th Conference of Experimental Psychologists, p. 35. Pabst Science Publishers, Lengerich (2015)
- Schiessl, C.: Continuous subjective strain measurement. Intell Transport Syst Iet 2(2), 161–169 (2008). doi:10.1049/iet-its:20070028
- 3. Statistisches Bundesamt: Fachserie 8 Reihe 7, Verkehr Verkehrsunfälle 2014. Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden (2016)
- ISO 17387:2008: Intelligent transport systems Lane change decision aid systems (LCDAS) Performance requirements and test procedures. Geneva, Switzerland (2008)
- 5. Jermakian, J.S.: Crash avoidance potential of four passenger vehicle technologies. Accid Analysis Prev **43**(3), 732–740 (2011). doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.10.020
- Bayly, M., Fildes, B., Regan, M., Young, K.: Review of crash effectiveness of intelligent transport systems. Deliverable D4.1.1–D6.2, TRACE project (2007). http://www.trace-project.org/publication/archives/trace-wp4-wp6-d4-1-1-d6-2.pdf. Accessed 12. Apr. 2017
- Beggiato, M.: Changes in motivational and higher level cognitive processes when interacting with in-vehicle automation (Doctoral dissertation). University of Technology, Chemnitz (2015). http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:bsz:ch1-qucosa-167333. Accessed 12. Apr. 2017

- Morris, B., Doshi, A., Trivedi, M.: Lane change intent prediction for driver assistance: Onroad design and evaluation. 2011 IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV). IEEE. (2011) doi:10.1109/IVS.2011.5940538
- Henning, M.: Preparation for lane change manoeuvres: Behavioural indicators and underlying cognitive processes (Dissertation). TU Chemnitz, Chemnitz (2009). http://www. qucosa.de/fileadmin/data/qucosa/documents/6027/data/Dissertation\_MHenning.pdf. Accessed 12. Apr. 2017
- Ponziani, R.: Turn Signal Usage Rate Results: A Comprehensive Field Study of 12,000 Observed Turning Vehicles. SAE International, Warrendale, PA (2012)
- Lee, S.E., Olsen, E.C.B., Wierwille, W.W.: A comprehensive examination of naturalistic lane changes. Report DOT HS 809 702. Washington, DC: NHTSA, U.S. Department of Transportation (2004)
- Deutscher Verkehrssicherheitsrat e.V. (DVR): DVR-Report: Magazin f
  ür Verkehrssicherheit (No. 2/2007) (2007). http://www.dvr.de/download/dvrreport\_02\_2007.pdf. Accessed 12. Apr. 2017
- Auto Club Europa (ACE): Reviere der Blinkmuffel (2008). http://www.ace-online.de/fileadmin/ user\_uploads/Der\_Club/Dokumente/10.07.2008\_Grafik\_Blinkmuffel\_1.pdf. Accessed 12. Apr. 2017
- Doshi, A., Trivedi, M.: A comparative exploration of eye gaze and head motion cues for lane change intent prediction. Intelligent Vehicles Symposium, 2008 IEEE : Intelligent Vehicles Symposium, 2008 IEEE: Intelligent Vehicles Symposium, 2008 IEEE., pp 49–54 (2008)
- Liebner, M., Klanner, F., Stiller, C.: Der Fahrer im Mittelpunkt Eye Tracking als Schlüssel zum mitdenkenden Fahrzeug? In: Dietmayer, K. (ed.) 8. Workshop Fahrerassistenzsysteme, FAS2012 Walting im Altmühltal, 26.–28. September 2012. pp. 87–96. Uni-DAS, Darmstadt (2012)
- Lethaus, F., Baumann, M.R.K., Köster, F., Lemmer, K.: Using pattern recognition to predict driver intent. ICANNGA'11, Proceedings of the 10th international conference on Adaptive and natural computing algorithms – Volume Part I. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 140–149 (2011)
- Cacciabue, P.C. (ed.): Modelling Driver Behaviour in Automotive Environments. Springer, London (2007)
- Michon, J.A.: A critical view of driver behavior models: what do we know, what should we do? In: Evans, L., Schwing, R.C. (eds.) Human behavior and traffic safety, pp. 485–524. Plenum Press, New York (1985)
- Borkenau, P., Ostendorf, F.: NEO-FFI: NEO-Fünf-Faktoren-Inventar nach Costa und McCrae, 2nd edn. Hogrefe, Göttingen (2008)
- Hoyle, R.H., Stephenson, M.T., Palmgreen, P., Lorch, E.P., Donohew, R.L.: Reliability and validity of a brief measure of sensation seeking. Pers Individ Dif 32(3), 401–414 (2002). doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(01)00032-0
- Oswald, W.D., Roth, E.: Der Zahlen-Verbindungs-Test. Hogrefe, Göttingen, Bern, Toronto, Seattle (1986)
- Pech, T., Lindner, P., Wanielik, G.: Head tracking based glance area estimation for driver behaviour modelling during lane change execution. 2014 IEEE 17th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pp 655–660 (2014)
- Beggiato, M., Krems, J.F.: Sequence analysis of glance patterns to predict lane changes on urban arterial roads. Paper presented at 6. Tagung Fahrerassistenz – Der Weg zum automatischen Fahren, Munich, 28.–29.11.2013. (2013). http://mediatum.ub.tum.de/node?id=1187197. Accessed 12. Apr. 2017
- 24. Dettmann, A., Thoms, U., Basler, M., Beggiato, M., Bullinger, A. C.: Too busy to indicate? Indicator usage depending on task demand in urban lane change maneuvers (in prep.)

# Fusion of Driver Behaviour Analysis and Situation Assessment for Probabilistic Driving Manoeuvre Prediction

Veit Leonhardt, Timo Pech, and Gerd Wanielik

# 12.1 Introduction

Driving in urban traffic situations is a highly demanding task. The driver continuously has to observe and assess complex and dynamic traffic situations and intervenes by performing driving manoeuvres. Due to the limited capabilities of the driver there is a significant risk of accident. In 2014, 3377 people died and 67,732 people were injured seriously in connection with road traffic accidents in Germany [1]. 15.7% of all accidents caused by inappropriate driving behaviour happened while performing driving manoeuvres. Especially for accidents related to lane changes, Bayly et al. [2] expect a 25% reduction of the severity of accidents by means of providing lane change assistance.

This reflects the significant need as well as the potential to assist the driver during these manoeuvres. Consequently, modern cars are equipped with advanced driver assistance systems (ADAS) aiding the driver in maintaining situational awareness and performing driving tasks. However, optimal assistance depends on the situation and the driver's intentions. Moreover, it is important to assist timely and reliably to be actually accepted and used by the driver. Unneeded or inadequate information, warnings and interventions could distract the driver and cause driving errors. Hence, modern driver assistance systems also have to adapt to driver intentions and situations to match the driver's actual need for assistance. As a result, future assistance systems themselves need knowledge about the driver's intentions.

The real-time prediction of lane change intentions and manoeuvres is a complex and demanding task. It depends on the variety of influences, situations and driver characteristics as well as on the availability of suitable sensor data and computing capacity. That's why early scientific work started to predict lane change manoeuvres using CAN data ex-

V. Leonhardt (🖂) · T. Pech · G. Wanielik

Communications Engineering, Chemnitz University of Technology Chemnitz, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_12

clusively. The steering angle, the steering angular velocity and the steering force were used to detect the realization of lane change manoeuvres [3]. However, relying solely on steering data causes a lack in terms of robustness [4] and in earliness. Studies as conducted by Oliver and Pentland [5] indicated the capability of environmental information about the road's geometry and surrounding traffic to improve the detection's performance. Schubert and Wanielik [6] used environmental recognition to assign tracked objects to specified lanes and derive lateral manoeuvre recommendations. Parallel research involved the gaze behaviour of drivers [7–9]. It was proven that this gaze behaviour related to lane change manoeuvres is characteristic and can be used to predict them in particular situations as well. In algorithmic terms, authors usually consider the estimation of a driver's intention as a task of classification. Hence, classification methods as for example Support and Relevance Vector Machines [10, 11], Fuzzy Logic [12] and Bayesian networks [6] as well as Hidden Markov Models [3, 4] are applied.

Consequently, the next steps to enable future driver assistance systems to adapt to drivers on the basis of knowledge about their intentions to change lanes have to aim at fusion and integration. Complementary features of the environmental situation and the driver's gaze behaviour have to be fused to obtain an early as well as reliable prediction of driving manoeuvres. Subsequently, a real-time prediction has to be implemented, to be integrated into a vehicle and to be applied to real driving data. Both aspects, the feature fusion and the integration, were considered and implemented as presented below.

# 12.2 Preliminary Considerations

## 12.2.1 Term of Intention

The challenge of detecting intentions is based on their intrinsic character. They can be understood as endeavours of drivers for certain actions, and by this way, they are influenced by the drivers themselves as well as by external factors. Intentions strongly affect the driver's acting but normally are not expressed and not directly measurable. So to predict and detect them it is necessary to understand how they work. Which measurable factors affect their emergence and which factors are affected by them?

In connection with driving the intentions of drivers are determined by the objectives of reaching a particular destination and of reaching it as fast, safely and comfortably as possible. If they regard an adjacent lane as more suitable, they will probably aim at performing a lane change manoeuvre to that lane. Hence, the algorithmic task to be solved is detecting those situations.

#### 12.2.2 Lane Change Process

For lane change intentions, three consequent phases can be distinguished: intention formation, manoeuvre preparation and manoeuvre realization.

First of all, environmental influences trigger the formation of an intention. Motivating factors encourage the emergence of an intention while others impede the desire for changing the lane in a certain situation [13]. Hence, the process of formation itself is unobservable but is dominated by environmental features perceived by the driver. Because these motivating and impeding features are simultaneously part of the vehicle's visible environment, they can be detected and be used to infer the intention. If there is actual an intention to change the lane, the driver starts to prepare the manoeuvre. This becomes visible by the driver's gaze behaviour to make the lane change in a safe way. As shown in previous work this behaviour is characteristic in connection with different types of lane change manoeuvres (see preceding chapter of Beggiato et al.). Significant for the phase of manoeuvre realization is the movement of the vehicle controlled by the driver. Thereby the controlling includes directing interventions as well as changes in the vehicle's speed.

The three phases differ in the way they are able to indicate the presence of a lane change intention in terms of explicitness and time horizon. While the formation of the intention happens first but needs determination by reasoning, the manoeuvre realization can be detected directly but only at a late stage. The qualities of the phase of manoeuvre preparation are in between. In consequence, it seems to be useful to concentrate on detecting the intention's formation and the manoeuvre preparation and then to combine the strengths of both aspects by probabilistic fusion.

#### 12.2.3 Scenario

In the study conducted for this work different types of lane changes occurred. As described in the preceding chapter of Beggiato et al., one of the most common types of lane changes observed is the lane change induced by a vehicle driving ahead slowly. The present work focuses on predicting this type of lane change.

The corresponding environmental situation is characterised by a multi lane setup with at least one slow vehicle within the driver's lane. The assumption made about this situation is that the vehicle driving slowly is considered to be an obstacle by the driver. It works as a motivator for changing the lane. If, in addition, there is another lane available that is assessed as more suitable, the driver will tend to change to that lane as soon as a safe lane change is possible. In contrast, lane markings that forbid a lane change or heavy traffic on the target lane that makes the change unsafe impede the formation of a lane change intention.

## 12.3 Recognition of an Intention to Perform a Manoeuvre

#### 12.3.1 Approach

On the basis of the understanding of the process of the intention's formation, the manoeuvre preparation and realization, the task supposed to be solved can be formulated in algorithmic terms. It consists in detecting situations of upcoming driving manoeuvres as soon as possible in order to predict the following realization of a manoeuvre. This only can be done based on information about the environment and the driver that is obtainable by the vehicle's sensors. Environmental sensor data allow the recognition of influences that motivate or impede the formation of manoeuvre intentions. Observing the driver with vehicular sensors enables the system to detect behaviour that is characteristic for manoeuvre preparation. However, all information has to be considered as being uncertain due to the process of acquisition and the limited significance of the features. To handle and to preserve these uncertainties all processing should be done in a probabilistic way. Consequently, the process of intention recognition for lane changes can be interpreted as pictured in Fig. 12.1.

For the scenario of predicting lane changes the driver's intention can be described as the preference of the driver for a certain lane. Focusing on adjacent lanes only, a random variable  $X_M$  can be defined that describes the driver's intention to change the lane. It can have up to three possible states: Intention  $X_M = x_{\text{KL}}$  for keeping the actual lane and intentions  $X_M = x_{\text{LCL}}$  and  $X_M = x_{\text{LCR}}$  for changing the lane to the left and right, respectively. Due to the description of the actual state using probabilities this leads to the determination of probabilities  $P(X_M)$  with the restriction Eq. 12.1.

$$P(X_M = x_{\text{LCL}}) + P(X_M = x_{\text{KL}}) + P(X_M = x_{\text{LCR}}) = 1$$
(12.1)



Fig. 12.1 Process of recognizing the manoeuvre intention

Calculating these features requires the measurement data to be interpreted and assessed. A suitable approach is to model both aspects by means of features extracted from those data. Each feature represents a single aspect that is capable to discriminate the presence of at least two states of intention. Their selection follows analyses of naturalistic driving data. Further details can be found in the preceding chapter of Beggiato et al. However, the features are simplifications and the contribution of a single feature to the intention recognition process often strongly depends on the situation, on the availability and the uncertainty of information used and the quality of processing achievable. For that reason sets of multiple features have to be used. This, in turn, makes it necessary to weight and fuse the feature values in order to compute estimations for  $P(X_M = x_{LCL})$ ,  $P(X_M = x_{KL})$  and  $P(X_M = x_{LCR})$  as early and reliable as possible.

# 12.3.2 Assessment of the Environmental Situation

The aspect of environmental situation assessment aims at deducing features that describe influences motivating and impeding the formation of lane change intentions.

Motivator for changing the lane within the given scenario is a vehicle driving ahead slowly and using the ego lane. The ego lane is defined as the lane the driver's vehicle, the ego vehicle, is driving along. Hence, features are required that quantify if there is a vehicle driving in front and if it will be sensed as an obstacle or danger by the driver. Suitable measures to categorize a vehicle driving ahead as obstacle O can be its relative velocity  $v_{\text{Rel}} = v_E - v_O$  and its distance s to the ego vehicle E. Furthermore, drivers normally tend to avoid critical situations and rough manoeuvres. Accordingly, a situation that would imply the need of such a situation or manoeuvre by keeping the lane can be assumed as not to be intended by the driver. The driver preferably will solve the situation by changing the lane. The roughness of such a braking manoeuvre behind another slower vehicle can be quantified by means of the idea of Deceleration to Safety Time (DST), introduced by Hupfer [14].

As described by Leonhardt et al. [15] it can be adapted to the given scenario. The Adapting Deceleration to Safety Time (ADST) proposed considers the ego vehicle E and an obstacle O driving in front of the ego vehicle. For time  $t_0$  their positions are assumed to be given by points  $E_0$  and  $O_0$  with the vehicle's initial distance  $s_0 = \overline{E_0 O_0}$ . Obstacle O moves at a constant speed  $v_O$ . The ego vehicle E approaches obstacle O with velocity  $v_{E0} > v_O$  so that it has to decelerate over a period of time  $t_d$ . At time  $t_1 = t_0 + t_d$  the vehicles reach the points  $E_1$  and  $O_1$  with velocity  $v_{E1} < v_{E0}$  and  $v_O$ , respectively, as visualised in Fig. 12.2.

In this way, vehicle *E* decelerated over a distance of  $\overline{E_0E_1}$  to hold a safety distance of  $\overline{E_1O_1}$ . In accordance with Fig. 12.2  $\overline{E_0E_1}$  can be calculated using equations Eq. 12.2 and Eq. 12.3, respectively.

$$\overline{E_0 E_1} = \overline{E_0 O_0} + \overline{O_0 O_1} - \overline{E_1 O_1}$$
(12.2)



Fig. 12.2 Relations of ego vehicle *E* and obstacle *O* driving ahead slowly

$$\left(\frac{a_{\text{ADST}}}{2}t_d^2 + v_{E0}t_d\right) = (s_0) + (v_O t_d) - (v_{E1}t_{\text{Safety}})$$
(12.3)

$$v_{E1} = v_{E0} + a_{\text{ADST}} t_d \tag{12.4}$$

The Adapting Deceleration to Safety Time  $a_{ADST}$  needed to meet a safety time  $t_{Safety}$  can be obtained by combing equations Eq. 12.3 and Eq. 12.4 leading to Eq. 12.5. Supposing that the ego vehicle adapts to the velocity of the vehicle it is approaching, so that  $v_{E1} = v_0$ , Eq. 12.5 can be further simplified to Eq. 12.6.

$$a_{\text{ADST}} = \frac{v_{E0}^2 - v_{E1}^2 + 2v_O(v_{E1} - v_{E0})}{2(v_{E1}t_{\text{Safety}} - s_0)}$$
(12.5)

$$a_{\text{ADST},vO} = \frac{(v_{E0} - v_O)^2}{2(v_O t_{\text{Safety}} - s_0)}$$
(12.6)

The motivating influences described by these features not necessarily result in a lane change intention. Depending on the situation, further influences – impediments – can impede a safe and legal lane change. The possibility of a legal lane change to the left or right, respectively, in urban areas is ruled by lane markings. As dashed lane markings indicate that lane changes are allowed, solid markings prohibit them. Provided lanes in urban areas always have markings and the driver complies with them they can be used as indicating features. The driver's assessment of a lane manoeuvre's safety is strongly related to the amount of traffic noticed there. Changing to a lane of dense traffic is less probable than changing to low traffic due to the larger space between two vehicles. So, in algorithmic terms the traffic density can be modelled by the presence, position and motion of vehicles within a lane section. In accordance with the features describing the vehicle driving ahead this assessment is done utilizing the distances  $s_i$  and Adapting Decelerations to Safety Time  $a_{ADST,vi}$  of all vehicles i that are detected within a nearby lane.

In summary, for the lane change prediction the environment of the ego vehicle is described by the vehicles around and the types of adjacent lane markings. Thereby, vehicles are assessed by their lane classification and a set of features consisting of distance, relative velocity and Adapting Decelerations to Safety Time. Therefore, it becomes necessary to detect and track vehicles around their relative positions and to acquire information about the lane number, geometry and type of lane marking. Because the vehicle's velocity usually depends on the maximum value that is allowed, a last environmental feature, the local speed limit  $v_{\text{Max}}$ , is incorporated as well.

# 12.3.3 Assessment of the Driver Behaviour

If there is the actual intention to change the lane, the driver starts to prepare the pending manoeuvre action. Part of this manoeuvre preparation is the observation of the environment to detect a point in time when a safe lane change manoeuvre would be possible. This process is accompanied by glances in the directions of the vehicle's windows and mirrors. As this gaze behaviour is proven by related research to be characteristic and as it implies noticeable head and eye movement, it can be used as a further early indicator for predicting lane changes [7–10].

On the feature level, the gaze behaviour in general can be reduced to the area a driver currently looks at. The alteration of this area over time can be modelled as a sequence of areas. Viewing areas  $G_i$  that are distinguished are the front, left and right windows  $G_{FW}$ ,  $G_{LW}$  and  $G_{RW}$ , respectively, and the left mirror  $G_{LM}$ , right mirror  $G_{RM}$  and rear view mirror  $G_{RVM}$ .

The area  $G_i$ , a driver looks at, can be derived from the direction of looking. To focus a specific area the driver uses head and eye movement in a cumulating manner. Because the eye movement is much harder to detect than the head movement and as Pech et al. [16] have shown that head movement can be used to classify the area  $G_i$ , the approach presented relies on detecting and classifying head movement exclusively. For this purpose, it uses the horizontal rotation of the driver's head around the yaw rotation axis  $\theta_{y,\text{HRot}}$  of its Euler angles to define the direction the head points at.

Hence, the calculation of the feature area  $G_i$ , the driver looks at, can be interpreted as a classification problem. An input angle  $\theta_{y,\text{HRot}}$  has to be assigned to one out of the six area states  $G_i$  can have. It is solved by using a naive Bayesian classifier [17] defined according to Eq. 12.7.

$$P(G_i|\vartheta_{y,\text{HRot}}) = \frac{p(\vartheta_{y,\text{HRot}}|G_i)P(G_i)}{\sum_{j=1}^6 p(\vartheta_{y,\text{HRot}}|G_j)P(G_j)}$$
(12.7)

A probability  $P(G_i | \vartheta_{y,\text{HRot}})$  expresses the probability that a given value range of the yaw rotation axis  $\vartheta_{y,\text{HRot}}$  is related to the observation of a glance area  $G_i$ . Thereby,  $p(\vartheta_{y,\text{HRot}}|G_i)$  is the conditional probability density describing the probability that looking at an area  $G_i$  will lead to an angle  $\vartheta_{y,\text{HRot}}$ . The probability  $P(G_i)$  corresponds to the absolute probability drivers look at the given area. Both parameters were determined by training a corresponding classifier. The training applied the Maximum-Likelihood-Estimation method on the training subset of the annotated naturalistic driving data gained by the study related to this work. As depicted in Fig. 12.3 and discussed by Pech et al. [16],



Fig. 12.3 Probabilistic relation of yaw rotation of head and glance area assignment

this led to a set of probability distributions describing the probabilistic relation between  $\vartheta_{v,\text{HRot}}$  and  $p(\vartheta_{v,\text{HRot}}|G_i)$ .

It can be seen that the diversity of situations and individual driver characteristics cause the probability distributions to overlap. Hence, the assignment is not clearly cut in any case but adds probabilistic evidence for the preparation of an upcoming lane change manoeuvre. The probabilities  $P(G_i)$  correspond to their relative frequency of incidence within the training data set.

In spite of single glances giving evidence for observation behaviour, they are not necessarily part of the preparation of a lane change manoeuvre. So, it is reasonable to take the context of the glances into account as well. For this purpose the glance area sequence is observed and is compared with sequences typically related to lane change manoeuvres to the left and right, respectively. It is done by utilizing a first-order Hidden Markov Model approach.

Hidden Markov Models as described by Rabiner and Juang [18] are capable of estimating states of random variables that cannot be determined directly. The estimation is made on the basis of causally linked observations and in consideration of state transition probabilities. The transition probabilities significantly affect the quality of estimation so that in case of multiple competing model hypotheses the better hypothesis will show better results over time. This effect is exploited to differentiate between glance sequences related to preparations of lane changes to the left and right, respectively. For the glance area  $G_i$  to be estimated a hidden state  $X_{\text{HMM}}(t)$  for a time t is defined. The causally linked observations  $y_{\text{HMM}}(G_i, t)$  are calculated by means of  $\vartheta_{y,\text{HRot}}$  and  $P(G_i | \vartheta_{y,\text{HRot}})$ . The state transition probability matrix T holds two competing variants  $T_{\text{LCL}}$  and  $T_{\text{LCR}}$ .



The parameterization of the matrix  $T_{LCL}$  is based on the training data subset and the relative frequencies of transitions between glance areas  $G_i$  related to lane change manoeuvres to the left, while matrix  $T_{LCR}$  was specified accordingly for upcoming lane changes to the right. Glances are defined as related to a particular manoeuvre if they occur within a time span of 10 s [19] ending when the vehicle's longitudinal axis passes the lane markings of the ego lane. Fig. 12.4 visualises the trained transition probabilities of both matrices with the help of arrows of modulated widths.

Hence, two Hidden Markov Models exist that are used to calculate state sequence probabilities  $P(S_{LCL})$  and  $P(S_{LCR})$  and that express the extent to which the models of lane change preparation to the left and right, respectively, are being met.

As a further feature the indicator signal could be used. It indicates lane change intentions by definition. However, it was aspired to evaluate the algorithm's performance independently from the usage of the indicator signal. That is why it was decided to refrain from using it.

### 12.3.4 Feature Fusion and Probabilistic Reasoning

To assess and combine the features describing the environmental situation and drivers' gaze behaviour and to reason for lane change intentions subsequently, a Bayesian network was implemented. This concept was chosen because it is able to do probabilistic reasoning using heterogeneous evidences of varying uncertainty and availability.

A Bayesian network (BN) is an acyclic graph  $G = \{\chi, \epsilon\}$  consisting of *n* nodes  $\chi = \{X_1 \cdots X_n\}$ , linked by directed edges  $\epsilon = \{X_i \to X_j | X_i, X_j \in \chi, i \neq j\}$ . Each node represents one random variable by means of its set of possible states and the corresponding

state probabilities. Edges model the probabilistic dependence of causally linked nodes or random variables. Each of them points to a child node  $X_j$  from a parental node  $X_i$  being defined by a matrix of conditional probabilities. Because of that linkage, the incorporation of evidence of one node's state is able to spread to related nodes and to give evidence of their states. In this manner the BNs can be utilised for probabilistic reasoning and for estimating random variables that cannot be observed directly as an intention for changing the lane.

Formally the state of a BN is defined by the joint probability  $P(X_1, \dots, X_n)$  of all nodes. With the help of the Bayes' theorem the parameter  $P(X_1, \dots, X_n)$  can be factorized as formulated in Eq. 12.8.

$$P(X_1, \cdots, X_n) = \prod_{i=1}^n P(X_i | X_{i-1}, \cdots, X_1)$$
(12.8)

In accordance with the issue being modelled by a BN, a given node  $X_i$  is not necessarily causally linked to all nodes  $\chi$  but only to a subset  $\chi_{p_i} \subset \chi$  of immediate parental nodes it directly depends on. Mathematically, this means assuming the local Markov property. It says that a random variable can be assumed as being independent of all others variables as long as its direct neighbour variables are given. This leads to Eq. 12.9 so that Eq. 12.8 can be reduced to Eq. 12.10.

$$P(X_i|X_{i-1},\cdots,X_1) = P(X_i|\chi_{p_i})$$
(12.9)

$$P(X_1, \cdots, X_n) = \prod_{i=1}^n P(X_i | \chi_{p_i})$$
(12.10)

To sum up, the probabilistic reasoning determining any state probability  $P(X_i)$  of a random variable  $X_i$  in demand needs evidence about the state probabilities of all parental random variables  $X_{p_i}$  and about the conditional probability distribution of  $P(X_i | \chi_{p_i})$ . The state probabilities of the parental random variables either are determined the same way or are updated using external evidence. As the conditional probability distribution is part of the network's structure, it has to be given and is subject of the design process.

Concerning the probabilistic reasoning for the driver's intention, the probability  $P(X_M)$  with its possible states  $X_M = x_{LCL}, x_{KL}, x_{LCR}$  has to be the random variable and BN node in demand. The external evidence the reasoning bases on, is provided by the features used to model the environmental situation and the driver behaviour as described before. To make that evidence accessible by the BN, the network holds corresponding input nodes, one for each single feature. This assignment requires a mapping of the features' value ranges on a set of discrete state classes as used by the BN nodes to describe their states. For the not naturally class-based feature variables this takes place by subclassifying the variables' value range. In order to minimize the loss of information caused by this discretization, the mapping of the value ranges happens probabilistically using

smooth transitions between the state classes. Corresponding to the three subtasks of assessing the environmental situation, assessing the driver's behaviour and of combing the assessments to one statement, the BN is divided into three sections of nodes that, in turn, include further internal nodes representing partial outcomes.

The first network section weighs up influences motivating a lane change to the left or right against impeding influences based on the environmental feature set described above. The outcome of this weighing process can be reduced to an estimation of the driver's actual preference for a particular lane. Considering direct lane changes exclusively, this leads to assessments of the ego lane and the adjacent lanes to the left and right, respectively, to calculate the according probabilities  $P(X_{M,\text{Environment}} = x_{\text{KL}})$ ,  $P(X_{M,\text{Environment}} = x_{\text{LCL}})$  and  $P(X_{M,\text{Environment}} = x_{\text{LCR}})$ .

It is assumed that the preference for a particular lane significantly depends on the presence and criticality of the vehicles driving there. Hence, the state of a lane is modelled as a level of its occupancy. In doing so, three levels of occupancy are distinguished as proposed by Schubert et al. [20]. State  $X_{\text{Lane}} = x_{\text{Free}}$  marks free lanes without any obstacle detected. Lane state  $X_{\text{Lane}} = x_{\text{Occupied}}$  characterises situations with vehicles present that still allow a safe use of the corresponding lane. And the third state  $X_{\text{Lane}} = x_{\text{Dangerous}}$ indicates lane situations where other vehicles prevent the driver from changing to the lane or using the ego lane further on safely and comfortably. For adjacent lanes that state space is expanded by a fourth state  $X_{\text{Lane}} = x_{\text{NonExistent}}$  indicating the absence of such a lane.

Following the environmental section's structure of the network, depicted in Fig. 12.5, the assessment of the ego lane relies on the feature variables Adapting Deceleration to Safety Time  $a_{ADST,vO}$ , distance  $s_O$  and the relative velocity  $v_{Rel0}$ . The feature's values are converted to levels of lane occupancy and subsequently are combined by the BN to an occupancy estimation of the ego lane.

The estimation of the occupancy levels of the two adjacent lanes is done by two further subsections of nodes. As shown in Fig. 12.5 each of them includes three input nodes. The nodes qualify the occupancy of the respective lane in terms of ADST values, distances of the vehicles located there and in terms of the type of the lane markings separating the respective lane from the ego lane. In doing so, for all vehicles detected inside a delimited area of the respective lane the Adapting Decelerations to Safety Time  $a_{ADST,vi}$  and distances  $s_i$ , respectively, are calculated and converted into levels of occupancy by using the most critical value that occurs. The information about the absence of an accessible adjacent lane, determining the state  $X_{Lane} = x_{NonExistent}$ , is provided by the estimation of the type of lane markings which, in turn, is derived from observations of the respective lane markings.

To conclude on the driver's intention of a lane change manoeuvre based solely on environmental assessment, the probabilities  $P(X_{M,\text{Environment}})$  are finally obtained by contrasting the states of the different lanes with each other. For weighing competing lane states the order of states  $X_{\text{Lane}} = x_{\text{Free}}$ ,  $x_{\text{Occupied}}$  and  $x_{Dangerous}$  is assumed as complying with descending preference by the driver. However, the fourth state  $X_{\text{Lane}} = x_{\text{NonExistent}}$  is able to overrule all the other states by preventing any intention for changing to the accord-



Fig. 12.5 Bayesian network, section for assessing the environmental situation

ing lane. If two lanes compared reach the same level of occupancy, the lane the driver is already driving, the ego lane, is defined as to be preferred. Two adjacent lanes of the same level are considered being equal.

The second section of the BN aims at reasoning for the driver's intention probabilities  $P(X_{M,\text{Driver}} = x_{\text{KL}})$ ,  $P(X_{M,\text{Driver}} = x_{\text{LCL}})$ , and  $P(X_{M,\text{Driver}} = x_{\text{LCR}})$  based on the gaze behaviour only. As described before, the gaze behaviour is modelled by the area  $G_i$  the driver actually looks at and by the sequence of the areas the driver looked at before. To include those features into the BN and to calculate the probabilities for  $P(X_{M,\text{Driver}})$ , four input nodes are defined as shown in Fig. 12.6. Two of them represent the probabilities  $P(S_{\text{LCL}})$  and  $P(S_{\text{LCR}})$  that describe the probability the sequences observed match to the respective variant of the HMM. However, detecting those sequences requires to observe the areas a driver looks at over a longer period of time. Consequently, the process of predicting lane changes will be delayed, even if a single glance already contains information about an intention, although with less significance. Hence, the second pair of input nodes evaluates the probabilities that the area the driver actually looks at can be related to a lane change intention to the left and right, respectively. To achieve this, all areas  $G_i$  are classified in accordance to their probability appearing in connection with lane changes to the respective direction.

Comparisons using the naturalistic driving data obtained by the study that is related to the work pointed out that the possibility to predict upcoming lane changes by assessing the environmental situation or driver behaviour strongly depends on the specific lane change



situation. Specific situations can differ with regard to the individual assessment by the driver as well as in the way the features used for the prediction are available and detectable by the sensors. In consequence, neither the environmental observation nor the observation of the driver are able to guarantee an early as well as robust lane change prediction on its own.

That is why the network's final section deals with the fusion of the estimates of  $P(X_{M,\text{Environment}})$  and  $P(X_{M,\text{Driver}})$  to combine their complementary strengths in terms of prediction time and quality. In doing so, conflicting lane change predictions, for example  $P(X_{M,\text{Driver}} = x_{\text{LCL}})$  and  $P(X_{M,\text{Environment}} = x_{\text{KL}})$ , may occur and have to be weighed. That weighing is described by a set of rules underlying the related conditional probability table of the network. It weights lane change predictions of opposing directions in equal parts as it favours the prediction of any lane change against the prediction of keeping the lane. However,  $P(X_{M,\text{Driver}})$  is only allowed to outvote  $P(X_{M,\text{Environment}})$  if an according lane is available. Hence, the information about the presence of adjacent lanes, given by  $X_{\text{Lane}} = x_{\text{NonExistent}}$ , has to be passed on to the fusion node. For that purpose, the set of the states of  $P(X_{M,\text{Environment}})$  is extended by additional states indicating lane change directions being allowed as shown in Fig. 12.7. The result of fusing  $P(X_{M,\text{Environment}})$  and  $P(X_{M,\text{Driver}})$  is  $P(X_M)$  with possible states  $X_M = x_{\text{KL}}$ ,  $x_{\text{LCL}}$  and  $x_{\text{LCR}}$ .



Fig. 12.7 Bayesian network, section for fusing the assessments

## 12.4 Real-Time Application

The lane change prediction algorithm presented was implemented as a real-time application running under real conditions as a built-in vehicular system. For that purpose, a test vehicle was equipped with sensors providing measurement data of the environmental situation and the driver's behaviour. In addition, a set of pre-processing modules was implemented to derive the features needed by the probabilistic reasoning. The complete lane change prediction system was finally demonstrated live at the public presentation of the UR:BAN project as can be seen in Fig. 12.8.

#### 12.4.1 Test Vehicle and Technical Setup

The test vehicle is a VW Touran 2.0 TDI depicted by Fig. 12.9. To detect and track surrounding objects the vehicle is equipped with automotive sensors. Two long-range radar and four blind spot radar sensors cover 360 degrees of the environment. The 77 GHz long-range sensors are mounted at the front and rear of the vehicle, respectively, and have a detection range of up to 200 m and a detection angle of  $\pm 28^{\circ}$ . The blind spot radars mounted sideways, two on each side, work with 24 GHz and are able to detect objects up to 27 m providing a detection angle of  $\pm 40^{\circ}$ . The lane mark detection needed for assigning detected objects to specific lanes is done by a commercial camera-based system called Mobileye. Mounted in the direction of travelling, it provides information about the lane's curvature and the relative position of the ego vehicle within the lane. The vehicle is equipped with seven cameras to obtain information about the situation around and inside the vehicle to support the process of annotation and development. Two of them are additionally used for processing. The first one facing in the direction of travelling is also used to identify the type of lane markings while the second camera facing the driver provides video data for the head tracking with 40 Hz and a resolution of  $640 \times 480$  pixels. The lo



Fig. 12.8 Demonstration of the integrated algorithm detecting lane change intentions



Fig. 12.9 Test vehicle and sensor configuration

calization of the ego vehicle is done by means of an inertial measurement unit supported by Differential GPS information with a positioning accuracy of 40 cm in total. Finally, the CAN bus of the vehicle provides information about the velocity and yaw rate of the ego vehicle. The processing is done by a standard desktop machine.

#### 12.4.2 Pre-processing and System Architecture

To get the values of features required by the Bayesian network to predict lane changes using the measurement data, several pre-processing modules are implemented and connected following the structure shown in Fig. 12.10.

The upper section of the module view aims at estimating the features for assessing the environmental situation. Most of them, the Adapting Decelerations to Safety Time, distances and relative velocities of surrounding vehicles separated by their lane assignment, rely on the knowledge about the position and the movement of all surrounding objects. It is obtained by means of a multiple-sensor-multiple-object-tracking of the radars' measurement data [21]. In doing so, the Unscented Kalman Filter (UKF) is applied and motions are modelled with the Constant Turn Rate and Velocity (CTRV) model [22]. Tracks are created and updated by radar target measurements of all radar sensors using individual sensor models and applying the Generalized Probabilistic Data Association (GPDA) [23]. Moreover, to relate the tracks to the movement of the ego vehicle, the ego motion is estimated. It is based on the velocity and turn rate delivered by the ego vehicle's CAN bus and applies UKF and CTRV as well. Parallel to this, the lane estimation module combines the information about the position of the lanes obtained by the lane mark detection system with the information about the types of adjacent lane markings. The lane marking types are subsequently transferred to the BN while the lane positions are used by the as-



Fig. 12.10 Structure of the algorithm detecting lane change intentions

signment module. This links the tracks with the information about the lanes' structure in order to specify the respective lane they belong to. Besides, the distance, relative velocity and ADST are calculated for each track. The closest track within the lane the ego vehicle is driving along, is finally used to detect the presence of a vehicle driving ahead slowly, while the features of the other tracks are fused per lane to get occupancy assessments for the adjacent lanes to the left and right, respectively.

The lower section deals with the estimation of the glance areas and glance areas sequences indicating a driver's intention to change the lane to the left and right, respectively. It starts with a head tracking module applying a commercial head tracking algorithm called Seeing Machines faceAPI on the video data captured by the camera facing the driver. The rotation of the driver's head around its yaw rotation axis obtained this way is passed on to the modules for estimating the glance area and the glance sequence. Both modules work as described in Sect. 12.3.3.

To sum up, for each feature the different state probabilities are calculated as expected by the input nodes of the Bayesian network and are used to infer the probabilities  $P(X_M = x_{LCL})$ ,  $P(X_M = x_{LCR})$  and  $P(X_M = x_{KL})$  that there is actual an intention to change the lane or not, respectively. All processing in connection with the whole algorithm is done in a probabilistic manner. It means that the uncertainties are taken into account that are inherent in the data captured, in the models used, and in the process of processing.

## 12.5 Experimental Results

The performance of the implemented lane change intent estimation algorithm was tested by means of an evaluation data set. The set was generated from measurement data collected during the driving study. The measuring drives were performed with the help of the research vehicle under real traffic conditions on mainly two-lane urban roads. The whole amount of the driving study comprises measurement data of 60 test persons, who drove along a 40 km long predefined route with 1865 lane changes in different traffic situations. Finally, the measurement data was divided into two data sets. One data set was used for development and training of the driver behaviour estimation and the other set to evaluate the algorithms.

The evaluation of the results of the lane change prediction can be carried out by using various quality attributes and methods. The choice of the methodology to assess the quality characteristic of the implemented algorithm depends on the potential application that should use the results of the lane change prediction. However, in most cases the prediction time and the validity of the prediction are of critical importance.

To analyse the results, the parameters  $P_{\text{Threshold}}$  and  $t_{\text{Threshold}}$  have been introduced, describing the significant probability and the continuity of the prediction result.  $P_{\text{Threshold}}$  indicates the probability value from which the prediction can be interpreted as valid. To filter scattered peaks of the algorithm the time threshold  $t_{\text{Threshold}}$  defines the minimum time span the probability has to remain above  $P_{\text{Threshold}}$  to be considered as a stable result, see Fig. 12.11. By applying the thresholds a binary result signal arises.

For the evaluation of this binary result value, the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) method was applied. And in order to get a ground truth to compare the algorithmic prediction results with real lane changes, the measurement data of the study conducted was enriched by semantic information. The time spans that are considered to be related to a lane change situation are defined by means of the same time intervals of 10s as described before.

The cases of the confusion matrix required by the ROC are defined in accordance with Fig. 12.12. In the first quadrant, the rising and associated falling edge derived from the lane change prediction value of the algorithm lies outside the occurring lane change situation. This case is defined as a false positive sample. Lane change situations as the one next to it, without any edge of the binary signal that can be related to the 10-second interval, count as being false negative samples. If a pair of a rising and the associated falling edge of the



Fig. 12.11 Definition of thresholds for evaluation



Fig. 12.12 Definition of the relation of prediction and ground truth

estimation overlaps with a lane change situation, as shown in the remaining quadrants of Fig. 12.12, the rising edge is considered to be a true positive sample. Any further point in time, without being related to any positive prediction result or lane change situation, is considered as a true negative sample.

To apply the receiver operating characteristic, the complete evaluation data set was used which represents a part of the measurement data collected during the measurement study. Only about 2% of the time of the real driving data recorded are characterised by lane change manoeuvres. As a result, the ratio of true positive and true negative values are unbalanced. The high number of true negative examples would reduce greatly the resulting false positive rate of the ROC curve. Thus, the algorithm would be taken as highly efficiently. By using this classic method, false negative rates of  $1 \cdot 10^{-3}$  occur for the lane change prediction algorithm. However, in the field of advanced driver assistance systems the false alarm rate plays an essential role in the evaluation of technical systems and algorithms. To get a more meaningful representation, the false alarms can be referred to a real time value, for instance as false alarms per hour [10].

Fig. 12.13 represents the modified ROC curve of the developed lane change prediction based on the fusion of environmental and driver behaviour information. Here the number of false positive predictions is shown per hour. The different curves are based on different time thresholds  $t_{\text{Threshold}}$ . It can be seen that a growing time threshold reduces the false positive samples. All curves reach a true positive rate over 0.87.

On the left hand side of Fig. 12.14 the ROC of the lane prediction by driver monitoring only is shown. In comparison with the figure depicted on the right which represents the lane change prediction using environmental information exclusively, it can be seen that driver information alone performs better in terms of true positive rate than environmental information alone. However, both are outperformed by the combination of environmental and driver information as shown in Fig. 12.13.

Another quality parameter of algorithms for estimating manoeuvre intentions is the prediction time which indicates how early an event can be forecasted. The prediction time



**Fig. 12.13** ROC curves for  $P(X_M)$  assessing driver and environment depending on  $t_{\text{Threshold}}$ 



**Fig. 12.14** ROC curves for  $P(X_{M,\text{Driver}})$  (a) and  $P(X_{M,\text{Environment}})$  (b) depending on  $t_{\text{Threshold}}$ 



Fig. 12.15 Evaluation of prediction time depending on  $P_{\text{Threshold}}$  and  $t_{\text{Threshold}}$ 

influences the accuracy of the estimation result. In general, it can be assumed if the event to predict lies further in the future, it is less likely that it really happens that way. But, in turn, if the prediction is carried out too late it loses its benefit.

Fig. 12.15 shows the average time of the first true positive edge for a related lane change manoeuvre depending on the threshold values of  $P_{\text{Threshold}}$  and  $t_{\text{Threshold}}$ . As expected, an increasing value of threshold  $P_{\text{Threshold}}$  influences the temporal prediction horizon in a negative way. However, a higher  $P_{\text{Threshold}}$  also decreases the rate of false positives, compare Fig. 12.13. In comparison to similar research publications [4, 10, 11], the average prediction times of the algorithm are significantly earlier. Doshi, Moris & Trivedi [10] get a maximum true positive rate of 0.7 at a prediction time of 3 s before a lane change. Connecting the data in Fig. 12.15 and Fig. 12.13 at a true positive rate of 0.7, the implemented algorithm predicts a lane change triggered by slowly driving vehicles in front with an average time of 7.8 s before it is executed. At this point the threshold parameters are  $P_{\text{Threshold}} = 0.5$  and  $t_{\text{Threshold}} = 1s$ .

To sum up, under the circumstances specified, lane change situations with a slower vehicle in front can be predicted earlier and more reliable by combining information about the environmental situation and information about the driver's gaze behaviour.

### 12.6 Summary and Conclusions

The work presented aimed at implementing a real-time application predicting upcoming lane changes on the basis of assessing the environmental situation and observing the driver's gaze behaviour. Bearing this in mind, a full approach for predicting lane change manoeuvres was proposed. It relies on two sets of specific features. The first set that is suggested models the motivating and impeding influence of the environmental situation on the formation of manoeuvre intentions. This is done by involving the distance, relative velocity and deceleration to safety time of surrounding vehicles. In conjunction with the knowledge of the lanes' geometry and markings, all objects are assigned to the lanes to estimate the driver's lane preference. For this, gaze areas and gaze area sequences are estimated by means of head tracking and are applied on two competing estimation models. In order to achieve an early as well as reliable lane change prediction a Bayesian network approach was proposed to fuse all the features in a probabilistic manner.

The algorithm was completed by post-processing modules to derive the features from radar and camera based measurement data. The resulting lane change prediction algorithm was implemented and optimized to run in real-time. Subsequently, it was integrated into a test vehicle equipped with corresponding sensors. Finally, the whole prediction algorithm was evaluated using naturalistic driving data obtained by the study related to this work.

It has been shown that the feature set proposed is suitable to predict lane change manoeuvres caused by a vehicle driving ahead slowly. The prediction can be done in realtime by a standard desktop machine interpreting sensor information that is usually available in modern vehicles. Furthermore, it could be shown that combining the observation and assessment of the environmental situation with the driver's gaze behaviour is able to outperform the individual performances by improving the prediction's overall performance. In addition, there are indications that the prediction of driving manoeuvres of other types would also benefit from this approach. Although an adjustment of the parameterization and additional features as the driver's point of destination could become necessary. Due to the individual differences in the driving behaviour another possible improvement could be to respect specific driver characteristics in the definition of parameter sets. In general, the prediction's performance significantly depends on parametrization which, in turn, strongly depends on the data set used to classify and to parametrize the modules of the prediction application. Consequently, future work should concentrate on parameter optimization using naturalistic driving data covering a variety of situations as broad as possible.

# References

- 1. Statistisches Bundesamt: Fachserie 8 Reihe 7, Verkehr Verkehrsunfälle 2014. Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden (2016)
- Bayly, M., Fildes, B., Regan, M., Young, K.: Review of crash effectiveness of intelligent transport systems. Deliverable D4.1.1–D6.2, TRACE project (2007). http://www.trace-project.org/ publication/archives/trace-wp4-wp6-d4-1-1-d6-2.pdf
- Kuge, N., Yamamura, T., Shimoyama, O., Liu, A.: A Driver Behavior Recognition Method Based on a Driver Model Framework. SAE Technical Paper, 2000-01-0349 (2000)

- Berndt, H., Dietmayer, K.: Driver intention inference with vehicle onboard sensors. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Vehicular Electronics and Safety (ICVES), pp 102– 107 (2009)
- 5. Oliver, N., Pentland, A.P.: Graphical models for driver behavior recognition in a SmartCar. Proceedings of the IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium, pp 7–12 (2000). IV 2000
- Schubert, R., Wanielik, G.: Empirical evaluation of a unified bayesian object and situation assessment approach for lane change assistance. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pp 1471–1476 (2011)
- 7. Doshi, A., Trivedi, M.M.: On the Roles of Eye Gaze and Head Dynamics in Predicting Driver's Intent to Change Lanes. IEEE Trans Intelligent Transportation Syst **10**(3), 453–462 (2009)
- 8. Henning, M.J.: Preparation for lane change manoeuvres: Behavioural indicators and underlying cognitive processes, Ph.D. dissertation, Technische Universität Chemnitz (2010)
- Lethaus, F., Rataj, J.: Do eye movements reflect driving manoeuvres? Intelligent Transport Syst Iet 1(3), 199–204 (2007)
- Doshi, A., Moris, B.T., Trivedi, M.M.: On-road prediction of driver's intent with multimodal sensory cues. IEEE Pervasive Comput 10(3), 22–34 (2011)
- McCall, J.C., Trivedi, M.M., Wipf, D., Rao, B.: Lane Change Intent Analysis Using Robust Operators and Sparse Bayesian Learning. IEEE Computer Society Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition – Workshops, CVPR Workshops, pp 59–59 (2005)
- 12. Bauer, C.: A Driver-Specific Maneuver Prediction Model Based on Fuzzy Logic. Ph.D. dissertation, Freie Universität Berlin (2011)
- Schroven, F., Giebel, T.: Fahrerintentionserkennung f
  ür Fahrerassistenzsysteme. Proceedings of 24. VDI/VW-Gemeinschaftstagung – Integrierte Sicherheit und Fahrerassistenzsysteme. Wolfsburg Bd. VDI-Berichte. VDI, D
  üsseldorf (2008)
- Hupfer, C.: Deceleration to safety time (DST) a useful figure to evaluate traffic safety. Proceedings of ICTCT Conference Seminar 3. Department of Traffic Planning and Engineering. (1997)
- Leonhardt, V., Pech, T., Wanielik, G.: Data Fusion and Assessment for Maneuver Prediction including Driving Situation and Driver Behavior. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Information Fusion, pp 1702–1708 (2016)
- Pech, T., Lindner, P., Wanielik, G.: Head tracking based glance area estimation for driver behaviour modelling during lane change execution. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pp 655–660 (2014)
- 17. Russel, S.J., Norvig, P.: Artificial intelligence: a modern approach. Prentice Hall/Pearson Education, Upper Saddle River (2003)
- Rabiner, L.R., Juang, B.H.: An introduction to hidden markov models. IEEE Assp Mag 3, 4–16 (1986)
- 19. Lethaus, F., Baumann, M.R.K., Köster, F., Lemmer, K. (eds.): Using Pattern Recognition to Predict Driver Intention. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (2011)
- Schubert, R., Schulze, K., Wanielik, G.: Situation assessment for automatic lane-change maneuvers. IEEE Trans Intelligent Transportation Syst 11(3), 607–616 (2010)
- 21. Schuster, M., Reuter, J., Wanielik, G.: Tracking of vehicles on near side lanes using multiple radar sensors. Proceedings of International Radar Conference, 2014. (2014)
- Schubert, R., Adam, C., Obst, M., Mattern, N., Leonhardt, V., Wanielik, G.: Empirical evaluation of vehicular models for ego motion estimation. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV), pp 7–12 (2011)
- Schubert, R., Adam, C., Richter, E., Bauer, S., Lietz, H., Wanielik, G.: Generalized probabilistic data association for vehicle tracking under clutter. Proceedings of the IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV), pp 962–968 (2012)

# Human Focused Development of a Manoeuvre Prediction in Urban Traffic Situations Based on Behavioural Sequences

Jens Heine, Ingmar Langer, and Thomas Schramm

# 13.1 Motivation and Goal

Driven by the vision zero, the vision for a reduction of serious injuries and casualties in road traffic [1] there has been done much work on active safety systems. Advanced driver assistance systems (ADAS) played a major part in the last years to reduce the number of seriously wounded and killed people in road traffic [2]. Many ADAS warn if critical situations occur and intervene during a situation where the driver is not able to avoid a collision by himself [3].

The driver's chance of solving a critical situation without the help of an ADAS intervention increases if the driver is warned at an earlier point of time. That however raises the possibility of unnecessary warnings. For example an attentive driver is aware of the upcoming conflict and does not need to be warned. He even may recognise these warnings as false alarms, leading to the so called warning dilemma [4]. With a rising number of those subjectively perceived unnecessary warnings the system might be seen as annoying or is turned off, which leads to a reduced warning character of the system [5].

Hence, the goal is to support the driver with a warning as early as necessary and as late as possible. That implies a minimum number of both unnecessary and false warnings [6].

J. Heine (🖂)

EE Advanced Technology, Active Safety & Controls, Adam Opel AG Rüsselsheim am Main, Germany

I. Langer Institut für Arbeitswissenschaft, Technische Universität Darmstadt Darmstadt, Germany

T. Schramm Vehicle Performance, Adam Opel AG Rüsselsheim am Main, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_13
A possible approach towards that goal is to detect the driver's intention and to predict future human behaviour [5]. Intention detection measures early indicators of performing a driving manoeuvre and tries to predict the following manoeuvre. A driving manoeuvre is an enclosed operation concerning the guidance of a vehicle [7]. It consists of a number of different actions a driver performs to conduct such manoeuvre. The driver intention belongs to the group of short term changing driver states which changes regularly within a few minutes or seconds [8]. It is not possible to detect the driver intention directly, but the actions a driver is performing in traffic situations can be set in relationship to performed driving manoeuvres and inferred with observations to deduce the future behaviour of the driver (Sect. 13.4).

There are many known motivators which influence the driver by forming his intention. Motivators may be the desire to drive safely and comfortably to a chosen destination [9]. There are also inhibitors which restrict the driver in his behaviour, e. g. the characteristic of the road, the weather or other road users. To infer the driver's intention these motivators and inhibitors have to be measured and have to be put in reference to each other. This combination can be interpreted as a mental model of the driving behaviour. With such mental model it is possible to infer the driver's intention.

The driver's intention influences the behaviour of the driver on the three levels of vehicle guidance [10]. On the strategic level e.g. the driver determines the route to go to his preferred destination. On the tactical level he performs actions like conducting driving manoeuvres to reach his strategic goals. On the operational level he stabilizes the vehicle to perform the tactical manoeuvres. The described approach concentrates on the tactical guidance level.

If the driver's intention is known with a time horizon of a few seconds, it is possible to improve the performance of an ADAS [8] to support the driver on the tactical guidance level, because unnecessary warnings can be suppressed and more user suitable warnings can be generated. It is possible to infer the driver's intention by using in-car Controller Area Network (CAN-bus) data [11]. It can be decided if a warning is necessary and the optimum point in time and intensity of a warning can be defined. Unnecessary warnings can be suppressed.

In addition to the driver's intention there are other driver conditions like drowsiness or distraction which influence the driving behaviour [8]. They are not in focus of this work. Hence, the aim was to provide constant experimental conditions with the least possible variation in drowsiness and distraction. To address all driver conditions including the cross-connections between them, they have to be studied while varying them in a controlled way.

The goal of the described work is the development of an algorithm to predict driving manoeuvres in urban traffic situations with regard to driver's behaviour. Therefore a study design is created that comprises a set of four different driving manoeuvres (Sect. 13.3). Addressed manoeuvres divide in critical and uncritical manoeuvres in order to identify potential differences in detection performance. Analysed critical manoeuvres are emergency braking and evasion, uncritical manoeuvres are stopping at a traffic light and changing

lane. Subsequently, the algorithm's performance is analysed by quality measures such as time horizon, specificity and sensitivity. The vehicle used for data collection uses sensors that are available in production. Additionally, the vehicle is equipped with head- and eye-tracking.

Since the algorithm shall be implemented in a vehicle for demonstration purposes, real-time capability is a requirement. This allows the driver to be warned exactly at the calculated point of time.

# 13.2 Method of Development and State of the Art

Various research has been going on in the area of driver's intention detection for a manoeuvre prediction with real-time capable algorithms. A good overview can be found in Doshi and Trivedi [9]. There is no known technology to measure the driver's intention directly and exact in every possible situation. So far, only predictions with incorporated uncertainty are possible. A possible way of driver's intention detection can be done by building up a mental model from data inheriting examples of certain behaviour and then classify the observed behaviour to estimate his future behaviour based on the previous observations. The classification algorithms can be divided into discriminative (e.g. support vector machines) and generative (e.g. Hidden Markov Models). Generative algorithms model the probability distribution of input and output variables by finding parameters, fitting class-conditional densities and class priors separately and combining them with the use of Bayes' theorem. In contrary, discriminative algorithms model the posterior probabilities directly by maximising a likelihood function with conditional probability distribution needing less parameters to be determined [12]. Both algorithms are trained using experimental data to generate their knowledge inductively in a supervised training procedure. With these procedures it is possible to generate a human model for predicting human behaviour without the need of generating a full mental model deductively.

#### 13.2.1 Development Process

With the mentioned restrictions and opportunities there is a common method for building up a human model for a manoeuvre prediction. It is called machine learning. To use methods of machine learning to create a human model inductively, there needs to be a representative set of data with examples of human behaviour you want to detect or predict. These data need to be collected. There are many ways in generating driving data for a manoeuvre prediction. You can perform a simulator study or measure human behaviour in real driving situations. We conducted a controlled field study (see Sect. 13.3) to concentrate on the human behaviour and the underlying inter- and intraindividual differences. There are not only differences between human drivers in performing similar manoeuvres but even the same drivers tend to show intraindividual differences in performing the same driving manoeuvre. This needs to be considered, when synthesizing an algorithm for manoeuvre prediction. Because we want to detect a certain behaviour in defined situations, e. g. before and while the driver is performing a lane change, we use a supervised machine learning procedure. In supervised machine learning the examples of input vectors need to be connected to the desired output vectors. Hence, the gathered training data needs to be labelled with discrete categories (e. g. the manoeuvre which is performed) to learn underlying similarities in the data to be able to classify driver's behaviour for a manoeuvre prediction. When there is also a need for having not only a discrete result but to get a continuous variable, e. g. the time until the driver is staring to performing a certain manoeuvre, a regression needs to be done.

A driving manoeuvre prediction needs to classify a certain manoeuvre with a certain probability. Furthermore, it must be able to calculate a regression of the time to the start of the manoeuvre while dealing with the complex and individual different behaviour of the driver.

# 13.2.2 Algorithm for Manoeuvre Prediction

In this work a white box algorithm should be developed to model the driver's behaviour in a comprehensible and traceable way. In contrast to a black box model, e. g. an artificial neural network, a white box model can be observed and interpreted all the time while doing calculations and the trained parameters of the model are present in a comprehensible way. So you are able to extract the knowledge from a white box model to analyse and interpret it for further research. Further on, the complexity of the algorithm needs to be a dimension that it can be executed in real-time on the desired hardware.

To generate a white box model of human behaviour the theory of Fuzzy Logic is feasible. The theory of Fuzzy Logic was first described by Zadeh [13]. Fuzzy Logic enables us to design a control system by using expert knowledge [14] and be able to model the human way of understanding and interpreting signals and variables. Fuzzy Membership Functions (MF) reduce the range of the input variables to a defined number of sets, similar to the comprehension and mental representation of a human expert. However, Fuzzy Logic is not able to deal with time series data without any adaptions, because it calculates output data without considering past inputs or results. Bauer [15] proposed an alternative to handle time series data with Fuzzy Logic without having to deal with the enormous complexity of recurrent Fuzzy Logic systems [15]. The Fuzzy rule base is thereby interpreted as a state machine, incorporating one Fuzzy rule per state. The rule with the highest aggregation value represents the active state of this state machine and with the time flow and activation of different rules the time series behaviour can be modelled with these adaptions.

The structure and operation mode of our algorithm for manoeuvre prediction can be found in Sect. 13.4.

#### 13.2.3 Performance Metrics

When synthesising an algorithm, a validation needs to be done to estimate the performance of the algorithm. Different metrics were used to measure performance of a binary classification and are useful for a performance estimation of this manoeuvre prediction. The sensitivity, also known as the true positive rate, defines the proportion of correctly identified positive classifications whereby the specificity, also known as the true negative rate, defines the proportion of the correctly classified negatives [16]. The true negative value can also be calculated by subtracting the proportion of false positives from "1". These numbers can be used to calculate a receiver operator characteristic (ROC) to illustrate the classification performance by varying a discrimination threshold [17]. The ROC enables us to find an optimal trade-off for the decision threshold concerning the sensitivity and specificity.

Another important performance metric when talking about a manoeuvre prediction is the prediction horizon, also known as the earliness of a prediction. When determining the mean prediction time horizon, e. g. at what time the car will cross the lane marking while performing a lane change manoeuvre, we are able to estimate the possible positive effects of an algorithm for manoeuvre prediction to a certain ADAS.

# 13.3 Experimental Study

In order to gather behavioural data (incl. eye tracking data) for the planned development of a machine learning algorithm an experimental study was conducted. The study was carried out in a controlled area on the test track of the Technische Universität Darmstadt, because not only situations like stopping or changing a lane, but also critical situations like emergency braking or evasion had to be analysed. It was not possible to perform these critical situations in real traffic due to the risk they present.

The situations were set up on a fixed course on the test track (see Sect. 13.3.1) and the subjects had to perform a total of ten laps, so that intraindividual differences in the behaviour could be analysed. Interindividual differences were a result of the 97 subjects that performed the study. Of these 97 subjects, 56 were males and 41 were females. The mean age of the subjects was 39.3 years with a standard deviation of 13.4 years.

#### 13.3.1 Study Design

The fixed course used in the study can be seen in Fig. 13.1. The course started with a traffic light at an intersection, followed by a total of four lane changes. The lane changes were divided into "forced" and "free" lane changes. Due to space and time limitations, the forced lane change was limited to approx. 30 m, while the area for the free lane change was approx. 85 m. After a curve at the end of the straight road the subjects had to drive



Fig. 13.1 Overview of the course at the test track

to a stop sign and cross the intersection with the traffic light to their left side. At the start of the straight road the subjects had to drive back to the beginning where the next round started.

The traffic light stayed green for six laps, changed from yellow to red in two laps and changed to red immediately in order to provoke emergency braking reactions in another two laps. Between the second and the third lane change and after lane change number four a pylon was placed on the track and both were activated once. On the way back to the intersection, there was an area where a box was thrown on the lane. Details of the three critical situations traffic light (immediate red signal), pylon and box are given in the following chapter.

### 13.3.2 Creating Emergency Behaviour in Critical Situations

The main challenge regarding the critical situations was not to simply ask the subjects to perform an emergency braking, but to provoke such a reaction in order to be able to analyse a realistic reaction behaviour (see also [18]). One method was to unfurl a pylon which was integrated in a striped barrel from the roadside, blocking the track and forcing the subjects to brake or evade the obstacle in order to prevent a collision. Another method we used, was to change the traffic light at the intersection to red suddenly, provoking a braking reaction. The third method involved a box that was thrown onto the track in front of the car. Fig. 13.2 shows the design of these critical situations.

In order to get proper reactions and useful data, it was critical to activate the different situations at the right time. To find the perfect timing, pre-tests that included time-to-collision (TTC) were performed. For the pylon the TTC was set to about 1.2 s in order to see more evasion reactions than braking reactions (see also [2]). The traffic light suddenly



Fig. 13.2 Overview of the critical situations pylon (a), traffic light (b) and box (c)

turned red when the car was about 21 m away from the light – while driving 50 km/h this equals approx. 1.5 s. The box was thrown onto the track with an approx. TTC of 1.2 s in order to have comparable results with the pylon.

## 13.3.3 Validity of the Controlled Field Study

An analysis of the reactions to the critical situations of N = 53 subjects (first test series) showed that 50% (26 out of 52) of the subjects made an emergency brake when the traffic light turned red suddenly. About 10% (5 out of 52) made a partial braking. The second critical situation at the traffic light resulted in 86% (43 out of 50) emergency brake reactions and only 10% (5 out of 50) showed no reaction at all. The subject's reactions to the triggering of the pylon are dominated by a combination of braking and evading (55.8% (29 out of 52) respectively 59.5% (22 out of 37) in the two events). Evading is the reaction in 26.9% (14 out of 52) respectively 21.6% (8 out of 37) while braking was done in 11.5% (6 out of 52) respectively 18.9% (7 out of 37). 36 of the 53 subjects (67.9%) reacted with a combination of braking and evading to the thrown box, 26.4% (14 out of 53) braked and 5.7% (3 out of 53) evaded at the critical situation. To summarize, the reactions of the subjects were as expected and valuable data was collected. Additional details (with slightly different numbers due to smaller mistakes) can be found in Langer et al. [18].

In a questionnaire, which had to be completed after each critical situation, the subjects had to mention situations out of real traffic which are comparable with the critical situation in the tests. The main answers were:

- Traffic light,
  - inattention of the driver (N = 13),
  - imminent crossing of a red traffic light (N = 10),
  - harsh Braking of the vehicle ahead (N=6).
- Pylon,
  - child or ball on street (N = 18),
  - animal crossing street (N = 13),
  - car leaving parking space/car door opened (N = 12).

- Box,
  - child or ball on street (N = 12),
  - load/object on street (N=8),
  - animal crossing street (N = 7).

The answers show that typical and critical situations out of real traffic are comparable with the situations in the test study.

Overall the study with the critical situations seems to be valid concerning the results of the subject reactions, the compared situations out of real traffic and the expert feedback of the pre-tests of the study.

## 13.3.4 Experimental Conclusions

In the experimental study valuable data of driver behaviour was collected from 97 subjects. Besides data on steering or pedal behaviour, eye tracking data was collected. The fixed course of the study contained normal situations like changing a lane and braking, as well as critical situations. With the broad variety of the collected data it is possible to analyse the behaviour and to find important indicators for the following behaviour in order to develop a solution for a manoeuvre prediction which can be used in order to improve the effectiveness and acceptance of ADAS.

# 13.4 Development of an Algorithm for Manoeuvre Prediction

In this chapter the design and the functionality of the algorithm are described. At first, there must be a selection of used input variables. This procedure is often known as feature engineering and is not an easy process. Then the fuzzification, modelling of driver's behaviour with behavioural sequences is described, the inference with a k-nearest-neighbour method using Edit Distance as distance metric is explained, and the validation using the leave-one-out cross validation method is shown. These elements need to be selected to define the desired output of the algorithm with regard to the existing input variables.

## 13.4.1 Select Input Variables/Feature Engineering

At the beginning of the development of an algorithm, the available input data has to be selected. It seems to be logical, that using all data you have to predict a driver's intention is the best, but according to Occam's razor [19] it is best to choose only the best input variables as features and to concentrate on fewer and stronger input variables. This should lead to the best compromise between prediction quality and computational effort [20] and should raise the performance in detecting manoeuvres on unknown data sets in a future

application. This work focusses on the driver's behaviour and the clues he delivers for a manoeuvre prediction. Not only the steering and pedal input of the driver have to be considered, other values also influence the driver in his behaviour, because they were used to identify the car's reactions to the driver's inputs to stabilize the vehicles course. The data was collected with the vehicle's CAN-bus and an optical car mounted driver monitoring system with the ability to detect the driver's head movement and gaze behaviour. With the use of a non-intrusive eye-tracking system you can measure the attention focus of the driver for estimating which information he is gathering, because nearly 90% of the gathering of information by a driver is done with the eyes [21]. Due to the reduction of driving comfort, when using intrusive methods, only non-intrusive methods were chosen. For the feature selection a method to evaluate features on statistical basis was developed by Heine et al. [22]. This feature selection focusses on the detection rates and time horizon a single feature is able to perform concerning the detection of a certain driving manoeuvre. With this method it is possible to identify the most promising and valid features to use for the manoeuvre prediction. The best features for the lane change prediction (within our research) are the features from the lane detection camera system. These are the lateral distance to the lane marking, the heading angle of the vehicle to the lane marking and the time to line-crossing (TLC), a feature introduced by Lin and Ulsoy [23]. The best features for the stopping manoeuvre are the velocity of the vehicle and a combined pedal position, which is calculated as the difference of the accelerator pedal position and the brake pedal position to reduce the number of input signals by one without losing any information, because none of the participants showed behaviour in which both pedals were activated simultaneously. The best signals to detect the emergency braking manoeuvre were the velocity of the vehicle, the combined pedal position and the gradient of the accelerator pedal. The emergency evasive manoeuvre was best predicted by the steering angle and the TLC.

#### 13.4.2 Fuzzification of Input Variables

The number of Fuzzy membership functions (MF) per input variable were identified with a heuristic approach in combination with expert's knowledge, the intersections between the MFs were trained with the use of the training data. A number of five Fuzzy MFs per input variable assured the best compromise between performance and computational effort [24, 25]. Similar to the work of Hulnhagen [26] manoeuvre specific MFs were trained. The input variables were analysed across all participants for the regions with the most and less change to get a high number of MFs in the region with the fastest change to be sensitive for these changes and fewer MFs in areas with less change to reduce the computational effort. Therefore, the mapping of the deviation of a certain input signal to its course is analysed, divided into five equally sized integrals and the boarders of these integrals are used as the intersection of the MFs.

After defining the intersections of the Fuzzy MFs the exact course needs to be set, by defining the fuzziness between the MFs with a parameter within the range of [0.1],

whereby 1 represents the highest possible fuzziness, leading to very smooth transitions between the MFs. The best value for this parameter was found to be 0.5 [24, 25], which represents a medium amount of fuzziness incorporated in the Fuzzy Logic system.

#### 13.4.3 Behavioural Sequences and k-nearest-neighbour

Driving manoeuvres are located on the tactical guidance level and consist of different action steps a driver performs sequentially to control the vehicle with a time horizon of a few seconds. Each action step can be modelled by the activation of a certain Fuzzy rule. Hence, a driving manoeuvre can be described as a sequential activation of Fuzzy rules over time. These sequences represent the driver's behaviour independent from other driver's behaviour and is more suited to describe the time series properties with respect to the inter- and intraindividual differences in human behaviour than state machines.

Every sequence is generated by transforming the actions the participant was performing within the test track study while performing the certain manoeuvre into Fuzzy rules. The rules with the highest aggregation value were the active one and were connected according to their appearance in time thus creating a sequence of Fuzzy rules. Each state in this sequence inherits the active Fuzzy rule, the mean Fuzzy aggregation value and the duration of activation. All sequences of all participants form a database of driver's behaviour in one certain driving manoeuvre inheriting manoeuvre specific behavioural patterns. Even very rare patterns were not rejected and kept in the database to have the chance to detect a greater variety of manoeuvre conduction.

Fig. 13.3 shows an example for a behavioural sequence for a stopping manoeuvre. In this graph, the accelerator and brake pedal are shown individually to allow a better comprehension. The course of the vehicle's velocity, the accelerator pedal and brake pedal position were fuzzified into five Fuzzy sets each. However only three of them are visualised in the graphic. The resulting behavioural chain can be seen at the bottom of the figure, inheriting the specific behaviour of the driver at this stopping manoeuvre.

After all sequences from all driving manoeuvres were analysed and stored into each driving manoeuvre specific database the training of the algorithm is completed.

To predict a driving manoeuvre the actual driver's behaviour has to be compared in realtime to the trained behaviour in the databases to infer the driver's intention. The k-Nearest-Neighbour (kNN) algorithm, a non-parametric method for pattern detection is used to infer this information. It is superior to a parametric method in regard to the representation of the probability density, but needs a high amount of memory and computational power to execute. KNN algorithms compare an unknown sample of data with stored samples of a database in a multidimensional feature space with the use of a distance metric to calculate the similarity between the unknown sample and all known samples. It classifies the unknown sample by assigning the specific class label to that sample by calculating the most occurred label within the k similar or nearest samples concerning the distance metric.



Fig. 13.3 Behavioural chain at a stopping manoeuvre

#### 13.4.4 Edit Distance

To use the kNN method for pattern classification a suited distance metric needs to be selected. A commonly used metric for continuous variables is the Euclidean distance [12]. To compare sequences of discrete elements, e.g. text recognition or to compare two sequences of states another distance metric will perform better. Because of the inter- and intraindividual differences in performing driving manoeuvres it is nearly impossible to find identical sequences. The Edit Distance [27] seems to be the feasible solution. Bunke and Csirik [28] used the Edit Distance for general feature detection and Chua et al. [29] and Navarro [30] extended it to be used for different applications, e.g. by adding the capability of comparing sequences of different lengths and a real-time capable calculation. It calculates the minimal effort to convert one sequence of elements into another by using different defined transformations like delete, insert or switch to determine the similarity of these sequences. Thereby, every transformation is defined with certain costs and the sum of the costs of all necessary conversation steps correlates with the distance. In this work the costs are related to the appearance of the states in the database, so that the insertion of a state, which happens to exist very seldom in the database, is much more expensive than inserting a state which is represented very often.

Some driving manoeuvres, e. g. a lane change manoeuvre, can be conducted at every point in time and space as long as the road offers the needed requirements, e. g. a useable target lane for a lane change manoeuvre. Hence, a continuous manoeuvre classification is needed. Because the computation of the Edit Distance in combination with the kNN algorithm is computationally expensive, another method for moderating the computational complexity is needed. For this purpose the edit distance is calculated continuously only when needed. To determine, if the calculation is necessary a state machine for every manoeuvre is implemented. It consists of the states which are element of the corresponding behavioural sequences. The calculation of the edit distance for a certain manoeuvre is started, when specific states within the state machine, which are marked as starting states, are activated. The calculation is stopped when marked ending states were reached or a defined number of forbidden transitions were detected. This adaption enables us to classify driver's behaviour with kNN and Edit Distance in real time.

### 13.4.5 Manoeuvre Probability and Time Horizon

The state machine to manage the computational effort also enables us to calculate the probability of the classification. The algorithm provides us with a distance value to compare, how similar the actual behavioural sequence of the driver is to a certain stored sequence within the database. The measure thereby correlates with the statistical probability, that the actual behaviour is similar to the ones learned in the training step. The correlation between the Edit Distance measure and the probability is analysed and stored in a lookup table for the calculation of the manoeuvre probability. Therefore, the activations and deactivations of the state machine in regard to the distance measurement were used to calculate this look-up table.

When using the algorithm in the real-time detection, it is possible to directly calculate the manoeuvre probability from the calculated Edit Distance value. The same method is used to calculate the time horizon until a certain driving manoeuvre is going to be conducted. Thereby, the reference time will be calculated in regard to a certain fixed point in time during the analysed manoeuvre, e. g. the time when the front left wheel touches the lane marking at a lane change to the left. The time horizon is as important as the manoeuvre probability, because it allows us to trigger a certain action of an ADAS, like an early warning, at the right point in time to give the driver enough time to act on a certain situation, without providing the warning too early or too late.

#### 13.4.6 Design Parameter Optimization

The algorithm inherits parameters to adjust the behaviour and calculations. These design parameters were used at a certain part of the algorithm to get the chance of choosing a set of parameters to adapt the algorithm to certain needs of an ADAS. E. g. you can adjust the complexity of the algorithm by choosing more fuzzy sets per input variable and thus creating more complex manoeuvre sequences, or you can change the fuzziness between these sets to incorporate more fuzziness in the algorithm leading to smoother transitions and a greater diversity. The parameters were optimized with the use of the training data to find the optimal parameter set. But they can be adjusted in further research to adapt to other use cases or specific desired ADAS behaviour.

#### 13.4.7 Validation of the Algorithm

For validating the performance of an algorithm for manoeuvre prediction a receiveroperator-characteristic (ROC) is suitable to find an optimal trade-off for the decision threshold concerning the sensitivity and specificity. Therefore, the numbers of the manoeuvres through the controlled field study were calculated and compared with the output of the algorithm concerning the true positive rate (TP) and the false positive detections (FP). With the variation of the probability threshold, a value to decide whether the driver is performing a certain manoeuvre or not, comparable to a binary classifier, a full ROC can be calculated. The ROC can afterwards be used to find the optimal trade-off between sensitivity and specificity for toggling an ADAS. When using ROC-curves for validating the performance, another value can be used: the area-under-curve (AUC). Because of the characteristic of the ROC-curve the area under this curve delivers another performance criteria. The closer this characteristic gets to the value of 1, the better is the performance of an algorithm concerning the sensitivity and specificity. More information regarding ROCanalysis can be found in Fawcett [17].

As stated before, another important performance metric is the prediction horizon  $t_h$  or the earliness of a detection. With finding the optimal trade-off between sensitivity and specificity, the decision probability can be used to calculate the mean time horizon for the prediction of a driving manoeuvre, by calculating for each true positive detection the time until the certain manoeuvre fixed point in time is going to be reached. Another important value to validate the performance is the correctness of the provided time horizon. The algorithm is calculating a time to manoeuvre value in each step. To validate this calculation the mean quadratic error between the provided time horizon and the true value  $t_{h,err}$  is calculated.

To give an estimation of an algorithm's performance concerning its generalization ability with regard to an independent data set, cross-validation methods are used. The leaveone-out cross-validation (LOOCV) is an exhaustive cross-validation method for using all the available data for training and testing. Other than non-exhaustive cross-validation methods, e.g. k-fold cross-validation, it uses all possible ways of splitting the data into training and validation sets, without suffering from a very high complexity like leave-pout cross-validation. It gives a realistic performance estimation of one driver performing several driving manoeuvres and the detection quality of an algorithm trained with as many training data as possible.

	TP	FP	AUC	t <sub>h</sub>	$t_{h,\text{err}}$
Lane change left	96.2%	10.7%	0.95	1.35 s	1.48 s
Lane change right	94.4%	9.4%	0.95	1.02 s	0.27 s
Stop	98.8%	4.5%	0.97	1.91 s	0.57 s
Emergency Braking	97.2%	1.4%	0.98	1.74 s	0.94 s
Emergency Evasion	69.4%	1.7%	0.83	0.37 s	0.75 s

 Table 13.1
 Performance metrics of the manoeuvre prediction

In Table 13.1 the performance metrics of the algorithm detecting lane change manoeuvres to the left and right, stopping manoeuvres at intersections, emergency braking and emergency evasive manoeuvres can be seen.

To detect the lane change manoeuvres, following signals were used: the angle of the vehicle to the lane markings, the TLC and the activation of the indicator switch. To detect the stopping manoeuvre, the vehicle's velocity and the accelerator and brake pedal position are used; to detect the emergency braking manoeuvre, the same signals as for the stopping manoeuvre, and additionally the accelerator pedal's gradient are used. To detect the emergency evasion manoeuvre, the steering wheel angle and the TLC is used.

The performance shows high true positive rates for every manoeuvre except the emergency evasive manoeuvre by keeping quite low false detection rates. The mean time horizon for predicting the lane change is a little over 1 s, before the vehicle touches the lane marking with the correspondent front wheel. Because of the low number of evasive manoeuvres in combination with a very high variance in interindividual behaviour during execution by the participants, a detection rate of only 69.4% was achieved.

More information about the development of the algorithm and the performance can be found in [14].

#### 13.4.8 Integration of Driver Monitoring

To include more early features indicating future driving manoeuvres, driver monitoring data was analysed. With this information it is possible to raise the mean time horizon, and to provide an earlier prediction of the driver's behaviour to a certain ADAS. The head and gaze behaviour of the driver may indicate, which manoeuvre the driver is planning; thus, being able to predict it earlier. In comparison to vehicle data, features from driver monitoring tend to happen earlier, but unfortunately seem to be more unreliable concerning the prediction of the next driving manoeuvre. In the experimental study the data including head and gaze behaviour was analysed. The features derived from the horizontal head rotation delivered the highest accuracy and time benefit. The features including gaze behaviour seemed to deliver features with a little improvement in earliness but a downfall in reduced accuracy [32, 33].

The integration of head features for the driving manoeuvre prediction was done by stacking a decision tree with the head features to the previously shown algorithm. With the integration of the analysed features we were able to improve the detection quality and earliness of the lane change prediction but did not improve the performance of the longitudinal and emergency manoeuvres.

Among our experimental study described in Sect. 13.3, the participants showed no specific features in their head or gaze behaviour, which could help to improve the manoeuvre prediction in comparison to vehicle based features. This may also have occurred because of the setup of the experimental study and the little time the participants have had to react to our critical obstacles. We also found no significant features in head or gaze behaviour to improve the performance of the detection of the stopping manoeuvre. The participants started the slow down at the approach of the intersection, which was measurable with signals from the vehicle's CAN-bus more early than a specific gaze behaviour to check for other vehicles approaching the intersection. But this could also have occurred because of the artificial setup of the controlled field study.

With the integration of a 2-class decision tree using head based features the true positive rate for the lane change detection to the left decreased to 91% while reaching a better false positive rate of 3.1%. The biggest benefit was the raise in the prediction time horizon [32, 33]. With the use of head based features in combination with vehicle based features a mean prediction horizon of 2.5 s was achievable (Heine, i. V.). This supports the hypothesis that early features gathered by monitoring the driver's head and gaze behaviour lead to an increased detection horizon for a manoeuvre prediction concerning lane change manoeuvres.

# 13.5 Integration in Demonstrator Vehicle

As a final step the algorithm was integrated into a demonstrator vehicle with a prototype installation of hardware to test the performance and real-time capability under realistic conditions. The real-time capability was tested through a test drive in real traffic situations in the city of Rüsselsheim. In this test drive all uncritical manoeuvres were performed. The mean calculation time of the algorithm was 17 ms on a Core i5-3210M Car-PC within a Java environment. Accordingly, the algorithm was found to be real-time capable for providing information about the next planned driving manoeuvre to a certain ADAS in uncritical situations.

The next step was an expert evaluation of the algorithm and was carried out on a closed test track environment. To conduct a proper test the status and operating mode of the algorithm has to be visualised. For this purpose a prototype visualisation was developed and integrated (see Fig. 13.4). It visualises the probability and time horizon of the predicted manoeuvres in the centre information display.

The vehicle is displayed statically in the lower left corner. If an upcoming driving manoeuvre is predicted, it is displayed visually in the form of a traffic sign. The distance of



Fig. 13.4 Real-time visualisation of algorithm while performing a lane change to the left

the sign to the vehicle represents the computed time horizon to the onset of the manoeuvre. Since the manoeuvre probability is not the same for every manoeuvre, the traffic signs can be shown transparent to illustrate that effect. In the lower right corner the probability of the lane changes were displayed in form of a bar graph.

This visualisation should not be a real HMI, but enables the experts with knowledge of ADAS to evaluate the performance of the algorithm in real-time while driving the demonstrator vehicle. On this test track validation/evaluation all uncritical and critical driving manoeuvres were performed. The algorithm was assessed in terms of robustness, earliness, sensitivity and specificity. The algorithm showed a good performance for vehicle velocities between 30 kph and 70 kph. With vehicle velocities lower than 30 kph and higher than 70 kph the positive detection rate decreases, because the behaviour of the driver at these velocities differs significantly from the behaviour during the experimental trials recorded at 50 kph.

The prototypic integration into a demonstrator vehicle enables us to conduct further testing and calibration of the algorithm. In this demonstrator vehicle the integration into a certain ADAS is possible to test the potential of driving manoeuvre prediction for improving the performance of an ADAS. For this purpose another experimental study for comparing an ADAS with and without a driving manoeuvre prediction should be realised.

Finally, the demonstrator vehicle was displayed on the final dissemination event of the UR:BAN project in October 2015 in Düsseldorf [31], where a live demonstration of the algorithm and the visualisation were given to interested guests.

#### 13.6 Use of Driving Manoeuvre Prediction

Like discussed in Sect. 13.1, driving safety can be increased by an earlier display of driver warnings. However, they are connected to a potential annoyance which can lead the driver not to adhere to warnings any longer. In addition, a driver who is "in the loop" may not need a warning to draw attention to a certain locus that he already is aware of. With the information about the driver's actions within the next seconds, unnecessary warnings can be suppressed and necessary warnings intensified. That may lead to an increase in acceptance of the ADAS.

#### 13.6.1 Benefit in Non-critical Situations

The time benefit of displaying a driver warning is higher in non-critical situations compared to critical situations. If the driver shows an action that can be interpreted as an upcoming lane change, an intensification of a Side Blind Zone Alert can be useful. The benefit of such an application appears even larger compared to state-of-the-art side blind zone alert systems, when the information about a future lane change is computed without the information about the turn indicator stalk. On the other hand, if there is no sign that the driver plans to perform a lane change, unnecessary warnings can be suppressed.

The discussed logic can be transferred to a Lane Departure Warning system. If no lane change intention is detected and the driver is in process of inadvertently departing the lane, warnings can be intensified. In contrary, if the driver indicates an upcoming lane change, a LDW warning can be suppressed.

For assistance systems that display warnings concerning longitudinal manoeuvres, e. g. a red light or a stop sign warning, the warning can be intensified, if the driver shows no action than can be interpreted as a brake intention. For intersections that necessitate a driver to brake in order to give way to another vehicle, the same logic applies. The driver's behaviour is analysed with regard to accelerator and brake pedal usage and a future manoeuvre prediction can be derived. In case the driver is likely to obey the stop sign, a warning can be delayed or omitted. If the driver shows no intention of stopping, an intensified warning can be shown.

# 13.6.2 Benefit in Critical Situations

In critical situations such as a potential forward collision, the prediction of driver's intention may deliver a time benefit compared to the case without intention prediction. With this information a Forward Collision Alert (FCA) could provide the driver with an earlier warning without risking to produce an unnecessary warning, if he shows no intentions to resolve that situation. In the contrary case, if a braking intention or an intention to do an evasive manoeuvre is detected with a certain probability value, a warning could be delayed to the latest point in time or even be suppressed.

However, the time benefit is very small compared to intentions in uncritical situations, which are better predictable. If a feature with automatic collision avoidance with braking or steering actions is considered, which avoids collisions at the last point in time, the main advantage consists in solving acceptance issues derived from a possible difference in intended actions between the driver and a collision avoidance ADAS. If the intention detection reveals, that the driver is likely to choose a different strategy than the vehicle, it will change its strategy to the driver's strategy in order not to override the driver. If e.g. the driver's intention reveals an evasive manoeuvre to the left, whereas the vehicle plans to perform an emergency braking manoeuvre, the vehicle could adapt its strategy to the driver's intent and will support the driver in evading. In case the predicted intention of the driver is in accordance with the evasion or braking strategy of the vehicle, it will support the driver in steering even faster or braking even harder. In case there is no driver intention detectable, the vehicle will brake or evade on its own.

## 13.7 Conclusion and Outlook

In this chapter we described the human focused development of an algorithm for driving manoeuvre prediction in urban critical and uncritical situations with the use of behavioural sequences, Fuzzy Logic and Edit Distance. The development was based on the data of a controlled experimental study. The developed algorithm is able to predict uncritical lateral driving manoeuvres before the front wheel touches the corresponding lane marking with a true positive rate of over 90%. The earliness for the detection of the lane change could be improved with the use of head based features from a remote driver monitoring system to 2.5 s. The algorithm is real-time capable and could be used to provide the information of the driver's intention to addressed ADAS to improve the driver warnings in terms of earliness and reduction of false positive warnings. With the integration of this information, more driver suitable warnings can be generated in terms of presenting a warning at an earlier point in time or suppress an unnecessary warning or action from an ADAS to reduce a possible warning dilemma and raise the effectiveness of modern ADAS.

## 13.7.1 Discussion

The information gathered by analysing the driver's behaviour and predicting his future behaviour is a probabilistic information. With a higher detection earliness before the start of a certain manoeuvre the dependability on this information decreases. Also some features of the driver's behaviour tend to be happening not all the time, e. g. head rotations to look over one's shoulder to scan for vehicles in the blind zone or the activation of the indicator switch. This leads to a high variation in detection quality and earliness of a manoeuvre prediction.

The conducted experimental study enabled us to concentrate on driver's inter- and intraindividual behaviour in a controlled setup. As a next step the driver's behaviour should be analysed in real traffic situations throughout the very complex and highly changing situations of urban traffic to achieve a realistic performance measurement for the manoeuvre prediction feature.

Hence, future research is necessary to prove the reliability and to improve the detection quality of driver's intention detection and behaviour prediction.

#### 13.7.2 Outlook

The next steps are the integration of the manoeuvre prediction to a certain ADAS, and to test within a study if the theoretical calculated benefits are suited to the driver's needs and lead to a better acceptance of certain ADAS from the point of the customer. Therefore, a comparison between an ADAS with and without the support of a driver's intention detection feature should be conducted. The results will show, if a feature can be improved with the use of driver's intention detection, but one must be aware of the bias in the results coming from the initial quality of the ADAS. The improvement of ADAS by using driver's intention detection can be small in comparison to the annoyance of a sub-optimum HMI of ADAS. Further steps are the extension to a wider range of velocities, to be able to predict driver's intentions in a bigger range of driven velocities, the extension to a wider range of roads and the extension to all driving manoeuvres by adding intention detection at intersections for left and right turn manoeuvres, following and passing other vehicles.

Human focussed intention detection will also be important when thinking about automated driving in urban traffic situations. But the preconditions are different, because the driver is not permanently in control of the vehicle, so that further research in the field of driver's intention detection is necessary.

# References

- 1. Tingvall, C., Haworth, N.: Vision Zero: an ethical approach to safety and mobility. 6th ITE International Conference Road Safety & Traffic Enforcement, Beyond. (2000)
- Winner, H., Hakuli, S., Lotz, F., Singer, C.: Handbuch Fahrerassistenzsysteme: Grundlagen, Komponenten und Systeme f
  ür aktive Sicherheit und Komfort, 3rd edn. ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, Wiesbaden (2015)
- Borgeest, K.: Elektronik in der Fahrzeugtechnik. Springer Vieweg, Wiesbaden (2013). ATZ, Imprint
- Hoffmann, J., Gayko, J.: Fahrerwarnelemente. In: Winner, H., Hakuli, S., Wolf, G. (eds.) Handbuch Fahrerassistenzsysteme: Grundlagen, Komponenten und Systeme f
  ür aktive Sicherheit und Komfort; mit 45 Tabellen, pp. 343–354. Vieweg + Teubner, Wiesbaden (2012). ATZ-MTZ-Fachbuch

- 5. Blaschke, C., Schmitt, J., Färber, B.: "Fahrmanöver-Prädiktion über CAN-Bus Daten." In Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert. Human Machine Interface. VDI, Düsseldorf, pp 165–177 (2007)
- Mages, M., Hopstock, M., Klanner, F.: Kreuzungsassistenz. In: Winner, H., Hakuli, S., Wolf, G. (eds.) Handbuch Fahrerassistenzsysteme, pp. 572–581. Vieweg+Teubner, Wiesbaden (2009)
- 7. Dambier, M.: Adaptive information flow control: Recognition and prediction of factors contributing to driver's stress. Diss. Der Andere Verlag, Tönning (2010)
- Kopf, M.: Was nützt es dem Fahrer, wenn Fahrerinformations- und -assistenzsysteme etwas über ihn wissen? In: Maurer, M., Stiller, C. (eds.) Fahrerassistenzsysteme mit maschineller Wahrnehmung, pp. 117–139. Springer, Berlin (2005)
- Doshi, A., Trivedi, M.M.: Tactical driver behavior prediction and intent inference: A review. 14th International IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems – (ITSC), pp 1892– 1897 (2011)

- Bishop, C.M.: Pattern Recognition and Machine Learning. Springer Science+Business Media, New York (2006). 10013
- 13. Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets. Inf Control 8(3), 338-353 (1965)
- Wu, J., Brackstone, M., McDonald, M.: Fuzzy sets and systems for a motorway microscopic simulation model. Fuzzy Sets Syst 1(116), 65–76 (2000)
- 15. Bauer, C.: A Driver-Specific Maneuver Prediction Model Based on Fuzzy Logic. Diss., Freie Universität Berlin (2011)
- Altman, D.G., Bland, J.M.: Diagnostic tests. 1: Sensitivity and specificity. Br Med J 308(6943), 1552 (1994)
- Fawcett, T.: ROC graphs: Notes and practical considerations for researchers. Mach Learn 31, 1–38 (2004)
- Langer, I., Heine, J., Abendroth, B., Bruder, R.: Herausforderungen beim Hervorrufen von kritischen Brems- oder Lenkreaktionen in Fahrversuchen zur Untersuchung der Fahrerintention. In: GfA (ed.) Gestaltung der Arbeitswelt der Zukunft, pp. 516–518. (2014)
- Myung, I.J., Pitt, M.A.: Applying Occam's razor in modeling cognition: A Bayesian approach. Psychon Bull Rev 1(4), 79–95 (1997)
- Berndt, H., Emmert, J., Dietmayer, K.: Continuous Driver Intention Recognition with Hidden Markov Models. 11th International IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC)., pp 1189–1194 (2008)
- Mourant, R.R., Rockwell, T.H.: Strategies of visual search by novice and experienced drivers. Hum Factors 4, 325–335 (1972)
- Heine, J., Krämer, I., Achieser, I., Langer, I., Schramm, T., Abendroth, B.: Bewertung von Prädiktoren zur Fahrerintentionserkennung. 5. Berliner Fachtagung Fahrermodellierung, Berlin. (2015a)
- Lin, C.-F., Ulsoy, A.G.: Calculation of the time to lane crossing and analysis of its frequency distribution. American Control Conference, Proceedings of 1995, vol. 5., pp 3571–3575 (1995)
- Heine, J., Sylla, M., Schramm, T., Langer, I., Abendroth, B., Bruder, R.: Algorithm for Driver Intention Detection with Fuzzy Logic and Edit Distance. Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), 2015 IEEE 18th International Conference on., pp 1022–1027 (2015b)
- 25. Sylla, M.: Entwicklung eines Algorithmus zur Fahrmanöverprädiktion mit Methoden der Fuzzy-Logik (Masterthesis). TU Darmstadt, Darmstadt (2015)

- Hulnhagen, T., Dengler, I., Tamke, A., Dang, T., Breuel, G.: Maneuver recognition using probabilistic finite-state machines and fuzzy logic. IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium. vol. IV., pp 65–70 (2010)
- Levensthein, V.I.: Binary Codes Capable of Correcting Deletions, Insertions and Reversals. Sov Phys Doklady 10(8), 707–710 (1966)
- Bunke, H., Csirik, J.: "Parametric String Edit Distance and its Application to Pattern Recognition.". IEEE Trans Syst Man Cybern 25, 202–206 (1995)
- Chua, S.L., Marsland, S., Guesgen, H.W.: Unsupervised learning of patterns in data streams using compression and edit distance. Proceedings of the Twenty-Second international joint conference on Artificial Intelligence, vol. 2., pp 1231–1126 (2011)
- Navarro, G.: A guided tour to approximate string matching. ACM Comput Surv 1(33), 31–88 (2001)
- Manstetten, D., Bengler, K., Busch, F., Färber, B., Lehsing, C., Neukum, A., Petermann-Stock, I., Schendzielorz, T.: 'UR:BAN MV' – a German project focusing on human factors to increase traffic safety in urban areas. 20th ITS World Congress. (2012)
- 32. Achieser, I.: Potential evaluation of eye- and headtracking data as a robust and realtime capable predictor for driver intention detection and integration into an algorithm for maneuver prediction (Master Thesis). Technische Universität Darmstadt, Darmstadt (2016)
- Heine, J.: Entwicklung eines Algorithmus zur Pr\u00e4diktion eines innerst\u00e4dtischen Fahrstreifenwechsels. Dissertation Technische Universit\u00e4t Darmstadt (in Vorbereitung)

# Application of a Driver Intention Recognition Algorithm on a Pedestrian Intention Recognition and Collision Avoidance System

Frederik Diederichs, Nina Brouwer, Horst Klöden, Peter Zahn, and Bernhard Schmitz

# 14.1 Driver Intention Recognition for Pedestrian Collision Avoidance Systems

Driver intention recognition can contribute to better driver assistance and transitions to and from automated driving. The prediction of intended driving manoeuvres allows adjusting the timing of an assistance system and to initiate or cancel interventions. Recognition of driver's intention also allows assistance which does not contradict the driver's expectations and planning and shall in consequence make assisted driving more intuitive. Driver intention recognition has an interesting potential especially for automated emergency manoeuvres, such as automated braking.

This chapter is dedicated to recognise driver's intention to avoid a collision with a pedestrian. A recognition algorithm is used to adapt the timing and frequency of collision warnings and automated emergency braking.

Accident statistics reveal the vulnerability of pedestrians on our roads. In 2012, in Germany 14.6% of all road fatalities were attributed to pedestrians, and within the EU Poland has the worst statistics with 32.4% [1]. 95% of those accidents happened in urban areas [2] which indicates the need of safety systems for complex and densely populated locations. Pedestrians who are distracted by smartphones are even more likely to become involved in an accident [3]. In this context, the spreading of smartphones and the emerging wearable

N. Brouwer · H. Klöden · P. Zahn Autonomous Driving, Active Safety and Sensors, BMW Group Munich, Germany

B. Schmitz

Institute for Visualization and Interactive Systems (VIS) / Co-Founder, University of Stuttgart Stuttgart, Germany

© Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_14

F. Diederichs  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Human Factors Engineering, Fraunhofer IAO Stuttgart, Germany

devices raise the need for better protection of pedestrians. Active pedestrian protection systems are emerging which detect pedestrians and estimate their intention to enter the road. A wide market introduction of pedestrian collision avoidance systems can be expected, especially since Euro NCAP [4] has been including active pedestrian protection systems in the Euro NCAP test catalogue.

State-of-the-art pedestrian collision avoidance systems are designed to brake automatically in case of a critical situation in order to avoid an accident. Since an emergency brake bears also a certain risk due to following traffic, it should only be activated if the collision could not be prevented otherwise. One option for deescalation is to warn the driver of an impending collision. The driver stays "in-the-loop", which makes the system more comfortable for the driver and increases the acceptance. But since a warning has to occur before an emergency brake, the time, between the prediction and the expected collision has to increase. Unfortunately, an earlier warning time will also lead to an increasing amount of false alarms. Too many false alarms will reduce the system's acceptance and in the worst case the driver will switch it off and will not use it [19].

State-of-the-art collision avoidance systems provide a warning of at most 2.7 s before a possible collision and activate automated braking interventions about 1.1 s before a collision [5]. The timing depends on the conflicting situation and the system's tradeoff between timing and the rate of false alarms per time. Obviously, the maximum warning time is reached if the pedestrian stands in the middle of the vehicle's trajectory. However, if a pedestrian is approaching from the right, the warning time is reduced to the point that gives a significant probability that the pedestrian will cross the road. This point is typically defined by kinematic parameters like the lateral speed and the proximity to the vehicle's path.

Recent studies [2] of accident research have shown, that the current series systems address a large number of pedestrian accidents. In the research projects UR:BAN MV [6] and UR:BAN KA [7], further methods have been investigated that show a significant potential to improve the performance of the current state-of-the-art systems. This includes pedestrian intention recognition as well as driver intention recognition.

*Pedestrian intention recognition* enables the system to improve the prediction of the future position of a pedestrian. While current systems rely on the position and the speed of the pedestrian, it has been shown that humans adopt further information such as the movement behaviour, e.g. the head movement, and contextual information about the scene, e.g. the curvature of the sidewalk or typical destinations of a pedestrian such as a bus stop. Additional sensors and algorithms enable capturing data about the pedestrian and estimating the pedestrian's intention. Different pedestrian models have been developed in the past to predict the future position of a pedestrian. In combination with state-of-the-art vehicle models, a probability that the predicted position of the vehicle and the pedestrian will result in a collision can be estimated. Different kinds of information are used for the pedestrian model. Dynamic models use data about position and velocity of the pedestrian. Approaches that use physiological information about the human body, add constraints based on the human ability of acceleration and changing the direction. Improving sensor systems and classification algorithm provides additional environment information. Therefore, new pedestrian models are based on information about sidewalk and curb position, the existence of obstacles in the pedestrian trajectory and even information about head orientation of the pedestrian. Studies [8] show, that especially the later, is an important indicator used by human drivers to predict the crossing intention of a pedestrian. First experimental results confirm the advantages of including this information in pedestrian models to increase the prediction time, which allows an earlier warning while keeping a constant false alarm rate. As mentioned, these models only include a prediction of the pedestrian behaviour and the vehicle dynamic but no information of the driver state. In correlation with an earlier warning, the probability that the driver will react in time increases. To realise a system with an early warning, information of the driver intention to brake are essential.

*Driver intention recognition*, which is not redundant to drivers intention, shall include the driver's intention to perform evasive manoeuvres as well as his intention to decelerate in case of recognised objects. This allows the system to prune unnecessary warnings or braking manoeuvres. Additional sensors and algorithms are needed to capture data about the driver and to estimate the driver's intention. The chapter presents an approach how to detect the driver's intention to brake due to a pedestrian.

Fig. 14.1 explains the situation. The need for a warning is calculated when the pedestrian is recognised by the camera system. At the same time the driver intention recognition estimates the driver's intention to brake due to this pedestrian. In case the pedestrian shows intention to enter the road an early warning can be emitted. This allows more comfortable reaction by the driver. In case the driver shows an intention to brake this warning can be delayed until shortly before an automated emergency brake (AEB). Depending on the situation even the emergency brake might be delayed. During the delay the need for a warning is constantly re-calculated and, if the situation does not require a warning anymore, the



Fig. 14.1 Adaptation of warning time due to pedestrian and driver intention

warning is skipped. Such an adaptive warning increases the number of comfortable timely warnings and decreases the number of unnecessary warnings.

In this chapter we report how a driver intention algorithm has been developed and how it was used to recognise driver's intention to brake due to a pedestrian. The algorithm was first developed in driving simulator experiments and then integrated into a vehicle which possessed a pedestrian collision avoidance system and a pedestrian intention recognition algorithm prototype [9].

# 14.2 Theoretical Concepts of Intention Recognition and their Measurement Potential

Driver intention is a terminology which needs definition. Existing definitions of intention stress the awareness and planning of an action as part of a cognitive construct. A summary of definitions is provided by Kobiela [10]. Intents have been made to assign intentions only to navigation and manoeuvring tasks [11]; however Kobiela [10] measured driver's intention to override an automated emergency braking which is a stabilization task.

In our case we use the term intention recognition, when we want to express that a future behaviour of a human shall be predicted. We assume that intentions may last for a long while, but they become observable in the individual's behaviour usually at a time shortly (few seconds) before the intended action is carried out.

Beside a commonly accepted definition of the term intention in relation to manoeuvre prediction, the research conducted on the topic of driving manoeuvre intention is also missing a theoretical framework. A model of human behaviour which refers explicitly to intention is the rubicon model [12, 13]. According to this model, intention is created by personal values and goals and by the opportunities to reach these goals. Created intentions are then transferred into a planning phase before actuation carries them out. A control phase finalizes the process. An attempt to apply the rubicon model to observable behaviour related to a driving manoeuvre intention could be like this:

Personal values and goals may be guessed from past actions, habits or personalised settings in a system. Opportunities for certain actions can be measured with machine sensing and interpretation of the scenery. With those preconditions the rubicon model assumes, that a decision to carry out a manoeuvre is taken by the driver. The planning phase includes driver actions, which are aiming for exploration of the situation in order to plan when and how to conduct the action. It also contains preparation for the action, e. g. in terms of bringing hands and feet into a suitable position. Those are observable behaviour and can be measured in order to conclude on intention and predict action. The third phase of the rubicon model describes the actual process to carry out the intended action. In case of driving manoeuvres this action usually is reflected in steering wheel and pedal activity which can be analysed for typical characteristics that precede a manoeuvre in certain situations. The last phase of the rubicon model is controlling the success of an action and may deactivate the intention or stimulate alternative intentions or planning. For driver assistance it may be very helpful to sense unsuccessful manoeuvres in order to offer specific support in such stressful situations.

When it comes to driver intention recognition, the rubicon model provides an adequate fundament, even though it was originally designed to explain intentions and actions at strategic level and it lacks an assumption how intention can be externally observed and measured. As Ajzen stated in 1991 in the context of his theory of planned behaviour, we also assume that for our application, intention can only be detected by observable behaviour. Measuring intentions is only possible by measuring empirical evidence. In the attempt to describe the observable behaviour of the process that leads to carrying out a manoeuvre, Diederichs and Pöhler [14] observed the behaviour of 40 drivers when carrying out three manoeuvres for several times in a driving simulator. Their behaviour was classified in small movements in order to allow a detailed analysis of their observable behaviour, before a driving manoeuvre is actually performed.

This analysis led to the postulation of the "*jordan model*", named after an historical river in honour of the inspiring rubicon model. The jordan model describes the observable behaviour leading to an intention and leading from the intention to a manoeuvre [15] (see Fig. 14.2).

As a precondition for the intention, personal stimulus response characteristics can be observed in the past behaviour of a person. Knowledge about the preconditions of a manoeuvre is needed to assess the possible manoeuvres.

Out of the preconditions and the personal stimulus response characteristics shown in the past, the likelihood for a manoeuvre intention can be calculated which represents the jordan. Unlike the rubicon we do not assume that the jordan is crossed once and no return is possible. We rather see the jordan as a prevalence telling us about the likelihood of a specific action in the future. At the stage of the jordan, however, it is not possible to predict the time until the action is performed.

The next stage of the jordan model considers the observable behaviour, especially behaviour that prepares a specific manoeuvre action and behaviour that is classified as initiating a behaviour. The behaviour classification of the driving simulator study by Diederichs and Pöhler [14] supports on the one hand both stages as individual stages, but on the other hand reveals that both behaviour classes can occur in parallel or in random order [15].

Manoeuvre prediction is actually possible, when action preparing and action initiating behaviour becomes observable. At this point the manoeuvre is immediately to follow and becomes observable by behaviour on the control elements of the car as well as in the analysis of vehicle parameters.

In consideration of the rubicon model, also the jordan model assumes a stage to control the success of the behaviour. Not having empirical data to support this, we assume so far that behaviour control occurs throughout the complete process from intention to manoeuvre execution.

The jordan model is a theoretical model that explains, how driver's intention to carry out specific manoeuvres can be structured and how intentions can be measured by observation of driver's behaviour.



The metaphorical name "Jordan" suites the model. The People of Israel had crossed the river jordan and showed observable behaviour which can be allocated to the phases of the jordan model. Personal stimulus response characteristics are given, since the People of Israel had crossed the Red Sea before, hence a likelihood to cross the river jordan could be deduced from the past behaviour. As a precondition for the crossing, the water of the river disappeared allowing for the manoeuvre of crossing and the priests announced their intention to cross to the People in a meeting (action preparing behaviour). Then the priests entered the river bed (action initiating behaviour). At this point the crossing of the People was predictable to happen promptly (manoeuvre prediction). When the People crossed the river, they left twelve stones which can be observed as an empirical evidence of their behaviour.

# 14.3 Measure Driver Intention to Brake

In order to develop an algorithm for measuring driver intention to brake due to a pedestrian, a sample of data was recorded and analysed for typical events which indicate such an intention [16]. It is assumed that the influence of real world traffic and its complexity on driver behaviour is unpredictably big. Since the algorithm is the very first attempt on this topic, a controlled environment has been selected. A driving simulator provides also further important advantages. Pedestrian collision situations imply no physical risks and possible collisions can be simulated as almost-accidents in order to avoid collision impressions and to minimize mental strain for test participants. Scenarios can be repeated within and in-between test participants. At this point of development, the aim is to identify measurable indicators and to demonstrate a transparent algorithm, hence a driving simulator study is a reasonable starting point.

As shown in Diederichs, Schüttke and Spath [16] the principal indicators to measure driver's intention to brake due to a pedestrian are pedal movement, foot activity, hand activity and visual activity. In the driving simulator we were able to sense the foot activity that was affecting the pedals position. The activity of the hands could not be measured with sensors and the use of such data remains an open research issue. As a characteristic signal for visual activity, we measured gaze direction with the fixed based eye tracking system faceLAB 4.6, which was calibrated for every test participant individually.

Systematic calibration tests before the experiment revealed, that the precision of the setup ranged between  $0.5^{\circ}$  and  $5^{\circ}$ , depending on the participant and gaze direction. Hence, for robust data analysis a precision of  $5^{\circ}$  can be realistically assumed with the available setup. All data and the video images of three driver monitoring cameras were sufficiently synchronised at recording.

In order to record a data base for the development of the algorithm, 38 test participants aged between 23 and 45 years and with at least 5 years of driving experience including 5000 km minimum in the past year were recruited in the data acquisition reported by Diederichs, Schüttke and Spath [16]. The 16 female and 22 male participants were further balanced roughly in driving style. All participants received sufficient training in the driving simulator before the test. Six drivers were excluded from the analysis due to technical problems or simulator sickness.

The simulated scene was set in an urban environment with a 7.3 km driving course. At 50 km/h the trip took approximately 9 min. Several pedestrians inhabited the city, crossing the road sporadically when no data was recorded. Two precisely planned scenarios where fitted into the course which were used to record the data. The scenarios included pedestrians that predictively could enter the ego vehicle's trajectory and would induce a warning followed by automated braking (see Fig. 14.3). Each scenario was repeated three times per participant, separated by similar scenes. This setup results in six measured sections per participant and 192 sections for the overall analysis.

In scenario 1, a pedestrian enters the road in order to pass a parking truck. In scenario 2, a pedestrian walks in a  $90^{\circ}$  angle towards the road, then stops at the border of the road. Both scenarios were familiar to the test participants. They had passed the sceneries before and had seen several pedestrians crossing or not-crossing the road. This experience made the pedestrian's behaviour unpredictable for the drivers and stimulated a braking intention.

**Fig. 14.3** Scenario 1 and 2 to provoke a pedestrian collision avoidance system to warn and to provoke a driver's intention to brake





Fig. 14.4 Gaze analysis and dynamic area of interest around the pedestrian

For the eye gaze data a dynamic area of interest (AoI) around the pedestrian was defined. The distance of the actual fixation point to the centre of the pedestrian was measured. In Fig. 14.4 the yellow circle around the pedestrian represents  $1^{\circ}$ ,  $2^{\circ}$ ,  $3^{\circ}$  and  $5^{\circ}$  of deviation from the centre point of the pedestrian model.

Typical eye gaze behaviour and pedal behaviour are exemplary shown in Fig. 14.5 in a combined diagram.

The vertical axis on the left side of the diagram indicates the distance between eye fixation and centre of the pedestrian in degree [°]. This distance is represented by the green line. The vertical axis on the right side indicates the position of the pedals with 0 as not applied and 1 as applied to the maximum. The horizontal axis indicates the 10 s before passing the pedestrian.

The exemplary data show how the eye's fixation point drops in the  $5^{\circ}$  AoI at 7 and 6 s and between 4 and 3 s again. After this, the gas pedal is completely released and a small brake pedal activation is measured. About 1 s before passing the pedestrian the gaze withdraws from the pedestrian towards the centre of the road.

The analysis of all eye gaze data shows that in both scenarios all participants had eye fixations within this  $5^{\circ}$  AoI in the 10s before passing the pedestrian. Besides the fact



Fig. 14.5 Exemplary gaze and pedal behaviour when approaching a pedestrian

that the pedestrian was presented in the simulation as a very salient stimulus, also the overlapping of the area of interest around the pedestrian and the lane was a major reason for this (see Fig. 14.6).

As the specificity of the eye fixation classification was a weak point in the first data collection, a second simulator study was performed with a detailed focus on the eye fixation [17]. In this data acquisition, 18 drivers (9 male and 9 female, age range 23–43 years old and min 5000 km/last year) participated. A 5.2 km trip was driven with different scenarios. Each scenario included a version with a clearly visible pedestrian intending to cross the road and a version of the same scenario with a fully transparent invisible pedestrian. This methodological approach allowed a comparison of eye gaze when monitoring a pedestrian and when not monitoring it. The scenarios included different criticality of the pedestrian, driving speed at 30 and 60 km/h, and visual distractors.

In scenarios with a highly critical pedestrian on the right side of the road at a driving speed of 60 km/h without other visual distractions, differences in eye gaze behaviour where found. Among other calculations the most promising approach was a comparison of cumulated eye fixation duration on the pedestrian. Fig. 14.7 shows the cumulated fixation times for a scenario with a crossing pedestrian for the 18 participants. The diagrams show how long and how often random fixations towards the transparent invisible pedestrian occurred while the vehicle approached the pedestrian in comparison with fixations towards the visible pedestrian.

The visible pedestrian is fixated for longer times and fixations lasted until the pedestrian had crossed the road at a distance of 40 to 10 m. Most drivers also slowed down the speed of the vehicle (curves go up). The invisible pedestrian is fixated for shorter times and most of those fixations happen at a distance of 130 to 70 m distance to the pedestrian. At this distance the area of interest around the pedestrian is overlapping very much with the road. A reasonable approach for distinguishing an intentional monitoring of a pedestrian and an unconscious gaze in the same direction is hence an analysis of the cumulated fixation time.

With respect to the analysis of the pedal activity Diederichs, Schüttke and Spath [16] identified five typical categories in the data of 32 test participants, while approaching a pedestrian in two different scenarios (see Fig. 14.3), each repeated three times. The categories are explained in Table 14.1.



Fig. 14.6 Overlapping of dynamic area of interest and ego lane at 60 and 30 m distance



Fig. 14.7 Cumulated fixation time of pedestrians crossing from left to right for all participants

Scenario 1 with a pedestrian on the road passing a parking truck stimulates in 54 out of 95 pedestrian encounters a pedal reaction, which is attributed to braking intention. In scenario 2 with a pedestrian approaching the road from the right this was true for 71 out of 95 pedestrian encounters. Together, in 125 out of 190 cases and thus in 66% of the encounters, a pedal reaction indicating braking intention was recognised.

In a further analysis, the eye fixation and the pedal reaction showed a causal relation. A pedal reaction which indicated braking intention is almost always preceded by an eye fixation. The time between a pedal reaction and the last eye fixation varies between 0.4 to

Category	Description	Conclusion
Gas increased	Increasing gas pedal (throttle) in or- der to accelerate	Indicator for no brake intention
No changes	No abrupt changes in pedal activity at all	Indicator for no brake intention
Gas reduced	Driver releases the gas pedal abruptly but not totally	Indicator for brake intention
Gas to 0	Driver releases the gas pedal totally, or gas pedal is and remains in posi- tion 0	Indicator for brake intention
Braking	Driver presses the brake pedal	Indicator for brake intention

Table 14.1 Pedal activity classification

2.4 s, with only four outliers in the available set of data. Hence, pedal reactions below 0.4 s and above 2.4 s should not be attributed as a causal consequence of a pedestrian fixation. A pedal reaction as consequence of an eye fixation was detected in 121 out of 190 cases which equals a rate of 64% of observable braking intentions.

The reference method by Diederichs and Pöhler [14] was applied on the set of data and detected in 111 out of 190 cases a braking intention based on the judgement of a trained observer. A pairwise comparison matched in 94% with the causal relationship.

Based on the theoretical assumptions of the jordan model and the empirical results from the experiments a rule based algorithm to detect intention to brake is deduced. The preconditions for this algorithm are:

- A pedestrian is detected by the vehicle sensors.
- The pedestrian is classified as critical to enter the ego vehicle's trajectory.

If these preconditions are fulfilled, the following indicators reveal the driver's intention to brake:

- The pedestrian is monitored with a cumulated fixation time above a given threshold.
- One of the following pedal movements occurs within 0.4 to 2.4 s after the fixation: "braking", "gas to 0", or "gas reduced".

Fig. 14.8 shows the algorithm. In case of an intention to brake the warning can be adjusted as displayed in Fig. 14.1.

The algorithm and the parameter values are based on data recorded in a highly controlled driving simulator environment and the test participants were a homogenous group of middle aged male and female drivers. Higher variance is to be expected in real world driving and by unexperienced and by older drivers. In order to test the capability and applicability of the algorithm and sensors in a real vehicle, we implemented it into a prototype vehicle with a pedestrian detection system and pedestrian intention recognition algorithm.



Fig. 14.8 Algorithm to determine driver's intention to brake

# 14.4 Application and Demonstration for Pedestrian Collision Avoidance System in the Vehicle

The algorithm for recognizing whether the driver is showing an intention to brake due to a pedestrian was implemented in an experimental vehicle equipped with a pedestrian recognition system and pedestrian intention recognition algorithm. Fig. 14.9 shows the vehicle setup. The visualisation screen shows the recognition results in pictograms. A standing pedestrian symbolises that the pedestrian detection was successful. The crossing pedestrian pictogram indicates whether a pedestrian intention to cross the road is estimated. The standing pedestrian with an eye symbol on top indicates whether a driver intention to brake due to the pedestrian is estimated. An eye tracking device was mounted behind the steering wheel and two cameras for pedestrian recognition and pedestrian intention were mounted behind the rear view mirror.

Pedestrian intention recognition enables the system to improve the prediction of the future position of a pedestrian. As introduced by Rehder et al. [18], an algorithm for estimating the pedestrian's head orientation allows a better estimation of pedestrian intention to cross the road. This requires a sensor setup which goes beyond state-of-the-art sensors. For pedestrian's head orientation estimation, a sufficient number of pixels is required at any relevant distance. This can be illustrated by the following calculation: If an algorithm for head orientation needs a minimum resolution of  $25 \times 25$  pixels for a true size of  $25 \times 25$  cm and if this condition is valid for a horizontal opening angle of the camera of  $40^{\circ}$  and a distance of up to 55 m, then the camera imager needs a horizontal resolution of about 4000 pixels (corresponding typically to  $4000 \times 3000 = 12$  MPx imager).

The driver's intention to brake was measured with a state-of-the-art bar type eye tracking device, which was implemented above the steering wheel at an approximate distance



Fig. 14.9 System setup in vehicle prototype

of 70 cm from the driver's eyes. The tracking device was mounted on a flexible rack which allowed tilting around the longitudinal axis in order to adapt to different drivers.

Both the pedestrian recognition system and the eye tracker operate independently of each other, thus operating in different coordinate systems. The eye tracker, being a device which was originally built for screen-mounted operation, gave access to an x-y screen coordinate system. Eye tracking coordinates and the data received from the pedestrian recognition system (coordinates, size and pedestrian ID) were constantly queued in the implementation together with brake and gas pedal data. This allowed a dynamic area of interest following the pedestrian in real time. A sliding window approach is then applied to the queue, checking for correlations between eye coordinates and pedestrian coordinates, and additionally for relevant changes in the pedal data.

The setup of the experimental vehicle differs from the simulator setup regarding both the accuracy of eye movement and pedestrian detection, and the distance in which a pedestrian can be detected. In the real world setup the eye tracking accuracy was lower and data was not available at all times. The pedestrian recognition was available with varying likelihood for detection and available with short interruptions from around 50 m distance to the pedestrian. Thus, the specific parameter values obtained in the simulator were updated by in-situ experiments, while following the algorithm displayed in Fig. 14.8. The parameters of the algorithm can be categorized into two sets: Timing parameters and calibration parameters.

The calibration parameters are responsible for the coordinate transformation between the eye coordinates and the pedestrian coordinates. As the transformation depends on the position of the driver's head, they need to be recalculated for different drivers/driving positions. In a more sophisticated environment with a head position detection, this calibration step would not be necessary, as the different coordinate systems can be transformed into each other mathematically. A custom tool was used to determine the required parameters from a calibration setup, where the driver followed a pedestrian moving along a predetermined route in front of the standing car. Fig. 14.10 shows the horizontal correlation between a detected pedestrian and the eye movement of the driver. The first column shows the eye coordinate and the second shows the position of the pedestrian. As the quality of the pedestrian detection varies depending on current real-world conditions, an additional parameter allows accumulating the required fixation time instead of requiring a steady fixation over a certain period of time. This allows detecting a correlation even when the pedestrian detection is not steady.

The timing parameters determine the sliding window and thus directly influence when an intention to brake is recognised. For the eye-tracking based detection, the parameters determine the minimum cumulated time for which the pedestrian must have been fixated, and a window of time before a pedal reaction, during which this fixation must have occurred. For the pedal reaction, a threshold of reduction (gas) or increase (brake) can be set, which must be reached by a time inside a specific time window after the fixation.

The system test was performed on a test area with no other traffic participants. According to accident statistics and EuroNCAP tests [4], the test scenario consisted of a pedes-



Fig. 14.10 Correlation of gaze direction and pedestrian position

trian coming from the right and crossing in front of the car (Fig. 14.11). This scenario had already been used in the driving simulator study (Fig. 14.7). The pedestrian was instructed to walk with normal speed, while the car approached at 20 km/h. The pedestrian enters the driving corridor in 10 m distance to the car, so that a car driver could stop the car with a hard braking in front of the pedestrian with a safety distance of 3–5 m. Soft deceleration allows the vehicle to pass behind the crossing pedestrian without a full stop. The pedestrian's intention to cross the road was estimated by the pedestrian intention detection algorithm.

In Fig. 14.12 two different versions of the scenario are shown. In the first case (top row), the driver is looking straight, while the pedestrian is moving towards the road without looking at the vehicle. Then, the warning algorithm detects that the pedestrian wants to cross and is not fixating the car by estimating the head orientation. Then the driver looks to the pedestrian. Before the warning algorithm warns the driver, the algorithm for detecting driver's intention to brake, recognises a braking intention and the warning is not activated, since the driver's focus is already on the pedestrian and a braking intention is classified.

In the second case (bottom row), the driver is again looking straight on the road and the pedestrian starts to cross without looking at the vehicle. The warning algorithm detects the pedestrian's intention to cross. In contrast to the first scenario the eye gaze of the driver stays straight on the road and not oriented to the pedestrian. The driver intention algorithm detects no braking intention, because the driver is not fixating the pedestrian and the warning algorithm warns the driver.



Fig. 14.11 Pedestrian Head Orientation Estimation to detect the pedestrian's intention to cross for earlier warning system



Fig. 14.12 Test cases for the algorithm to detect if the driver will brake

According to these scenarios the requirements of a warning are:

- The time to collision is below 2 s (time to collision is defined as relative car-pedestrian distance/relative car-pedestrian velocity).
- Pedestrian intention to enter the road without being aware of the vehicle detected: Specifically the pedestrian is not fixating the oncoming car for more than 0.5 s meaning that no intention of the pedestrian to stop is detected OR the pedestrian is already inside the driving corridor.
- No driver intention to brake detected: Specifically the pedestrian was not fixated by the driver for longer than a certain timespan AND no pedal reaction which indicated a braking intention was measured.

For safety reasons, certain constraint has to be made in the execution of the real world testing: Pedestrians and the driver of the test vehicle were fully instructed and trained. The driver was instructed to look either into the direction of the pedestrian or straight on the road, acting a braking intention or not in the respective test cases.

Under these conditions the driver intention recognition algorithm was able to distinguish between the driver looking into the direction of the pedestrian and the driver focusing on the road. It was successfully combined with the earlier warning algorithm for pedestrian intention and reduced "false" alarms in cases, where the driver was already looking in the direction of the pedestrian. For safety reasons, the test scenario only permitted instructed drivers. For further experiments a safe setup needs to be identified allowing pedestrian head orientation estimation as well as non-instructed drivers. This will allow identifying an improved set of parameters.

# 14.5 Outlook: Acceptance and Safety

The road design in urban areas with close coexistence of vehicles and vulnerable road users results in many situations which would justify a warning to the driver, especially if the warning algorithm is assessing the situation only based on the position and potential trajectory of the pedestrian. Early warnings may allow for safer and more comfortable reactions but also may increase the frequency of inappropriate or unnecessary warnings due to higher prediction uncertainty when triggered. Drivers probably would adapt to such frequent warnings with increased disregard or switch off the function. In order to warn as early as possible while keeping the amount of warnings at an effective and acceptable frequency, estimated pedestrian's intention to enter the road can be considered as a promising criterion as well as driver's intention to brake. In combination they allow for an efficient classifier used to trigger early warnings at acceptable frequencies only in situations that are likely to require preventive action, while avoiding warnings in situations, where the pedestrian would not enter the road or when the driver is ready to react already. This
approach increases the driver acceptance and the compliance to react to a warning, and consequently increases safety.

Adaptive warnings can however also decrease system transparency. Excessive adaptation may contribute to confusion, distraction and decreased trust in function. For this reason a thorough balance between easy predictability on one side and situation-dependent benefit optimisation on the other side is crucial for an effective design of an adaptive system. HMI (human machine interface) plays an important role to maintain system transparency at a decent workload price, fostering attention when needed while keeping unneeded system output forgivable in the meantime. Combining intention detection with a suitable HMI would probably increase safety and avoid collisions more often than systems which are not adaptive.

#### References

- European commission: EU transport in figures. Statistical pocket book, 2014 (2015). http://ec. europa.eu/transport/facts-fundings/statistics/doc/2014/pocketbook2014.pdf, Accessed 29 Apr 2015
- Auto Club Europa: Daten und Fakten: Fußgänger-Unfälle. Eine Studie des ACE Auto Club Europa (2012). http://www.ace-online.de/presse/medien-service/grafiken/datei/ studie-fussgaengerunfaelle.html?eID=nfcmedialibrary&tx\_nfcmedialibrary\_pi1%5Bdownuid %5D=14707, Accessed 29 Apr 2015
- 3. Nasar, J.L., Troyer, D.: Pedestrian injuries due to mobile phone use in public places. Accid Analysis Prev **57**, 91–95 (2013)
- 4. Euro NCAP Rating Review: Report from the Ratings Group. European New Car Assessment Programme Ratings Group Report (2015). euroncap.blob.core.windows.net/media/16470/ ratings-group-report-2015-version-10-with-appendix.pdf, Accessed 08 Apr 2015
- Winner, H., Hakuli, S., Lotz, F. (eds.): Handbuch Fahrerassistenzsysteme. Grundlagen, Komponenten und Systeme f
  ür aktive Sicherheit und Komfort, 3rd edn. Springer Fachmedien, Wiesbaden (2015). ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch
- Manstetten, D., Bengler, K., Busch, F., Färber, B., Lehsing, C., Neukum, A.: "UR:BAN MV" a German project focusing on human factors to increase traffic safety in urban areas. Proceedings of the 20th ITS World Congress, Tokyo, 2013. (2013)
- Lehsing, C., Bngler, K., Busch, F., Schendzielorz, T.: UR:BAN the German Research Initiative for User Centered Driver Assistance Systems and Traffic Network Management. Proceedings of the mobil.TUM Conference. (2013)
- 8. Schmidt, S., Färber, B.: Pedestrians at the kerb. Recognising the action intentions of humans. Transportation research part F: traffic psychology and behaviour 12.4 (2009):300–310 (2009)
- Brouwer, N., Kloeden, H., Stiller, C.: Comparison and Evaluation of Pedestrian Motion Models for Vehicle Safety Systems. In Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC). IEEE 19th International Conference on (2207–2212), 2016, Sao Paolo, Brazil. IEEE (2016)
- 10. Kobiela, F.: Fahrerintentionserkennung für autonome Notbremssysteme. Technischen Universität Dresden, Dresden (2012)
- Kopf, M.: Was nützt es dem Fahrer, wenn Fahrerinformations- und -assistenzsysteme etwas über ihn wissen? In: Maurer, M., Stiller, C. (eds.) Fahrerassistenzsysteme mit maschineller Wahrnehmung. basiert auf ausgewählten Vorträgen eines Workshops in Walting (Altmühltal), pp. 117–139. Springer, Berlin (2005)

- 12. Heckhausen, H., Gollwitzer, P.M.: Thought contents and cognitive functioning in motivational versus volitional states of mind. Motiv Emot **11**(2), 101–120 (1987)
- Achtziger, A., Gollwitzer, P.M.: Motivation und Volition im Handlungsverlauf. In: Heckhausen, J., Heckhausen, H. (eds.) Motivation und Handeln, pp. 309–335. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (2010). Springer-Lehrbuch
- Diederichs, F., Pöhler, G.: Driving Maneuver Prediction Based on Driver Behavior Observation. Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics AHFE 2014, Krakau, 19.7.2014. (2014). J. Clerk Maxwell, A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism, 3rd ed., vol. 2. Oxford: Clarendon, 1892, pp.68–73
- 15. Diederichs, F.: Entwicklung von verhaltensbasierten Verfahren zur Erkennung von Fahrerintention für die Prädiktion von Fahrmanövern. PhD-Thesis. University of Stuttgart (in press)
- Diederichs, F., Schuttke, T., Spath, D.: Driver Intention Algorithm for Pedestrian Protection and Automated Emergency Braking Systems. In Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC). 2015 IEEE 18th International Conference. IEEE, pp 1049–1054 (2015)
- Diederichs, F., Seitz, W., Spath, D.: Fahrerintentionserkennung auf Basis von Blickanalysen zur Vermeidung von Fußgängerkollisionen. 11. Berliner Werkstatt Mensch-Maschine-Systeme (BWMMS), Berlin-Brandenburgische Akademie der Wissenschaften, Oktober 2015 (2015)
- Rehder, E., Kloeden, H., Stiller, C.: "Head detection and orientation estimation for pedestrian safety." Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC). 2014 IEEE 17th International Conference on. vol. 2014. IEEE (2014)
- Höfer, M.: Dissertation: Fahrerzustandsadaptive Assistenzfunktionen. IAT der Universität Stuttgart (2015)

# Part V

# Simulation and Modelling of Road Users' Behaviour

# Simulation and Modelling Within the UR:BAN Project

Silja Hoffmann and Fritz Busch

Urban Traffic is characterised by many interactions between different types of road users. All the applications that were developed within the UR:BAN project were developed with the aim of improving complex urban traffic situations. New driver assistance systems and intelligent transport systems influence the behaviour of their users as well as create new requirements for the models to simulate them. These applications and situations could not be handled anymore by conventional traffic and driving simulations.

Therefore, this sub-project Simulation (SIM) focuses on the analysis and descriptive modelling of the behaviour of individual road users and their interactions with one another. This is done in consideration of newly developed driver assistance systems and intelligent transportation systems. The objective of the sub-project is to improve and extend driving simulators and microscopic traffic simulation in order to simulate and study the resulting behaviour of the road users in a more realistic way.

The driver-vehicle-environment system is investigated in detail using three different research environments:

- controlled test sites,
- driving simulators,
- and microscopic traffic simulations.

At the controlled test site the interactions between various road users is observed and investigated. Behaviour data from real traffic situations is collected and interpreted to better understand interactions between drivers and crossing pedestrians. In a second phase, traffic observations of interactions between motor vehicles and bicyclists are used to analyse behaviour models.

S. Hoffmann (🖂) · F. Busch

Chair of Traffic Engineering and Control, Technical University of Munich Munich, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_15

Connected driving simulators offer a new method for analyzing the interactions between road users in traffic. This method enables multiple test subjects (at least two) to move simultaneously in a virtual traffic scenario. In this way, the interactions between the road users are no longer modelled but rather "humanized". Detailed investigations of the following interactions are carried out within SIM: car-pedestrian, car-motorcycle, car-car, car-truck and platoons of cars.

In the area of microscopic traffic simulation, improved models of bicyclists and pedestrians as well as their interactions are developed. These models will make it possible to assess the impact of driver assistance systems and intelligent transportation systems in large and complex scenarios.

The following chapters within the simulation section of this book represent different areas of simulation and modeling. It begins with the observation of user behaviour at **controlled testsites**, then the modeling of user behaviour in **traffic simulations** is described. Finally, detailed studies using different connected driving simulations lead to general methodological considerations in building connected simulators.

In Chap. 16, insights on **pedestrian-vehicle interactions** are given based on three different methodical approaches. The conducted studies focus on the pedestrian crossing intention in situations with an approaching vehicle. Pedestrian interactions with car drivers were observed under real traffic conditions with sensor-equipped vehicles and in a controlled environment where the behaviour of the driver was systematically varied. The results serve as an important input for the interaction detection and the behaviour modelling during crossing scenarios.

Bicycle traffic continuously increases and becomes a very important aspect for the development of intelligent transport systems. Chap. 17 describes the observation of a busy traffic intersection in Braunschweig to investigate interaction patterns between **bicyclists and motorists**. As a result, the knowledge may be used to implement strategies and technologies for the prevention of fatal crashes.

The improvement of microscopic traffic simulation tools for a more realistic **simulation of bicycle traffic** is shown in Chap. 18. An integrated approach for modelling the tactical and operation behaviour of bicycles at urban intersections is presented. The integrated model was validated in a microscopic traffic simulation environment using the observed trajectory data from 5000 bicyclists.

Chap. 19 focuses on connecting a **driving simulator with real pedestrians**. A car driver in a driving simulator encounters a pedestrian in a second simulator, allowing them to meet and interact in the same simulated environment.

The influence of assisted drivers on non-equipped drivers can be studied using **multidriver simulators**. In Chap. 20, a multi-driver simulator study is described where two naïve non-equipped drivers followed a driver equipped with a traffic light assistance system. The study shows the need for system developers and researchers to take effects on non-equipped drivers into account for the development and evaluation of ITS.

Another study based on a **multi-driver simulation** which consists of several driving stations that are used by the participants to drive through the same virtual and controlled

environment is described in Chap. 21. Using empirical data this chapter shows the additional value of the multi-driver simulation compared to the traditional simulations.

A new approach for investigating motorized two wheelers' interactions with passenger car drivers is illustrated in Chap. 22. Within the project UR:BAN, a **Motorcycle-Car Multi Driver Simulator** was developed that enables a motorcyclist and a car driver to interact in the same virtual environment. This allows deeper insights into interactions and mutual behaviour adaptation. The simulator set up will be described and advantages, potential use cases and challenges of the new tool are addressed.

Chap. 23 summarizes insights on **study methodology** that are needed for connected driving simulators to investigate social interactions in virtual study environments. Within the UR:BAN project, several studies were conducted using a variety of connected driving simulations: A connected driver-driver simulation, a connected multi-driver simulation including four participants, a connected driver-pedestrian-simulation and a connected driver-motorcyclist simulation were used. This chapter summarizes the most important methodological conclusions concerning study design, study conduction and data analysis.

# Methodology and Results for the Investigation of Interactions Between Pedestrians and Vehicles in Real and Controlled Traffic Conditions

Jens Kotte and Andreas Pütz

# 16.1 Research Questions and Overall Methodology

One of the goals of the UR:BAN subproject SIM was the development and parameterization of motion models for vulnerable road users. As one part of this goal the interaction between vehicle drivers and pedestrians was investigated in scenarios where a pedestrian intends to cross the driving path of an approaching vehicle. The main research question of this chapter can therefore be summarized to:

In which conditions does a pedestrian cross the driving path of an approaching vehicle and in which cases will the pedestrian let the vehicle pass by first?

The results of this research question are used to model the pedestrian behaviour in the described interaction situation with different purposes: During the development of driver assistance functions that support the driver in critical situations with pedestrians a deeper understanding and precise motion models on the common behaviour of the interaction partners can help to avoid misinterpretation of specific situations [1] and may therefore e. g. reduce the number of warnings or interventions of the technical assistance system that are perceived as unnecessary by the driver. In addition, test scenarios can be designed more realistically by rebuilding critical situations that were recorded during the data collection and by implementing the modelled behaviour into the motion trajectories of pedestrian dummies that can be used for critical test scenarios. A second purpose is the parameterization of motion models for the virtual simulation of interaction events, e. g. for traffic simulation tools. To that end, distributions of crossing decisions depending on different boundary conditions are important to incorporate realistic interaction behaviour

J. Kotte (🖂) · A. Pütz

Advanced Driver Assistance Systems, Institute for Automotive Engineering (ika), RWTH Aachen University

Aachen, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_16

into simulation tools. Hence, the previously mentioned research question is broken down into pedestrian and driver related research questions:

#### Pedestrian related research questions:

- 1) Which situational variables have an influence on the crossing decision of the pedestrian?
- 2) Which differences can be seen for directed and undirected crossing events?
- 3) How does the interaction depend on the vehicle type (passenger car and truck)?

#### Driver related research questions:

1) How does the driver reaction differ between directed (e.g. at crossing aids) and undirected crossing events?

Similar work on the pedestrian decision to cross the path of an approaching vehicle has also been carried out with other empirical approaches (see [2-5]). The underlying assumption of the discussed research questions is that the crossing decision of the pedestrian is based on the necessary deceleration of the approaching vehicle to avoid a critical situation. An associated evaluation parameter is the Deceleration to Safety Time (DST) which is described in [6].

To answer the research questions three different approaches for data collection were chosen, compare Fig. 16.1. In a first clinical study, described in Sect. 16.2, subjects drove



Fig. 16.1 Overall methodology

an equipped vehicle in real traffic conditions without knowing the actual object of study on a route which is highly frequented by pedestrians. In a second experiment, real traffic observations were conducted at different locations with stationary sensors, see Sect. 16.3. The results of both experiments were used to derive relevant situations and values for the third data collection. The third experiment was again a clinical study, but this time in a controlled test field to investigate relevant situations in controlled test conditions (see Sect. 16.4). Finally, all results are used to derive interaction models and test methodologies for the considered scenarios and to answer the initially formulated research questions.

#### 16.2 Interaction Study Under Real Traffic Conditions

The conducted clinical interaction study under real traffic conditions aimed to improve the description of the movement behaviour of the pedestrians. In addition, it serves as reference data of the natural interaction between pedestrians and vehicle drivers for the evaluation of driver assistance systems for the protection of vulnerable road users. Hence, the study did not only focus on the pedestrians in interaction situations, but considered also the driver reaction in these situations. The chosen experimental setup enabled to record interaction scenarios in which both interaction partners did not know that their mutual behaviour was the actual object of study. The evaluated data provides therefore a high external validity and may serve for the parameterization of simulation models as well as driver assistance functions that incorporate the prediction of pedestrian movements.

#### 16.2.1 Methodology

Central scenario of the interaction investigation was the crossing of pedestrians in situations of approaching vehicles and the noticeable crossing intention of the pedestrian. As situational variables the existence of crossing aids, such as zebra crossing or crosswalks were considered subdividing observed interactions into directed crossing (with crossing aids) and undirected crossing (also called j-walking in the US). To be able to investigate interaction scenarios as uninfluenced as possible and to consider also the driver reactions at the same time the study was designed to be conducted in real traffic conditions and with naïve test subjects as vehicle drivers.

30 test subjects drove the test vehicle (see Fig. 16.2) which was equipped with different sensors to record the vehicle surrounding as well as the driver reaction and input. For the environment detection an image processing system was used to detect pedestrians in the driving environment. A short-range radar system served as additional information resource for environment objects such as other vehicles. In addition, cameras were integrated in the rear side and back windows to widen the observable vehicle surrounding and to facilitate the interpretation of situations in which the pedestrians decided to cross behind the vehicle (and therefore outside of the detection field of the image processing and radar systems).



Fig. 16.2 Methodology Study 1

Driver reactions (steering or pedal input) during interaction events were recorded at the CAN-interface supported by an interior camera system whereby driver distraction could be considered. To allow a context based interpretation of the data a RTK-GNSS position determination was used which allowed combining recorded data with additional information from a digital map.

The driver collective consisted of 16 female and 14 male participants with an average age of 36 years and was subdivided into different age groups to assure a representative test sample (see Fig. 16.2). To avoid behavioural adaptations the test subjects were not informed about the real study case, but were told to participate in a study on the effects of repeating driving context on driver fatigue. Drivers were asked to drive on the predefined route as they would usually do and to verbally annotate specific events that they perceived as critical (without mentioning pedestrian interaction events). After approximately 30 min the test drive was paused for 5 min motivated to the test subjects with a second questionnaire on the driver's fatigue state and the necessary data transmission. Afterwards, the test drive was continued as before. All drivers were monetarily rewarded for their participation to attract not only drivers who enjoy driving. Nevertheless, the subjective self-reflection that was combined with the first questionnaire revealed that most drivers are well trained and enjoy driving which has to be considered in the interpretation of the results.

A driving route in the inner-city area of Aachen was defined that guaranteed a high frequency of interactions with pedestrians due to the vicinity to the university and the good weather during the data collection. The driving route had a length of 1.4 km which

was repeatedly driven by the test subjects for approximately 60 min. Due to this repetition of the driving route influences of different local knowledge between the test subjects could be mainly avoided since drivers that were unfamiliar with the driving route could get used to the local circumstances. Additionally, the number of comparable situations could be increased by the repetition. In total, in 30 h a distance of ca. 600 km was driven. The route incorporated five intersections with traffic lights, ten (smaller) junctions without traffic lights, three crosswalks and two zebra crossings. Approximately 50% of the route was unidirectional which allowed a simple and fast overview on approaching vehicles for the pedestrians and avoided uncertainty about the relevant case vehicle for the decision of the pedestrians. These boundary conditions led to various undirected pedestrian crossing events in these areas.

#### 16.2.2 Results

During the data collection about 5000 pedestrians were detected in the defined reference area of the image processing sensor detection field (compare Fig. 16.2) of which ca. 1900 events were classified as interactions between pedestrians and the vehicle. An event was classified as interaction event if the pedestrian was detected in the reference area and intended to cross the driving path of the vehicle. The crossing intention was evaluated based on the occurrence of an actual crossing event either in front or behind the test vehicle. Due to the sensor setup of the test vehicle and the fact that all considered pedestrians had to be detected in the reference area approx. 90% of the detected pedestrians crossed the vehicle path in front of the vehicle. Most of the detected interaction events (ca. 68%) were undirected crossing scenarios, 12% took place at crossing aids and 20% at traffic lights. The latter are not considered in the following. Sample sizes for the hereafter presented results may differ from these numbers (percentages) due to specific filter criteria for the evaluated aspect (e. g. that pedestrians had to be continuously tracked from the left to the right reference area, see. Fig. 16.2).

The following description of results differentiates between directed and undirected driving. As a first step descriptive parameters for the pedestrian and driver behaviour as well as their mutual interaction behaviour are evaluated. These parameters are afterwards used in the modelling of the crossing behaviour.

#### Motion Behaviour of the Pedestrian

For the description of the motion behaviour of the pedestrians Fig. 16.3 shows the distribution of the crossing velocity. It has been evaluated as the mean value of the velocity component orthogonal to the direction of the vehicle motion while being in the driving path. Hence, the figure shows the average crossing velocity of the pedestrian while being in the conflict zone. The velocity is in the range between 1 and 2 m/s and therefore comparable to crossing velocities as they can be commonly found in literature, e. g. [4, 7]. For both, the directed and the undirected crossing the median is approx. 1.5 m/s.



Fig. 16.3 Distribution of average crossing velocity during crossing events

#### **Driver Behaviour**

An interesting parameter for the evaluation of the driver behaviour during the interaction with crossing intended pedestrians is the longitudinal acceleration. To that end, the maximum decelerations during the interaction process can be seen in Fig. 16.4. In addition to generally applied filter criteria, only those interaction events are considered in which the pedestrian required the highest deceleration in comparison to other objects within the vehicle's driving path. In doing so, it can be assured that the pedestrian was the reason for the driver's reaction to decelerate and not any object further away (e.g. a pedestrian crossing behind the last vehicle of congestion).

In comparison, slightly higher decelerations were observed for the directed crossing which was expected since the pedestrian have the right of way at zebra crossing. On average, the measured decelerations are between 0.5 and  $1 \text{ m/s}^2$  for the undirected crossing. All registered decelerations are within the range of comfort decelerations according to [8].

#### **Interaction Behaviour**

A parameter for the description of the interaction behaviour is the Post Encroachment Time (PET) since it consists of the motion behaviour of both interaction partners. The PET was evaluated based on the path driven by the test vehicle. Since the point in time of the pedestrian leaving the driving path could not be determined for all interaction events, the sample size is reduced in comparison with the previous results. PET values below one second, which are an indicator for critical situations (see [9]), were registered quite



**Fig. 16.4** Distribution of maximum deceleration by driver (positive: deceleration, negative: acceleration)

rarely and only for the undirected crossing. In general, the mean values for directed and undirected crossing lie close to three seconds with the mean value of the directed crossing being slightly lower than the one of the undirected. Notice that the sample size in Fig. 16.5 is relatively low in comparison to the overall number of interaction events. This is due to the fact that the pedestrian had to be continuously tracked from the reference area on the one side of the vehicle to the reference area on the other side.

#### **Determination of Crossing Frequency**

In addition to the descriptive evaluation of the interaction behaviour of the pedestrians and the vehicle drivers the dependency of the crossing frequency on the interaction parameters is determined. Based on this dependency the crossing probability will be modelled afterwards. To that end, the so-called Deceleration to Safety Time (DST) was calculated for all interactions. This parameter describes the necessary deceleration to implement a specific safety buffer (time) between leaving the conflict zone by the first interaction partner and entering the conflict zone by the second partner. In the following, the DST is calculated for the vehicle driver according to the assumption that the pedestrian takes the crossing decision based on the related influence for the approaching vehicle. For the determination of the DST the previously assessed crossing velocity (compare Fig. 16.3) is assumed to be constant at 1.5 m/s. The distance to be covered by the pedestrian to leave the conflict zone was calculated as the shortest distance from the current position of the pedestrian to the exit point of the conflict zone due to the actually driven vehicle path. The previously as-



Fig. 16.5 Distribution of Post Encroachment Time (PET) during crossing events

sessed PET of three seconds was used as safety time. Due to the underlying assumptions the previously assessed average crossing behaviour is used as the decision base for the pedestrian. This assumption is necessary to create a common evaluation basis for actual crossing events as well as situations in which the pedestrians do not cross the vehicle path.

The interaction events were assigned to DST classes according to the maximum DST during the interaction events. For each class the proportion of pedestrians crossing the driving path to the overall number of interactions in this class is calculated as the crossing frequency for this class. The crossing frequency shows the decreasing frequency with increasing required vehicle deceleration (see Fig. 16.6). Comparing directed and undirected crossing situations results in an occurrence of higher crossing frequencies for higher necessary decelerations during directed crossing events in which pedestrians have the right of way (e.g. at zebra crossings). Due to the small sample size for the directed crossing (because of strict filter criteria) an unsteady characteristic has to be registered. Higher overall crossing frequencies at higher required decelerations can be observed for the directed crossing.

#### 16.2.3 Modelling for Crossing Probability

By means of the analysis of the aforementioned crossing frequencies a model for the crossing probability is deduced. To that end, it is assumed that the crossing frequencies of



Fig. 16.6 Crossing frequency in dependency of DST

the described data collection can also be transferred to other situations. On that condition the developed model could be used to predict the crossing probability of a pedestrian that is detected by the environment detection of an assistance system. The crossing probability in return could be used for parameterisation of a warning or intervening strategy.

For modelling purposes of the crossing probability it is assumed, that pedestrians base their decision whether to cross the driving path or not in front of the approaching vehicle on the necessary deceleration for a safety margin of three seconds. In addition, it is assumed that the crossing probability is normally distributed and can be modelled like that. The crossing probability can therefore be formulated as:

$$p_{\text{crossing}} = \frac{1}{2} \left[ 1 + \operatorname{erf} \left( \frac{\mu - \mathrm{DST}}{\sqrt{2\sigma^2}} \right) \right]$$

The decision base of the pedestrian consists therefore of the following situation parameters which are incorporated in the definition of the DST:

$$DST = \frac{2\left[s_{veh} - v_{veh}\left(\frac{s_{ped}}{v_{ped}} + t_{safe}\right)\right]}{\left(\frac{s_{ped}}{v_{ped}} + t_{safe}\right)^2}$$



Fig. 16.7 Modelled crossing probabilities for directed and undirected crossing events

The following situation are incorporated in the definition of the DST:

- *s*<sub>Veh</sub>: Current distance of the approaching vehicle to the conflict zone,
- $s_{\text{Ped}}$ : (Minimum) distance to be covered by the pedestrian for the crossing,
- $v_{\text{Veh}}$ : Vehicle velocity (as estimated by the pedestrian),
- $v_{\text{Ped}}$ : Crossing velocity of the pedestrian (as intended),
- $t_{\text{Safe}}$ : Time gap between leaving of the conflict zone and the entering by the vehicle.

Only the intended crossing velocity and the accepted safety time gap can be directly influenced by the pedestrian and might therefore be moderating parameters for the deduced model. Fig. 16.7 shows the modelled crossing probabilities for the directed and undirected crossing. The offset of the crossing probability to higher necessary decelerations for the directed crossing is depicted in the difference in the mean  $\mu$  of approx. 1 m/s<sup>2</sup>. The higher variance  $\sigma^2$  for the undirected crossing may be influenced by the sample size (compared to the one of the directed crossing).

## 16.3 Static Traffic Observation Under Real Traffic Conditions

Based on the results of the clinical interaction study under real traffic conditions and additionally in order to complement the gathered data, real traffic observations with a stationary sensor were conducted. Since the vehicle sensors of the interaction study mainly focused on situations that occur in front of the test vehicle, a stationary sensor is able to additionally gather data about situations and behaviours of pedestrians that are not in the field of view of the vehicle sensors and e.g. cross the street behind the vehicle.

#### 16.3.1 Methodology

As basis of the traffic observations a mobile measurement system was developed that consists of an IBEO LUX laser scanner, a camera, a mobile computer and a battery. The configuration is shown in Fig. 16.8. To record and synchronise all data the software ADTF (Elektrobit) was used. This configuration enables a quick start-up and operation of the system in different environments. Since the focus of the observations is the pedestrian behaviour and not the driver behaviour a hidden deployment of the sensor is not necessary.

The measurement system was used on two different locations in the inner city of Aachen (Wüllnerstraße, Templergraben) and on one location in the inner city of Vaals (Maastrichterlaan) to complement the measurements of the clinical interaction study. On the first location, Wüllnerstraße, the system was used to observe the pedestrian behaviour on a crossing aid. This location was also part of the route of the clinical interaction study so that the results are comparable. The second measurement location, Templergraben, is close by (approx. 260 m) the first location and in front of the RWTH Aachen University so that it can be assumed that the collective of the observed pedestrians is similar to the one of the clinical study. Since this location is between two university buildings the frequency of crossing events is high. A crossing aid does not exist. As third measurement location a crossing aid in the city of Vaals, Netherlands, right behind the border to Germany was chosen. The configuration of the situation is comparable to the configuration of the Wüllnerstraße but since it is not close to the university and located in the border region the collective of the observed pedestrians is assumed to be different. Instead of a majority of



Fig. 16.8 Configuration of stationary measurement system

German students, observed at the first two locations, here a mix of German and Dutch people were observed. All three locations have in common that the traffic to be considered for a crossing decision is unidirectional. The speed limit at the location Wüllnerstraße and Maastrichterlaan is 50 km/h and 30 km/h at Templergraben. A map with the three different locations is shown in Fig. 16.9.

All measurements (one for each location) were performed at lunch time and on sunny days. Overall around 3.5 h (approx. equally distributed for the three locations) of recordings could be evaluated with in total 3339 detected pedestrians by the LiDAR sensor. Detected pedestrians with an observation period of less than 2 s or without interacting with a vehicle were excluded from the evaluation, so that depending on the evaluation data from around 59 to 258 pedestrians were evaluated.



Fig. 16.9 Measurement locations traffic observations

#### 16.3.2 Results

The recorded data were filtered and analysed regarding the dependency of the interaction behaviour on the environment (crossing aid, collective, speed limit ...) as well as regarding the dependency of parameters for describing the interaction on those factors. For this purpose different interaction and situation parameters, like time gap, distance to interaction partner, PET, TTC (Time to Collision) and DST were calculated based on the recorded data and compared to each other. Since the TTC is only defined if the pedestrian and the vehicle are on a collision course with each other the evaluable data set for this parameter was small compared to the other interaction parameters.

The evaluation shows a relation between the situation and most of the interaction parameters, but also that the relation between the interaction parameter  $DST_0$  and the crossing frequency seems to be almost independent from the situation. The crossing frequency depending on the  $DST_0$  for all three locations is shown in Fig. 16.10 individually as well as combined. Due to the fact that the  $DST_0$  is defined as the necessary deceleration of the second interaction partner (vehicle), so that the first partner (pedestrian) can leave the conflict zone before the second partner enters, especially values of  $DST_0 > -1.5 \text{ m/s}^2$  are interesting. In this case these values describe interaction events in that the vehicle has to accelerate with a maximum of  $1.5 \text{ m/s}^2$  to arrive at the entrance of the conflict zone at the time the pedestrian leaves the zone. As shown in Sect. 16.2.3, the  $DST_0$  depends on the parameters  $s_{\text{Veh}}$ ,  $s_{\text{Ped}}$ ,  $v_{\text{Veh}}$  and  $v_{\text{Ped}}$  so that it is also possible to compare locations with



Fig. 16.10 Crossing frequency over DST for traffic observations

different speed limits. An assignment of different  $DST_0$  values and conflict categories can be found in [6].

The analysis also shows that only a small percentage of the pedestrians (4%) crosses the street at positive  $DST_0$  values, which means that these pedestrians assume that the vehicles decelerate to let them cross the street and to avoid a collision. Hence the majority of the pedestrians only cross, when no further deceleration of the vehicle is necessary.

### 16.4 Interaction Study Under Controlled Traffic Conditions

The clinical study in real traffic in combination with the real traffic observations served as basis for a common crossing behaviour analysis of pedestrians. Since some specific situations occur rarely in real traffic, but have to be considered for pedestrian behaviour analysis, a clinical study in a controlled environment was designed. The requirements were derived from the experiences and results of the previous experiments.

#### 16.4.1 Requirement Definition from Tests Under Real Traffic Conditions

The aim of the interaction study under controlled traffic conditions is to gather sufficient data in specific situations for that the conducted studies and observations under real traffic conditions did not provide enough information. Based on the results of the first two experiments essential statements about two of the three defined pedestrian related research questions and the one driver related research question (see Sect. 16.1) can be derived (see Sect. 16.2.2, 16.2.3 and 16.3.2). For a sufficient evaluation of the third pedestrian related research question,

#### How does the interaction depend on the vehicle type (passenger car and truck)?

the analysis of the first two experiments shows that the database is not wide enough, since interactions between trucks and pedestrians occur rarely. Nevertheless, this type of interaction is important to be analysed due to the high number of truck-pedestrian accidents and their high severity [10]. A specific analysis of this type of interaction shall be feasible based on the study under controlled traffic conditions.

The previous conducted experiments showed a relation between interaction parameters, like DST, and the crossing behaviour. As shown before, most of them mainly depend on vehicle or situation parameters like speed, distance, deceleration and time gap. For a statistical investigation of this relation a wide range of variations of these parameters in relation to vehicle-pedestrian interactions have to be evaluated. Since this is only feasible in real traffic with many measurements on different locations, it was investigated as part of the study under controlled traffic conditions.

In addition, real traffic observations often have the problem, that the sensor view on interesting elements of the scenarios is concealed by various objects (e.g. infrastructure elements or other road users). This problem led to a high number of interactions that had to be filtered out in the conducted traffic observations. Since the effect can be controlled in a study under controlled traffic conditions, an additional close to the body sensor set-up can be integrated, tested and compared to a ground truth sensor output as part of the study. Thus the measurements served also as basis for analysis of a close to the body sensor set-up.

#### 16.4.2 Methodology

Based on the requirements defined in Sect. 16.4.1 a study under controlled traffic conditions was designed and conducted to investigate the interaction between pedestrians and vehicles. Central scene of the study was a crossing aid (zebra crossing) that had to be used by pedestrians (test subjects) to cross a marked road on the closed test track of the Institute for Automotive Engineering (ika). The road was used by a passenger car and a truck (drivers were confidents), that performed pre-defined manoeuvres which were synchronised with the position of the pedestrian. Fourteen variations per vehicle type were defined so that overall twenty eight different interaction scenarios could be investigated. Each variation consisted of a defined approaching speed, a start position of the deceleration manoeuvre and an average deceleration rate. For each approaching speed also one variation without a deceleration manoeuvre was conducted. The average deceleration rates were controlled by the Adaptive Cruise Control (ACC) interface of the vehicles. The order of the different scenarios was varied. An overview of the scenario elements is shown in Fig. 16.11.

To observe the interactions between the pedestrians and the vehicles the same mobile measurement system for stationary observations as used in the traffic observations shown in Fig. 16.8 was used. In addition, the pedestrians were equipped with a smartphone in their trouser pocket, a tablet in a backpack and a smartwatch on their wrist to enable the

Vehicle type	Speed	Distance start deceleration maneuver	Deceleration rate *
<ul> <li>Passenger</li></ul>	• 30 m/s	<ul> <li>No</li></ul>	<ul> <li>1.8 m/s<sup>2</sup></li> <li>2.5 m/s<sup>2</sup></li> <li>3 m/s<sup>2</sup></li> </ul>
car <li>Truck</li>	• 50 m/s	deceleration <li>50 m</li> <li>30 m</li>	

\* Average deceleration rate controlled by the ACC interface of the vehicles



investigation of the potential of this close-to-body-sensor set-up. Applications on these devices recorded all available sensor data, like acceleration, rotation, etc. together with a timestamp consisting of GPS time and device time. The same timestamp is used in the stationary sensor set-up so that both can be fused afterwards.

To avoid behavioural adaptations due to the knowledge of the test subjects about the actual study case, the subjects were introduced for a study about the accuracy of CE device (smartphone, tablet, smartwatch) sensors. For this purpose two courses, one of each side of the marked road, were installed that the subjects had to complete. Each course consisted of eight marked positions evenly distributed on a circle with a radius of 3 m. The pedestrians had to start on position 1 and had to walk over the centre of the circle to one of the marked positions and then back to position 1. This was repeated for all marked positions per cycle. After each completion of the walking course the subjects had to answer some questions and proceed to the other course by crossing the road. The subjects were told that the courses are installed on each side of the road due to specific GPS effects that have to be investigated. In addition, they were told that due to an overbooking of the test track an additional study for vision systems is performed simultaneously on the marked road. To manage the overbooking a zebra crossing was installed and both parties were introduced to respect traffic regulations. Furthermore, the test subjects were told that they have to be as careful as they would cross a zebra aid in real traffic since it is always possible, like in real traffic, that the driver has not seen the pedestrian.

After each completion of the walking course the number of questions asked by the questioner was regulated to synchronise the crossing intention with the approaching vehicle. When the questioners saw that the vehicles reached marked positions they told the subjects that it is now time to proceed to the next course. To avoid an influence of the questioners' behaviour on the subjects, the questioners always followed the subjects with a distance of around one meter and the subjects were told that this is due to a clear view of the LiDAR sensor on the subjects so that the accuracy of the CE device sensors can be evaluated. Both vehicles used the road also randomised when the pedestrian were still completing the course to avoid that the pedestrians recognise that the vehicles are part of the study.

Pictures of the conducted study are shown in Fig. 16.12. On the left side of the figure a subject crosses the street while interacting with the passenger car. On the right side of the figure the subject is completing one of the courses and the truck performs a random manoeuvre to avoid that the test subjects establish a link between the occurrence of the vehicles and their crossing intention.

Prior to the start of the study, the subjects had to fill out a questionnaire about their demographic background, driving experience and the positions of the CE devices on their bodies related to the ground were measured. The pedestrian collective consisted of 6 female and 24 male participants with an average age of 24.6 years ( $\sigma$  = 4.09; min = 19; max = 41). Two spare crossing events per test subject were initiated by the questioner to complement the twenty-eight pre-defined manoeuvres of the vehicles. In total, nine hundred crossings were recorded. Since the synchronisation between the crossing intention



Fig. 16.12 Pictures of the conducted study under controlled traffic conditions

and the approaching vehicle is not trivial not all crossings included an interaction with a vehicle.

#### 16.4.3 Results

The recorded interactions were analysed automatically regarding the relation between crossing frequency and interaction parameters like DST based on the LiDAR data. For gaze behaviour the data was analysed visually and the safety distance was assessed by a combination of a visual and LiDAR information analysis.

The evaluation of the relation between crossing frequency and DST<sub>0</sub> is shown in Fig. 16.13. It can be seen, that 50% of the pedestrians in the study crossed the street at a DST<sub>0</sub> of  $-2.5 \text{ m/s}^2$ , whereas 50% of the pedestrians observed in real traffic crossed at DST<sub>0</sub> values of around  $-1 \text{ m/s}^2$ . This fact shows that the pedestrians in this study crossed the street with a higher safety buffer than the pedestrians in the traffic observations (Sect. 16.3). In addition, the evaluation shows that pedestrians use a higher safety buffer while interacting with the truck than with the passenger car. This can be derived by the fact that no pedestrian crossed the street at  $DST_0$  values higher than  $0 \text{ m/s}^2$  while interacting with the truck. The evaluation of the vehicle speed while the pedestrian decided to cross the street in the cases the vehicle is already close by (distance <15 m) also supports this thesis. In interactions with trucks the pedestrians decided to cross the street at an average speed of the truck of 1.24 m/s while in interactions with the passenger car of 2.77 m/s (p = 0.0304). An evaluation of the distance between road marking and waiting position of the pedestrian shows in addition hints for the higher safety buffer, but the effect is not significant. On average, the participants waited at a distance of 1.28 m while interacting with the passenger car and 1.46 m while interacting with the truck (p = 0.2185). For the evaluation of the speed and the waiting distance the mean values per subject were evaluated. Further effects were observed, but not considered in this evaluation, due to high requirements on the measured values.



Fig. 16.13 Crossing frequency over DST for traffic observation and study under controlled traffic conditions

The evaluation of the gaze behaviour supports the hypothesis, also investigated in many previous studies (e.g. [11]), that the eye contact between pedestrian and driver are an important part of the interaction process. On average, the participants make eye contact 1.61 (passenger car: 1.58; truck: 1.65) times with the vehicle before they cross the street. No significant difference between truck and passenger car (p = 0.5311) can be observed.

#### 16.5 Summary

As one part of subproject SIM vehicle-pedestrian interactions were investigated based on an overall methodology consisting of three different experiments. The goal was to evaluate influences on the crossing decision of pedestrians and to analyse the differences in the driver behaviour between pedestrian interactions on directed and undirected crossings.

As first component of the overall methodology a clinical interaction study under real traffic conditions was conducted, in which N = 30 test subjects drove an equipped vehicle on a defined route through the city of Aachen. The study was designed in a way that it is possible to investigate the pedestrian as well as the driver behaviour during interaction events. To evaluate also events outside the field of view of the vehicle sensors, like e.g. the behaviour of the pedestrians several seconds before the crossing, an additional traffic observation on two different locations in Aachen and one in Vaals were conducted to complement the results of the clinical study as second component of the methodology. Based

on an evaluation of the results of these two data acquisitions requirements for a third data acquisition approach, a study under controlled traffic conditions with N = 30 participants, was defined. This study was conducted on the closed test track of the Institute for Automotive Engineering (ika).

Overall a high number of interaction events was recorded (N > 3000). Due to the fact that for a complete description of a vehicle-pedestrian interaction event a large field of view and a sufficient object detection over a specific time range is necessary, the usable sample for a statistical evaluation is much smaller. Nevertheless, an automatic situation analysis for pedestrians that crossed in front of the approaching vehicle showed sufficient results. For pedestrians, that crossed behind the vehicle, the results of the automatic situation analysis was not usable without further manual analysis, since not all parts of the interaction event could be recorded by the vehicle mounted sensors. A first evaluation of additional body close sensors, like the CE devices used in the study under controlled traffic conditions, showed promising opportunities in combination with the used stationary sensor set-up for future evaluations, although they come along with the disadvantage that their data is not accessible during traffic observations.

The evaluation of the studies/observations showed that interaction parameters like PET or DST are useful for interaction analysis. Especially the parameter DST showed its advantages as an almost situation independent description of the interactions. Regarding the question, which kinematic conditions have to be fulfilled so that pedestrians decide to cross the road in front of an approaching vehicle no distinct limits can be derived. In addition, it could be shown that pedestrians cross the road on crossing aids at higher DST values than on locations without crossing aids. This means that they expect higher decelerations (according to amount) from the interacting vehicle to avoid a collision. Therefore differences between directed and undirected crossing events could be observed.

The study under controlled traffic conditions showed the influence of the vehicle type on the pedestrian behaviour. Pedestrians use higher safety buffers while interacting with trucks compared to interactions with passenger cars. The participants of the study crossed the road at lower vehicle speeds and higher DST values while interacting with trucks.

The video analysis of the conducted studies/observations confirms the hypothesis, that eye contact between pedestrians and drivers is an important part of the interaction process. Hence, a pedestrian dummy for testing interactive pedestrian safety systems was developed, that is able to cross the street depending on different interaction parameters and to move the head simulating eye contact with the approaching vehicle.

In summary regarding the formulated research questions an influence of the situational variables directed (with crossing aid) and undirected crossings was shown. In directed compared to undirected crossing events pedestrians expected higher decelerations (according to amount) from the interacting vehicle and a different driver reaction (slightly higher decelerations in crossing aid events) was observed. Regarding the research question, if the vehicle type (passenger car, truck) has an influence on the interaction behaviour of the pedestrian, it could be observed that pedestrians cross the street while interacting with a truck with higher safety buffers compared to interactions with passenger cars.

## References

- 1. Gandhi, T., Trivedi, M.M.: Pedestrian Protection Systems: Issues, Survey, and Challenges. IEEE Trans Intell Transportation Syst **8**(3), 413–430 (2007)
- Schmidt, S., F\u00e4rber, B.: Pedestrians at the kerb Recognising the action intentions of humans. Transportation Res Part F 12(4), 300–310 (2009). doi:10.3141/1636-14
- Virkler, M.: Pedestrian compliance effects on signal delay. Transport Res Rec 1636, 88–91 (1998)
- 4. Tiemann, N.: Ein Beitrag zur Situationsanalyse im vorausschauenden Fußgängerschutz. Dissertation at University of Duisburg (2012)
- Das, S., Manski, C., Manuszak, M.: Walk or Wait? An Empirical Analysis of street Crossing Decisions. J Appl Econom 20(4), 529–548 (2005)
- Hupfer, C.: Computergestützt Videobildverarbeitung zur Verkehrssicherheitsarbeit am Beispiel von Fußgängerquerungen an städtischen Hauptverkehrsstraßen. Dissertation at University of Kaiserslautern (1997)
- Knoblauch, R.L., Pietrucha, M., Nitzburg, M.: Field studies of pedestrian walking speed and start-up time. Transp Res Rec 1538, 27–38 (2007). doi:10.3141/1538-04
- Winner, H., Hakuli, S., Lotz, F., Singer, C. (Hrsg.): Handbuch Fahrerassistenzsysteme, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, pp. 851–891. Springer Fachmedien, Wiesbaden (2015). doi:10.1007/978-3-658-05734-3\_46
- 9. Van der Horst, R.: A time-based analysis of road user behaviour in normal and critical encounters. TNO Institute for Perception, Soesterberg (1990)
- Ehlers, T., Haun, J.: Überwachung des toten Winkels per Seitenradar. Automobiltech. Z. 113, 378–383 (2011)
- Kloeden, H., Brouwer, N., Ries, S., Rasshofer, R.: Potenzial der Kopfposenerkennung zur Absichtsvorhersage von Fußgängern im urbanen Verkehr. FAS Workshop Fahrerassistenzsysteme, Walting, 2012. (2012)

# Understanding Interactions Between Bicyclists and Motorists in Intersections

Mandy Dotzauer, Sascha Knake-Langhorst, and Frank Köster

## 17.1 Introduction

#### 17.1.1 Background on Cyclists and Crashes

Cycling is a cheap, convenient, healthy, and environmental-friendly mode of transportation that has reached new popularity [1]. The increase of number of cyclists and the change of mode of transport is noticeable. More persons switch from motor vehicles to bicycles, especially in urban areas. For example, in Germany, the number of bicycle owners has increased from 67 million to 72 million between the years of 2005 and 2014 [2]. In addition, 30% of households in urban areas (cities with a population equal to or greater than 500,000 inhabitants) own only a bicycle for mobility purposes. Compared to the year 2003, this is an increase by eight percent [3]. On average, bicyclist travel distances of about 5 kilometers [4]. Not only does cycling affect health positively [5], health benefits outweigh risks such as higher exposure to air pollution or being involved in a crash [6, 7].

On the downside, an accurate estimation of incidences involving cyclists seems impossible. Often, cyclists are involved in single crashes. Injuries are slight, so that the incident is not reported to the police and no medical care is required. Even though the number of

M. Dotzauer (🖂)

S. Knake-Langhorst Institute of Transportation Systems - Division Data Management and Knowledge Discovery, German Aerospace Center Brunswick, Germany

F. Köster Institute of Transportation Systems - Head of Sector Automotive Systems, German Aerospace Center Brunswick, Germany

© Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_17

Institute of Transportation Systems - Division Human Factors, German Aerospace Center Brunswick, Germany

crashes resulting in slight injuries is underrepresented in crash statistics, the number of fatalities involving a cyclist is well documented. The number of crashes with motorists is comparably small, but they often result in severe consequences for bicyclists. The likelihood of being killed in such a crash is significant [8]. Even though the total number of fatalities of bicyclists decreased over the past decade, the rate of fatalities increased [8]. According to a report of Münster, 51% of all fatalities involving a bicyclist occurred at junctions. Out of these fatalities, 85% occurred at intersections. Based on a thoroughly analysis of incidences in the city of Münster, Germany (rated number 1 bicyclist-friendly city of Germany), key factors contributing to crashes in intersections have been identified. According to the report, motorists as well as cyclists contribute to crashes equally. The main contributing factors of motorists are failing to yield to bicyclists, followed by making an error when turning. Bicyclists on the other hand make errors such as riding on the wrong side of the road/bicyclist path and tend to violate the right-of-way. The authors of the report concluded that these behaviours are the manifestation of a lack of cooperation of the road users [8].

#### 17.1.2 Concept of Cooperation

Per definition, cooperation is a joint action meaning that two or more parties work or act together for a common benefit or purpose. Being cooperative means being able to work together with common intentions towards a common goal. Cooperation requires trust, trust that the other parties involved will also behave cooperatively [9]. The so-called prisoner's dilemma illustrates how the degree of cooperation affects the outcome. The prisoner's dilemma was originally framed by Flood and Dresher in 1950. Tucker built a story around the theoretical game theory and named it prisoner's dilemma. This dilemma arises every time a conflict of interest exists [10].

The story illustrating the dilemma involves two criminals that have been arrested and imprisoned. They are not able to communicate with each other. The prosecutor has only enough evidence to get the criminals convicted for a year. At the same time, the prosecutor offers both criminals a bargain. If they betray each other, they both will be imprisoned for two years. If one confesses and the other remains silent, the later will be sentenced for three years while the other goes free. If both criminals do not betray each other, they will be imprisoned for one year [11].

The dilemma as illustrated in Fig. 17.1 is that each criminal is better of confessing than being silent. On the other hand, the outcome is worse when both confess instead of remaining silent. The common view on this dilemma is the existing conflict between individual and group rationality. Acting upon self-interest instead of seeing the bigger common good (meaning the most benefit for all parties involved) might lead to a worse outcome. In the example of the prisoner's dilemma, acting solely based on self-interest would mean that one decides to confess hoping to go free. If the other decides to do the same, they both will be imprisoned for three years instead of being set free. Both criminals



would have the greatest benefit if they would remain silent. Not betraying each other will result in being imprisoned for one year (i. e. common good, [11]).

Even though the prisoner's dilemma originated as a game theory, the construct has, for example, also been applied to psychology. Recently, the focus has been on cooperative behaviour and under what circumstances/conditions persons are willing to act for the common good and not only for the individual good. Cooperative behaviour requires trust as well as willingness to compromise with regard to inter- and intrapersonal conflicts. In a situation, motives are mixed. Each interaction partner has its own agenda comprised of egocentric, social, and cooperative motives. Based on this agenda, each interaction partner makes a cost-benefit analysis leading to a behaviour that could be either cooperative or uncooperative. But cooperation is only constructive when each interaction partner gives up the individual good for the common good [9].

The willingness to give up the individual good for the common good is also influenced by situational factors. Those factors include the possible individual gain compared to the possible loss, but also the distribution of power amongst the interaction partners. If power is distributed asymmetrically, the more powerful partner is less willing to cooperate. In addition, the more powerful partner may be more successful in persuading the less powerful partner to cooperate [9].

How do the prisoner's dilemma and the idea of cooperation apply to the motorist-bicyclist interaction in intersections? The relationship with regard to power distribution can be described as asymmetrical. The person in the vehicle is protected by its chassis as well as a number of active and passive safety systems. Cyclists, on the other hand, are vulnerable road users. In the worst case, they are not protected at all. In the best case, cyclists wear a helmet to prevent severe head injuries in case of a crash. According to the traffic sociologist Alfred Fuhr, being in a vehicle protected by the chassis, the driver does not feel the need to be very cautious as the driver's life is not at stake. As a result, as a motorist, one might tend to neglect to check the blind spot. The motorist is safer and more protected than the bicyclist in case of a crash. Bicyclists, on the other hand, try to use all the available space as efficiently as possible taking shortcuts where they can, tending to ignore traffic rules that apply to them as they do to any other road user. The motorist is compared to the bicyclist rather inflexible. If, for example, traffic stocks, so does the motorist while the cyclist can wiggle its way through traffic. In terms of flexibility, the cyclist seems to be more agile than the motorist also leading to an asymmetrical distribution. If cyclist and motorist do not adjust their behaviour for the common good, crashes are unavoidable [12] as the increase in the fatality rate already shows [8]. Cooperating (i.e. making a decision based on the common good instead of self-interest) may increase road traffic safety significantly and should be the primary goal of all road users. Conflicts may be avoided when every road user is a bit more considerate giving some room for the interacting partner. Driving a bit slower for a moment and sacrificing a bit of time might affect the overall road traffic safety positively. This would mean that after perceiving and assessing a situation, every road user makes an assessment of the potential danger and then makes a decision based on the common good and not on the individual good [13].

#### 17.1.3 Research Questions and Research Goal

Lack of cooperation has been identified as one of the underlying mechanism leading to fatal crashes of bicyclists [8]. At the same time, significant amount of encounters between bicyclist and motorist do not end up in a near crash or crash. Yet, it is not well understood how bicyclist and motorist get by without being involved in a crash or how conflicts between them evolve: whether they emerge slowly over time or abruptly. The behaviour of motorists and bicyclists as well as the interaction between them needs to be investigated and better understood. Based on the literature [8, 9, 13], different scenarios of why conflicts emerge are thinkable:

 Lack of cooperation: It suggests that conflicts emerge over time because of insufficient cooperation of bicyclists and motorists and the need to push one's interest and to demonstrate power and dominance. Studies also show unfair behaviour of others during several occasions leads to stopping corporation based on several past negative experiences. This might also lead to the lack of cooperation between bicyclists and motorists.

- 2. **Motorist does not see cyclist**: In this situation, a conflict emerges abruptly and can only be acted upon after its occurrence. This can lead to uncooperative behaviour of the cyclist because the cyclist might assume a deliberate act.
- Cyclist sees motorist: In this situation, it is thinkable that the cyclist insists on its rightof-way and assumes that the motorist will cooperatively yield. It might be a demonstration of the bicyclist's power and dominance.

In order to better understand the interaction between motorists and bicyclists, their encounters in an intersection were recorded and their behaviour analysed aiming to answer the following questions:

- 1. How and why do conflicts between bicyclists and motorist occur?
- 2. Where and when (in intersections) do conflicts emerge? Do they emerge abruptly or build up over time?
- 3. How are conflicts resolved?
- 4. How do conflicts differ from encounters?
- 5. Is it possible to detect conflicts before they escalate?
- 6. Is it possible to quantify behavioural patterns? If so, what parameters are suitable?

As of now, protection of vulnerable road users, such as bicyclists, is of a passive rather than an active nature. Assistance such as warnings and alarms are provided to motorists, but not to bicyclists. The idea of cooperation is that each interaction partner makes a sacrifice for the common good. Neither bicyclists nor motorists are superior to one another meaning they are equally responsible for avoiding situations such as collisions in intersections. If the postulated goal is to develop cooperative assistant systems preventing, for example, crashes in intersection, the interaction between motorists and bicyclist needs to be understood. In turn, tailored warnings can be provided to the involved parties. This way, interaction partners can act upon recommendations that serve the common good: preventing safety-critical situations or even (fatal) crashes.

#### 17.2 AIM Research Intersection

Test field AIM (Application Platform for Intelligent Mobility) was built-up by German Aerospace Center to serve as a test bed for multiple research and development activities in the field of urban mobility [14]. The test field follows a toolbox approach and is composed of several services covering simulation environments, test tracks and field instruments. One of these services is the AIM Research Intersection [15]. It is an instrument allowing detecting, tracking, and classifying motorized and vulnerable road users under real-time conditions in the vicinity of a complex urban intersection.

The AIM Research Intersection is located on the northeastern corner of the Braunschweig inner city circle, marked red in the left part of Fig. 17.2. The illustration on the



**Fig. 17.2** Map of the of inner city of Brunswick and representation of crossing traffic flows at AIM Research Intersection

right shows the topology of the intersection enriched with a depiction of the traffic flows on this multi-lane intersection. Therefore, road users need to directly interact with each other.

This specific intersection was chosen because of its complexity and traffic load making it unique in the city's road network. A wide range of traffic situations can be observed here ranging from free roads to high peaks in rush-hour traffic with typical congestion problems.

#### 17.2.1 Technical Set-up

In order to detect, track, and analyse a high variety of traffic situations as well as motorized and non-motorized road users in the intersections several technical components needed to be implemented across all intersections arms. The sensor set-up of the research intersection is displayed in Fig. 17.3. A more detailed view can be found in [16] and [17].

In the left hand figure, the outline of the intersection is displayed with the field of views of all sensors. Blue segments depict the sensor areas of the MSS (Multi Sensor System). This sub-system is used to detect motorized traffic participants in the inner part of the intersection and adjacent areas. The sensors are installed on four different poles as shown in the upper right part of Fig. 17.3. All pole installations consist of two mono cameras as well as a 24 GHz multi-range radar system and an infrared flashlight for artificial scene illumination. Thus, the sensor set-up of MMS shows a high grade of redundancy in order to ensure an optimal view of every part of the junction while minimizing loss of information due to coverage effects. The IR-flash helps to ensure and maintain an appropriate service level of the optical systems even under bad weather conditions and at night.



Fig. 17.3 Sensors' fields of view and display of the sensor set-up of the pole installations

In addition to the MSS, the western and southern crossings are instrumented with a subsystem called SENV (System zur Erfassung nicht motorisierter Verkehrsteilnehmer, engl: system to detect non-motorized road users) allowing detecting traffic participants in the respective areas of the intersection. Primarily, the sub-system is used to investigate cross road behaviour of pedestrians and bicyclists. In addition to its primary usage, SENV related data can also be used for enhancing the MSS data base. The SENV installations are shown in the lower right part of Fig. 17.3 and consist of a stereo camera system with the already mentioned infrared flash. The pole installations are placed in an opposing layout to guarantee a good line of sight for every given situation.

All of the given sensor data are fused and processed automatically in a concrete station holding an air-conditioned server rack. The main output of the research intersection is trajectory data with a data rate of 25 Hz as well as corresponding scene videos. These trajectories contain the objects' position, velocity, and acceleration as well as other relevant state information such as physical dimensions or classification, distinguishing five different classes of traffic participants (truck, van, car, bicycle, and pedestrian). Fig. 17.4 shows a screenshot of a four-segment video stream with augmented object wireframe models.

Different traffic participants are depicted with different coloring schemes (e. g. cars are represented with green boxes around them while pedestrians are shown with red boxes). In addition, the traffic light status is retrieved from another component of the AIM test field: the AIM reference track [18]. This information can be used to enrich the collected data and retrieve more information such as red light violations.



**Fig. 17.4** Video screenshot of a traffic scene from four different directions with augmented object information

## 17.2.2 General Features and Objectives

The intersection can be used as an instrument for measuring natural traffic behaviour for the given complex urban intersection scenario. The presented technical set-up allows a 24/7 mode of operation; therefore, many relevant factors influencing traffic behaviour can be considered for analyses (e.g. time of day, week or year as well as different environmental conditions such as weather or temperature effects). Therefore, particular cases of interest can be studied in more detail. On the other hand, the situation as a whole can be studied and data can be collected over a longer period of time up to several weeks and months. Collection of continuous data of the traffic scene allows studying long-term effects. Fundamental questions are:

- 1. What are relevant processes and interactions in such a scenario?
- 2. What kind of effect mechanisms can be found?
- 3. What kind of interrelations can be found between different factors and modes of traffic?

Thus, the AIM Research Intersection is a tool serving as a basis for research questions given in Sect. 17.1. In order to tackle the incoming data, approaches enabling automatic

scene interpretation need to be in place. Surrogate safety measures, such as PET (post encroachment time) have been implemented to extract situations for further analyses. This approach will be explained in more detail in Sect. 17.3 and a detailed overview of new and well-known surrogate safety measures is given in [19].

#### 17.3 Observation of Bicyclist-Motorist Interactions in Intersections

#### 17.3.1 Use Case: Bicyclist-Motorist

The above described research intersection was used to observe encounters between bicyclists and motorists. The pedestrian/bicyclist crossing coming from North (Brucknerstraße) leading South (Hagenring) on the west side of the intersection (Rebenring) served as observation point (see Fig. 17.5). Situations of interest were encounters of bicyclists and motorists at the crossing. While both types of road users approached the intersection from North, bicyclists went straight ahead going further south, while motorists turned right at the intersection going west. Bicyclist and motorists had the green phase simultaneously. This crossing scenario was used as it carries the most potential to be safety-critical and fatal for bicyclist in case of a collision with a motorist. Motorists and bicyclists are structurally separated in this scenario. Bicyclists have a designated path on the sidewalk.

In order to document and analyse interactions between bicyclists and motorists, video recordings of five consecutive working days between 8 am and 6 pm of September 2014 were used. In order to not view all the video material, potential encounters between bicyclists and motorists were extracted based on a PET (post encroachment time) value of 3 s. The PET value serves as a safety surrogate measure used to detect and analyse safety critical situations. The PET value can be used in situations when one road user crosses the



Fig. 17.5 a Bird's eye view onto the intersection (Source: Google). b Schematic drawing of the observed situation

path of another road user. The metric quantifies the time gap between the road users [20]. Low PET values indicate a high probability of safety-critical situations. A PET value of zero indicates an actual crash. Situations extracted based on the PET value were viewed in at least two iterations. During the first iteration, the extracted situations were viewed and labeled as either encounter or conflict. In the following iteration, the situation and interaction between bicyclist and motorist were described based on an observation protocol.

#### 17.3.2 Traffic Conflict Technique

Based on video recordings, the interaction between bicyclist and motorist was documented by means of an observation protocol loosely based on the traffic conflict technique [20]. With the help of the protocol, it was possible to describe the interaction between bicyclist and motorist based on observable changes in speed over time. In addition, other variables such as vehicle type, running a red light, causing and resolving a conflict, as well as observing an encounter or a conflict, were documented in the protocol.

For the purpose of this observational study, the observed area of interest was divided into two segments: (1) the turning area and (2) the pedestrian/bicyclist crossing (see Fig. 17.5). As understanding encounters and emergence of conflicts was of central interest, motorists and bicyclists were observed and their behaviour reported while approaching the intersection (first segment) and meeting at the pedestrian/bicyclist crossing (second segment). For each segment several variables were reported. For each interaction partner the speed (fast, medium, slow) as well as noticeable changes in speed (e. g. strong deceleration) were documented. In addition, it was reported whether motorists or bicyclists caused a conflict, whether they made any driving errors, such as not yielding, or resolved a conflict. The descriptive behaviour was quantified as each item was coded in order to run chi-square analyses. In the end, a matrix was developed showing how and to what extent motorists and bicyclists cooperate.

#### 17.4 Findings and Implications

Altogether, 144 encounters including nine red light violations and twelve conflicts were found and analysed during the observation period of five working days. Those situations were described based on the protocol and chi-square analyses were used for statistical analyses in order to gain more insight in the interaction between motorists and bicyclists.

As shown in Table 17.1, analyses of conflicts showed that each conflict was caused by motorists. Half of them were caused by passenger vehicles the other half by vans. In all cases, motorists did not yield to the bicyclists. Bicyclists had to abruptly decrease their speed in order to avoid a collision with motorists. Therefore, bicyclists resolved the conflict. In addition, in nine occasions bicyclists ran a red light. Out of these nine occasions, four can be classified as "simple" violations (i.e. the light was red for up to
**Table 17.1** Cooperation matrix based on the results obtained during the observation study at an intersection. The numbers (n = 109) in the matrix correspond with the number of observed cooperation strategies. Conflicts as well as situations in which one of the interaction partners did not pass the stop line when the light was green were excluded

	Area of pedestrian/cyclist crossing				
Area of turning		Same-same	Same-adjusted	Adjusted-same	Adjusted- adjusted
	Same-same	9		15	3
	Same-adjusted		2		
	Adjusted-same	27	1	39	3
	Adjusted-ad- justed	3	1	1	5

one second); the remaining five were "qualified" violations (i.e. the light was red for more than one second). Running the red light, did not result in any conflicts. On those occasions, motorists gave right-of-way to bicyclists.

Next to describing and analyzing conflicts and red light violations, it is also crucial to look at the encounters that were neither conflicts nor red light violations. In our study, eight percent of the encounters resulted in a conflict showing that conflicts are rather rare. If the goal is to design safety systems detecting and preventing collisions, it is important to understand how bicyclists and motorists interact without creating safety-critical situations. Understanding the ordinary behaviour might help identifying behaviour deviating from the norm. Therefore, encounters between bicyclists and motorists were analysed and based on the results, a cooperation matrix created describing motorists' and bicyclists' encounters in the observed situations. For the creation of the matrix, changes in speed as documented in the protocol were used. Those changes were protocoled for bicyclists and motorists in two segments: (1) the turning area and (2) the pedestrian/bicyclist crossing. Possible combinations are:

- 1. Bicyclist and motorist do not change their speed (referred to as same-same).
- 2. Motorist keeps speed, bicyclist changes speed (referred to as same-adjusted).
- 3. Motorist changes speed, bicyclist keeps speed (referred to as adjusted-same).
- 4. Bicyclist and motorist change their speed (referred to as adjusted-adjusted).

Accordingly, the following matrix was created visualizing the interaction patterns:

Four different patterns of interaction were identified, but the frequency of occurrence differed. In 39 cases, motorists adjusted their speed across both observation areas, bicyclists kept their speed constant while approaching and crossing the intersection. The interaction between motorists and bicyclists looked different in another 27 cases. Motorists adjusted their speed in the turning area and continued with constant speed across the pedestrian/bicyclist crossing. Here again, bicyclist approached and crossed the intersection with constant speed. In addition, it was also observed that bicyclist and motorists approached the intersection with constant speed. While bicyclists continued across the intersection with constant speed, motorists adjusted their speed shortly before crossing the pedestrian/bicyclist path. This pattern of interaction was observed 15 times. Nine times, bicyclists and motorists approached and passed through the intersection with constant speed.

Results show that most of the interactions between motorists and bicyclists are encounters and not conflicts. Only twelve situations were categorized as conflicts. In order to better understand how motorists and bicyclists encounter each other in one of the most safety-critical traffic situations (i. e. right turn at intersections while bicyclists go straight) without crashing, those encounters were used to gain better insight. Overall, it was found that in most of the situations, motorists adjusted their speed, while bicyclist continued through the intersection with constant speed. These results were expected as motorists needed to yield-right-of-way to bicyclists. In addition, it was found that when one of the interaction partners made an error (i. e. running the red light or not yielding) the other interaction partner resolved the conflict by not insisting on the right-of-way.

Better and early adjustments in speed on the part of the motorists were also observed. They reduced speed in the turning area, so that they could pass over the pedestrian/ bicyclist crossing with constant speed, while bicyclists did not have to adjust their speed. Here, first signs of cooperation can be seen. Cooperation was also found. According to the results of the observation, in nine cases neither bicyclist nor motorists had to adjust their speed. They crossed the intersection with constant speed without creating a safety-critical event. Those nine cases show that cooperation in traffic, especially between bicyclists and motorists, is possible.

# 17.5 Further Research

Based on the results, first impressions are gained on how motorists and bicyclist encounter each other without creating critical situations in most cases. They need to be better understood in order to identify potential situations deviating from encounters as described above as those situations may lead to conflicts. Therefore, it is necessary to not only analyse encounters and /or conflicts directly (i. e. using safety indicators such as TTC or PET), but go back in time and analyse how these situations arise. Parameters such as speed and changes in speed appear to be valid candidates for such an analysis. Based on changes and variance in speed, travel pattern might be identified. In addition, interactions of speed while approaching the intersection might be mapped.

The AIM research intersection offers this opportunity. As mentioned above, motorists as well as vulnerable road users can be detected and tracked while crossing the intersection. At the moment, the detection range is limited to the area of the intersection starting at the stop line, but additional components will be implemented extending the detection area. With the extension, it will be possible to detect road users for more than 30 meters before reaching the stop line. Therefore, data recording road users while approaching the intersection will be available for analyses.

Based on this data, it will be possible to gain more knowledge about encounters and conflicts; if and how they differ and whether speed patterns differ from each other while approaching the intersection. It is thinkable to apply methods such as coherence analysis to investigate whether and how similar bicyclists and motorists approach the intersection, in cases when they meet in the intersection. Those results may deliver significant insight that can be implemented in algorithms aiming at preventing crashes from occurring while providing recommendations to motorists as well as bicyclists.

## References

- 1. Heckrath-Rose, T.: Fahrradfahren in Deutschland 2014. Web. 21 April 2016 (2014)
- 2. Statista: Fahrradbestand in Deutschland bis 2015. Web. 21 April 2016 (2016)
- Statistisches Bundesamt (02 June 2014) 30% der Haushalte in großen Städten setzen allein aufs Rad. Pressemitteilung Nr. 191. Web. 21 April 2016.
- Sinus: Fahrrad-Monitor Deutschland 2015: Ergebnisse einer repräsentativen Online-Befragung. Web 25 July 2016 (2015)
- 5. Oja, P., Titze, S., el al Bauman, A., el al Bauman, A.: Health benefits of cycling: a systematic review. Scand J Med Sci Sports **21**(4), 496–509 (2011)
- 6. De Hartog, J.J., Boogaard, H., Nijland, H., Hoek, G.: Do the health benefits of cycling outweigh the risks? Environ. Health Perspect, **118**(8), 1109–1116 (2010)
- Rojas-Rueda, D., de Nazelle, A., Tainio, M., Nieuwenhuijsen, M.J.: The health risks and benefits of cycling in urban environments compared with car use: health impact assessment study. BMJ 343, d4521 (2011)
- 8. Münster passt auf: Verkehrssicherheit in Münster: Bestandsaufnahme, Pläne, Ziele. Web. 21 April 2016 (2009)
- Fox, M.: Kommunikation, Empathie und Kooperation: Psychologische Aspekte. Web. 21 April 2016 (2015)
- Poundstone, W.: Prisoner's Dilemma/John von Neumann, Game Theory and the Puzzle of the Bomb. Anchor, New York (1993)
- Kuhn, S.: Prisoner's Dilemma. In Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. Web. 21 April 2016 (2014)
- Tietz, A.: Radfahrer gegen Autofahrer: Der mühsame Weg zum Frieden. Web. 21 April 2016 (6 Aug 2015)
- Frese, C., Batz, T., Beyerer, J.: Kooperative Verhaltensentscheidung f
  ür Gruppen kognitiver Automobile auf Grundlage des gemeinsamen Lagebilds (engl: Cooperative Behavior of Groups of Cognitive Automobiles based on a Common Relevant Picture). At-automatisierungstechnik Methoden Anwendungen Steuerungs- Regelungs-und Informationstechnik 56(12), 644–652 (2008)
- Schnieder, L., Lemmer, K.: Anwendungsplattform Intelligente Mobilität eine Plattform f
  ür die verkehrswissenschaftliche Forschung und die Entwicklung intelligenter Mobilit
  ätsdienste. Int Verkehrswes 64(4), 62–63 (2012)
- Schnieder, L., Knake-Langhorst, S., Gimm, K.: AIM Research Intersection: Instrument for traffic detection and behavior assessment for a complex urban intersection. J Large-scale Res Facil Jlsrf 2 (2016). doi:10.17815/jlsrf-2-122
- Knake-Langhorst, S., Gimm, K., Köster, F.: AIM Forschungskreuzung Baustein f
  ür den Aufbau von kooperativer Fahrerassistenz und Automation. In: Intelligente Transport- und

Verkehrssysteme und -dienste Niedersachsen (ed.) AAET – Automatisierungssysteme, Assistenzsysteme und eingebettete Systeme für Transportmittel Braunschweig, 12–13 February, 2015. pp. 117–136. ITS Niedersachsen, Braunschweig (2015)

- Knake-Langhorst, S., Gimm, K., Frankiewicz, T., Köster, F.: Test Site AIM Toolbox and Enabler for Applied Research and Development in Traffic and Mobility. Accept Publ Transportation Res Procedia (2016). doi:10.1016/j.trpro.2016.05.235
- Frankiewicz, T., Schnieder, L., Köster, F.: Application Platform Intelligent Mobility Test Site Architecture and Vehicle2X Communication Setup. ITS World Congress, Vienna (2012)
- Gimm, K.: Analyse von Trajektoriendaten aus der Forschungskreuzung zur Ableitung der Kritikalität von Ereignissen (Master thesis). Technische Universität Braunschweig, Braunschweig (2014)
- Allen, B.L., Shin, B.T., Cooper, P.J.: Analysis of traffic conflicts and collisions. Transp Res Rec 667, 67–74 (1978)

#### **Further Reading**

- Candappa, N. et al.: Basic Fact Sheet "Cyclists", Deliverable D3.9 of the EC FP7 project Da-CoTA (2012)
- 22. Erke, H., Gstalter, H., Zimolong, B.: Verkehrskonflikte im Innerortsbereich. Unfall- und Sicherheitsforschung, Straßenverkehr, vol. 15. Bundesanstalt für Straßenwesen, pp. 15–18 (1985)

# Analysis and Modelling of the Operational and Tactical Behaviour of Bicyclists

18

Heather Twaddle

Life is like riding a bicycle, to keep your balance you must keep moving (Albert Einstein).

# 18.1 Motivation

The bicycle offers urban travellers an inexpensive, non-polluting transport alternative, which requires little space while moving or parking, can be manoeuvred quickly through congested road networks and offers health benefits to the user. Municipalities throughout the world are taking notice of the personal and societal benefits of utilitarian bicycling and are implementing policies and developing infrastructure to support current bicyclists and encourage potential bicyclists to start cycling. As a result, the modal share of bicycling is growing in many cities [1]. In turn, the effect of bicycle traffic on overall traffic efficiency in urban areas is becoming more important to consider in the design and assessment of road infrastructure. Unfortunately, as the volumes of bicycle traffic increase, so do concerns about bicyclist safety. Although traffic safety in general has improved greatly in many European countries in the last decades, the rates of bicyclist injury and death have stagnated [2-6]. In Germany, while the modal share of bicycling is about 3% when measured by distance and 10% when measured by trips [7], bicyclists account for 19.9% of all injuries and 11.7% of fatalities on German roads [5]. At urban intersections in Germany, a startling 39.1% of collisions involve at least one bicyclist [8]. In light of the significant impact of bicyclists on the overall traffic efficiency in urban areas as well as the excessive burden on bicyclists with regard to traffic safety, it is crucial to consider bicyclists explicitly in the evaluation of traffic engineering and control measures. This is particularly true

H. Twaddle  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Chair of Traffic Engineering and Control, Technical University of Munich Munich, Germany

© Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_18

at intersections, where bicycle traffic has a pronounced influence on traffic flow [9] and bicyclist safety is a pressing concern [8].

Microscopic traffic simulation is a frequently used tool for analysing traffic and forecasting the effects of road infrastructure design, signal control, intelligent transportation systems (ITS) and advanced driver assistance systems (ADAS). However, in order to validly simulate urban intersections with bicycle traffic, the models used to describe bicyclist behaviour within the simulation must be detailed and realistic. This is a complicated task when one considers the unique behaviour of bicyclists, which is characterised by the following features.

- Flexibility: Bicyclists can choose between using different parts of the road infrastructure. They can use a bicycle facility, if provided, or instead ride on the roadway with motor vehicles. Alternatively, bicyclists can decide to ride or dismount and push their bicycles on the sidewalk. It is possible for bicyclists to change sporadically between different parts of the infrastructure to best suit their tactical goals and to apply their flexibility with regard to traffic rules and regulations. An in-depth study of the rule acceptance of bicyclists in six cities in Germany showed that 36% of bicyclists violate a traffic regulation at some point during each trip [10]. The most common violations are riding against the designated direction of travel, not using a mandatory bicycle lane and running red lights.
- **Diversity**: Bicyclist behaviour is strongly influenced by the personal characteristics of the bicyclists. Observable aspects, such as age, gender and physical fitness, as well as non-observable traits, including bicycling experience, personality and mood, greatly influence both the tactical and operational behaviour of bicyclists [10–13]. Individuals within a population of bicyclists have differing desired riding speeds and acceleration profiles, respond differently to other road users and obstacles and make different tactical decisions.
- Variability: Not only do differences exist between bicyclists in a population, but the behaviour of one bicyclist fluctuates as he or she encounters different situations. Speed, acceleration and deceleration, rule compliance, infrastructure use and other facets of the operational and tactical behaviour are continuously adjusted depending on external (e. g. behaviour of other road users, infrastructure design) and internal (e. g. mood) factors [11].

However, currently available microscopic traffic simulation tools are limited in their capacity to simulate the flexible, diverse and dynamic behaviour of bicyclists. The first step in UR:BAN was to identify shortcomings in the state-of-the-art in modelling and simulating bicycle traffic with regard to behaviour at the tactical and operational level. The review of current modelling and simulation approaches was published in the paper *Bicycles in Urban Areas: Review of Existing Methods for Modeling Behaviour* [14]. In summary, bicyclists are typically simulated in currently available simulation tools using models that were developed for vehicular traffic. In some cases, these models have been

extended to allow for increased flexibility in lateral movement [15]. While this extension greatly improves the simulation of bicycle traffic, many other aspects of bicyclist behaviour, such as the tactical choice between riding on a bicycle lane, the roadway or the sidewalk, and riding against the given direction of travel, continue to be difficult with currently available tools.

Following the identification of shortcomings in the state-of-the-art, the data necessary for closing these gaps was specified. In order to gain an understanding of the relationships between situational factors and the operational and tactical behaviour of bicyclists, it was imperative to collect data that provide a comprehensive overview of the entire situation at the intersection. Microscopic data that includes the position and speed of each road user at regular time intervals as they cross the intersection were necessary. To meet this requirement, video data was collected and trajectories were extracted using automated computer vision methods. Additionally, information describing the phase transitions of the signal control as well as maps detailing the geometry of the intersection were added to the trajectory database. The resulting database was quantitatively analysed to gain an understanding of the operational behaviour and tactical choices of bicyclists at signalised intersections. As a final step, the findings of the behavioural analyses were used to calibrate and extend existing models and develop new methods for modelling the operational and tactical behaviour of bicyclists.

In order to formulate the analysis and modelling tasks within UR:BAN, the hierarchical framework proposed by Michon [16] was used to classify road user behaviour based on the time scale of the choice and the type of action. According to this framework, tactical behaviour takes place on a timescale of seconds to minutes and includes controlled action patterns and conscious decisions made by a road user to cope with the immediate situation. Tactical behaviour is governed by decisions made at the strategic level, such as route choice, and is influenced by environmental factors, including the actions of other road users and the phase of the traffic signal. Operational behaviour is defined as automatic action patterns that take place on a timescale of milliseconds to seconds and includes such behaviours as acceleration, deceleration and obstacle avoidance. Behaviour at the operational level is directed by conscious choices made at the tactical level, such as the desired path and the desired speed, and is influenced by environmental factors, such as the condition of the pavement, the weather and infrastructure design. There are feedback loops between the operational level and tactical level in which the operational state restricts and influences the tactical behaviour, while choices at the tactical level activate and supervise behaviour at the operational level. The hierarchy defined by Michon [16] was used in UR:BAN to guide behavioural analyses and model development.

This chapter is organised using the following structure. The methods used for data collection and processing are presented in Sect. 18.2 and the behavioural analyses carried out using the resulting database are presented in Sect. 18.3. In Sect. 18.4, the modelling approaches developed based on the findings of the behavioural analyses are introduced. The outcomes of the project are discussed and concluded in Sect. 18.5.

# 18.2 Data Collection and Processing

The behavioural analyses and model development to be carried out in UR:BAN were identified through a thorough review of the literature and two meetings with a group of experts. As a second step, the observational data necessary to complete these tasks were specified. Both the behavioural analyses and model development necessitated trajectory data from bicyclists as well as an exhaustive description of the situation in which the bicyclists find themselves at each point along their trajectories. Aerial video data was selected for data collection and processing because trajectories could be traced from all road users within a given area and situational data could be extracted using automated methods or added manually.

The entire road network is relevant for the analysis of road safety and efficiency using microscopic traffic simulation. The scope of the research in UR:BAN, however, was confined to signalised intersections. This focus was justified by the disproportionately high safety risk to bicyclists at intersections in comparison to road segments [8]. In addition, many measures for improving the safety and efficiency of bicycle traffic are deployed at signalised intersections, including ITS and ADAS measures developed within UR:BAN. The research intersections were selected with the goal of maximising the variety of situations with which the observed bicyclists were faced. The type of bicycle infrastructure was used a key selection criterion for research intersections because this variable has been found to have a significant effect on the behaviour of bicyclists [10, 11]. Twelve types of bicycle infrastructure used in Germany were identified and clustered into four groups based on the separation from motorized vehicle traffic; (I) roadways with no specific bicycle facility (bicyclists move with motorised traffic), (II) roadways with an on-road bicycle facility, (III) physically separated bicycle facilities and (IV) miscellaneous bicycle facilities. Four signalised intersections were selected for data collection with varying types of bicycle infrastructure and traffic volumes. Research sites in Munich, Germany were selected because of the relatively high modal split of bicycle traffic of 17% in the city [17]. Basic four arm intersections were chosen to facilitate comparability between data collection sites. Of the eleven approaches at the four research intersections (one intersection includes a oneway street), four approaches belong to type I, four belong to type II and seven belong to type III. Type IV facilities, which include bicycle paths in green areas, contraflow bicycle lanes, two-way bicycle lanes and bicycle roads, were not investigated within this project.

Raw video data were collected at each research intersection for two to four days from before the morning peak traffic hour (ca. 7:00 am) until after the evening peak hour (ca. 8:00 pm). Each of the collection days was a weekday during the spring and summer months of 2013 and 2014. A GoPro Hero 3 Black Edition camera was used for data collection with a full HD resolution ( $1920 \times 1080$  pixels) and a frame rate of 25 fps. The wide angle lens made it possible to observe the behaviour of road users on all approaches of the intersections. Camera views of the four research intersections are shown in Fig. 18.1.

Two hours of video data from the morning peak hour at each of the four research intersections was selected for detailed analysis. This selection was made based on the



Fig. 18.1 Camera views from the research intersections Arcisstraße/Theresienstraße (a), Arnulf-straße/Seidlstraße (b), Karlstraße/Luisenstraße (c) and Marsstraße/Seidlstraße (d)

number of bicyclists, the stability of the camera (no wind disturbance) and the absence of shadows that can cause problems in extracting trajectories (overcast weather was found to produce the best results). The eight hours of selected video data was processed using the open source software *Traffic Intelligence* [18], which uses automated computer vision methods to extract the trajectories of moving road users. A trajectory database with the position and velocity vectors (x-y coordinates) of all the road users in each video frame was generated by *Traffic Intelligence*. An example of one of the research intersections, Marsstraße-Seidlstraße, with the extracted trajectories from a five minute video segment superimposed over a video frame is shown in Fig. 18.2.

An approach was developed in UR:BAN to classify the road users as pedestrians, bicyclists or motor vehicles based on their position in the video frame and their dynamic characteristics. The approach was presented and evaluated in the paper *Use of automated video analysis for the evaluation of bicycle movement and interaction* by H. Twaddle, T. Schendzielorz, O. Fakler and S. Amini [19]. The accuracy of the methodology used to track and classify cars, bicycles and pedestrians varied widely between the research intersections. The percentage of tracked road users ranges from 72–93%, while the percentage of correctly classified road users ranges from 28–97%. A method was also developed in this project to rectify the distortion in the trajectory data caused by the wide angle lens. The approach is based on functionalities provided in the open source computer vision library *OpenCV* [20].

The resulting trajectory database was manually corrected to reclassify mislabelled road users, delete erroneous or superfluous trajectories and merge trajectories that were dis-



Fig. 18.2 Trajectory data extracted from a five minute video segment using *Traffic Intelligence* [18]

jointed due to an occluding object or a stop (only moving objects are tracked with *Traffic Intelligence* [18]). The database was controlled to ensure that trajectories with discontinuities or jumps were not used for the behavioural analyses. Qualitative parameters describing the situation and the behaviour of the bicyclists that could not be collected using automated processes were manually added to the trajectory database. Precise information about the traffic signal phase and timing was obtained from the City of Munich for the specific data collection dates. This data was integrated with the trajectory database using a corrected time stamp from the video data. As a result, a corrected and verified database of trajectories from 5146 bicyclists was created, complete with signal timing information and qualitative descriptive variables.

# 18.3 Data Analysis

An analysis of the resulting database of trajectories, signal timing information and qualitative variables describing the situation and bicyclist behaviour is presented in this chapter. The intention of the analysis is to provide quantitative information concerning the operational and tactical behaviour of bicyclists that has not yet been provided by previous studies. The operational behaviour is analysed in Sect. 18.3.1 followed by a brief overview of the tactical analysis in Sect. 18.3.2.

## 18.3.1 Operational Behaviour

Three aspects of the operational behaviour of bicyclists were examined in UR:BAN using the trajectory data extracted from the videos: speed, acceleration and spacing between bi-

		Interaction with other bicyclists		
		time gap $\geq 2$ s	time gap < 2 s	
Signal phase upon approach	Green	Group A (N = $704$ )	-	
	Red	Group B (N = 326)	Group C (N = $630$ )	

Table 18.1 Division of observed bicyclists into Group A, Group B and Group C

cyclists while stopped. In order to isolate the behavioural aspects of interest, the observed bicyclists were divided into four groups based on their interaction with other bicyclists and the signal phase upon arrival at the intersection. The division criteria and the number of bicyclists in each group is shown in Table 18.1. The group of bicyclists that arrived while the signal was green and interacted with other road users (time gap < 2 s) are not included in the analyses presented in this chapter.

Group A includes bicyclists that arrived at a green signal and did not interact with other bicyclists. The trajectories from this group were used to analyse speed. Bicyclists in Group B arrived while the signal was red and had no interaction with other bicyclists. The acceleration and deceleration profiles were studied using trajectories from this group. Finally, trajectories from bicyclists who arrived while the signal was red and interacted with other bicyclists (Group C) were used to investigate the spacing behaviour while queuing. The analyses and results for each of the three selected aspects are summarised in the following sections.

#### 18.3.1.1 Speed

Speed is an important parameter to consider in the design of road infrastructure and traffic signal control. Most of the research that has been done to date concerning bicyclist speed has been motivated by the need to consider bicycle traffic in signal control design at intersections. Intergreen times, the length of which has a strong influence on the capacity of signalised intersections, must be set to ensure that all road users can cross the intersection before conflicting streams are allowed to enter. The maximum crossing time is determined from the distribution of speed and acceleration rates among bicyclists. The average speed has been thoroughly analysed by researchers, mainly in the USA, with results ranging between 3.2 and 7.5 m/s [21-24]. Most of the studies estimate the mean speed and do not elaborate on the distribution of the speed observations. The methodology used to estimate the Level of Service (LOS) in the Highway Capacity Manual assumes a normally distributed average speed of 5 m/s with a standard deviation of 0.8 m/s [25]. No information is given concerning how differing speed distributions can be considered. Nonetheless, speed distribution is a crucial parameter in estimating LOS for bicyclists, as large speed disparities are known to cause issues with traffic safety and efficiency. Within UR:BAN, the speed distributions at the four research intersections were studied to provide detailed information for use in simulations and in design guidelines. The effect of various tactical decisions on the speed of bicyclists was investigated in order to specify speeds for bicyclists carrying out different manoeuvres.

The average speed across the intersection, the range of speeds observed for one bicyclist and the minimum and maximum speeds were extracted from the trajectories of bicyclists in Group A. Histograms for each of the observed speed parameters are shown in Fig. 18.3. An initial hypothesis of normal distribution for the four speed parameters was used as a starting point for distribution analysis. The mean and standard deviation of the observed data for each parameter were calculated and the resulting probability density function (pdf) and cumulative density function (cdf) of the normal distribution were plotted. The suitability of the normal distribution for the four speed parameters was evaluated using the kurtosis and skew of the data and a visual inspection of the histograms of the observed data.

The normal distribution was found to provide an accurate representation of the mean speed of the bicyclists crossing the intersection as well as the minimum and maximum speeds. All three parameters were found to have a slight negative kurtosis, meaning that the observed distribution contains fewer extreme values than the normal distribution. This could be remedied by using another distribution with a negative excess kurtosis, such as the raised cosine distribution, although this adds complexity due to the number of parameters necessary to define the distribution without significantly improving the fit. This



**Fig. 18.3** Distribution of the mean speed (**a**), the range of speeds (**b**) and the minimum (**c**) and maximum (**d**) speeds of the observed bicyclists in Group A

problem can also be remedied by setting a minimum and maximum allowable speed. The slight skew in the observed mean, minimum and maximum speed distributions were not pronounced enough to reject the normal distribution. The range of speeds covered by the observed bicyclists, on the other hand, is positively skewed to the extent that the normal distribution does not provide an accurate representation of the observations. The Rayleigh distribution was selected in this case because it offers a good fit with the observed distribution and is characterised by only two parameters, a location ( $\mu$ ) and a scale ( $\sigma$ ) parameter, analogous to the normal distribution. The final distributions with the fit location ( $\mu$ ) and a scale ( $\sigma$ ) parameters are shown in Fig. 18.3.

The effects of selected tactical behaviours on the mean speed were quantified using the trajectories from bicyclists in Group A. To this aim, a multiple regression model was estimated with dummy variables representing three tactical choices; infrastructure selection (bicycle lane, roadway, sidewalk), direction of travel (with or against the mandatory direction) and type of manoeuvre (straight, left turn, right turn). The results of the regression are shown in Table 18.2. The base situation (constant) for the model is a bicyclist riding straight across the intersection on a bicycle lane, travelling in the mandatory direction of travel. A total of 704 observations were used to develop the multiple regression model.

The multiple regression model indicates that bicyclists travel slower when riding on the sidewalk or roadway in comparison to when riding on a bicycle lane (1.4 and 0.36 m/s slower average speed, respectively). Similarly, the average speed of bicyclists turning right and left is 1.20 and 0.54 m/s, respectively, slower than bicyclists travelling straight across the intersection. Bicyclists riding against the mandatory direction of travel ride 0.66 m/s slower on average than those moving in the mandatory direction of travel. However, the small number of bicyclists observed riding against the direction of travel limits the significance of this finding.

Results from the distribution analysis and the multiple regression model can be used in conjunction with the findings of previous research to model speed with more accuracy in microscopic traffic simulation tools. Other applications for the findings in this section include the calibration and extension of methods used in design and evaluation standards

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Significance
Constant	5.22	94.142	0.000
Bicycle lane use (constant case)	-	-	-
Sidewalk use	-1.40	-3.527	0.000
Roadway use	-0.36	3.236	0.001
Straight (constant case)	-	-	-
Right turn	-1.20	-7.974	0.000
Left turn	-0.54	-1.609	0.108
Mandatory direction of travel (constant case)	-	-	-
Against mandatory direction of travel	-0.66	-1.279	0.201

 Table 18.2
 Multiple regression model of mean speed

such as the US American *Highway Capacity Manual* [26] and the German *Handbuch für die Bemessung von Straßenverkehrsanlagen* [27].

#### 18.3.1.2 Acceleration and Deceleration

In a similar manner as speed, the acceleration and deceleration characteristics of bicyclists have a significant influence on bicyclist safety and traffic efficiency. For example, acceleration from a stopped position at a red light impacts the crossing time of bicyclists and therefore the necessary intergreen times. Maximum deceleration rates are important parameters in evaluating critical situations with regard to safety. However, few researchers to date have examined this aspect of the operational behaviour of bicyclists. Those researchers who have analysed acceleration and deceleration have typically assumed a constant rate of acceleration during an acceleration process and have found average acceleration rates ranging from 0.23 to  $1.07 \text{ m/s}^2$  [21, 28–30]. No studies were identified that quantified the deceleration processes of bicyclists or the distribution curves of acceleration and deceleration rates amongst a population of bicyclists.

The trajectories from bicyclists in Group B were used to investigate the acceleration and deceleration<sup>1</sup> processes. In a first step, the distributions of the observed mean acceleration, the range of accelerations for each bicyclist, minimum and maximum acceleration were investigated. The method used for identifying and fitting a distribution model was the same as the approach used for the speed analysis (Sect. 18.3.1.1). An initial hypothesis of normal distribution was accepted or rejected for the four acceleration parameters based on a visual assessment of the histograms as well as an evaluation of kurtosis and skew. In cases where the normal distribution was rejected, a more suitable distribution was identified and parameterized based on the observed data.

For each of the acceleration parameters, mean acceleration, acceleration range, minimum and maximum acceleration, the normal distribution was rejected due to the skew of the data. The observed distributions for the mean acceleration, acceleration range and maximum acceleration are positively skewed. The Rayleigh distribution was selected to represent the observed distributions based on the shape of the observed data distribution (a location ( $\mu$ ) and a scale ( $\sigma$ ) parameter, analogous to the normal distribution). The minimum acceleration (maximum deceleration) distribution is negatively skewed. The Gumbel distribution was found to provide the best fit with only two parameters describing the location and scale. The observed histograms and fit distributions are shown in Fig. 18.4. The minimum and maximum acceleration distributions are most relevant for the calibration and development of microscopic simulation tools.

The trajectories of bicyclists in Group B were investigated in more detail to determine how acceleration is controlled throughout an acceleration process. To enable this investigation, the speed ratio  $\theta_s$  was introduced (Eq. 18.1) to indicate the degree to which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The term acceleration is used in the remainder of this section to describe both positive acceleration and negative acceleration (deceleration) in order to simplify the text.



**Fig. 18.4** Distribution of the mean acceleration (**a**), the range of accelerations (**b**) and the minimum (**c**) and maximum (**d**) acceleration of the observed bicyclists in Group B

a bicyclist has completed an acceleration or deceleration process.

$$\theta_s = \frac{s - s_i}{s_d - s_i} \tag{18.1}$$

In Eq. 18.1, *s* is the current speed (m/s),  $s_i$  is the initial speed (m/s) (e. g. 0 m/s when accelerating from a stopped position) and  $s_d$  is the desired speed upon completing the acceleration or deceleration process (m/s) (e. g. 0 m/s when deceleration to a stopped position).

Trajectories were identified that included a complete acceleration or deceleration processes in which the bicyclist either started or ended the process in a stopped position. For acceleration processes, the desired speed ( $s_d$ ) was estimated by taking the average of the speed measured after the bicyclist first reached 85% of his or her maximum speed. Similarly, the initial speed ( $s_i$ ) was estimated for deceleration processes by taking the average speed before the bicyclist first dropped below 85% of his or her maximum speed. An observation containing the  $\theta_s$  value and the momentary acceleration was taken for each bicyclist at a frequency of five measurements per second. The trajectory data has a frequency of 25 measurements per second but the observations were aggregated to smooth



Fig. 18.5 Acceleration (a) and deceleration (b) profiles of the observed bicyclists in Group B

the acceleration profiles. The  $\theta_s$  values were grouped in bins with a width of 0.05 and the median, 25<sup>th</sup> and 75<sup>th</sup> percentile of each bin are shown in Fig. 18.5 for accelerating (a) and decelerating (b) bicyclists in Group B. In total, 14,551 observations were collected from accelerating bicyclists and 1913 observations from decelerating bicyclists. The 25<sup>th</sup> and 75<sup>th</sup> percentile of the bins were smoothed using spline approximation with an order of spline fit of three.

The overall trend in the acceleration profile in Fig. 18.5a indicates that bicyclists do not accelerate constantly but rather accelerate most strongly during the first half of the acceleration process. The highest acceleration values, which range between 0.4 and 0.9 m/s<sup>2</sup>, were observed at about  $\vartheta_s = 1/3$  (one third of the acceleration process is complete). The acceleration drops to less than  $0.2 \text{ m/s}^2$  when the bicycle has reached about 80% of his or her desired speed. The observed deceleration profiles indicate a more constant deceleration of between -0.8 and  $-0.2 \text{ m/s}^2$  throughout the deceleration process. The deceleration values were observed during normal deceleration processes and are not meant to be interpreted or used as maximum deceleration values.

The analysis of the acceleration and deceleration behaviour of bicyclists at intersections can be used to improve the accuracy of microscopic traffic simulation tools. Findings show that average acceleration, the range of acceleration and minimum and maximum acceleration amongst a population of bicyclists cannot be described using the normal distribution because of significant skewing. The Rayleigh and Gumbel distributions are suggested as alternatives. Similarly, the assumption of constant acceleration could not be confirmed by this data analysis for acceleration processes but seems to provide a good estimate of deceleration processes.

#### 18.3.1.3 Spacing

The spacing maintained between bicyclists directly influences the density and flow of bicycle traffic. The minimum spacing accepted by a bicyclist also defines whether or not he or she can squeeze through a queue of motor vehicles at a red light, a behaviour that directly influences motor vehicle flow at intersections. For these reasons among others, this parameter plays a crucial role in bicycle and overall traffic efficiency, both on road segments and at intersections. Nonetheless, only two previous studies were found that examined the lateral spacing of bicyclists, both of which investigated spacing during overtaking manoeuvres. A German study found the average, minimum and maximum lateral spacing to be 0.60 m, 0.20 m and >1.00 m, respectively [13]. A US American study estimated larger values for the average, minimum and maximum lateral spacing of 1.78 m, 1.35 m and 2.36 m, respectively [31]. No studies were found that quantified spacing while queuing.

Unlike motorised road traffic, which predominantly moves single-file in road lanes with intermittent lane changes, bicyclists have significantly more freedom of movement in the lateral direction and can pass one another in the same lane. The one-dimensional parameter that is used to measure motor vehicle traffic; the longitudinal following distance (spacing) between two vehicles in the same lane, is insufficient for describing bicyclist spacing. To measure the spacing between bicyclists, a two-dimensional vector was proposed that contains a longitudinal component, which is measured along the axis of the direction travel of the bicyclist, and a lateral component, which is measured perpendicular to the axis of the direction of travel. Both of these components are crucial for the calibration of microscopic traffic simulation tools because they directly influence the density and flow of bicycle traffic.



Fig. 18.6 Lateral, longitudinal and Euclidean spacing between stopped bicyclists in Group B

The spacing between stopped bicyclists was measured using the trajectory database. Platoons of bicyclists were identified by grouping bicyclists who stop (minimum speed < 0.1 m/s) during the same signal phase on the same approach. The stopping positions of the platoon members were analysed to find the distance from each bicyclist to his or her nearest neighbour. The resulting lateral, longitudinal and Euclidean distances between the bicyclists are shown in the boxplots in Fig. 18.6. The measurements were taken from the centre of the bicyclists, which is typically near the head, as shown in the top left corner of the figure.

The findings shown in Fig. 18.6 are useful for calibrating microscopic simulation tools that require the minimum lateral spacing at a speed of zero. Furthermore, the spacing data can be used to quantify the density of bicycle traffic at different driving speeds. Density, along with the findings presented in Sect. 18.3.1.1 can be used to estimate the flow of bicycle traffic using the fundamental relationship between density (bicycles/m<sup>2</sup>), speed (m/s) and flow (bicycles/h/m). This relationship has been confirmed by researchers to describe bicycle traffic in the same way as it has been used for decades for motorised traffic [9, 25].

## 18.3.2 Tactical Behaviour

Five aspects of the tactical behaviour of bicyclists at signalised intersections were selected for analysis in UR:BAN; the infrastructure selection upon approaching the intersection (bicycle lane, roadway or sidewalk), the response to a red traffic signal, the stop position when queuing, the type of left turn manoeuvre and the direction of travel. In the first step, a descriptive analysis of the tactical choices was carried out and the number and percentage of bicyclists observed executing the various behaviours was recorded. This information can be useful in creating tactical models based on the probability of a certain behaviour arising. For example, in the microscopic simulation tool VISSIM, it is currently possible to stipulate the percentage of road users that violate a red light [15]. Red light violations are then randomly simulated using this percentage. The observed frequency of bicyclists carrying of various options for the five investigated tactical behaviours are given in Table 18.3.

In order to gain an in-depth understanding of the factors which influence the tactical decisions of bicyclists, the relationships between situational variables and the observed tactical decisions were studied. A total of 43 independent variables belonging to four categories were investigated; the strategic choices of the bicyclist, the geometry of the intersection, the traffic situation and the traffic signal control. Each of the five tactical behaviours (dependent variables) and the independent variables was tested individually using null hypothesis testing ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) to determine if a statistically significant correlation exists. If a significant correlation was found, the effect size measures Cramer's V (V) for two categorical variables and squared canonical correlation ( $R_c^2$ ) for a continuous independent variable and a categorical dependent variable were used to estimate the mag-

Tactical behaviour	Category 1	Category 2	Category 3
Infrastructure selection (bicycle lane available) N = 3927 bicyclists	Bicycle lane 94.6% (N = 3721)	Roadway 1.8% (N=69)	Sidewalk 3.5% (N = 137)
Infrastructure selection (no bicycle lane avail- able) N=634 bicyclists	Roadway 90.5% (N = 574)	Sidewalk 9.5% (N = 60)	n.a. (dichotomous)
Response to red signal N = 2437 bicyclists	Stop 80.8% (N=1968)	Violate 19.2% (N=469)	n. a. (dichotomous)
Stop position N = 1648 bicyclists	Behind queue 83.9% (N = 1382)	In front of queue 16.1% (N = 266)	n. a. (dichotomous)
Left turn manoeuvre $N = 531$ bicyclists	Direct turn 17.9% (N=95)	Indirect turn 35.8% (N = 190)	Indirect turn against direction of travel 46.3% (N = 246)
Direction of travel N = 5109 bicyclists	With direction of travel 97.9% (N = 5003)	Against direction of travel 2.1% (N = 106)	n. a. (dichotomous)

Table 18.3 Tactical behaviour, categories and observed frequencies

nitude of the effect. The independent situational variables that were found to have at least a small effect on the tactical choice were used to estimate a logistic regression model for each of the identified behaviours. These models are to be published in an upcoming paper *Tactical behaviour of bicyclists at signalised intersections* by H. Twaddle and F. Busch.

# 18.4 Behaviour Modelling

The outcomes of the behavioural analyses described in Sect. 18.3 were used to develop improved methods for modelling the operational and tactical behaviour of bicyclists for application in microscopic traffic simulation tools. A number of the findings, such as the distributions of the desired speed and the minimum and maximum acceleration, are useful for calibrating models that are currently implemented in simulation software such as VISSIM and SUMO. Other findings, such as those describing the acceleration and deceleration profiles of bicyclists, necessitate new modelling approaches.

## 18.4.1 Modelling the Operational Behaviour

The findings from the operational behaviour analysis described in Sect. 18.3.1 are applied in this chapter to refine and extend the model proposed by Falkenberg et al. [13]. In their model, bicyclists are represented using a diamond shape that is positioned with the vertices pointing along the lateral and longitudinal axes of the bicyclist. This shape supports staggered queuing as well as offset riding along links [14]. In this project, the Falkenberg et al. [13] approach was extended to include both a physical and a psychological boundary of the simulated bicyclists. The physical boundary defines the shape of the simulated bicyclist and acts as a hard barrier between the bicycle and other road users and objects in the simulation (shown in black in Fig. 18.7). Although different lengths and widths can be set for different types of bicyclists, the shape is static and does not change throughout the simulation. Generally, two or three types of bicycles with their corresponding length and width measurements are sufficient to describe a population of bicyclists (e. g. normal bicycles, cargo bicycles and bicycles with trailers). This static physical boundary is the extent of the model proposed by Falkenberg et al. [13], which is implemented in the microscopic simulation tool VISSIM.

The additional boundary proposed here is the psychological boundary, which defines the desired safety spacing of the bicyclist and is shown in blue in Fig. 18.7. This spacing is applied in addition to the physical boundary defined by the Falkenberg et al. [13] model. The desired lateral and longitudinal spacing of the bicyclists are set stochastically amongst a population of simulated bicyclists to recreate the variety in spacing preferences that exists in reality. The range of the spacing parameters measured in Sect. 18.3.1.3 is used to create a population of bicyclists with differing spacing preferences. There is no psychological spacing distance behind the modelled bicyclist to simulate the premise that bicyclists are not concerned with and only have limited control over the actions of road users travelling behind them.

The spacing values given in Table 18.4 are proposed based on the analysis of the observed trajectory data. The total lateral spacing of the bicyclist including the physical and psychological model range from a minimum of 0.6 m to a maximum of 1.1 m while stopped in a queue. The total longitudinal spacing while stopped in a queue ranges from 0.9 to 1.8 m. These values correspond with the median and 75<sup>th</sup> percentile of the observed values in both cases. The distances are measured from the centre of the bicyclist.

The safety spacing maintained by bicyclists does not remain constant but is rather adjusted continually based on the situation and the momentary preferences of the bicyclist. It is proposed here to include this intra-bicyclist variation by using a simple relationship



	Lateral spacing (m)	Longitudinal spacing (m)
Physical model	0.3	0.4
Psychological model minimum	0.3	0.5
Psychological model maximum	0.8	1.8

Table 18.4 Proposed values for lateral and longitudinal spacing parameters with a speed of 0 m/s

between the current speed, the desired speed and the spacing as shown in Eq. 18.2.

$$\left[Sp_{\text{lat}}, Sp_{\text{long}}\right] = \left(1 + \alpha \frac{s}{s_d}\right) \left[Sp_{\text{lat min}}, Sp_{\text{long min}}\right]$$
(18.2)

In Eq. 18.2  $[Sp_{lat}, Sp_{long}]$  is the current spacing vector (m),  $[Sp_{lat \min}, Sp_{long \min}]$  is the minimum spacing vector (m), *s* is the current speed (m/s), *s<sub>d</sub>* is the desired speed (m/s) and  $\alpha$  is a constant that controls the magnitude of the spacing variation. This constant is not estimated here because the spacing variation could not be observed using the collected trajectory data at intersections.

The speed characteristics of the simulated bicyclists are randomly selected from the distributions shown in Fig. 18.3. The regression model coefficients given in Table 18.2 are implemented in the simulation by adjusting the desired speed of the simulated bicyclist by the respective speed difference (coefficient in the regression model). For example, if a simulated bicyclist that is randomly assigned a speed of 5.1 m/s from the distribution in the base scenario (bicycle lane use, travelling straight in the mandatory direction of travel) tactically decides to ride on the sidewalk, the desired speed will be reduced to 3.7 m/s.

Within the project UR:BAN, a new method for modelling the acceleration and deceleration profiles of bicyclists based on the observations presented in Fig. 18.5 was developed. A detailed description and evaluation of the developed modelling approach can be found in the paper *Modeling the speed, acceleration and deceleration of bicyclists for microscopic traffic simulation* by H. Twaddle and G. Grigoropoulos [32]. This modelling approach can be combined with the speed distributions, regression model and dynamic spacing model to improve the realism of microscopic traffic simulation of bicyclists.

#### 18.4.2 Modelling the Tactical Behaviour

Two methods were developed and evaluated within UR:BAN for predicting the tactical behaviour of bicyclists based on the observed situational data; logistic regression modelling and machine learning using artificial neural networks. Modelling approaches were developed for the five tactical choices introduced in Sect. 18.3.2; infrastructure selection upon approaching the intersection (bicycle lane, roadway or sidewalk), response to a red traffic signal, stop position when queuing, type of left turn manoeuvre and the direction of travel. For both approaches, the dataset was broken into two subsets, one of which was

used for estimating (training) the model while the other was used to validate (test) the resulting model. Depending on the size of the dataset for each tactical choice, 60 or 80% of the data was used for calibrating and the remainder was used for validating. The models were evaluated using confusion matrices and five evaluation measures; accuracy, positive prediction value, negative prediction value, true positive rate and true negative rate. The Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve was used to determine the optimal classification cut-off point for the binomial choice models.

Both methods were found to produce similar results based on an evaluation of the resulting confusion matrices, with accuracies that ranged from 76% to 92%. Machine learning approaches are known to produce exceptional predictions given a large training set and a large number of independent variables. This accuracy, however, comes at the cost of interpretability of the model. The resulting 'black box' may be useful in predicting outcomes, but the relationships between the input parameters describing the situation and the tactical choices are difficult to discern. The logistic regression models were deemed superior because of the possibility to understand the relationships between the observed situation and the choice outcome. The resulting choice models are to be published in an upcoming paper *Tactical behaviour of bicyclists at signalised intersections* by H. Twaddle and F. Busch.

# **18.5** Discussion and Conclusions

The realistic inclusion of bicycle traffic in microscopic traffic simulations is becoming increasingly important as the number of bicyclists in many urban areas continues to rise. Within the project UR:BAN, the operational and tactical behaviour of bicyclists was analysed using trajectory data extracted from videos collected at four intersections in Munich, Germany. One application for the findings from these studies is the calibration of existing models for bicycle traffic in simulation software. Shortfalls in the ability of currently available software to simulate bicycle traffic were identified and addressed in UR:BAN by extending existing models or developing new approaches for modelling the behaviour of bicyclists.

Three aspects of the operational behaviour of bicyclists were identified for analyses and model development; speed, acceleration and spacing. The use of trajectory data enabled the detailed investigation of the identified aspects. Data from 704 bicyclists who approached the intersection while the signal was green and did not interact with other bicyclists were used to select and fit distribution curves for the average speed, the range of speeds and maximum and minimum speed. A multiple regression model was estimated to quantify the effect of selected tactical behaviours on the average speed. The acceleration and deceleration behaviour of 326 bicyclists who stopped at a red light but were not influenced by other road users was investigated to select and fit distribution curves. Analogous to the speed analysis, mean acceleration, range of acceleration values and the minimum and maximum acceleration were investigated. An in-depth analysis of the acceleration profiles indicated that bicyclists do not accelerate at a constant rate, but rather begin an acceleration process with a relatively low acceleration, reach a maximum acceleration when approximately 1/3 of the process is completed and then decrease the rate of acceleration until the desired speed is reached. An investigation of the deceleration profiles revealed relatively constant rates of deceleration throughout the process. The lateral and longitudinal spacing of 630 bicyclists who stopped at a red traffic signal in a platoon of bicyclist were analysed to provide calibration data for existing models. An extension of the Falkenberg et al. [13] model is proposed based on the observed spacing behaviour that allows for the simulation of inter-bicyclist and intra-bicyclist variance in spacing behaviour. Together, the proposed methods for modelling the operational behaviour of bicyclists offer the potential to increase the realism of bicycle simulations.

The methods developed for predicting the tactical choices of bicyclists using independent variables describing the current situation were found to deliver accurate results (accuracies ranged from 76% to 92%). The inclusion of independent variables describing the personal characteristics of the bicyclists, such as gender, age, bicycling experience, bicycling preferences and aggressiveness, would likely further improve the predictive power. Data describing the personal characteristics of the observed bicyclists were not collected because of privacy laws and the high position of the video camera that was necessary for extracting accurate trajectories. Additionally, models including personal attributes would have limited application in microscopic traffic simulation because the agents in currently available tools are not equipped with such attributes. Therefore, as long as the variation in observed behaviour can be recreated within the simulation and the relationships between the different aspect of the operational and tactical behaviour can be maintained, it is unnecessary to associate these behaviours with personal attributes.

The operational model and tactical models can be combined in the simulation to reflect the feedback loops proposed by Michon [16] in his hierarchy of road user behaviour. This was realised in UR:BAN by determining the tactical behaviour using the developed logistic regression models. This behaviour was linked to the operational level through the speed multiple regression model. The resulting approach allows for a more realistic simulation of bicyclist behaviour at both the operational and tactical level.

# References

- 1. Pucher, J., Buehler, R.: Making Cycling Irresistible: Lessons from The Netherlands, Denmark and Germany. Transport Rev **28**(4), 495–528 (2008). doi:10.1080/01441640701806612
- Swedish Transport Administration: Analysis of Road Safety Trends 2013 (2014). http://www. trafikverket.se/en/, Accessed June 14, 2016
- SWOV: Real number of deaths and seriously injured by mode of transport and age (2016). https://www.swov.nl/UK/Research/Cijfers/Cijfers\_ongevallen-UK.htm, Accessed June 2, 2016
- 4. Statistisches Bundesamt: Verkehrsunfälle. Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden (2014a). www. destatis.de

- 5. Statistisches Bundesamt: Verkehrsunfälle: Zweiradunfälle im Straßenverkehr. Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden (2014b). www.destatis.de
- 6. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA): NCSA Data resource website (2013). http://www-fars.nhtsa.dot.gov/Main/index.aspx, Accessed March 29, 2016
- 7. infas Institute für angewandte Sozialwissenschaft, DLR: *Mobilität in Deutschland 2008*. Bonn and Berlin (2010). www.mobilitaet-in-deutschland.de
- Gerstenberger, M.: Accidents at Intersections: Basic Analysis of Causation and Approaches for Improvements (2015)
- 9. Allen, D., Hummer, J., Rouphail, N., Milazzo, J.: Effect of Bicycles on Capacity of Signalized Intersections. Transp Res Rec 1646(1), 87–95 (1998). doi:10.3141/1646-11
- Alrutz, D., Bohle, W., Müller, H., Prahlow, H., Planungsgemeinschaft Verkehr Hannover, Institut f
  ür Wohnen und Umwelt GmbH, Hacke, U.: Unfallrisiko und Regelakzeptanz von Fahrradfahrern. Berichte Der Bundesanstalt Fuer Strassenwesen. Unterreihe Verkehrstechnik, vol. 184., pp 1–127 (2009)
- Kuller, E.C., Gersemann, D., Ruwenstroth, G.: Regelabweichendes Verhalten von Fahrradfahrern. Forschungsberichte Der Bundesanstalt F
  ür Straßenwesen, Bereich Unfallforschung, vol. 142. (1986)
- Schleinitz, K., Petzoldt, T., Franke-Bartholdt, L., Krems, J., Gehlert, T.: The German Naturalistic Cycling Study – Comparing cycling speed of riders of different e-bikes and conventional bicycles. Saf Sci (2016). doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2015.07.027
- Falkenberg, G., Blase, A., Bonfranchi, T., Cosse, L., Draeger, W., Vortisch, P., Zimmermann, A.: Bemessung von Radverkehrsanlagen unter verkehrstechnischen Gesichtspunkten. Berichte Der Bundesanstalt Fuer Strassenwesen. Unterreihe Verkehrstechnik, vol. 103. (2003)
- Twaddle, H., Schendzielorz, T., Fakler, O.: Bicycles in Urban Areas: Review of Existing Methods for Modeling Behavior. Transp Res Rec 2434, 140–146 (2014)
- 15. Fellendorf, M., Vortisch, P.: Microscopic traffic flow simulator VISSIM. In: Fundamentals of traffic simulation, pp. 63–93. Springer, New York (2010)
- Michon, J.A.: A critical view of driver behavior models: what do we know, what should we do? Hum Behav Traffic Saf, 485–520 (1985). doi:10.1007/978-1-4613-2173-6
- 17. Hauer, M.: Fahrradaufkommen gegenüber Fahrradunfällen. Münchner Stat 2, 26–30 (2015)
- Jackson, S., Miranda-Moreno, L., St-Aubin, P., Saunier, N.: A Flexible, Mobile Video Camera System and Open Source Video Analysis Software for Road Safety and Behavioural Analysis. Transp Res Rec 2365, 90–98 (2013)
- 19. OpenCV: Retrieved December 14, 2016 (2015). http://opencv.org/
- Twaddle, H., Schendzielorz, T., Fakler, O., Amini, S.: Use of automated video analysis for the evaluation of bicycle movement and interaction. Proc. SPIE 9026, Video Surveillance and Transportation Imaging Applications, vol. 2014. (2014) doi:10.1117/12.2042487
- Pein, W.: Bicyclist Performance on a Multiuse Trails. Transp Res Rec 1578(1), 127–131 (1997). doi:10.3141/1578-16
- 22. Rubins, D., Handy, S.: Times of Bicycle Crossings: Case Study of Davis, California. Transp Res Rec **1939**(1), 22–27 (2005). doi:10.3141/1939-03
- Shladover, S.E., Kim, Z., Cao, M., Sharafsaleh, A., Johnston, S.: Intersection Crossing Times of Bicyclists. Transp Res Rec 2247, 91–98 (2011). doi:10.3141/2247-11
- 24. Taylor, D., Davis, W.: Review of Basic Research in Bicycle Traffic Science, Traffic Operations, and Facility Design. Transp Res Rec **1674**(1), 102–110 (1999). doi:10.3141/1674-14
- Gould, G., Karner, A.: Modeling Bicycle Facility Operation. Transp Res Rec 2140, 157–164 (2010). doi:10.3141/2140-17
- National Research Council: Highway Capacity Manual 2010. Transportation Research Board, Washington, DC. (2010)

- Forschungsgesellschaft f
  ür Stra
  ßen- und Verkehrswesen: Handbuch f
  ür die Bemessung von Stra
  ßenverkehrsanlagen (HBS). Forschungsgesellschaft f
  ür Stra
  ßen- und Verkehrswesen e. V., K
  öln (2015)
- Parkin, J., Rotheram, J.: Design speeds and acceleration characteristics of bicycle traffic for use in planning, design and appraisal. Transp Policy (Oxf) 17(5), 335–341 (2010). doi:10.1016/j.tranpol.2010.03.001
- 29. Taylor, D.B.: Analysis of Traffic Signal Clearance Interal Requirements for Bicycle-Automobile Mixed Traffic. Transp Res Rec **1405**, 13–20 (1993)
- 30. Figliozzi, M., Wheeler, N., Monsere, C.: A Methodology to Estimate Bicyclists' Acceleration and Speed Distributions at Signalized Intersections. Transp Res Rec **2387**, 66–75 (2013)
- Khan, S., Raksuntorn, W.: Characteristics of Passing and Meeting Maneuvers on Exclusive Bicycle Paths. Transp Res Rec 1776(1), 220–228 (2001). doi:10.3141/1776-28
- 32. Twaddle, H., Grigoropoulos, G.: Modeling the speed, acceleration and deceleration of bicyclists for microscopic traffic simulation. Transp Res Rec(2587) (2016). doi:10.3141/2587-02

# Urban Interaction – Getting Vulnerable Road Users into Driving Simulation

19

Christian Lehsing and Ilja T. Feldstein

# 19.1 Motivation and Goals – The Situation in 2012

Despite the increase of population by 4% registered-vehicles by 15% between 2007 and 2010, the number of road-traffic fatalities worldwide remained about the same at 1.24 million per year [1]. The stagnation of this still remarkable high number suggests that efforts being put into developing road safety measures are actually taking effect and preventing a higher number of road incidents and deaths. Furthermore, the rapid development of novel driver assistance systems, the rising implementation of intelligent traffic infrastructure, and the demographic change worldwide as well as individual performance abilities have had a remarkable effect on driving behaviour and habits. Hence, the classical regularities and models used for traffic research need to be updated. Actual driver and traffic models have a limited capacity to sufficiently illustrate the aforementioned aspects. Only the road users' reactive behaviour can be taken into consideration; the intervention of assistance systems, an increased amount of information, and the interaction or mutual behaviour adaption of partially assisted traffic participants remain unconsidered. This pushes simulation environments currently being used (driving and traffic simulation) to their limits. Performing efficacy- and safety-tests on future driving assistance or information systems in virtual environments under these conditions is more than questionable, especially in terms of validity. Testing new applications or systems in reality with dummies is costly and time consuming but will be necessary in the future. The interaction between the involved road users is also missing. Moreover, the performance of huge traffic data collections is associated with an immense planning and cost effort. The demand for an effective, efficient tool that supports the activities mentioned is therefore given [2].

C. Lehsing (🖾) · I. T. Feldstein

Chair of Ergonomics, Technical University of Munich Munich, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_19

## 19.2 Social Interaction at a Glance

Humans adapt their behaviour towards each other in their various everyday roles – they interact. This is sometimes useful to achieve one's goals and under special circumstances is purely necessary to survive. The latter aspect is a feature of the traffic system, where human beings occupy one or more roles depending on the type of road user. Independently of this, the behaviour adaptation process (Fig. 19.1) consists mainly of interpreting:

- the environmental context,
- surrounding traffic, and
- responses to one's own behaviour [3].

One's behaviour is adapted as needed after interpreting the behaviour of other road users with whom one may come into contact while claiming the same infrastructure (e. g. road segment). This is supported by verbal or nonverbal communication, or both where applicable. Gestures, mimic, body posture, walking/driving speed, and auditive or visual signals serve as communication instruments and hints during encounters between human road users, for whom nonverbal communication plays a significant role [4, 5]. A system of common understanding is necessary to enable the mutual stimulus reaction scheme among them and to ensure an externally visible adaption of the participants' planned actions [6–8]. The common goal of interaction is behaviour coordination.

In driving simulators, various data can be recorded that allows a detailed analysis of the coordination procedure. Velocity, acceleration, position, and use of the horn or blinkers represent just some of this data. This data, together with sophisticated analysis methods and the underlying social-interaction theory introduced, forms the basis for investigations into interaction during multi-participant simulations. In particular, behaviour between cars and pedestrians and its quantification will be described in detail. Linear and nonlinear approaches are taken to analyse the "behavioural ping pong" unfolding between road users who meet in the same simulation. These analyses will help to understand processes occur-



Fig. 19.1 Cooperation scheme. (Based on [3])

ring in traffic that might lead to critical situations and to identify the role of good or poor interaction/cooperation.

#### 19.3 Pedestrian Simulators – A Global but Divergent Approach

For over 40 years now, traffic researchers have been putting effort into the investigation of pedestrian behaviour, often focusing on children and the elderly. They were mostly restricted to observational studies or accident-report analyses because experiments in real life that assured the participants' safety were difficult to set up and to conduct. For instance, researchers in the UK used the so-called "pretend road method" to investigate children's road-crossing behaviour [8–10]. Under this method, participants are placed in front of an artificial street parallel to an actual one (Fig. 19.2). The participants are then asked to cross the artificial street basing their decisions on the real street's car movements.

With the progress of technology, more and more possibilities in terms of virtual reality (VR) simulators are appearing and opening up new avenues for researchers. Most of these devices – often referred to as pedestrian simulators – can be classified into cave automatic virtual environment (CAVE) setups and head-mounted display (HMD) setups.

The French research institute IFSTTAR presented one of the first CAVE-based pedestrian simulators in 2003 and it has been constantly enhanced ever since [11, 12]. Other research institutes such as the Ben Gurion University of the Negev [13, 14], the University of Valenciennes [15], and the University of Iowa (Fig. 19.3; [16, 17]) followed suit.

Pedestrian simulators based on HMDs started emerging at about the same time as those based on CAVE technology. Among the first, Simpson et al. [18] presented a working setup about one and a half decades ago. Although the HMD used was capable of producing a stereoscopic image, the researchers initially displayed the same full-color image with a resolution of  $640 \times 480$  for each eye. As the entertainment industry entered the market for HMDs, great technological leaps were achieved with new, more powerful devices being released almost every year now. New HMD-based pedestrian simulators such as those at







Fig. 19.3 Pedestrian virtual environment at the University of Iowa [16]

the University of Guelph [19] or the Technical University of Munich [20] therefore began to appear during the past few years. The latter will be described thoroughly in the next section.

It should also be mentioned that some research institutes developed small-scale, lessimmersive but more transportable setups displaying visual output on several screens [21].

# 19.4 Implementing the VRU – The UR:BAN Approach

The following section describes the components of the pedestrian simulator setup realised at the Technical University of Munich (Fig. 19.4).

# 19.4.1 Virtual Environment

The Silab software framework, which the Würzburg Institute of Traffic Sciences originally developed as driving simulator software, was chosen to represent the virtual environment. Software modifications were thus needed to implement a steerable human avatar in the virtual environment. This software was chosen because the university's driving simulators also use Silab. Connecting multiple simulators enables various road users to meet in the same virtual session thereby creating new possibilities for interaction investigations [22].

**Fig. 19.4** Simplified concept of the current pedestrian simulator setup at the Technical University of Munich. (1) Motion suit, (2) Headmounted display, (3) Headphones, (4) Motion capture system, (5) Dynamic cable mount, (6) Data processing and data control center



## 19.4.2 Motion Capture

A Vicon motion capture system was implemented and combined with a motion suit developed ad hoc to transfer the user's body movements and body language to the avatar in the virtual environment. The motion suit (Fig. 19.5) is a full body suit made of highly stretchable tissue and equipped with 39 infrared LED markers emitting 850 nm light through diffusers. These active markers ensure better tracking quality than the passive-reflective markers that Vicon provided. The motion-capture system uses trigonometric algorithms to recalculate each marker's exact 3D position followed by the creation of a human model according to the Vicon Plug-In-Gait model. The body segments' positions and orientations are transferred to Silab, which implements them in its avatar.

# 19.4.3 Visual Interface

The visual feedback for the user was realised using an HMD, initially the Oculus Rift Development Kit (DK) but later the successor model, Development Kit 2 (DK2). The device enables stereoscopic perception of the virtual environment with a resolution of  $960 \times 1080$  per eye. Silab renders a different image for each eye, taking the distance in between the eyes into account and thereby enabling a realistic 3D view. With a field of view (FOV) of about  $100^{\circ}$  diagonally, the Oculus Rift DK2 is not far removed from human binocular vision, which is about  $114^{\circ}$  horizontally according to Howard [23]. The human horizontal far-peripheral vision, however, extends up to  $200^{\circ}$  [24] and cannot be accommodated

**Fig. 19.5** Pedestrian simulator at the Technical University of Munich



using this head-mounted display. This needs to be taken into account when creating an experimental design to answer specific research questions.

# 19.4.4 Acoustic Interface

Acoustic perception is important for pedestrians in road crossing scenarios. Specifically in cases where vehicles are approaching from various sides, proper 3D sound perception of those vehicles helps the pedestrian to orient himself during his crossing task. However, implementing such an acoustic component is fairly challenging because an extensive sound library is needed covering different types of ambient sounds and specific objects' sounds such as a large variety of tire, engine, and airstream noises. These object sounds need to be adaptable depending on the object's position, velocity, and direction within the virtual environment as well as on the pedestrian's relative position and orientation with respect to the specific object. For this, a performant sound engine was implemented mixing basic sounds to generate realistic 3D stereo sounds. To isolate the user from the laboratory's noises, headphones were chosen over loudspeakers. This adds another difficulty as the headphones move together with the user's head and these tracked movements are used to constantly recalculate the representation of the acoustic environment in real-time.

#### 19.4.5 Boundary Warning System

Since the virtual environment possess no boundaries except for those of the laboratory itself, the user must be prevented from colliding with walls and other objects in real life, which cannot be seen due to the HMD. A three stage boundary warning system was therefore implemented haptically, visually, and acoustically forewarning the user of imminent collisions. Software, to which information about authorized walking space is input, triggers the alert indicating the direction of the boundary that the user is approaching. The user wears a belt around the waist equipped with several vibrating motors that are activated in direction of the boundary. If the user continues walking in the direction of the boundary, a virtual fence appears visually in the virtual environment. If the user also ignores this warning, a 3D warning sound is added.

### 19.4.6 Dynamic Cable Mount

Data between the user and the control center is exchanged through cables. The control center transfers the visual and acoustic images to the HMD and the headphones, whereas the HMD sends motion data about the user's head captured by the integrated inertial-measurement units to the control center. Cables are necessary as a wireless transmission of that data volume is hardly realizable with acceptable latency at the current state of technology. The HDMI cable and the USB cable longer than 5 meters should be connected to amplifiers. Installing a cable mount above the laboratory's action space is advised to avoid interfering with the user. The cable amount should be dynamic and actively follow the user's movements. If the cable mount is dragged passively only, its inertia will create a drag on the HMD and therefore the user's head when accelerating or decelerating.

## 19.5 The Multiple-Simulator Setting – Enabling Social Interaction

Driving simulators have been used for decades to conduct studies under safe, standardised, repeatable conditions focusing on the driver's behaviour in certain scenarios and situations. These conditions highlight some of the advantages associated with the use of simulators in traffic research. In contrast, one of the main criticisms is the validity of the data gathered during the classical drive through an artificial environment with programmed, surrounding traffic. These surrounding road users obey traffic rules and engage in the scripted behaviour needed to produce the traffic constellation in which the researcher is interested. This worked well for highway scenarios with uniform traffic flow where interaction between drivers is seldom, but traffic in cities is different. Transient situations, heterogeneous participants, dynamic change of conditions, information overflow, and vital behaviour adaptations are just a few aspects characterizing urban traffic.



Fig. 19.6 Possible constellation of linked simulators

To conduct investigations that deal with traffic in urban areas, research has to enable the natural processes involved. One of these processes is the social interaction mentioned between traffic participants intended to coordinate behaviour and reduce the risk of accidents or worse. Therefore, the classical approach where one participant in one driving simulator is surrounded by programmed traffic that is only able to act within the limits of its script is insufficient. In the UR:BAN project, it is assumed that linking two or more simulators (Fig. 19.6) opens communication channels that allow behaviour adaption of the simulation participants. Depending on the research question, it is possible to link several driving simulators or a driving simulator to a pedestrian simulator as well as to a truck simulator or that of a powered two-wheeler.

These constellations allow deeper insight into the mutual reaction scheme that road user exhibit while they adapt to the situation, environment, and surrounding traffic.

Besides the advantages mentioned, some aspects of running an experiment with two or more participants need to be considered (see Chap. 23):

- Two or more simulators need to be synchronised.
- Participant supervision takes more time than it does in single-simulator studies.
- Test tracks containing the situations of interest might be more complex.
- Synchronizing participants in the simulation to build "interactive" situations is sometimes more complex.

# 19.6 Interaction in Numbers – A Methodological Overview

One of the goals in the "Simulation and Behaviour Modelling" subproject was to find tools and methods that on the one hand can enable human interaction in the synthetic environment of a driving simulation and on the other hand are apt to express this special interhuman process in numbers. This quantification should foster investigation into the basic patterns of human-related issues of urban traffic. This chapter introduces and summarizes promising classical and new approaches to data analysis such as safety measures, and linear and nonlinear analyses.

All these methods use the speed signals of the driver and the pedestrian in different urban encounters. It is assumed that the adaption of each individual's behaviour can be best detected via these signals.

The driver in a representative study encountered two types of pedestrians (programmed/bot vs. human-controlled) in three varying types of crossings (free lane vs. occlusion vs. zebra crossing). These independent variables served as a starting point for the following analysis of dependent variables such as time to arrival (TTA), decelerationto-safety time (DST), braking pressure, and average speed.

#### 19.6.1 Safety Measures

The classical way of analyzing human behaviour in traffic is to look at fundamental metrics such as speed, distance, and brake-reaction time or similar – all related to trafficconflict severity. Further metrics can be computed based on this data, which the driving simulation software itself can easily record. The TTA (similar to time to collision (TTC) but intended for road-user trajectories that might intersect) employs both road users' speed and the distance at the moment of the driver's first brake reaction to calculate the time that the driver would need to reach the street segment that the pedestrian would also occupy if the driver had not braked. The DST, which is the driver's deceleration necessary to achieve a preselected safety time (time at which the pedestrian crossing zone is crossed after the pedestrian has crossed). Furthermore, braking pressure can reveal some information about the unexpectedness of crossing events (e. g. occlusion situations) [25, 26].

The differences in the yielding behaviour become obvious in the figure above (Fig. 19.7). The TTA's mean value varies remarkably in situations where the driver has the right of way and the pedestrian tries to cross the street with a focus on safe crossing. Whereas in the situation with zebra crossing, the driver behaves more uniformly, independently of the type of crossing pedestrian. This might result from the reversed right of way in this situation [27].



Fig. 19.7 Time to arrival in three different driver-pedestrian encounters

## 19.6.2 Time Series Analysis

As stated in Sect. 19.2, interaction takes time and is therefore a time-related construct. The safety measures mentioned in Sect. 19.6.1 account poorly for this and other methods need to be applied to consider the timing aspect of the driving data. A linear approach to this can be found in time series analysis and especially in the cross-correlation approach where similarities between two time-based signals (here speed signals) are calculated [28]. Both signals are time shifted against each other to find the maximum correlation between them. The following figures show examples of human-human and human-bot encounters in the free-lane situation.



Fig. 19.8 Time series analysis for situation with programmed pedestrian

Fig. 19.9 Time series analysis for situation with human controlled pedestrian



Fig. 19.10 Bar chart for cross correlation coefficients (a) and related time lags (b)

The diagrams show the speed signals of the car (upper graph) and the pedestrian (middle graph) and the resulting cross correlation curve (bottom graph; cross correlation coefficient over time lag k). The different speed behaviours of the two pedestrian types are clearly visible. In the situations with the programmed pedestrians (Fig. 19.8), only the driver could react whereas in the situations involving two humans (Fig. 19.9), both were able to adapt their behaviour cooperatively resulting in a fuzzier graph for the cross correlation coefficient. Another representation of time series analysis is shown in Figs. 19.10 and 19.11. Here, the maximum cross correlation coefficient with the necessary time shift (lag k) is displayed. The time shift of the signals is assumed to be the time the lagging time series needs to answer the behaviour of the leading time series and is therefore called time to react (TTR). In case of a negative TTR, the programmed pedestrian (bot) is the leading time series and in case of positive TTR the driver leads the behaviour adaption process in urban encounters.

Using cross correlation to analyse the signals shows conclusive results by means of the presented metrics. The TTR can detect differences in the type of crossing pedestrian as well as the cross correlation coefficient. The disparity can be visually supported by the given graphs [22].

## 19.6.3 Nonlinear Analysis of Driving Data

Within the scope of nonlinear approaches to quantifying and visualizing behaviour, the method of cross recurrence plots (CRPs) and subsequent analysis of these plots using cross recurrence quantification analysis (CRQA) show high potential supporting research on interaction in traffic.

The method, first established in 1987 was used to describe dynamic systems [29]. Climate and financial researchers applied it successfully (e.g. [30]) and recent approaches used it to describe behaviour in other disciplines such as traffic [31] or aviation [32]. In the UR:BAN experiments described here, the behaviour between a driver and a pedestrian


Fig. 19.11 Examples of cross recurrence plots

was of interest. Their speed and acceleration signals were analysed to reveal underlying processes that are related to interaction. The CRPs were able to distinguish between a programmed and a human-controlled pedestrian. The latter was able to interact with the car via speed reduction or vice versa. The following are two typical plots based on the aforementioned signals. The left plot visualises the encounter between the driver and a programmed vulnerable road user (VRU) and the right the human-human encounter (Fig. 19.11, axis indicate duration of encounter in ms).

Using CRQA, the structures and textures in these plots can be quantified and the behaviour of the (car-pedestrian) system can therefore be described (Figs. 19.12, 19.13 and 19.14).



Fig. 19.12 Measure "determinism" of cross recurrence quantification analysis

Several complexity measures have been developed in the recent years, some of which are:

- *recurrence rate (RR)*: Counts the number of black dots in a CRP and is therefore a density measure for these points (and corresponds to the probability of recurrence states);
- *determinism (DET)*: Also predictability; takes diagonal lines into account and calculates the ratio of diagonally arranged points to all recurrence points in a CRP;
- *average diagonal line length (L)*: The diagonally arranged structures in a CRP represent the time intervals during which different parts of a trajectory are close to one another and thus describe the divergence of the trajectory segments in the phase space; and



Fig. 19.13 Measure "average diagonal line length" of cross recurrence quantification analysis



Fig. 19.14 Measure "entropy" of cross recurrence quantification analysis

• *entropy (ENT)*: Informs about deterministic structures and their complexity and is related to the Shannon entropy concerning the diagonal-line-length frequency distribution; can be computed for black and white area [33].

Applying CRQA to the plots, the following results show that the analysis is sensitive to differences in the constellation of road users.

These are just a few examples of measures. Not all have shown sufficient results and further analyses has to be performed to generalize the outcomes of the described experiments. Appropriate filtering of the data before applying CRQA is another aspect that has to be taken into account when looking at the underlying data of the signals.

## **19.7** Conclusions and Outlook

The goal of the activities in the Simulation subproject was the coupling of various simulators to enable social interaction in synthetic environments such as driving simulations. Detailed analyses with classical and novel methods has shown that it is possible to induce different behaviour when the experimental setting features two instead of one simulator and a human controls the surrounding traffic. Nevertheless, effort increases when the research question calls for multi-participant settings and two or more humans to meet in the same traffic scenario and react to each other. The gathered data seems to be more valid (compare [22] and [27]), but further analyses and especially comparison with naturalistic driving data would positively support the endeavors undertaken in the UR:BAN initiative. Ecological validity is a central aspect when it comes to the robustness of simulation data and the subproject Simulation tackled these issues with new technical and methodological approaches that seem promising.

For the future, the amount of technical equipment in the motion lab (which brings the pedestrian into the simulation) will be reduced and the calibration process simplified. Further investigations with driver-pedestrian encounters are planned, especially in the context of automated driving where the technological solutions of recent years open a new chapter in the pedestrian-driver conflict in urban areas. This constellation challenges the developers of the algorithms for environmental understanding of self-driving cars (independently from the level of automation) in unsuspected ways.

## References

- 1. World Health Organization: Global status report on road safety 2013: supporting a decade of action. World Health Organization. Geneve, Switzerland (2013)
- 2. UR:BAN: Human Factors in Traffic Simulation (2012). http://urban-online.org/en/human-factors-in-traffic/simulation/index.html

- Juhlin, O.: Traffic behaviour as social interaction-implications for the design of artificial drivers. In Proceedings of the 6th World Congress on Intelligent Transport Systems (ITS), Toronto, Canada (1999)
- 4. Köck, P., Ott, H.: Wörterbuch für Erziehung und Unterricht. Donauwörth: Verlag Ludwig Auer (1997)
- 5. Forgas, J.P.: Soziale Interaktion und Kommunikation. Psychologie Verlags Union (1995)
- 6. Fritz, J.: Interaktionspädagogik. München: Verlag Juventa (1975)
- 7. Clauß, G.: Wörterbuch der Psychologie. Köln: Verlag Pahl-Rugenstein (1976)
- Minsel, B., Roth, W.: Soziale Interaktion in der Schule. M
  ünchen: Verlag Urban & Schwarzenberg (1978)
- Demetre, J.D., Lee, D.N., Pitcairn, T.K., Grieve, R., Thomson, J.A., Ampofo-Boateng, K.: Errors in young children's decisions about traffic gaps: Experiments with roadside simulations. British Journal of Psychology 83, 189–202 (1992)
- Demetre, J.D., Lee, D.N., Grieve, R., Pitcairn, T.K., Ampofo-Boateng, K., Thomson, J.A.: Young children's learning on road-crossing simulations. British Journal of Educational Psychology 63(2), 349–359 (1993)
- Lee, J.Y., Lam, W.H., Wong, S.C.: Pedestrian simulation model for Hong Kong underground stations. In Proceedings of the 4th IEEE Intelligent Transportation Systems Conference, Oakland, CA, USA (2001)
- 12. Lobjois, R., Cavallo, V.: The effects of aging on road crossing behavior: from estimation to actual crossing. Accident Analysis and Prevention **41**, 259–267 (2009).
- Lobjois, R., Cavallo, V.: Age-related Differences in Street Crossing Decisions: The Effects of Vehicle Speed and Time Constraint on Gap Selection in an Estimation Task. Accident Analysis and Prevention 39, 934–943 (2007)
- Meir, A., Oron-Gilad, T., Parmet, Y.: Are child-pedestrians able to identify hazardous traffic situations? Measuring their abilities in a virtual reality environment. Safety Science 80, 33–40 (2015)
- Meir, A., Parmet, Y., Oron-Gilad, T.: Towards understanding child-pedestrians' hazard perception abilities in a mixed reality dynamic environment. Transportation Research Part F 20, 90– 107 (2013)
- Delzenne, J.: La traversée de rue chez le piéton sénior: conception d'un simulateur, étude biomécanique et comportementale. Doctoral dissertation, Université de Valenciennes et du Hainaut-Cambresis (2013)
- Rahimian, P., O'Neal, E.E., Yon, J.P., Franzen, L., Jiang, Y., Plumert, J.M., Kearney, J.K.: Using a virtual environment to study the impact of sending traffic alerts to texting pedestrians. In Virtual Reality (VR), 2016 IEEE (pp. 141–149). IEEE (2016)
- Jiang, Y., Rahimian, P., O'Neal, E.E., Plumert, J.M., Yon, J.P., Kearney, J.K., Franzen, L.: Acting together: Joint pedestrian road crossing in an immersive virtual environment. In Virtual Reality (VR), 2016 IEEE (pp. 193–194). IEEE (2016)
- Simpson, G., Johnston, L., Richardson, M.: An investigation of road crossing in a virtual environment. Accident Analysis and Prevention 35, 787–796 (2003)
- Morrongiello, B.A., Corbett, M., Milanovic, M., Pyne, S.: Innovations in using virtual reality to study how children cross streets in traffic: evidence for evasive action skills. Injury Prevention 21, 266–270 (2015)
- Feldstein, I., Dietrich, A., Milinkovic, S., Bengler, K.: A Pedestrian Simulator for Urban Crossing Scenarios. In Proceedings of the 13th IFAC/IFIP/IFORS/IEA Symposium on Analysis, Design, and Evaluation of Human-Machine Systems, Kyoto, Japan (2016)
- 22. Schwebel, D.C., Gaines, J., Severson, J.: Validation of virtual reality as a tool to understand and prevent child pedestrian injury. Accident Analysis & Prevention **40**(4), 1394–1400 (2008)

- Lehsing, C., Kracke, A., Bengler, K.: Urban Perception A Cross Correlation Approach Towards the Quantification of Social Interaction in a Multiple Simulator Setting, In Proceedings of the 18th IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, Gran Canary, Spain (2015)
- 24. Howard, I.P.: Binocular vision and stereopsis. Oxford University Press (1995)
- 25. Harrington, D.O.: The visual fields: a textbook and atlas of clinical perimetry. St. Louis: Mosby (1971)
- 26. Green, M.: How Long Does It Take to Stop? Methodological Analysis of Driver Perception-Brake Times. Transportation human factors **2**(3), 195–216 (2000)
- Summala, H.: Brake reaction times and driver behavior analysis. Transportation Human Factors 2(3), 217–226 (2000)
- Lehsing, C., Benz, T., Bengler, K.: Insights into Interaction Effects of Human-Human Interaction in Pedestrian Crossing Situations using a linked Simulator Environment, In Proceedings of the 13th IFAC/IFIP/IFORS/IEA Symposium on Analysis, Design, and Evaluation of Human-Machine Systems, Kyoto, Japan (2016)
- Yanovitzky, I., vanLear, A.: Time Series Analysis: Traditional and Contemporary Approaches, In: Hayes, A.F., Slater, M.D. and Snyder, L.B. (eds.). The Sage sourcebook of advanced data analysis methods for communication research. Los Angeles: Sage Publications (2008)
- Eckmann, J.P., Kamphorst, S.O., Ruelle, D.: Recurrence plots of dynamical systems. EPL (Europhysics Letters) 4(9), 973 (1987)
- 31. Marwan, N.: Encounters With Neighbours. Current Developments of Concepts Based on Recurrence Plots and Their Applications, Dissertation, Universität Potsdam (2003)
- 32. Lehsing, C., Fleischer, M., Bengler, K.: On the Track of Social Interaction A Non-Linear Quantification Approach in Traffic Conflict Research, In Proceedings of the 19th IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil (2016)
- 33. Gontar, P., Mulligan, J.B.: Cross Recurrence Analysis as a Measure of Pilots' Visual Behaviour. In Droog, A., Schwarz, M., Schmidt, R. (eds.), In Proceedings of the 32nd Conference of the European Association for Aviation Psychology. Groningen, NL (2016)
- Marwan, N., Facchini, A., Thiel, M., Zbilut, J.P., Kantz, H.: 20 Years of Recurrence Plots: Perspectives for a Multi-purpose Tool of Nonlinear Data Analysis, European Physical Journal – Special Topics 164(1), 1–2 (2008)

# Encounters Between Drivers with and Without Cooperative Intelligent Transport Systems 20

Katharina Preuk, Mandy Dotzauer, Frank Köster, and Meike Jipp

## 20.1 Cooperative Intelligent Transport Systems

Cooperative intelligent transport systems (C-ITS) appear to be a promising solution to increase road traffic safety in urban areas as today the vast majority of persons lives in urban areas or visits them frequently. In consequence, traffic increases and so do chances of fatalities and traffic congestion [1]. In Germany, the percentage of persons killed in urban areas increased by 5% from 2013 to 2014 [2]. Initiatives such as UR:BAN have formed focusing on the development of C-ITS in urban areas counteracting these issues [3]. Especially, traffic light-controlled intersections came into the focus of research. Traffic lights regulate traffic in complex intersections where different kinds of road users meet and interact. However, studies have shown that traffic lights trigger stop-and-go driving that is associated with increased fuel consumption,  $CO_2$  emissions, congestion and driver frustration [4, 5]. Additionally, the switching of traffic light signals is difficult to anticipate. The inability to predict the switching is associated with a high degree of drivers' uncertainty, anxiety and increased workload [6–8]. Especially the so-called dilemma zone appears problematic while approaching traffic lights. Drivers may be too close to the intersection for stopping safely, but also too far away for passing through. An increased number of crashes has been reported in such zones. In addition, drivers' workload appears to be higher [9-11]. Another difficult situation at signalised intersection is the start-up at the onset of green. Drivers need some time to react to signal changes. This time is called startup lost time. Especially in large urban cities, effects of start-up lost times are significant.

K. Preuk (🖂) · M. Dotzauer · M. Jipp

F. Köster

Institute of Transportation Systems - Head of Sector Automotive Systems, German Aerospace Center

Brunswick, Germany

© Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_20

Institute of Transportation Systems - Division Human Factors, German Aerospace Center Brunswick, Germany

Drivers often experience traffic jams, lose attention to signal changes and miss the onset of the green phase respectively. Consequently, traffic flow deteriorates at the signalised intersections [12].

Traffic light assistance systems can support drivers in these situations. Such systems can be understood as an umbrella term for various kinds of C-ITS applications for signalised intersections. Their development was the goal of several research projects such as eCoMove, INTERSAFE or UR:BAN focusing on different aspects such as traffic flow optimisation, eco driving or road traffic safety [13, 14]. Traffic light assistance systems are based on information exchange via either wireless communication between vehicle and traffic light or mobile communication networks (i. e. smartphones). Vehicle-to-infrastructure communication is based on communication standards (e.g. ETSI G5, IEEE 802.11p). The traffic light sends its current and upcoming traffic light state to so-called road site units (RSU). Road site units can be part of the infrastructure bundling incoming information of traffic lights and other sensors. They transmit the bundled information to the vehicles overcoming a distance of up to 700 m in urban areas [15]. Through in-vehicle applications drivers receive this information. How information is presented to drivers varies. The simplest way is to inform drivers about the current and upcoming signal and when it will switch (Fig. 20.1). More complex in-vehicle applications provide recommendations of how to efficiently approach traffic lights. For example, in the European project eCoMove, Ford developed an eco-driving system. This eco-driving system recommended the most efficient driving behaviour in terms of acceleration, deceleration, and gear-shift realised by a visual display and a haptic force feedback pedal [14].

The start-up assistance system developed by Volkswagen in UR:BAN aimed at reducing the start-up lost time after signal change. When drivers follow the advice, they are able to cross the stop line with a higher speed at the moment the traffic light switches to green (Poppe & Kranke, personal communication, April 11, 2013). Therefore, drivers cross the stop line earlier, and in turn, following traffic is able to do so as well. Various studies



**Fig. 20.1** HMI draft of the currently developed urbanDRIVE at DLR. Drivers are advised to travel at a certain speed in order to cross the intersection on a green light [16]

have demonstrated the positive effects of traffic light assistance systems: More efficient driving behaviour and faster reactions to signal changes were found [14, 17]. Such systems have the potential to change the way we drive. C-ITS provide assisted drivers with information in anticipation of upcoming driving situations enabling more time and energy efficient driving. However, the penetration rate of such kind of systems will remain low for the next years. Nonetheless, the questions how such systems influence surrounding traffic should not remain unanswered.

## 20.2 Why Research Encounters Between Drivers with and Without C-ITS?

In 2013, the European Commission estimated an overall penetration rate of C-ITS of only 10% within the next two years, under the premises that all newly manufactured vehicles are equipped [18]. But as not all vehicles entering the market will be equipped with this technology, the percentage of the penetration rate may even be smaller than projected. Thus, only a minority will drive vehicles equipped with C-ITS. Drivers with an equipped vehicle will encounter unequipped vehicles' drivers (UVDs) most of the time. These UVDs will probably not be aware of C-ITS. However, UVDs may be affected by such systems. Different authors presume that drivers with C-ITS may show driving behaviour that may alter the encounters with UVDs [19–22]. Within the initiative ADVISORS, introducing adaptive cruise control (ACC), issues of encounters between drivers with and without systems were summarised based on results of six research projects [23]. One issue was that UVDs imitated the short following distances of equipped vehicles' drivers. In line with this result, Gouy (2013) found that UVDs' car-following behaviour was affected by automated vehicle platoons in neighbouring lanes [24]. It was found that UVDs also kept shorter headways when driving next to automated vehicle platoons with short headways. These studies show that behavioural adaptation of UVDs may be a consequence of encountering drivers with C-ITS. However, behavioural adaption of UVDs may have positive consequences: If UVDs adapt their driving behaviour to drivers with, for example, traffic light assistance system, they may also benefit from it. Consequently, the associated benefits of C-ITS may increase even without a high penetration rate. Katsaros (2011) calculated that in case of green light optimal speed advisory (GLOSA), a penetration rate of at least 50% is needed to find visible effects on fuel efficiency [25]. If UVDs imitate and adapt the behaviour of drivers with systems, significant benefits for the traffic flow and fuel efficiency may be found even with small penetration rates. This possible consequence of encounters between drivers with and without C-ITS has not been subject of research so far. Traffic simulation studies have considered different penetration rates of systems for calculating their benefits [26, 27]. However, most of the driver models in these traffic micro-simulations have constraints in terms of integrating human factors of driving [28, 29]. Thus, how UVDs may react to assisted driving behaviour of others and the consequences have not been evaluated properly.

First studies showed that drivers experiencing drivers with traffic light assistance systems feel bothered. Mühlbacher (2013) examined the influence of a traffic light assistance system on four drivers in a driving simulator study [30]. These four drivers were driving in a platoon approaching traffic lights. The penetration rate of traffic light assistance system was varied (0, 25, 50, 75 or 100% of the four drivers used a traffic light assistance system). Drivers were instructed to pull a lever when they felt irritated by the behaviour of the other drivers. It was found that with a penetration rate of 50%, drivers felt annoyed more often, especially in situations when they did not understand why drivers slowed down while approaching green traffic lights. In line with these results, Rittger, Muehlbacher, Maag and Kiesel (2015) found that UVDs felt more often irritated when drivers with systems were driving as lead vehicles in platoons and coasted for long distances in the approach to traffic lights [31]. UVDs may simply not expect or understand lower than usual speeds while approaching a green traffic light. However, understanding why others drive the way they do, is crucial for the individual driving behaviour. Drivers' behaviours and its regulation highly depends on what is anticipated of other drivers [32]. When drivers have difficulties understanding or expecting driving behaviour of others, two effects may arise: It is far more likely to perceive this driving behaviour as aversive and more difficult to adjust the driving behaviour accordingly. Frehse (2015) showed that understanding driving behaviour of others comes along with less anger, whereas not understanding the reason for, for example, a suddenly decelerating car in front increases anger [33]. The cognitive-motivational-relational theory of emotion explains why: When hindered in our goal (i.e. passing the traffic light within the green phase), we get frustrated [34]. Negative emotions, such as frustration, affect our intentions, cognition and behaviour. When being bothered, frustrated or irritated because of others, drivers tend to show more aggressive driving behaviour (e.g. tailgating, cutting off others; [35–37]). Moreover, when experiencing negative emotions, drivers are less likely to engage in adapting their driving behaviour (e.g. to assisted drivers; [38]). Drivers also tend to show unsafe driving behaviour, when having difficulties anticipating the behaviour of others. For example, most of the crashes at signalised intersections are attributed to deviating, not expected behaviour of other drivers [39]. The expected behaviour of others affects how appropriately and quickly drivers will react [40-46].

Thus, consequences of encounters between drivers with and without C-ITS may be, on the one hand, positive: UVDs may adapt their driving behaviour and show positive behavioural changes. Thus, benefits of such systems may be achieved even without a high penetration rate. However, on the other hand, encounters between drivers with and without C-ITS may also lead to safety-critical situations with UVDs. UVDs may also feel bothered by the behaviour of drivers with systems and react aggressively or less safely towards them. In turn, this might influence the acceptance of drivers with systems: Who would like to follow system recommendations when doing so leads to conflicts with others? Compliance with system recommendations, acceptance in general and willingness to use such kind of C-ITS may strongly depend on the experiences drivers with systems gain while encountering drivers without such systems. Thus, researchers and system developers should study these encounters more thoroughly in order to prevent safety and acceptance issues.

#### 20.3 How to Research Encounters Between Drivers

Above mentioned results (Sect. 20.2) of past research illustrate the necessity to further investigate encounters between drivers with and without C-ITS. Different methods and tools have been developed to study how drivers interact with each other. Their advantages and disadvantages are discussed in detail [47–49].

Encounters between drivers may be studied in on-road studies such as naturalistic driving studies (NDS) and field operational tests (FOT). A naturalistic driving study is a study method to observe driving behaviour in real traffic. Naturalistic driving studies allow investigating everyday driving of participants in their vehicles equipped with data recorder, sensors, and cameras. Encounters with other drivers are not obstructed or biased by the presence of experimenters, instructions or the use of an unfamiliar study vehicle. Field operational tests aim to study the interaction of drivers with C-ITS on the road. Usually, FOTs are more controlled compared to NDS. Nonetheless, the recorded driving behaviour of participants is realistic and representative. Consequently, results of on-road studies (NDS and FOT) offer high external validity (i.e. degree to which study results can be generalised). However, they lack internal validity (i.e. degree to which study results can be attributed to manipulated factors and not to other confounding variables) as driving situations are not controlled. Therefore, a certain degree of experimental control may be necessary. On the one hand, participants have to meet so that encounters can be studied. Using NDS or FOT, it is unlikely to create those encounters at all – not to mention repeatedly to obtain robust data. On the other hand, even if participants meet, encounters may be biased by other confounding variables that are not controlled. Test track studies may be a solution to realise encounters between participants in a more controlled setting on closed or dedicated test roads. Here instructed participants drive instrumented vehicles in the presence of experimenters. Due to moral issues, test track studies may only focus on non-critical encounters between drivers. Studying critical encounters, driver simulation studies may be the solution. Driving simulators are a valid tool to assess driving behaviour [50-52]. In terms of research questions addressing C-ITS, driving simulators may also be the most efficient tool. The C-ITS does not really need to be implemented, but rather simulated. The necessary communication architecture and infrastructure (i.e. equipped infrastructure or vehicles) is not needed, as well. Especially research in an early stage of development of C-ITS may be realised with the help of driving simulators.

In conventional driving simulator studies participants interacted with simulated drivers (e. g. [14]). The behaviour of these simulated drivers was modelled based on driver models. However, most of the driver models are unrealistic [53]. For example, most of the car-following models describe driving behaviour as a stimulus-response function in terms of driving behaviour: Following drivers regulate their driving behaviour in accordance to

the driving behaviour of leading vehicles. The Gazis-Herman-Rothery model (GHR), for instance, describes the acceleration behaviour of a following vehicle as proportional to the speed of a leading vehicle, their speed difference and headway [54]. The following driver reacts to even small changes in the relative speed even when the headway between these two vehicles is high. In contrast to this model, psycho-physical or action-point models such as the one proposed by Wiedemann and Reiter (1992) state that drivers only change their driving behaviour when certain thresholds are reached [55]. Although, the latter model integrated human factors characteristics such as safety needs and motivational factors, cognition in terms of emotions or of information processing is mostly neglected. Additionally, most of the existing driver models are not suitable for describing driving behaviour in more complex environments such as urban areas and in regard to safety research questions [29]. Hence, the human factors that may influence encounters between drivers with and without C-ITS in urban areas are neglected. However, such encounters may be studied replacing the simulated drivers with participants and coupling multiple driving simulators respectively. This concept of connected driving simulators had been realised in the MoSAIC (Modular Scalable Applications Platform for ITS Components) lab at the Institute of Transportation Systems at the German Aerospace Center (see Fig. 20.2).

In the MoSAIC simulation, multiple driving simulators are coupled. Thus, participants drive in the same virtual environment. However, the use of such a study method constitutes the need for a specifically tailored study methodology addressing the planning and conducting of the experiment as well as analysing data. Best-practices have addressed these issues [47–49]. In terms of planning studies, a major challenge is to design scenarios in a way that participants will actually meet. Another crucial point in terms of data



**Fig. 20.2** Connected driving simulation realised in the MOSAIC lab at the Institute of Transportation Systems in Braunschweig at the German Aerospace Center (DLR)

analysis is that parameters are needed quantifying these encounters. Parameters have been developed describing the longitudinal driving behaviour of a platoon of drivers [30]. The length of a platoon of drivers and its variation have been used to describe car-following behaviour. In addition, another new developed parameter is used to describe the position of each driver in the platoon in relation to the other drivers [49]. In order to quantify how well drivers match their own driving behaviour to others, traditional use of statistical inference analyses may not be suitable [56]. Using spectral analysis, co-occurring rhythmic changes in the trajectories, the so-called coherence, can be applied to measure the degree of behavioural adaptation of drivers in car-following situations [57]. As described above, experiments in connected driving simulators require a tailored methodology, but also provide a tool, especially in early stages of C-ITS development, to investigate the effects of C-ITS on the behaviour of UVDs.

## 20.4 Encountering Drivers with Traffic Light Assistance Systems: Overview of a Study

Investigating the effects of the above mentioned traffic light assistance system is a use case best examined in a connected driving simulation. Traffic light assistance systems have the potential to enhance traffic flow and decrease environmental impact. At the same time, the traffic light assistance system leads to unusual driving behaviour. So what happens when drivers with such systems encounter other drivers? In a recent study, the effects of the driving behaviour of one driver with traffic light assistance system on two naïve UVDs were examined [57–59].

Three drivers completed the experiment in the same virtual environment simultaneously. The participants drove in a car-following scenario in an urban area. The lead driver was a confederate. The confederate's vehicle was equipped with two functionalities of a traffic light assistance system: The start-up assistance system and GLOSA. The start-up assistance system was developed by Volkswagen within the project UR:BAN (Poppe & Kranke, personal communication, April 11, 2013). The assisted confederate began accelerating before a traffic light turned green. Hence, the assisted confederate crossed the stop line with a higher velocity at the moment the traffic light switched to green. As a result, the traffic flow at signalised intersections might be optimised, especially when surrounding traffic adapts this driving behaviour. However, higher velocity in the moment of stop line crossing was only possible when the assisted confederate stopped several meters before the stop line. The parametrisation of the start-up assistance system was varied. The assisted confederate stopped either 4 m (moderate parametrisation) or 10 m (extreme parametrisation) from the stop line. The other functionality of the traffic light assistance system, GLOSA, helps preventing unnecessary deceleration behaviour in the approach to a traffic light that switched its signal from red to green. With GLOSA, the assisted confederate showed a higher velocity in the approach to a red traffic light that switched its signal during the approach.

Per experimental trial, two participants (UVDs) followed the confederate and experienced the above described system functionalities. Altogether, thirty experimental trials were executed, and therefore data of 60 drivers (40 male, 20 female) between the ages of 20 and 78 years (M = 30.6, SD = 10.8) collected. The study followed a mixed design. One factor manipulated within participants was the confederate's equipment with the two levels "with" or "without" traffic light assistance system and its two functionalities (GLOSA and start-up assistance system). The other factor manipulated within participants was the number of intersections as UVDs repeatedly drove through signalised intersections. The parametrisation of the start-up assistance system was varied as a factor between participants and nested within "with" level of the factor confederate's equipment. The parametrisation was either moderate (4 m) or extreme (10 m). The position of the UVDs (either 1<sup>st</sup> or 2<sup>nd</sup> UVD) was randomly assigned and another factor manipulated between participants. The true purpose of the study was disguised: UVDs were told that the study aimed to investigate different driver types in urban areas. UVDs experienced the scenario with and without the confederate's equipment in a randomised order. After each scenario, a questionnaire on how UVDs rate the confederate's behaviour was given. At the end, a post-questionnaire with open-ended questions was administered to determine whether UVDs noticed the assisted driving behaviour of the confederate.

The results of the study showed that UVDs benefited from the assisted confederate: They approached traffic lights without showing unnecessary changes in velocity and crossed the stop line earlier after signal change [58, 60]. Spectral-analysis was used to evaluate how well UVDs adapted their driving behaviour to the assisted confederate. In regard to the start-up assistance system, it was found that with the moderate parametrisation, the UVDs adapted their driving behaviour to the assisted confederate. However, in the extreme parametrisation, UVDs adapted their driving behaviour only over time. Additionally, the length of the platoon varied more and the 1<sup>st</sup> UVD kept a greater distance to the assisted confederate [57]. The results also provided initial evidence that safety issues may arise when UVDs encounter assisted driving behaviour: When the assisted confederate showed the unusual deceleration behaviour in the approach to a traffic light due to the extreme parametrisation of the start-up assistance system, shorter minimal time-to-collision and one rear-end crash were found [59]. Additionally, the assisted driving behaviour was rated as aversive. In general, only few UVDs guessed that the assisted confederate must have had a traffic light assistance system [60].

## 20.5 Encounters Between Drivers with and Without C-ITS: Open Questions

The results show that C-ITS such as GLOSA or a start-up assistance system of assisted drivers affect surrounding traffic. Positive behavioural adaptation was observed as UVDs adapted the efficient driving behaviour of assisted drivers. However, safety issues were also found for the extreme parametrisation of the start-up assistance system. Therefore,

research should focus on three issues: (1) Taking UVDs into account when parametrising C-ITS, (2) understanding how behavioural adaptation of UVDs takes place and how positive behavioural changes of UVDs can be enhanced and (3) discussing whether informing UVDs may be a solution to enhance positive behavioural changes and reduce safety issues.

- (1) Future research should focus on taking UVDs into account when parametrising C-ITS. The system's parametrisation appears to play an important role in encounters between drivers with and without C-ITS [58, 59]. As the results of the presented study suggest, moderate parametrisation of the start-up assistance system appears to be less aversive than the extreme one, caused no safety issues with UVDs, and led to a benefit in the driving behaviour of UVDs. It might indicate that the degree of deviation of assisted from normal driving behaviour affects acceptance and safety: The greater the deviation, the more likely are safety and acceptance issues of encounters with UVDs [59]. Researchers and system developers should keep this in mind when parametrising C-ITS. It may be necessary to find a trade-off between the parametrisation that leads to the best results in terms of traffic flow and emission and the negative consequences of encounters with UVDs. For example, from a technical point of view, the communication between RSU and equipped vehicles can be realised 700 m before reaching a traffic light. However, it may lead to severe negative consequences when drivers with systems start slowing down 700 m before reaching the green traffic light. In terms of speed choice, Mühlbacher (2013) found that the minimal velocity of drivers with GLOSA approaching traffic lights should not be below 30 km/h or differ more than 17.5 km/h from the desired speed [30]. Future research should focus on finding the thresholds of system's parametrisation that are acceptable for drivers and in turn diminish the mentioned negative consequences.
- (2) Future research should focus on understanding how behavioural adaptation of UVDs takes place. Behavioural adaptation of UVDs may lead to positive effects such as UVDs adapting to the efficient driving behaviour of assisted drivers. To enhance these positive behavioural changes, the reasons why drivers adapt to others need to be clarified. Models and theories have been used to describe why drivers tend to change their driving behaviour when equipped with C-ITS. These models focus on negative behavioural changes of drivers as a response to system use. Motivational models such as the risk homeostasis theory state that behavioural adaptation of drivers with systems is a consequence of risk perception [61]. Drivers tend to be more careful when they perceive a driving situation as risky. But when feeling protected, for example, by antilock braking systems or airbags, drivers tend to behave riskier [62]. Additionally, trust models state that whether negative behavioural changes in driving behaviour occur depends on personality and the individual's level of trust, for example, in the assistance system [63, 64]. However, these models lack to explain why UVDs might adapt to the positive driving behaviour of drivers with systems. Social psychological models may be more suitable to explain positive behavioural changes

of UVDs to drivers with systems. These models focus on the influence of others on ones feelings or behaviour. For example, the extended theory of planned behaviour states that behaviour is shaped by what persons think others think of them (subjective norm), what one thinks is how others normally behave (normative norm) and what one actually experiences is how others behave in a specific situation (descriptive norm) [38, 65]. The descriptive norm may explain the speed choice of drivers in carfollowing situations: Drivers simply imitate the driving behaviour of the surrounding traffic [66, 67]. Whether this imitation of driving behaviour happens consciously needs to be researched. Motivational and trust models state that before drivers adapt their behaviour, they have to perceive, for example, the driving behaviour of drivers with systems and its benefit. Gouy (2013) also claimed that in order to research how UVDs adapt their driving behaviour to automated drivers, UVDs have to perceive and be conscious about the assisted driving behaviour [24]. If this is true, directing the attention of UVDs to assisted drivers may be necessary to study the mechanisms of why UVDs may adapt their driving behaviour. In the presented study, we found positive behavioural changes of UVDs, although most of them were not aware of the assisted confederate. Maybe behavioural adaptation occurs unconsciously as well. Skottke (2007) found that drivers adapt their current driving behaviour to their frame of reference (e.g. previous experienced driving situations or the environment) without noticing their behavioural changes [68]. This frame of reference might be a leading driver with C-ITS. Such kind of unconscious behavioural changes are discussed for driving behaviour requiring mostly perceptual-motor skills (e.g. fluent driving) [69]. Studies showed that leading drivers' acceleration patterns influence following drivers especially at signalised intersections [70]. However, that does not necessarily mean that positive behavioural adaptation may not be trigged top-down as well. Based on the SEEV model by Wickens (1992), top-down factors such as expectancy influence visual attention and perception [71]. The expectancy of encountering assisted driving behaviour and its value may be communicated to UVDs. These cues may be systematically addressed in future studies in order to extract factors affecting positive behavioural adaptation. Weller & Schlag (2004) also stated that behavioural adaptation depends on whether drivers perceive a benefit of it [72]. These assumptions are in line with the social learning theory [73]. Drivers observe consequences of the behaviour of others and tend to adapt this behaviour when the outcome adds positive value. Similar to that, Saad (2004) states that the readability of the driving behaviour of drivers with systems (i.e. how well UVDs understand assisted driving behaviour) might be a crucial factor influencing UVDs [22]. So, when the behaviour of drivers with systems and its positive consequences are salient and comprehensible for UVDs – will they adapt their behaviour? Future research should focus on this question to enhance positive behavioural changes of UVDs. Based on these results, it may be implicated whether and how UVDs be informed about the equipment of drivers with C-ITS.

(3) Moreover, informing UVDs about the equipment of assisted drivers may prevent safety-related issues such as these presented in Sect. 20.4. Drivers tend to react faster and more appropriately when the actions of others, such as slowing down, can be anticipated. Participants driving vehicles with GLOSA in a driving simulator study also suggested in forming surrounding traffic about their equipment [31]. They felt that they were bothering UVDs when they followed the system's recommendations. The study results also show another issue in terms of encounters between drivers with and without C-ITS: To what degree does the low penetration rate of C-ITS influence drivers with systems? To what extent do UVDs affect drivers with system? Two outcomes are thinkable. First, when drivers with systems experience or fear to experience issues with UVDs, their initial acceptance of the system may deteriorate. A field operational test administered in the Drive Car-2-X-project showed that drivers with GLOSA were worried that their driving behaviour may frustrate surrounding UVDs [74]. Otto (2011) found that drivers with GLOSA only followed system's recommendations when the recommended approach speed to a traffic light was greater than 20 km/h [75]. Second, drivers with systems may also not accept the technology because of missing communication partners: Drivers may not experience the benefit of their systems very often [49, 76]. However, the perceived benefit of a system is crucial for the overall acceptance and compliance [77]. Therefore, it seems system developers and researchers need to identify countermeasures to minimise or even prevent effects UVDs may have on drivers with systems and vice versa [58, 59]. However, research results have not yet confirmed that informing UVDs decreases the likelihood of safety and acceptance issues. If that is the case, it also needs to be investigated how information should be presented to UVDs. In the study of Rittger et al. (2015), participants proposed that stickers on the back of equipped vehicles may help understanding the behaviour of drivers with systems [31]. However, visual applications on equipped vehicles need to be designed in a way that UVDs intuitively understand the message. Otherwise, these applications may distract or irritate UVDs leading to an increased likelihood of safety and acceptance issues. Light signals have also been proposed for communicating drivers' intentions and behaviour [78]. In some cases of C-ITS, equipped vehicles may send light signals to communicate their driving behaviour and intentions respectively.

In conclusion, studies have given first insights in what happens when drivers with C-ITS encounter drivers without such systems. Results show that those systems affect the behaviour of UVDs. Safety-and acceptance-related issues have been identified, but the extent cannot be forecasted as wished. Questions of how, why, when these issues occur and how to counteract those remain unanswered. Their answers, however, are necessary for a successful deployment, in terms of road traffic safety, of C-ITS.

## References

- 1. Avenoso, A.: ITS / Co-operative systems for smart and safe urban mobility. Proceedings of the European Road Safety Day (2014)
- 2. Statistisches Bundesamt: Verkehrsunfälle 2014 (2016)
- Manstetten, D., Bengler, K., Busch, F.: UR:BAN MV a German project focusing on human factors to increase traffic safety in urban areas. Proceedings of 20th ITS World Congress (2013)
- Baldessari, R., Bödekker, B., Deegener, M.: CAR 2 CAR Communication Consortium Manifesto (2007)
- 5. Koonce, P., Rodergerdts, L., Lee, K.: Signal Timing Manual. U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration (2008)
- 6. Kaul, R., Baumann, M.: Cognitive load while approaching signalized intersections measured by pupil dilation. Proceedings of the 55. Tagung experimentell arbeitender Psychologen (2013)
- Rakha, H., El-Shawarby, I., Setti, J.R.: Characterizing Driver Behavior on Signalized Intersection Approaches at the Onset of a Yellow-Phase Trigger. Intell Transportation Syst IEEE 8(4), 630–640 (2007)
- 8. Gazis, D., Herman, R., Maradudint, A.: The problem of the amber signal light in traffic flow. Oper Res 8(1), 112–132 (1959)
- 9. Harms, L.: Variation in drivers' cognitive load. Effects of driving through village areas and rural junctions. Ergonomics **34**(2), 151–160 (1991)
- Knodler, J.M.A., Hurwitz, D.S.: Final Report: An Evaluation of Dilemma Zone Protection Practices for Signalized Intersection Control. University of Massachusetts Transportation Center, Amherst, MA (2009)
- Rataj, J., Vollrath, M.: What is difficult at intersections? Proceedings of the ITS World Conference 2006, 13th World Congress and Exhibition on Intelligent Transport Systems and Services (2006)
- Limanond, T., Prabjabok, P., Tippayawong, K.: Exploring impacts of countdown timers on traffic operations and driver behavior at a signalized intersection in Bangkok. Transp Policy (Oxf) 17(6), 420–427 (2010)
- Fuerstenberg, K.C.: A New European Approach for Intersection Safety The EC-Project IN-TERSAFE. Intell Transportation Syst IEEE, 432–436 (2005)
- Staubach, M., Schebitz, N., Köster, F., Kuck, D.: Evaluation of an eco-driving support system. Transportation Res Part F: Traffic Psychol Behav 27, 11–21 (2014)
- Frankiewicz, T., Möckel, M., Köster, F.: Measurement and Evaluation of Communication parameters on a Vehicle-to-Infrastructure Communication Test Site. Proceedings of the International Conference on Connected Vehicles and Expo (ICCVE) (2014)
- Kettwich, C., Haus, R., Temme, G., Schieben, A.: Validation of a HMI concept indicating the Status of the traffic light signal in the Context of automated driving in urban environment. Proceedings of IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (2016)
- 17. Thoma, S., Lindberg, T., Klinker, G.: Speed Recommendations During Traffic Light Approach: A Comparison of Different Display Concepts. Proceedings of the human factors and ergonomics society europe chapter annual meeting (2007)
- Proskawetz, K.O., Klug, S., Beckert, B.: Smart Cities and Communities Key to Innovation Integrated Solution – Cooperative Intelligent Transport Systems and Services (C-ITS) (2013)
- Chauvin, C., Saad, F.: Interaction and communication in dynamic control tasks: ship handling and car driving. Proceedings of the International Conference on Traffic and Transport Psychology (2000)
- 20. Houtenbos, M.: Expecting the unexpected. University of Technology, Delft (2008)

- 21. Kulmala, R., Rämä, P., Sihvola, N.: Safety impacts of cooperative systems. Proceedings of 21st ICTCT workshop (2008)
- 22. Saad, F.: Behavioural adaptations to new driver support systems: some critical issues. Proceeding of the International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics, pp 288–293 (2004)
- 23. Bekiaris, C., Papakonstantinou, E., Stevens, A. et al.: ADVISORS Deliverable 3/8.1v4: Compendium of Existing Insurance Schemes and Laws, Risk Analysis of ADA Systems and Expected Driver Behavioural Changes (2001)
- 24. Gouy, M.: Behavioural adaption of drivers of unequipped vehicles to short time headways observed in a vehicle platoon. Doctoral Thesis. The Open University (2013)
- 25. Katsaros, K.: Performance study of a Green Light Optimal Speed Advisory (GLOSA) Application Using an Integrated Cooperative ITS Simulation Platform. Proceedings of Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing Conference (IWCMC), pp 918–923 (2011)
- Krajzewicz, D., Bieker, L., Erdmann, J.: Preparing Simulative Evaluation of the GLOSA Application. Proceedings of the 19th ITS World Congress (2012)
- 27. van Arem, B., van Driel, C.J.G., Visser, R.: The Impact of Cooperative Adaptive Cruise Control on Traffic-Flow Characteristics. Intell Transportation Syst IEEE **7**(4), 429–436 (2006)
- Krajzewicz, D., Wagner, P.: Ansätze zur kognitiven Simulation eines Autofahrers. MMI-Interaktiv 7, 84–97 (2004)
- 29. Olstam, J.J., Tapani, A.: Comparison of Car-following models. vti Linköping, Sweden (2004)
- Mühlbacher, D.: Die Pulksimulation als Methode zur Untersuchung verkehrspsychologischer Fragestellungen. Doctoral Thesis. Julius-Maximilians-Universität Würzburg (2013)
- Rittger, L., Muehlbacher, D., Maag, C., Kiesel, A.: Anger and bother experience when driving with a traffic light assistant: A multi-driver simulator study. In: de Waard, D., Sauer, J., Röttger, S., Kluge, A., Manzey, D., Weikert, C., Hoonhout, H. (eds.) Human Factors for assistance and automation, pp. 63–73 (2015)
- Stephens, A.N., Groeger, J.: Following slower drivers: Lead driver status moderates driver's anger and behavioural responses and exonerates culpability. Transportation Res Part F: Traffic Psychol Behav 22, 140–149 (2014)
- Frehse, B.: Kognitive Bewertungsdimensionen von Ärger im Straßenverkehr. Doctoral Thesis. Leuphana Universität (2015)
- Lazarus, R.S.: Progress on a cognitive-motivational-relational theory of emotion. Am Psychol 46(8), 819–834 (1991)
- 35. Deffenbacher, J.L., Lynch, R.S., Oetting, E.R.: The driving anger expression inventory: a measure of how people express their anger on the road. Behav Res Ther **40**(6), 717–737 (2002)
- Mesken, J., Hagenzieker, M.P., Rothengatter, T.: Frequency, determinants, and consequences of different drivers' emotions: An on-the-road study using self-reports, (observed) behaviour, and physiology. Transportation Res Part F: Traffic Psychol Behav 10(6), 458–475 (2007)
- Shinar, D., Compton, R.: Aggressive driving: an observational study of driver, vehicle, and situational variables. Accid Analysis Prev 36(3), 429–437 (2004)
- De Pelsmacker, P., Janssens, W.: The effect of norms, attitudes and habits on speeding behavior: Scale development and model building and estimation. Accid Analysis Prev 39(1), 6–15 (2007)
- Kostyniuk, L., Eby, D.: Exploring Rear-End Roadway Crashes from the Driver's Perspective. Human Factors Division, Transportation Research Institute, Michigan University, Ann Arbor, MI (1998)
- Björklund, G.M., Åberg, L.: Driver behaviour in intersections: Formal and informal traffic rules. Transportation Res Part F: Traffic Psychol Behav 8(3), 239–253 (2005)
- 41. Brookhuis, K., de Waard, D., Janssen, W.: Behavioural impacts of advanced driver assistance systems an overview. Eur J Transport Infrastructure Res 1(3), 245–253 (2001)

- 42. Green, M.: How Long Does It Take to Stop? Methodological Analysis of Driver Perception-Brake Times. Transportation Hum Factors **2**(3), 195–216 (2000)
- 43. Martens, M.H.: Stimuli Fixation and Manual Response as a Function of Expectancies. Hum Factors **46**(3), 410–423 (2004)
- 44. Näätänen, R., Summala, H.: Road User Behavior and Traffic Accidents. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1976)
- Olson, P.L., Sivak, M.: Perception-response time to unexpected roadway hazards. Hum Factors 28(1), 91–96 (1986)
- Russell, E.R.: Using Concepts of Driver Expectancy, Positive Guidance and Consistency for Improved Operation and Safety. Proceedings of the Transportation Conference, pp 155–158 (1998)
- Mühlbacher, D., Zimmer, J., Fischer, F.: The multi-driver simulator A new concept of driving simulation for the analysis of interactions between several drivers. In D. de Waard, N. Gerard, L. Onnasch, R. Wiczorek, D. Manzey (eds.), Hum Centred Automation. Maastricht, the Netherlands, Shaker Publishing, pp. 147–158 (2011)
- 48. Oeltze, K., Dotzauer, M.: Towards a best practice for multi-driver simulator studies. Workshop on Practical Experiences in Measuring and Modeling Drivers and Driver-Vehicle Interactions at AutomotiveUI'15 (2015)
- 49. Oeltze, K., Schießl, C.: Benefits and challenges of multi-driver-simulator studies. Iet Intell Transport Syst **9**(6), 618–625 (2015)
- 50. Blaauw, G.: Driving experience and task demands in simulator and instrumented car: a validation study. Hum Factors **24**(4), 473–496 (1982)
- 51. Lee, H.C., Cameron, D., Lee, A.H.: Assessing the driving performance of older adult drivers: On-road versus simulated driving. Accid Analysis Prev **35**(5), 797–803 (2003)
- Reed, M.P., Green, P.A.: Comparison of driving performance on-road and in a low-cost simulator using a concurrent telephone dialling task. Ergonomics 42(8), 1015–1037 (1999)
- Krajzewicz, D., Wagner, P.: Ansätze zur kognitiven Simulation eines Autofahrers. MMI-Interaktiv (7), 84–97 (2004)
- 54. Gazis, D.C., Herman, R., Rothery, R.W.: Nonlinear follow-the-leader models of traffic flow. Oper Res 9(4), 545–567 (2008)
- Wiedemann, R., Reiter, U.: Microscopic traffic simulation: the simulation system MISSION, background and actual state. CEC Project ICARUS (V1052), Final Report 2 (1992)
- 56. Stemmler, E., Oeltze, K., Schießl, C.: Is Driving Assisted Behaviour Infectious? Using Spectral Analysis to Understand Car Following Behaviour of Naive Drivers. Proceedings of MATH-MOD 2015 – 8th Vienna International Conference on Mathematical Modelling (2015)
- Preuk, K., Stemmler, E.: Interdisziplinäre Bewertung der Auswirkung eines Fahrers mit Ampelassistenz auf nicht-ausgestattete Fahrer. Proceedings of 8. VDI-Tagung: Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert (2015)
- Preuk, K., Stemmler, E., Dotzauer, M.: Neue intelligente Verkehrs- und Assistenzsysteme wie wirken sie auf nicht-ausgestattete Fahrer? UR:BAN Konferenz, München (2016)
- 59. Preuk, K., Stemmler, E., Schießl, C.: Does assisted driving behaviour lead to safety-critical encounters with unequipped vehicles' drivers? Accid Analysis Prev **95**, 149–156 (2016)
- Oeltze, K.: Untersuchungen mit vernetzter Fahrsimulation PKW-PKW Interaktion. In: Baur, M., Mühlbacher, D., Oeltze, K., Twaddle, H., Will, S. (eds.) UR:BAN MV – Bericht zum Teilprojekt Simulation und Verhaltensmodellierung (SIM) (2014)
- 61. Wilde, G.J.S.: The Theory of Risk Homeostasis : Implications for Safety and Health. Risk Analysis 2(4), 209–225 (1982)
- 62. Sagberg, F., Fosser, S., Saetermo, I.: An investigation of behavioural adaptation to airbags and antilock brakes among taxi drivers. Accid Analysis Prev **29**(3), 293–302 (1997)

- Parasuraman, R., Riley, V.: Humans and Automation : Use, Misuse, Disuse, Abuse. Hum Factors 39(2), 230–253 (1997)
- 64. Rudin-Brown, C., Noy, I.Y.: Investigation of behavioral adaptation to lane departure warnings. Transp Res Rec **1803**, 30–37 (2002)
- Fishbein, M., Ajzen, I.: Belief, Attitude, Intention and Behavior An Introduction to Theory and Research. Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA (1975)
- Connolly, T., Åberg, L.: Some contagion models of speeding. Accid Analysis Prev 25(1), 57–66 (1993)
- 67. Haglund, M., Aberg, L.: Speed choice in relation to speed limit and influences from other drivers. Transportation Res Part F: Traffic Psychol Behav **3**, 39–51 (2000)
- Skottke, E.M.: Automatisierter Kolonnenverkehr und adaptiertes Fahrverhalten. Untersuchungen des Abstandsverhaltens zur Bewertung möglicher künftiger Verkehrsszenarien. University of Aachen, Aachen (2007)
- Summala, H.: Hierarchical Model of Behavioural Adaptation and Traffic Accidents. Traffic & Transport Psychology. Theory and Application. Pergamon, Amsterdam, pp 41–52 (1997)
- El-Shawarby, I., Rakha, H., Amer, A.: Impact of Driver and Surrounding Traffic on Vehicle Deceleration Behavior at Onset of Yellow Indication. Transp Res Rec 2248, 10–20 (2011)
- Wickens, C.D.: Engineering psychology and human performance. HarperCollins Publishers, Upper Saddle River, NJ (1992)
- Weller, G., Schlag, B.: Verhaltensadaptation nach Einführung von Fahrerassistenzsystemen. Verkehrspsychologie. Mobilität – Sicherheit – Fahrerassistenz. Pabst Science Publishing, Lengerich, Germany, pp 351–370 (2004)
- 73. Bandura, A.: Social learning theory. Prentice-Hall, Oxford (1977)
- Malone, K., Rech, J., Hogema, J.: DRIVE C2X Deliverable D11.4: Impact Assessment and User Perception of Cooperative Systems (2014)
- 75. Otto, T.: Kooperative Verkehrsbeeinflussung und Verkehrssteuerung an signalisierten Knotenpunkten. University of Kassel, Kassel (2011)
- Lorenz, T., Baumann, M., Jaschke, K.: A Modular and Scalable Application Platform for Testing and Evaluating ITS Components. Enabling Technologies: Infrastructure for Collaborative Enterprises (WETICE). 2011 20th IEEE International Workshops on, pp 199–204 (2011)
- Davis, F.D., Bagozzi, R.P., Warshaw, P.R.: User acceptance of computer technology: a comparison of two theoretical models. Manage Sci 35(8), 982–1003 (1989)
- Krahnstöver, A.Z., Koether, G., Vollrath, M.: Licht führt!? Beeinflussung von Fahrer und Verkehrsteilnehmern durch lichtbasierte Fahrerassistenzsysteme. Proceedings of 8. VDI-Tagung: Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert (2015)

# The Multi-Driver Simulation: A Tool to Investigate 21 Social Interactions Between Several Drivers

Dominik Muehlbacher

## 21.1 Need for Multi-Driver Simulation?

#### 21.1.1 Driving Simulation and Traffic Simulation

Since a lot of years, traffic sciences have been using two popular tools of simulation: Driving simulation and traffic simulation.

In a driving simulation, a participant steers a virtual vehicle through a simulated environment. In most cases, the main focus of research is drivers' behaviour and perception. The popularity of driving simulation has several reasons: First, driving simulation allows creating sceneries tailored to the research question. Therefore, confounding variables like varying traffic or weather conditions can be controlled or eliminated. Additionally, the investigation of events which occur rarely in real traffic or might be safety-critical in real traffic is possible. However, driving simulation studies also have limitations: Effects like reactivity or demand effects may constrain the external validity of driving simulation studies. Furthermore, simulator sickness can influence the validity as symptoms like headache, sweating or eye strain might affect a driver's performance negatively [1].

In contrast, the traffic simulation gives the opportunity to investigate research questions concerning the whole traffic system, for example the development of congestions, effects of infrastructural measures like speed limits or the effect of driver assistance systems. For this purpose, it uses simulated driver models exclusively instead of real drivers in a virtual environment. A common model is, for instance, the Intelligent Driver Model [2]: This model is focused on car-following and considers the velocities of the own and the preceding vehicle, the headway and intelligent braking strategies with smooth transitions between acceleration and deceleration behaviour. Another important driver model

D. Muehlbacher (⊠) WIVW GmbH Veitshoechheim, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_21

is the psycho-physical perception threshold model [3] which uses – besides technical parameters similar to the Intelligent Driver Model – also psychological factors like drivers' motivation, headway estimations and need for safety to describe car-following.

However, a lot of different models exist and the results of an experiment may depend on the chosen modelling assumptions [4]. For some research questions, the traffic simulation has limitations because of the lack of understanding driver behaviour [5]. Validation studies using real driving data show that driver models do not fit perfectly because human driving behaviour is very variable, flexible and individual [6, 7].

## 21.1.2 Driver, Traffic, and Interactions

Between the poles "driver" and "traffic" exist further aspects which have not been considered in past research, namely groups of drivers and the social interactions within a group ([8, 9]; see Fig. 21.1). Social interactions are present whenever two or more drivers encounter each other. These events require that drivers take intentions and behaviour of the other road users into account and react correspondingly.

Social interactions in traffic are sometimes very short episodes (e.g. crossing at intersections) and sometimes longer term (e.g. car following on a rural road). They are crucial for driving safety (e.g. accidents between road users), traffic flow (e.g. development of congestions) and the atmosphere on the road (e.g. aggressive driving). Due to an increasing traffic volume, social interactions in traffic will have a more important role in the future.

It is not possible to investigate social interactions in a driving simulation. The problem of driving simulation is the presence of only one human driver. Of course, the driving simulation uses simulated surrounding traffic which is based on the models of the traffic simulation – however, these models are not so variable and flexible like human behaviour in traffic. Instead, most models used show predefined behaviour. Due to the same reason, traffic simulations do not enable the analysis of interactions.





#### 21.1.3 Multi-Driver Simulation

It is not sufficiently possible to analyse social interactions in one of the established simulated environments (driver simulation and traffic simulation). The connection of several driving simulations could be the solution for this problem: In a so-called multi-driver simulation the participants drive through the same virtual environment and are able to see the other vehicles and can react to the other participants' behaviour which enables social interactions. Additionally, the most advantages of single-driver simulations (e. g. controllability and reproducibility of test situations, possibility to investigate safety critical situations) are given in a multi-driver simulation. Therefore, it can be seen as a link between driving simulation and traffic simulation [10].

A few research groups connected driving simulators and investigated issues such as driving behaviour at intersections [11], cooperative driving behaviour [12], as well as effects of a merging assistant [8], a hazard warning [10], or a traffic light assistant [13, 14]. Other studies dealt with methodological issues of the multi-driver simulation like developing new parameters to describe driving behaviour and interactions [9, 15, 16].

## 21.1.4 Aim of the UR:BAN Multi-Driver Simulator Studies

Although the previous chapter shows that several research studies were conducted with multi-driver simulator studies, a comparison of the multi-driver simulation with a singledriver simulation is missing up until now. This is important, as only when the differences are known it is possible to decide which kind of simulation has to be used for a specific research question. Therefore, one aim of the UR:BAN multi-driver simulation studies was to compare multi-driver simulation with a single-driver simulation. For this purpose, this chapter presents two studies investigating this issue:

- 1. In a first exploratory analysis, driving behaviour of simulated vehicles and real drivers was compared (see Sect. 21.3).
- 2. Afterwards, both kinds of simulations were compared using the example of the evaluation of a traffic light assistant (see Sect. 21.4).

## 21.2 The WIVW Multi-Driver Simulation

The multi-driver simulation laboratory of the Wuerzburg Institute for Traffic Sciences GmbH (WIVW) consists of four connected driving stations (see Fig. 21.2a). These can be used either as a single-driver simulation or as a multi-driver simulation:

• In the single-driver simulation, each participant drives through a separate but identical virtual environment. The surrounding traffic consists of simulated driver models only.



Fig. 21.2 Multi-driver simulation of the WIVW GmbH (a); working place of the operators (b)

• In the multi-driver simulation, four participants drive through the same virtual environment. Only the vehicles of the study participants make up the surrounding traffic.

Each mockup consists of a high-quality PC-game-steering wheel with force feedback and pedals. The visual system of each driving station provides a horizontal field of view of 150 degrees which is shown on three 22'' size LCD-displays with a pixel resolution of  $1680 \times 1050$ . The left, right and inside mirrors are embedded in the front view. A 10'' LCDdisplay with a pixel resolution of  $800 \times 480$  is mounted near the steering wheel and can be used for secondary tasks, icons of driver assistance systems or touchpad-based questionnaires. Headsets provide the sound simulation and also enable the communication between the participants and the operators. In a WIVW multi-driver simulation study, two operators are controlling and monitoring a study with four participants. The working place of the operators is in an adjacent room which is separated by a window from the driving stations (see Fig. 21.2b).

The simulator is run by the software SILAB which was developed by WIVW. The network consists of 25 PCs connected via gigabit-Ethernet.

## 21.3 Study 1: Driver Models vs Human Drivers

#### 21.3.1 Background and Methods

A comparison of driving behaviour of real drivers with driving behaviour of simulated driver models is necessary to test if simulated driver models show realistic behaviour. Larger differences would demonstrate the benefit of a multi-driver simulation.

For this purpose, four driver models completed a country road course with a length of 24.5 km in platoon formation (i. e., in line). The course contained various situations like different speed limits, overtaking of a slower car, or braking due to an unforeseeable obstacle (broken vehicle) after a curve. With minor changes, the driver models were based

on the psycho-physical perception threshold model [3]. The desired velocity was different for the four positions within the platoon (position 1: 101.5 km/h, position 2: 108.7 km/h, position 3: 115.9 km/h, position 4: 125.8 km/h) so that the vehicles stayed in the platoon and did not lose contact. The desired time headway was set at 1.5 s.

Compared to this, four groups with four participants each negotiated the course. They were instructed to drive in platoon formation to ensure that each driver was influenced by the driving behaviour of the preceding vehicle. Additionally, they had to preserve their order in the platoon (i. e., they were not allowed to overtake the other drivers of the platoon).

The N = 16 participants (6 women and 10 men) were aged between 23 and 40 years of age (M = 30.8; SD = 5.3). Prior to the study, all participants were trained with the multidriver simulation in order to introduce them to the simulator and reduce the probability of simulator sickness [9]. The participants were paid for taking part in the study.

The differences between the simulated platoon and the participants are shown using a course element of approx. 4 km. While speed limit was 100 km/h in the first two-thirds of this element, it was 70 km/h afterwards. After approximately half the way, the drivers had to overtake a slower car.



Fig. 21.3 Velocity of the platoons consisting of driver models (a) and consisting of human drivers (b)

## 21.3.2 Results and Discussion

Three of the four human platoons decelerate prior to overtaking from 100 km/h to approx. 60 km/h. In contrast, the simulated platoon and one human platoon (platoon no. 3) pass the slower car without reducing speed (see Fig. 21.3).

Most of the time, the velocities of the simulated vehicles oscillate around a value (see Fig. 21.3). This behaviour is typical for driver models using the psycho-physical perception threshold model. Due to the psychological factors which are considered in this model, the actual velocity differs from the predefined desired velocity. Compared to the human drivers, large variations of velocity do not occur in the run of driver models. Especially the driver models on the first position maintain velocity rather constantly.

The homogeneous driving style of the driver models affects longitudinal accelerations: These are  $1.2 \text{ m/s}^2$  at maximum, while the decelerations exceed  $-1 \text{ m/s}^2$  only seldom (see Fig. 21.4). In contrast, human participants show an acceleration behaviour which is much more variable. Especially the decelerations are stronger. Sometimes, stronger braking events result in events of over-deceleration, i. e. the decelerations of following drivers



**Fig. 21.4** Longitudinal acceleration of the platoons consisting of driver models (**a**) and consisting of human drivers (**b**)

are stronger than the decelerations of preceding drivers (e.g. platoon no. 4). The effect of over-deceleration is a well-known phenomenon which can be a reason for congestions [17]. However, this effect can't be seen in the run of the simulated platoon.

The comparison of human and virtual platoons demonstrates that driver models do not represent reality. Instead, the used driver models operate according to their programming which considers specific characteristics of human behaviour (e. g. over-decelerations) only insufficiently.

As a next step, it is important to check if these differences between driver models and human drivers affect behaviour of participants. Therefore, study 2 shows a comparison of single-driver simulation and multi-driver simulation.

#### 21.4 Study 2: Single-Driver Simulation vs Multi-Driver Simulation

#### 21.4.1 Background

The evaluation of driver assistance systems is a common use case of driving simulators. Traffic light assistance is a system which has been in the focus of much research using single-driving simulators in recent years [18, 19]. This system informs the driver about economic driving behaviour when approaching traffic lights. Therefore, the system might recommend to drive slowly or to brake at large distances in front of a traffic light. However, this driving behaviour could be annoying for following drivers without traffic light assistant [14]. Therefore, assisted drivers might worry about hindering the drivers following behaviors.

Aim of the present study was to investigate if compliance to recommendations of a traffic light assistant depends on the presence and type of surrounding traffic. This was investigated by means of a multi-driver simulation as well as a single-driver simulation. It was expected that compliance is independent of surrounding traffic in the singledriver simulation setting, because here the driver is surrounded by simulated driver models which cannot be annoyed. In contrast, it was assumed that surrounding traffic modifies compliance in the multi-driver simulation as economic driving might bother following participants.

Besides this methodological research question, the evaluation of the traffic light assistant itself was another purpose of the conducted study. These results are published in separate papers [13, 20].

#### 21.4.2 Methods

#### 21.4.2.1 Traffic Light Assistant

During the approach of a traffic light, the traffic light assistant informed the driver visually about the optimal driving behaviour (e.g. "drive 20 km/h", "slow down to 30 km/h") to



Fig. 21.5 Driving recommendations of the traffic light assistant: coasting (a), driving (b), braking (c)

reach a green traffic light. To generate these recommendations, the traffic light assistant considered the current and next traffic light phase, participants' driving speed and distance to the traffic light. The driving recommendations were presented with distinctive colors (coasting = white; driving = green; braking = amber) in the HMI on the separate 10'' LCD-display. The speed recommendations for approaching the traffic light were between 20 and 50 km/h (see Fig. 21.5).

In the multi-driver simulation with four participants, the penetration rate of the traffic light assistant was 50%. While two drivers were assisted by the system, the other two drivers had no assistance.

In the single-driver simulation, the platoon consisted of one participant (who was either equipped or non-equipped with the traffic light assistant) and three driver models. These were based on the Intelligent Driver Model [2]. Two driver models followed the recommendations of the traffic light assistant, i. e. their desired velocity was the velocity which was recommended by the system. The third driver model was unequipped with a desired velocity of 54 km/h. 10" LCD-display. The minimum time-headway of all simulated drivers was set on 1.5 s.

The participants were instructed that following the system recommendations is voluntary and not obligatory. In both runs, the participants were not informed if the other road users were equipped with the traffic light assistant or not.

#### 21.4.2.2 Test Scenarios

The urban course consisted of eight identical segments: At the beginning of each segment, the four vehicles approached an intersection in platoon formation (i. e., in line). At the intersection, a traffic light was timed so that if the drivers travelled at the recommended speed they arrived at the intersection when the light turned green and avoided a stop. If the participant drove faster than recommended they arrived at a red light and had to stop. After crossing the intersection, the drivers had to stop at a "positioning sign" which was mounted at a gantry overhead (see Fig. 21.6). This sign pictured all four vehicles of the platoon (with their corresponding colors). Below each displayed vehicle was a parking space on the road. Each driver had to stop at the designated parking space. After all four drivers had stopped, the driver on the left parking space started to drive towards the next traffic light. The other drivers followed him/her in the prescribed sequence from left to



Fig. 21.6 Positioning sign

right. In each element, the vehicle order on the positioning sign was different. By means of this method the order within the platoon was controlled and balanced so that each driver experienced each position for an equal number of times.

#### 21.4.2.3 Study Design

The type of driving simulation (single-driver simulation or multi-driver simulation) was the main independent variable. Each participant completed a session in both driving simulations (within-subjects factor). In the single-driver simulation, each platoon consisted of one human driver and three driver models. In the multi-driver simulation, each platoon consisted of four human drivers. Before each run, the experimenter informed the participants whether they would be using the single-driver or the multi-driver simulation, respectively. The two runs were conducted in counterbalanced order.

In both runs, the drivers were either assisted by the traffic light assistant or not assisted (between-subjects-factor).

Each run consisted of eight elements with one traffic light at an intersection. The drivers had to approach the traffic light in platoon formation. After each element, the drivers changed positions within the platoon and approached the next traffic light in another sequence. By means of this method, each driver was in 2 of 8 approaches each on first, second, third or fourth position in the platoon (within-subjects factor).

#### 21.4.2.4 Dependent Variables

After each run, the drivers rated different aspects of the run (e.g. "The virtual world is realistic") on a 7-point scale from 1 = "disagree" to 7 = "agree". In a final inquiry at the end of the session, the drivers had to compare both runs in an open-question format.

To assess compliance to the traffic light assistant, the percentage of stops at intersections was calculated. A stop was defined as reaching a driving speed lower than 1 km/h. The assisted drivers could only avoid a stop at the traffic light if they followed the system recommendations. Therefore, the percentage of segments without a stop at the traffic light is an indicator for the system compliance (so-called compliance rate).

#### 21.4.2.5 Sample

Four test drivers participated in each session. In total, there were N = 20 participants (10 women and 10 men) between 20 and 65 years of age (M = 36.8; SD = 15.6). As in study 1, the participants were trained with the multi-driver simulation prior to the study [9] and were paid for taking part in the study.

#### 21.4.3 Results

#### 21.4.3.1 Drivers' Judgments

After each run, all drivers rated different aspects of the run in a questionnaire. Drivers with as well as without system note several differences between driving in a single-driver simulation and a multi-driver simulation: According to the participants, the virtual world of the multi-driver simulation is more realistic compared to the single-driver simulation (t(19)=2.27; p=0.035; see Fig. 21.7a). Additionally, the driving behaviour of the surrounding traffic is rated as more realistic in the multi-driver simulation (t(19)=4.24; p<0.001). Furthermore, the participants state that they felt observed by the other drivers in a higher degree in the multi-driver simulation (t(19)=4.53; p<0.001).



**Fig. 21.7** Mean subjective judgments for items in the questionnaire for multi-driver and single-driver simulation ( $\mathbf{a}$ ); mean compliance rate for each position in the platoon in multi-driver and single-driver simulation ( $\mathbf{b}$ )

#### 21.4.3.2 System Compliance

In the single-driver simulation the drivers with system cross between 80 and 90% of the intersections without stopping. The position within the platoon does not affect the compliance (F(3, 27) = 1.00; p = 0.864; see Fig. 21.7b). In contrast, the position has an effect in the multi-driver simulation (F(3, 27) = 5.21; p = 0.006): While the compliance rate is approx. 20% in position 1, it increases gradually to 80% in position 4.

When comparing single-driver simulation and multi-driver simulation, drivers in the multi-driver simulation have a lower compliance rate in position 1 (t(9) = 3.97; p = 0.003) and position 2 (t(9) = 2.86; p = 0.019). However, there are no significant differences in position 3 (t(9) = 1.50; p = 0.168) and position 4 (t(9) = 1.00; p = 0.343).

#### 21.4.4 Discussion

First, the participants notice several differences between the two runs: The run in the multi-driver simulation with human surrounding traffic is rated as more realistic compared to the run in the single-driver simulation with simulated surrounding traffic. This result underlines the external validity of the multi-driver simulation.

Additionally, the type of surrounding traffic affects the participants' compliance to the traffic light assistant. When driving in front of two or three human drivers, the participants do follow the system's recommendations to a lesser extent compared to driving in front of one or no human drivers. In contrast, when driving in front of simulated drivers there is no effect of the number of vehicles driving behind. The reason for this behaviour could be that assisted drivers might worry about hindering the drivers following behind them. This result shows the influence of knowledge the drivers have about surrounding traffic (simulated vs real).

## 21.5 Conclusion

Due to a lot of benefits, driving simulation and traffic simulation have been used successfully in traffic sciences. By means of these tools it is possible to answer research questions concerning driver behaviour and the whole traffic system. However, groups of drivers and the social interactions within these groups are aspects which lie between these poles "driver" and "traffic" and have not been considered in past research. It is not sufficiently possible to analyse social interactions via driving simulation or traffic simulation. However, the connection of several driving simulations could solve this problem. It results in a so-called multi-driver simulation which enables the investigation of social interactions.

One aim of the simulator studies in the UR:BAN project was to compare multi-driver simulation with single-driver simulation. This comparison is necessary for further studies – only if the differences and similarities between these tools are known, it is possible

to decide which kind of simulation is appropriate for a specific research question. For this purpose, this chapter presented two studies investigating this issue.

In a first exploratory analysis, driving behaviour of simulated vehicles and real drivers was compared. The comparison of human and virtual platoons demonstrates that the driver models do not reflect the reality. Instead, the used driver models operate according to their programming which considers specific characteristics of human behaviour (e. g. over-decelerations) only insufficiently.

In a second study, single-driver simulation and multi-driver simulation were compared using the example of the evaluation of a traffic light assistant. The drivers' judgments underline the external validity of the multi-driver simulation. Drivers' compliance to the traffic light assistant was affected by the type of simulation. It seems that drivers consider the kind of surrounding traffic (real vs virtual) in their decision whether or not to follow the systems' recommendations.

Both studies demonstrate that there exist two main differences between the simulations which might affect participants' behaviour and perception:

- 1. Participants show *realistic driving behaviour when acting as the surrounding traffic* in the multi-driver simulation compared to the programmed behaviour of models in the single-driver simulation.
- 2. Like in real traffic, participants *know about the presence of other human drivers* in the multi-driver simulation. In contrast, participants in the single-driver simulation know that surrounding traffic is created by virtual drivers.

Prior to a study, researchers carefully have to take into account which kind of simulation is more appropriate for their research question. When deciding between single-driver simulation and multi-driver simulation, they need to consider the importance of the two aspects "realistic driving behaviour of surrounding traffic" and "knowledge about presence of other human drivers" for their research purpose.

#### References

- Stoner, H.A., Fisher, D.L., Mollenhauer, M.: Simulator and scenario factors influencing simulator sickness. In: Fisher, D.L., Rizzo, M., Caird, J., Lee, J.D. (eds.) Handbook of driving simulation for engineering, medicine, and psychology, pp. 13.11–13.18. Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton (2011)
- Treiber, M., Hennecke, A., Helbing, D.: Congested traffic states in empirical observations and microscopic simulations. Phys Rev E 62(2), 1805 (2000)
- 3. Wiedemann, R.: Simulation des Strassenverkehrsflusses. Institut für Verkehrswesen der Universität Karlsruhe, Karlsruhe (1974)
- Kesting, A., Treiber, M., Helbing, D.: Enhanced intelligent driver model to access the impact of driving strategies on traffic capacity. Philos Trans Royal Soc Lond A: Math Phys Eng Sci 368(1928), 4585–4605 (2010)

- 5. Marsden, G., McDonald, M., Brackstone, M.: Towards an understanding of adaptive cruise control. Transportation Res Part C: Emerg Technol **9**(1), 33–51 (2001)
- Brockfeld, E., Kühne, R.D., Wagner, P.: Calibration and validation of microscopic traffic flow models. Transportation Res Rec J Transportation Res Board 1876(1), 62–70 (2004)
- Kesting, A., Treiber, M.: Calibrating car-following models by using trajectory data: Methodological study. Transportation Res Rec J Transportation Res Board 2088(1), 148–156 (2008)
- 8. Maag, C.: Emerging Phenomena During Driving Interactions. In: Mitleton-Kelly, E. (ed.) Coevolution of Intelligent Socio-technical Systems, pp. 185–217. Springer, Berlin (2013)
- 9. Muehlbacher, D.: Die Pulksimulation als Methode zur Untersuchung verkehrspsychologischer Fragestellungen. Doctoral Disseration, University of Würzburg, Germany (2013)
- Muehlbacher, D.: Multi-Driver Simulation the link between driving simulation and traffic simulation. Paper presented at the mobil.TUM2015 International Scientific Conference on Mobility and Transport Technologies, Solutions and Perspectives for Intelligent Transport Systems, Munich (2015)
- Hancock, P.A., De Ridder, S.N.: Behavioural accident avoidance science: understanding response in collision incipient conditions. Ergonomics 46(12), 1111–1135 (2003)
- Friedrich, M., Nause, D., Heesen, M., Keich, A., Kelsch, J., Baumann, M., Vollrath, M.: Evaluation und Validierung des MoSAIC-Fahrsimulators. Paper presented at the 55. Tagung experimentell arbeitender Psychologen, Wien. (2013)
- Rittger, L., Mühlbacher, D., Maag, C., Kiesel, A.: Anger and bother experience when driving with a traffic light assistant: A multi-driver simulator study. In: d. Waard, D., Sauer, J., Röttger, S., Kluge, A., Manzey, D., Weikert, C., Toffetti, A., Wiczorek, R., Brookhuis, K., Hoonhout, J. (eds.) Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Europe Chapter 2014 Annual Conference Lisbon. pp. 41–51. (2014)
- Muehlbacher, D., Fischer, F.: Ampelphasenassistenz und ihre Auswirkungen auf andere Verkehrsteilnehmer. In: VDI-Gesellschaft Fahrzeug- und Verkehrstechnik (ed.) 8. VDI-Tagung "Der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert", pp. 17–29. VDI, Braunschweig (2015)
- Mühlbacher, D., Zimmer, J., Fischer, F., Krüger, H.-P.: The multi-driver simulator a new concept of driving simulation for the analysis of interactions between several drivers. In: de Waard, D., Onnasch, L., Wiczorek, R., Manzey, D. (eds.) Human Centred Automation, pp. 147–158. Shaker, Maastricht (2011)
- Oeltze, K., Schie
  ßl, C.: Benefits and challenges of multi-driver simulator studies. Intell Transport Syst Iet 9(6), 618–625 (2015)
- 17. Kerner, B.S.: Introduction to modern traffic flow theory and control: the long road to three-phase traffic theory. Springer Science & Business Media, Heidelberg (2009)
- Duivenvoorden, K.: Roadside versus in-car speed support for a green wave: a driving simulator study. Masters Thesis, University of Twente, Netherlands (2007)
- Krause, M., Bengler, K.: Traffic Light Assistant Driven in a Simulator. In: Toledo-Moreo, R., Bergasa, L.M., Sotelo, M.Á. (eds.) 2012 International IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium Workshops: IEEE Intelligent Vehicle Symposium Madrid. pp. 1–6. (2012)
- Rittger, L., Muehlbacher, D., Kiesel, A.: Compliance to a traffic light assistant: The influence of surrounding traffic and system parameters. In: VDI-Gesellschaft Fahrzeug- und Verkehrstechnik (ed.) 30. VDI-Tagung "VDI/VW Gemeinschaftstagung Fahrerassistenz und Integrierte Sicherheit", pp. 91–99. VDI, Duesseldorf (2014)

# A New Approach to Investigate Powered Two Wheelers' Interactions with Passenger Car Drivers: the Motorcycle – Car Multi-Driver Simulation

Sebastian Will

## 22.1 Abstract

Motorcyclists are at high risk of getting involved in accidents that result in serious injury [1]. Especially interactions with cars bear a high risk potential, e. g. if motorcyclists are overlooked or if their potential to accelerate is underestimated. Up until now, little is known about motorcyclists' behaviour in general. Within the project UR:BAN, a Motorcycle-Car Multi-Driver Simulation was developed that enables a motorcyclist and a car driver to interact in the same virtual environment. This approach widens the set of research methods to investigate safety-relevant aspects of Powered Two Wheelers (PTW) and gains deeper insight into interactions and mutual behaviour adaptation. The following chapter describes the simulator setup as well as advantages and challenges. Furthermore, these topics will be supported by exemplary results of a study investigating Vehicle2X technology.

## 22.2 Introduction

In general, PTWs are an increasingly popular mode of transport. This holds especially true for urban areas, as more and more cities face problems with congestion, pollution or lack of parking space. For instance, the number of motorcycles in use within Germany has more than doubled in the last 20 years resulting in 4,054,946 registered motorcycles in January 2014 [2].

Unfortunately, PTWs are still among the most vulnerable road users and overrepresented in accident and injury statistics [1]. Accident analyses from different German and

S. Will (🖂)

Center for Traffic Sciences (IZVW), University of Wuerzburg Wuerzburg, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_22

European data revealed that single-vehicle accidents account for up to one third of the registered accidents, while the rest involves more than one road user (e.g. [1, 3-5]). Especially interactions with other vehicles such as cars and trucks bear a high risk potential, e.g. if motorcycles' silhouettes are overlooked or if their acceleration is underestimated. In 2012, in Germany alone, 14,129 crashes between motorcycles and other road users were registered [6]. In about 80% of the crashes that involve another vehicle, the latter was a passenger car. The most common accident constellation is a front-side impact that primarily takes place at intersections ([1, 7]).

Driving simulators are a commonly used tool in the field of traffic sciences to investigate those critical scenarios and evaluate effects of potential countermeasures. Up until now, only a few motorcycle simulators which serve as research tools are available in the field of empirical traffic sciences [8]. Due to the fact that there is always one rider in a programmed virtual environment, motorcycle simulators allow the assessment of important research questions (e. g. [9, 10]), but always exclude real interaction and mutual behaviour adaptation between more vehicles. These facts reveal the need to investigate Powered Two Wheeler safety from a new point of view. Besides the important derived accident countermeasures like technical improvements of motorcycles (e. g. ABS, traction control) or adequate rider training, the next step towards improved PTW safety is to address interactions between PTWs and other road users. Therefore, the Motorcycle-Car Multi-Driver Simulation was implemented within the scope of the project UR:BAN.

#### 22.3 Simulator Setup: The Motorcycle-Car Multi-Driver Simulation

The general idea of using connected driving simulators to assess interactions has already been established for cars (e. g. [11, 12]). The next step was to link a motorcycle simulator to a car simulator resulting in two subjects driving in the same virtual environment. This allows gaining a deeper insight into interactions and mutual behaviour adaptation of two real drivers in a safe and controlled environment.

Within the scope of the project UR:BAN a motorcycle riding and a car driving simulator were coupled. The static motorcycle simulator is equipped with a full-size BMW R 1200 RT motorcycle and prepared for intermountable mockups (see Fig. 22.1).

This enables the rider to use fully realistic controls such as usual handlebar, brake lever/pedal, clutch, gear selector, etc. Three 55 inch flat screens offer a 180° horizontal field of view. A 10 inch touch screen is used as cockpit showing speedometer and revolutions per minute. Additionally, different Human-Machine-Interfaces (HMI) e.g. for Advanced Rider Assistance Systems (ARAS) or On-Bike Information Systems (OBIS) can easily be displayed there. If necessary, riders can directly fill out questionnaires on-line or engage in secondary tasks displayed on the touchscreen (e.g. operating a board computer). Two 7 inch TFT-displays are installed as mirrors. An electrical actuator is used to produce a steering torque at the handlebar up to 50 Nm. Acoustic feedback including sounds of surrounding traffic is delivered by a 2.0 sound system. The speakers work

**Fig. 22.1** Static motorcycle riding simulator



in combination with a shaker, installed under the rider seat, delivering engine vibrations to the rider. The simulator is running with the software SILAB riding scenario control.

The car driving simulator includes a generic car mockup with a real driving seat, steering wheel with force feedback and brake as well as accelerator pedal. It works with automatic gear shift. Five projectors produce a 300° horizontal field of view. A 15 inch flat screen works as an instrument cluster showing speedometer and revolutions per minute. A second 15 inch flat screen installed in the dashboard can be used to display a navigation system, secondary tasks or HMIs. Two 7 inch TFT-displays replace the rear-view and wing mirror (see Fig. 22.2). A 5.1 sound system is installed to deliver auditory cues from the ego vehicle and the surrounding traffic. Additionally, eye-tracking as well as physiological measures can be recorded. The simulator is also running with SILAB riding scenario control.

The motorcycle simulator and the passenger car simulator are connected to a multidriver simulator via a 1GB Ethernet switch. A specific computer of the multi-driver simulation is configured with the SILAB software and works as the traffic main computer. At any point during operation the driving dynamics of the motorcycle as well as those of the car are both evaluated and the results are transferred to the traffic main computer. The traffic main computer is then used to evaluate the driving models for all SILAB simulated vehicles in order to create the appropriate scenarios for the two human drivers.

This setup requires two operators: one for each simulator in order to take care of the participant, to give instructions, to hand out questionnaires etc. Both operators can observe a variety of driving parameters like velocity, lateral position etc. in real time and monitor the positions of both participants from a bird's-eye view. However, one of them is the main operator who is responsible for running the scenarios. Furthermore, a multi-driver simulation has more extraordinary requirements that have to be dealt with. That is, for example, the synchronization ensuring that the two participants meet each other at


Fig. 22.2 Static car driving simulator

the relevant intersection or the corresponding road network with appropriate navigation systems to name just some of them. A detailed methodological review can be found in the Chap. 23.

## 22.4 Study Example: Intersection Support

Generally speaking, the Motorcycle-Car Multi-Driver Simulation can be useful for all scenarios including these two types of interacting vehicles. On the one hand, general knowledge on mutual behaviour adaptation can be gained. On the other hand, specific systems such as Advanced Driver/Rider Assistance Systems could be investigated in a safe and controlled environment. This was done for an intersection support using Vehicle2X technology within UR:BAN. Excerpts of this study will be described as one possible use case in the following section.

#### 22.4.1 Background

As stated above, PTW riders suffer from a high vulnerability compared to other road users. Literature reveals that urban intersections are a special PTW-car accident hot spot. Vehicle2X technology could help minimize these critical situations. These technological inventions are already subject to passenger car research for years. In the motorcycle sector it is not really covered yet, as there is a smaller market, less space for implementations at the handlebar and more recent challenges to face, such as ABS implementation or traction

control that are already covered in the automotive sector. Nevertheless, there lies huge potential in such systems so that the aim was to implement an informing advanced rider assistance system and to estimate the safety potential of this resulting intersection support for PTWs.

### 22.4.2 Methods

As special interest lies on the interaction and mutual behaviour adaptation between motorcyclist and car driver, the above-described Motorcycle-Car Multi-Driver Simulation was used for investigation. The course existed of an urban scenario with about 60 junctions. Eight of them were used to provoke critical situations. All junctions resembled each other in appearance in order to avoid participants from becoming suspicious and changing to unnatural behaviour due to environmental hints. N = 24 pairs of participants completed this course twice: once with and once without intersection support in a randomized order. A cover story was used in order to avoid overcautious behaviour: The participants did not know that they were driving in a multi driver simulation and they were told that the study aims at investigating an intersection support. The system used an unspecific information icon to inform the rider respectively driver about a potential conflict partner in cross traffic (see Fig. 22.3).

The information was emitted when the time-to-arrival of the first of the two orthogonal approaching vehicles fell below 2.87 s [13]. Both vehicles were synchronised by red traffic lights at a pedestrian crossing 100 m in front of the junction. At the eight relevant research intersections, the traffic lights were green for both vehicles. Participants did not realise this and perceived a surprising critical situation representing a typical error that leads to two vehicles entering a junction at the same point in time. As independent variable the availability of the intersection support was varied in four steps:



**Fig. 22.3** Intersection support – information icon for PTW displayed in cockpit (**a**) and for passenger car driver in head-up display (**b**)

- None of the vehicles was equipped (none).
- Only the car was equipped with the intersection support (only car).
- Only the PTW was equipped with the intersection support (only PTW).
- Both vehicles were equipped with the intersection support (both).

As dependent variables objective and subjective parameters describing situation criticality were analysed. The following parameters are of special interest to the new methodology of connected motorcycle and car driving simulators. That is post encroachment time (PET) indicating the difference in time of two vehicles passing one common conflict zone. Shorter PETs are said to describe more critical situations whereas PETs < 2 sec are referred to as "critical interactions" and PETs < 1 sec are referred to as "very critical interactions" [14]. Moreover, the distance to intersection (DTI) is relevant given in interaction plots. These plots indicate a pair of subjects' approach to an intersection from orthogonal directions. Each axis displays the DTI of one of the vehicles (see also Chap. 23).

#### 22.4.3 Results

Scenario control poses an inherent challenge to connected driving simulations. The gain of having more realistic interactions accounts for the loss in controllability due to two independently acting participants. Fig. 22.4a shows the distribution of PETs at the intersection when none of the vehicles is assisted. The dashed lines mark the critical interactions according to PET. Just about half of the planned critical interactions turn out to be critical (those between the dashed lines). In the other scenarios the two participants miss each other by up to twelve seconds. This could, for example, be the case because one vehicle accelerates faster than the other or one participant accelerates right away while the other one starts delayed. Therefore, study planning for a multi-driver experiment has to take this into account, including e. g. more situations of interest as not all of the planned critical scenarios might work as formerly intended.

The interaction plots in Figs. 22.5 and 22.6 clarify this. When none of the participants' vehicles is equipped with an intersection support almost all lines run in parallel to the diagonal line. This means neither drivers nor riders brake before entering the intersection. The lines farther away from the diagonal indicate a lag in the vehicle's intersection approach. The numbers of cases with the PTW rider or the passenger car driver being first are almost identical with motorcyclists being a bit more defensive. In 40% of the cases the PTW is the first to cross the junction. This is shown by almost the same amount of lines ending on the upper side respectively right side of the plot.

The effect of the intersection support can clearly be seen in Fig. 22.6. Even when facing a green traffic light, the vehicle equipped with an intersection support slows down before crossing the junction. The left plot shows lines turning to the right side of the graph. This indicates that the car gets closer to the intersection whereas the PTW does not approach significantly anymore. Accordingly, in 67% of the cases, the car enters the intersection



**Fig. 22.4** Distribution of PETs at the intersection (**a**). Effect of at least one of the vehicles being equipped with the intersection support on the number of critical interactions (**b**)

first. Vice versa, the right graph shows lines turning to the upper end of the plot indicating that the PTW enters the junction while the passenger car driver decelerates. In 80% of these cases the PTW is the first vehicle to cross the intersection.



**Fig. 22.5** Interaction plots when none (**a**) respectively both (**b**) of the vehicles are equipped with an intersection support



Fig. 22.6 Interaction plots when only the PTW (a) respectively the car (b) is equipped with an intersection support

Taking a closer look at the interactions in which both vehicles are assisted, lines turning to both sides of the graph can be seen (see Fig. 22.5b). Nevertheless, more lines turn to the right end revealing that PTWs tend to step back in ambiguous situations. PTWs only enter the intersections as the first vehicle in 28% of the situations.

In conclusion, Fig. 22.4b shows that the intersection support reduces the amount of very critical situations according to PET significantly (F(1.92)=2.22; p=.014;  $\eta^2=0.135$ ). This holds true as long as at least one of the vehicles is equipped with the intersection support.

#### 22.4.4 Discussion

This study besides others within the scope of the project UR:BAN proved the Motorcycle-Car Multi-Driver Simulation to run stable. From a methodological point of view, the synchronization method using specific traffic light configurations can be seen as a promising way of provoking relevant critical scenarios. Nevertheless, the distribution of PETs at the intersection revealed the need for effective parametrization of the scenarios. Depending on the environmental conditions (speed limit, surrounding traffic, ...), the synchronization point (the red traffic light 100 m in front of the junction) has to be chosen carefully. On the one hand, the participants need some time to reach the intended speed. On the other hand, the bigger the distance, the higher the chance is of both vehicles missing each other. Another consequence could be to plan the road network in a way that it is either built up iteratively until all relevant scenarios have worked or include a higher number of research scenarios allowing for some of them to fail. Taking a closer look at the potential of Vehicle2X technology to reduce critical situations at intersections, one can state a positive effect: The intersection support seemed to increase PTWs' as well as car drivers' safety. The number of critical incidents was decreased independently from the fact which vehicle was equipped with the assistance system. An interesting finding was that PTW riders tend to give way in ambiguous situations in the connected simulation. This phenomenon is also known from real riding. Motorcyclists try to avoid harm as they are usually the ones being seriously injured in an accident with a passenger car.

### 22.5 Conclusion

The Vehicle2X study showed one potential use case of the newly invented Motorcycle-Car Multi-Driver Simulation. One the one side, challenges like synchronization in specific scenarios of interest were addressed. On the other side, advantages such as gaining knowledge about mutual behaviour adaptation (e. g. which participant enters the intersection first in ambiguous situations and how participants react to each other's behaviour such as approaching the junction slowly) were outlined. Insights into these questions cannot be gained in typical single-driver simulators as the participants react to scripted vehicles and bots. Getting back to the starting point of an increasing number of PTW riders and them being one of the most vulnerable road users, a lot of countermeasures have to be taken in the future. Surely, a lot of important things will be done on the technical side concerning active and passive rider safety, but actions beyond this will be needed. Actions that take a closer look at the rider, whose behaviour is not yet investigated sufficiently, will be of great importance in order to take the right measures. The Motorcycle-Car Multi-Driver Simulation can add one piece to the puzzle, leading the way to improved PTW safety.

#### References

- 1. DEKRA: Motorcycle Safety Report 2010. Strategies for preventing accidents on the roads of Europe. DEKRA Automobil GmbH, Stuttgart (2010)
- Statistisches Bundesamt: Verkehr Verkehr aktuell. Fachserie 8. Reihe 1.1. Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden (2014)
- Statistisches Bundesamt: Verkehrsunfälle Zweiradunfälle im Straßenverkehr. Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden (2013)
- Hummel, T., Kühn, M., Bende, J., Lang, A.: Fahrerassistenzsysteme: Ermittlung des Sicherheitspotenzials auf Basis des Schadengeschehens der Deutschen Versicherer. Forschungsbericht FS, vol. 03. Gesamtverband der Deutschen Versicherungswirtschaft e. V., Berlin (2011)
- 5. Yannis, G., Evgenikos, P., Papantoniou, P.: Basic fact sheet 'motorcycles and mopeds'. Da-CoTA, Athens (2012)
- Statistisches Bundesamt: Unfallentwicklung auf deutschen Straßen. Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden (2012)

- DESTATIS: Verkehrsunfälle. Zweiradunfälle im Straßenverkehr 2014. Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden (2015)
- Nehaoua, L., Arioui, H., Mammar, S.: Review on single track vehicle and motorcycle simulators. Paper presented at the 19th Mediterranean Conference on Control & Automation (MED 2011), Corfu (2011)
- Buld, S., Will, S., Kaussner, A., Krüger, H.-P.: Entwicklung eines Verfahrens zur Erfassung der Fahrerbeanspruchung beim Motorradfahren. Bundesanstalt für Straßenwesen (BASt), Bergisch-Gladbach (2014)
- Huth, V., Biral, F., Martín, Ó., Lot, R.: Comparison of two warning concepts of an intelligent Curve Warning system for motorcyclists in a simulator study. Accid Analysis Prev 44, 118–125 (2012)
- 11. Mühlbacher: Die Pulksimulation als Methode zur Untersuchung verkehrspsychologischer Fragestellungen. Dissertation. Julius-Maximilians-Universität Würzburg (2013)
- 12. Houtenbos, M.: Expecting the unexpected: a study of interactive driving behavior at intersections. Dissertation, TU Delft (2008)
- Naujoks, F., Grattenthaler, H., Neukum, A.: Fahrerseitiger Unterstützungsbedarf in drohenden Verkehrskonfliktszenarien und Wirksamkeitsuntersuchung frühzeitiger Fahrerinformationen basierend auf kooperativer Umfelderfassung. 10. Berliner Werkstatt Mensch-Maschine-Systeme. Universitätsverlag der TU Berlin, Berlin, pp 401–411 (2013)
- Lawson, J.: Recent work in Canada on the development of traffic conflicts techniques. Techniques, organized by the international committee on traffic conflicts techniques ICTCT, Le Idschendam, The Net, mRLANDS, April 1982 (1982)

# Multi-Road User Simulation: Methodological Considerations from Study Planning to Data Analysis

Dominik Muehlbacher, Katharina Preuk, Christian Lehsing, Sebastian Will, and Mandy Dotzauer

# 23.1 Introduction

An aim of the UR:BAN project was to connect existing driving simulators in order to describe and analyse behaviour of several interacting road users. Multi-road user simulations allow investigating social interactions between these road users (i. e. influence on other drivers or influence of other drivers). In order to cover most of the urban road system consisting of various road users, the following multi-road user simulations were developed:

- connected driver-driver simulation (see Chap. 20),
- connected multi-driver simulation (see Chap. 21),
- connected driver-pedestrian-simulation (see Chap. 19),
- connected driver-motorcyclist simulation (see Chap. 22).

In the past few years, different research groups have already made first experiences with connected driving simulators. However, these experiences were made for a specific

D. Muehlbacher (⊠) WIVW GmbH Veitshoechheim, Germany

K. Preuk · M. Dotzauer Institute of Transportation Systems - Division Human Factors, German Aerospace Center Brunswick, Germany

C. Lehsing Chair of Ergonomics, Technical University of Munich Munich, Germany

S. Will Center for Traffic Sciences (IZVW), University of Wuerzburg Wuerzburg, Germany

© Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_23 type, for example, connected driver-motorcyclist simulation [1], connected driver-driver simulation [2] or connected multi-driver simulation [3]. An encompassing methodological consideration of connected simulations, however, lacks and will be reflected thoroughly in this chapter. It is obvious that using multi-road user simulations has its special demands. These requirements have to be regarded during the whole process of a scientific study:

- 1. Considerations are necessary concerning study planning: If social interactions between participants are the scope of a study, test scenarios need to be designed ensuring social interactions at all. These aspects are discussed in Sect. 23.2.
- Conducting studies in multi-road user simulations implies challenges which do not occur in a single-driver simulation. These challenges concern technical aspects as well as issues regarding experimenters and/or participants. Sect. 23.3 deals with these issues.
- 3. Numerous options for data analysis are possible due to the simultaneous participation of several persons. Besides the analysis of single drivers, parameters to describe and investigate driver groups are needed. This issue is highlighted in Sect. 23.4.

As a conclusion, in Sect. 23.5 appropriate possible applications of multi-road user simulations are discussed and also compared to single-driver simulations.

# 23.2 Planning Studies

#### 23.2.1 Scenario Design

Particularly, the multi-road user simulation is a tool which is used to investigate social interactions while driving. To achieve social interactions in the multi-road user simulation, participants have to encounter each other or have to stay within a distance which forces the road users to react to each other. Social interactions can occur in situations in which road users cross at intersections, are following each other or in situations with oncoming traffic. However, the benefit of the multi-road user simulation would not be given when road users do not meet in the virtual environment.

According to [4], there exist three options to support encounters between drivers and thus to provoke social interactions in connected virtual environments:

• Road design supports encounters between road users at predefined locations on the road in crossing or merging scenarios as well as in situations with oncoming traffic. These locations could be intersections, roundabouts, narrow zones, or driveways. Participants have to start driving from different locations at the same time. A simultaneous start can be realised using traffic lights turning green at the same time or instructions of the experimenter via speaker or headset. Via routes of the same length and the same speed limit, they are led to the relevant locations of interest. If drivers travel according to the posted speed limit, they encounter each other at the location at the same time. Instead of a speed limit, preceding simulated vehicles with synchronised velocity profiles can also be used to lead participants to the location.

- **Surrounding traffic** may force participants to stay together on the road. Especially highway scenarios with high speed limits and several lanes pose a risk that drivers hold different velocities. If they lose connection, social interactions do not develop any more. By using slow driving simulated vehicles which precede the participants, fast driving participants can be decelerated so that the platoon of drivers is restored.
- **Instructions** can be used to keep participants within a platoon to investigate social interactions during car following. An example for such an instruction is the "two-second rule" (i. e. to stay at least two seconds behind the vehicle that is directly in front). However, following instructions might affect naturalistic driving behaviour and thus confound the results.

## 23.2.2 Confederates

In studies conducted with connected driving simulators, confederates can be used to provoke predefined situations that cannot be scripted authentically. A confederate shows natural driving behaviour adapting its behaviour, if necessary, in order to produce and control test scenarios. Nevertheless, it is of great importance to account for reproducibility as much as possible. This issue may, for example, be countered using augmented reality. Artificial elements such as real-time bar plots showing the distance to the vehicle ahead can be displayed in confederates' fields of view enabling them to adjust the following behaviour

**Fig. 23.1** Confederate in the connected motorcycle-car multi-driver simulation. The projection includes augmented reality elements displaying the distance to the vehicle ahead in meters and seconds as well as recommended thresholds indicated by *arrows* 



[1]. Depending on the research question, different longitudinal or lateral parameters can be applied (see Fig. 23.1).

In order to avoid the suspicion of participants, the confederate needs to be treated as everybody else (e. g. filling in questionnaires). Furthermore, it is of great importance to ensure that no other participant notices special treatments such as augmented reality elements, especially when all test drivers are in a common room.

#### 23.2.3 Selection of Participants

The acquisition of participants for studies in connected driving simulators is more complex compared to conventional studies in single-driver simulators. The sample size usually needed for sufficiently high statistical power levels needs to be multiplied by the numbers of road users per experimental trial for studies in the multi-road user simulation. As a result, the acquisition of participants is more time-consuming. In addition, if a participant drops out either of simulator sickness or other reasons (e. g. does not show up), the experimental trial cannot be used for further analysis. Therefore, lists of possible back-up participants or confederates, who can fill in, are recommended.

When studying cooperative driving, the degree of social similarity or antipathy/sympathy between participants may influence the study's outcome. It may be advisable to separate participants while conducting an experiment to avoid undesired interactions between them. As a result, the influence of confounding variables may be minimized or even avoided [5]. Participants with a high degree of social similarity (i. e., same age, background) may be more inclined to cooperate [6]. Gender effects may also influence results: Female drivers tend to show more cooperative driving behaviour than male drivers [7]. While planning an experiment with multiple drivers, experimenter may take these effects into account when selecting participants for each trial.

### 23.3 Conducting Studies

#### 23.3.1 Demands on Experimenters and Monitoring

During a test session in a driving simulation study, the experimenter is responsible for several tasks. Prior to the test run, the experimenter explains the procedure to the participants. During the test run, it is necessary to check whether the participants follow the instructions and all technical devices work properly. After the test run, the experimenter hands out questionnaires or conducts inquiries with the participants.

In a multi-road user simulation study, all these tasks are multiplied due to the larger number of participants. Therefore, it is recommended to use several experimenters in these studies. For example, two experimenters were required in the UR:BAN studies in the multi-driver simulation with four participants. Each experimenter took care of two participants. Also the studies in the connected driver-motorcycle simulation were conducted by two experimenters as the two mockups were located in different rooms. Here, each experimenter was responsible for a participant.

Comparable a to single-driver simulation study, problems (e. g. participants show up too late or need breaks) may occur hindering the study conduction. However, due to the increased number of participants the chance for these problems is multiplied. Similarly, due to the high number of computers and equipment in multi-road user simulations technical problems are also more likely to occur. Therefore, time buffers between two test sessions have to be considered. Furthermore, using additional back-up participants could help to avoid canceling sessions with participants who drop out.

Especially in multi-road user simulation studies it is important to monitor the group of drivers. In addition to checking whether all participants follow the instructions, experimenters also need to pay attention to whether social interactions take place. Therefore, it is necessary to develop tools which support the experimenters during monitoring. One solution is to observe the test scenery from a bird's-eye-view (see Fig. 23.2).



Fig. 23.2 Intersection scenario with four participants in the multi-driver simulation

#### 23.3.2 Communication

In some experiments, participants and the experimenter need to communicate in order to transmit all necessary instructions as well as answer all questions related to the experiment. However, the communication between participants should be limited or even avoided at all, if it is not part of the intentioned interaction as this minimizes the effects mentioned in Sect. 23.2.3. In addition, limited verbal communication between drivers is more realistic as drivers usually do not speak with each other in traffic. To reduce communication between participants, a physical separation of the driving simulators may be a solution: Driving simulators may be put in different rooms or separated with blinds. When using the latter solution, headsets are recommended to minimize background sounds (e. g. conversation of participants with experimenter).

In some cases, it may be useful to enable communication between participants because verbal communication between participants may be valuable for the development of carto-car-applications. For example, it may be of interest to find out the type and amount of information drivers would like to share with each other, for example, in a lane change scenario. Based on the results, appropriate communication concepts may be developed for car-to-car-applications such as a cooperative lane change assistant.

A limiting factor regarding the communication between drivers is the lack of visibility of the participants' faces and bodies in the multi-road user simulations. Especially in complex and unclear driving situations, communication via gestures or glances is an important factor in traffic [8]. Technical improvements (e. g. embedding of camera streams in the simulated environment) are necessary to enable these ways of communications between road several users.

# 23.3.3 Gathering Subjective Data

Compared to studies with one participant only, an advantage of multi-road user simulations is that more data are acquired in the same time. This is also valid for subjective data as questionnaires can be answered by several participants simultaneously. Nevertheless, it is more challenging to conduct interviews in a connected driving simulator study. The experimenter has to conduct one interview after another with each participant which takes a lot of time. Alternatively, the interview may be conducted with all participants at the same time. This has the disadvantage that social influences might affect the participants' judgments so that the answers might not be unbiased. This could also be the case when participants sit at the same table filling out questionnaires: they might talk with each other.

In single-driver simulation studies, verbal inquiries via an experimenter can be used to gather subjective data during driving. In multi-road user simulations, however, this is not possible as the experimenter can only ask the participants successively which might impede questions after the test scenarios. In these cases, inquiries via a display are possible. Questions may be shown on displays and drivers may answer via key-press or touchpad.

Another option to assess subjective evaluations during driving is to instruct drivers to use buttons or levers. For instance, in an study using the multi-driver simulation the drivers had to pull a lever attached to the steering wheel every time they were angered by other drivers [9]. This poses a non-intrusive method which allows collecting data of all participants continuously.

#### 23.4 Analyzing Data

# 23.4.1 Illustration of Data

In order to display interactions of various drivers appropriately, different kinds of illustrations are needed compared to conventional single driver data plots. Having more than one participant in the multi-road user simulation means trajectories, velocities etc. are recorded and need to be illustrated for at least two participants, while the mutual influence between these is of special interest. In the following section two possibilities fulfilling these requirements are recommended. While an interaction plot can show the behaviour of two participants, the time-space-diagram has its strength in covering more vehicle trajectories.

#### **Interaction Plot**

One possible solution to address two vehicles' behaviour is the use of interaction plots [10]. These diagrams show a vehicle's longitudinal distance to a reference point on the horizontal axis and the other vehicle's longitudinal distance to the same reference point on the vertical axis. As a result, each line represents the relative approach to the reference point of a pair of participants. A perfect diagonal line starting at the bottom left would indicate that both road users approach the point of interest synchronically. This type of diagram is for example useful to display an intersection approach of two vehicles from different directions (see Fig. 23.3). In this example, a car and a Powered Two Wheeler (PTW) approach an intersection in orthogonal manner. The motorcyclist is equipped with an intersection support system informing the rider about potential conflict partners in cross traffic. Both road users start 100 m in front of the junction (-100/-100 bottom left). Their trajectories form a hypothetical conflict zone (0/0 top right) that is the common reference point. The following information can be retrieved from the interaction plot:

- The farther away one line is from the diagonal, the greater the difference of the two vehicles in distance to the conflict zone (e. g. the line in the lower right corner indicates that the car has about 50 m left to reach the junction whereas the PTW still has 100 m to go).
- At the beginning (0/0 up to about -40/-40) both vehicles cover the same distance at the same time as indicated by straight lines running in parallel to the diagonal line.
- A lot of motorcyclists slow down about 20 m in front of the junction as indicated by lines bending to the right. The lines that run nearly in parallel to the horizontal axis





show that the PTW almost stands still while the car approaches the junction at constant speed. An interaction plot as shown in Fig. 23.3 can visualise effects produced by variations in conditions. In this case, the deceleration could be due to the intersection support system.

- The number of lines ending on the right side respectively on the upper side of the plot corresponds with the road user reaching the junction first. In the example shown below, more lines lead to the right side, meaning that more cars crossed the junction before the motorcyclist.
- A line crossing the conflict zone (0/0 top right) indicates that a collision occurred between the two road users.

#### **Time-space Diagram**

Interactions between more than two drivers can be described by means of time-spacediagrams. A time-space-diagram shows time on the horizontal axis and distance to a reference point on the vertical axis. The trajectories of individual vehicles are shown by sloping lines. The slope of the line represents the speed of the vehicle: A horizontal line represents a stopped vehicle and a higher slope signifies a higher velocity. Acceleration and deceleration are displayed by the change of slope: Deceleration causes the slopes of the lines to flatten, while acceleration causes the slopes to increase. If two vehicles are moving on the same lane on the road, the vertical distance displays the headway between these vehicles. Therefore, crossing lines indicate a collision if the respective vehicles were driving on the same lane.

Fig. 23.4a gives a case example to demonstrate the usage of time-space diagrams to describe the course of interactions between several drivers: While the vehicles 1 and 2 approach the intersection from the left side, the vehicles 3 and 4 approach from the right



Fig. 23.4 Starting conditions of the case example (a). Time-space-diagram for the case example (b)

side. Vehicles 3 and 4 have right of way because the priority-to-the-right rule applies at the intersection.

Vehicle 1 reaches and crosses the intersection first (see Fig. 23.4b). Afterwards, vehicle 2 reaches the intersection area. However, the driver decelerates (as the slope of the line decreases) to give vehicle 3 the chance to cross the intersection. Vehicle 4 also decelerates and stops approximately 15 m prior to the intersection (as the line becomes horizontal), but accelerates again and crosses the intersection. Finally, vehicle 2 crosses the intersection.

#### 23.4.2 Selection of Parameters Describing a Platoon of Drivers

Studies conducted in multi-road user simulations enable the investigation of drivers' interaction. As a result of interacting with each other, individual behaviour may be influenced. Thus, the driving behaviour of one driver might not only be affected by the manipulated variable that is focused on in an experiment. As a result, the causal relationship between a manipulated and a response variable cannot be investigated properly. The interaction of drivers must be taken into account to ensure the internal validity of the results. For example, in a lane change scenario, conditions and circumstances leading to cooperative behaviour may be investigated in multi-road user simulation. Drivers might show specific driving behaviour prior to a lane change request (e. g. drive aggressively) that may affect the willingness to cooperatively allow a lane change. Thus, the causal relationship between the circumstances of a lane change request (manipulated variable) and the number of cooperative lane changes (response variable) cannot be analysed without taking into account the interaction of the drivers [11, 12].

To address this issue, parameters describing the interaction of drivers must be developed. Parameters were suggested to describe a platoon of drivers: the *platoon's standard*  deviation of the lateral position (SDLP) and the platoon's length [3]. The platoon's SDLP describes the lateral control of a platoon of drivers in an interaction scenario. The *pla*toon's length describes the longitudinal control of a platoon. The longitudinal control of the vehicle does not provide any information of each driver's position within the platoon; therefore, this parameter was modified for an URBAN study with three drivers. Their individual car-following behaviour and thus the arrangement within the platoon may differ, although the *platoon's length* is equal. To address this issue, the *difference in distances* (DiD) between two queued drivers within a platoon of three drivers was proposed [11, 12]. The distances between the third and second driver and between the second and first driver are measured followed by calculating the difference between these distances. Here the distance between the third and second driver is subtracted from the distance between the second and first one. A small DiD around zero shows equal distances between the drivers in the platoon (see Fig. 23.5 below). A larger DiD represents unequal distances between the drivers. A large negative DiD indicates a higher distance between the third and second driver than between the second and first driver (see Fig. 23.5 above). A large positive DiD indicates a higher distance between the second and the first driver than between the third and second one (see Fig. 23.5 center).

The DiD can be plotted across relevant scenarios describing the arrangement of three drivers within a platoon over time (see Fig. 23.6). In the example in Fig. 23.6, the DiD was plotted across a start-up manoeuvre from the moment the first driver starts up until the third driver passes the stop line. At the beginning, the DiD increases steadily. This means that



Fig. 23.5 The differences in distances (DiD) represents the formation within a platoon of three drivers



Fig. 23.6 Calculated differences in distances within a platoon of drivers for a start-up manoeuvre

the distance between the first and the second driver increases until reaching its maximum. From this point, the DiD decreases indicating that the distances between the first and the second vehicle decreases. Based on this approach, drivers' interaction behaviour can be described. Parameters such as the mean, maximum, minimum or standard deviation of the DiD describe the behaviour of three drivers in a platoon.

# 23.4.3 Cross Correlation – A Method to Quantify and Assess Social Interaction in Multi-Road User Simulation

Analyzing driving data by means of safety measures is the common approach. Time-tocollision respectively time-to-arrival (TTC/TTA), post-encroachment-time (PET), average velocity or maximum braking power are just a few to be mentioned when focusing on driving behaviour in real world or simulator experiments. These measures support a crosssectional analysis concerning the underlying processes and stated hypothesis. However, social interaction between road users is a time-based process and the aforementioned approach lacks the potential to register the mutual behaviour adaption between different traffic participants encountering each other [13].

In urban traffic, these encounters occur more often due to traffic density and more heterogeneous road users compared to rural roads or highways. To consider these social interactions in case of traffic conflict research, time-based methods have to be taken into account when analyzing data of traffic related experiments. These time-series analyses are popular in other disciplines (i. e., physics or climate research) but more seldom in microscopic traffic research.

In driving simulators, it is quite easy to record all the data that are produced by the simulation and additional external equipment such as eye-tracking, driver information, or

driver assistance systems as they are implemented in the simulator. Real world observation or field tests require additional effort to extract the data needed for the analysis of the interesting time series. These might contain additional information about the underlying action and reaction of involved road users.

A well-known measure in time-series analysis is the cross correlation of two signals calculating the similarity between them [14]. The correlation depends on the time shift (lag) of one series to the other series. This method aims at finding the necessary lag to produce the maximum correlation between the considered time series and thereupon draw conclusions concerning the interaction of systems.

In the case of two urban road users, using the example of car driver and pedestrian encounters, the cross correlation can be analysed using the speed signals. The latter can be recorded in a driving simulator experiment with connected simulators and different types of crossing situations (free lane, occlusion situation, pedestrian crossing) and types of pedestrians. The different behaviours of the participants are shown in Figs. 23.7 and 23.8.

Fig. 23.7 shows the speed signals of the car driver (top) and the signal of a programmed pedestrian (middle), which is not able to interact with the driver. Its street crossing behaviour is programmed meaning the programmed pedestrian starts to cross the street with a predefined distance to the driver without looking right or left or being able to adapt the behaviour (speed) in regard to the driving behaviour. In this case, the pedestrian is the leading time series (leading road user) and only the driver is able to react which manifests in negative time shift to gain the maximum correlation between the two speed signals. This behaviour is quite uncommon as pedestrians show mainly a safety oriented crossing behaviour due to their human characteristics (i. e. vulnerability).



Fig. 23.7 Cross correlation of car and pedestrian speed signals in free lane situation (programmed pedestrian)



**Fig. 23.8** Cross correlation of car and pedestrian speed signals in free lane situation (human controlled pedestrian)

In contrast, Fig. 23.8 shows the cross correlation function of the behaviour adaption process between two humans that encounter each other in a linked driver-pedestriansimulation. Here, through the heterogeneity of the speed signals and the resulting cross correlation it is obvious that interaction by means of speed adaption took place and is quantifiable by the displayed method. In this case, the car is the leading series (leading road user) because the necessary time shift to identify the maximum correlation is positive.

In summary, cross correlating the two speed signals of road users that intend to use the same traffic infrastructure (i. e. street segment) supports statements concerning their interaction behaviour. Further, it is possible to identify the leading series and the mutual time to reaction (time shift). Therefore, a quantification of social interaction in traffic is feasible through velocity signal analysis. Adding results of glance behaviour of both parties and posture analysis of pedestrians at the curb could complete the image of interpersonal communication in synthetic environments such as driving simulations.

#### 23.5 Conclusion

This chapter provides an overview of methodological aspects relevant for conducting studies in multi-road user simulations. For this purpose, the conclusions based on several studies using various types of multi-road user simulations (driver-driver simulation, driver-pedestrian-simulation, driver-motorcyclist simulation) during the UR:BAN project are taken into account.

It turns out that methodological specifics and challenges are relevant for all stages of a scientific study – from planning and conducting a study to analyzing data. Compared to single-driver simulations, these specifics might have beneficial as much as detrimental effects. On the one hand interaction between road users can be examined. One the other hand, studies in multi-road user simulation constitute the need for a more complex and tailored study methodology. Thus, prior to a study, researchers need to decide what type of driving simulation may be used to most effectively answer the postulated research questions.

It is obvious that using a multi-road user simulation is more complex than working with a single-driver simulation. The scenario design is very important – only with an appropriate design it is possible to create social interactions between road users. Besides, more participants, experimenters and technical equipment are needed for conducting studies in multi-road user simulations resulting in a heighten probability of artefacts, failures and problems. Furthermore, participation of several drivers reduces controllability and reproducibility of the experimental situation. This reduces internal validity, which corresponds to the causal relationship between the independent and dependent variables. Instead, the single-driver simulation guarantees a high degree of internal validity - therefore, it is more suitable for research issues which require highly controlled test situations (e.g. controllability of driver assistance system failures). Besides, connected driving simulators lose their benefit when the focus of research is on the single driver and surrounding traffic is less important. This applies, for example, for the investigation of driver states. When examining the effects of distraction, alcohol, or fatigue on driving behaviour the interaction with surrounding traffic might be of lower priority. As well, the multi-road user simulation might not be appropriate for studies analyzing usability of driver information systems or driver assistance systems, as the interaction with these systems is often investigated and not the interaction with other road users.

In contrast, the multi-road user simulation enables new options to measure, describe, and analyse behaviour of single drivers as well as groups of drivers. Moreover, it allows investigating social interactions – the actions and mutual reactions between drivers which are crucial for traffic safety, traffic flow, and traffic climate. This is a benefit compared to single-driver simulations which use driver models with predetermined behaviour as surrounding traffic. Simulated driver models interact with other road users not at all or only insufficiently. Instead, human drivers show human behaviour, which makes test scenarios more realistic and enhances external validity and, therefore, the generalization of results. Studies in the multi-road user simulation enhance knowledge concerning interactions between road users. This knowledge in turn might be used to improve simulated driver models used in the single-driver simulation.

Due to these benefits, connected driving simulators are suitable for all questions regarding social interactions between road users. Interactions occur every time road users encounter each other and have to react to the other road user's behaviour. Interactions are affected by various factors such as cooperation or aggression. Furthermore, new technologies may influence interactions. Assistance systems (supporting or overtaking a part of the driving task) may produce driving behaviour that is not anticipatable or predictable for other road users. For instance, a traffic light assistant helps drivers to adapt their driving behaviour anticipatorily to the upcoming traffic light status. This manifests itself in, for example, slowing down while the traffic light is still on green or stopping prior to the stop line. Surrounding traffic without the assistance might not understand this behaviour as they have no information about the upcoming traffic situation. A multi-road user simulation allows analyzing the effects of this system on other drivers. Moreover, by increasing the number of drivers in a simulation the effects of different penetration rates on the whole traffic system could be investigated.

If the technical restrictions are solved, a multi-road user simulation consisting of several cars, trucks, motorcycles, bicycles and pedestrians is imaginable. Such a multi-road user simulation would create a real traffic system in a simulated environment which allows investigating more complex and safety-critical phenomena without putting participants at risk. At the same time, external validity increases enables to transfer results to the real world.

#### References

- Will, S., Mark, C., Neukum, A., Kaussner, A.: Motorcycle-Car Multi-Driver Simulation A new methodological Approach towards increased Powered Two Wheeler safety. 10th International Motorcycle Conference, Cologne, 29.09.–30.09.2014 (2014)
- Hancock, P.A., De Ridder, S.N.: Behavioural accident avoidance science: understanding response in collision incipient conditions. Ergonomics 46(12), 1111–1135 (2003)
- Muehlbacher, D., Zimmer, J., Fischer, F., Krüger, H.-P.: The multi-driver simulator a new concept of driving simulation for the analysis of interactions between several drivers. In: de Waard, D., Onnasch, L., Wiczorek, R., Manzey, D. (eds.) Human Centred Automation, pp. 147–158. Shaker, Maastricht (2011)
- 4. Muehlbacher, D.: Die Pulksimulation als Methode zur Untersuchung verkehrspsychologischer Fragestellungen. Doctoral Disseration, University of Würzburg, Germany (2013)
- Oeltze, K., Schie
  ßl, C.: Benefits and challenges of multi-driver-simulator studies. Iet Intell Transport Syst 9(6), 618–625 (2015)
- Jaho, E., Karaliopoulos, M., Stavrakakis, I.: Social Similarity as a Driver for Selfish, Cooperative and Altruistic Behavior. In. 2010 IEEE International Symposium on A World of Wireless, Mobile and Multimedia Networks (WoWMoM). IEEE, Montreal, Canada, pp 1–6 (2010)
- Blockey, P.N., Hartley, L.R.: Aberrant driving behaviour: errors and violations. Ergonomics 38(9), 1759–1771 (1995)
- 8. Chaloupka-Risser, C., Risser, R., Zuzan, W.D.: Verkehrspsychologie: Grundlagen und Anwendungen. facultas.wuv, Wien (2011)
- Rittger, L., Mühlbacher, D., Maag, C., Kiesel, A.: Anger and bother experience when driving with a traffic light assistant: A multi-driver simulator study. In: d. Waard, D., Sauer, J., Röttger, S., Kluge, A., Manzey, D., Weikert, C., Toffetti, A., Wiczorek, R., Brookhuis, K., Hoonhout, J. (eds.) Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Europe Chapter 2014 Annual Conference (pp. 41–51). http://hfes-europe.org. (ISSN 2333-4959)
- Houtenbos, M.: Expecting the unexpected: a study of interactive driving behaviour at intersections. University of Technology, Delft (2008)

- Oeltze, K., Dotzauer, M.: Towards A Best Practice For Multi-Driver Simulator Studies. Workshop on Practical Experiences in Measuring and Modeling Drivers and Driver-Vehicle Interactions at AutomotiveUI'15. (2015)
- Preuk, K., Stemmler, E.: Interdisziplinäre Bewertung der Auswirkung eines Fahrers mit Ampelassistenz auf nicht-ausgestattete Fahrer. In: VDI-Gesellschaft Fahrzeug- und Verkehrstechnik (ed.) 8. VDI-Tagung "Der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert", pp. 3–16. VDI, Braunschweig (2015)
- Lehsing, C., Kracke, A., Bengler, K.: Urban Perception A Cross Correlation Approach Towards the Quantification of Social Interaction in a Multiple Simulator Setting. Proceedings of the 18th IEEE International Conference onIntelligent Transportation Systems, Gran Canary. (2015)
- Yanovitzky, I., van Lear, A.: Time Series Analysis: Traditional and Contemporary Approaches. In: Hayes, A.F., Slater, M.D., Snyder, L.B. (eds.) The Sage sourcebook of advanced data analysis methods for communication research. Sage Publications, Los Angeles (2008)

# Part VI

Controllability and Safety in Use Assessment of Advanced Driver Assistance Systems

# Development and Evaluation of Methods to Assess Controllability and Safety in Use Within the UR:BAN Project

24

# Alexandra Neukum and Norbert Schneider

The subproject UR:BAN KON "Controllability" developed and evaluated methods which can be used to assess safety and controllability in early-stage development of new driver assistance systems. The empirical studies focused on assistance systems helping the driver to avoid collisions in time-critical scenarios. Although these advanced driver assistance systems get more and more "intelligent" and "efficient" they also get more complex which poses a great challenge for the assessment and evaluation of safety and controllability. Especially, emergency steering and evasion assistants require strong interventions which makes it more difficult to control a false positive activation. However, these advanced driver assistance systems could also help to avoid casualties, as in many cases it can be assumed that the driver would not have been able to avoid a collision at all.

Within the subproject KON we tried to address this problem by exemplarily analysing emergency steering and evasion assistants which help the driver to avoid collisions in time-critical scenarios. We could identify several factors like the available manoeuvring space, the drivers' attention and characteristics of the system design, which have an influence on controllability in case of a false positive activation and safety in use. To optimize efficiency of the safety and controllability assessment we evaluated the applicability of several existing research environments, like driving simulation, the so called Vehicle in the Loop (VIL), which combines elements of driving simulation and a real vehicle, and real vehicle testing on a closed test track. Additionally, new approaches to assess controllability were tested which focus on the reactions of the surrounding traffic instead of solely considering the reactions of the affected driver.

In the following chapters, we will start with methodological questions of controllability assessment (Chap. 25), which focus on the validity and applicability of different research environments. Using basic driving tasks as an example the results of a study will be pre-

A. Neukum (⊠) · N. Schneider

Center for Traffic Sciences (IZVW), University of Wuerzburg Wuerzburg, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_24

sented which compares driving simulators (static/dynamic) and the Vehicle in the Loop with real vehicle testing on a closed test track. The results will be discussed regarding potential application areas of the addressed research environments and whether it is possible to generalise the environment specific results.

Chap. 26 focuses on studies with the Vehicle in the Loop. Two studies will be reported. The first study analysed how occupied opposite lanes influence the drivers' reaction in case of an intervention of an emergency steering and evasion assistant. The second study dealt with the reaction of the surrounding traffic in case of steering system failures. Based on the results of this study it will be discussed whether the surrounding traffic can be considered when assessing controllability.

Chap. 27 dedicated to the methodological aspect of test scenario design. It focuses on the influence of the available manoeuvring space in case of a false positive activation. Additionally, methods to detect the drivers' override intention based on objective data will be presented and discussed regarding their applicability to differentiate between true positive and false positive interventions.

With respect to controllability aspects, Chap. 28 discusses potential intervention strategies which can be used to design an emergency steering and evasion assistant and summarises current findings. The results of real vehicle and driving simulator studies will be reported, which focussed on the effect of warning and driver intention/override detection concepts. Based on these results and a literature review recommendations for the design of emergency steering and evasion assistants will be given.

The last chapter (Chap. 29) addresses the influence of secondary tasks on the drivers' reaction in case of an erroneous steering intervention. Different ways to induce driver distraction will be discussed and two exemplary studies will be reported.

# Validity of Research Environments – Comparing Criticality Perceptions Across Research Environments

Christian Purucker, Norbert Schneider, Fabian Rüger, and Alexander Frey

# 25.1 Introduction

The German research initiative UR:BAN pursues the improvement of safety in urban traffic by investigating and developing new advanced driver assistance systems (ADAS) and traffic control measures [1]. Various new ADAS are currently subject to research that includes emergency steering and braking functions that may even steer and brake autonomously for a limited amount of time. These systems are likely to increase overall traffic safety, but they also have introduced new challenges for controllability research because systems as well as deployment scenarios have become increasingly complex. According to industrial standards such as ISO 26262 [2], overall system controllability for human drivers must be established even with possible system failures. Various guidelines exist for this context, including the RESPONSE Code of Practice [3] and the European Statement of Principles on Human Machine Interface [4]. Although those guidelines provide some general rules on how to conduct human driver controllability relying on empirical tests with human test subjects, they remain rather coarse with regard to the choice of appropriate research environments (e. g. test track vehicles or driving simulators).

The aim of the KON ("Controllability") subproject within the UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic key issue is the development and evaluation of new and existing methodologies

C. Purucker (🖂) · N. Schneider

Center for Traffic Sciences (IZVW), University of Wuerzburg Wuerzburg, Germany

F. Rüger

Human Factors Institute, Universität der Bundeswehr München Neubiberg, Germany

A. Frey

Automated Driving, Federal Highway Research Institute (BASt) Bergisch Gladbach, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_25

for the assessment of system controllability. The study herein presented addresses the choice of test environments and driving simulator validity for specific questions in the area of controllability research as outlined above. The series of experiments focused on perceptional aspects that are of particular relevance to controllability research on ADAS in urban contexts. In particular, human perceptions of longitudinal distances during carfollowing, lateral distances when driving through narrow road zones, and perceptions of lead vehicle accelerations and decelerations during carfollowing were investigated.

The following theory section gives a short overview on related aspects of human perceptions of vehicle speed, longitudinal and lateral distances, and decelerations of lead vehicles during car-following. Problems involved with the choice of research environments in recent controllability research are addressed, e. g. questions regarding how research environments differ from one another and how results obtained in one research environment can be transferred to another. The method section describes the study's general approach, the scenarios that have been used in the research, and the four research environments: a static driving simulator, a dynamic driving simulator, a hybrid between a test track vehicle and simulator (a so-called Vehicle-in-the-Loop, VIL), and a test track vehicle. Subsequently, the results are reported and discussed. Implications for future research are provided.

### 25.2 Theoretical Background: Validity of Research Environments

In the following section, literature findings from the field of simulator validity research and research on human perception in consideration of the subsequent empirical study are presented. The structure loosely follows a book chapter by Mullen, Charlton, Devlin and Bédard [5], which is also suggested as a comprehensive review on current simulator validity research. The following topics will be addressed: choices and perceptions of vehicle speeds, longitudinal distances to lead vehicles, lateral distances in narrow road passages, and perceptions of braking and acceleration during car-following. If relevant to the current empirical studies, common measures will be described as well. The appropriateness of different research environments for specific research questions will be discussed, and works on the transfer of results from one research environment to another will be noted.

#### 25.2.1 Choice of Vehicle Speed and Speed Perception

It should first be noted that the perception and production of vehicle velocities was not the direct focus of the present study; the scope of the UR:BAN project was German inner-city environments, and therefore vehicle speeds were limited to lower speeds (except on inner-city highways, the speed limit in German cities is 50 km/h). However, the influence of perceived vehicle speeds on the results obtained in the presented study cannot be ruled out, which is why the literature on human vehicle speed perception should be briefly reviewed.

Findings in the literature on choice and perception of vehicle velocities in driving simulators [5] are mixed. Although some studies considered drivers' self-determined choices of vehicle speeds (speed production) and perception of vehicle speeds in driving simulators to be absolutely valid when compared to real vehicles [6–8], other studies claimed only relative validity [6, 9–13], e. g. when looking at the effectiveness of speed-reducing measures on speed production [14, 15]. Other studies found neither relative nor absolute validity of speed behaviours observed in driving simulators [16].

Velocity differences between driving simulations and real vehicles have been reported in both directions [5, 17]. Some works state that drivers tend to drive faster in driving simulators [7, 12, 18, 19], whereas other works report lower speeds [10, 11, 14]. The effects of structural measures on speed reduction in driving simulations compared to real traffic environments have been reported to be similar [14, 20] or greater [15].

Some works have reported a lower perception of speed in driving simulator environments [21–23]. A single work differentiated between speed production and speed perception [12]; the produced speeds tended to be higher in the driving simulation compared to driving in a real vehicle, whereas low speeds tended to be perceived as higher.

Some sources have argued about the reasons for observed differences in speed production and perception between real vehicles and driving simulators [17, 22, 23]; for example, not all environmental cues important for speed estimation are available in driving simulations. Works have also discussed how speed perception in driving simulations can be improved by visual and technical measures, e. g. by extending the available field of view (e. g. [22]).

Although the findings in the literature are heterogeneous in some respects, one can expect that differences in speed perception between driving simulators and real vehicles also lead to differences in perceptions of longitudinal and lateral distances to lead vehicles or narrow road zones.

#### 25.2.2 Choice and Perception of Longitudinal Distances

Longitudinal distances to preceding vehicles in car-following scenarios are usually measured as time distances (Time Headway, THW). There are several studies that describe observed time distances in real traffic and driving simulators (i. e., [24, 25]) or determinants of driven time distances (cf. [26]). For urban areas, reported mean THWs range between 1.75 s (SD = 0.65; [27]) and 2.11 s (SD = 1.00; [25]).

Various predictors have been identified to influence the THW. The speed of the vehicle was found to exert a strong influence on the THW, with lower speeds leading to larger THWs and THWs being roughly constant at a value of 1.25 s for speeds greater than 15 m/s [26]. Regarding road type, researchers found that THWs on highways usually were lower than in urban areas, with values less than 2 s [26, 28]. Another factor that influences the observed THW is traffic density; higher densities decrease mean observed THWs down to approximately 1 s [29, 28].

A large body of research on driving simulator validity provides evidence for at least relative validity (if not absolute validity) in most areas of investigation, including choice of speed, brake onset or risky traffic behaviours (cf. [5]). To our best knowledge, however, indepth investigations of THW have attracted only limited research interest to date (cf. [30] for an exception), and in particular validity assessments of THW criticality perceptions during car following tasks are largely missing. In a study comparing THWs at different higher speeds, Stam [30] found no differences between a static driving simulator and a test track vehicle. However, the study did not involve lower driving speeds or assess participants' criticality perceptions of the different time distances.

### 25.2.3 Choice and Perception of Lateral Distances

Common measures for lateral distances in the driving simulator validity literature usually focus on lateral vehicle position within the lane. Measures such as the distance of the front tire on the passenger side of the vehicle to the corresponding lane marking are not uncommon (cf. [5]); however, in simulator research, measures such as the deviation of the vehicle centre from the middle of the lane or the road are often preferred because vehicle dimensions in simulator environments are often only virtually represented rather than represented as physical objects.

Various studies address the validity of lateral vehicle positions between driving simulations and real vehicles. Blana and Golias [31] compared driving on a real road section with a corresponding simulator drive. They observed that drivers in the real vehicle kept closer to the centre of the road and that the standard deviation of the lane position was higher in the driving simulator. However, strongly moderated results were observed for vehicle velocity and type of road section (curved or straight), e. g. these effects generally only emerged at speeds faster than 60 km/h.

Törnros [13] compared tunnel driving between a driving simulation and real world driving. The drivers, who were accustomed to Swedish right-hand traffic, tended to drive in the driving simulator with a lateral displacement to the right of 0.13 m, in effect positioning their vehicles closer to the tunnel wall. The effects of structural measures for speed reduction, e. g. narrow road zones, have been described to be equally [14, 20] or even more effective in driving simulations in comparison to real world driving [15]. Van der Horst [32] investigated the effects of varying narrow road zones between 2.25 m to 2.75 m on speed reduction, but he did not directly compare his results to a subsequent real world drive. Reichel [33] found that a narrow zone of 2.25 m marked by balloon-cars was the narrowest lateral distance that drivers would drive through on a test track.

Summarizing those findings, it can be expected that drivers accustomed to right-hand traffic tend to drive with a lateral displacement to the right-hand side in driving simulators, and narrow road zones might lead to speed reductions as well.

#### 25.2.4 Perception of Braking During Car Following

Common measures to assess a driver's braking behaviour are the time interval between a driving event and the time the driver needs to take his foot from the accelerator pedal, the time he needs to initiate pressure on the brake pedal, the elapsed time until a maximum brake pressure is reached, or until the maximum brake pressure applied. In addition, vehicle dynamics, such as the maximum vehicle deceleration, can be considered.

Only a few works in the literature address the comparison of braking behaviours observed in driving simulators and real world drives (cf. [34]; [35]; [36]). It is generally assumed that braking behaviours in both environments are similar [34]; [35]. As an example, Hoffman, Lee, Brown, and McGehee [35] reported that braking reaction time as well as braking force profiles in driving simulators were similar to those observed in real world driving. Similarly, McGehee, Mazzae, and Baldwin [36] observed that braking reaction times equalled each other. On the contrary, Neukum, Naujoks, Kappes, and Wey [37] reported that braking reaction times, particularly following strong braking manoeuvres of lead vehicles, were slower in a driving simulation than in the real vehicle. Compensating for this, applied braking forces as well as subjective criticality perceptions were higher in the driving simulator.

Based on those latter findings, one could expect that braking reaction times in driving simulators are slower and applied braking forces are higher than those in real world driving. Considering the other empirical works, one would expect that drivers in driving simulators will rate the situations as critical or even more critical when compared to real world drives.

#### 25.2.5 Choice of an Appropriate Research Environment

The choice of an appropriate research environment is a central issue for the generalizability of results obtained from research on human controllability of ADAS. Although there is a wide spectrum of available research environments and methodologies (cf. [38] for an overview from research on forward collision mitigation systems), most methods have unique advantages and disadvantages that must be considered carefully before making a decision. The methodological trade-off between "experimental standardization" and "ecological validity" as depicted in Fig. 25.1 serves as an example trade-off that must be considered when making a decision between, for example, a driving simulator or onroad test drives as a research environment. However, the trade-off between research environments is often not clear-cut and involves multiple judgmental dimensions that may be specific to a particular research question.

For example, safety-critical system functions can hardly be tested in real, naturalistic traffic conditions, although this might be favourable from the viewpoint of generalizability. Although controllability researchers in the past often relied on test track studies to capture participants' reactions towards functional interventions on vehicle dynamics such



as ABS or ESP, this may not be an adequate choice for the evaluation of ADAS that were developed to assist human drivers in complex urban scenarios. When making a decision to perform research on a test track or even in a naturalistic traffic environment, the following aspects must be considered:

- Safety reasons: In tests involving real vehicles and drivers, safety is always a concern. Adequate measures must be taken to ensure the driver's safety, and some questions may not be addressed this way.
- Standardization: Experimental control is highly desirable to obtain unambiguous results; this can be a problem for naturalistic driving on real roads. On the contrary, high standardization, e.g. on test tracks, may lead to unrealistic and artificial driving situations with obviously low ecological validity.
- Feasibility: Particularly in the early development stages of vehicle functions or when testing interactions with infrastructural measures, some factors under investigation may not be easily represented with a functional or tangible prototype.
- Complexity: Extending the problem of feasibility, complex naturalistic traffic scenarios that involve the coordination of multiple agents such as vehicles or other road users in particular are difficult to realise in a systematic way on a test track or in a naturalistic driving scene.
- Technical and financial effort: The above-mentioned factors may lead to requirements for test track studies or studies in naturalistic traffic that require extended technical and financial efforts.

On the contrary, driving simulators overcome some of the previously mentioned restrictions because complex or potentially dangerous traffic constellations can be simulated with ease and without endangering participants. However, fundamental issues concerning vestibular or visual feedback in simulator environments [17, 39] might limit the validity and therefore the suitability of simulator environments for controllability research. Several works address these deviations in driving simulator studies and studies using real vehicles [17, 22, 23]. The following list mentions some of these aspects that should be considered when opting for driving simulator research:

- Lack of visual detail: The amount of details of geometries, proportions, object densities, textures, among others are likely to be reduced in even the newest types of simulator environments.
- Other shortcomings of visual display: In addition, other shortcomings in spatio-temporal resolution, graphical performance, colour dynamics, luminance, surface display, and rendering errors may occur.
- Availability of spatial cues: Not all spatial cues used for object location are available in a simulator environment, e.g. a third dimension is often missing for the scenery display.
- Acoustical cues: The presentation of sounds might deviate from that in a naturalistic environment.
- Object physics: Some possibly relevant physical cues may not be displayed in a simulator environment.
- Vehicle dynamics: Even high-end simulators typically are unable to simulate and display all dynamic forces that are at play in the real vehicle (e.g. longer translational forces).
- Ecological or "eyesight" validity: Participants are usually fully aware that they are in a simulated environment; this may, as an example, lead to an altered perception and reaction towards threats.
- Motion sickness: Some participants experience a simulator specific sickness when acting in a virtual space.
- Training efforts: To overcome some of the aforementioned shortcomings and particularly to observe realistic participant behaviours, extended simulator training might be necessary to obtain valid results.

Of course, not all of these aspects apply to all simulators in a similar way – the variety of driving simulators usually relied on extends from very basic desktop simulators to static driving simulators with conceptual or realistic vehicle mock-ups to full-scale dy-namic driving simulators that are capable of simulating components of the actual vehicle motion.

As an approach to overcome some of these limitations, a Vehicle-in-the-Loop (VIL) was developed as a hybrid between a test track vehicle and a driving simulator. In a VIL, the driver actually drives a real car on a test track while wearing a non-transparent head-mounted display. Visually, the driver is completely immersed in a virtual world, but he feels real vehicle dynamics from the test track vehicle at the same time [40].

# 25.2.6 Transfer of Results Between Research Environments

In addition to a consideration of the specific advantages and disadvantages, the question of the validity and generalizability of results is at the core of all decisions in favour of or against a particular research environment. Comparisons and the calculation of transfer functions for results obtained in different research environments may, under certain circumstances, allow research results to be generalized. It has been shown that functions that have been calculated and validated in a certain research environment can be at least partially transferred to other research environments. As an example, Andersen and Sauer [41] showed how model parameters used in the prediction of driver performance and THW can be transferred from a driving simulation to a real vehicle. In another case, Neukum, Naujoks, Kappes, and Wey [37] showed how results on braking reaction times obtained in a simulator experiment relate to braking reaction times in a real vehicle.

### 25.3 Methodology

#### 25.3.1 Research Environments

A total of four different research environments were used for each of the experiments performed in the study. The research environments were

- a static driving simulator (located at the BASt),
- a dynamic driving simulator (located at the WIVW),
- a VIL (located at the UniBw), and
- a test track vehicle (located at the UniBw).

The experiments were conducted in each of the research environments separately using the same experimental procedures. Each research environment is described in detail in the following section to allow a better intercomparison of the environments. All of the environments allowed the recording of various objective measurement parameters of the vehicle dynamics and driving situations.

#### 25.3.1.1 Static Driving Simulator (BASt)

The static, fixed base driving simulator at the BASt consisted of a fully instrumented, conceptual vehicle mock-up that was positioned in front of projection screens (Fig. 25.2). The size of each screen was 2.8 m to 2.1 m (width x height). In total, the projector screens roughly constituted a 180° front view. Interior and exterior rear-view mirrors were simulated by correspondingly sized small LCD displays. A surround sound system was completed by a seat-mounted bass shaker that provided realistic vehicle sounds and vibrations. The SILAB (v4.0; WIVW GmbH) driving simulation software was used. The simulated vehicle dynamics were derived from a model E39 BMW 520i with an automatic transmission.



Fig. 25.2 The BASt static driving simulator used in the study

# 25.3.1.2 Dynamic Driving Simulator (IZVW)

The dynamic, moving base driving simulator used by the IZVW was located at the WIVW GmbH (Fig. 25.3). The physical vehicle mock-up was identical to a fully instrumented, production type BMW 520i with automatic transmission. The motion system consisted of a Stewart platform with 6 electro-pneumatic actuators (stroke  $\pm 60$  cm; inclination  $\pm 10^{\circ}$ ). With its six degrees of freedom, it was able to briefly display a linear acceleration of up to 5 m/s<sup>2</sup> or  $100^{\circ}/s^2$  on a rotary scale. Three LCD projectors were installed in the dome of the dynamic simulator and provided a  $180^{\circ}$  front view; each projector had a screen resolution of  $1400 \times 1050$  pixels. LCD displays served as exterior and interior rear-view mirrors. A Dolby 5.1 surround sound system and a seat-mounted bass shaker contributed to the 3D sound experience. The SILAB (v4.0; WIVW GmbH) driving simulation software was used for environment visualization and vehicle dynamics; as with the static simulator, a BMW 520i's vehicle dynamics were simulated.

# 25.3.1.3 Vehicle-in-the-Loop (UniBw)

The VIL was a hybrid between a test track vehicle and a driving simulation (Fig. 25.4). The driver moved an Audi A6 on a test track while wearing a head mounted display, which in turn displayed a completely virtual world. The Audi A6 was also used as the test track



Fig. 25.3 The WIVW dynamic driving simulator used in the study



Fig. 25.4 The UniBw Vehicle-in-the-Loop (VIL) used in the study

vehicle in the studies. A detailed description of the system can be found in Berg, Karl, and Färber [42]; however, the system used for the current experiment used an nVIS ST50 as a head mounted display. Moreover, the head tracking latency had been greatly improved for the current studies. The Virtual Test Drive [43] simulation software was used.
#### 25.3.1.4 Test Track Vehicle (UniBw)

The test track vehicle used in the study was an Audi A6 3.0 TDI Avant with an automatic transmission (Fig. 25.5). It was equipped with on-board computers for measuring vehicle signals and signals for exact position tracking (iTrace RT-F200 and DGPS).

### 25.3.2 Scale for Criticality Assessment

To assess the situational criticality according to the participant's subjective perception, the scale for criticality assessment of driving and traffic scenarios [44] (Fig. 25.6) was used in the current study's experiments. The scale is based on a two-step rating procedure in which participants have to rate the criticality of a situation they experienced while driving. In the procedure, they classify their judgment into the numerically anchored judgment categories: "imperceptible" (0), "harmless" (1–3), "unpleasant" (4–6), "dangerous" (7–9), or "uncontrollable" (10). The numeric values allowed the participants to indicate tendencies to lower or higher categories. The "dangerous" or "uncontrollable" categories (all numeric values equal or larger than 7) represent scenarios or situations that drivers would not accept in real traffic. The rating scale was originally developed by Neukum and Krüger [45] as an evaluation tool for the evaluation of malfunctions of active steering systems. Later, the scale was extended to the criticality assessment of driving and traffic scenarios, and its validity for research uses has been assessed in several studies (e. g. [37, 44]).

For the statistical modelling procedure used in the current work, the numeric values obtained during the study were recoded into the three main categories: "harmless", "unpleasant" and "dangerous".



Fig. 25.5 The UniBW test track vehicle used in the study



# 25.3.3 Ordinal Logistic Regression

To obtain transfer functions for the criticality perceptions across research environments for each of the experiments in the study, ordinal logistic regressions of the following form were calculated:

Sit. Crit.~
$$\beta_1 \times \text{Exp. Cond.} + \beta_2 \times \text{Res. Env.}_{\text{Dyn. Driv. Sim.}} + \beta_3 \times \text{Res. Env.}_{\text{Stat. Driv. Sim.}} + \beta_4 \times \text{Res. Env.}_{\text{VII.}} + \varepsilon$$
(25.1)

Ordinal (also called ordered) logistic regression allows modelling ordinal outcome data as in the case of the scale for criticality assessment of driving and traffic scenarios and predicting the probabilities of the categories of the ordinal independent variable from categorical or continuous dependent variables using a logit link function. More precisely, the model estimates the cutpoints on an assumed latent variable that contribute to the realization of the categories of the ordinal independent variable (for a detailed introduction cf. [46, 47]). The model interpretation can be performed by relying on odds ratios or more conveniently, as exemplified below, by the calculation and graphical plotting of predicted probabilities. Following that procedure, it is possible, for example, to make predictions of the percentage of "dangerous" ratings that occur at a certain level of the experimental variable for a specific research environment.

#### 25.3.4 Test Scenarios and Trial Composition

To compare and validate the four different research environments, several scenarios addressing different perceptional aspects were implemented in each of the environments. Three scenarios focused on the perception and evaluation of longitudinal distances to a lead vehicle (perception and production of different THWs and perception of TTCs),

**Fig. 25.6** The scale for criticality assessment of driving and traffic scenarios [44]

one scenario focused on the perception of lead vehicle decelerations, and one scenario focused on the perception of lateral distances in narrow road zones. For each scenario, different variations regarding the situational criticality were created following published findings from previous studies. All participants drove through each of the variations in successive order. To control for learning effects, the order of the various factor levels in each of the experiments was randomized between participants.

# 25.3.4.1 Perception of Longitudinal Distances

As noted in the theory section, longitudinal distances are likely perceived slightly differently in driving simulators than in real vehicles. The first scenario implemented in the study assessed the criticality perception of the THW of the driver's vehicle to a lead vehicle. The lead vehicle drove with a constant speed of 50 km/h, and the THWs chosen as a following distance were 0.75 s, 1.50 s, and 2.25 s. When the participants had established the desired THW, they were asked to rate the THW on the scale for criticality assessment.

## 25.3.4.2 Production of Longitudinal Distances

Complementing the experiment on the perception of THWs between the driver's vehicle to a lead vehicle with fixed THWs, another experiment was implemented where the participants had to produce THWs to a lead vehicle according to the three levels of the scale for criticality assessment of driving and traffic scenarios: "harmless" (2 on the numeric scale), "unpleasant" (5), and "dangerous" (8). The lead vehicle drove with a constant speed of 50 km/h. The participants were asked to establish a car following distance to the lead vehicle and confirm when they had successfully established the distance by pressing a button. The respective THW to the lead vehicle was measured at the time of the button press.

#### 25.3.4.3 Occlusion Testing for Longitudinal Distances

To measure the perception of TTCs, an experiment was implemented in which drivers were asked to drive towards a vehicle that was standing directly in their lane. Participants drove at a constant 50 km/h, and the eyesight of the driver was occluded before reaching the standing vehicle. Drivers had to press a button when they thought they would have reached the car at a standstill. The TTCs used for the occlusion were 1.5 s, 2.0 s, and 2.5 s. On the test track, a crash-matic with a painted vehicle silhouette was used. Immediately prior to the crash, the vehicle silhouette was pulled up to avoid a crash. For the occlusion on the test track, the drivers had to wear occlusion glasses. Participants were asked whether they could have braked to standstill at the beginning of the occlusion, and respectively, how critical they judged the distance to the standing car at that point of time.

#### 25.3.4.4 Perception of Decelerations During Car-following

In an experiment to assess the criticality perceptions of lead vehicle decelerations, the participants had to follow a lead vehicle at a distance of 1.5 s whilst driving at 50 km/h. After a while, the lead vehicle suddenly decelerated; the decelerations used in the experiment

	Age						
	М	SD	Min	MD	Max	Ν	n <sub>female</sub>
Static Driving Simulator	30	7.5	21	27.5	46	30	15
Dynamic Driving Simulator	28	8.7	19	26	52	30	15
Vehicle-in-the-Loop	30	11.4	21	26	58	30	15
Test Track Vehicle	31	11.6	18	25.5	59	32	15

Table 25.1 Participant samples across all four research environments in the study

were  $-1 \text{ m/s}^2$ ,  $-3 \text{ m/s}^2$ , and  $-5 \text{ m/s}^2$ . To make the trials less predictable, the lead vehicles sometimes also accelerated in intervening trials. The drivers were instructed to avoid collisions and had to rate the criticality of the deceleration situation after each ride.

## 25.3.4.5 Perception of Lateral Distances

To assess the criticality perception of lateral distances, an experiment was conducted in which drivers had to drive through narrow road zones marked by red-white delineator panels. After following a lead vehicle at 50 km/h at a distance of 1.5 s for some time, the lead vehicle suddenly changed lanes to provide sight of the narrow road zone, which the drivers successively had to drive through if possible and afterwards judge the situational criticality. The widths of the narrow zones were 2.25 m, 2.75 m, 3.25 m, and 3.75 m. The narrowest width corresponded to previous research findings [33].

#### 25.3.5 Participant Sample

In all four research environments, participant samples of n = 30 (in one case n = 32) were recruited for the experiments, resulting in an overall sample size of N = 122 (Tab. 25.1).

# 25.4 Results

In the following sections, results from each of the experiments in the study are shown. The initial data obtained from each experiment are presented via boxplots; the first analyses presented were performed using ANOVAs with planned contrasts. In the next step, ordinal logistic regressions were calculated, and the model results are visualised by plotting the predicted probabilities in cumulative and non-cumulative forms. The independent variable for each of the models was the obtained criticality rating, which was predicted by the experimental condition (a continuous variable) and the research environment (a factorial variable). The model results consist of the coefficients (e. g. the effects of the experimental condition and research environment) and the threshold coefficients (cutpoint values for each of the categories of the scale for criticality assessment). The test track vehicle served

as a reference category against which the other research environments were compared. Due to limitations of space in this chapter, the full models are not reported.

#### 25.4.1 Perception of Longitudinal Distances

The longitudinal time distances (THW levels: 0.75 s, 1.50 s, and 2.25 s) that were driven by the participants when following a lead vehicle at 50 km/h received criticality ratings that differed significantly from each other (F(2, 343) = 254.92, p < 0.001, and  $\eta^2 = 0.60$ ). Generally, shorter THWs to the lead vehicle were perceived as more dangerous, as indicated by higher scores on the scale for criticality assessment (Fig. 25.7a). The range of ratings expanded from "harmless" to "dangerous", in effect covering the whole range of the scale for criticality assessment. In addition, an effect of the research environment was observed (F(3, 343) = 14.67, p < 0.001, and  $\eta^2 = 0.11$ ). In this case, the dynamic driving simulator and particularly the VIL seemed to obtain slightly higher criticality ratings across all of the varied distance levels, whereas the test track vehicle seemed to obtain consistently lower values.

Modelling the effects using an ordinal logistic regression showed a significant difference of the factor level "VIL" compared to the reference research environment "test track



**Fig. 25.7** Criticality ratings across the research environments for the perception of THWs (0.75 s, 1.5 s, and 2.25 s) to a lead vehicle driven at a speed of 50 km/h. **a** Boxplot of criticality ratings for each THW level in the experiment. **b** Cumulative predicted probabilities of criticality ratings predicted across the range of THWs in the experiment for the test track vehicle, which was used as a reference research environment. **c** Predicted probabilities for all "dangerous" criticality ratings across the THW range in the experiment for each of the four research environments

vehicle" (p < 0.001). The other two research environments did not significantly differ. This is also illustrated by the plot of the predicted probabilities in Fig. 25.7c, which shows that at a THW of 1.50s, the VIL was already predicted to receive a higher percentage of "dangerous" ratings. The ratings for the dynamic driving simulator seemed to be slightly elevated, whereas the static driving simulator and test track vehicle were almost equal to each other.

# 25.4.2 Production of Longitudinal Distances

The longitudinal time distances that were driven by the participants when following a lead vehicle at 50 km/h at certain criticality levels ("dangerous", "unpleasant", and "harm-less") differed significantly from each other (F(2, 348) = 313.99, p < 0.001, and  $\eta^2 = 0.64$ ). Generally, shorter THWs to the lead vehicle were observed when driving with more dangerous car following distances (Fig. 25.8a). In addition, a general effect of the research environment was observed (F(3, 348) = 23.22, p < 0.001, and  $\eta^2 = 0.17$ ). In this case, the participants seemed to drive with consistently larger THWs on each of the criticality levels when riding the VIL, whereas they seemed to drive with THWs in the test track vehicle that were slightly lower than those in the other research environments.



**Fig. 25.8** THWs and criticality ratings across the research environments for the perception of THWs to a lead vehicle driven at a speed of 50 km/h. Drivers could decide on the distance according to a pre-set criticality level ("dangerous", "unpleasant", and "harmless") **a** Boxplot of the THW ratings for each criticality level in the experiment. **b** Cumulative predicted probabilities of the criticality ratings predicted across the range of THWs in the experiment for the test track vehicle, which was used as a reference research environment. **c** Predicted probabilities for all "dangerous" criticality ratings across the THW range in the experiment for each of the four research environments

Modelling the effects using an ordinal logistic regression showed a significant difference in the "VIL" factor level compared to the reference research environment "test track vehicle" (p < 0.001). The other two research environments did not differ significantly. This is also illustrated by the plot of the predicted probabilities in Fig. 25.8c, which shows that at a THW of 1.50 s, the VIL was already predicted to receive a higher percentage of "dangerous" ratings. The ratings for the dynamic driving simulator and the static driving simulator seemed to be slightly greater than those of the test track vehicle.

## 25.4.3 Occlusion Testing for Longitudinal Distances

The longitudinal time distances (TTC levels: 1.50 s, 2.00 s, and 2.50 s) that were experienced by the participants when driving towards a standing vehicle at 50 km/h before occlusion received criticality ratings that differed significantly from each other (F(2, 363) = 29.55, p < 0.001, and  $\eta^2 = 0.14$ ). Generally, shorter TTCs to the standing vehicle were perceived as more dangerous (Fig. 25.9a). Across the experimentally varied TTC values, the observed ratings however were mainly in the range between "unpleasant" and "dangerous". In addition to the effect of the TTC, a general effect of the research environment was observed (F(3, 363) = 7.72, p < 0.001, and  $\eta^2 = 0.06$ ). In this case, the test track



**Fig. 25.9** Criticality ratings across the research environments for the perception of TTCs (1.5 s, 2.0 s, and 2.5 s) to a standing lead vehicle driven at a speed of 50 km/h. **a** Boxplot of the criticality ratings for each TTC level in the experiment. **b** Cumulative predicted probabilities of the criticality ratings predicted across the range of TTCs in the experiment for the test track vehicle, which was used as a reference research environment. **c** Predicted probabilities for all of the "dangerous" criticality ratings across the TTC range in the experiment for each of the four research environments

vehicle obtained systematically lower criticality ratings across all varied distance levels, whereas the dynamic driving simulator and particularly the VIL obtained slightly higher values.

Modelling the effects using an ordinal logistic regression showed a significant difference in the factor levels "dynamic driving simulator" (p < 0.01) and "VIL" (p < 0.01) compared to the reference research environment "test track vehicle". The static driving simulator did not differ significantly. This is also illustrated by the plot of the predicted probabilities in Fig. 25.9c, which shows that at a TTC of 2.50 s, the dynamic driving simulator and the VIL were already predicted to receive a higher percentage of "dangerous" ratings. The ratings for the static driving simulator also seemed to be elevated in comparison to the test track vehicle.

# 25.4.4 Perception of Deceleration During Car-following

The braking manoeuvres (decelerations:  $-5 \text{ m/s}^2$ ,  $-3 \text{ m/s}^2$ , and  $-1 \text{ m/s}^2$ ) that were experienced by the participants when following a lead vehicle at 50 km/h that suddenly initiated braking received criticality ratings that differed significantly from each other (*F*(2, 378)=21.62, *p* < 0.001, and  $\eta^2 = 0.10$ ). Generally, stronger decelerations were per-



**Fig. 25.10** Criticality ratings across the research environments for the perception of sudden decelerations  $(-5 \text{ m/s}^2, -3 \text{ m/s}^2, \text{ and } -1 \text{ m/s}^2)$  of a lead vehicle driven at a speed of 50 km/h. **a** Boxplot of the criticality ratings for each deceleration level in the experiment. **b** Cumulative predicted probabilities of the criticality ratings predicted across the range of decelerations in the experiment for the test track vehicle, which was used as a reference research environment. **c** Predicted probabilities for all of the "dangerous" criticality ratings across the deceleration range in the experiment for each of the four research environments

ceived as more dangerous (Fig. 25.10a). Across the experimentally varied decelerations, the observed ratings covered the lower range of the scale for criticality assessment between "harmless" and "unpleasant". In addition to the effect of the deceleration, a general effect of the research environment was observed (F(3, 378) = 8.61, p < 0.001, and  $\eta^2 = 0.06$ ). Except for the lowest deceleration of  $-1 \text{ m/s}^2$ , the test track vehicle obtained slightly lower criticality ratings.

Modelling the effects using an ordinal logistic regression showed a significant difference in the factor levels "static driving simulator" (p < 0.001), "dynamic driving simulator" (p < 0.001) and "VIL" (p < 0.001) compared to the "test track vehicle" reference research environment. This is also illustrated by the plot of the predicted probabilities in Fig. 25.10c which shows that at a deceleration of  $-5 \text{ m/s}^2$  all three simulation environments were predicted to receive a higher percentage of "dangerous" ratings. The ratings for the static driving simulator also seemed to be slightly closer to those of the test track vehicle than those of the dynamic driving simulator and the VIL.

#### 25.4.5 Perception of Lateral Distances

The lateral distances (lane widths: 2.25 m, 2.75 m, 3.25 m, and 3.75 m) that were experienced by the participants when driving through a narrow road zone at 50 km/h received criticality ratings that differed significantly from each other (F(3, 492) = 330.80, p < 0.001, and  $\eta^2 = 0.67$ ). Generally, smaller lane widths were perceived as more dangerous (Fig. 25.11a). Across the experimentally varied lane widths, the observed ratings covered the full range of the scale for criticality assessment. In addition to the effect of the lane width, a general effect of the research environment is observed (F(3, 492) = 9.45, p < 0.001, and  $\eta^2 = 0.06$ ). In this case, the test track vehicle and the static driving simulator obtained lower criticality ratings across all varied lane widths, whereas the dynamic driving simulator in particular obtained slightly higher values.

Modelling the effects using an ordinal logistic regression showed a significant difference in the factor levels "dynamic driving simulator" compared to the reference research environment "test track vehicle" (p < 0.05). The other two research environments did not differ significantly. This is also illustrated by the plot of the predicted probabilities in Fig. 25.11c, which shows that particularly at a lane width of 2.25 m the dynamic driving simulator was predicted to receive a higher percentage of "dangerous" ratings. The ratings for the VIL also seemed to be slightly elevated in comparison to those of the test track vehicle, whereas the static driving simulator was almost at the same level. In addition to these findings, participants were observed to drive with a slight lateral displacement (~0.25 m) to the right in almost all of the driving simulators and experimental conditions from the experiment, compared to the test track vehicle.



**Fig. 25.11** Criticality ratings across the research environments for the perception of lane widths (2.25 m, 2.75 m, 3.25 m, and 3.75 m) in a narrow road zone driven at a speed of 50 km/h. **a** Boxplot of the criticality ratings for each lane width level in the experiment. **b** Cumulative predicted probabilities of the criticality ratings predicted across the range of lane widths in the experiment for the test track vehicle, which was used as a reference research environment. **c** Predicted probabilities for all of the "dangerous" criticality ratings across the lane width range in the experiment for each of the four research environments

# 25.5 Discussion

In the current study, a series of experiments was conducted in four research environments to assess the participants' criticality perceptions of longitudinal distances to a lead vehicle, lateral distances in narrow road zones, and lead vehicle decelerations. The four research environments were a test track vehicle, a static driving simulator, a dynamic driving simulator, and a VIL, which is a hybrid between a driving simulator and a test track vehicle. In addition to assessing particular differences between the research environments, one of this study's aims was to calculate transfer functions that would allow results to be transferred among research environments.

The general approach pursued in the studies was to confront the vehicle drivers with critical situations after or during car following at a speed of 50 km/h. The situations varied with respect to the degree of the criticality of a core variable such as the THW to a lead vehicle, the TTC to a standing vehicle, the width of a narrow road zone, and the deceleration of a lead vehicle. After experiencing the situations, the participants had to rate each situation for its criticality on the scale for criticality assessment of driving and traffic scenarios [44]. To model the effects of the experimental condition and research environment, ordinal logistic regressions were calculated.

When taking into account the findings from the reviewed literature, which were often heterogeneous or indecisive, we expected at least to observe differences between the test track vehicle and the simulator environments with regard to the perception of lead vehicle decelerations. Indeed, in our research we observed notable differences between the research environments with respect to the perception of criticality in each of the investigated situations. As a tendency, the THWs, TTCs, lane widths and lead vehicle decelerations were perceived as more critical in the dynamic driving simulator and VIL research environments than those of the test track vehicle. The ratings observed in the static driving simulator were mainly at a similar level to the ratings in the test track vehicle, and only in some cases were they slightly more critical.

These findings should clearly be taken into consideration when evaluating research findings from simulator environments in comparison to findings generated on a test track; with respect to some parameters of situational criticality, participants are going to rate the situations as more critical in simulator environments than on test tracks. For controll-ability research, which we had in mind when conducting this series of experiments, this means that findings generated from simulator research tend to be conservative, at least with respect to those from test track vehicles. This means that a situation that is judged as dangerous by a large proportion of participants in a driving simulator will be less so on a test track – the converse would be more problematic from the perspective of driving simulator research because it would likely lead to safety-critical misjudgements.

Some shortcomings of the current study should not go unmentioned. First, the situations created in the experiments were to some extent artificial and not directly comparable to situations in real-life; clearly, driving simulators can simulate more realistic situations than the situations used in standard test track studies. However, our intention was to investigate situations that were straightforward to parameterize, not easily confounded by other variables, and easy and safe to implement across all research environments in our set, which also involved a test track vehicle. Second, and somewhat determined by the high degree of standardization we pursued in our study, we did not have a real traffic environment to serve as a reference; the test track vehicle was the closest we came to real traffic. Clearly, this issue cannot be resolved easily in the future and points towards a fundamental issue when conducting research in various research environments – one will never be able to replace one research environment completely by another, and some advantages and disadvantages are inherent to a specific research environment. Another certain limitation was the restricted velocity range represented in the experiments. This was mainly due to the inner-city focus of the UR:BAN project, and future studies should employ extended speed ranges.

Nonetheless, we believe that the presented validation study provides a suitable approach for assessing research environment validity. Ultimately, the approach presented is a step towards the generalization of research results that have been obtained using a particular research environment to another. The scenarios used in this study's experiments are designed to assess perceptional key parameters such as THW, TTC, lead vehicle decelerations and lane widths, and the scenarios are easy and straightforward to implement across

a range of research environments. The approach presented can help researchers who work in particular research environments to obtain benchmark results that can be easily compared to other research environments. As a final remark, we hope that our results will be replicated in various similar and other research environments.

# References

- Manstetten, D., Bengler, K., Busch, F., Färber, B., Lehsing, C., Neukum, A., Schendzielorz, T.: "UR:BAN MV" – A German project focusing on human factors to increase traffic safety in urban areas. Paper presented at the 20th ITS World Congress, Tokyo (2013)
- ISO 26262: Road vehicles Functional safety. Geneva: International Organization for Standardization (2011)
- 3. RESPONSE Consortium: RESPONSE 3. A PReVENT Project. Code of practice for the design and evaluation of ADAS (2006)
- Commision of the European Union: Commision recommendation on safe and efficient invehicle information and communication systems: Update of the European Statement of Principles on human machine interface. Off J Eur Union 32, 200–241 (2006)
- Mullen, N., Charlton, J., Devlin, A., Bédard, M.: Simulator validity: Behaviors observed on the simulator and on the road. In: Fisher, D.L., Matthew, R., Caird, J.K., Lee, J.D. (eds.) Handbook of Driving Simulation for Engineering, Medicine, and Psychology. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2011)
- Bella, F.: Driving simulator for speed research on two-lane rural roads. Accid Analysis Prev 40(3), 1078–1087 (2008)
- Blaauw, G.J.: Driving experience and task demands in simulator and instrumented car: a validation study. Human Factors. J Hum Factors Ergonomics Soc 24(4), 473–486 (1982)
- Reed, M.P., Green, P.A.: Comparison of driving performance on-road and in a low-cost simulator using concurrent telephone dialling task. Ergonomics 42, 1015–1037 (1999)
- Bella, F.: Validation of a driving simulator for work zone design. Transp Res Rec 1937, 336– 340 (2005)
- Charlton, J.L., Fildes, B., Oxley, J., Keeffe, J., Odell, M., Verdoon, A.: Driving performance and visual search associated with visual field loss. Paper presented at the International Conference on Traffic and Transport Psychology, Washington, September (2008)
- 11. Klee, H., Bauer, C., Radwan, E., Al-Deek, H.: Preliminary validation of driving simulator based on forward speed. Transp Res Rec **1689**, 33–39 (1999)
- Shinar, D., Ronen, A.: Validation of speed perception and production in a single screen simulator. Adv Transportation Stud (Special Issue) 5, 51–56 (2007). https://trid.trb.org/view.aspx? id=870627
- Törnros, J.: Driving behaviour in a real and a simulated road tunnel. A validation study. Accid Analysis Prev 30(4), 497–503 (1998)
- Godley, S.T., Triggs, T.J., Fildes, B.N.: Driving simulator validation for speed research. Accid Analysis Prev 44(5), 589–600 (2002)
- 15. Riemersma, J.B.J., van der Horst, A.R.A., Heokstra, W.: Driving simulator in evaluation speedreduction measures. Traffic Eng Control **31**, 416–420 (1990)
- McAvoy, D.S., Schattler, K.L., Datta, T.K.: Driving simulator validation for nighttime construction work zone devices. Transp Res Rec 2015, 55–63 (2007)
- Blana, E.: A survey of driving research simulators around the world. Working Paper, vol. 481. Institute of Transport Studies, University of Leeds, Leeds (1996)

- 18. Duncan, B.: Calibration trials of TRL driving simulator. Vis Veh 6, 105–113 (1998)
- Harms, L.: Driving performance on a real road and in a driving simulator: Results of a validation study. Vis Veh 5, 19–26 (1996)
- Alicandri, E., Roberts, K., Walker, J.: A validation study of the DOT/FHWA highway simulator (HYSIM). Federal Highway Administration, Washington (1986)
- Banton, T., Stefanucci, J., Durgin, F., Fass, A., Proffitt, D.: The perception of walking speed in a virtual environment. Presence 14(4), 394–406 (2005)
- Colombet, F., Paillot, D., Mérienne, F., Kemeny, A.: Visual scale factor for speed perception. J Comput Inf Sci Eng 11(4), 041010-1–041010-6 (2011)
- Kemeny, A., Panerai, F.: Evaluating perception in driving simulation experiments. Trends Cogn. Sci. (Regul. Ed.) 7(1), 31–37 (2003)
- Gouy, M., Diels, C., Reed, N., Stevens, A., Burnett, G.: Preferred or adopted time headway? A driving simulator study. Proc Int Conf Ergonomics Hum Factors, 153–159 (2013). doi:10.1201/b13826-38
- Ichikawa, K.: Considering safe distance between moving vehicles. Memoirs Fac Educ 53, 123– 138 (2003)
- Brackstone, M., Waterson, B., McDonald, M.: Determinants of following distance in congested traffic. Transportation Res Part F 12(2), 131–142 (2009)
- Piao, J., McDonald, M.: Low speed car following behaviour from floating vehicle data. Proc IEEE Intell Veh Symp, 462–467 (2003). doi:10.1109/IVS.2003.1212955
- Knospe, W., Santen, L., Schadschneider, A., Schreckenberg, M.: Single-vehicle data of highway traffic: microscopic description of traffic phases. Phys Rev E 65(5), 056133–056149 (2002)
- Ayres, T.J., Li, L., Schleuning, D., Young, D.: Preferred time-headway of highway drivers. IEEE Intell Transportation Syst Conf Proc, 826–829 (2001). doi:10.1109/ITSC.2001.948767
- 30. Stam, T.: Headway performance in the University of Twente driving simulator. A validation study (Master thesis). University of Twente, Amsterdam (2013)
- 31. Blana, E., Golias, J.: Differences between vehicle lateral displacement on the road and in a fixed-base simulator. Human Factors. J Hum Factors Ergonomics Soc 44(2), 303–313 (2002)
- 32. van der Horst, R.: Speed reducing measures for 80 km/h roads. In: Risser, R., Jonsson, T. (eds.) Proceedings of the 9th ICTCT Workshop. ICTCT, Zagreb (1996)
- 33. Reichel, M.: Situationsanalyse für fortschrittliche Fahrerassistenzsysteme (Doctoral dissertation). TU Braunschweig, Braunschweig (2013)
- Blana, E., Golias, J.: Behavioural validation of a fixed-base driving simulator. Proceedings of the Driving Simulation Conference. Paris, pp 227–241 (1999). https://www.driving-simulation. com/site/proceedings-of-the-driving-simulation-conference/
- Hoffman, J.D., Lee, J.D., Brown, T.L., McGehee, D.V.: Comparison of driver braking responses in a high-fidelity simulator and on a test track. Transp Res Rec 1803(1), 59–65 (2002)
- McGehee, D.V., Mazzae, E.N., Baldwin, G.H.S.: Driver reaction time in crash avoidance research: Validation of a driving simulator study on a test track. Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting (2000)
- Neukum, A., Naujoks, F., Kappes, S., Wey, T.: Kontrollierbarkeit unerwarteter Eingriffe eines Bremsassistenzsystems aus Perspektive des Folgeverkehrs. In: Färber, B. (ed.) 9. Workshop Fahrerassistenzsysteme, pp. 115–125. Uni-DAS, Darmstadt (2014)
- Fecher, N., Regh, F., Habenicht, S., Hoffmann, J., Winner, H.: Test- und Bewertungsmethoden f
  ür Sicherheitssysteme der Bahnf
  ührungsebene. Automatisierungstechnik 56(11), 592–600 (2008)
- Breuer, J.: Bewertungsverfahren von Fahrerassistenzsystemen. In: Winner, H., Hakuli, S., Wolf, G. (eds.) Handbuch Fahrerassistenzsysteme, pp. 55–68. Viewweg+Teubner, Wiesbaden (2012)

- 40. Karl, I., Berg, G., Rüger, F., Färber, B.: Driving behavior and simulator sickness while driving the Vehicle in the Loop. Validation of longitudinal driving behavior. IEEE Intell Transportation Syst Mag **23**, 42–57 (2013)
- 41. Andersen, G.J., Sauer, C.W.: Optical information for car following: The driving by visual angle (DVA) model. Human Factors. J Hum Factors Ergonomics Soc **49**(5), 878–896 (2007)
- 42. Berg, G., Karl, I., Färber, B.: Vehicle in the Loop. Validierung der virtuellen Welt. VDI-Berichte, vol. 2134. VDI, Düsseldorf, pp 143–154 (2011). Der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert. Fahrer, Fahrerunterstützung und Bedienbarkeit
- Neumann-Cosel, K., Dupuis, M., Weiss, C.: Virtual test drive. Provision of a consistent tool-set for [d,h,s,v]-in-the-loop. Paper presented at the Driving Simulation Conference, Monaco, 2009 (2009)
- Neukum, A., Lübbeke, T., Krüger, H.P., Mayser, C., Steinle, J.: ACC-Stop&Go: Fahrerverhalten an funktionalen Systemgrenzen. In: Maurer, M., Stiller, C. (eds.) 5. Workshop Fahrerassistenzsysteme – FAS 2008, pp. 141–150. fmrt, Karlsruhe (2008)
- 45. Neukum, A., Krüger, H.-P.: Fahrerreaktionen bei Lenksystemstörungen Untersuchungsmethoden und Bewertungskriterien. VDI-Berichte, vol. 1791., pp 297–318 (2003)
- 46. Agresti, A.: Categorical Data Analysis. John Wiley, Hoboken (2002)
- Long, J.S.: Regression models for categorical and limited dependent variables. Sage, Thousand Oaks (1997)

# Emergency Steering Systems – Controllability Investigations with the Vehicle in the Loop

26

Fabian Rüger and Berthold Färber

### 26.1 Introduction

In the field of Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS) the focus is not only on warning and comfort functions but increasingly also on collision avoidance by active safety [1]. Until recently, most existing systems only used braking manoeuvres to prevent or mitigate accidents; systems that employ automatically initiated emergency steering were the subject of recent research initiatives such as interactIVe [2] or UR:BAN [3]. Emergency steering systems aim at avoiding accidents in certain speed-ranges and especially at small overlaps with a potential collision object, even if it is too close for braking to a standstill. These requirements particularly apply to scenarios involving cars reversing out of parking spaces, cyclists or pedestrians, especially in the urban area. The typical urban use case and the autonomous interventions by these ADAS introduce new challenges to controllability research.

The basis for the controllability assessment of ADAS are various industrial standards, such as ISO 26262 [4] or guidelines such as the RESPONSE Code of Practice [5]. According to these works, the human driver must achieve overall system controllability at all times, even with possible false alarms or system failures.

The steering wheel torques that are necessary for successful evasion in the typical use cases could possibly result in yaw rates, which exceed the controllability criteria published in Neukum, Ufer, Paulig, & Krüger [6]. Consequently, system failures might result in an intrusion into the opposite lane endangering oncoming vehicles and the driver.

To handle such systems the method "safety in use" was published by Huesmann, Farid, and Muhrer [7]. This risk-based method considers the probability of exposure, the con-

F. Rüger  $(\boxtimes) \cdot B$ . Färber

Human Factors Institute, Universität der Bundeswehr München Neubiberg, Germany

e-mail: berthold.faerber@unibw.de

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_26

sequences' severity and the controllability of driving situations during the usage of an ADAS. For example, the total risk of a system failure is calculated by these factors and should lie below the companies' or population's accepted risk. If the factors' probability of exposure and severity are above a certain risk level, the controllability is a factor that should be assessed. The controllability assessment should use adequate test cases that are similar to real traffic situations but without endangering anybody.

Since methodically sound research of controllability situations requires the use of accurately timed and reproducible scenarios, driving simulators constitute the preferred research environment. Moreover, driver behaviour during the highly dynamic manoeuvres found with automatic steering is likely to be more natural, if the driver is provided with realistic kinaesthetic and vestibular feedback. Both requirements are met in the Vehicle-In-the-Loop (VIL). The VIL constitutes a hybrid testing environment combining a test track vehicle with a driving simulator (see [8]). The driver is wearing a head mounted display, which shows a fully virtual world while s/he is moving a real car on a test field [9], as illustrated in Fig. 26.1.

Previously, the VIL had been validated for the investigation of ADAS in urban environments ([10, 11]; Chap. 27 and 28). The results showed that the experience of driving situations seems to be slightly more critical in the VIL than in a test track environment, while the overall driving behaviour is valid. This generates conservative and reliable results that may be considered in controllability investigations [10]. With these preconditions, the VIL can be used to complement existing methods in controllability research. Two examples are presented in the following.



Fig. 26.1 Vehicle in the Loop (VIL). The picture on the top right shows the driver's view

# 26.2 Emergency Steering Interventions at Occupied Opposite Lanes

Emergency steering systems aim at avoiding accidents even if it's too late to brake to a standstill. The interventions must use high levels of dynamics and actor potential to achieve that goal. Technically, the driver is a disturbance variable in the system's control chain trying to guide a vehicle around an obstacle on an ideal trajectory. However, the driver provides a great potential regarding controllability of ADAS. In other studies, surveying emergency steering functions (Chap. 27 and 28) the driver is described as a damping element in the closed loop control chain. In a driving situation with a justified system intervention, in which another vehicle approaches on the opposite lane, a damping intervention of the driver with the emergency steering system on-board could reduce the risk of a collision with the oncoming vehicles on the opposite lane. Therefore, this testing case tends to investigate whether drivers are able to adjust interventions of emergency steering systems appropriately to the driving situation. That includes avoiding both collisions with the item triggering an intervention and objects on the opposite lane.

# 26.2.1 Method

As already mentioned in the introduction of this chapter, the use of the VIL for urban driving situations was generally validated. The interaction of drivers with ADAS depicts a new level of VIL's commitment. Hence, the results attained in the VIL should be compared with classic testing methods to prove reliability. To achieve this goal, an emergency steering function was implemented into a test track vehicle. This vehicle was also equipped with the VIL, which could optionally be operated.

#### 26.2.1.1 Situation

The driver interaction with an emergency steering function should be investigated with a justified intervention of the system. In order to create such a test case a vehicle reversed out of a parking space and achieved a final position one meter in the right side of the driver's lane (lane width: 3.5 m) at a time to collision (TTC) of 1.7 s to trigger the inter-



Fig. 26.2 Driving Situation on the test track (a), with occupied opposite lane (b) and in the VIL (c)

vention. Aiming to classify the influence of the occupation, the opposite lane was blocked with road works (see Fig. 26.2b).

The driver's perspective experiencing this situation in the VIL is shown in Fig. 26.2c. On the test track a pneumatic-driven Crashmatic reversed out of the parking space (see Fig. 26.2a) due to safety considerations.

# 26.2.1.2 Emergency Steering Function

At a TTC of 1.2 s, the emergency steering function started to guide the vehicle around the obstacle. It aimed to a fixed lateral displacement of one meter to the left. The strength of the wheel torque was adapted in real time depending on the driver's inputs and the vehicle's heading targeting on an ideal trajectory. The occupation of the opposite lane was deliberately not included in the system logics. Based on an instructed middle lane position at the beginning of the evasion manoeuvre, the system would have caused an intrusion into the opposite lane of about 0.25 m and a collision with the road works without a driver's input.

# 26.2.1.3 Study Design

Every participant experienced two emergency steering interventions, one in a test track vehicle and one in the same vehicle using the VIL in a systematically varied order. Half of the sample found a free, the other half an occupied opposite lane (between-subjects design) whereupon one driver always got the same condition in VIL and test track vehicle (within-subjects design).

A cover story was used to elicit preferably naturalistic driving behaviour in both situations. The subjects were told to take part in a study that compares lane keeping at narrow points between the VIL and a normal car. They drove through different narrow points before and after the evasion situation. The first intervention of the emergency steering system was declared as a test for further investigations. Executing secondary tasks like activating the blinker or the wiper before the relevant situations the drivers had both hands on the wheel.

# 26.2.1.4 Participants

24 subjects took part in the experiment, with a mean age of 29.7 years with a standard deviation of 8.9 years. The drivers varied in age between 20 and 61 years and everybody's driving experience represented at least a total of 10,000 km.

# 26.2.2 Results

As previously mentioned, the automatic steering interventions aimed at a lateral displacement of 1 m. The left boxplot in Fig. 26.3 shows the measured lateral displacements depending on testing environment and occupation of the opposite lane. While most drivers achieved lateral displacements of 1 m and higher at a free opposite lane, they damped the



Fig. 26.3 Lateral displacement (a) and maximum deceleration (b)

steering interventions to an average displacement of only 0.5 m at occupied opposite lanes. Collisions did not happen, neither with the obstacle on the right nor with the road works occupying the opposite lane. Higher lateral displacements found in the "occupied"-condition can be explained with an initial position right of the lane's middle. These results were both found in the test track vehicle and in the VIL.

Every driver braked additionally to the steering manoeuvre when s/he noticed the obstacle entering her/his lane from the right. The distribution of the maxima of the achieved decelerations is shown in the boxplots of Fig. 26.3. A few drivers braked very strongly in the occupied lane condition, while the most breaking manoeuvres showed decelerations below  $5 \text{ m/s}^2$ . Again, the results did not differ systematically between VIL and test track conditions.



Fig. 26.4 Maximum lateral acceleration (a) and maximum yaw rate (b)

Differences in driver-system interaction could affect the dynamic of the steering manoeuvre. To distinguish dynamic aspects, the maxima of lateral acceleration and yaw rates are considered (see Fig. 26.4). Hence, absolute values are used to avoid algebraic sign conflicts regarding steering exercises to the left or right. Nevertheless, most maxima were measured while steering away from the obstacle to the left. Both lateral acceleration and yaw rates indicated differences between free and occupied opposite lanes. While drivers allowed or even supported highly dynamic steering manoeuvres with yaw rates above  $10^{\circ}$ /s and lateral acceleration of almost  $3 \text{ m/s}^2$  in the first condition, they damped the mean dynamics below a yaw rate of  $5^{\circ}$ /s and a lateral acceleration of  $1.5 \text{ m/s}^2$ . Means, medians and the distribution of the measurements are very similar between the test track vehicle and the VIL. For a more detailed inferential statistical analyses, see Rüger et al. [12].

# 26.2.3 Discussion

The results show big differences in the driver-system interactions with automatic steering interventions depending on the occupation of the opposite lane. In the first app. 400 ms. of the interventions, drivers held the steering wheel firmly which is assumed to be a haptic triggered reaction (Chap. 28). After that short period, most of them followed the system's specification when they found a free opposite lane. At occupied opposite lanes they damped the systems intervention to avoid both a collision with the obstacle entering the lane on the right and the road works occupying the opposite lane. Consequently, drivers are able to adjust steering interventions appropriately to the traffic situation. Acting as a backup level, drivers improve system controllability for automatic steering interventions, even when those interventions are not adequate to the driving situation. Those results were found in a test track vehicle as well as in the VIL. No significant differences between the variables in VIL and test track vehicle and significant correlations confirm the VIL to be a valid test tool for the investigation of steering interventions [12].

## 26.3 Emergency Steering Seen from Oncoming Traffic

By the definition of ADAS "controllability" in the RESPONSE Consortium [5, p. 13], countermeasures in critical situations aiming to avoid an accident cannot only be performed by the driver with the ADAS on board but also by other road users. Especially emergency ADAS like the afore mentioned emergency steering functions or automatic braking systems can affect traffic substantially. Commercially launched systems of the latter mentioned are able to operate with decelerations over  $10 \text{ m/s}^2$  [13]. Naturalistic driving studies and field operational tests show that time gaps between following vehicles found in traffic could lead to hazards when automatic braking manoeuvres used their full performance potential [14]. Therefore, the effects of an emergency braking system on pursuing vehicles were subject to studies by Fach, Baumann, Breuer & May [15] and Neukum,

Naujoks, Kappes & Wey [16]. In these investigations, participants followed a leading vehicle at a certain distance when an emergency braking system intervened suddenly in the leading vehicle. The following car's drivers had to brake hard to avoid an accident. Based on the results of this research, design rules for emergency braking systems were found, which most likely allowed the following vehicles' drivers to control the situation [15].

Considering emergency steering systems, other traffic participants could similarly help to improve system controllability. An intrusion into the opposite lane caused by an ADAS for example, possibly resulting in collisions with oncoming vehicles, is a risk against which must be protected [17]. Seeing traffic as a system of cooperating road users, it is conceivable that failures or interventions with the maximum system potential of emergency steering systems can often be ameliorated by appropriate reactions of the oncoming traffic. A similar approach to the mentioned studies of Fach et al. [15] and Neukum et al. [16] can simultaneously be transferred into the context of emergency steering systems by investigating those systems from the perspective of opposing traffic. A requirement for other road users to initiate adequate measures to control the situation could be a limitation of the activation of emergency steering systems to certain restricting parameters. Those might be the maximum intrusion into the opposite lane or a minimum time gap to oncoming vehicles.

Therefore, the aim of this experiment was to provide information about these restrictions for the functional design of oncoming vehicles with an on-board emergency steering system. Furthermore, it was designed to answer whether a driver might be able to compensate a system failure in the oncoming vehicle e.g. by braking and steering to the very right of his/her lane.

#### 26.3.1 Method

Weitzel [18] suggests selecting relevant test cases out of possible combinations of environmental, functional and driver aspects to reduce testing efforts. Hence, in this study an interdisciplinary expert panel including engineers and human factors specialists identified a number of relevant parameters in preliminary tests, which are specified in the following.

#### 26.3.1.1 Environment and Situation

Emergency steering functions aim at avoiding accidents when it is too late for braking to a standstill. Such scenarios with pedestrians stepping onto the street, vehicles reverting out of parking spaces or braking suddenly due to appearing obstacles can be found in urban areas. Most likely these types of critical situations are a result of a chaining of single events involving unattended traffic participants. Hence, the investigated scenarios should offer a comparable complexity. Considering the expected impact of certain factors on driver behaviour and aspects of plausibility, three driving situations were selected for investigation. A busy urban environment was chosen in all situations with lanes of 3.5 m width.



Fig. 26.5a-c Emergency steering situations

In the first situation, a pedestrian runs across a street. Therefore a car turning right has to stop suddenly (see Fig. 26.5a). The driver in the red vehicle behind is too close to stop in time. An emergency steering assist intervenes and leads the vehicle around the braking obstacle. Seen from the investigated view of oncoming traffic (as seen in Fig. 26.5), a car is waiting on the right-hand side of the crossroad prohibiting the driver to leave her/his lane to the right.

In the second situation, a child plays with other children between two houses. Suddenly it runs onto the street (compare Fig. 26.5b) where an emergency steering system leads the red car around the collision object. Equivalently to situation 1, the area adjacent to the right side of the lane is blocked. This time by a parking car, thus prohibiting the use of the pavement as a manoeuvring space.

The third situation is a typical false alarm intervention of an ADAS. For no obvious reason an automated steering manoeuvre is executed by the red vehicle (as shown in Fig. 26.5c). Again, a parking car occupies the pavement adjacent to the right lane.

#### 26.3.1.2 Emergency Steering Function

Fig. 26.6a shows parameters of an emergency steering function that could be relevant for the perception of oncoming vehicles seen from the ego-perspective. Aiming to identify relevant parameters in preliminary expert panel tests a range of parameters was investigated. This was reflecting two constraints: firstly, a trajectory should be designed and limited according to actual developments of emergency steering systems. Secondly, the parameters should be selected to enable and require a reaction of the ego driver in order to avoid a collision. With these constraints the lateral displacements were varied between



Fig. 26.6 Investigated parameter sets (a) and relevant emergency steering function parameters (b)

 $1.0 \text{ m} \le \Delta s \le 2.0 \text{ m}$ , maximum lateral accelerations between  $5.0 \text{ m/s}^2 \le a_{\text{max}} \le 10.0 \text{ m/s}^2$ and time gaps to the peak of the trajectory between  $1.0 \text{ s} \le \Delta t \le 2.0 \text{ s}$  (see Fig. 26.6b).

The expert panel testing showed that the differences in the perception of different lateral accelerations by oncoming traffic are negligible. Furthermore, the lateral displacements should be at least 1.5 m (resulting in an intrusion of  $\Delta i = 0.75$  m into the opposite lane) for further investigation. Based on these findings, a combination of parameters shown in Fig. 26.6 on the left were selected and considered as relevant for user studies. Based on the fact that the evading vehicle is about 2.0 m and the lane 3.5 m wide and the driver is initially positioned in the middle of the lane, a  $\Delta s$  of 2.0 m results in an intrusion into the opposite lane of  $\Delta i = 1.25$  m. The two different  $\Delta s$  result in gaps of 2.25 m and 2.75 m width on the right of the ego driver's lane.

#### 26.3.1.3 Pass-/Fail Criteria

In order to assess whether a test case is controllable or not, appropriate binary criteria must be found [5]. According to that, a collision with other traffic participants or other objects is considered to be an objective fail criterion, just as an activation of the electronic stabilization program in the ego car indicates that physical limits of the vehicle performance have been reached.

As shown in Neukum et al. [6], subjective criteria based on judgments of the participants according to the scale for criticality assessment of driving and traffic scenarios may be considered additionally. The criteria stipulate that a test case is considered to be not controllable if more than 15% of all participants' ratings classify a situation as subjectively dangerous. Between zero and 15% of the ratings are cross-referenced with the objective data, before a decision regarding controllability is made.

#### 26.3.1.4 Study Design

A mixed-subjects design was chosen in order to investigate the controllability of the presented test cases. Each subject experienced all three driving situations with the same parameter set in a systematically varied order. The number of required participants was identified with a power analysis based on the expected differences according to the preliminary tests. Accordingly, twelve participants were needed for each parameter set resulting in a total number of 48 participants.

In order to elicit natural driving behaviour, the participants do not need to be distracted on purpose but should not expect the tested situations [19]. Therefore, a cover story was used. The participants were told to take part in an experiment exploring human machine interface (HMI) aspects of a cruise control system while driving the VIL. After a short familiarization with the VIL, they experienced five driving situations: two fake situations relating to HMI aspects to sell the coverstory and three relevant ones. The use of cruise control ensured that every driver held a defined speed of 50 km/h at the beginning of each scenario. After accomplishing a situation, they were asked about their criticality according to the scale for criticality assessment of driving and traffic scenarios and some "fake" questions relating to HMI aspects. Vehicle and simulation data were synchronously recorded in each situation.

#### 26.3.1.5 Participants

A normal collective of drivers considering age, gender or driving abilities is sufficient according to the industrial standard ISO 26262 [4]. Therefore 48 persons with a mean age of 27.2 years with a standard deviation of 9.1 years took part in the experiment. The driver's age was between 21 and 58 years and everybody had at least 10.000 km of driving experience.

# 26.3.2 Results

The results presented in the following contain descriptive data only. A more detailed inferential statistical analysis, is provided in Rüger, Nitsch, and Färber [20].

The subjective ratings of the drivers' perceived situation criticality were collected using the scale of Neukum et al. [6], shown in Fig. 26.7, directly after each situation. According to the instructions, participants should only indicate "dangerous"-ratings if the driving situation would not be tolerable in real traffic. Both the varied situation and the parameter sets influenced the subjective ratings. Fig. 26.8 contains a boxplot of these ratings on the left. The situations are illustrated in different colours and the parameter sets are grouped on the abscissas.

In situations 1 and 3, ten of 48 ratings (app. 21%) scored above 6 (="dangerous" or "uncontrollable") on the scale. In situation 2, even 58% of all ratings are in the "dangerous"sector (28 of 48).

For parameter set 1, 28 of 36 ratings (78%) scored above the limit of 6, with eleven ratings (31%) for set 2, six for set 3 (17%), and only three (8%) for set 4. For sets 3 and 4, the subjective ratings were compared with the associated objective data, whereby no collisions or uncontrollable events were found.

Those subjective results are confirmed by the objective data. Fig. 26.8 shows a boxplot of the minimum Euclidian distance between the ego car and the oncoming vehicle on the right. Associated collisions are counted in red numbers below each box. Most collisions appeared in situation 2 (17 of 22). The same rate can be found with parameter set 1, where







Fig. 26.8 Driver's subjective rating (a) and Ego's min. distances to evading vehicle (b)

Fig. 26.9 Driver reaction time



also 17 out of 22 collisions were detected. During the course of the study, crashes with other traffic participants except the evading vehicle did not occur. ESP-interventions were not detected as well, indicating that no driver executed an uncontrollable steering manoeuvre. The driver reaction time influences the driving situation's issue and is illustrated in Fig. 26.9. It was estimated from the point of time when the evading vehicle was leaving its lane until the ego driver's first response by braking or steering.

While the reaction time did not differ between the parameter sets, the mean values were about 0.3 s higher in situation 2 than in situation 1.

# 26.3.3 Discussion

The present study investigated controllability of emergency steering systems from the perspective of opposing traffic. The results show that the situation is influencing the driver's judgment and behaviour. Especially in the situation involving a vehicle veering around a playing child (situation 2), driver reaction times were significantly longer than in the other situations. This caused more accidents and provoked severe reactions in steering or braking. According to self-reports, many drivers focused on a pedestrian leaving a building on the right in situation 2 and expected this pedestrian to enter the street (see Fig. 26.5b). They realised the real threat too late to prohibit a collision, as a consequence of this distraction, or had to perform very intense manoeuvres such as emergency braking.

Parameter sets 1 and 2 generated uncontrollable events subsuming collisions as well as subjective ratings. In parameter set 4 only eight percent of subjective ratings were above the accepted limit and no objective fail-criteria were met. In all situations this parameter set, with a minimum time gap of  $\Delta t = 2$  s and an intrusion into the opposite lane of  $\Delta i = 0.75$  m, can be classified as controllable. Parameter set 3 indicated no uncontrollable event by objective criteria as well but should be rejected based on drivers' judgments. 17% classified the driving situations that occurred as dangerous which is slightly above the 15%-limit. In any case, all ratings above the limit except one were given in situation 2. The requirements for the investigation were non-distracted drivers (Chap. 29). Following this line of argument, situation 2 must not be considered and set 3 can also be classified as controllable. Based on a lane width of 3.5 m and if time gaps to the peak of an emergency evading trajectory are at least  $\Delta t = 2$  s, an intrusion of  $\Delta i = 0.75$  m is controllable for opposing drivers. For non-distracted drivers, even intrusions of  $\Delta i = 1.25$  m might be considered controllable. If an intrusion into the opposite lane is possible, emergency steering systems must not be activated when estimated time gaps from the peak of the trajectory to the oncoming vehicle are shorter than two seconds. Additionally, it seems that the context of the situation in which ADAS are triggered and the attention of other traffic participants can also have a measurable effect on the results of ADAS controllability investigations. Therefore, this should be considered in future studies.

#### 26.4 Summary

In two studies, controllability aspects of emergency steering systems were investigated with the Vehicle in the Loop (VIL). The goal was to expand controllability methodology using the VIL as a testing environment.

In the first study drivers experienced justified automatic steering interventions in a test track vehicle and in the VIL, with varying occupation of the opposite lane. The results showed that drivers are able to adjust intense steering interventions appropriately to the driving situation. They avoided a collision with the vehicle pulling out of the parking lot on the right as well as with possible obstacles on the opposite lane. This indicates that drivers can act as a backup level to control emergency steering interventions at occupied opposite lanes. Additionally, a comparison of the results between the test track vehicle and the VIL suggests the VIL to be a valid testing environment for the investigation of controllability aspects of emergency ADAS.

The second study considered controllability of emergency steering systems from the perspective of other traffic participants. With this approach, clear limitations for the functional design of emergency steering systems due to the accident-avoiding capabilities of opposing drivers could be found. If those limitations are observed, drivers can perform countermeasures to avoid a collision when emergency steering interventions in oncoming vehicles are not appropriate to the driving situation. This result shows that other traffic participants can make a contribution to controllability of ADAS. A second result of this study focuses on the driving situation in controllability investigations. Indications were found that the complexity of urban driving situations could affect the drivers' capabilities. This finding confirms the increasing use of driving simulators in controllability research, as test track studies do not allow for such complex scenarios without considerable effort.

#### Acknowledgements

This chapter was written with reference to the project UR:BAN (Urban Space: User oriented assistance systems and network management). The project UR:BAN is supported by the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy due to a decision of the German Bundestag.

#### References

- Bengler, K., Dietmayer, K., Färber, B., Maurer, M., Stiller, C., Winner, H.: Three decades of driver assistance systems – review and future perspectives. IEEE Intell Transportation Syst Mag 6(4), 6–22 (2014)
- Amditis, A., Lytrivis, P., Iurgel, U., Arndt, C., Karaseitanidis, I., Lindl, H., Thomaidis, G.: Enhanced perception suitable for active intervention in automotive safety applications – The interactIVe project. 17th ITS World Congress (2010)
- Manstetten, D., Bengler, K., Busch, F., Färber, B., Lehsing, C., Neukum, A., Schendzielorz, T.: "UR:BAN MV" – a German project focusing on human factors to increase traffic safety in urban areas. 20th ITS World Congress, Tokyo (2013)
- 4. ISO 26262: Road vehicles Functional Safety (2011)
- RESPONSE Consortium: Code of practice for the design and evaluation of ADAS (V5.0): RE-SPONSE 3: a PReVENT Project (2009)
- 6. Neukum, A., Ufer, E., Paulig, J., Krüger, H.-P.: Controllability of superposition steering system failures. steering.tech 2008 (2008)
- Huesmann, A., Farid, M., Muhrer, E.: Von der Beherrschbarkeit zur Gebrauchssicherheit Sicherheitsbewertung von Assistenzsystemen. In: Klaffke, W. (ed.) Fahrerassistenz und Aktive Sicherheit. Wirksamkeit – Beherrschbarkeit – Absicherung, pp. 139–163 (2015)
- Bock, T., Maurer, M., Färber, G.: Validation of the Vehicle in the Loop (VIL): A milestone for the simulation of driver assistance systems. Proceedings of the IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium., pp 612–617 (2007)
- Karl, I., Berg, G., Rüger, F., Färber, B.: Driving behavior and simulator sickness while driving the Vehicle in the Loop: Validation of longitudinal driving behavior. IEEE Intell Transportation Syst Mag 5(1), 42–57 (2013)
- Purucker, C., Rüger, F., Schneider, N., Neukum, A., Färber, B.: Comparing the perception of critical longitudinal distances between dynamic driving simulation, test track and Vehicle in the

Loop. In: Stanton, N., Di Bucchianco, G., Vallicelli, A., Landry, S. (eds.) Advances in Human Aspects of Transportation. Proceedings of the 5th AHFE Conference, pp. 421–430 (2014)

- Rüger, F., Purucker, C., Schneider, N., Neukum, A., Färber, B.: Validierung von Engstellenszenarien und Querdynamik im dynamischen Fahrsimulator und Vehicle in the Loop. In: Färber, B. (ed.) 9. Workshop Fahrerassistenzsysteme, pp. 137–146. Uni-DAS e. V., Darmstadt (2014)
- Rüger, F., Sieber, M., Siegel, A., Siedersberger, K.-H., Färber, B.: Fahrerreaktionen auf Eingriffe von Ausweichassistenz-Systemen bei belegtem Gegenfahrstreifen. 8. VDI-Tagung der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert (2015)
- Fecher, N., Hoffmann, J., Winner, H., Fuchs, K., Abendroth, B., Bruder, R.: Aktive Gefahrenbremsung: Wie reagiert das Fahrer-Fahrzeug-System? ATZ 111(02), 144–150 (2009)
- Dingus, T.A., Klauer, S.G., Neale, V.L., Petersen, V.L., Lee, A., Sudweeks, J., Knipling, R.R.: The 100-Car Naturalistic Driving Study, Phase II – Results of the 100-Car Field Experiment (2006). http://www.nhtsa.gov/DOT/NHTSA/NRD/Multimedia/PDFs/Crash %20Avoidance/Driver%20Distraction/100CarMain.pdf
- Fach, M., Baumann, F., Breuer, J., May, A.: Bewertung der Beherrschbarkeit von Aktiven Sicherheits- und Fahrerassistenzsystemen an den Funktionsgrenzen. VDI-Berichte, Fahrerassistenz und integrierte Sicherheit. 26. VDI/VW-Gemeinschaftstagung. vol. 2104. VDI, Düsseldorf, pp 425–435 (2010)
- Neukum, A., Naujoks, F., Kappes, S., Wey, T.: Kontrollierbarkeit unerwarteter Eingriffe eines Bremsassistenzsystems aus Perspektive des Folgeverkehrs. In: Färber, B. (ed.) 9. Workshop Fahrerassistenzsysteme, pp. 115–125. Uni-DAS e. V., Darmstadt (2014)
- Dang, T., Desens, J., Franke, U., Gavrila, D., Schäfers, L., Ziegler, W.: Steering and evasion assist. In: Eskandarian, A. (ed.) Handbook of Intelligent Vehicles, pp. 760–782. Springer, London, New York (2012)
- Weitzel, A.: Objective controllability assessment for unintended ADAS reactions. In: Maurer, M., Winner, H. (eds.) Automotive Systems Engineering, pp. 135–145. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (2013)
- Engström, J., Ljung Aust, M.: Adaptive behavior in the simulator: Implications for active safety system evaluation. In: Fisher, D.L., Rizzo, M., Caird, J.K., Lee, J.D. (eds.) Handbook of driving simulation for engineering, medicine, and psychology, pp. 41-1–41-15. Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton (2011)
- Rüger, F., Nitsch, V., Färber, B.: Automatic evasion seen from the opposing traffic An investigation with the Vehicle in the Loop. 18th International IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems – (ITSC 2015) (2015)

#### **Further Reading**

 Berg, G., Färber, B.: Vehicle in the Loop. In: Winner, H., Hakuli, S., Lotz, F., Singer, C. (eds.) Handbuch Fahrerassistenzsysteme. Grundlagen, Komponenten und Systeme f
ür aktive Sicherheit und Komfort, 3rd edn., pp. 155–163. Springer Fachmedien, Wiesbaden (2015)

# Consideration of the Available Evading Space for the Evaluation of the Driver Reaction to Emergency Steering Interventions

Andreas Pütz

# 27.1 Introduction and Motivation

The urban driving environment differs considerably from the application focus of Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS) in production such as highways and interurban roads. While urban arterial roads are comparable to interurban roads regarding lane width and lane number there are also smaller roads which impose much narrower boundaries for the driver in the fulfilment of the driving task. In addition, the fast changing driving context and a high amount of information to be perceived and processed increase the traffic complexity that the driver has to deal with. On the other hand, these conditions might also activate the driver in comparison to more monotone driving environments and might therefore result in faster reactions to unexpected events.

Supporting the driver under these driving conditions by intervening in the lateral vehicle dynamics in situations when an accident is inevitable by braking (e.g. a pedestrian entering the driving path from a sight obstruction) could reduce the number of severe accidents. At the same time these interventions could pose a threat on other road users due to unexpected and inadequate driver reactions. Thus, it should be tested how drivers react to those system interventions.

Due to longer durations of the related steering intervention it should also be considered whether possibilities to retract the intervention may increase the controllability. During false positive activations a retraction might help the driver to reduce the consequences of the intervention. On the other hand, a retraction in case of normal system use (true positive) might reduce the effectiveness of the intervention. Therefore, the differentiation between driver reaction to normal system use and to false positive activations can provide benefit to the overall controllability and effectiveness of these systems.

A. Pütz (🖂)

Institute for Automotive Engineering (ika), RWTH Aachen University Aachen, Germany

<sup>©</sup> Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018

K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_27

The following chapter will derive research questions and hypotheses concerning the driver reaction to system initiated evasive manoeuvers (Sect. 27.3) after summarizing existing knowledge on the influence of the driving context on the driver reaction (Sect. 27.2). Afterwards, the experimental design that has been used to analyse the research questions will be presented (Sect. 27.4). Results of the experiment are broken down into the description of observed reaction patterns (Sect. 27.5), the influence of the available evading space (Sect. 27.6) and the influence of the possibility to retract the intervention (Sect. 27.7). Finally, the insights of the conducted experiment are used to show a possibility to distinguish between situations of false and true positive interventions (Sect. 27.8).

# 27.2 Existing Knowledge on the Influence of the Driving Context in the Controllability Assessment

How driving context influences the driver reaction to system initiated steering interventions has been investigated in the past with different focuses. One key finding of these studies with regards to this chapter is that drivers damp steering interventions in case of narrowed driving lanes or occupied adjacent lanes (see [1-3]). In the simulator study conducted in [1] no uncontrollable driver behaviour or more collisions with spatial barriers erased from haptic evasion guidance in case spatial barriers by oncoming vehicles. Furthermore, it was shown in [2] that drivers damp steering interventions in narrowed driving lanes to suppress lane exceedance. These results could be confirmed by a study in the subproject KON conducted with the "Vehicle in the Loop" investigating the controllability from the prospective of oncoming traffic [3], see also Chap. 26.

In addition, the driving context was discussed in several studies concerning an appropriate choice of a suitable test scenario for controllability evaluation of steering interventions (e. g. [4–6]). Even though these studies do not directly address the driver reaction to system initiated evasive steering manoeuvres, they give insights to the reasons why the driver reaction varies in different driving contexts: It could be shown that the perceptibility of additional steering torque depends on the current steering activity of the driver. In [4] the authors stated that "additional steering torque can be neglected during stronger steering activities" (based on the subjective driver rating) and suggest "to use only a straight driving context with narrowing of the road for the assessment of consequences of additional steering torques". These findings were supported by additional work in [5] and [6] leading to a quasi-standard of the straight driving context with narrowing for the evaluation of the controllability of steering interventions.

# 27.3 Deduction of Related Research Questions and Hypothesis for the Experiment

The main research question that arises from the previously discussed shift in the application focus of ADAS in the direction of urban driving assistance is how spatial barriers affect the natural driving behaviour on the one hand. On the other hand changes in the natural driving behaviour will most certainly also affect the driver reaction to system initiated evasive steering interventions. Therefore, this research question is broken down into two hypotheses addressing these two aspects. To assess changes in natural driving behaviour the first hypothesis assumes that in case of narrow spatial barriers an increased compensatory control activity regarding the steering wheel operation can be found. This assumption is based on findings in [7, 8] and [9] which describe the human steering wheel operation as combination of anticipatory and compensatory control activities. Combining this knowledge with the previously mentioned dependency between controllability of steering interventions and the current steering activity of the driver (see [4-6] in Sect. 27.2) it may be assumed that this dependency will also affect the controllability of evasive steering interventions if investigated in different driving contexts (with different natural steering activity of the driver). Hence, the second hypothesis assumes that in case of narrow spatial barriers comparable false positive steering interventions will result in lower effects on yaw rate and lateral displacement. Research question 1 and the related hypotheses are summarized as:

# How do spatial barriers affect the natural driving steering behaviour and therefore the driver reaction to system initiated steering interventions?

- *H1.1:* In case of narrow spatial barriers an increased compensatory control activity regarding the steering wheel operation can be noticed.
- H1.2: In case of narrow spatial barriers comparable false positive steering interventions show lower effects on yaw rate and lateral displacement compared to cases without narrow barriers.

Due to the fact that steering interventions in this experiment have a longer duration compared to previously analysed steering interventions (e.g. for lane keeping) the possibility to for a retraction and its dependency on the driving context should be considered. Therefore, the second research question addresses the influence of a retraction on the driver reaction and is again broken down in two hypotheses. In general, it is assumed that the consideration of a retraction possibility is able to reduce the failure effect with regard to the maximum yaw rate in case of false positive intervention. Going into more detail the design of the retraction is supposed to be influencing for the maximum yaw rate in the way that a continuous reduction of the additional steering torque has advantages compared to an instant retraction. Here, the occurring reaction patterns are of high importance as it will

be shown in Sect. 27.7 and build the link to the influence of the available evading space. The second research question including its hypotheses is therefore:

# How does the consideration of a retraction possibility affect the driver reaction in case of system initiated steering interventions?

- H2.1: Retraction possibilities are suited to reduce the maximum yaw rate in case of false positive steering interventions.
- H2.2: A continuous reduction of the additional steering torque results in lower maximum yaw rates than an instant retraction.

# 27.4 Experimental Design for the Evaluation of the Influence of the Available Evading Space

The situational influence of driving context on driver reaction to system initiated evasive steering manoeuvres was analysed in a real-vehicle study on the controlled test field in Aachen. 26 naïve test subjects were confronted with steering interventions for an evasive manoeuvre in belief that they were participating in a study to assess the influence of monotone repeating driving situations on driver fatigue.

Fig. 27.1 depicts the driving course that test subjects were asked to follow, consisting of three different driving scenarios: Drivers entered the course in the first section which is a 100 m straight road segment with lane markings for two lanes (width = 3.5 m, in the following referred to as "Lane markings"). Following the course, the lane markings make a smooth bend leading into the second section. Section 2 is an intersection on the vehicle dynamic area of the test track where a foam obstacle entered the driving lane from a sight obstruction requiring an evasive manoeuvre. To generate the necessity for the driver to come back to the initial driving lane after the evasive manoeuvre oncoming and surrounding traffic was simulated with vehicle dummies. Coming back to section 1 of the course the drivers had to pass a 2.5 m wide and 100 m long pylon alley which required precise lateral control due to the narrow spatial barriers in combination with the vehicle width of 1.85 m.

Drivers were asked to maintain a speed between 45 and 50 km/h where possible to represent a common urban driving situation. As mentioned in Sect. 27.2 all sections of system interventions were chosen to be in a straight driving contexts to allow comparison with existing literature. Each driver drove the course 21 times experiencing steering interventions in different use cases in pseudo-randomized order. The first three rounds were used to assess the natural lateral control behaviour of the test subjects. Afterwards, steering interventions in the lane markings and in the pylon alley were presented to the driver as false positive interventions, while true positive interventions could only be investigated in the intersection. To minimize training effects false positive interventions were also initiated in the intersection.



Fig. 27.1 Experimental Setup

Twelve female and fourteen male test subjects participated in the experiment and were assigned to three age groups (under 25, 25 to 45 and over 45 years, see Table 27.1). The average age was 32.4 years. Test subjects had driving experience varying from less than 10,000 km up to over 800,000 km with an average overall mileage of 166,000 km and were monetary rewarded for their participation.

A steering intervention was presented to the test subjects that was based on a desired steering wheel angle signal of a satellite based collision avoidance system which was developed in another research project [10]. The steering wheel angle trajectory (see Fig. 27.2) was triggered by a high precision positioning system to realise a high reproducibility regarding the driving context and considered the driver set steering wheel angle prior to the system activation in case of true positive interventions. In case of no driver interaction it produced a lateral offset of 0.9 m and guided the driver back to the initial

<b>Table 27.</b> 1	Descriptive	statistics of	of the	driver	sample
--------------------	-------------	---------------	--------	--------	--------

	Female	Male
Under 25 years	5 (23/56,000) <sup>a</sup>	4 (20/55,000)
25 to 45 years	5 (30/170,000)	6 (31/181,000)
Over 45 years	2 (49/152,000)	4 (55/462,000)
Overall	12 (30/120,000)	14 (35/209,000)

<sup>a</sup>(avg. age/avg. mileage in km)



Fig. 27.2 System steering wheel torque and angle

driving lane after the evading manoeuvre. To achieve the desired steering wheel trajectory an additional steering torque of 8 Nm with a gradient of 250 Nm/s (measured at the steering wheel) could be applied.

Due to the intervention duration of about two seconds the possibility to retract the evasive manoeuvre was investigated with regards to its interdependency to the driving context. The retraction could be initiated by the driver by applying a steering wheel torque of more than 4 Nm for more than 300 ms in the opposite direction to the system. The first 200 ms were excluded from this possibility because of the initial reaction triggered by the motion of the steering wheel, see [11]. Therefore, the earliest point in time for the onset of the retraction was 500 ms after the beginning of the intervention.

Two different retraction versions of the additional steering torque were analysed: While in the first case the currently applied additional steering torque was retracted instantly, a continuous reduction over 500 ms was realised in the second case. Both versions were compared to intervention without the possibility to retract the intervention where drivers experienced the complete intervention. For each system intervention it was predefined which version was presented to the driver.

# 27.5 Reaction Patterns to System Initiated Emergency Steering Interventions

The results of the previously described experiment start with a description of the observed driver steering behaviour. First, the reaction patterns in case of false positive interventions

are described with special focus on those interventions that can be retracted (Sect. 27.5.1). In the second part, different reaction types to true positive interventions are investigated (Sect. 27.5.2) which are of high relevance for a suitable design of an override criterion serving as a trigger for a possible intervention retraction (see Sect. 27.8).

#### 27.5.1 Driver Reactions to False Positive Interventions

To understand what the differences in the driver reaction between different driving contexts are, one should take a look at typical reaction pattern first. Assuming that the driver is willing to override a false positive steering intervention, three different phases in the driver reaction can be found: After the onset of the additional steering torque an increase of the steering wheel angle can be observed until the driver prevents a further increase. This phase is called failure phase because it is dominated by the failure characteristic and ends with a first peak in the steering wheel angle that is also called maximum failure induced steering wheel angle (compare [11]). The driver answers the increase of the steering wheel angle with a haptically triggered countersteering. The failure induced steering wheel angle is reduced and often inverted by applying a steering wheel torque that is higher than the additional steering torque of the system. When this initial countersteering motion ends in the second peak of the steering wheel angle, the compensation starts and leads over to the normal driving condition.

Fig. 27.3 shows two different reaction patterns to a steering intervention that could be retracted with a continuous reduction of the additional steering torque. On the left side the driver shows a commonly fast reaction to the onset of the steering intervention. Due to the fact that the initial countersteering is finished when the continuous reduction starts, the driver is already in the compensation phase and experiences the change in the additional steering torque as a further error. In the following, this reaction pattern is referred to by "no interference" (of countersteering and additional steering torque reduction).



Fig. 27.3 Reaction patterns to false positive interventions (**b** without interference, **a** with interference)

	No interference	Interference
Lane markings	59% (103/174)	41% (71/174)
Intersection	67% (68/102)	33% (34/102)
Pylon alley	76% (132/173)	24% (41/173)

 Table 27.2
 Occurrence frequency of reactions patterns to false positive interventions

The reaction pattern on the right side to the contrary shows a delayed driver reaction to the onset of the steering intervention, noticeable by the higher failure induced steering wheel angle at a later point in time. Due to the delayed reaction, the initial countersteering overlaps with the reduction of the additional steering torque (at t = 0.5 sec) which results in significantly higher amplitudes of the steering wheel angle. The prolonged countersteering is followed by the compensation phase and results in a longer overall failure compensation with noticeable higher vehicle dynamics. Similar reactions are called "interference" (of countersteering and additional steering torque reduction) in the following.

Taking a look at the occurrence frequency of these two reaction patterns during the experiment reveals the first evidence for the influence of available evading space on the driver reaction (Table 27.2): In the pylon alley with its narrow spatial barriers the lowest percentage of interference reactions was observed, the section with lane markings and no physical barriers revealed the highest number. For the intersection which had some spatial barriers, but not as narrow as the pylon alley, the percentage lays in between the lane markings and the pylon alley.

Two important aspects can be derived from this result: First, it can be concluded that for the analysed steering intervention the existence of narrow spatial barriers decreases the number of delayed reactions to the steering intervention onset (and therefore the occurrence of reactions with interference between initial countersteering and the reduction of the additional steering torque). A second way of interpreting these results suggests that drivers adapt their behaviour to the current driving environment. In situations when there is only little available space for compensating steering disturbances drivers act faster and allow less lateral deviation. This interpretation is in line with the findings on behavioural adaptations due to changes in the demand by the driving task which has been shown by e.g. [12–14].

## 27.5.2 Driver Reactions to True Positive Interventions

When analyzing the driver reactions to system initiated steering interventions during normal system use -i. e. in an emergency evasive manoeuvre - one can categorize three types of drivers: The first two types show an obvious tendency to solve the critical situation by steering. Least often drivers show active steering support of the steering intervention. Characteristic for this type of reaction is a drop in the steering torque applied by the driver which can be seen after roughly 350 to 450 ms (see Fig. 27.4). At that point in time the


Fig. 27.4 Reaction patterns to true positive interventions

initial reflex-like fixation is changed into an active support by turning the steering wheel actively into the same direction as intended by the system. As a consequence, this type of reaction shows the highest yaw rates during the execution of the evasive manoeuvre.

The second type of reaction that allows assuming an evading intention of the driver is damping. A taking up of the system steering input by the driver cannot be found for this type, but the yaw rate shows a typical evasive behaviour of the vehicle with a damped amplitude in comparison to the system planed yaw motion. This means that the driver allows the vehicle to evade, but with reduced vehicle dynamics. At this point, it has to be mentioned that not the full dynamic of the planed steering intervention was necessary to avoid the foam obstacle due to the desired safety margins in the experimental design. Hence, it cannot be finally determined whether the damping behaviour is caused by the wish of the driver not to exceed certain vehicle dynamics (possibly to avoid a subjectively perceived loss of control) or a planned, situation adequate reduction of the dynamics.

The reaction pattern of the third type does not differ from damping and can be seen as a maximum damping, called fixation in the following. Compared to the previous reaction types (active steering support and damping) drivers showing this reaction type allow almost no vehicle dynamics. Especially an evading trajectory cannot be recognised based on the yaw rate signal. The recorded vehicle dynamics result from the differences between the additional steering torque and the compensating torque by the driver. This type of reaction is most comparable to reactions when driver try to suppress any steering wheel motion and vehicle dynamics as good as possible (e.g. during false positive interventions).

Differences between those reaction types are important to consider for the system based evaluation of the driver intention (Chap. 28), e.g. in the design of an override criterion (see Sect. 27.8). Especially the distinction between fixation and damping seems to be challenging. However, this distinction it needed due to the assumed differences in driver intention which is only reflected in small parameter-differences and leads to very similar reaction patterns.

#### 27.6 Influence of the Available Evading Space on the Driver Reaction

As it has already been shown in the description of reaction patterns to false positive interventions the experiment revealed an influence of the driving context which was also described in the literature (see Sect. 27.2). To further investigate this influence with focus on its influence in the context of the controllability assessment, changes in the natural steering behaviour (meaning without influence of steering interventions) due to the driving context are analysed (Sect. 27.6.1) and used in the following to explain differences in the driver reaction to system initiated steering interventions (Sect. 27.5).

#### 27.6.1 Differences in the Natural Steering Behaviour

Sect. 27.3 described behavioural adaptations due to changes in the demand by the primary driving task that have been documented by [12–14]. Enhancing the deployment of ADAS in urban areas as intended by the UR:BAN project has to consider these possible behavioural adaptations by the driver. Focus of interest in the context of this chapter is the change in the steering control activity by the driver. For the evaluation of the driver reaction to the steering interventions to be investigated it has to be analysed whether differences between driver reactions originate e. g. from inter-individual variability or have a systematic background based on to the driving context and the related steering activity.

In [15] several parameters for the evaluation of the driver's steering control activity are discussed. One is the frequency spectrum of the driver steering torque input. Previous work on the human steering wheel operation [7–9] showed that certain frequency bands are associated with different control strategies of the driver: Frequencies between 0 and 0.1 Hz are due to the road curvature. Above that frequency one can distinguish between anticipatory (also called feed forward) and compensatory (also called feedback) control activity. Anticipatory control activities lie in the range between 0.1 and 0.3 Hz and represent steering input that drivers set for the planed course with a certain time horizon. Since drivers also have to fulfil other tasks while driving (e.g. observation of the surrounding traffic) they do not maintain a continuous control of the lateral vehicle position. Therefore,



Fig. 27.5 Frequencies of natural driving behaviour

they correct possible deviations from the planed course intermittently. Those corrections are executed with control activities in the frequency band above 0.3 Hz.

To compare changes in the natural steering control behaviour data from the first three passages through the lane markings and the pylon alley were analysed. The data for each driver was recorded prior to the first system intervention to avoid possible influences from expectations of further interventions. Fig. 27.5 shows on the left side the averaged frequency spectrum of the driver input normalized by the signal energy. In the frequency band of anticipatory control activities a distinct peak for the lane markings can be recognised. The steering input for the pylon alley is noticeably lower in this frequency band. Right at the transition between anticipatory and compensatory frequencies the ratio between lane markings and the pylon alley changes. To quantize this observation Fig. 27.5 shows on the right side the distribution of the ratio between compensatory and anticipatory frequencies for all drivers. While the ratio is below one for the lane markings (i.e.: higher input of anticipatory frequencies compared to compensatory frequencies), there is a significant difference to the ratio for the pylon alley which is above one (t(25) = -10.09, p < 0.001). Hypothesis 1.1 (see Sect. 27.3) is therefore confirmed: In case of narrow spatial barriers an increased compensatory control activity regarding the steering wheel operation can be noticed.

## 27.6.2 Differences in the Driver Reaction in Case of False Positive Interventions

The different versions of the steering intervention were investigated within the experiment in different order per test subject, a uniform distribution in the two analysed sections was required leaving 15 participants for the following evaluation of the driver performance. More details about the influence of the intervention characteristics on the driver performance are described in [16].

Two objective measures were chosen to quantify the effects of the noted behavioural adaptations in cases of system steering interventions: The maximum yaw rate as well as the lateral displacement is commonly used to evaluate the controllability of lateral acting ADAS. In Fig. 27.6 distributions of both measures for false positive steering interventions can be seen. For both parameter the maximum was assessed from the onset of the steering intervention until they driver restored normal driving conditions (determined by the yaw motion of the vehicle). Significantly higher values of yaw rate and lateral displacement were measured in the section without narrow spatial barriers (yaw rate: t(14) = 5.16, p < 0.001; lateral displacement: t(14) = 4.41, p < 0.001). Hence, also hypothesis 1.2 is confirmed: In case of narrow spatial barriers comparable false positive steering interventions show lower effects on yaw rate and lateral displacement compared to cases without narrow barriers.

Beside lower amplitudes of these parameters also a lower variance was documented for the pylon alley. Lower variance is also found in the time of the failure induced steering wheel angle which is often interpreted as reaction time in the context of steering interventions (compare Fig. 27.7). Like yaw rate and lateral displacement also the reaction time shows a significant effect of the driving context (t(14) = 4.41, p < 0.001). Even though, the effect size is not very big, one can assume that the lower yaw rate and less lateral displacement result from a faster reaction by the driver due to overall higher steering activity in the pylon alley. In summary, it can be assumed, that drivers show a situation-adequate reaction to the false positive interventions: In situations when a fast reaction is required to avoid collision with spatial barriers drivers do react fast. Whether this effect is attributable to the lane width or to the existence of spatial barriers cannot be finally determined based on the present data set since both parameters were varied at the same time in the chosen experimental set up.



Fig. 27.6 Yaw rate and lateral displacement during false positive interventions



#### 27.7 Influence of a Retraction Possibility on the Driver Reaction

In Sect. 27.5.1 it was shown that the driver reaction pattern to false positive steering interventions depends on the driving context. Beside this situational influence it is obvious that the reaction and its consequences regarding the vehicle dynamics are also depending on the intervention characteristics. Due to the prolonged duration of the discussed steering interventions two different retraction possibilities have been tested in the experiment. They aim on reducing the consequences of interventions that do not meet the intention of the driver, e. g. during false positive interventions. To this end, two aspects are of importance: First, an override criterion has to be developed that is able to detect the driver intention (prior or during the intervention). Insights on the differences between driver reactions to different use cases as shown in Sect. 27.5.1 and 27.5.2 can be beneficial for the development of a suitable override criterion (see Sect. 27.8). The second aspect addresses the design of the retraction procedure in case an override intention is detected. In the following the data of the experiment are used to evaluate two approaches with regard to their suitability to reduce the consequences of situations with diverging intentions of system and driver (e. g. during false positive interventions).

In Sect. 27.3 the research question was formulated how the consideration of a retraction possibility affects the driver reaction in case of system initiated steering interventions. Here, the focus is set on a possible reduction of consequences in cases diverging intentions of system and driver and not on the detection accuracy of the rudimentary override criterion (see Sect. 27.4). The basis for the evaluation is the maximum yaw rate. As previously described it is assumed that considering a retraction possibility is (in general) able to reduce the maximum yaw rate in case of false positive interventions (see H2.1 in Sect. 27.3). To that end Fig. 27.8 shows the maximum yaw rates for the two different retraction versions that were implemented in the experiment. Maximum yaw rates from driver reaction to system interventions that could not be retracted by the driver serve as a reference. All three conditions are split into driver reactions with and without interference of the reduction of the additional steering torque. For the reference condition the interference with the



Fig. 27.8 Maximum yaw rate depended on retraction possibility

countersteering motion of the steering angle trajectory was determined. Both retraction approaches reduce the maximum yaw rate significantly for driver reaction with as well as without interference meaning that H2.1 is confirmed: *Retraction possibilities are suited to reduce the maximum yaw rate in case of false positive steering interventions.* 

Taking a more detailed look at the differences between the two retraction approaches for H2.2 reveals a dependency of the reaction type: While there is a significant difference in the direct comparison between the maximum yaw rates for the continuous reduction and the instant retraction, the effect size is lower and not significant for reaction without interference. This means that the retraction design has only influence for the conducted experiment in cases where the driver shows a delayed reaction to the onset of the steering intervention. However, the data shows no advantage for the continuous reduction compared to the instant retraction as it was assumed by H2.2 which is therefore rejected: *A continuous reduction of the additional steering torque results in lower maximum yaw rates than an instant retraction.* 

#### 27.8 Design of an Exemplary Override Criterion

In Sect. 27.7 it was shown that the consideration of a retraction possibility is able to reduce the consequences regarding the vehicle dynamics for situations with diverging intentions of system and driver. As it was pointed out one elementary step is the design of an override criterion that is suitable to distinguish between different reaction patterns and their related driver intention. Reactions patterns have been described in Sect. 27.5 and form the basis of the intention evaluation. The goal of this distinction is to retract the additional steering torque if an override intention is detected or to continue the steering support if the drivers' steering behaviour complies with the steering intervention. The goal of the design of a retraction possibility is to take the decision to retract the additional steering torque in case an override intention (reaction pattern: fixation) or to continue the steering support and damping).

The data of the conducted experiment has been used to evaluate different approaches for a suitable override criterion. The different approaches were tested offline on the data. Most promising was an approach based on the comparison of the desired steering wheel angle velocity and the one implemented by the driver (Eq. 27.1). The underlying idea is that the driver steers different than the system intends operationalised to "the system tries to increase the steering wheel angle whereas the driver tries to decrease it (or is steering in the other direction)"

$$\operatorname{sign}(\dot{\varphi}_{\operatorname{System}}) \neq \operatorname{sign}(\dot{\varphi}_{\operatorname{Driver}})$$
 (27.1)

To avoid erroneous classifications due to short time effects a trend analysis can be considered for the override criterion: The override criterion is then only fulfilled if the condition described in Eq. 27.1 is continuously present for a specific time ( $t_{Trend}$ ). The described approach has been tested on data sets from the previously described experiment and one additional experiment in the driving simulator of the WIVW GmbH. In both data sets only those steering interventions which included no retraction possibility were analysed to avoid influences from intervention characteristics.

The results from the offline classification are depicted in Table 27.3. They show in how many cases and after which time the criterion would be fulfilled for true positive and false positive interventions. The time indicates when the steering torque would be retracted. Evaluating the data including the videos from interior observation showed that especially for true positive intervention not all drivers have an evading intention, but try to override the intervention. Possible explanations for this behaviour may be a general fear of loss of control over the vehicle dynamics or the chosen wide safety margins in the design of the evading situation (see Sect. 27.4). But also in false positive cases some drivers allowed high amplitudes of lateral deviation when enough evading space was available. These phenomena make it difficult to assign a general reference for the evaluation of the accuracy of the developed criteria: While for false positive interventions the goal of 100% criterion fulfilment would be beneficial for the controllability, the intuitive goal of

	True positive cases		False positive cases	
	Criterion fulfilled	Time [s]	Criterion fulfilled	Time [s]
$t_{\rm Trend} = 0  {\rm ms}$	39%	0.17	83%	0.16
$t_{\rm Trend} = 10  \rm ms$	33%	0.175	83%	0.17
$t_{\rm Trend} = 20  \rm ms$	27%	0.18	69%	0.18
IZVW	Criterion fulfilled	Time [s]	Criterion fulfilled	Time [s]
$t_{\rm Trend} = 0  \rm ms$	52.4%	0.22	53.3%	0.14
$t_{\rm Trend} = 100  \rm ms$	11.9%	0.42	Insufficient consideration of damping	

Table 27.3 Classification results for most promising override criterion

0% criterion fulfilment in true positive cases seems unrealistic and based on the observed behaviour also not correct. Nevertheless, three aspects can be seen from Table 27.3:

- 1. For the chosen approach a compromise has to be found: Increasing the time frame for the trend analysis decreases the percentage of situations in which the criterion is fulfilled for both, true and false positive cases. While this may be positive for the true positive cases (assuming that the ground truth is below the shown values for that use case), the decrease for false positive cases is rather negative. The parameter  $t_{\text{Trend}}$  may therefore serve as a design parameter to choose a more liberal or conservative system design.
- 2. The time window for the detection of an override intention starts roughly 200 ms after the start of the measurable driver reaction for the chosen approach. Naturally, increasing the trend analysis time postpones the detection time of the override intention, but provides more reliability that the observed behaviour is due to the driver's override intention and not just a short variation in the driver set steering wheel angle.
- 3. The classification accuracy has its limitations in the variety of the individual driver behaviour. One example can be seen in the condition with  $t_{\text{Trend}} = 100 \text{ ms}$  of the second data set: In false positive cases some drivers showed initially damping behaviour, but started a steering motion afterwards and were therefore insufficiently considered.

#### 27.9 Conclusions

Two research questions regarding the effect of spatial barriers on the driver behaviour and the influence of a retraction possibility have been formulated and investigated in this chapter. The main results are be used in the following to answer these questions.

## How do spatial barriers affect the natural driving/steering behaviour and therefore the driver reaction to system initiated steering interventions?

It was shown that the natural driver behaviour is influenced by narrow spatial barriers. Drivers adapted their lateral control behaviour to a significantly higher compensatory control activity. This behavioural adaptation led to faster reactions and lower maximum yaw rates in case of false positive steering interventions. In addition, some of the observed reaction patterns to false positive interventions occurred more often in a specific driving context than others. Overall, one can say that drivers adapt their behaviour to the driving context: In case of narrow spatial barriers drivers react faster and allow less lateral deviation. If enough evading space is available drivers also allow higher lateral deviations. This knowledge should be considered in the experiment design of the controllability evaluation methods.

## How does the consideration of a retraction possibility affect the driver reaction in case of system initiated steering interventions?

Retraction possibilities could help to reduce effects of false positive steering interventions with regard to the maximum yaw rate. In the present study, the implemented continuous reduction of the additional steering torque showed no clear improvement compared to an instant retraction/reduction. On the contrary, for delayed driver reactions – meaning higher maximum failure induced steering wheel angles – the instant retraction revealed slightly lower maximum yaw rates.

For the design of an override criterion a comparison between the system intended and driver implemented sign of the steering wheel angle velocity seems to be a good indicator. Especially, in combination with a trend analysis for the criterion the approach is able to distinguish between drivers with and without override intention with a good accuracy. Evaluating the detection accuracy of the override criterion involves the problem of a clear reference (ground truth): Also during true positive interventions some drivers override the system intervention. In addition, not all drivers override a system intervention in false positive cases but only damp the additional steering torque allowing noticeable lateral deviation if the space is available. Therefore, a reference like "true positive = 0% override criterion fulfilment and false positive = 100% override criterion fulfilment" is not realistic. However, to increase the reference accuracy the test situation should be defined so that during the false positive intervention overriding is required to avoid a collision with other obstacles. Also the situation of the normal system use should impose a high reaction urge to avoid the obstacle enabling a sharp distinction between overriding and acceptance intention.

#### References

 Kleen, A., Schmidt, G.: Haptische Ausweichempfehlungen in Kollisionssituationen: Effektivität und Kontrollierbarkeit. In: Beiträge 8. Berliner Werkstatt MMS 2009, 2010, pp. 44–49 (2009)

- Bräuchle, C., Flehmig, F., Rosenstiel, W., Kropf, T.: Das Fahrerverhalten als Indikator für Fehlauslösungen von aktiven Kollisionsvermeidungsmanövern. Der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert. VDI-Berichte, vol. 2205 (2013)
- Rüger, F., Nitsch, V., Färber, B.: Automatic evasion seen from the opposing traffic An investigation with the vehicle in the loop. Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC). 2015 IEEE 18th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems. (2015)
- Schmidt, G.: Wann spürt der Fahrer überhaupt? Der Einfluss des Fahrmanövers auf die Wahrnehmung von Zusatzlenkmomenten als haptische Signale. VDI-Berichte, vol. 2015. (2007)
- 5. Neukum, A., Paulig, J., Frömmig, L., Henze, R.: Untersuchung zur Wahrnehmung von Lenkmomenten bei Pkw. FAT Schriftenreihe, vol. 222. (2009)
- Schmidt, G., Switkes, J.P., Kiss, M., Gerdes, J.C.: Auswirkung haptischer Signale in der Lenkung auf das Fahrer-Fahrzeug-System. GZVB, AAET 2007 Automatisierungssysteme, Assistenzsysteme und eingebettete Systeme f
  ür Transportmittel, Braunschweig, 26.–28. Februar 2007. (2007)
- 7. Blaauw, G.J.: Car driving as a supervisory control task. Dissertation TU Delft, TNO Institute for Perception, Soesterberg (1984)
- McLean, J.R., Hoffman, E.R.: Analysis of Drivers' Control Movement. Hum Factors 13, 407– 408 (1971)
- 9. Isomura, A., Hara, T., Kamiya, K.: Human factors on driver's steering wheel operation: Three parameters evaluating characteristics of driver's steering wheel operations. Tech Notes Jsae Rev **16**(1995), 383–410 (1995)
- Christen, F., Eckstein, L., Katriniok, A., Abel, D.: Satellitenbasiertes Kollisionsvermeidungssystem. In: Vernetztes Automobil, pp. 55–63. Springer Vieweg, Wiesbaden (2013)
- 11. Neukum, A., Reinelt, W.: Controllability of active steering system failures: a human factors approach. VDI-Berichte, vol. 1919. (2005)
- Summala, H.: Hierarchical model of behavioural adaptation and traffic accidents. In: Rothengatter, J.A., Carbonell Vaya, E. (eds.) Traffic and transport psychology: theory and application, pp. 41–52. Pergamon, Oxford (1997)
- 13. Vollrath, M., Krems, J.F.: Verkehrspsychologie. Ein Lehrbuch für Psychologen, Ingenieure und Informatiker. Kohlhammer, Stuttgart (2011)
- 14. Fuller, R.: Towards a general theory of driver behavior. Accid Analysis Prev 3, 461–472 (2005)
- 15. Buschardt, B.: Synthetische Lenkmomente. Berichte aus dem Zentrum Mensch-Maschine-Systeme der Technischen Universität Berlin. ZMMS Spektrum, vol. 16. (2003)
- Pütz, A., Zlocki, A., Eckstein, L.: Driver reaction to system initiated evasive manoeuvres. 10<sup>th</sup> ITS European Congress, Helsinki, 16.–19. June 2014. (2014)

### Designing Emergency Steering and Evasion Assist to Enhance Safety in Use and Controllability

Norbert Schneider, Guy Berg, Svenja Paradies, Peter Zahn, Alexander Huesmann, and Alexandra Neukum

#### 28.1 Introduction

To date most driver assistance systems associated with steering focus on increasing driving comfort by supporting the driver during manual driving. This includes primarily lane keeping, lane centring and parking assistance. However, up to now no assistance system has been introduced to the market featuring an emergency steering and evasion assistant. Although research activities have increased in the last years, several challenging issues still remain to be solved. This includes the design of steering and evasion assistants that effectively help to avoid collisions and can be controlled in case of a false positive activation.

To effectively avoid collisions in time-critical scenarios, the intervention of a steering and evasion assistant has to be highly dynamic. However, to be controllable in case of a false positive activation, the intervention of a steering and evasion assistant has to be limited. This goal conflict between the effectiveness in a true positive scenario and the controllability in case of a false positive activation cannot be easily solved. Moreover, research suggests that drivers reduce the effectiveness of steering and evasion assistants

N. Schneider (⊠) · A. Neukum Center for Traffic Sciences (IZVW), University of Wuerzburg Wuerzburg, Germany

G. Berg · A. Huesmann Safety in Use, Functional Safety, BMW Group Munich, Germany

S. Paradies Interieur, Human Machine Interface, User Experience, BMW Group Munich, Germany

P. Zahn Autonomous Driving, Active Safety and Sensors, BMW Group Munich, Germany

© Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_28 based on steer torque actuators by holding the steering wheel firmly at the beginning of an intervention. This reaction of the drivers reduces the collision avoidance potential of steering and evasion assistants. Several strategies were developed to overcome these problems, like using different steering actuators, decoupling of the driver input from the actual steering (cf. steer-by-wire functionality), using override detection or implementing warnings prior to an intervention. However, it is difficult to assess which measures are most promising to influence effectiveness and controllability of a steering and evasion assistant. To date most publications solely focus on technical aspects of different system designs leaving the interaction of the system design with the driver out of scope. Nonetheless, for the assessment of the influence of different system designs it is important to have detailed knowledge about the interaction of the system design with the driver. This chapter describes different designs of an emergency steering and evasion assistant and discusses advantages as well as disadvantages of these designs with a focus on the interaction of the system with the driver. Additionally, current research activities focusing on the interaction with the driver are summarized.

At the beginning of this chapter we will discuss different intervention concepts (Sect. 28.2), followed by actuators which can be used to implement these intervention concepts (Sect. 28.3). The chapter concludes with the summary of current research activities which are discussed regarding their implications for the collision avoidance potential and controllability of different system designs (Sect. 28.4).

#### 28.2 Intervention Concepts

There are several concepts of steering and evasion assistants, which differ in the level of automation and support they provide. The shown categorization is based on the work of Dang, Desens, Franke, Gavrila, Schäfers and Ziegler [1] and was slightly adapted to focus on the required interaction of the different concepts with a/the driver:

- directional steering recommendations,
- driver initiated evasion assistance,
- automatic evasion assistance.

#### 28.2.1 Directional Steering Recommendations

Directional steering recommendations support the driver by making a recommendation regarding the required steering direction to avoid a collision with an obstacle (e. g. [2, 3]). Besides visual and acoustic recommendations directional steering torques [1, 4], steering wheel vibrations [5, 6], or unilateral braking [4, 7] can be used. Although visual and acoustic recommendations are more likely to be associated with warnings and do not influence the vehicle trajectory directly, directional steering torques can slightly alter the

vehicle's trajectory. However, the decision to start an evasive manoeuvre is still up to the driver and the driver is thought to have full control of the vehicle. Nonetheless, the driver could be startled by directional steering torques, or rely on the recommendation which could have a negative impact on safety in use. Research has shown that the impact on the vehicle's trajectory and the driver's reaction is influenced by the configuration of the directional steering torque's amplitude and gradient [8–12].

#### 28.2.2 Driver Initiated Evasion Assistance

A driver-initiated evasion assistance (e.g. [13]). requires the driver to initiate the evasive measures. Typically, the system detects a steering reaction made by the driver who wants to avoid a collision with an obstacle. If the driver's steering direction corresponds with the planned trajectory, the system supports the driver by optimizing the trajectory to avoid a collision with the obstacle. Beside the driver's steering reaction brake reactions have also been discussed to be used to initiate the evasion assistance [14]. Compared to automatic evasion assistance, a possible benefit is the reduced risk for false positive activations.

#### 28.2.3 Automatic Evasion Assistance

An automatic evasion assistant predicts a collision with an obstacle within a critical time span and automatically starts an evasive manoeuvre by steering the vehicle along a planned trajectory around the obstacle (e. g. [4, 7, 15, 16]). A possible benefit of this concept is that it does not rely on the driver's reaction to avoid a collision. However, safety issues in case of a false positive activation have to be considered when designing such systems and according to current legal rules and regulations the driver should be able to override the assistance [17]. Additionally, it is still unclear how the takeover process has to be designed to minimize risks when the driver regains the control during or after an intervention.

#### 28.3 Actuators

Besides the described evasion concepts, several steering actuators or technological concepts exist which can be used to influence the lateral movement of the vehicle [18]. Depending on the technical solution that is used to implement the emergency steering and evasion assist, the driver gets direct feedback from the steering wheel or indirect feedback from the vehicle and vehicle dynamics. Additionally, the same driver reactions can lead to different results depending on the used actuator. In the following section four different actuators are described which have been subject to participant studies, and advantages as well as disadvantages are named.

#### 28.3.1 Steer Torque Actuator

The steering torque actuator uses a directional steering torque overlay to change the steering direction (for further information see [1, 19]). Interventions by the steering torque actuator give a direct and intuitive feedback to the driver at the steering wheel by influencing steering torque and steering wheel angle. The driver is capable of influencing or suppressing the intervention by counter steering, as long as the applied steering torques are not too strong. Research indicates that sudden steering torque changes, which are needed to implement an emergency steering and evasion assistance might irritate the driver or trigger driver reactions which lead to a reduction of the collision avoidance potential. Steering torque actuators and reaction patterns to additional steering torques have been subject to many studies (e. g. [8–12, 20, 21]), and a large section of the available research has focused its studies about emergency steering and evasion assist or steering assist in general on steering torque actuators (e. g. [1, 3–5, 7, 13, 15, 22–26, 26, 27]).

#### 28.3.2 Steer Angle Actuator

The steer angle actuator uses an angle overlay. The desired steer angle is added to the steer angle applied by the driver at the steering wheel (for further information see [1, 28]). To reach full collision avoidance potential with the steer angle actuator the driver has to hold a short reaction torque at the steering wheel at the beginning of the intervention [1]. This behaviour could lead to an initial counter steering reaction by the driver which might have a negative impact on collision avoidance potential or controllability in case of a false positive activation. The overall feedback of the steer angle actuator is thought to be not as direct and intuitive for the driver as the steer torque actuator. Additionally, the steer angle actuator influences the steer ratio. This could result in an offset of the steering wheel during the intervention, which might irritate the driver as the correlation between steering wheel angle and the lateral movement of the vehicle is changed. A combination of the steer angle and steer torque actuator might help to improve the consistency of the feedback for the driver.

#### 28.3.3 Unilateral Braking

A yaw rate can be created by braking only the left or the right wheels of the vehicle. In this case, no direct feedback is given to the driver via the steering wheel. All information about the intervention has to be obtained from vehicle dynamics or from additional warnings. The driver can influence the desired trajectory by counter steering. However, unilateral braking is thought to be suitable only for rare and short interventions [1] and the driver's steering behaviour might interfere or overlap with the system intervention. A combination

of unilateral braking and steering torque actuators could help to overcome these limitations and increase the collision avoidance potential of steering torque actuators (e. g. [4, 7]).

#### 28.3.4 Steer by Wire

Contrary to the other actuators, steer-by-wire does not necessarily have a mechanical connection between the steering wheel and an actor who changes the angle of the wheels (for further information see [29]). The steering command is transmitted electrically from the control unit to the actor. This allows a wide variety of different system designs resembling the characteristics of steering torque and steer angle actuators as well as unilateral braking or combinations of the aforementioned. Additionally, a total or temporary decoupling of the driver could be implemented which could help to increase the effectiveness of steering and evasion assistance systems (e. g. [15, 27]). However, safety issues in case of a false positive activation have to be considered when designing such a system as current legal rules and regulations require the possibility for the driver to override the assistance at all times.

#### 28.4 Design Implications Based on Experimental Studies

In the following, we report the results of current research activities which focus on the influence of different designs on the collision avoidance potential, safety in use and controllability of an emergency steering and evasion assistance. Therefore, results are summarized and discussed according to the following key aspects:

- reaction pattern,
- steering recommendations vs. automatic evasion assistance,
- potential of warnings,
- potential of override detection,
- decoupling of the driver.

#### 28.4.1 Reaction Pattern

Almost all studies featuring steering interventions of an automatic or driver initiated steering and evasion assist with a steer torque actuator report an undesired damping of the steering intervention by the driver in collision avoidance scenarios. This reduces the collision avoidance potential in true positive scenarios and the lateral offset in case of a false positive activation (e. g. [3, 4, 7, 15, 24, 27]). The characteristics of this damping reaction have not been reported in detail so far, although they could play an important role for the design of a steering and evasion assist. This effect could also be observed in several studies within the UR:BAN KON project (Chap. 27). A detailed analysis of the driver's reaction pattern at the steering wheel revealed two reaction phases (Fig. 28.1):

**The first phase** is dominated by the damping reaction of the driver which starts approximately 200–300 ms after the beginning of the steering intervention. This reaction is assumed to be triggered by the sudden change in steering torque (see also [8, 9, 30]) and could be observed in true positive as well as false positive scenarios. Additionally, it could be shown that this timeframe is influenced by the characteristics of the steering intervention. A lower steering torque gradient delays the damping reaction slightly [3, 31].

**The second phase** is dominated by the driver's intention to suppress or pick up the steering intervention and follows directly after the first phase, starting approximately 400–800 ms after the beginning of the steering intervention. Prior to this, it is difficult to distinguish between drivers who want to suppress, damp or pick up the intervention based on the driver behaviour.

This reaction pattern could play an important role in the design of an emergency steering and evasion assistant based on a steer torque actuator. Although further confirmation is needed, the observed time frames indicate how long it takes for the driver to react to the steering intervention. Research suggests that similar reaction patterns can be observed for unilateral braking [32] or steer angle actuators [33, 34]. This could be used to estimate the consequences of a false positive activation or the timespan needed to detect the driver's intention of an override detection algorithm. Additionally, it could be used as an objective measure to compare different system designs. System designs leading to a faster reaction



**Fig. 28.1** Observed reaction pattern of a driver based on steering wheel angle (*black line*) and steering wheel angle velocity (*dotted red line*). Phase I indicates the damping reaction of the driver at the beginning of the intervention. Phase II indicates the intention of the driver to follow the steering intervention

of the driver could be beneficial for controllability as well as the effectiveness of an automatic steering evasion assistant. However, to date most studies did not focus on analysing differences in the reaction pattern as a consequence of system or scenario design.

#### 28.4.2 Steering Recommendations vs. Automatic Evasion Assistance

Within the project UR:BAN KON we compared directional steering torques to a steering intervention which applied a steering wheel angle following a sinusoidal curve producing a defined lateral offset in a dynamic driving simulator.

Although directional steering recommendations showed a similar collision avoidance potential in true positive scenarios, some drivers produced extreme steering wheel angles. This resulted in large lateral offset which could have endangered surrounding traffic. The tested steering intervention helped to prevent the occurrence of extreme steering wheel angles by actively limiting the applied steering wheel angle. However, if the driver is only assisted during the start of the evasive manoeuvre, the risk for the occurrence of a great lateral offset is still increased compared to an intervention which helps to realign the vehicle.

Therefore, it can be concluded that steering and evasion assistants which limit the applied steering wheel angle and assist the driver in realigning the vehicle help to maximize safety in use.

#### 28.4.3 Potential of Warnings

Several authors suggested the implementation of visual, acoustic and haptic warnings in collision avoidance scenarios in order to assist the driver in his decision to start an evasive manoeuvre [2, 5, 35] or to prepare the driver for the intervention of a steering and evasion assist [7, 15, 27]. The following sections summarize the research regarding different warning designs, as well as their influence on collision avoidance potential (true positive) and controllability in case of a false positive activation of a steering intervention. Additionally, two studies will be reported in more detail, which were conducted within the project UR:BAN KON and focused on the influence of warnings.

#### Visual Warnings

According to Weber [35] visual warnings depicting the trajectory of the evasive manoeuvre on street level lead to a significant increase of drivers successfully avoiding a collision by evasive measures. However, to our knowledge no study has reported the effect of visual warnings on effectiveness, safety in use or controllability of steering interventions to date. Additionally, it should be considered that visual warnings or warnings in general could also be distracting and too complex to be perceived and understood within the available timeframe [36].

#### **Acoustic Warnings**

Acoustic warnings prior to the intervention increased the effectiveness of an automatic steering and evasion assist in true positive scenarios. Similar effects of the acoustic warning in true positive scenarios case have been reported by Sieber et al. [7]. However, the acoustic warning in Hesse et al. [15] lead to higher lateral offsets in case of a false positive activation, which could affect controllability. Although the acoustic warning in Sieber et al. [7] seemed to have positive effects in the use case, the increased lateral offset reported by Hesse et al. [15] could also lead to problems with surrounding traffic.

#### **Directional Steering Torques**

Directional steering torques (in the direction of the steering and evasion assist's manoeuvre) used as a haptic warning prior to the steering intervention seem to increase effectiveness (in terms of successful collision avoidance and observed lateral offset in the use case) and controllability (in terms of lateral offset in case of a false activation of a steering intervention) of the steering and evasion assist compared to a system without any warning prior to the intervention according to Hesse et al. [15] and Schieben et al. [30]. Although directional steering torques seem to elicit steering behaviour (see Sect. 28.4.3 Empirical Studies), studies indicate that the timing could be crucial. A directional steering torque at a TTC of 1.6 s (400 ms prior to the steering intervention) increased the collision avoidance potential of a steering and evasion assist. However, a directional steering torque at a TTC of 1.4 s (200 ms prior to the steering intervention) did not. The reason for this could be the reaction pattern of the driver following steering torque overlays (Sect. 28.4.1).

#### 28.4.3.1 Empirical Studies

Although the aforementioned studies indicate that warnings might help to increase the effectiveness in the use case and the controllability of false positive activations, additional confirmation is needed to understand how warnings prior to an intervention of a steering and evasion assist have to be designed to achieve this effect. Within UR:BAN KON, two studies were conducted which compared different warnings and their effect on the collision avoidance potential, safety in use and controllability. In the following sections the design and observed results of the conducted studies will be summarized.

#### **Description of Study I**

The first study was conducted on a test track with a prototype vehicle. Two different warnings prior to a steering intervention of an automatic steering and evasion assist were compared to an intervention with no prior warning in a between-subjects design with N = 60 participants. Participants experienced true positive and a false positive activation of an automatic steering and evasion assist, either with or without a prior warning. As warnings a directional steering torque (amplitude of 5 Nm in the direction of the evasive manoeuvre of the assistant) and a short brake pulse (maximum deceleration 1.5 m/s<sup>2</sup>) prior to a steering intervention were implemented. Both warnings were triggered at a time-to-collision (TTC) of 1.9 s and were presented for 0.2 s.

#### **Results of Study I**

In the *true positive scenario* the directional steering torque prior to the steering intervention influenced drivers' steering behaviour, leading to more steering reactions, whereas the brake pulse influenced the drivers' braking behaviour, leading to more brake reactions. As there were no collisions observed in the study, no differences in collision avoidance potential were found. However, in case of a *false activation* of the steering intervention warnings increased the observed lateral offset which indicates that warnings could have a negative impact on controllability.

#### **Description of Study II**

The second study was conducted in a dynamic driving simulator. In total, five different warning designs were compared to a steering intervention with no prior warning in a between subjects design with N = 60 participants. Directional steering torques, a brake pulse, a combination of a directional steering torque or a tone and a visual display were used as warnings. All drivers experienced a true positive scenario and a false positive activation of the steering intervention.

- The **directional steering torques** were implemented with an amplitude of 4 Nm which was presented for 300 ms. They were triggered either at a TTC of 1.4 s or at a TTC of 1.6 s. Additionally, a **combination** of the **directional steering torque** at a TTC of 1.6 s and a **visual warning** was implemented.
- The **visual warning** displayed the steering intervention's trajectory on street level with a simulated head-up-display. Additionally, a small warning triangle was presented at a fixed position.
- The **visual-acoustic warning** used the same visual warning but was accompanied by a sinusoidal tone with a frequency of 1200 Hz which was presented for 500 ms.
- The **brake pulse** was implemented as a short deceleration of 1.5 m/s<sup>2</sup> for 300 ms which was triggered at a TTC of 1.6 s.

#### **Results of Study II**

In the *true positive scenario* almost all warnings increased the collision avoidance potential of the steering and evasion assist compared to an intervention without a prior warning, except for the directional steering torque at a TTC of 1.4 s. Best collision avoidance potential was observed for the directional steering torque at a TTC of 1.6 s and the combination of the directional steering torque and the visual warning. In case of a *false activation* of the steering intervention all warnings increased the observed lateral offset except for the directional steering torque at a TTC of 1.4 s. However, most drivers were able to reduce lateral offset compared to the target value of 1.75 m (Fig. 28.2).

#### Conclusion

The literature and the results of the reported studies further support the notion that design, modality and timing of the warning might influence driver behaviour even with the



Fig.28.2 Maximum lateral offset as a consequence of a false activation of the steering intervention

limited timespan. Directional steering torques seem to elicit steering behaviour whereas brake pulses seem to elicit braking behaviour. Additional visual warnings could help to strengthen these effects if they are designed accordingly.

In general, it seems to be difficult to design a warning which increases both the collision avoidance potential of steering and evasion assistants and the controllability of a false activation. Therefore, no recommendation can be given whether a warning prior to a steering intervention should be implemented when designing a steering and evasion assist. Additionally, it should be considered that warnings could have a stronger impact when drivers are distracted (Chap. 29). However, most of the reported studies focused on attentive drivers, which makes it even more difficult to give a recommendation regarding the implementation of warnings in an emergency steering and evasion assistant.

#### 28.4.4 Potential of Override Detection

In order to increase the controllability of false positive system activations of an automatic emergency steering and evasion assistant the implementation of an override detection mechanism has been discussed (e.g. [6, 15, 27]). The override detection mechanism observes the driver's steering reactions and tries to detect whether the driver is acting against the steering evasion assistant or not. If the system detects that the driver is acting against the steering intervention, the intervention gets retracted and the control is handed back

to the driver. A simple override mechanism has been reported by Hesse et al. [15] and Schieben et al. [27] for a steer-by-wire emergency steering and evasion assistant, which uses a steering wheel threshold. However, the results indicate that it did not help to increase the controllability (in terms of reducing the lateral offset) of a false positive system activation. Additionally it seems difficult to reliably detect an override intention prior to 0.7 s after the beginning of a steering intervention [6, 15]. In general the development of a fast and reliable override detection based on the drivers steering behaviour seems to be challenging. Although counter steering can be observed very early (see also Chap. 27), the tendency of drivers to dampen or counter steer even in true positive scenarios (see Sect. 28.4) require an elaborate design of an online override detection mechanism, which has no negative impact on the effectiveness in true positive scenarios.

#### 28.4.4.1 Empirical Study

In the following section an additional study is reported which was conducted within the project UR:BAN KON. The study focused on the development and test of an online override detection mechanism and analyses whether the override detection and subsequent retraction of the system initiated steering intervention has an impact on the collision avoidance potential and controllability of an emergency steering assistant.

#### **Study Description**

The study was conducted with a prototype vehicle on a test track. The influence of an oversteering classifier was analysed with N = 63 participants in a between-subjects design. N = 32 participants experienced a true positive and false positive system activation of an automatic emergency steering assistant with an online oversteering classifier and N = 31 without. The online oversteering classifier was developed based on the data of prior study which was conducted with N = 60 participants. It uses the steering wheel angle and additional situation parameters (lateral deviation and time reserve) to detect whether the driver shows the intention to act against the system initiated emergency steering manoeuvre. To consider different types of occurring driver reactions, the oversteering detection is ready to respond 400 ms after the emergency steering manoeuvre has been started and is active until the obstacle has been passed. In the true positive scenario (cf. Fig. 28.3a) a pedestrian dummy was moved into the lane before the steering intervention was started. In case of the false positive activation the manoeuvring space was restricted by marking posts (cf. Fig. 28.3b). In order to avoid a collision with the marking posts participants had to oversteer the steering intervention of the emergency steering assistant.

#### Results

In the *true positive scenario* (cf. Fig. 28.3a) all participants successfully avoided a collision with the pedestrian dummy. Oversteering reactions were only detected in rare cases, shortly (200 ms) before the obstacle was reached, when participants fell below the emergency steering assistant's intended safety distance to the obstacle, which was parameterized rather conservatively in this study. However, at this point in time this has almost



**Fig. 28.3** True positive scenario with the pedestrian dummy (a) and false positive scenario with the marking posts limiting the available manoeuvre space (b)

no consequence for the passing trajectory and did not influence the collision avoidance potential.

In the *false positive scenario* (Fig. 28.3b) all participants were able to avoid a collision with the marking posts in the direction of the evasive manoeuvre and showed oversteering behaviour, leading to a retraction of the system intervention. Typically, the oversteering could be detected after a time span of 550 to 750 ms. Although the detection performance of the oversteering classifier was 100% under the experimental conditions, no significant effects of the oversteering classifier could be observed based on the objecting driving data (e. g. reduced lateral offset). This indicates that beginning with their intentional reaction drivers were able to suppress and compensate the applied steering wheel torque of up to 8 Nm without apparent difficulties and adapt the vehicle's trajectory to avoid a collision with the marking posts. Although no differences were found regarding objective driving data, subjective measures indicate that participants rated the system intervention as more "natural" and "reliable" with an oversteering classifier compared to those who performed the test without an oversteering classifier. Additionally, more participants were convinced that the system was adapted to them if they experienced the interventions with an oversteering classifier.

In general, the tested oversteering classifier proved to be an appropriate approach to detect oversteering intentions of the driver as soon as possible and to distinguish it from spontaneous steering reaction patterns as they can be observed within the first phase of the reaction (Sect. 28.4).

#### Conclusion

Although participants seem to be able to handle false positive activations of an emergency steering and evasion assistant based on a steer torque actuator, an appropriately designed online override detection can provide a reliable approach for detecting a driver's oversteering intent. Based on the results, it can be concluded that the implementation of an oversteering classifier is not necessarily needed to guarantee or improve the controllability of evasive manoeuvres triggered by an emergency steering assistant. Nevertheless, the possibility for an early withdrawal of the system intervention and the resulting steering wheel moments could be appreciated by the drivers. Regarding the effectiveness of true positive interventions no drawbacks were observed. However, as the reported effects are strongly linked to the experimental conditions and the specific implementation of the system, it remains to be tested if other system designs (e. g. steer-by-wire based concepts) can benefit more strongly from the implementation of an oversteering classifier.

#### 28.4.5 Potential of Driver Decoupling

To overcome the negative effect of the damping reaction of the driver (Sect. 28.4.1) some authors suggested to decouple the driver for a limited amount of time (e.g. [15, 27]). by using a steer-by-wire concept. The decoupling of steering wheel and steer angle for the first 800 ms of an intervention increased the collision avoidance potential of an automatic steering and evasion assist in true positive scenarios according to Hesse et al. [15] and Schieben et al. [27]. However, the lateral offset in case of a false positive activation was also increased compared to an intervention with a coupled steering and evasion assist. An additional implementation of a rudimentary override detection, allowing the driver to recouple, did not help to decrease the observed lateral offset in false positive scenarios which was used as indicator for controllability. Although 100% of the drivers were able to initiate the recoupling, the authors reported that the driver recoupled after an average of 670 up to 710 ms [15] which was too late to effectively reduce the lateral offset in the false positive scenario. Another approach [7] used unilateral braking which can also result in a steer angle without changing the steering wheel angle (which can be seen as a partial decoupling of the driver). The results indicate that unilateral braking did not increase lateral offset compared to a fully coupled steering and evasion assist.

Moreover, an explorative study conducted in a dynamic driving simulator within the UR:BAN KON project indicated that the driver's reaction to false positive activation of a steering intervention might be delayed (approximately 200 ms) compared to an intervention based on a steer torque actuator. The reason for the delayed reaction is still unclear, although the missing haptic and proprioceptive feedback on the steering wheel could play an important role. However, further confirmation based on a real vehicle study is needed to rule out an effect of the used research environment.

Taken together, a decoupling of the driver likely increases the collision avoidance potential of an emergency steering and evasion assistant in true positive scenarios. However, several challenging problems have yet to be faced including the development of an efficient override detection and a safe recoupling strategy. Without these measures it seems difficult to design a decoupled emergency steering and evasion assistant which is able to meet current controllability requirements.

#### References

- Dang, T., Desens, J., Franke, U., Gavrila, D., Schäfers, L., Ziegler, W.: Steering and Evasion Assist. In: Eskandarian, A. (ed.) Handbook of Intelligent Vehicles, pp. 759–782. Springer, London (2012)
- Kleen, A., Schmidt, G.: Haptische Ausweichempfehlungen in Kollisionssituationen: Effektivität und Aspekte der Kontrollierbarkeit. Tagungsband 8. Berliner Werkstatt Mensch-Maschine-Systeme, Berlin., pp 44–49 (2009)
- Schneider, N., Purucker, C., Neukum, A.: Comparison of Steering Interventions in Time-critical Scenarios. Procedia Manuf 3, 3107–3114 (2015)
- Sieber, M., Schneider, M., Siegel, A., Siedersberger, K.-H., Färber, B.: Wirksamkeit von Ausweichempfehlungen in Kombination mit Teilbremsung beim Notausweichen. In: Stiller, C.C., Bengler, K., Dietmayer, K., Eckstein, L., Färber, B., Maurer, M., Winner, H. (eds.) 10. Workshop Fahrerassistenzsysteme – FAS 2015, pp. 39–49. Uni-DAS e.V., Darmstadt (2015a)
- Beruscha, F., Wang, L., Augsburg, K., Wandke, H., Bosch, R.: Do drivers steer toward or away from lateral directional vibrations at the steering wheel. In Proc. 2nd European Conference on Human Centred Design for Intelligent Transport Systems (pp. 227–236) (2010)
- Bräuchle, C., Flehming, F., Rosenstiel, W., Kropf, T.: Das Fahrerverhalten als Indikator für Fehlauslösungen von aktiven Kollisionsvermeidungsmanövern. In: VDI-Gesellschaft Fahrzeug- und Verkehrstechnik (ed.) Der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert VDI-Berichte, vol. 2205, pp. 3–14. VDI, Düsseldorf (2013)
- Sieber, M., Siedersberger, K.-H., Siegel, A., Färber, B.: Automatic Emergency Steering with Distracted Drivers: Effects of Intervention Design. 2015 IEEE 18th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, Los Alamitos. IEEE Conference Pusblishing Services, California, pp 2040–2045 (2015b)
- 8. Neukum, A.: Controllability of erroneous steering torque interventions: Driver reactions and influencing factors. chassis.tech plus 2010. Munich, June 08/09, 2010 (2010)
- Neukum, A., Krüger, H.-P., Frömmig, L., Henze, R., Kücükay, F.: Wirkung diskreter Zusatzlenkmomente: Subjektive Bewertung und Fahrer-Fahrzeug Interaktion. In: Becker, K. (ed.) Subjektive Fahreindrücke sichtbar machen IV Haus der Technik Fachbuch, vol. 108, pp. 163– 178. expert, Renningen (2009)
- Neukum, A., Paulig, J., Frömmig, L., Henze, R.: Untersuchung zur Wahrnehmung von Lenkmomenten bei Pkw. FAT Schriftenreihe, vol. 222 (2010)
- Schmidt, G.: Haptische Signale in der Lenkung: Controllability zusätzlicher Lenkmomente. (Dissertation), TU Braunschweig (2009). http://rzbl04.biblio.etc.tu-bs.de:8080/docportal/ servlets/MCRFileNodeServlet/DocPortal\_derivate\_00007645/schmidtg\_dissertation.pdf. Accessed 14.06.2016
- Schmidt, G., Kiss, M., Switkes, J.P., Gerdes, J.C.: Auswirkung zusätzlicher Lenkmomente auf die Fahrer-Fahrzeug-Interaktion. VDI/VW Gemeinschaftstagung – Integrierte Sicherheit und Fahrerassistenzsysteme, Wolfsburg. vol. 22 (2006)
- Grußner, T., Bürkle, L., Marberger, C.: Erweiterung aktiver Fußgängerschutzsysteme durch eine fahrerinitierte Ausweichunterstützung. In: Stiller, C.C., Bengler, K., Dietmayer, K., Eckstein, L., Färber, B., Maurer, M., Winner, H. (eds.) 10. Workshop Fahrerassistenzsysteme – FAS 2015, pp. 19–28. Uni-DAS e.V., Darmstadt (2015)
- Itoh, M., Horikome, T., Inagaki, T.: Effectiveness and driver acceptance of a semiautonomous forward obstacle collision avoidance system. Appl Ergon 44(5), 756–763 (2013). doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2013.01.006

- Hesse, T., Schieben, A., Heesen, M., Dziennus, M., Griesche, S., Köster, F.: Interaction design for automation initiated steering manoeuvres for collision avoidance. 6. Tagung Fahrerassistenz, München (2013)
- Rüger, F., Nitsch, V., Färber, B.: Automatic evasion seen from the opposing traffic An investigation with the Vehicle in the Loop. 2015 IEEE 18th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems. IEEE Conference Pusblishing Service, Los Alamitos, California, pp 1041–1048 (2015)
- Report of the sixty eighth session of the Working Party on Road Traffic Safety (ECE/TRANS/WP.1/145) (2014). http://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/trans/doc/2014/wp1/ ECE-TRANS-WP1-145e.pdf. Accessed 14.06.2016
- Reimann, G., Brenner, P., Büring, H.: Lenkstellsysteme. In: Winner, H., Hakuli, S., Wolf, G. (eds.) Handbuch Fahrerassistenzsysteme: Grundlagen, Komponenten und Systeme für aktive Sicherheit und Komfort, pp. 287–312. Vieweg+Teubner, Wiesbaden (2012)
- Harrer, M., Pfeffer, P.: Elektromechanische Lenksysteme (EPS). In: Pfeffer, P., Harrer, M. (eds.) Lenkungshandbuch, pp. 347–408. Springer Fachmedien, Wiesbaden (2013a)
- Schmidt, G.: Wann spürt der Fahrer überhaupt? Der Einfluss des Fahrmanövers auf die Wahrnehmung von Zusatzlenkmomenten als haptische Signale im Fahrzeug. In: VDI-Gesellschaft Fahrzeug- und Verkehrstechnik (ed.) Der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert VDI-Berichte, vol. 2015, pp. 15–27. VDI, Düsseldorf (2007)
- Schmidt, G.: Applying the Response Code of Practice for Evaluation of Driver Assistance Systems: How the Age of the Driver influences Perception of Steering Torque Signals. In: Brusque, C. (ed.) Proceedings of European Conference on Human Centred Design for Intelligent Transport Systems, pp. 229–237. Humanist Publications, Lyon (2008)
- Switkes, J.P.: Handwheel Force Feedback With Lanekeeping Assistance: Combined Dynamics, Stability and Bounding (Dissertation), Stanford University (2006). https://ddl.stanford.edu/ sites/default/files/2006\_Thesis\_Switkes\_Handwheel\_Force\_Feedback\_with\_Lanekeeping\_ Assistance.pdf. Accessed 14.06.2016
- Switkes, J.P., Gerdes, J.C., Schmidt, G.F., Kiss, M.: Driver response to steering torque disturbances: A user study on assisted lanekeeping. In: Shaver, G. (ed.) 5th IFAC Symposium in Advances in Automotive Control (2007)
- Fricke, N., Griesche, S., Hesse, T., Schieben, A., Baumann, M.: Driver behavior following an automatic steering intervention. Accid Analysis Prev 83, 190–196 (2015)
- Huang, Z., Wu, Y., Liu, J.: Research on effects of pattern, amplitude and frequency of pulse steering torque warnings for lane departure. Transportation Res Part F 31, 67–76 (2015). doi:10.1016/j.trf.2015.03.008
- Maag, C., Schneider, N., Lübbeke, T., Weisswange, T.H., Goerick, C.: Car Gestures Advisory warning using additional steering wheel angles. Accid Analysis Prev 83, 143–153 (2015). doi:10.1016/j.aap.2015.07.020
- Schieben, A., Griesche, S., Hesse, T., Fricke, N., Baumann, M.: Evaluation of three different interaction designs for an automatic steering intervention. Transportation Res Part F 27, 238– 251 (2014). Part B doi:10.1016/j.trf.2014.06.002
- Harrer, M., Pfeffer, P.: Überlagerungslenkung. In: Pfeffer, P., Harrer, M. (eds.) Lenkungshandbuch, pp. 409–430. Springer Fachmedien, Wiesbaden (2013b)
- Harrer, M., Pfeffer, P.: Steer-by-Wire. In: Pfeffer, P., Harrer, M. (eds.) Lenkungshandbuch, pp. 447–458. Springer Fachmedien, Wiesbaden (2013c)
- Neukum, A., Leonhardt, A., Lübbeke, T., Ufer, E., Krüger, H.-P., Engels, F., et al.: Fahrer-Fahrzeug-Interaktion bei fehlerhaften Eingriffen eines EPS-Lenksystems. In: VDI-Gesellschaft Fahrzeug- und Verkehrstechnik (ed.) Der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert VDI-Berichte, vol. 2085, pp. 107–124. VDI, Braunschweig (2009)

- Neukum, A., Mehrjerdian, E., Greul, R., Gaedke, A.: Einflussfaktor Fahrzeug Zur Übertragbarkeit von Aussagen über die Wirkung von Zusatzlenkmomenten. In: VDI-Gesellschaft Fahrzeug- und Verkehrstechnik (ed.) VDI-Berichte, vol. 2104, pp. 361–374 (2010)
- 32. Neukum, A., Ufer, E., Schwab, M.: Kontrollierbarkeit potenzieller Fehleingriffe des Elektronischen Stabilitätsprogramms (ESP). 7. Tag des Fahrwerks 2010, Aachen (2010c)
- Neukum, A., Krüger, H.-P.: Fahrerreaktionen bei Lenksystemstörungen Untersuchungsmethodik und Bewertungskriterien. In: VDI-Gesellschaft Fahrzeug- und Verkehrstechnik (ed.) Reifen – Fahrwerk – Fahrbahn, vol. 1791, pp. 297–318. VDI, Düsseldorf (2003)
- 34. Neukum, A., Ufer, E., Paulig, J., Krüger, H.-P.: Controllability of superposition steering system failures. In A. T. Z. A. Zeitschrift (Ed.), *Steering.tech 2008* (2008)
- 35. Weber, D.: Untersuchung des Potenzials einer Brems-Ausweich-Assistenz. Karlsruher Schriftenreihe Fahrzeugsystemtechnik, vol. 13. KIT Scientific Publishing, Karlsruhe (2012)
- Campbell, J.L., Richard, C.M., Brown, J.L., McCallum, M.: Crash Warning System Interfaces: Human Factors Insights and Lessons Learned. Final Report (No. HS-810 697) (2007)

# Integrating Different Kinds of Driver Distraction 29 in Controllability Validations

Rico Auerswald, Alexander Frey, and Norbert Schneider

#### 29.1 Introduction

The RESPONSE 3 Code of Practice [1] defined driver distraction as "the process of diverting the attention of the driver from the driving-task to something else" (p. 5). Regan and Strayer [2] have assigned driver distraction into a taxonomy categorizing different causes for driver inattention. This taxonomy is not limited to driver distraction only, but covering also inattention-causes such as *driver neglected* or *cursory attention*. However, as another category Regan and Strayer define *driver diverted attention* equivalently to driver distraction. Moreover they subdivide this category into *driving-related* and *non-driving-related tasks*. In this chapter we refer to diverted attention through non-driving-related tasks when focusing on driver distraction due to secondary tasks.

Due to the increased usage of mobile or handheld devices while driving, driver distraction is still responsible for a huge amount of accidents with serious injuries. NHTSA [3] reported that about 10% of all serious crashes were related to distracted drivers with a total of 3331 killed road users in 2011. Additionally, naturalistic driving studies (NDS) revealed an increased risk to get into safety critical situations. Olson et al. (e. g. [4]) found, that 71% of all crashes and 60% of all safety critical events in their data set were related to distracted drivers. Due to the fact that driver distraction decreases the driving performance [5] it may also affect the controllability of intervening driving functions. For example, driving distraction can cause increased reaction times or decreased lane keeping performance. In addition, Huemer & Vollrath [6] pointed out that drivers turn their attention to

R. Auerswald  $(\boxtimes)$  · A. Frey

Automated Driving, Federal Highway Research Institute (BASt) Bergisch Gladbach, Germany

N. Schneider Center for Traffic Sciences (IZVW), University of Wuerzburg Wuerzburg, Germany

© Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH 2018 K. Bengler et al. (eds.), *UR:BAN Human Factors in Traffic*, ATZ/MTZ-Fachbuch, DOI 10.1007/978-3-658-15418-9\_29 secondary tasks for a significant amount of the travelling time. In their study, 80% of the participants reported to have done at least one secondary task within the last 30 min of driving.

Therefore, it can be assumed that drivers are often engaged with secondary tasks while driving and are more likely to get into safety critical situations. This increases the likelihood for distracted drivers to be confronted with an emergency assistant like emergency braking or emergency steering. Although it is the aim of these systems to assist the driver in these critical situations, it shows that it is important to consider driver distraction when analysing the driver behaviour, especially when interacting with emergency assistants.

To date research has neglected the effect of driver distraction on controllability of intervening driving functions. Therefore, we try to answer the question whether driver distraction has to be addressed in controllability research and give methodological recommendations for the implementation of driver distraction. Additionally, we conducted two experimental studies to demonstrate the influence of driver distraction on controllability.

#### 29.2 Methodological Implications & Recommendations

#### 29.2.1 Prevalence of Executing Secondary Tasks While Driving

For methodological implications and recommendations it is necessary to have a basic knowledge about drivers' real world behaviour executing secondary tasks while driving. The prevalence of these tasks was often measured by means of observations or interviews, as reported by Huemer and Vollrath [6]. They assigned secondary tasks into nine categories, e.g. eating and drinking, using (portable or vehicle-related) devices or selfinitiated actions like mind wandering. Based upon those categories, the authors conducted a survey on frequency and duration of different kinds of secondary tasks within the last 30 min. The most frequent activities were associated with vehicle-related devices (58% of the sample). However, drivers where engaged with those tasks only for short time intervals. Focusing on the time drivers spent to secondary tasks conversations with passengers (37.4%) or the usage of portable devices (33.9%) certainly required longer time intervals. While conversations with passengers occurred with high frequency, portable devices were used rarely. Kubitzki [7] revealed similar results concerning the prevalence of secondary tasks: The interaction with (portable and vehicle-related) devices and passengers as well as distracting elements in the environment seem to be the most relevant reasons for driver distraction which should be taken into account when analysing the influence of driver distraction in controllability research.

#### 29.2.2 Impact of Secondary Task on Drivers' Performance

Young, Regan and Hammer [8] categorised the requirements of secondary tasks for the driver into visual, auditory, biomechanical and cognitive components. They revealed dif-

ferent amounts of interference with the driving task depending on which components the secondary tasks primarily required, which has also be stated by Wickens [9] based on his multiple resource theory. In a simulator study, Muhrer and Vollrath [10] compared the effects of visual and cognitive demanding tasks in car-following scenarios. The visual distraction task relocated human's perception away from driving-relevant objects, therefore negatively affecting the driver's capability to respond to unpredictable, sudden events. However, cognitive distraction led to negative impacts on the predictability of future actions of surrounding road users. Therefore, it can be concluded that both distraction types lead to constraints regarding the driving performance, whereas they affect the situation awareness in different ways. Endsley [11] structured the situation awareness into the perception of surrounding elements in spatial and temporal manner, the comprehension as well as the interpretation of their meaning and the projection of the elements' characteristics in the (nearby) future. Following this taxonomy, visual distracting tasks would disturb mostly the perception step, while cognitive distraction would disturb the comprehension and interpretation due to the sharing of cognitive resources between the driving and secondary tasks [12]. This reduction of perceptual capacities could lead to a general reduction in secondary task and driving performance, whereas a lack of cognitive capacities in the working memory could probably lead to a missing link between surrounding elements on the road and the knowledge stored in the working memory [13].

As shown in the preceding section, tasks like the interaction with devices or conversations with passengers have a high prevalence in real traffic (see Sect. 29.2.1) and it is very likely that secondary tasks will be executed prior to an event which requires the intervention of an emergency steering and evasion assistant. According to the findings in this section, visual and cognitive secondary tasks should be considered when analysing the influence of driver distraction.

#### 29.2.3 Impact of Secondary Tasks on the Controllability of Intervening Driving Functions

Driver distraction might not only affect the interaction of the driver with emergency steering assistants in a use case where the intervention is justified but also when there is no apparent reason for an intervention (false activation).

In this chapter, we discuss how driver distraction could influence the controllability of false activations. As stated, false activations can appear without an apparent reason. However, in order to be able to regain the control over the vehicle and to minimize the consequences e. g. on the lateral movement, drivers have to react quickly by selecting the correct response with an appropriate intensity. In order to select the correct response the driver needs a reflection of the environment (situation awareness). However, based on the results we reported it can be assumed that driver distraction has a negative influence on the driver's situation awareness. Therefore, we assume that their ability to control false activations is significantly reduced. As both visual and cognitive distracting tasks affect the situation awareness (although in quite different ways), they should both affect the controllability of false activations. However, biomechanical distraction (e.g. using handheld devices) could also reduce the driver's ability to handle a false activation, because the driver might be physically limited in the quality of his response.

Empiric knowledge regarding the influence of driver distraction on the controllability of false activation of a steering intervention is still missing. However, it is important to know if driver distraction should be taken into account when assessing the controllability of these false activations. Therefore, we want to demonstrate how driver distraction can be realised when assessing the controllability of false activations of a steering intervention and how it affects controllability. Based on the results, we want to provide recommendations whether driver distraction has to be considered and which standardised secondary tasks can be used in the assessment.

#### 29.2.4 Recommendations of Secondary Task Characteristics

As described in the previous chapters, the primary modality of the secondary tasks should be visual, biomechanical, cognitive or any combination to have the highest likelihood affecting the controllability of false activations in the case of driver distraction. Regarding the interruptability especially visual and biomechanical tasks should be designed in a way allowing the driver to pause the secondary task within short intervals. This is necessary to ensure the continuous execution of the (primary) driving task and to comply with the guidelines of NHTSA [14] in which only secondary tasks requiring single gaze-contributions of less than 2 s are recommended. Cognitive tasks without a visual component (e. g. phone calls) however do not need to follow this guideline. However, it is much more challenging to measure the drivers' task involvement when no visual or biomechanical distraction appears. One option could be the application of the Detection Response Task (DRT; ISO/DIS 17488, [15]) but its temporal resolution may be not sufficient. Another opportunity is a driver-instruction to respond verbally.

It is worth noting that all tasks contain a varying, cognitive proportion. So it is necessary to check which modalities are affected in which proportion by the used secondary task (see [9]). Moreover, the implemented secondary task should require a continuous interaction between the driver and the task to ensure the measurement of the distraction-degree with a high temporal resolution. Such a resolution is required to ensure that the driver is distracted previously as well as immediately when the false activation appears. The first case would mainly decrease the situation awareness while the second forces the driver to relocate his attention from the secondary task towards the driving task. Furthermore, we recommend to avoid extremely difficult or very easy tasks. Standardised secondary tasks can be useful to control the difficulty towards a desired level. Concerning primarily visual-motor tasks, the Surrogate Reference Task (SuRT; ISO/TS 14198, [16]) and the Critical Tracking Task (CTT; ISO/TS 14198, [16]) are shortlisted. Because of the insufficient possibility to interrupt a tracking task, we would prefer the SuRT over the CTT for the application as a secondary task executed while driving. However, for primarily cognitive tasks there are no standardised secondary tasks available. Frequent examples in empirical studies are n-back, audio book or counting backwards tasks. In the ISO/DIS 17488 [15] they recommended the n-back task for the Detection Response Task which could also be sufficient for controllability validations.

While under realistic driving conditions drivers could initiate the execution of secondary tasks on their own, in the context of a high empirical reliability it could be more appropriate letting the driver execute secondary tasks with a test-paced timing. This ensures that the driver is distracted when the experimental procedure requires this condition. In addition, as described above, self-regulated behaviour triggered by self-paced execution of secondary tasks (see [17]) may not have an effect on the controllability of false activations and can be neglected.

#### 29.3 Case Studies

Unfortunately, an extended amount of scientific investigations and literature on how secondary tasks affect the controllability of false activations of steering torque overlays was missing. Therefore, we assumed that all mentioned modalities would have an influence on controllability. A gradation between them was not feasible. To gather more information on how different kinds of driver distraction might influence the drivers' ability to control false activations, we accomplished a comparison between different modalities of distraction in an event of a false activation of steering torque (s. Sect. 29.3.1). In a second study we increased the complexity of intervention by implementing a false activation of a complete steering intervention (Sect. 29.3.2).

#### 29.3.1 Case Study I

Based on the theoretical background and the assumptions in Sect. 29.2, the following research hypotheses were constructed:

- There should be more critical subjective ratings related to the controllability in case of false activations of an emergency steering function under distraction than without distraction.
- Driver's subjective workload should be increased under distracting conditions.
- Distracted drivers should show a weaker lane keeping quality compared to attentive drivers regardless if there is a false activation or not.
- Distracted drivers should show a lower oversteering behaviour compared to attentive drivers in an event of a false activation. In this study, the oversteering behaviour refers to the maximum of driver's allowed lateral deviation.

#### 29.3.1.1 Methods

#### **Participants**

The sample consisted of 48 participants (20 female, 28 male) which were all employees of the Federal Highway Research Institute (BASt). Their mean age was about 41 years (SD = 14 years) with an annual driving performance of M = 16,200 km (SD = 9700 km) and a mean driving experience of 23 years (SD = 14 years).

#### Instruments

An experimental vehicle from BASt was used to reproduce the lateral disturbance by steering torques as realistically as possible. The vehicle consisted of two separate cabins: Participant's (driver's) cabin in the front of the vehicle and instructor's cabin in the back. The vehicle contained a computer to control and initiate the steering interventions and to collect the data. Furthermore, a touch screen (tablet-pc, 10"screen diagonal) was integrated next to the driver in line with the in-vehicle infotainment system (Fig. 29.1). The participants were instructed to execute a secondary task on this touch screen.

The test vehicle was able to overlay the driver's steering torque through an additional steering motor. In the experiment we exclusively simulated a false activation, initiated by the experimenter. As we only considered influences of driver distraction in the initial phase of a false activation, no complete trajectory was necessary. Furthermore, to reduce the possibility that the physiological limitation of the driver while one-handed driving could mask influences of distraction, a moderate steering torque of 3 Nm over 2 s was



**Fig.29.1** Experimental setup of the driver's cabin including an additional touch screen for executing secondary tasks



Fig. 29.2 Test site of BASt

chosen. After the intervention a counter steering followed for 0.5 s aiming to neutralize any deflection of the steering wheel.

Without any intervention of the driver (open loop) the test vehicle turned with a maximum yaw rate of  $16.5^{\circ}$ /s and a maximum lateral acceleration of  $3.3 \text{ m/s}^2$  after a false activation was initiated while driving 30–40 km/h. The complete false activation turned the test vehicle about 25 degrees.

The test site of BASt was chosen for the experiment. Fig. 29.2 illustrates the test track (length about 350 m). The potential evasion space was limited by traffic cones with a lane width of 3.5 m. To ensure the driver's safety, a false activation only occurred in the target area with a length of 70 m.

#### **Independent Variable**

As an independent variable (IV), we systematically varied the secondary tasks between the three conditions *none*, visual-motor (*visual*) and cognitive-auditory (*cognitive*) task. Referring to a standardised method often used in IVIS-validation (see Sect. 29.2.4), the Surrogate Reference Task (SuRT) was implemented as a visual-motor secondary task in this study. In the selected application, the participants saw 50 randomized circles (diameter: 35 arc minutes visual angle) on a touch screen (distance between driver's eye and display: about 70 cm) and a target circle with bigger size (diameter: 44 arc minutes visual angle). The participants were instructed to detect this target circle (visual component) and mark it by touching the screen at that particular position (motor component). In the cognitive-auditory secondary task, the participants were told to count backwards in steps of seven from a three-digit number. Beforehand, a selection of ten numbers was determined and presented by the instructor in a randomized order. To check the counting and to ensure permanent cognitive load, all results had to be spoken out loudly.

The second independent variable was the false activation described in the *instruments* section. There were two conditions: Either the presence of a false activation in a test lap (*FA*) or its absence ( $\neg$ *FA*). As a baseline, the latter condition allowed us to collect data about the driving behaviour of the participants in combination with secondary tasks and to isolate the effect of the false activation under the FA condition.

#### **Dependent Variables**

Subjective as well as objective variables were measured in this study. Regarding participant's subjective ratings, the well-known and often validated "NASA-Task Load Index" (NASA-TLX) was used to record participant's workload while executing the driving task and (depending on the condition) a secondary task [18]. It was also possible to compare the relative difficulty between the visual-motor and the cognitive-auditory secondary task indicated by the measured workload. Besides that, the assessment scale for the criticality of driving- and traffic situations (here called "SBS"; based on [19]) was used to collect information about participant's subjective perception of the criticality of the situation.

For the purpose of evaluating the effect of driver distraction on the driver's steering behaviour, the test vehicle was equipped with sensors measuring mainly lateral accelerations  $(\ddot{y})$  and yaw rates  $(\dot{\psi})$ . Both recorded data with a frequency of 100 Hz. We assumed that two phases could be relevant: First, the effects of distraction appearing on the driving behaviour prior to a false activation and second, the steering behaviour the driver shows as a reaction to the false activation.

For the first phase we integrated  $\dot{\psi}$  in test tracks without any false activation to obtain the yaw angle ( $\psi$ ) and added up its absolute value as an indicator for the overall steering behaviour of the driver with or without induced distraction. In the second phase we referred to classical parameters in controllability validations, especially the maximum lateral acceleration ( $\ddot{y}_{max}$ ) and the maximum yaw rate ( $\dot{\psi}_{max}$ ). Like Neukum, Paulig, Frömmig, and Henze [20] we focused on the extreme values of both parameters, caused by the false activation (first reaction) and by compensation of the intervention (compensating reaction).

#### Design

False activations should occur only in rare events. The expectation of the participants for such system failures should be more or less non-existent. Therefore, we focussed on the first contact of participants with a false activation resulting in a between-subjects design with three groups of  $n_i = 16$  participants. The groups were assigned to the factor steps of the independent variable "secondary tasks". As a baseline, group 1 did not receive any secondary tasks while driving whereas group 2 received the visual task and group 3 the cognitive task. All participants experienced a false activation.

After the first contact with a false activation we switched to a within-subjects design. In the subsequent 15 laps every participant experienced the conditions no, visual or cognitive

task in combination either with the FA or the  $\neg$ FA condition. In every condition of the IV "secondary task" the participants drove four times without a false activation and once with in randomized order.

#### Procedure

At the beginning, participants were asked to give some demographics (their age, sex, handedness, driver-license acquisition and driving experience). The participants were told to drive between the markings and traffic cones on the test track and to use only their left hand on the steering wheel. It was hereby possible to ensure the same hand position in every trial over every condition of the independent variables. The participants were instructed to drive with an appropriate lane keeping performance and with a speed in between of 30 and 40 km/h. They were uninformed towards the possibility of a false activation. Before the experiment started, the participants drove the course several times to get familiar with it as well as with the test vehicle. After finishing an experimental lap, participants were asked to assess their experience of the situation using the SBS. Following this, the participants continued driving overall 16 test laps. Afterwards, the participants were asked to report their workload combining the drive with the particular secondary task (none, visual, cognitive) using the NASA-TLX.

#### 29.3.1.2 Results

#### **Subjective Variables**

Fig. 29.3 shows the overall workload (over every subscale of the NASA-TLX) using boxplots for the particular distraction type. The box contains the upper and lower quartile, the



whiskers show the minimum and maximum rating of workload. Outliers and extreme values are marked if values differ from a distance between the 1.5-fold and 3-fold (outliers) respectively more than the 3-fold (extreme values) of the interquartile range.

According to the hypothesis, a Friedman-Test pointed out that there was a statistical significant effect of the IV "secondary task" on the overall workload ( $\chi^2(2, 48) = 63.19$ , p < 0.001). Post-hoc-comparisons using a Bonferroni-corrected alpha error of 0.017 showed that the overall workload of "no secondary task" differed statistically significant from "visual secondary task" (p < 0.001) as well as from "cognitive secondary task" (p < 0.001). The statistical comparison between visual and cognitive secondary task failed the significance level (p = 0.06). Thus, it indicates a quite low overall workload for the condition "no secondary task" and a much higher overall workload for the visual and cognitive condition with no statistically significant difference.

Fig. 29.4 illustrates the boxplot of the subjective critical assessment depending on the particular distraction for the first lap (participant's first contact with the false activation).

In the statistical analysis a Kruskal-Wallis-Test showed a statistically significant effect of the between-group IV "secondary task" on participants' subjective critical assessment in the first lap ( $\chi^2(2, 48) = 9.31$ , p < 0.01). Post-hoc-comparisons using a Bonferronicorrected alpha error of 0.017 showed that the first lap driving without distraction was assessed statistically significant less critical in contrast to the distraction by the visual-motor secondary task (p < 0.01). In tendency, the first contact with the false activation without distraction was perceived less critical than being distracted by the cognitive-auditory secondary task (p = 0.03). In summary, the situations with visual and cognitive secondary tasks were perceived "uncomfortable" on average. Subjectively perceived differences be-




tween visual-motor and cognitive-auditory secondary task did not differ in the first contact with a false activation (p = 0.18).

Fig. 29.5 shows the boxplot of the subjective critical assessment depending on the particular distraction for all following laps, with or without false activation.

A Wilcoxon-test indicated a significant effect of the IV "false activation" under every distraction condition. So laps with false activation were assessed more critically in contrast to laps without a false activation, regardless whether the participant conducted a secondary task or not. For no secondary task: z = -5.93, p < 0.001, for the visual-motor secondary task: z = -5.57, p < 0.001, and for the cognitive-auditory secondary task: z = -5.44, p < 0.001. Thus, indicating a successful experimental manipulation of the IV "false activation".

Regarding only following laps with no false activation, a Friedman-test indicated an effect of the IV "secondary task" ( $\chi^2(2, 48) = 71.29$ , p < 0.001). Post-hoc-comparisons using a Bonferroni-corrected alpha error of 0.017 showed that participants evaluate laps with visual-motor distraction statistically significant more critical than laps with cognitive-auditory secondary task (p < 0.001) and with no secondary task (p < 0.001), again in laps with cognitive-auditory distraction, there were statistically significant more critical assessments in contrast to laps with no secondary task (p < 0.001). Regarding only following laps with false activation, a Friedman-test also indicated an effect of the IV "secondary task" ( $\chi^2(2, 48) = 27.49$ , p < 0.001). Post-hoc-comparisons using a Bonferroni-corrected alpha error of 0.017 showed – analogous to the results of laps with no false activation – that participants gave more critical assessments in laps with visual-motor (p < 0.001) and with cognitive-auditory distraction (p < 0.01) in contrast to laps with no secondary task. The statistical comparison between visual and cognitive secondary task failed the significance level (p = 0.02). Descriptively, the critical assessments of laps with no secondary task and





a false activation as well as laps with visual secondary task and no false activation are approximately at the same level (p = 0.12).

#### **Objective Variables**

The test track was limited at the road boundaries with traffic cones to force participants to stay on course. As another purpose, we used the traffic cones as an instrument measuring possible lane departures. First of all, no participant hit a traffic cone, thus no lane departure revealed out of false activations or while driving under distraction.

Focusing on the direct driver reaction to the false activation, we investigated the maximum lateral acceleration in situations participants experienced the intervention for the first time. The mean maximum lateral acceleration caused by the first reaction was  $\ddot{y}_{max} = 0.74 \text{ m/s}^2$  ( $SD = 0.74 \text{ m/s}^2$ ), which equals 30% of the maximum possible of  $3.3 \text{ m/s}^2$ . Whereas,  $\ddot{y}_{max}$  caused by compensation of the intervention was  $\ddot{y}_{max} = 0.64 \text{ m/s}^2$  ( $SD = 0.25 \text{ m/s}^2$ ). In subsequent situations with false activations the test vehicle reached on average  $\ddot{y}_{max} = 0.73 \text{ m/s}^2$  ( $SD = 0.29 \text{ m/s}^2$ ) through the false activation and  $\ddot{y}_{max} = 0.59 \text{ m/s}^2$  ( $SD = 0.24 \text{ m/s}^2$ ) through the drivers' compensatory reaction. A one-way ANOVA with an alpha error of 5% revealed no significant difference between the conditions of the IV "secondary tasks" for the first reaction (F(2, 45) = 0.33, p = 0.72,  $\eta^2 = 0.03$ ) as well as for the compensating reaction (F(2, 45) = 0.33, p = 0.72,  $\eta^2 = 0.01$ ). Also, we could not reveal any significant difference between the different conditions in terms of secondary tasks for following contacts with false activations (first reaction: F(2, 94) = 1.95, p = 0.15,  $\eta^2 = 0.02$ ; compensating reaction: F(2, 94) = 0.89, p = 0.41,  $\eta^2 = 0.01$ ).

**Fig. 29.6** Comparison of both types of maximum yaw rate (intervening and compensatory) in situations participants experienced the false activations for the first time



We found similar results with regard to the maximum yaw rate. Fig. 29.6 shows only slight differences in the median between the first and the compensating reaction when participants experienced the false activation for the first time. However, it revealed no significant differences between the two reaction types (t(47) = 1.32, p = 0.19). This means that the drivers executed both reaction types comparably. Inappropriate behaviour in general (e.g. overcompensation) has not been observed.

As illustrated in Fig. 29.7, in the mean all maximum yaw rates for the different conditions of the secondary tasks in situations with a first contact were below the criteria of 4 °/s from Neukum, Ufer, Paulig, and Krüger [21]. The highest value of  $\dot{\psi}_{max}$  the participants tolerated was  $\dot{\psi}_{max} = 3.3$  °/s (SD = 2.0 °/s) when they had been visually distracted (intervening type of  $\dot{\psi}_{max}$ ). However, no significant differences were detectable between the conditions no, visual and cognitive secondary task for the first reaction (F(2, 45) =1.98, p = .15,  $\eta^2 = .08$ ) as well as for the compensating reaction (F(2, 45) = 0.4, p =.67,  $\eta^2 = .02$ ).

However, the summed yaw angles imply an effect of the induced distraction on the drivers' steering quality, as shown in Fig. 29.8 although those results were not linked to a false activation. Every participant had to drive through the 25°-curve of the test track explaining the general offset in the conditions. A one-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed significant differences between the conditions of the IV "secondary task" for the summed yaw angle (F(2, 94) = 49.75, p < .001,  $\eta^2 = .51$ ). A post-hoc paired comparison resulted in a significant higher  $\psi$  for the visual secondary task compared to no



**Fig. 29.7** Influence of secondary tasks to both intervening (**a**) and compensatory (**b**) types when participants experiencing false activations for the first time



secondary task (p < .001). Comparing the conditions cognitive to no secondary task, we found a significant higher  $\psi$  for the cognitive task (p = .010). Contrary to the subjective evaluations of the overall workload, there was also a significant higher  $\psi$  for the visual secondary task compared to the cognitive task (p < .001).

# 29.3.1.3 Discussion

In this study we aimed on finding evidence whether driver distraction has to be considered in controllability validations. Based on the methodological implications in Sect. 29.2 we demonstrated a possible application of standardised secondary tasks to answer this research question.

The drivers' workload assessment while doing secondary tasks showed, according to the hypothesis, higher ratings in the overall workload instead of driving without distraction. Therefore, we could confirm our experimental manipulation. Interestingly, the visualmotor and cognitive-auditory task did not differ significantly in this case. Hence, we conclude a comparable task difficulty between both secondary tasks, because they stressed the driver comparably. However, we have to point out that the assessed workload is based on the participants' subjective experience. In contrast, the participants' steering performance revealed a significant difference between both distraction types. While executing the visual-motor task our participants showed a poorer steering behaviour compared to the cognitive-auditory task. This could be a hint that despite similar perceived workload of both tasks, the visual-motor secondary task has a higher negative impact on the steering performance than mainly cognitive tasks.

A similar effect was revealed in the participants' subjective critical assessment. In the first contact with the false activation the criticality rating varied depending on whether drivers were engaged in a secondary task or not. Regarding the visual-motor secondary task in comparison to no additional distraction, there was a significantly higher subjective criticality assessment. In tendency, the cognitive-auditory task also caused a higher assessment. An analysis of the following contacts showed, according to the first contact, marginal lower criticality ratings compared to the first contact, but in the same direction. Additionally, participants' ratings of driving situations containing visual-motor distraction were more critical than the others. Interestingly, driving without any distraction but with a false activation is assessed on the same criticality level as driving exclusively distracted by a visual-motor secondary task - of course this finding is based on driving situations investigated in this study only. Referring to Sect. 29.2.2, a distraction mostly interfering with the driving task itself should also have the greatest impact on controllability. This indicates a very critical interference of secondary task with a visual and motor component on controllability's assessment. Based on these findings and effects in the drivers' steering performance, we suggest to consider mainly secondary tasks containing visual and motor components when an evaluation of the influence of driver distraction in controllability validations seems to be necessary. Further research is required to investigate the influence of combined secondary tasks, such as visual-motor tasks with higher cognitive demands.

In terms of the objectively measured steering behaviour we identified two possible scenarios in which driver distraction could be considered for controllability aspects: The time immediately prior to a false activation, describing the initial situation in which a false activation could occur as well as the event of a false activation per se. For the first scenario (the initial situation) our results of the yaw angle indicated a significant decrease in driver's steering performance when they were distracted by a visual-motor or a cognitiveauditory task. This confirmed our hypothesis and revealed a possibly disadvantageous initial situation prior to a false activation. Additionally, it corresponded with the results of the workload assessment. Regarding a possible influence of driver distraction on the maximum lateral acceleration in the second scenario (the phase within a false activation), we distinguished between the consequences of the false activation and compensational reaction of the driver, causing two maxima in the lateral acceleration. The results did not indicate statistically significant differences between attentive and distracted drivers. This outcome was also confirmed by the results of maximum yaw rate. Additionally, all yaw rates did not exceed the yaw rate criteria defined by Neukum, Ufer, Paulig, and Krüger [21]. Following this, we were able to assume a consistent oversteering behaviour of the participants. We could not find any impact of driver distraction on the ability to control the false activation, at least for the underlying system design of the false activation. In general, we did not find much support for a connection between subjective and objective data at all. Although the secondary task did not lead to a significant decrease in objective driving performance, higher criticality ratings were observed which indicates that drivers perceived the situation to be more critical.

In controllability research it is quite difficult to decide whether a false-positive event should be presented to participants more than once a time. Maintaining the unpredictability of false activations may cause an inefficiency of experimental designs. Because effect sizes are often unknown, the sample size needed for a between design rapidly increases. This study was able to distinguish between the first and following contacts with false activations. In subjective as well as in objective data, there was no valid hint of habit-uation to the occurrence of a steering torque which was, on average, in every fourth lap. However, we suppose that other factors, e.g. the credibility of the cover story, explicit participants' instructions and of course the whole experimental setting with its system design and a comparable secondary task difficulty could have an impact on drivers' perception and their expectation. Nonetheless, the standardised secondary tasks we used turned out to be able to ensure comparability in task difficulty.

Additionally, it has to be considered that all results relied on the specific system design of the false activation and cannot be generalized for other system designs. E. g. we used an additional steering torque, according to Sect. 29.3.1.1. Furthermore, the results are only valid for driver's perception and reaction to a false-positive event. Therefore, it is necessary to examine the controllability and safety in use in a use-case while considering driver distraction. Finally it should be mentioned that this study contained controllability questions in a manual driving task. Controllability research of automated driving functions in case of driver's unavailability is another important field of research in the near future.

### 29.3.2 Case Study II

The results of the first study did not indicate an effect of driver distraction on controllability in case of false activations of steering torque overlays with an amplitude of 3 Nm. However, the question still remains how driver distraction affects the driver's behaviour in case of false activations of steering interventions of a potential collision avoidance system. To date most studies which featured unjustified steering interventions focused on attentive drivers (e. g. [22–27]) and thereby might overestimate the driver's ability to handle a false activation. Additionally, the influence of additional warnings prior to a steering intervention is still unclear. Warnings prior to a steering intervention might not just improve the driver reaction to justified steering interventions as indicated by [28–30] but also the driver reaction to false activations (see also Chap. 27). Especially distracted drivers might benefit from additional warnings as the warning could help to reduce the driver reaction time to false activations. However, using additional stimuli could also have detrimental effects by increasing the driver's workload or attracting too much of the driver's attention.

#### 29.3.2.1 Study Design

To analyse the influence of driver distraction and warnings prior to a false activation a between-subjects study design with two experimental factors was chosen. The study was conducted in the dynamic driving simulator of the WIVW GmbH (Wuerzburg Institute

Group	Audio-visual warning	Distraction
No warning (att)	No	No
No warning (dist)	No	Yes
Audio-visual (att)	Yes	No
Audio-visual (dist)	Yes	Yes

<b>Table 29.1</b>	Overview	of the	experimental	groups
-------------------	----------	--------	--------------	--------

for Traffic Sciences). Driver distraction (attentive drivers vs. distracted drivers) and the occurrence of an audio-visual warning prior to the false activation were varied resulting in four experimental groups (see Table 29.1).

To distract the drivers they were repeatedly confronted with a rapid serial visual presentation (RSVP) as a secondary task. Each task lasted for approximately 20 s and was only started at straight sections of the test track approximately 10 s prior to the intervention. This was done to ensure the drivers were distracted at the onset of the unjustified steering intervention. The drivers were instructed to press a button with the right hand if an arbitrary number appeared on the display. Letters were used as distractors (Fig. 29.9). As a consequence of performing the secondary task, drivers had only one hand on the steering







**Fig. 29.9** Illustration of the rapid serial visual presentation (RSVP) task used to distract the drivers in our study. Letters were used as distractors whereas numbers were used as targets. Drivers were instructed to press a button with the right hand if a number appeared on the display



Fig. 29.10 Illustration of the visual warning used in the study

wheel at the beginning of the intervention, whereas drivers who were not distracted had both hands on the steering wheel.

The visual-acoustic warning was a combination of a simulated Head Up Display and a sine wave with a frequency of 1200 Hz which was applied for 500 ms. The visual warning was shown until the end of the steering intervention. It projected the aspired steering trajectory of the steering intervention on the street. Additionally, a small warning triangle was displayed at a fixed position (Fig. 29.10). The warning was presented at a TTC of 1.6 s and 400 ms prior to the steering intervention which started at a TTC of 1.2 s.

The false activation was implemented as a predefined sinusoidal course of the steering wheel angle, which was applied to the steering wheel with a maximum torque of 6 Nm. The maximum steering wheel angle was  $75^{\circ}$ . This resulted in a lateral offset of approximately 1.75 m (without interference of the driver).

#### 29.3.2.2 Results

The results focus on the driver's steering behaviour and the resulting vehicle movement. The analysis of the driver's steering behaviour is based on the steering wheel angle, whereas the analysis of the vehicle movement is based on the lateral offset of the vehicle. The failure induced yaw rate was neglected for the analysis as it cannot be compared to the yaw rates reported in the first study (s. Sect. 29.3.1.2). The assessment of the controll-ability is primarily based on the resulting lateral offset as it offers an intuitive measure in terms of a possible lane departure. However, research indicates that the observed lateral offset depends on the design of the test scenario and the available space (Chap. 27).

## **Steering Behaviour**

Distracted drivers who did not receive a warning showed greater maximum steering wheel angles compared to drivers who were not distracted ( $m_{no \text{ warning (att)}} = 34.11^\circ$ ;



 $m_{\text{no warning (dist)}} = 56.34^{\circ}$ ; s. Fig. 29.11). For drivers who received a warning prior to the unjustified intervention, no significant difference was observed ( $m_{\text{audio-visual (att)}} = 61.15^{\circ}$ ;  $m_{\text{audio visual (dist)}} = 51.90^{\circ}$ ). Contrary to the expected benefit of an additional warning, higher steering wheel angles were observed for drivers who received a warning prior to the false activation.

A classification based on the steering behaviour to identify drivers who suppressed the false activation reflected these results (Fig. 29.12). In the condition without a warning 88% of the undistracted drivers were classified as suppressing false activation, whereas only 31% of the distracted drivers were classified accordingly. For drivers in the experimental groups, which received a warning, almost no difference was observed. In the undistracted group 40% of the drivers and 31% in the distracted group were classified as suppressing the intervention.

The time of the first maximum steering wheel angle did not differ significantly between the experimental groups ( $m_{\text{no warning (att)}} = 0.51$  s;  $m_{\text{no warning (dist)}} = 0.60$  s;  $m_{\text{audio-visual (att)}} =$ 







0.59 s;  $m_{\text{audio visual (dist)}} = 0.52$  s) indicating that all drivers, whether being distracted or not as well as being warned or not, needed the same time to react to the false activation (s. Fig. 29.13).

## Lateral Offset

Descriptive measures show slight differences (s Fig. 29.14). However, no statistical significant differences were observed ( $m_{no \text{ warning (att)}} = 0.51 \text{ m}$  and  $m_{no \text{ warning (dist)}} = 0.70 \text{ m}$ ;  $m_{audio-visual (att)} = 0.67 \text{ m}$  and  $m_{audio \text{ visual (dist)}} = 0.76 \text{ m}$ ). Almost all drivers were able to reduce the maximum lateral offset compared to the target offset (1.75 m) of the intervention.

However, a classification based on whether the drivers left their own driving lane (lane width 3.5 m), as a consequence of the false activation, showed slightly higher frequencies





for distracted drivers (19%–25%) compared to drivers who were not distracted (10%–13% s. Fig. 29.15).

# 29.3.2.3 Discussion

At first sight the results seem to suggest that distracted drivers perform worse than undistracted drivers when being confronted with a false activation of a steering intervention. However, this is only the case for drivers who did not receive a warning prior to false activation. When drivers received a warning prior to a false activation, almost no differences were found. Contrary to the expected benefit of the warning, the audio-visual warning prior to the false activation leads to higher maximum steering wheel angles and fewer drivers were classified as suppressing the intervention compared to drivers who did not receive a warning. For attentive drivers warnings not seem to improve controllability. However, the observed steering behaviour indicates that distracted drivers might slightly benefit from the warning although this interpretation is based only on descriptive tendencies making a meaningful recommendation impossible.

The observed differences between the distracted and undistracted drivers who did not receive a warning might not be the result of the visual distraction of the secondary task but of the hand positioning on the steering wheel. Distracted drivers had only one hand on the steering wheel whereas attentive drivers had both hands on the steering wheel. Although researchers assessing the controllability of false activations of steering torques instructed drivers to use only one hand on the steering wheel [26], no systematic comparison of the effects of one and two handed driving has been reported to date. However, this systematic comparison is needed to distinguish the influence of the driver distraction from the influence of the hand positioning on the steering wheel and to give a recommendation whether driver distraction should be considered in the controllability assessment of emergency steering and evasion assistants.

# 29.4 Conclusion

The aim of the present case studies was to find indications whether future controllability validations should take driver distraction into account as an additional requirement. In case of a false activation typical behavioural patterns can be observed. It is possible to distinguish between two temporal phases describing the drivers' reaction (see also Chap. 27 and Chap. 28): The first phase is a compensatory reaction of the driver triggered by the haptic feedback on the steering wheel. In the second phase the reaction pattern is dominated by the driver's intention (which might be a continuation of the compensation as well as a compliant reaction with the intervention or something in between). After the first compensatory reaction of the driver it is very likely that the driver has already regained the control over the vehicle's lateral guidance. Therefore, we focused on investigating the influence of driver distraction on the first phase. In case study I (s. Sect. 29.3.1.2) we could not find significant influences of distraction on maximum yaw rate or lateral acceleration. Also, the intensity between the first reaction of the drivers and their following compensation did not differ significantly between the different distraction's conditions. Besides a possible effect of distraction to intensity of the drivers' reaction in the first phase, we investigated the reaction times in case study II (s. Sect. 29.3.2.2). Especially due to the decreased situation awareness and the additional workload, a distraction of the drivers could lead to longer reaction times in case of false activation of an emergency steering and evasion assistant. In the second case study – in contrast to the first case study – participants show higher maximum steering wheel angles under distraction in comparison to attentive drivers (without a warning). However, the measured point of time for maximum steering wheel angle did not differ between attentive and distracted drivers. It is very likely that this effect was not caused by distraction but rather by the different hand positioning between the experimental groups in the second case study (one handed against two handed driving), because driver distraction had no effect on the drivers' reaction in the first case study. Therefore, we suggest to investigate the role of hand positioning in further studies. Additionally, we propose to focus on one handed driving when evaluating the controllability of false activations of steering interventions based on a steer torque actuator like electronic power steering (EPS).

Although we did not find significant evidence for an effect of driver distraction on objective driving performance, participants assessed the criticality of the situation in case of a false activation significantly higher when being distracted. This finding underlines the importance of assessing both objective driving data and subjective perception of drivers.

Besides the consequences of a false activation it has to be considered that the initial situation prior to a false alarm could be influenced by driver distraction. The first case study shows that steering quality can be decreased by driver distraction (higher amplitudes of steering) and could therefore indirectly increase the criticality of a subsequent false activation (e. g. by driving near the road boundaries or other obstacles). These findings correspond with studies in both the simulator environment (e. g. [31] or [32]) and also in field tests (e. g. [33]).

Using standardised secondary tasks in controllability research has many advantages, e.g. high methodological controllability and adaptable task difficulty which could be shown in both case studies. Especially the possibility to create similar task difficulties should be considered when a comparison of different tasks' modalities is required. However, we did not find evidence for an effect of driver distraction on the controllability of false activations of a steering intervention. Nonetheless, driver distraction might gain greater value especially in the use case when drivers have to decide what they should do after their initial motor triggered compensation reaction. Especially visually distracted drivers might take longer to assess the situation in a use case and adapt their behaviour accordingly. This could be important for the design of an override detection mechanism, as it could increase the failure rate when drivers are distracted and show a delayed reaction. Additionally further studies should verify whether visual-motor tasks really have a stronger effect on the drivers' steering task compared to cognitive-auditory tasks [32]. Nonetheless, in order to receive reliable and comparable results, we recommend to implement standardised secondary tasks, with a focus on visual motor tasks when trying to further analyse the influence of driver distraction on controllability in the context of emergency steering functions.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Eike A. Schmidt for his assistance in preparing the driving study.

# References

- 1. RESPONSE Consortium: Code of Practice for the Design and Evaluation of ADAS. RE-SPONSE 3: a PReVENT Project (2009)
- 2. Regan, M.A., Strayer, D.L.: Towards An Understanding of Driver Inattention: Taxonomy and Theory. Annals of Advances in Automotive Medicine : Association for the Advancement of Automotive Medicine (AAAM) Engaged Driving Symposium (2014)
- NHTSA: Traffic Safety Facts: Distracted Driving 2011 (Report No. DOT-HS-811-737). Washington, DC. Retrieved from National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) (2013a)
- Olson, R.L., Hanowski, R.J., Hickman, J.S., Bocanegra, J.L.: Driver Distraction in Commercial Vehicle Operations. Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, Washington, DC. (2009). Technical Report No. FMCSA-RRR-09-042.
- 5. Caird, J.K., Johnston, K.A., Willness, C.R., Asbridge, M., Steel, P.: A meta-analysis of the effects of texting on driving. Accid Analysis Prev **71**, 311–318 (2014)
- Huemer, A.K., Vollrath, M.: Ablenkung durch fahrfremde Tätigkeiten Machbarkeitsstudie. Berichte der Bundesanstalt für Straßenwesen: Mensch und Sicherheit, vol. M225. Bundesanstalt für Straßenwesen, Bremerhaven (2012)
- Kubitzki, J.: Ablenkung im Straßenverkehr Die unterschätzte Gefahr: Stand der Forschung und Ergebnisse einer Repräsentatvbefragung von Autofahrern in Österreich, der Schweiz und Deutschland (Allianz-Studie). Allianz Deutschland AG, München (2011)
- Young, K.L., Regan, M.A., Hammer, M.: Driver distraction: A review of the literature. Clayton, Victoria (2003). Report No. 206

- 9. Wickens, C.D.: Multiple Resources and Mental Workload. Hum Factors 50(3), 449–455 (2008)
- Muhrer, E., Vollrath, M.: The effect of visual and cognitive distraction on driver's anticipation in a simulated car following scenario. Special Issue: Driv Simul Traffic Psychol 14(6), 555–566 (2011)
- Endsley, M.R.: Toward a Theory of Situation Awareness in Dynamic Systems. Hum factors 37(1), 32–64 (1995)
- Petzoldt, T.: Theoretical and Methodological Issues in Driver Distraction (Dissertation). Technische Universität Chemnitz, Chemnitz (2011). http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:bsz:ch1qucosa-72919
- Baumann, M., Krems, J.F.: Situation Awareness and Driving: A Cognitive Model. In: Cacciabue, P.C. (ed.) Modelling Driver Behaviour in Automotive Environments, pp. 253–265. Springer, London (2007)
- NHTSA: Visual-Manual NHTSA Driver Distraction Guidelines for In-Vehicle Electronic Devices. Notice of Federal guidelines (Federal Register Vol. 78 No. 81). Retrieved from National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA); Department of Transportation (DOT) (2013b). http://www.distraction.gov/downloads/pdfs/11302a-Distraction\_Guidelines\_ Final\_Notice\_010815\_v1\_tag.pdf
- 15. ISO/DIS 17488 (2015, April 6)
- 16. ISO/TS 14198 (2012, November 15)
- Wandtner, B., Schumacher, M., Schmidt, E.A.: The role of self-regulation in the context of driver distraction: A simulator study. Traffic Inj Prev, 1–8 (2016). doi:10.1080/15389588.2015.1102231
- Hart, S.G., Staveland, L.E.: Development of NASA-TLX (Task Load Index): Results of empirical and theoretical research. In: Hancock, P.A., Meshkati, N. (eds.) Human Mental Workload. North Holland Press, Amsterdam (1988)
- Neukum, A., Lubbeke, T., Kruger, H.-P., Mayser, C., Steinle, J.: ACCStop&Go: Fahrerverhalten an funktionalen Systemgrenzen. In: Maurer, M., Stiller, C. (eds.) 5. Workshop Fahrerassistenzsysteme – FAS 2008, pp. 141–150. fmrt, Karlsruhe (2008)
- Neukum, A., Paulig, J., Frömmig, L., Henze, R.: Untersuchung zur Wahrnehmung von Lenkmomenten bei Pkw. BASt FE 82.314/06. FAT-Schriftenreihe, vol. 222 (2009)
- 21. Neukum, A., Ufer, E., Paulig, J., Krüger, H.-P.: Controllability of superposition steering system failures. In *steering.tech*. (2008)
- 22. Bräuchle, C., Flehming, F., Rosenstiel, W., Kropf, T.: Das Fahrerverhalten als Indikator für Fehlauslösungen von aktiven Kollisionsvermeidungsmanövern. In: V. D. I. W. GmbH (ed.) Der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert. VDI, Düsseldorf (2013)
- Fricke, N., Griesche, S., Hesse, T., Schieben, A., Baumann, M.: Driver behaviour following an automatic steering intervention. Accid Analysis Prev 83, 190–196 (2015)
- Grußner, T., Bürkle, L., Marberger, C.: Erweiterung aktiver Fußgängerschutzsysteme durch eine fahrerinitierte Ausweichunterstützung. In: Stiller, C.C., Bengler, K., Dietmayer, K., Eckstein, L., Färber, B., Maurer, M., Winner, H. (eds.) 10. Workshop Fahrerassistenzsysteme – FAS 2015, pp. 19–28. Uni-DAS e.V., Darmstadt (2015)
- Hesse, T., Schieben, A., Heesen, M., Dziennus, M., Griesche, S., Köster, F.: Interaction design for automation initiated steering manoeuvres for collision avoidance. In: Süd, T. (ed.) 6. Tagung Fahrerassistenz. TÜV Süd, München (2013)
- Neukum, A., Paulig, J., Frömmig, L., Henze, R.: Untersuchung zur Wahrnehmung von Lenkmomenten bei Pkw. Forschungsvereinigung Automobiltechnik e.V., Frankfurt am Main (2010)
- Schieben, A., Griesche, S., Hesse, T., Fricke, N., Baumann, M.: Evaluation of three different interaction designs for an automatic steering intervention. Transportation Res Part F: Traffic Psychol Behav 27, 238–251 (2014). Part B doi:10.1016/j.trf.2014.06.002

- Schneider, N., Purucker, C., Neukum, A.: Comparison of Steering Interventions in Time-critical Scenarios. Procedia Manuf 3, 3107–3114 (2015)
- Sieber, M., Schneider, M., Siegel, A., Siedersberger, K.-H., Färber, B.: Wirksamkeit von Ausweichempfehlungen in Kombination mit Teilbremsung beim Notausweichen. In: Stiller, C.C., Bengler, K., Dietmayer, K., Eckstein, L., Färber, B., Maurer, M., Winner, H. (eds.) 10. Workshop Fahrerassistenzsysteme – FAS 2015, pp. 39–49. Uni-DAS e.V., Darmstadt (2015a)
- Kaber, D.B., Liang, Y., Zhang, Y., Rogers, M.L., Gangakhedkar, S.: Driver performance effects of simultaneous visual and cognitive distraction and adaptation behaviour. Transportation Res Part F: Traffic Psychol Behav 15(5), 491–501 (2012)
- 32. Liang, Y., Lee, J.D.: Combining cognitive and visual distraction: Less than the sum of its parts. Assess Saf With Driv Simulators **42**(3), 881–890 (2010)
- Engström, J., Johansson, E., Östlund, J.: Effects of visual and cognitive load in real and simulated motorway driving. Relatsh Between Distraction Driv Performance: Towards A Test Regime In-vehicle Inf Syst In-vehicle Inf Syst 8(2), 97–120 (2005). doi:10.1016/j.trf.2005.04.012

#### **Further Reading**

 Weber, D.: Untersuchung des Potenzials einer Brems-Ausweich-Assistenz. Karlsruher Schriftenreihe Fahrzeugsystemtechnik, vol. 13. KIT Scientific Publishing, Karlsruhe (2012)